
MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
MEETING 

 
10.00 AM MONDAY, 1ST OCTOBER, 2012 

 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members of the Rights of way Committee are 
reminded of their personal responsibility to declare 
any personal and prejudicial interest in respect of 
matters contained in this agenda in accordance 
with the provisions of the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct.  
 

 

3. Determination of Modification of the Definitive Map 
and Statement by recording Public Rights of Way 
(FOR INFORMATION ONLY)  

 

 To receive a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1 - 32) 



4. Guidance on the Law relating to the Continuous 
Review of the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way FOR INFORMATION ONLY  

 

 To receive a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 33 - 44) 

5. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 36  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 45 - 136) 

6. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 43  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 137 - 172) 

7. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 48  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 173 - 248) 

8. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 60  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 249 - 258) 

9. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 66  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 259 - 278) 

10. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 71  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 279 - 390) 

11. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 73  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 
 

(Pages 391 - 400) 



12. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 74  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 401 - 410) 

13. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 77  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 411 - 426) 

14. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 78  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 427 - 486) 

15. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 81  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 487 - 500) 

16. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 83  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 501 - 526) 

17. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 88  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services  
 

(Pages 527 - 552) 

18. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 89  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 553 - 562) 

19. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 90  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 
 
 

(Pages 563 - 574) 



20. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 91  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 575 - 586) 

21. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 92  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 587 - 598) 

22. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 100  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 599 - 640) 

23. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 101  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 641 - 674) 

24. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 102  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.     
 

(Pages 675 - 684) 

25. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 104  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 685 - 760) 

26. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 105  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 761 - 782) 

27. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 106  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 
 
 

(Pages 783 - 792) 



28. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 107  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 793 - 802) 

29. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 109  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 803 - 812) 

30. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 115  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 813 - 824) 

31. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 137  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 825 - 844) 

32. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 139  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 845 - 890) 

33. TDeterminations of applications to record Public 
Rights of Way:  Troedyrhiw 49 and Troedyrhiw 
175  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 891 - 970) 

34. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 53  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 971 - 
1006) 

35. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedryhiw 110  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 
 

(Pages 1007 - 
1028) 



36. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troeyrhiw 116  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1029 - 
1040) 

37. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 121  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1041 - 
1050) 

38. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 122  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1051 - 
1060) 

39. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 129  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1061 - 
1072) 

40. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 137  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1073 - 
1112) 

41. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 142  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1113 - 
1122) 

42. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 143  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.  
 

(Pages 1123 - 
1132) 

43. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 147  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 
 
 

(Pages 1133 - 
1144) 



44. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 148  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1145 - 
1152) 

45. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 158  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services  
 

(Pages 1153 - 
1170) 

46. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 160  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1171 - 
1188) 

47. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 178  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1189 - 
1210) 

48. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 180  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 1211 - 
1268) 

49. Determination of application to record a Public 
Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 196  

 

 To consider a report from the Director of Customer 
Services.    
 

(Pages 1269 - 
1276) 

50. Any Other Business deemed urgent by the Chair   

 

 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203 

 
Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors B Mansbridge (Chair)  
  
 K Moran and R Braithwaite 
 together with appropriate officers 
  



This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 21st September 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzizc / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Determination of Modification of the Definitive 
Map and Statement by Recording Public Rights 
of Way  
 
To consider Public Rights of Way as detailed in Items 5-49, including the 
rectification of previously recorded Public Rights of Way and determination of 
various additions/deviations which have been brought to the attention of 
Council Officers. 
 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 
 

a) To inform Councillors of recommended rectification and clarification of 
details of previously recorded Public Rights of Way and various 
Additions/deviations brought to the attention of Council Officers and 
witnessed by them during site visits. 
 

b) To recommend the determination of a series of deviations and path 
extensions brought to the attention of council Officers and witnessed 
by them during site visits. 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This report deals with claims for Public Rights of Way in the West 
 Merthyr area. 
 
 A copy of the agenda has been forwarded to Councillors via email and 
 a copy placed in the Members’ Library. 

 
1.2 Officers inform Councillors that a number of decisions in relation to the 
 recording of Public Rights of Way in the west Merthyr area were made 
 in October 2009 and January 2010; these decisions were ratified in Full 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 Council on 11th November 2009 and 3rd February 2010. Pursuant to the 
 decisions being made, officers have been working in detail on the 
 subsequent Definitive Map Modification Order which was sealed on 9th 
 February 2010 but which has not yet been confirmed, the 2010 Order. 
 
1.3  Further reports were presented to committee on 29th November 2010 

 and 21st March 2011 and a decision was made to record the routes the 
 subject of these reports; these decisions were ratified in Full Council on 
 8th December 2010 and 30th March 2011. Pursuant to the decisions 
 being made, officers have been working in detail on the subsequent 
 Definitive Map Modification Order which was sealed on 18th May 2011 
 but which has not yet been confirmed, the 2011 Order. 
 

1.4  Mapping inaccuracies within the 2010 Order and the 2011 Order have 
 been identified and further routes have subsequently been brought to 
 the attention of officers. As a consequence, officers have further 
 reviewed all the material presented to Committee previously and 
 identified a number of inaccuracies and anomalies which fall into the 
 following categories: (1) route incorrectly delineated in the previous 
 committee or on the Order and (2) routes which have been brought to 
 officers’ attention and which have subsequently been walked by 
 officers but which were not included in either the 2010 Order or the 
 2011 Order. 

 
1.5  In order to deal with the extra routes which have been brought to their 

 attention, a number of routes are now presented to Committee: some 
 are presented for the first time. This is to ensure that the correct legally 
 based decision is made. 

 
1.6  With regard the routes for determination before them today Councillors 

 are referred to the General Overview which was presented to the 
 October 2009 Rights of Way Committee which is attached to this item.    

 
1.7  The legal background to this report is at Item 4. 
 
1.8  Councillors are requested to consider and determine Items 5-49.      
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 

Page 2



  

GENERAL OVERVIEW 
 
This report deals with 39 claims for Public Rights of Way (PRoWs) within the West Merthyr 
area. 
 
It has been written with reference to the Welsh Assembly Government’s publication, “By all 
reasonable means: Inclusive access to the outdoors”. 
 
If recorded on the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) Definitive Map and 
Statement, any or all of the routes submitted in this Report will comply with the Actions as 
written in S.3.2 of the MTCBC Rights of Way Improvement Plan. 
 
None of the landowners affected by these claimed routes has submitted a declaration under 
S.31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 or erected any notice on site stating that any of the 
routes, Items 2 – 40 is not to become a Public Right of Way (PRoW).  
 
Appendix 1 gives the legal background to all of the Items in this Report. 
 
1.0 Background 
 
1.1 The Items in this Report are concerned with applications to modify the MTCBC 

Definitive Map and Statement by recording 39 routes as PRoWs.  
 
1.2 The claimed routes lie over land owned by several landowners. Mrs. Catrin Higgins, 

Mrs. Darya Page and the Welsh Assembly Government each have one route 
crossing their land; Mr. and Mrs. Stokes own Blaencanaid Farm where there are five 
routes; the Forestry Commission also own land over which five routes run. The 
remainder of the routes are on approximately 224 hectares of land owned by Merthyr 
Village Ltd. (for convenience, the latter area will be referred to as the Merthyr Village 
Site). A number of these routes also continue onto land owned by the Forestry 
Commission. The sections of routes on Forestry Commission land have been offered 
for dedication as PRoWs and accepted by MTCBC. The legal process with regard to 
dedication is currently in process. The ownership of two short distances of claimed 
routes is unknown. 

 
1.3 The area covered by these thirty nine routes lies to the west of the town of Merthyr 

Tydfil, on the eastern slopes of Mynydd Aberdâr. It can generally be defined as 
bounded by Heolgerrig Road in the north, Forestry Commission (Wales) land in the 
west and south and by the A470, Cardiff-Llangurig Trunk Road (A470) in the east. 
Four of the routes however, extend to the east of this road. 

 
1.4 The land extends over approximately 2·5 km from south to north and between 1·5 

and 2 km from east to west. There is a gradual uphill slope from south to north and 
from an average of 200m in the east to over 380m in the west, although the inclines 
are greater on the slopes of Mynydd Aberdâr. 

 
1.5 A number of streams dissect the site, some in steeply sided valleys. These generally 

run west to east and discharge into the River Taff via culverts under the A470. From 
north to south these watercourses are the Nant Cwm Pant Bach, the Nant Cwm Glo 

Page 3



  

and the Nant Llwyn yr Eos which are tributaries of the Nant Rhydycar, and in the 
south, the Nant Canaid. Well established deciduous trees line their valleys. 

 
1.6 Sections of the Merthyr Village Site have been identified and mapped by the 

Countryside Council for Wales (CCW) as Open Access Land as defined by the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CRoW). The public therefore, have had a 
right of access (on foot) to these sections of the site since May 2006. Part 1, Chapter 
III of CRoW allows for access to Open Access Land and some of the routes which 
are the subject of this report would provide such access. It must be noted however, 
that with the exception of the Forest Road, this Open Access Land has been subject 
to a Restriction Order since 2nd June 2006; the restriction runs for five years. 

 
1.7 CCW has also designated almost all of the Merthyr Village Site as a Site of Special 

Scientific Interest (SSSI) and a number of the claimed routes are within this area. 
Certain claimed routes also run through areas which are subject to Tree 
Preservation Orders (TPOs); and through areas which are candidate Sites of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs). This entire area forms a section of the 
Merthyr Tydfil Landscape of Historic Interest. Some of the claimed routes lead to 
sites of historical and architectural interest such as Cwm Glo Chapel and the Cwm 
Pit. 

 
1.8 The land is characterised by open grassland, stands of ancient woodland, old 

vegetated coal tips and other relics of an industrial age. 
 
1.9 The landscape of Blaencanaid Farm lies within the site and comprises fields of old 

established pasture and stands of ancient woodland. 
 
1.10 The last 250 years have seen a dramatic change in the land use and landscape of 

the Merthyr Village Site. Initially this change was due to the development of the iron 
and coal industries and transport network when Merthyr Tydfil was a cradle of the 
Industrial Revolution. This area has a varied landscape. The land is agriculturally 
poor with large areas of open grassland, smaller areas of improved agricultural land 
and stands of ancient deciduous woodland. It also demonstrates considerable 
evidence of earlier industrial activity, having been important for coal and ironstone 
mining since the mid 18th century, particularly as a source of minerals for the 
Cyfarthfa Iron Works to the north.  

 
1.11 Another legacy of mining activity is the way in which the landscape has been 

affected by changes in the surface and underground drainage, particularly, in relation 
to routes in this Report, where rivers have cut through coal shale banks and tips to 
form a series of distinct valleys. 

 
1.12 Merthyr Village Ltd., the owners of the land and the Coal Authority have expressed 

concerns about the safety of mining-related hazards which in Merthyr Village Ltd’s 
2008 Planning Statement are recognised as tips, underground water flow paths and 
mine voids. The Statement refers to 185 known mine entries and a number of 
unrecorded mine related features. 

 
2.0 Public Rights of Way and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s Definitive Map 

and Statement 

Page 4



  

 
2.1 A Public Right of Way is a way on which the public have (1) a right to walk (footpath); 

(2) to walk, ride or lead a horse or cycle (bridleway); (3) to walk, ride or lead a horse, 
cycle or use any vehicles other than a mechanically propelled vehicle (restricted 
byway); or (4) ride horses, cycle and use motorised vehicles (Byway Open to All 
Traffic [BOAT]). These rights are discussed in more detail in Appendix 1. 

 
2.2 The Authority’s PRoWs are recorded on its Definitive Map and Statement which are 

maintained by MTCBC and held at the Council Offices in Merthyr Tydfil where they 
are available for public consultation. 

 
2.3 The duty of recording PRoWs on a Definitive Map and Statement was introduced by 

the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 which also provided for 
the survey of paths and the preparation of draft maps to which objections could be 
made. This duty however, was optional in London and all County Boroughs – of 
which Merthyr Tydfil was one at that time. 

 
2.4 The period between 1950 and 1974 saw a Definitive Map, a Review, a Draft, a 

Provisional Map and a further Review and Draft Review published for the former 
County of Glamorgan.  Merthyr Tydfil however, was a “blank” area on all of these 
documents although the maps depict PRoWs within neighbouring Rhondda Cynon 
Taff County Borough (RCT) which join some of the claims which are the subject of 
this report.  

 
2.5 The Local Government Act 1972 abolished County Boroughs and reorganised some 

county boundaries. Merthyr Tydfil was now within Mid-Glamorgan County Council 
which was required to abandon and re-start any review for which no revised map 
had been published. 

 
2.6 A draft survey was carried out and Draft Map and Statement drawn up for the (new) 

Merthyr Tydfil Borough in 1979. 
 
2.7 In 1991 the former Mid Glamorgan County Council produced a ‘blank’ Map for the 

Borough of Merthyr Tydfil and this was followed by a Modified Definitive Map and 
Statement dated 15th December 1995. This included all PRoWs which had been in 
the Vaynor and Bedlinog Wards (previously within Breconshire County Council and 
the Gelligaer Urban District Council respectively) along with all Definitive Map 
Modification Orders (DMMOs) subsequent to 1991 which were incorporated into an 
Omnibus Order, December 15th 1995.  

 
2.8 A draft map of PRoWs was also drawn up for Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council in 1991 

but it is not known whether a draft Statement was produced at this time. 
 
2.9 None of the claimed PRoWs which are the subject of this Report are on the extant 

Definitive Map or Statement. 
 
2.10 The 39 claimed routes submitted in this Report consist of footpaths, bridleways, 

restricted byways and BOATs. They link together and form a web over the entire 
site. They also link externally to maintainable highways and other PRoWs within 
MTCBC area. 

Page 5



  

 
2.11 When the Forestry Commission dedications referred to above have been signed by 

both MTCBC and the Welsh Assembly Government, some of these routes will also 
link to those within RCT on the western boundary of the County Borough. 

 
2.12 It was therefore decided that although each individual route must be considered on 

its own merit, all claimed routes within this area of West Merthyr would be presented 
to Councillors for consideration concurrently. 

 
2.13 Some of these routes are on old tracks and paths which led, for example, from farm 

to farm, farm to village or farm to church; others, dating from the industrial era, follow 
old tramways, inclines or railways. Two of the routes have been called Parish Roads. 
Modern use of these routes has typically been for recreation or leisure. 

 
2.14 The claimed routes in each of the items in this Report have been submitted under 

the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; some under S.53 (3)(b) giving primary 
evidence of long use and some under S.53(3)(c)(i), giving primary evidence as 
historical existence.  

 
2.15 Under the Wildlife and Countryside Act S.53(3)(c)(i) the Local Authority Officers have 

also identified a number of additional routes which claimants have brought to their 
attention during interviews held to discuss their original claims. Officers have 
investigated and found some evidence for these additional routes on the ground. 
They do, however, attach greater priority to dealing with the current claimed routes 
as itemised in this Report and any specific deviations of these claimed routes. 
Officers favour not disrupting the established timetable for submitting these to a 
PRoWs Committee and the additional routes have therefore been allocated a lower 
priority and are not being taken forward at this time, although the landowner has 
been notified of their existence. 

 
3.0 Overview of Generic Issues Relating to a number of the Claimed PRoW 
 
3.1 Investigations into the claimed PRoWS have involved consulting historic and 

contemporary primary records, for example Church Warden Minute Books, Highway 
Surveyor accounts, Planning Applications, Council Minute Books, Quarter Sessions 
records including deposited plans for canals and railways, as well as secondary and 
printed documents, such as books, maps and photographs.  

 
3.2 Council Officers have also undertaken a range of interviews with claimants, owners 

and occupiers and carried out site visits to assess visual evidence.    
 
3.3 A number of issues have emerged which are relevant to many of the individual Items 

within this Report. These are referred to individually in Items 2 – 40 where they 
involve specific claimed PRoWs but generic features are detailed below. 

 
4.0 PRoW Department Files 
 
4.1 Office files have been created for each claimed PRoW. These include the original 

claim certificates and other written submissions, Land Registry documents, 

Page 6



  

correspondence, notes of interviews with claimants, owners and occupiers, notes of 
site visits and other relevant documents. 

 
5.0 Maps 
 
5.1 The 1875, 1919, 1957, 1978, 1998 and 2005 editions of relevant local Ordnance 

Survey (OS) maps have been studied as well as maps which were created for 
specific purposes. The latter include a map of 1832 depicting constituency 
boundaries, Merthyr Tydfil Parish Tithe Map 1850, the Board of Health Map 1886 
and the Finance Act Map (Valuation Map) 1909/1910. 

 
5.2 The Board of Health and Valuation Maps are usefully overlain on OS bases. 
 
5.3 Depiction of a claimed route on maps is not evidence in itself of a PRoW but it may 

support or confirm the physical existence of a route. 
 
5.4 The Valuation Map in particular attracts more weight because routes which were 

publicly maintained were coloured – although because much of the land referred to 
in this Report is outside the built-up area of Merthyr Tydfil, the Valuation Map is only 
useful for a limited number of routes. 

 
6.0 Aerial Photographs 
 
6.1 All available aerial photographs have been studied; in the main these date from 1967 

(extreme western section not available) and 2008/9.  
 
7.0 Printed Books / Journals / Pamphlets and Websites 
  
7.1 Many different books about Merthyr Tydfil have been consulted; topics included 

history, industrial archaeology, natural history and antiquarian tours. The main books 
cited in this Report are Frederick Pedler, History of Gellideg (1930); all printed 
volumes of Merthyr Historian (from 1976) as well as a relevant article in the 
forthcoming edition; W. L. Davies, The Bridges of Merthyr (1993); S. Rowson and I. 
L. Wright, The Glamorganshire and Aberdare Canals Vol. 1 Merthyr Tydfil and 
Aberdare to Pontypridd (2001) and Merthyr Tydfil Teachers Centre Group, Merthyr 
Tydfil, A Valley Community (1981). It is recognised that there may be duplication and 
possibly repetition of inaccuracies in such sources but nevertheless, relevant 
evidence has been cited. 

 
7.2 A number of the claimed PRoWs detailed in this Report are depicted on maps in 

“Merthyr Tydfil Official Guide and Street Plan” which was published by MTCBC.  
These are depicted as “tracks” or as “paths (public access not guaranteed)”.  

 
7.3 Published booklets and pamphlets relating to walks and trails within the MTCBC 

area have been consulted and cited where relevant. 
 
7.4 Relevant internet websites have been consulted and cited, for example, “Old 

Merthyr” and the Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust’s site.  
 

Page 7



  

8.0 Records of Welsh Assembly Government (and predecessors) and Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council (and predecessors) 

 
8.1 These include documents such as planning applications, Council minutes, draft 

PRoW surveys, maps and statements and Side Road Orders created as part of 
highway improvements. 

 
9.0 Planning Applications 
 
9.1 Since 1966 much of the Merthyr Village Site - although with slight variations in 

boundaries - has been subject to a sequence of planning applications which have 
included opencast mining and associated suspension of footpaths and vehicular 
routes. The majority of these footpaths and vehicular routes correspond with the 
claimed PRoWs which are dealt with in Items 2 – 40 in this Report. The site is 
currently the subject of a further planning application; this and the other applications 
are summarised below. 

 
9.2 In 1966 and 1970 Planning Applications for opencast mining were made under the 

Opencast Coal Act 1958 S.15.  Both applications were accompanied by a second 
application which sought the suspension of footpaths and other routes in the event 
that the underlying opencast planning applications were successful.  

 
9.3 The 1966 Application was a joint Planning Application for opencast mining and for 

suspension of footpaths and vehicular routes on land in West Merthyr by the 
National Coal Board (NCB). In addition to the opencast planning application, the 
NCB, the then-owner of the land, applied to suspend 29 footpaths under The 
Opencast Coal Act 1958 and the Acquisition of Land (Authorisation of Procedure) 
Act 1946 along with three vehicular routes. These applications were collectively 
known as the Colliers Row [070846] (Rights Of Way) Application, County Borough of 
Merthyr Tydfil 1966.  

 
9.4 Certain documents from these applications are particularly relevant to the issues 

discussed in this Report where:  
 

• the map accompanying the applications and which clearly depicts all of the 
footpath and vehicular routes, “Map No. 2 referred to in the Colliers Row [070846] 
Application dated the 15th day of June 1966”,  is referred to as the “NCB Map”, 

 
• the document containing a schedule describing the footpaths is referred to as the 

“Footpath Application”,  
 

and 
 

• the document attached to the Authorisation Application and which made 
application for various operations including suspension of described vehicular 
routes will be referred to as the “Vehicular Application”. 

 
 
 
 

Page 8



  

9.5 The Application letter reads: 
 

“THE OPENCAST COAL ACT 1958  
 
THE COLLIERS ROW (070846) APPLICATION 

TO THE MINISTER OF POWER 
 
The National Coal Board hereby apply for an authorisation under Section 1 of the 
Opencast Coal Act 1958, in respect of the land described in the first schedule hereto 
and delineated and edged with a heavy black dot dash line on the maps attached to 
this application marked “Map No. 1 and map No. 2 respectively referred to in the 
Colliers Row (070846) Application dated the 15th day of June, 1966”, being land 
which they will require to occupy for the purpose of enabling authorised operations 
as defined in sub-section 5 of Section 1 of the said Act to be carried out. 
 
So much of the said land as is delineated and edged by a black broken line on the 
said maps is land on which it is proposed to work coal by opencast operations. 
 
Information as to the operations proposed to be carried out for the purpose of 
working the coal, and for purposes incidental to that purpose, is set out in the second 
schedule hereto, and information as to the operations proposed to be carried out for 
the purpose of restoring land affected by the working of the coal or by operations 
connected therewith, and for purposes incidental to that purpose, is set out in the 
third schedule hereto. 
 
Dated the 15th day of June, 1966 
 
        (H L Cox) 
       Duly authorised in that behalf 
         by the National Coal Board” 

 
9.6 At Paragraphs 6d(i) – 6d(iii) of the accompanying document, the NCB sought 

suspension of three public roads.  
 

Paragraph 6d(iv) sought suspension for: 
  

“Twenty nine footpaths lettered A-Z and AA-CC (inclusive) shown on Map No. 
2 cross the site. They have not been scheduled by Merthyr County Borough 
Council under the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949”.   

 
and Paragraphs 6d(vi) – 6d(ix) sought suspension for four private roads. 

 
The fact that the NCB recognized four “private” roads in its Vehicular Application 
gives more credence to the “public” roads and footpaths. 

 
9.7 The frontispiece of the Rights of Way Application of the same date reads: 
 
 
 

Page 9



  

“THE OPENCAST COAL ACT 1958  
 
THE ACQUISITION OF LAND (AUTHORISATION PROCEDURE) ACT, 1946 
COLLIERS ROW (070846) RIGHTS OF WAY APPLICATION 
COUNTY BOROUGH OF MERTHYR TYDFIL 

 
To: The Minister of Power 
 
1. The National Coal Board hereby apply for an order under Section 3 of the 

Acquisition of Land (Authorisation Procedure) Act, 1946, as applied by 
Section 15 of the Opencast Coal Act, 1958, in respect of the public rights of 
way within the Parish of Merthyr Tydfil in the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil 
in the County of Glamorgan described in the first schedule hereto, and 
delineated as indicated therein on the map attached to this application marked 
“Map referred to in the Colliers Row (070846) (Rights of Way) Application” 
dated the 28th day of June, 1966, not being rights enjoyable by vehicular 
traffic, which subsist over parts of the land described in an application for an 
authorisation under Section 1 of the Opencast Coal Act, 1958, entitled the 
“Colliers Row (070846) Application”, as land which the National Coal Board 
will require to occupy. 

 
2. So much of the land as is delineated and edged with a heavy black dot dash 

line on the said map is the land described in the said application for an 
authorisation. 

 
3. Suspension of the said public rights of way is desired from the date of the 

Authorisation (if any) granted in respect of the Colliers Row (070846) 
Application, or as soon as thereafter possible. 

 
4. Suitable alternative ways will be made available for use by the public during 

the period for which any order which the Minister proposes to make in 
pursuance of this application is in force and such alternative ways are 
described in the second schedule hereto and delineated as indicated therein 
on the said map. 

 
5. The Local Planning Authority and the Local Authority in whose areas any part 

of the land described in the said application for an authorisation and over 
which subsist any parts of the said public rights of way is: 

 
Authority     Address 

  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough  c/o The Town Clerk, 
  Council            Town Hall, 
          Merthyr Tydfil    
               Glam.      

6. On the revocation of any order which the Minister may make in pursuance of 
this application the Board will restore the rights of way along their original 
alignments and to their original condition. 

 
Dated the 15th Day of June, 1966 
 

Page 10



  

      H. L. Cox 
Duly authorised in that behalf by the National Coal 
Board” 

 
The First Schedule of this document referred to the NCB Map then clearly listed by 
number, defined alphabetically and described in detail each of the footpaths within 
the proposed opencast mining site and those sections of the footpaths for which it 
requested suspension.  

 
The Second Schedule listed and described four alternative ways which the NCB 
proposed to make available in place of those footpaths described in the First 
Schedule.  

 
9.8 The final section of this application document was the Statement of Case which 

stated: 
 

“THE COLLIERS ROW  
 

(RIGHTS OF WAY) APPLICATION  
 

STATEMENT OF THE NATIONAL COAL BOARD’S CASE  
 

1. This application seeks suspension of footpaths over land which is the subject 
of the Colliers Row (070846) Application for Authorisation under Section 1 of the 
Opencast Coal Act, 1958. 

 
2. The suspension of these footpaths is essential if the Board are to carry out the 

operations for which Authorisation is sought as the footpaths lie across the 
proposed excavation area and across other land required in connection with 
opencast operations. 

 
3. The Board are making application to the Welsh Office for suspension of three 

routes which may have also been used by vehicular traffic, namely parts of 
the Parish Road between Rhyd-y-car and Melinganaid, parts of the track from 
Upper Colliers Row to the bridge nearest to the North Eastern end of the 
Merthyr Railway Tunnel, and the track from Brondeg to Upper Colliers Row. 

 
4. Alternative ways will be provided which together with the public highway and 

existing paths adjacent to the boundary of the site will form suitable 
alternatives to those footpaths for which suspension is sought.  The aim of the 
proposed alternative ways is to provide, with existing paths and roads, a 
continuous route round the boundary of the site.  Those will be supplemented 
by an east-west route across the middle of the site between the Ynysfach and 
Rhyd-y-car areas and the area of Cwmdu Drift: the route of this will, of course, 
be fenced for the protection of the public, and will need to be varied from time 
to time to provide a safe way across the workings.  In addition the Board will 
undertake to make available for the use of the Owners and Occupiers of 
Waunwyllt Farm and Blaencanaid Farm suitable facilities for access to their 
land. 

Page 11



  

 
5. In the absence of a complete register of footpaths under the National Parks 

and Access to the Countryside Act, 1949, this application is based on 
information supplied by the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil confirmed by 
visual inspection of the land. 

 
6. Merthyr Tydfil County Borough have been consulted but have indicated that 

they are opposed in principle to the working of the site.  They have made no 
observations or suggestions for improvement on the details of the Board’s 
proposals”. 

 
All of the routes which were the subject of the request for suspension are dealt with 
in Items 2- 40 in this Report. 

 
9.9 The Applications were withdrawn in 1966, but subsequently resubmitted and 

proceeded to a joint Public Inquiry in June 1970. The Inspector, Mr. I. Wynn Pugh’s 
Report was issued 10th September 1970 and was prefixed: 

 
“Welsh Office 
Cardiff 

 
10 September 1970 

 
To the Right Honourable John Davies, MP 
Minister of Technology 

 
I have the honour to report that on Tuesday 30 June 1970 and on 9 
subsequent days I held concurrent public local inquiries at the Catholic 
Church Hall, Bethesda Street, Georgetown, Merthyr Tydfil, into applications 
dated 9 April 1970 made by the National Coal Board relating to land in the 
County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil, for: 

 
An Authorisation under Section 1 of the Opencast Coal Act 1958 to work coal 
by opencast operations.  (Document 2a)”. 

 
9.10 Sections of the 1970 Report are relevant to the Items in this Report before 

Councillors today: 

“ 38 The Case for the Applicants NCB 
 
At present there are a few roads/tracks on the site and about 29 footpaths.  
Arrangements would be made for the maintenance of essential communications 
across the site during the period of the proposed operations, by alternative 
roads/tracks and path as detailed in the proposals.  (Plan K and Document 2a 
Second Schedule).  As part of the restoration works such roads/tracks as are 
necessary to serve continuing uses would be restored, together with as many of the 
29 footpaths as the local authority may require.  The final scheme of restoration 
could provide for additional recreational facilities and features on the land, such as 
horse riding and nature trails, picnic areas, and other amenities which might well 

Page 12



  

dictate a new footpath system serving the same points outside the site boundary, but 
adjusted to the new contours and use of the land (Plan G). 

93.2 Findings of Fact 
 
On 9 April 1970 the National Coal Board applied for an authorisation under Section 1 
of the Opencast Coal Act 1958 to work coal by opencast operation at the site known 
as Colliers Row; and for an Order under Section 3 of the Acquisition of Land 
(Authorisation Procedure) Act 1946 temporarily to suspend certain public rights of 
way which subsist over the land. 
 
93.8 
 
Similar applications in respect of the Colliers Row site were made by the Board in 
1966, but following the Aberfan disaster the Inquiry was postponed, and the 
applications were withdrawn in 1968”. 

 
Mr. Pugh determined that the applications be refused, stating at paragraph 101 of his 
Report, “I recommend that the applications be not authorised”. 

 
9.11 A further Planning Application for various operations, including opencast mining, was 

made in 1986 for a smaller area of land, and in addition, in March 1988, the National 
Coal Board Opencast Executive made Application to the Secretary of State for 
Wales:  

“Opencast Coal Act 1958 – Section 15 
The Trunk Road Coal Extraction Site 

Rights of Way Application 1988 
 

On behalf of the British Coal Corporation Opencast Executive, I make 
application under Section 15 of the Opencast Coal Act 1958 for an Order to 
suspend rights of way over land for which application for planning permission 
to work coal by opencast operations was made to Merthyr Tydfil Borough 
Council on 28th November 1986. 

 
Mid Glamorgan County Council as the Mineral Planning Authority refused 
planning consent to work the site on 10th April 1986 and the British Coal 
Corporation appealed against that decision on 8th October 1987. 

 
In support of this application I enclose the following: 

 
1. Drawing No. 07D8736 which indicates the rights of way which are the 

subject of the application and is entitled “Map referred to in the Trunk 
Road Coal Extraction Site Rights of Way Application 1988. 

 
2. Statement of the British Coal Corporation’s case. 

 

Page 13



  

3. Transcripts of the Statutory Notice which appeared in the Western Mail, 
Merthyr Express and the London Gazette on the 25th February and 3rd 
March 1988.  Extracts from the above publications will follow. 

 
I confirm that copies of the Statutory Notice referred to in 3 above have also 
been posted on the land at the ends of each right of way or part of right of way 
for which suspension is sought, and that a copy of the Map and Notice have 
been sent in accordance with Section 15A(5)(a) and (b) to Merthyr Tydfil 
Borough Council and Mid Glamorgan County Council. 

 
I should also point out that no Community Council, Parish Council or Parish 
Meeting exists in the area of the site and no register of rights of way has been 
prepared for Merthyr Tydfil under the National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act 1949.  Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council have however 
identified footpaths and bridleways across the site which they consider to be 
in regular use.  It is seven of these footpaths and two bridleways which British 
Coal seek to suspend as public rights of way.  

 
This document was signed by E. M. L. Waller, regional Planning Manager, a duly 
authorised officer of the British Coal Corporation. 

 
THE TRUNK ROAD COAL EXTRACTION SITE 

 
RIGHTS OF WAY APPLICATION 1988 

 
STATEMENT OF THE BRITISH COAL CORPORATION’S CASE 

 
1) An application for planning permission under the Town & Country 

Planning Act 1971 to extract 733,000 tonnes of coal by opencast 
methods at Trunk Road Coal Extraction Site was submitted to Mid 
Glamorgan County Council on 28th November, 1986. 

 
2) No register of footpaths has been prepared for the Merthyr Tydfil area 

under the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949.  
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council have however identified footpaths and 
bridleways which they consider to be in regular use. 

 
3) This application seeks the suspension of seven of the footpaths and 

two of the bridleways, as shown on the plan. 
 

4) The suspension of the rights of way is essential if British Coal are to 
undertake the operations for which planning permission is sought 
because the rights of way lie across the proposed excavation area and 
over land which would be used for soil storage, overburden storage 
and for other purposes connected with opencast operations. 

 
5) British Coal would require the rights of way to remain suspended until 

such time as opencast operations have ceased, the land restored and 
the rights of way reinstated to their original or some other alignment to 
be agreed with the local planning authority. 

Page 14



  

 
6) British Coal have considered the need to provide alternative ways for 

the duration that the Rights of Way Order would remain in force.  It is 
the opinion of British Coal that the provision of such alternative ways is 
not required. 

 
7) It should be noted that Bridleway No.19 and footpath No.23 identified 

as such by Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council appear to coincide with two 
public roads identified by Mid Glamorgan County Council.  For the 
avoidance of doubt British Coal has included these lengths in both 
applications under Section 15 of the Opencast Coal Act 1958 and 
under Section 209 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1971. 

 
8) The rights of way lie over open ground and are not the sole means of 

access to any occupied property. 
 

9) The proposals in this application have been notified to Mid Glamorgan 
County Council and Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council. 

 
10) No community council or parish meeting exists in the area affected by 

this application. 

OPENCAST COAL ACT 1958 
 

THE TRUNK ROAD COAL EXTRACTION SITE RIGHTS OF WAY 

APPLICATION 1988 

1. Notice is hereby given that the British Coal Corporation in connection 
with the working of coal by opencast operations proposes to apply 
under section 15 of the Opencast Coal Act 1958 to the Secretary of 
State for an order suspending non-vehicular rights of way as described 
in the Schedule below. 

 
2. Opencast planning permission for the working has been applied for. 

 
3. A copy of the application and of a map showing the rights of way can 

be inspected at Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council Offices, Planning 
Department, 4th Floor, Oldway House, Merthyr Tydfil, Mid Glamorgan 
between the hours of 8.30am to 1.00pm and 2.00pm to 5.00pm 
(Mondays to Fridays) from 25th February 1988 to 5th April 1988. 

 
4. No alternative way is to be made available. 

 
5. Written objections, stating the grounds on which objections are made, 

may be sent by any person to the Secretary of State before 5th April 
1988 at the Welsh Office, Cathays Park, Cardiff CF1 3NQ, quoting 
reference P52/265/2.  If the district council or county council in whose 
area any part of the right of way lies objects and do not withdraw their 
objection the Secretary of State must arrange a public inquiry; if any 

Page 15



  

other person objects and does not withdraw his objection he may 
arrange a public inquiry if he thinks fit”. 

 
A Schedule then described in detail the eight routes for which suspension was 
sought. 

 
This application was refused and a subsequent appeal withdrawn. 

 
9.12 In 1995 permission was sought and granted for the deposition of waste materials 

arising from the works associated with the construction of the A470(T). This 
deposition materially altered the landscape and the line of those claimed routes to 
the south-west of Rhydycar. 

 
9.13 In 1998, Celtic Energy submitted an application for opencast mining and restoration / 

recreation. The application, the “Rhydycar West Scheme” was refused by the 
Council and subsequently withdrawn prior to a scheduled Public Inquiry to hear the 
company’s appeal against the refusal. 

 
9.14 The Merthyr Initiative Group also submitted a planning application in 1998. This was 

for use of the land for the creation of educational and recreational facilities. A Public 
Inquiry Inspector dismissed an appeal against MTCBC for failing to issue a notice of 
their decision within the prescribed period. 

 
An application submitted in 2000 by Merthyr Village Ltd. for leisure, retail, residential 
and business development on the land at Rhydycar was refused in 2008. 

 
9.15 The site was subject to two separate applications by Merthyr Village Ltd. in 2002. 

The first related to reclamation / landscape restoration of 83 ha of derelict land within 
the overall 224ha site including tip re-profiling and coal recovery and plateaux 
formation to accommodate future “built” development. The second, an outline 
application, sought consent to allow future “built” development on the site. In 2006, 
when the planning appeals for the two 2002 Applications were determined (and 
refused) by Public Inquiry, the Inspector stated at Paragraph 15.56 of his Report: 

 
“The question of enjoyment of public rights of way and other forms of public 
access is complicated by the lack of a definitive rights of way map. However, 
several claimed rights of way have been registered; and although at least 
some of these are disputed by the applicant (7.115), many of these appear to 
follow long-established historical routes across the land and are in practice 
used by the public, mainly on foot but in some cases as horse riding routes 
also. Whilst their precise legal status may be uncertain, the evidence indicates 
that they are currently used by the public as a matter of fact (3.13; 11.23-25; 
12.28-30; 12.42-43). A large proportion of these routes lies within the area of 
the phase 1 works and within the phase 2 development footprint. Even 
allowing that the detailed phase 2 development layout would attempt to 
preserve historical routes through the development to the countryside beyond, 
the public enjoyment of these routes which occurs at present and the amenity 
arising from this would be very seriously diminished. In addition, the upper 
part of the site is open access land and part of this would be with in the area 
of the phase 1 works and subsequently within the area of the phase 2 

Page 16



  

residential development. Notwithstanding the comments of CCW concerning 
possible restriction of access for public safety reasons (Doc. CCW69), I 
conclude that the proposals would compromise the public enjoyment of the 
land.” 

 
9.16 Shortly after the refusal of the two applications originally submitted in 2002, Merthyr 

Village Ltd. lodged a further application relating to a discrete portion of their land 
referred to as E13 (derived from an identifier on the extant Local Plan). A number of 
routes and trackways including the “old parish road” are referred to in several 
sections of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) accompanying the E13 
Planning Application. Paragraph 1.4.46 of the EIA, for example, discusses trackways 
on the application site and states,  

 
“There is a network of trackways across and immediately around the site, as 
shown on Figure 1-8: Site Assessment Plan. There are no adopted footpaths or 
bridleways traversing the site. The following sections have been identified within 
the site: 

 
• A trackway through the cental part of the site which links the Old Parish 

road with the dismantled GWR Merthyr Railway line across the centre of 
the site 

 
• A trackway running west across the northern part of the site along the 

alignment of the Old Parish Road” 
 

Paragraph 1.4.47 reads  
 

“Due to the dense vegetation cover over most of the site, these trackways 
provide the principal means of experiencing the internal areas of the site”. 

 
Paragraph 1.4.48 describes the principal routes in the area around the site including:  

 
• “The trackway following the alignment of the old Parish Road to the west”; 

 
This trackway and the other four routes which are described in the EIA for the E13 
Application are depicted on Figure 1-8: Site Assessment Plan.  

 
In addition, Figures 2, 3 and 4 of Appendix 2 of this document depict the eastern 
section of this trackway which is labeled “Parish Road”. 

 
A further planning application for reclamation of land (by means of open excavation, 
including coal extraction and washing of coal from selected tips) and reinstatement 
works has been submitted by Merthyr Village Ltd. and on July 27th 2009, Councillors 
determined that they “were of a mind to refuse”. This application has been listed for a 
four week Public Inquiry commencing 20th April 2010. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



  

10.0 Side Road Orders  
 
10.1 Certain routes or sections of routes have been subject to documented Side Road 

Orders and Stopping Up Orders. These have been dealt with individually as 
appropriate in the relevant Items below. 

 
11.0 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 
11.1 On 2nd October 1951, Council Minutes of the then Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 

Council (adopted 24th October, Public Works meeting) record a request to Members 
for information relating to PRoWs within the different wards of the County Borough in 
line with the regulations of the National Park and Access to the Countryside Act 
1949.  

 
11.2 A file in the MTCBC PRoW Department contains a letter from Councillor J. G. 

Davies, Cyfarthfa Ward, who replied to the County Borough Engineer in a letter 
dated 20th October 1951.  

 
11.3 Attached to Mr. Davies’ letter is a list of Rights of Way within the Cyfarthfa Ward – 

although Officers have no evidence that this list formed part of Mr. Davies’ 
correspondence. Twenty two routes were listed, including nine which joined the 
“Parish Road”. A number of the routes correspond to claimed routes detailed in this 
Report. 

 
12.0 Draft Public Rights of Way Maps and Schedules 
 
12.1 In the mid 1970s a walk-over of routes in the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council area 

was undertaken by Council Officers working under the direction of the Chief 
Technical Officer. This work culminated in a Draft Map and Statement being 
prepared in 1979. A number of the claimed PRoWs itemised in this Report are 
depicted on this Map and described in the Statement. 

 
12.2 Similarly, Council Officers produced a map entitled “Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council 

Rights of Way in the Old County Borough – Definitive Proposals” in April 1991. 
Again, a number of the claimed PRoWs itemised in this Report are depicted on this 
Map. No Draft Statement is available for this time. 

 
12.3 Correspondence in a PRoW file, between British Coal Opencast and their 

successors, Celtic Energy, with Andrew Mason, for the Mid Glamorgan County 
Engineer and Surveyor, dated between August and October 1995, explain the 
contemporary proposals. Mr. Mason wrote that at that time, Merthyr Tydfil Borough 
Council had decided to apply to register paths which crossed land within their 
ownership. His correspondence attests that the Borough Council was contacting 
other landowners and attempting to link paths and register gaps between proposed 
routes. 

 
12.4 Mr. Mason also stated: 
  

Page 18



  

“”I would also advise you that the County Council generally require any future 
development proposals to take account of ‘claimed’ or ‘possible claimed’ 
rights of way in order to protect the public’s interest”. 

 
13.0 Site Visits 
 
13.1 MTCBC Officers have walked the route of each claim, made notes, and where 

possible and appropriate, taken photographs to illustrate the line and surface of the 
claimed route along with any limitations, erosion or other possible hinderences to 
travel. 

 
13.2 The majority of the routes were well-defined on the ground. 
 
13.3 Officers saw walkers on the majority of the claimed routes at various times and at 

various locations. 
 
14.0 Observations and Consultation 
 
14a Interviews 
 

All claimants, owners and occupiers were offered personal interviews to discuss their 
evidence, to put forward their observations and make further submissions. 

 
Comments and observations can be divided into two components: 

 
• General points which are concerned with the existence or otherwise of PRoWs 

across the land 
 

• Specific points regarding specific routes which are detailed in Items 2 – 40. 
 

General points are discussed below. 
 
14a(1)Claimants and other Users 
 

In August 2007 the Rights of Way Project Officer wrote to each person who had 
submitted an evidence form requesting a meeting to substantiate the evidence 
previously supplied and to give them the opportunity of expanding on their previous 
submissions.  

 
A number of claimants attended for an informal interview with PRoW officers and 
discussed their claimed routes and others which they use in the West Merthyr area. 
Claimants generally differentiated between an area (a) bounded by Heolgerrig Road 
in the north and the Parish Road in the south which they referred to as the Merthyr 
Village Site, and (b) the area to the south of the Parish Road which is recognised as 
being in Forestry Commission ownership. The latter area is mainly covered by 
commercial conifer timber woodland. 

 
Claimants can be broadly divided into those who have lived all their lives in the area 
and those who moved to live at Heolgerrig and who have used the paths regularly for 
a minimum of 20 years. Most demonstrated extensive and very credible knowledge 

Page 19



  

of the whole area of West Merthyr as well as of specific routes. A number of those 
interviewed stated that they were not accustomed to using maps and found it difficult 
to pinpoint specific routes on a map; they insisted however, that they could easily 
point out the routes on the ground. 

 
Their verbal evidence supported and enhanced that which had been written on their 
claim forms, e.g. they gave many anecdotes of use of the route of the claim and 
showed knowledge of links with other tracks (some unclaimed and some claimed as 
PRoWS by themselves and/or others) which they (and others) have used since 
childhood,. Some submitted evidence of use over four generations (although it must 
be noted that some of the earlier evidence was in relation to specific journeys to 
work, e.g. local collieries). 

 
All believe they have a right to use the routes and have never been challenged in 
any way. As described where relevant in Items 2 – 40, on only specific, named 
routes and occasions have they sought and been given permission to use them.  

 
Officers expressed concern that claims are sometimes seen to extend only to the 
boundary of Merthyr Village Ltd. - owned land. Claimants offered the explanation that 
they thought that they would always have access to Forestry Commission land.  

 
In addition, a number of people contacted a PRoW Officer and requested an 
opportunity to give evidence of use of specific routes. They too were interviewed and  
demonstrated considerable knowledge of the whole of the West Merthyr area and 
the tracks and paths on it. They submitted evidence of the way in which they have 
used these routes and the period of time for which they have used them.  All 
believed they have a right to use these routes and have never been challenged in 
any way; as described where relevant in Items 2 – 40 below, on only specific, named 
routes and occasions have they sought and been given permission to use them.  

 
Claimants and other users have given evidence relating to the use of routes for work 
and for leisure and recreation. Officers have taken this into consideration. 

 
14a(2)Owners and Occupiers 
 

A similar invitation to discuss the various claims was extended to landowners and 
occupiers. 

 
Mrs. Catrin Higgins 

 
A PRoW Officer and the landowner, Mrs. Higgins, discussed the procedures involved 
in making and investigating a claim for a public right of way. The landowner stated 
that she was considering offering this land to the Council / Education Department.  

 
On another occasion, Mrs. Higgins stated that she was considering fencing off the 
Public Right of Way along the length of the lane (Gulley Nanni), thus leaving the 
remainder of the lane in her private occupancy. 

 
 Mrs Darya Page 
 

Page 20



  

 The land in Mrs Page’s ownership is currently subject to development which takes 
the line of the claimed route into account. 
Mr. and Mrs. Stokes expressed concern about the letter they had received stating 
that there were legal rights of way crossing their land and stated that they had 
purchased the land after searches indicated that there were no PRoWs across the 
land. 

 
Notes taken at a meeting with MTCBC Officers and Mr. and Mrs. Stokes record that 
Mr. and Mrs. Stokes expressed concern about the letter they had received stating 
that there were rights of way crossing their land. They reiterated that they had 
purchased the land after searches indicated there were no Public Rights of Way 
across the land. 

 
They contended no members of the general public had ever walked on their land 
since they had purchased the farm although they stated that they are 
accommodating to anyone who requests permission to go onto their land to look at 
the industrial archaeological relics there. 

 
They further stated that on several occasions they had requested that lighting be put 
on the Forest Road because their daughter worked late and had to stop to open two 
locked gates on her journey between Gernant Lane and the farm. 

 
The Forestry Commission has offered to dedicate as PRoWs a number of routes 
which cross their land. MTCBC has accepted the majority of these dedications which 
are currently being legally processed. A small number of similar routes traverse 
stands of conifers and because the Commission is not prepared to clear these 
routes, officers are unable to accept these particular dedications at the present time. 

  
Representatives of the owners of Merthyr Village Ltd. Mr John Walters and Ms Anne 
Marie Price discussed the route of each of the claims, initially concentrating on the 
perceived site hazards connected with each.  

 
During interview, Mrs. Misslebrook, tenant on the Merthyr Village Site and owner of a 
section of land in the north-east submitted a letter from Mr. David Evans, another 
tenant, authorising her to act on his behalf. She also confirmed her landownership on 
a map. The remainder of the interview involved discussion of specific routes as 
described in detail below, Items 2 – 40. 

 
14b Written observations and objections 
 
14b(1) The Landowners, Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

The landowners have consistently expressed their concern for health and safety 
issues on all of the land which is in their ownership.  

 
They have also given the Rights of Way Section a copy of The Coal Authority’s 
“Health and Safety Annual Report 2006 – 2007”, maps depicting ‘existing surface 
features” and a copy of their document, “Merthyr Village Ltd., Merthyr Tydfil, Health 
and Safety Method Statement for Access”. 

 

Page 21



  

Mrs. Misslebrook and the Davies Brothers (Mrs. Misslebrook’s brothers) have jointly 
submitted several written statements which are pertinent to routes adjacent to their 
land and to the whole of the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
In a document of January 2006 they stated, 

 
“A right of way is a path that anyone has the legal right to use on foot. 

 
Legally, most paths become a right of way because the owner dedicates them 
to public use.  However it is accepted that the law assumes that if the public 
use a path without interference , set by statute at 20 years, then the owner 
had intended to dedicate it as a right of way. 

 
However in the summer of 2001, there was a foot and mouth outbreak in 
Wales.  The exclusion zone was bordered to the edge of Cefn Coed on side 
of the farm, and to Abercynon at the other side.  Being in the middle of two 
exclusion zones we took the necessary measures to protect our stock.  This 
involved policing the farm at regular intervals throughout the day and turning 
the public away from the site.  We also locked the access gate at Gernant 
Lane, at the top of Heolgerrig, Cwm Glo Road, and the Juniors Field at 
Colliers Row.  This will be logged in Trading Standards Records as they were 
involved in exclusion zones, and had meetings on site with us to request the 
unlocking of the gate.  To clarify, this was not an imposed exclusion zone by 
any authority but our own turning back of the public.  Therefore we would 
constitute that there was an interference and therefore there are no rights of 
way across the land at present. 

 
Furthermore within our stocking density of cattle we have a bull.  We accept 
that Section 59 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 bans the keeping of 
bulls in fields crossed by a right of way, but in addition to the fact there is no 
right of way, there are exceptions.  This bull falls into the category that he is 
not of a recognised dairy breed, and that he is accompanied by cattle and 
heifers. 

 
However if any bull acts in a way which endangers the public, an offence may 
be committed under health and safety legislation.  This is an expense we 
could ill afford, and the risk cannot be minimised without fencing off areas, 
which is not financially viable for this farm and impractical due to the current 
stability issues. 

 
In addition to this under Section 3 of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, 
both employers and self-employed persons have an obligation to ensure that 
people outside their employment, or work activities, are not exposed to 
unnecessary health and safety risks.  They must make an assessment of 
potential risks in order to comply with the Management of Health and Safety 
at Work Regulations 1992 (Statutory Instrument 1992 No. 2051), and identify 
measures that can be taken in order to minimise them. 

 
Currently there are stability issues with the site, which at present have only 
been in receipt of emergency works by the Coal Authority.  Long term risk 

Page 22



  

management is currently unknown, and in any event is likely to take 
considerable time.  Therefore the ‘claimed’ paths are in an unsafe area, and 
to minimise the risk to the public the measure of no access will need to be 
enforced.” 

 
On 23rd January 2006 Mrs Misslebrook and her brothers wrote, 
 

“As tenants on the farm (which is owned by Merthyr Village) we expect to be sent 
the background documents submitted with the map, and we object to these 
claims for the following reasons: 

 
• Mining reports provided by Merebrook Consulting Engineers have raised 

concern to the stability of the ground, as a result of the raise in the hydrology; 
therefore these claims should be rejected on Health and Safety legislation 
alone. 

 
• This free access would be detrimental as the public have no regard for the 

countryside e.g. during 2001 when foot and mouth was dangerously close, 
and we had to lock the main gate to stop the risk of infection transfer to our 
stock. 

 
• The majority of the claimed rights are outside Open Access Land and 

therefore is private land. 
 

• Many of the alleged paths are incomplete, and walkers/riders would need to 
cross hazards beyond an acceptable risk (they are animals tracks). 

 
• Should these proposals for claimed rights be granted they would not be 

accessible to people with disabilities (in addition to being unsafe) and 
therefore should be rejected as discriminatory”. 

 
Again, on 25th July 2006, Mrs. Misslebrook expressed further concerns,  

 
“Firstly, it appears to be a certificate issued under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981.  It is my understanding that Part 3 of this Act which relates to Rights 
of Way was superseded by the Countryside Rights of Way Act 2000, therefore 
is this document legal?  Secondly it has been served upon us (the occupiers) 
seven and a half months after the application was made to the Local 
Authority.  Interestingly, this document has not been served on the occupier 
for any of the other claimed rights of way, so possibly Mr. Connelly needs to 
go back to the drawing board? 

 
My objections are now as they were in January (copies attached) with the 
added weight that CCW have reduced their Open Access area on the Merthyr 
Village site due to, as I understand it, the threat posed by the movement in the 
ground.  As this particular area was never enlisted for Open Access initially, I 
would suggest it was too dangerous to contemplate.  Indeed within this area 
there are two mine shafts which have been fenced off by the Coal Authority 

Page 23



  

since November 2005, and it is interesting that Mr Connelly’s ‘claimed 
footpath’ runs directly through one of the mine shafts”. 

 
The January objections referred to are those set out above, and specific comments 
are included below where relevant in Items 2 - 40. 

 
On 16th March 2007 Mrs. Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“Thank you for your letter dated 12th March received 15th March, informing me 
of the discovery of the NCB map dated 1966.  However I believe the entry of 
these perceived legal rights of way onto the Definitive Map and Statement is 
premature for reasons I will endeavour to outline. 

 
Firstly I would like to bring your attention to the legend of Map 2, which I have 
enclosed for your convenience.  It clearly states that they are footpaths 
claimed  by Merthyr Corporation to be public rights of way.  Therefore I feel 
the position on the definitive map and statement is no different to prior to the 
discovery of this map.  If anything it has cast further doubt over the claims and 
has added to my previous objections. 

 
Secondly what the entire map now clearly shows, which was omitted from 
ROW claims made on the NCB maps submitted by claimants, is the sparse 
settlements that just about still existed at that point in time.  Further discussion 
with older family members identifies these paths as right of access to 
properties and not rights of way for the general public. 

 
I therefore must quote from my earlier objection from January 2006: 

 
Legally, most paths become right of way because the owner dedicates them 
to public use.  However it is accepted that the law assumes that if the public 
use a path without interference , set by statute at 20 years, then the owner 
had intended to dedicate it as a right of way. 

 
These paths were not dedicated to public use and when the cottages became 
derelict in the sixties access was denied to the site by my father. 

 
I don’t feel this may has changed the circumstances at all; it now just presents 
the reason of why these paths were marked on a map.” 

 
On 12th May 2007, Mrs. Misslebrook and her brothers again wrote to the Council:  

 
“Furthermore you will also be aware of our current pursuance of activation of 
LA powers under the Mines and Quarries Act 1969 and the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990, which our sister is also taking the lead on.  Indeed we 
feel that the work being conducted on alleged rights of way should be shelved 
in respect of this particular site, until these proceedings have been formally 
concluded whether by the Local Authority or the Court System. 

 
In view of this and the rationale enclosed, we would object to any rights of 
way being granted on the site.  Indeed our primary view is that these alleged 

Page 24



  

rights of way do not exist, however we would seek to extinguish any rights 
granted firstly on the basis of non existence and secondly on Health and 
Safety Grounds. 

 
Also enclosed in the Coal Authority map, which we have received in relation 
to the ground work problems.  Unfortunately this map is already out of date 
due to the extensive Coal Authority presence on the site over the last few 
months.” 

 
On 16th September 2007 Mrs. Misslebrook made observations on the notes taken by 
Mrs. Judith Jones at their meeting, 11th August and also submitted further comments 
about specific routes.  

 
“Missing from the notes dated 11th August 2007 in respect of my meeting with 
Beth Jones and Judith Jones at Ty Keir Hardie, but a very important omission, 
is my observation that some of the footpaths on the plan differ in route, from 
those copies registered by parties unknown. 

 
I expressed my concern that parties could change the route from the original 
they were claiming on the plan.  I was informed that the original routes were 
marked wrongly on the first map I received.  Post meeting and having 
checked my service documents, the routes do  differ from those on the map 
received from the LA, and as such the LA routes are inaccurate.  However I 
will comment on both  sets of routes.” 

 
At this time also, Mrs. Misslebrook reiterated her comments concerning exclusion of 
the public during the 2001 foot and mouth outbreak, 
 

“More importantly the public were denied access to the site in 2001 due to the 
foot and mouth outbreak.  This WAS NOT a WAG exclusion zone, but a 
precaution set up by ourselves.  The LA were involved including Councillors 
but no effort was made by the LA in respect of a court order to lift the denied 
access to the farm.” 

 
Mrs. Misslebrook wrote again on 15th June 2008: 

 
“Thank you for your letter dated 13th June received 14th June, informing me of 
the discovery of the British Coal Opencast Executive map dated 1988 and 
statement documents, which refer to suspension of rights of way. 

 
Once again I believe the submission of documents is premature for the 
reasons I will endeavour to outline. 

 
Firstly I would like to bring your attention to the letter dated 4th March 1988 
signed by E M L Waller, Regional Planning Manager.  Page 2 states: 

 
 … I should also point out that no Community Council, Parish Council or Parish 

Meeting exists in the area of the site and no register of rights of way has been 
prepared for Merthyr Tydfil under the National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act 1949.  Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council have however 

Page 25



  

identified footpaths and bridleways across the site which they consider to be 
in regular use… 

 
This paragraph is further repeated in statement of case submitted by the 
British Coal Corporation.  It is evident from these documents that neither the 
Borough or County Council in 1988 had implemented a definitive plan and 
could only reference footpaths and bridleways they considered to be in 
regular use.  Therefore in 1988 there was no official definitive map. 

 
Secondly, I note that the served certificates (schedule 8) are incomplete when 
examined in conjunction with not only with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (c.69) but also with MTCBC own guidelines in respect of applying for a 
Definitive Map Modification Order.  Schedule 14 Part 1(b) of the Act outlines 
that applications should be accompanied by copies of any documentary 
evidence (including statements of witnesses) which the applicant wishes to 
adduce in support of the application.  The only documents I have received 
have been signed by Mr Edward Foley.  There are a total of 2 certificates 
number 1 and 4 certificates number 3, which does not correspond with the 
total number of bridleways and footpaths that are apparently being claimed.  
Can you please indicate which form applies to which bridleway or footpath 
and these are not indicated on the serving of notice?  The footpath or 
bridleway number in relation to the map will suffice. 

 
In relation to the aforesaid statements of witnesses as advocated by MTCBC 
guidelines ‘that a minimum of six evidence forms are required and that 
applicants should indicate if they are willing to defend their evidence in a 
Public Inquiry.’  I would be grateful if you could supply copies of these 
documents. 

 
I think it is also prudent to remind the LA once again of my earlier objection 
from January 2006: 

 
Legally, most paths become a right of way because the owner dedicates them 
to public use.  However it is accepted that the law assumes that if the public 
use a path without interference , set by statute at 20 years, then the owner 
had intended to dedicate it as a right of way.” 

 
14c Investigation Reports 
 

On 16th June 2008, fifty nine Investigation Reports relating to the West Merthyr area 
were forwarded to relevant parties. Where applicable, responses relating to specific 
claimed PRoW are detailed within each item in this Report, but generic responses to 
a number of routes were also received.  

 
The three Councillors for the Cyfarthfa Ward and three groups (Merthyr Initiative 
Group, Merthyr Tydfil Anti-Opencast Campaign and Rhydycar West Regeneration 
Partnership) supported the existence of all routes. 

 
In addition to comments in relation to specific routes, Mr. Stokes wrote, 

 

Page 26



  

“I wish to state clearly that I am not accepting any footpaths on my property 
and I do not give permission for any of the rights of way”. 

 
The Route Manager, Network Management Division for the Welsh Assembly 
Government made a number of observations which were specific to certain routes 
and which will be dealt with at the relevant Item below and concluded, 

 
“We are of the view that if it is concluded through consideration of any 
evidence presented that footpaths exist which cross the trunk road that any 
such footpaths are subject to the 1997 order”. 

 
She described this Order, 

 
“The A470 Trunk Road (Abercanaid- Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil)(Prohibition of 
Pedestrians ) Order 1997. This came into force on the 18th July 1997. Save as 
provided in article 4 of the Order no pedestrian shall, except upon the 
direction or with the permission of the police constable in uniform or of a traffic 
warden, proceed in the lengths of the trunk road, excluding any lay-by, 
between Pentrebach and Cefn Coed in the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil 
specified in the Schedule to this Order. Full details are contained in the 
Statutory Instrument 1997 no. 1932, a copy of which is attached”. 

 
E T Landnet, representatives of Merthyr Village Ltd. raised a number of points in 
their response. 
They wrote an Introduction with general comments outlining the relevant law.  
They then made a response to the claims commencing with a list of the contents of 
the reports.  
They noted that many reports “are in respect of routes which adjoin each other so as 
to create one de facto route on the ground or they are duplications in part of other 
claimed routes”.  
They say that none of the historic documentary evidence demonstrates use by the 
public, citing use of maps and aerial photographs.  
They refute the fact that documents produced by the former NCB and its successors 
are evidence of a public right of way, stating that the word “claimed” is used when 
referring to the routes shown and that there is nothing in these documents which 
demonstrate the existence of the rights of way. 
They state that the 1951 document is only the first of a multi-part process in 
preparing a Definitive Map and Statement; there is no supporting material for this 
document. 
There is no evidence of any further investigation into rights of way between 1951 and 
1966 (date of first National Coal Board Application). 
Subsequent reference to “claimed” rights of way in other documents does not give 
rise to any legal or other presumption.  
They state that user evidence is not credible because: 
 

  a. there is a paucity of user evidence, 
  b. the completion of user forms is poor, 

c. there has been no analysis of the requirements of the Highways Act 1980 
S.31 – specifically the date when the right of the public was called into 
question so that it is not possible to judge the twenty year period, 

Page 27



  

 d. Much of the site is remote so that people may be there without the  
knowledge of the landowner, thus denying him the opportunity of challenge or 
of taking further steps to protect the land from trespass, 

 e. User evidence fails to address physical layout of tracks on the land –  
access to various residences, other buildings and mining and other operations 
of the landowners, 

 f. “The predominant use of much of the Merthyr Tydfil site at the time of  
alleged user has been as mine workings operated by a statutory body. The 
presence of innumerable mineshafts and mining operations throughout that 
period would have prevented user by the public in the manner alleged or at 
all”, and 

 g. Merthyr Village Ltd. “reasonably believe” that this is “self-serving  
evidence… sourced from those opposed to its planned development of the 
site”. They state that the Council should “treat such material with extreme 
caution”. 

 
They further questioned the credibility of the user evidence as a whole (exacerbated 
by the failure to disclose contact details of users). 

 
Under a section headed “Further Evidence”, they adduced a plan entitled “Intensity 
of Surface Hazards”. 

 They also state that they will adduce any further evidence which may come into their 
possession. 

 In conclusion, they state that: 
 The Surveying Authority (Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council) has a large volume 

of paperwork but limited content and E. T. Landnet state that based on 1951 and 
1966 evidence, the “claims” were historic and not resolved. 
If the claims had been processed in 1951 they would have been resolved by the time 
of the 1966 application. 
It is unlikely that any credible evidence of public use for 57 years ago will now be 
available; no other records have been adduced from that time. 
Documentary evidence now adduced is evidence of features and not of public use. 
The tests for making a Modification Order are not satisfied and the making of a 
Modification Order would be “an unreasonable exercise of the Council’s function as 
Surveying Authority”. 
Merthyr Village Ltd. reserves its position to make further representations concerning 
further evidence adduced by the Council or other parties and to “refer to this 
document on the issue of costs in the event that the Council nonetheless proceeds 
to make orders which are referred to the National Assembly for confirmation”. 

 
On 14th July 2008 Mrs. Misslebrook, for the tenants, made a number of general 
observations concerning the Investigation Reports:  

“General Observations 
 

It is noted that claimants have submitted evidence as early as 2002.  However 
I only became aware of the claims when the ROW issue was raised in the 
Merthyr Village Inquiry in 2006.  It is the duty of the claimant to serve notice 
on any party who has an interest in the land.  The only documents I have 
received have been at my request from the Local Authority Officers. 

Page 28



  

 
The Investigation report does not take into account all previous evidence.  In 
particular in 2001 prior to the transfer of ownership to MVL, I locked the 
access gates to the site in order to reduce the risk of foot and mouth being 
brought into the farm.  This was a closure outside of WAG direction and 
caused much controversy at the time.  Meetings were held with Local 
Members and Trading Standards to try to get the gate opened.  I refused and 
no enforcement notice was ever received.  Had there been rights of way I am 
sure I would have received a court order to unlock the gate. 

 
The Act states that only definitive maps and statements can be used as 
conclusive evidence of an existence of a right of way, none of the ancillary 
maps in any of the evidence are definitive maps.  If the maps are to be used 
as a basis for claiming rights of ways, then the 1978 West Merthyr map 
conflicts with much of the evidence given in the form of maps ancillary to the 
blacked out statements, and with the routes claimed on other maps which are 
not date authenticated.  A footpath marked on a map does not certify its 
quantity of use if any at all. 

 
The Act further states that claimed ROW must start and end in a public place, 
none of the routes commence on an adopted highway or other public place. 

 
The statements anonymous or otherwise raise issues in respect of the 
claimed rights of ways.  One claimant makes reference to my father’s 
comments that the land was dangerous in the lower part of the site, much of 
which has come to fruition of late. 

 
Other claimants advocated that they have only used the Heolgerrig routes for 
the last 10-12 years, which falls somewhat short of the 20 years required. 

 
Furthermore, many of those making statements indicate that they were either 
working for people on the site, whether mining or farming related or visiting 
people who lived on the site.  The exercise of a private right in connection with 
employment cannot provide evidence for a public right of way. 

 
A minimum of six statements are required to provide the basis for a right of 
way.  Many of the documents have the names blacked out; however I am led 
to believe that the persons in question have agreed to give evidence at a 
public inquiry.  This does not equate to a full and frank disclosure which is 
required exchange between parties prior to an inquiry.  Any evidence not 
served in advance is not admissible and I therefore request that these 
statements are struck out”. 

 
In response to a further three observations on the Investigation Reports, Mrs. 
Misslebrook wrote,  
 

“It is pertinent to comment that if the Rights of Way are endorsed, the duty to 
maintain those rights of way will fall to the Local Authority”.  

 

Page 29



  

She also notes that the additional representations are not relevant to the issue of 
whether the public rights exist or are reasonably alleged to exist. 

 
The Coal Authority also has an interest in the Merthyr Village Site and made 
comments relating to all of the claimed routes and the site as a whole. They stated 
that the paths cross land on which they have been trying (since 2007) to “prevent 
from public access owing to the public safety dangers which have arisen and have 
potential to arise from former coal mining activities”. The Authority attached an 
extract from its GIS mapping system showing the position of mine entries (to be used 
by the Council in relation to this issue only) and stated that it “considers that the risk 
from coal related hazards to anyone accessing the land and walking across it, is 
unparalleled in its experience”.  

 
The Coal Authority considers public access should be denied because of “significant 
safety risk”. Supporting evidence is: 
 
i. 24 coal mining related hazards reported and secured by them over the last 2 

years, 
ii. an open mine shaft reported September 2006 was considered a near miss 

fatality at 16 metres deep and having been covered only by a thin layer of turf, 
iii. numerous shallow working collapses are present over an extensive area of 

the site, and  
iv. risks were illustrated following “a further massive mine shaft collapse … at the 

Lower Colliers Row shaft” which was adjacent to and affected one of the 
footpaths. 

 
They stated that they have sought and are seeking to fence and erect signs to 
prevent public access; they have informed the local press of the dangers; the 
Council has advertised the risks on their website; they have held two public meetings 
at Heolgerrig and with Community Group representatives to discuss the nature of the 
risks and the rationale behind the Coal Authority’s strategy. 
 
Between November 2007 and January 2008 they attempted – unsuccessfully – to 
identify areas of the site which they could de-risk. 
They concluded: 
 
i. in relation to the 1966 and 1970 applications to suspend footpaths to enable 

mining to take place, they believe that it was practice at that time to seek 
suspension orders “irrespective of whether they formally existed if there was 
some presence of a path or track on the land. This was to avoid potential 
frustrations to the authorization process,and 

ii. one of the reports did not contain a location plan, 
 

They noted that several of the paths cross or are in close proximity to recorded mine 
positions and say, 

 
“The risks to public safety in making these paths accessible to the public are 
serious, and the Coal Authority does not consider that it is in the public 
interest that these footpaths are confirmed, or if confirmed allowed to stay 

Page 30



  

open. Should the Local Authority confirm these paths then the Coal Authority 
considers that the risks to public safety on this land will be escalated”. 

 
Mr. Teifion Jenkins criticised the method of consultation. He also stated: 

 
• Although documentation concerned the rights of way, he deduced that the issue 

was that of opencast mining. 
• He is unconvinced about the issues of public safety. 
• He finds it depressing that Merthyr “seems locked into the energy models of the 

last two hundred years”. 
• He sees a muted opposition to the “coal board’s” plans and says “how refreshing 

it would have been if the Council had led and orchestrated a borough wide 
opposition to the plans”. 

 
15.0 Officer’s Comments and Observations 
 
15.1 Councillors need to be aware that in relation to assertions about site safety and 

stability made by Merthyr Village Ltd. and their representatives and the Coal 
Authority’s comments concerning health and safety, these factors cannot be 
considered when determining any of the PRoWs applications below. 

 
15.2 Councillors may also wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet above in 

assessing the evidence given by members of the public. 
 
15.3 ET Landnet state, 
 

“Applying section 32 HA80 to this evidence, it is self serving evidence which 
Merthyr Village Limited reasonably believe to be sourced from those opposed 
to its planned redevelopment of the site. In the circumstances the Surveying 
Authority must treat such material with extreme caution and have specific 
regard to the status of the person by whom and the purpose for which it was 
made or compiled when considering what weight if any such material should 
be given.” 

 
15.4 Officers believe users’ evidence to be credible and, in fact, have not taken into 

consideration any content other than that relating to PRoWs. 
 
15.5 Mrs. Misslebrook’s concerns about health and safety aspects of the site cannot be 

taken into account when determining these Applications.  
 
15.6 Councillors will also be aware that in 2001 there was a severe outbreak of foot and 

mouth disease which affected access and recreation throughout the County 
Borough. Advice Note 15, issued by the Planning Inspectorate deals with this issue. 
Where use of routes is prohibited by statutory order it does not address non-statutory 
action by an occupier to restrict access. Mrs. Misslebrook has suggested that her 
actions in excluding the public from the farm during the foot and mouth outbreak 
interrupts what she considers to be the relevant 20 years period. 

 
15.7 Officers do not consider this to be the case because: 
 

Page 31



  

a) the 20 year user period had already occurred based on evidence of long 
user already outlined, 

b) the emergency nature of the interruption, 
c) Mrs. Misslebrook closed the route of her own volition, and 
d) given the emergency and its severity, it is unlikely that either users or the 

tenants were focusing on their strict legal rights. 
 

15.8 Further, it appears to Officers that the actions of the tenant at that time actually 
recognise the existence of PRoWs which needed to be curtailed for foot and mouth 
reasons. In addition, these actions post-date the date of the majority of the claims. 

 
15.9 The tenants do, however, refute the existence of the PRoWs. 

Page 32



Guidance on the law relating to the continuous review of the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way 
 
Definitions 
 
The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 gives the following definitions of the public 
rights of way which are able to be recorded on the Definitive Map:- 
 
Footpath – means a highway over which the public have a right of way on foot only, 
other than such a highway at the side of a public road; these rights are without prejudice 
to any other public rights over the way; 
 
Bridleway – means a highway over which the public have the following, but no other, 
rights of way, that is to say, a right of way on foot and a right of way on horseback or 
leading a horse, with or without a right to drive animals of any description along the 
highway; these rights are without prejudice to any other public rights over the way; 
 
Byway open to all traffic (BOATs) – means a highway over which the public have a 
right of way for vehicular traffic and all other kinds of traffic. These routes are recorded 
as Byways recognising their particular type of vehicular highway being routes whose 
characters make them more likely to be used by walkers and horse riders because of them 
being more suitable for these types of uses; 
 
Restricted Byway – means a highway over which the public have a right of way on foot, 
on horseback or leading a horse and a right of way for vehicles other than mechanically 
propelled vehicles, with or without a right to drive animals along the highway. 
(Mechanically propelled vehicles do not include vehicles in S189 Road Traffic Act 
1988). 
 
Duty of the Surveying Authority 
 
Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that a Surveying Authority 
shall keep a Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the occurrence of any of a number of prescribed events by 
Order make such modifications to the Map and Statement as appear to them to be 
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event. 
 
Orders following “evidential events” 
 
The prescribed events include – 
 
Sub section (3) of section 53 
 

(b) the expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the Map relates, of 
any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way during that period 

Agenda Item 4

Page 33



raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public path or 
restricted byway; 

(c) the discovery by the Authority of evidence which (when considered with all 
other relevant evidence available to them) shows – 
(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the Map and Statement 

subsists or is reasonably alleged  to subsist over land in the area to 
which the map relates, being a right of way such that the land over 
which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or, a 
byway open to all traffic; or 

(ii)  that a highway shown in the Map and Statement as a highway of a 
particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of a  
different description; or 

(iii)  that there is a public right of way over land in the Map and Statement 
as a highway of any description, or any other particulars contained in 
the Map and Statement require modification.   

 
The modifications which may be made by Order shall include the addition to the 
statement of particulars as to:- 
 

(a) the position and width of any public path or byway open to all traffic which is 
or is to be shown on the Map; and 

(b) any limitations or conditions affecting the public right of way thereover. 
 
Orders following “legal events” 
 
Other events include  
 
“The coming into operation of any enactment or instrument or any other event” whereby 
a highway is stopped up diverted widened or extended or has ceased to be a highway of a 
particular description or has been created and a Modification Order can be made to 
amend the Definitive Map and Statement to reflect these legal events. 
 
Government Policy – Welsh Office Circulars 5/93 & 45/90 
 
In considering the duty outlined above the Authority should have regard to the above 
circulars. 
 
Circular 5/93 
 
Paragraph 13 of Annex B of that circular states “Surveying Authorities, whenever they 
discover or are presented with evidence which suggests that a Definitive Map and 
Statement should be modified, are required to take into consideration all other relevant 
evidence available to them concerning the status of the right of way involved. Moreover 
before making an Order they must be satisfied that the evidence shows on the balance of 
probability that a right of way of a particular description exists or that a way shown on 
the Map is not in fact a public right of way. The mere assumption, without any supporting 

Page 34



evidence, that a right of way does or does not exist would be insufficient to satisfy that 
test. In the case of deletions, the conclusive evidential effect of definitive maps and 
statements means that the evidence must show that no right of way existed as at the 
relevant date of the Definitive Map on which the way was first shown. If the evidence 
does support this, consideration should also be given to whether the way has acquired 
such rights in the intervening period.” 
 
Further advice on deletions is contained in Welsh Office Circular 45/90. 
 
In relation to byways open to all traffic (BOATs) Paragraph 12 of Annex B states “by 
definition BOATs are vehicular rights of way which are used by the public mainly for the 
purposes for which footpaths and bridleways are used. The Principal factor Surveying 
Authorities should bear in mind when deciding whether a way ought to be shown on the 
Definitive Map and Statement as a BOAT is therefore the purposes for which it is used. 
Thus if it is mainly used by vehicular traffic as opposed to walkers and horse riders it 
should as a general rule not be shown. Instances may occur where a way presumed to 
have been dedicated as a highway for all purposes under Section 31 of the Highways Act 
1980 also satisfies the definition of a BOAT. In such circumstances, it would be open to 
Surveying Authorities to add the way to the Definitive Map and Statement under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Section 53(3)(c) also allows for 
ways presently shown on Definitive Maps and Statements as footpaths and bridleways, 
but which enjoy vehicular rights, to be upgraded to BOATs.”      
 
Circular 45/90 
 
The circular explains that following the Court of Appeal decision in R v Secretary of 
State for the Environment ex parte Sims and Burrows (1989), authorities may consider 
applications to delete or downgrade rights of way on the basis that the evidence relates to 
events prior to the relevant date of the Definitive Map. 
 
The circular also states: 
 
“However, in making an application for an Order to delete or downgrade a right of way it 
will be for those who contend that there is no right of way or that a right of way is of a 
lower status than shown to prove that the Map is in error by the discovery of evidence 
which, when considered with all other relevant evidence, clearly shows that a mistake 
was made when the right of way was first recorded. The Authority is required by 
Paragraph 3 of Schedule 14 to the Act to investigate the matters stated in the application. 
However, it is not for the Authority to demonstrate that the Map is correct but for the 
applicant to show that an error was made…” 
 
“In making an Order the Authority must be able to say in accordance with Sections 
53(3)(c)(ii) or (iii) that a highway of a particular description ought to be shown on the 
Map and Statement with a different description; or that there is no public right of way 
over land shown in the Map and Statement as a highway of any description…” 
 

Page 35



“Authorities will be aware of the need, as emphasised by the Court of Appeal, to 
maintain an authoritative Map and Statement of highest attainable accuracy. The 
evidence needed to remove a public right from such an authoritative record will need to 
be cogent. The procedures for defining and recording public rights of way have, in 
successive legislation, been comprehensive and thorough. Whilst they do not preclude 
errors, particularly where recent research has uncovered previously unknown evidence, or 
where the review procedures have never been implemented, they would tend to suggest 
that it is unlikely that a large number of errors would have been perpetuated for up to 40 
years without being questioned earlier.”             
 
Definitive Maps 
 
The process for the preparation and revision of definitive maps was introduced by Part III 
of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil was exempt from the provisions of Part III and it was not until 1990 that 
the first Definitive Map and Statement was prepared for Merthyr Tydfil by the then 
Highway Authority, Mid Glamorgan County Council. This was reviewed and the present 
Definitive Map and Statement is dated 15th December 1995. 
 
Test to be applied when making an Order 
 
The provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 set out the tests which must be 
addressed in deciding that the Map should be altered. 
 
Section 53 permits both upgrading and downgrading of recorded highways and additions 
of way not previously recorded as well as deletions from the Map. 
 
The statutory test at S53(3)(b) refers to the expiration of a period of time and use by the 
public such that a presumption of dedication is raised. 
 
The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(i) comprises two separate questions, one of which must be 
answered in the affirmative before an Order is made under that subsection. There has to 
be evidence discovered. The claimed right of way has to be found on balance to subsist 
(Test A) or able to be reasonably alleged to subsist (Test B). 
 
This second Test B is easier to satisfy. 
 
Test B has been described in a recent case as imposing a “lesser burden, namely one 
which obliges the Authority only to be satisfied of the existence of facts which raise a 
prima facie case for the subsistence of the way.”      
 
The case of R v Secretary of State for the Environment, ex parte Bagshaw (1994) seems 
by inference to accept that an Order made on resumed dedication under Statute can be 
made under s53(3)(b) or s53(3)(c)(i). 
 

Page 36



In the Court of Appeal case, R v Secretary of State for Wales, ex parte Emery (1996), 
Lord Justice Roch found that in the case of a dedication deemed under statute; Test A is 
satisfied if there is “clear evidence of 20 years user uncontraverted by any credible 
evidence to the contrary and no credible evidence that there was on the part of the 
landowner no intention during the period to dedicate the way to the public”. 
 
Neither Test A nor Test B will be satisfied if there is “no credible evidence of 20 years 
use or where there is incontrovertible evidence that the landowner had no intention 
during the period to dedicate the way to the public”. 
Test B can be satisfied where “an applicant for a Modification Order produces credible 
evidence of actual enjoyment of a way as a public right of way over a full period of 20 
years and there is conflict of apparently credible evidence in relation to one of the other 
issues which arose under S31 of the 1980 Act”. This is because it is possible, even though 
there is conflicting evidence, that a reasonable person having considered all relevant 
evidence available could reasonably allege a right of way to subsist. 
 
The Court in the Emery case asked Order making Authorities to bear in mind that making 
an Order still leaves both parties with the ability to object to the Order when conflicting 
evidence can be heard and those issues determined following a public inquiry. 
 
The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(ii) again refers to the discovery of evidence that the 
highway on the Definitive Map ought to be shown as a different status. 
 
The statutory test at S53(3)(c)(iii) again refers to evidence being discovered that there is 
no public right of way of any description after all or that there is evidence that particulars 
in the Map or Statement need to be modified. 
 
The judgement in O’Keefe v Secretary of State for the Environment and Isle of Wight 
CC (1997) reminds Order making Authorities that they should make their own 
assessment of the evidence and not accept unquestioningly what officers place before 
them. 
 
All evidence must be considered and weighed and a view taken on its relevance and 
effect. 
 
An Order making Authority should reach a conclusion on the balance of probabilities. 
The balance of probability test demands a comparative assessment of the evidence on 
opposing sides. This is a complex balancing act. 
 
Recording a “new” route 
 
For a route to have become a highway it must have been dedicated by the owner either 
directly or by inference. 
 
Once a route is a highway it remains a highway, even though it may fall into non use and 
perhaps become part of garden. 

Page 37



 
This is the position until a legal event causing the highway to cease can be shown to have 
occurred, or the land on which the highways runs is destroyed perhaps by erosion which 
would mean that the highway length ceases to exist.   
 
Sometimes there is documentary evidence of actual dedication but more often a 
dedication can be inferred because of how the landowner appears to have treated the 
route and given it over to public use (dedication at Common Law) or dedication can be 
deemed to have occurred if certain criteria laid down in Statute are fulfilled (dedication 
under S31 Highways Act 1980) 
 
Dedication able to be inferred at Common Law 
 
At common law dedication of a highway may be inferred if the evidence points clearly 
and unequivocally to an intention on the part of the landowner to dedicate. The burden of 
proof is on the claimant to prove a dedication. Evidence of use of the route by the public 
and how an owner acted towards them is one of the factors which may be taken into 
account in deciding whether a path has been dedicated. No minimum period of use is 
necessary. All the circumstances must be taken into account. How a landowner viewed a 
route may also be indicated in documents and maps. 
 
However, a landowner may rely on a variety of evidence to indicate that he did not intend 
to dedicate, including signs the way was private, blocking off the way or turning people 
off the path, or granting permission or accepting payment to use the path. 
 
There is no need to know who a landowner was. 
 
Use needs to be by the public. This would seem to require the users to be a number of 
people who together may sensibly be taken to represent the people as a whole/the local 
community. Use wholly or largely by local people may still be use by the public. Use of a 
way by trades people, postmen, estate workers or by employees of the landowner to get 
to work, or the purpose of doing  business with the landowner or on payment would not 
normally be sufficient. Use by friends of or persons known to the landowner would be 
less cogent evidence than use by other persons. 
 
The use also needs to be as of right which would mean that it had to be open, not secretly 
or by force or with permission. Open use would arguably give the landowner the 
opportunity to challenge the use. Toleration by the landowner of a use is not inconsistent 
with user as of right. Recent case law would indicate that the use has to be considered 
from the landowner’s perspective as to whether the use, in all the circumstances, is such 
as to suggest to a reasonable landowner the exercise of a public right of way. 
 
The use would have to be of a sufficient level for a landowner to have been aware of it. 
The use must be by such a number as might reasonably have been expected if the way 
had been unquestioningly a highway. 
 

Page 38



Current use (vehicular or otherwise) is not required for a route to be considered a Byway 
Open to All Traffic but past use by the public using vehicles will need to be sufficiently 
evidenced from which to infer the dedication of a vehicular route.        
 
Dedication deemed to have taken place (Statutory Test) 
 
By virtue of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 dedication of a path as a highway may 
be presumed from use of the way by the public as of right – not secretly, not by force nor 
by permission without interruption for a full period of twenty years unless there is 
sufficient evidence that there was no intention during the twenty year period to dedicate 
it. 
 
The 20 year period is computed back from the date the existence of the right of way is 
called into question. 
 
A landowner may prevent a presumption of dedication arising by erecting notices 
indicating that the path is private. Further, under Section 31(6) a landowner may deposit 
with the Highway Authority a map (of a scale of not less than 1:10560 {6 inches to the 
mile}) and statement showing those ways, if any, which he or she agrees are dedicated as 
highways. This statement must be followed by statutory declarations. These statutory 
declarations used to have to be renewed at not more than 6 yearly intervals, but the 
interval is now 10 years. The declaration would state that no additional rights of way 
have been dedicated. These provisions do not preclude the other ways open to the 
landowner to show the way has not been dedicated. 
 
If the criteria of Section 31 are satisfied a highway can properly be deemed to have been 
dedicated. This deemed dedication is despite a landowner now protesting or being the one 
to now challenge the use as it is considered too late for him to now evidence his lack of 
intention when he failed to do something to sufficiently evidence this during the previous 
twenty years. 
 
Guidance on the various elements of the Statutory criteria:- 
 
Use – see above as to sufficiency of use. The cogency, credibility and consistency of user 
evidence should be considered. 
 
By the public – see above as to users which may be considered “the public”. 
 
As of right – see above. 
 
Without interruption – for a deemed dedication the use must have been without 
interruption. The route should not have been blocked with the intention of excluding the 
users. 
 

Page 39



For a full period of twenty years – use by different people, each for periods of less than 
twenty years will suffice if, taken together, they total a continuous period of twenty years 
or more. The period must end with the route being “called into question”. 
 
Calling into question -  there must be something  done which is sufficient at least to make 
it likely that some users are made aware that the owner has challenged their right to use 
the way as a highway. Barriers, signage and challenges to users can all call a route into 
question. An application for a Modification Order is itself sufficient to be a “calling into 
question” (as provided in the new statutory provisions of Section 31(7a & 7b) Highways 
Act 1980). It is not necessary that it be the landowner who brings the route into question. 
 
Sufficient evidence of a lack of intention to dedicate – this would not need to be 
evidenced for the whole of the twenty year period. It would be unlikely that lack of 
intention could be sufficiently evidenced in the absence of overt and contemporaneous 
acts on the part of the owner. The intention not to dedicate does have to be brought to the 
attention of the users of the route such that a reasonable user would be able to understand 
that the landowner was intending to disabuse him of the notion that the land was a public 
highway. 
 
Documentary Evidence 
 
By virtue of Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 in considering whether a highway has 
been dedicated, maps plans and histories of the locality are admissible in evidence and 
must be given such weight as is justified by the circumstances including the antiquity of 
the document, status of the persons by whom and the purpose for which the document 
was made or compiled and the custody from which it is produced.                   
 
In assessing whether or not a highway has been dedicated reference is commonly made to 
old commercial maps of the County, Ordnance Survey maps, sometimes private estate 
maps and other documents, other public documents such as Inclosure or Tithe Awards, 
plans deposited in connection with private Acts of Parliament establishing railways, 
canals or other public works, records compiled in connection with the valuation of land 
for the purposes of the assessment of increment value duty and the Finance Act 1910. 
Works of local history may also be relevant, as may be the records of predecessor 
highway authorities and the information gained in connection with the preparation and 
review of the Definitive Map. 
 
It should be stressed that it is rare for a single document or piece of information to be 
conclusive (although some documents are of more value than others, e.g. Inclosure 
Awards where the Commissioners were empowered to allot and set out highways). It is 
necessary to look at the evidence as a whole to see if it builds up a picture of the route 
being dedicated as a highway.         
 
It should be noted that Ordnance Survey Maps (other than recent series which purport to 
show public rights of way and which derive their information from the Definitive Map) 

Page 40



contain a disclaimer to the effect that the recording of a highway or right of way does not 
imply that it has any status. The maps reflect what the map makers found on the ground. 
 
Similarly, in relation to other map evidence such as Tithe Maps, they simply indicate that 
there was a track in existence at the time of the inspection, they do not establish the status 
of the track. 
 
Synergy between pieces of highway status evidence – coordination as distinct from 
repetition would significantly increase the collective impact of the documents. 
 
Recording vehicular rights 
 
Historical evidence can indicate that a route carries vehicular rights and following the 
case of Bakewell Management Limited v Brandford case in 2004 (House of Lords) it is 
considered that vehicular rights could be acquired on routes by long user during years 
even since 1930. However, in May 2006 Part 6 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006 came into force. Public rights of way for mechanically propelled 
vehicles are now extinguished on routes shown on the Definitive Map as footpaths, 
bridleways or restricted byways unless one of eight exceptions applies. In essence 
mechanical vehicle rights no longer exist unless a route is recorded in a particular way on 
the Council’s Definitive Map or List of Streets or one of the other exceptions apply. In 
effect the provisions of the Act curtail the future scope for applications to record a Byway 
Open to All Traffic to be successful. 
 
The exceptions whereby mechanical vehicular rights are “saved” may be summarised as 
follows:- 
 
1. main lawful use of the route 2001-2006 was use for mechanically propelled 

vehicles. 
2. that the route was not on the Definitive Map but was recorded on the List of 

Streets. 
3. that the route was especially created to be a highway for mechanically propelled 

vehicles. 
4. that the route was constructed under statutory powers as a road intended for use 

by mechanically propelled vehicles. 
5. that the route was dedicated by use of mechanically propelled vehicles before 

December 1930. 
6.  that a proper application was made before 19th May 2005 for a Modification 

Order to record the route as Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT). 
7. that a Regulatory Committee had already made a decision re an application for a 

BOAT before 6th April 2006. 
8. that an application for a Modification Order has already been made before 6th 

April 2006 for a BOAT and at 6th April 2006 use of the way for mechanically 
propelled vehicles was reasonably necessary to enable that applicant to access 
land he has an interest in, even if not actually used. 

 

Page 41



It is certainly the case that any application to add a byway to the Definitive Map and 
Statement must still be processed and determined even though the outcome may now be 
that a vehicular right of way existed before May 2006 but has been extinguished for 
mechanically propelled vehicles and that the route should be recorded as a restricted 
byway.      
 
Downgrading a route or taking a route off the Definitive Map 
 
In such matters it is clear that the evidence to be considered relates to whether on balance 
it is shown that a mistake was made when the right was first recorded. 
 
In the case of Trevelyan v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and the 
Regions (2001), Court of Appeal, it was considered that where a right of way is marked 
on the Definitive Map there is an initial presumption that it exists. It should be assumed 
that the proper procedures were followed and thus evidence which made it reasonably 
arguable that it existed was available when it was put on the Map. The standard of proof 
required to justify a finding that no such right of way exists is on the balance of 
probabilities and evidence of some substance is required to outweigh that presumption. 
 
Authorities will be aware of the need, as emphasised by the Court of Appeal, to maintain 
an authoritative Map and Statement of highest attainable accuracy. “The evidence needed 
to remove a public right from such an authoritative record will need to be cogent. The 
procedures for defining and recording public rights of way have, in successive legislation, 
been comprehensive and thorough. Whilst they do not preclude errors, or where the 
review procedures have never been implemented, they would tend to suggest that it is 
unlikely that a large number of errors would have been perpetuated for up to 40 years 
without being questioned earlier.” 
 
Taking one route off and replacing it with an alternative 
 
In some cases there will be no dispute that a public right of way exists between two 
points, but there will be one route shown on the Definitive Map which it is claimed to be 
in error and an alternative route claimed to be the actual correct highway. 
 
There is a need to consider whether, in accordance with Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 a right of way is shown to subsist or is reasonably 
alleged to subsist and also, in accordance with Section 53(3)(c)(iii) of the same Act 
whether there is no public right of way on the other route. 
 
The guidance published under the statutory provisions make it clear that evidence to 
establish that a right of way should be removed from the authoritative record will need to 
be cogent. 
 
In the case of R (on the application of Leicester County Council) v Secretary of State for 
the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2003), Mr Justice Collins said there “has to be 
a balance drawn between the existence of the definitive map and the route shown on it 

Page 42



which would have to be removed and the evidence to support the placing on the Map, in 
effect a new right of way. If there is doubt that there is sufficient evidence to show that 
the correct route is other than that shown on the Map, then what is shown on the Map 
must stay.” 
 
The court considered that if it could merely be found that it was reasonable to allege that 
the alternative existed, this would not be sufficient to remove what is shown on the map. 
It advised that, unless in extraordinary circumstances, evidence of an alternative route 
which satisfied only the lower “Test B” (see above) would not be sufficiently cogent 
evidence to remove the existing recorded route from the Map. 
 
Confirming the Order  
 
An Order is not effective until confirmed. 
 
The County Borough Council may confirm unopposed Orders. If there are objections the 
Order is sent to the Secretary of State for determination. The County Borough Council 
usually promotes Orders and actively seeks confirmation from the Secretary of State. 
 
Until recently it was thought that the test to be applied to confirm an Order was the same 
test as to make the Order, which may have been under the lower Test B for the recording 
of a “new” route. However, the Honourable Justice Evans-Lombe heard the matter of 
Todd and Bradley v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(2004) and decided that confirming an Order made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) “implies a 
revisiting by the Authority or Secretary of State of the material upon which the original 
Order was made with a view to subjecting it to a more stringent test at the confirmation 
stage” and that to confirm the Order the Secretary of State (or the Authority) must be 
“satisfied of a case for the subsistence of the right of way in question on the balance of 
probabilities”, i.e. that Test A is satisfied. 
 
It is advised that there may be cases where an Order to record a new route can be made 
because there is sufficient evidence that a highway is reasonably alleged to subsist, but 
unless Committee also consider that there is enough evidence, on balance of probabilities, 
that the route can be said to exist, the Order may not be confirmed as an unopposed Order 
by the County Borough Council. This would mean that an Order could be made, but not 
confirmed as opposed, nor could the confirmation actively be supported by the County 
Borough Council should an opposed Order be submitted to the Secretary of State unless 
additional information came to light at or before the confirmation stage to enable the 
County Borough Council to be satisfied that the way existed. 
 
          

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 20th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 36 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 36 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 20th January 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 3rd February 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 9th February 
2010; Cyfarthfa 36 had previously been approved by a Committee in 
October 2009; this decision was ratified by Council in November 2009; 
both reports are appended at the end of this item. 

 
Officers now state that the route recorded in the 2010 Order is incorrect 
in that one of the stiles is recorded in the incorrect position and 
therefore requires amendment.  

 
The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 36, at grid 
reference SO03500587 and proceeds in a general south-south-easterly 
direction passing a football field (Moody’s Field) and its junction with 
Cyfarthfa 66 route on the unconfirmed 2011 order which is also before 
you today for correction and continues to a stile and adjacent field gate 
which are adjacent to the ruins of Cwm Glo Cottages, Point B grid 
reference SO03570573. Cyfarthfa 35 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 
Order) and Cyfarthfa 60 (a route also before committee today for 
determination) lead off in different directions from this point. Cyfarthfa 
36 continues, veering to a south-easterly direction on a clearly 
discernable track. It is fenced on the left and has open grassland to the 
right. Cyfarthfa 36 then turns to a general easterly direction and 
crosses a stile at Point C, grid reference SO03830563, also its junction 
with Cyfarthfa 71 (a route also before committee today for 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 45



determination) and its western junction Cyfarthfa 74 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for 
correction). Cyfarthfa 36 continues in a general easterly direction to 
Point D, grid reference SO03850562, where it meets two further routes, 
Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order and also before 
committee today for correction) and Cyfarthfa 38 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order). Cyfarthfa 36 continues in a general easterly 
direction to Point E, grid reference SO03880562, where it crosses 
Cyfarthfa 92 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order). Cyfarthfa 36 
continues in a general easterly direction down into a valley between 
two tips. The route narrows slightly and it continues to a further stile at 
Point F, grid reference SO04100565, also its eastern junction with 
Cyfarthfa 74 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before 
committee today for correction) and its eastern junction with Cyfarthfa 
92 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee 
today for correction). Cyfarthfa 36 continues in a general east-north 
easterly direction on a track through woodland (fenced in places) and 
crosses a further stile at Point G, grid reference SO04150567 before 
continuing in a east-north easterly direction to terminate at Point H, grid 
reference SO04200569. 

 
Councillors are also advised that there is a further route, as depicted 
on the NCB map of 1966 and 1970 that runs from Point I in a general 
north easterly direction, grid reference SO04180568 to Point J, grid 
reference SO04190571. This route is known as Cyfarthfa 41 and is 
shown as a dotted line on the plan.   

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Map 
 

This route is depicted on the tithe map.  The eastern section, the 
tramway, is depicted on the Board of Health Map, 1876 and the 
western and eastern sections are depicted on the 1875 OS map.  The 
north-south tramroad (Cyfarthfa 38) is depicted as crossing this route 
on the three 19th century maps and Cyfarthfa 35 joins it on the 1875 
and 1876 maps. 

 
The route is depicted in its entirety on 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 
editions of the OS maps.  Cyfarthfa 34, 35 and 38 are depicted as 
joining this route on these OS maps and Cyfarthfa 37 is depicted as 
joining Cyfarthfa 36 on the 2005 map.  

 
Councillors are requested to note that the entire eastern section of the 
first “diverted” route described above is depicted on 1978 and 2005 
editions of the OS.  This may be the line of a further tramroad as 
depicted on the 1875 OS map. 
 

Page 46



1.5 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on 1967 and 2008 aerial 
 photographs.  

 
 

1.6 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.6(a) Correspondence within the file for the earlier, August 1991 claim 

demonstrates that this route was one proposed for registration by 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council in 1995.  Letters between Andrew 
Mason, Mid Glamorgan County Engineer and Surveyor’s Department, 
and British Coal Opencast and Celtic Energy Ltd. explain that Mr 
Mason believes the area containing the claim belongs to British Coal, 
later Celtic Energy.  He explains that Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council 
(owner of the remainder of the land affected) proposed registering their 
section of the route as a footpath and requested British Coal 
Opencast/Celtic Energy’s agreement in allowing their section to be 
registered too.  

 
A letter of 5th September 1995 confirmed that Celtic Energy was not 
prepared to allow their section of the path to be registered as a public 
footpath although they were prepared to allow permissive access.  
Their main reason was that they had only recently taken over the land 
and had not decided long term policies. 

 
Mr Mason’s reply included the paragraph: 

 
“Whilst I understand your reasons for only being prepared to 
grant a permissive right of way I have to advise you that public 
rights may already exist over this particular route.  As you are no 
doubt aware, if it can be proved that the public have had 20 
years uninterrupted use of a particular route then the public are 
said to have acquired public rights over that route.  Therefore to 
grant a permissive route over what may already be a public right 
of way would be wrong because a permissive path ‘is a path 
which the landowner permits the public to use, with the intention 
that it should not become a public right of way.’ (Riddall, J. and 
Trevelyan, J. ‘Rights of Way – a guide to law practice p.56). 
 

I would also advise you that the County Council generally require any 
 future development proposals to take account of ‘claimed’ or ‘possible 
 claimed’ rights of way in order to protect the public’s interest.  
Therefore once you have decided on your long term policy for this 
particular area it may be that you are required to protect this particular 
path anyway, whether it has been registered or not”. 

 
1.6(b) Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of 

Way 

Page 47



 
 Cyfarthfa 36 formed part of the Application to Suspend which 
 accompanied the planning applications by the NCB in 1966 and 1970.  
 

On the NCB Map it was depicted as that section of Footpath B south of 
Cwm Glo Road and was referred to as Footpath B and described in 
detail in paragraph 2 of the NCB’s Footpath Application which states: 

 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked “Footpath B” on the 
Map which runs from a point on Heolgerrig Road, about 40 
yards east of Six Bells Inn in a general South Easterly direction 
for a distance of about 510 yards and thence in a general 
Easterly direction for a distance of about 740 yards to meet a 
vehicular track between Upper Colliers Row and Lower Colliers 
Row at a point (numbered 6 on the Map) about 10 yards South 
East of Upper Colliers Row being the part which extends from a 
point (numbered 3 on the Map about 300 yards South East of 
Six Bells Inn in a South Easterly direction for about 220 yards to 
meet a footpath described in paragraph 6 below at a point 
(numbered 4 on the Map) about 520 yards South East of Six 
Bells Inn and thence in a general Easterly direction for 
approximately 740 yards to the said point numbered 6 on the 
Map.” 

 
 Footpath B extends further northward than Cyfarthfa 36.  The northern 
 section, the Cwm Glo Road is now maintainable highway. 
 
 Four of the other footpaths (Footpaths E, F, G and C) and one 
 vehicular route which were subject to the Application to Suspend join 
 this claimed route. 
 
 It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular 
 Routes Application. 
 
 In the Vehicular Application schedule a section of this claimed route is 
 described at paragraph 6(d) roads and footpaths private (vii) 
 

“A rough metalled farm road leads from Heolgerrig Road and enters 
the site at its Northern boundary approximately 220 yards South of the 
Heolgerrig and District Social Club and Institute.  It then extends in a 
South Easterly direction to Gelli-ddu Farmhouse where it terminates”. 

  
The majority of this route was outside the application site boundary of 
the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board Opencast Executive 
Applications and none of it was included within the area from which it 
was proposed to work coal.  On the Map which accompanied the 
Application to Suspend, the western half of this claimed route was 
clearly depicted and labelled “track” and the eastern section was 
clearly depicted, but as a narrower path (not labelled). 

 

Page 48



 Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 36 is one of the routes the 
 Inspector referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning 
 appeals for the two Merthyr Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were 
 determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  
 
1.7 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

A section of this route is described in the extant list of PRoW in the 
Cyfarthfa Ward dated circa 1951.  

 
The western section of Cyfarthfa 36 is included at number 1, 

 “From the “Six Bells Inn” Heolgerrig, via Cwmglo to Pen Cae Wern 
 House to Lower Colliers Row hence to the Parish Road”. 

 
1.8 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

This claimed route was depicted and coloured as a bridleway on the 
1991 Draft Map; it was not numbered. 
 

1.9 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made site visits to different sections of this route on three 
occasions and have walked the entire route. On one occasion they 
were accompanied by Mr John Walters, representative of Merthyr 
Village Ltd. 

 
The majority of the route was clearly defined and as described above. 

 
On each occasion many people were observed walking this route.  
 

2.0 CONSULTATION  
 
2.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
2.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 36, was issued in June 
2008.  

 
2.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
2.3a The Claim 

 
The main claimant for the earlier claim, Mr M. A. Boaden, Planning 
Manager, Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council, submitted: 

 

Page 49



Correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive 
Map); and 
WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the 
owner/occupier). 
 
The main claimant, for the 2002 claim, Mr Malcolm Connolly, 

 submitted: 
 
 a schedule describing the claimed route; 

6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 
years use (three stating over 20 years, one, 26 years, one over 30 
years and one, 40 years), all claiming this route as a footpath (all 
claimants subsequently confirmed this route at interview); 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route 
coloured red; 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) 
with the claimed route coloured red; 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive 
Map); and 
WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the 
owner/occupier). 
1.3b   A third application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a 
number of PRoWs across land at West Merthyr. These Rights of Way 
are depicted and described respectively on the National Coal Board 
Map No. 2 and in the Schedule referred to below. Cyfarthfa 36 is 
depicted as “ Footpath B” on the NCB Map and described in Paragraph 
2 of the Schedule. 

 
2.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 

The main claimant and 4 of those who had completed evidence forms 
were interviewed.  

 
2.3b(1)Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes 

which he has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the 
previous 30 years.  He no longer walks these routes because of illness.  
He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends in 
Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of 
his claimed routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an 
interesting walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his 
claims. 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one 
has ever challenged him while using them.  His grandfather and his 
grandfather’s brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have 
had to use at least half of these paths when going to work.  He has 

Page 50



only sought or been given permission once – when going on the 
Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on 
horseback or on bikes. 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  
He occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and 
also walks on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating 

when he last walked each of the routes.  In this submission he 
stated that he has walked this – and the other claimed routes on 
a regular basis since 1977; 

 
2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes; 
 
3. a copy of a letter from Mr John Walters, Project Director, 

Merthyr Village Ltd., giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas 
and other (listed) Councillors of the Merthyr Naturalists Society 
to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Site; and 

 
4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early 

developers of coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 
 

Mr Brian Thomas described this route, 
 

“With this walk I would start at a stile on a claimed footpath on 
the Cwm Glo Road to Upper Wern and this I did the last time I 
walked the route in September 2006.  Taking a right turn down a 
sloping track you go through a small grove of trees and then 
cross Nant Cwm Glo.  Take a S.E. direction along the bank of 
stream and then cross the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos short walk away 
from both streams meeting at their confluence.  The ruins of 
Gelli-Ddu farmhouse to the right are before another slope to 
meet the disused incline track.  Continuing up this track in a 
southerly direction to the ruins of Pen y Coedcae Cottages 
continue through the ruins along a claimed path Lower Colliers 
Row to Gernant Lane and the Cwm Du drift main haulage 
tramroad section”.  

 
Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 

 
2.3b(2)Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of this route.  He stated that he 

walks it for pleasure and has done so since he came to live at 
Ynysfach when he was 21 (now 76).  He now assumes he is 
trespassing on this land (Mr Jones referred to the Merthyr Village Site) 
– but used not to think so.  He has only once asked permission to go 

Page 51



there (as part of a group); he keeps to the line of the route but on 
occasion wanders off to look at different things.  He stated that there 
are no stiles, gates or signs along this route. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007 

 
2.3b(3)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  
He commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
 Mr Lewis noted that there is a stile on this route close to the road 

between Upper and Lower Colliers Row. 
 

Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
too small when his children were born.  For the past 20 years he has 
only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 
named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
 Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
 of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 
 the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths.  He described 
 the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
 Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and 
 stated that he has used it regularly all of his life.  He described 
 occasions when, as a young man, he gathered horses from the Waun 
 and drove them down this claimed route (and others) to Colliers Row.  
 Mr Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the church (Cwm Glo 

Page 52



 Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs Mr 
 Lewis recorded were those of CCW.  

 
 He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until 
 recently the whole area was open.  “I never even thought about 
 whether or not we had a right to go there”. 
 
 He continued: 
 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 
 
 Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 
2.3b(4)Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 36, which he uses to get back 
onto the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and then back to 
Heolgerrig.  He is aware of a stile at the junction between Cyfarthfa 36 
and Cyfarthfa 38x. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 

Page 53



 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
2.3b(5)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 

Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have 
walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her 
grandmother lived at Melincanaid so Mrs Connolly regularly used this 
route to visit her.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row 
when they were first married.  

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr 
Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to 
invent them, they already existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, 
the Heolgerrig area) as more-used these days than those in the south 
– apart from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly has used this route regularly as a short walk 
since she moved to Heolgerrig.  She accesses the route via the gate by 
the football field, goes down the Cwm Pit Line and up through the 
Coedcae to return home. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using 
the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for 
exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of these claimed paths; they have 
never had their use of the paths challenged. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 
 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
2.3b(6)Mr Glanmor Williams began the interview by saying that he has known 

the area very well all his life as his grandmother lived at Cwm Glo 

Page 54



cottages (where there was also a field and an orchard) and this lane 
was the regular access there.  He has used the route since being taken 
there as a baby.  

 
He displayed extensive knowledge of people who used to live in the 
area and their use of it.  Mr Williams stated when he was younger he 
(and others) regularly used this route on the Waun where they played 
cricket to the east and rugby and football to the west of the track.  The 
Home Guard also used this route on the Waun where they exercised. 
Mr Williams uses it for pleasure and as a short cut to different places. 

 
He said that he has used this whole area for a very long time and that 
the Coal Authority has only now fenced off the area because of danger 
to people – why then is it not dangerous for animals? 

 
Mr Williams has always believed that he has had a right to use this and 
other routes, there has never been any objection to anyone using them 
and he has neither sought nor been given permission to use the routes 
he describes. 

 
Mr Williams’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2007. 

 
2.3b(7)Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927. He was raised close to Mayor’s 

Square, Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to 
Gernant Lane. 

 
He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he 
uses, including this one: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the 

whole of the Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My 

daughter says this too. We have all always gone there for 
pleasure not for work”.  

 
• “There have never been any signs or notices there until 

Merthyr Village put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, EM 

says “I have walked here since 1938, for the last 78 
years.  It is awkward to explain because I do not 
understand the map but I’ve always gone on whatever 
track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see 

dozens of people walking these tracks on a Sunday after 
chapel”. 

 

Page 55



• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a 
right of way, we all just went on the site and walked 
where we wanted. We would take any path that took our 
fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years ago when 
they fenced in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s 
been fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the 
gates or fences, I wouldn’t go onto other people’s 
property”.  

• Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged 
while using these routes. 

 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the 

routes but I can’t understand a map and can’t show you 
on a map. I could use any of these tracks”. 

 
• Mr. Marshall commented on the danger on the site. 

“There have always been holes there, it’s common 
knowledge but I’ve walked there for over 70 years and 
only remember one accident. A boy from Cae Draw was 
playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
 Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 

2.3b(8)Mr Donald and Mrs Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have 
lived for 40 years at Heolgerrig and have used this and many of the 
routes over the Merthyr Village Site regularly throughout this period.  
There was never any concern over walking anywhere on the site until 
recently.  Mr and Mrs Davies explained that they walk their dog twice a 
day, he in the night and she in the morning.  They try to walk circular 
routes, sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs Davies 
has walked on more of the routes than her husband.  Mr Davies also 
said that he has regularly taken his grandchildren there and their 
grandson has used certain routes on a pushbike. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site.  
He has walked all of the footpaths on the area for many years and 
described the many historical sites there, for example, the Dissenters 
Chapel to which access has now been denied although he has 
accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor services 
were held there.  Mr Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has 
gathered this information from people who have always lived there.  
Mrs Davies agreed and also said “people before us had a right to use it 
and the old miners used it”.  Mr Davies pointed out that the tramways 
are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in the 1960s and has 
a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him around 
everywhere.  

 

Page 56



Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used 
routes on a map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that 
if there were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them 
concerning their use of these routes and continued: 

 
 “I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude 
 re fencing.  He stated that he was coming to check fences.  He made 
 no other remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about 
 me walking there although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field 
or any private land.  They maintain that no one has ever tried to 
prevent them from using the paths although they are aware that at 
least one, in the north, was blocked at one time in the recent past. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the 
‘Merthyr Village Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as 
usual”.  Mrs Davies agreed saying “we know it’s at our own risk”.  Mr 
Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area.  

There were chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived 
there, so why should people today be discriminated against from 
people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think 

about it, generations used it, the footpaths have been marked 
out by generations of use”. 

 
Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land 
is for people to use.   

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently 
been claimed; these are all used by many people and they always see 
people on the routes.  

 
Mrs Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one 

man meets his friend from Caedraw every morning and then 
goes around on the tramroad”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 

Page 57



Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
 
2.3b(9)Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life 

and his wife for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae 
Cottages and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  Mrs Phelps 
would use this route as one of two alternatives to go to school each 
day – dependant upon which field the cows were in. 

 
They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to 
Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps 
referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
Mr Phelps described this route 

 
“Starts at the top of the road and leads to the new football pitch, 
to Gelli Du Farm, from the left of the stile down to the juniors 
(where my wife was born) and then to Colliers Row” 

 
Mr Phelps gave evidence of having ridden a horse and driven a motor 
car on this route – during a period approximately 30 years ago. 

 
Mr Phelps still uses this route regularly but not as much as in previous 

 years.  
 

He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all 
of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
are all clearly defined,  

 
 “Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and 
 lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
and all of the area down to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in 
identifying routes on a map, but nevertheless, attempted to trace all the 
claimed routes on a map and said had walked every single path.  He 
went shooting and walking and took his two sons walking and shooting 
on every single path, saying, 

 
“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There 
were four ponds – one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the 
Snakey alongside the Road, one big one on the left side of the 
Parish Road and one in Coedcae.” 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go 
anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 

Page 58



from the Davies brother’s father to go shooting – although the 
permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area.  Mr Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 
Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways).  His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years 
ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to 
Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
 “I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe 
 when looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking 
 there.  The land is altering daily because people can’t access it so 
 easily and paths need cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so 
do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
 “but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
 grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, 
loaned to the Council by Mr Phelps) showing all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
2.3b(10)Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they have regularly used this route for 

walking their dog for approximately 40 years.  They are no longer able 
to use it as frequently as previously because of health problems.  They 
stated that many people from several parts of Heolgerrig walk on the 
Waun. 

 

Page 59



They have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths 
(from Heolgerrig and onto the Waun) in the north of the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly for this whole period. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that she understands that these paths have always 
been rights of way and has walked a dog on them for a long time; she 
notes that she always sees other people using them. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that when they had a dog they walked daily but she 
does not use the paths very often now – in addition she has asthma. 

 
Mr Mold said that he still walks occasionally during fine weather. 

 
They both believe that they have a right to use the path. Mrs Mold said 
“we just used it”. Mr Mold commented that the sign on the open area 
when leaving the lane from Heolgerrig suggests that the public use it. 

 
Mrs Mold said that no one has ever been there to stop people using the 
paths and her husband stated “there has only been the one occasion a 
few years ago when the lane was blocked off”. Both Mr & Mrs Mold 
stated that the route has always been clearly defined and that the route 
has always been the same. 

 
Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
2.3b(11)Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill 

health prevented him from doing so.  He often used this route as a 
section of one of several circular walks which commenced and 
terminated at Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers 
Row site.  He has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this 
and many other routes regularly since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr 
Village Site since it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he 
would support the Coal Authority until the remediation scheme which 
took the railway arch etc into account was developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
2.3b(12)Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

this route is part of these. 
 

He indicated the track from Cwmglo Road to the football field on a map 
and said that the Council had done some work there filling in holes – 

Page 60



but said that they (the Council) then said they should not have done 
this because they had no liability for the track. He stated, 

 
“I sometimes cut through to the Chapel on this walk.  These are 
the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I 
go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I 
guarantee I use the ones described at least weekly.” 

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 
 
2.3b(13)Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs 

Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years 
before moving to Heolgerrig.  He stated that he thought himself 
fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area and had the whole 
of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
playground.  He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 
to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the 
footpaths for family walks on the ‘Merthyr Village Site” regularly before 
that.  Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish 
Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths.  
He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 

Page 61



in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – 
just going out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  
Mr and Mrs Elwyn Rees stated that they have often used this route 
which they described as “Cwm Glo Road to the Wern”.  Mr Rees stated 
that he had used this route to access the Juniors and Moodey’s Field 
where he had played football.  

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the 
site, with no thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
many.  They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a 
child and for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
 “I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
 Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 
 any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It 
 should be noted that these cottages were so historically important that 
 a number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 

 
 At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
 described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
 During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
 become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
 Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they 
have never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk 
there; they have always walked on the same tracks which have been 
clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no one 
has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
 “I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
 drove on these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take 
 the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
 because of health problems”. 

Page 62



 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
2.3b(14)Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian/industrial archaeologist 

stated that he has used this route.  It is a means of access to the ruins 
of Cwm Glo Chapel.  He has used the route since the 1970s. 

 
2.3b(15)Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 

years ago, he has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this 
one - on a daily basis until fencing was installed some 12 to 18 months 
previously to close in the land in the ownership of Merthyr Village 
Limited.  He said, 

 
 “I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of 
 recreation and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using 
 any of these routes, however, I have walked these routes less 
 frequently in the last 12-18 months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people 
using the routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

 
2.3b(16)Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
2.3b(17)Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 

 
2.3b(18)A number of people have given evidence of use of this route as a 

means of access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  Mr David Price and 
Dr and Mrs Jones have submitted photographs of two services which 
have been held at Cwm Glo Chapel and one of the lay preachers, Mr 
Jeff Leysion, also asked that his name be included as someone who 
has used this and many other claimed paths on a regular basis; he also 
used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 

Page 63



2.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations 
and Objections 

 
2.4a Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie 

Price, discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting 
state: 

 
“There are various stiles (marked farmers access only) and 
locked gates from east – along a tip at the start, steep” 

 
2.4b In addition to her general comments as discussed in Item 1 above, Mrs 

Misslebrook (representing herself, her brothers and another tenant) 
made comments specific to this route: 

 
“This has three stiles and a locked gate, again for all farmers 
access.  Signs have been put up numerous times but keep 
getting removed and vandalised.  It has now been written on the 
stile in marker pen ‘farmers access only’ until a more robust 
method can be sought.  There are restricted designated rights of 
access across the lane to our fields, these are for people along 
the lane, so us, Daria Page and the Council (to access the 
football field”. 

 
Notes taken at interview with Mrs Misslebrook read:  

 

 “The gate has always been locked and the stile is marked ‘farmers use 
 only’  

 
The lane is only an access lane for 4 people including her 
family, Daria Page, land marked ‘B’, MTCBC, the football field 
marked ‘C’ and Merthyr Village, marked ‘D’. Deeds show these 
rights of access. 

 
Signs were erected during Mrs Misslebrook’s father’s period of 
occupancy.  About 1976 it was owned by the NCB – although it 
was always local authority ground and the gate at point E was 
always locked because her father kept 300 sheep. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook marked the position of five stiles.  Her family 
used to farm the whole area which was divided into sections for 
use by animals – the sheep were moved around from section to 
section. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook later commented on these notes in relation to 

 Cyfarthfa 36: 
 

 “It was thought to have been LA ground and re-claimed or 
purchased by the LA from the NCB for the purpose of erecting a 
football ground.” 

Page 64



 
In response to the Investigation Report Mrs Misslebrook wrote: 
 

“Cyfarthfa 36 – From Club fields – across Cwm, Glo – side of Hay field – 
across and down side of Juniors to lower connecting road Upper and Lower 
Colliers Row 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Portion of the aerial map in part of the indicative area is 

not date authenticated. 
3. Only one statement supporting others names blacked out 

therefore can’t be used in evidence. 
4. This route is not located within a SSSI.” 

 
2.5 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 
2.5a In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village 

Site, March 2009 Halcrow state: 
 
 “The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we 
 have made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most 
 apparent tracks/paths that exist on the site.  During our visit it was 
 apparent that the site is still used extensively by walkers and more 
 locally by trail bikes.  In addition, a few horses and sheep were also on 
 the site.  Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the 
 site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

 
 Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own 
 conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
2.5b The majority of this route runs through a Site of Special Scientific 
 Interest. 

3.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 36 and Cyfarthfa 41. 

 
3.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground and historical evidence and have therefore included the 
routes I – J (dotted line) on the Plan for your consideration.  

 
3.3 Status 
 
3.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 

Page 65



3.5 This entire route has been claimed as a footpath; a section has been 
claimed as a bridleway. 

 
3.6 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
3.7 With regard to the claim for a section of this route (between Points A 

and B on the plan) as a bridleway in 1991, Officers consider that this 
status cannot be supported.  No map survives from Mr Mason’s 1991 
application and contemporary correspondence and other letters in the 
file dating from 1995 refer to this route as a footpath. 

 
3.8 Officers have presented evidence of this route as a bridleway.  It is 

depicted as a bridleway on the 1991 draft map and two users give 
evidence of equestrian use.  

 
3.9 There is limited documentary or oral evidence for use of this track as a 

bridleway and it cannot be accessed by the public other than on foot. 
 
3.10 There is however, considerable evidence of use of this route as a 

footpath over periods of between 12 and 70 years. 
 
3.11 It should be noted that both the 1966 and 1970 NCB applications refer 

to this route as a footpath.  
 
3.12 Officers consider the detour to be a footpath. 
 
3.13 Due to the user evidence and the documentary evidence, this route is 

presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 
53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) [historic]. 

 
4.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
4.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
4.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
become a Public Right of Way.  

 
4.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

Page 66



 
4.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself.  In this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 
13th December 1982 and 12th December 2002; extensive user 
evidence exists for this period.  

 
4.5 The 1991 claim however, establishes the relevant period as 21st 

August 1971 – 20th August 1991. 
 
4.6 User evidence however, exists since the 1950s. 
 
4.7 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
5.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
5.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 
5.2 Councillors are requested to note that the extreme eastern end of this 

route differs on the 1966 NCB map to its depiction on all other maps.  
This is the section depicted with a dotted line between Point I and Point 
J. 

 
5.3 For much of its length, this route follows a disused tramway. 
 
5.4 It is clear that this is a major route which is used as a means of 

accessing Open Access land and also a large numbers of other 
claimed PRoWs.  

 
6.0 HISTORICAL AND OTHER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 The route has been depicted on a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 
7.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
7.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track/path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

 
7.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 

Page 67



8.0 PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND LOCAL AUTHORITY 
EVIDENCE 

 
8.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for 

open cast mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at 
Public Inquiry.  More specifically, the whole of this route was subject to 
a request for suspension under associated applications in 1966 and 
1970. 

 
8.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map 

or Statement at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its 
successors recognised this route and thirty two others –to such a 
degree that this and they were made the subject of legal applications to 
suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
8.3 The evidence of the extant Cyfarthfa Ward list dating from circa 1951 

suggests that at this time this route was generally recognised as being 
a PRoW.  

8.4 Similarly, although the Draft Map of 1991 cannot be regarded as a 
definitive legal document, nevertheless, this route was recognised as 
being a PRoW at those times. 

 
9.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
9.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 
 
9.2 Twenty three people have given extensive evidence of use of this route 

for recreation and leisure as a footpath during the relevant period; one 
also submitted evidence of bridleway and vehicular use in the northern 
section approximately 30 years ago. 

 
9.3 Two people demonstrated use over a period of more than 70 years, 

one more than 60 years, one more than 50 years, three more than 40 
years, two for 25 years and two for approximately 12 years. 

 
10.0 LANDOWNERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES  
 
10.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations 

made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which 
are set out previously in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 
5th October 2009. 

 
10.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate 

the claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the 
claimants.  This was in line with data protection but officers have now 
been advised that from this stage in the procedure, all details can be 
made public if requested. 

 

Page 68



10.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed 
health and safety concerns.  Whilst their importance is recognised, 
these cannot be taken into consideration when determining this 
Application. 

 
10.4 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the 

user evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed.  Councillors 
are also reminded that at that time there was no requirement for the 
County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and 
Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is 

accepted that this is a multi-part process in the development of the 
Definitive Map and Statement, and subsequent investigations have 
revealed via user evidence and documentation that the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of 

Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of 

occupancy of the houses and farms.The last house was demolished in 
1965/66 which allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of 
forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of 

the industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 
1900s.  Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows 
for usage as of right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 

assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed 
in Item 1 of the Rights of way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
 Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 
 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic 

records and from witnesses who have actually used the way is 
consistent one with another and that this is not a case where the 
registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down 

under the relevant legislation. 
 
10.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a 

number of observations.  Many issues they have raised cannot be 
taken into consideration when determining this Application, for 
example, they too have raised concerns about health and safety. 

Page 69



 
 Mrs Misslebrook, for tenants also indicated the stiles, locked gate and 

also signs on the route.  She maintains that the northern section of the 
route is access only for certain landowners and to the Football Field. 

 
 Mrs Misslebrook states that the stiles along the route within the Merthyr 

Village Site were erected for farmers’ use only and bore signs to this 
effect.  Officers have seen these (now dilapidated) stiles.  There were 
no signs on them in autumn 2007 or summer 2009 and Officers cannot 
find physical evidence that signs have been erected on them. 

 
 It is the opinion of Officers that Mrs Misslebrook’s comment re “Lower 

Brondey” relates, in fact, to a typing error, sic “Lower Brondeg”. 
 
 Councillors will also be aware that in 2001 there was a severe outbreak 

of foot and mouth disease which affected access and recreation 
throughout the County Borough.  Advice Note 15, issued by the 
Planning Inspectorate deals with this issue. Mrs Misslebrook has 
suggested this interrupts what she considers to be the relevant 20 year 
period.  This matter is dealt with in Item 1 of the Rights of Way 
Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 

11.0 SUMMARY 
 
11.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the 
existence of Cyfarthfa 36 between points A – H on the Plan as a 
footpath since the 1930s to the present day. There is limited 
documentary and user evidence of equestrian use.  This is not 
sufficient to record a bridleway. 
 
Officers have presented historic evidence for the existence of Cyfarthfa 
41 between Points I – J on the Plan.  
 
Officers present Cyfarthfa 36 and Cyfarthfa 41 for determination as 
footpaths. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 

the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 21st August 1971 and 20th 
August 1991 and at all material times before it.  

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local 
people, landowners and other interested parties, and having taken into 

Page 70



account the information received from interested parties both prior to 
and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does 
exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route 
included on the application.  It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the route.  An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of way exists. 

 
  Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map 

and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F - G – 
I – H (known as Cyfarthfa 36), and I – J (known as Cyfarthfa 41) on the 
Plan, Cyfarthfa 36 and as described above. 

12.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
12.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
12.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 

Page 71



12.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 
considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

13.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
13.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.   A copy of the EqlA screening 
form is attached with this report.   

14.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
14.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 36 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C – D – E – F – G – I – H on the Plan, 
Cyfarthfa 36, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 36 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 In respect of Cyfarthfa 41 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a dotted  line 
between Points I - J on the plan, Cyfarthfa 36, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 

Page 72



 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 
Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 41 as 
a Footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

   
 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 36 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

C

D

E

F
G H

I

J

10
1/10

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

18.09.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:4,793
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 36

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



5th OCTOBER 2009 REPORT 
 

 ITEM  5 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC 
RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 36.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A section of the claimed route, Cyfarthfa 36, was the subject of a claim to record a 
PRoW (claim No. A763/4/93). On 20th August 1991 a claim to record a PRoW, 
bridleway, between Farm Cottage Heolgerrig (running in a south-easterly direction) 
towards Cwm Glo was received by Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council (Claim 1).  This 
claimed route runs between Points B and C on the Plan, Appendix 5.  This 
application is dealt with below. 

 
A claim to record a Public Right of Way (footpath) from a point on the Cwm Glo Road 
to a point on the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row was submitted to 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 12th December 2002 (Claim 2).  This route 
runs between Points B – I on the Plan and was referred to as A763/4/164. 

 
A further claim to record a Public Right of Way (footpath) from a point on the Cwm 
Glo Road to a point on the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row was 
submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 31st January 2008; this was 
referred to as Cyfarthfa 16 (Claim 3).  This claimed route also runs between Points A 
– I on the Plan and is completely incorporated within Claim 2. 

 
The route commences on Cwm Glo Road, the end of a maintainable highway, Point 
A on the Plan, grid reference SO 03420606.  It proceeds in a general south-south-
easterly direction on a hedged stone track.  It is joined by Cyfarthfa 37 before 
passing a football field (Moody’s Field) at grid reference SO 03500587.  The route 
continues, passing an electricity mast in the east and a field fence in the west (Point 
B) before reaching a stile and adjacent field gate which are adjacent to the ruins of 
Cwm Glo Cottages.  At this point it is met by Cyfarthfa 35, Point C grid ref. SO 
03570573.  This route continues, veering to a south-easterly direction on a clearly 
discernable track.  It is fenced on the left, the north-west, and has open grassland to 
the right.  Cyfarthfa 36 then turns to a general easterly direction and meets a further 
two claimed PRoW, Cyfarthfa 34 and Cyfarthfa 38 at a stile on a re-vegetated tip grid 
ref. SO 03850562 Point D.  

 
At this point the route is adjacent to the former Cwm Glo Pit and hereafter follows the 
route of a tramway which ran between the Pit and the road between Upper and 
Lower Colliers Row. 

 

Page 77



Cyfarthfa 36 continues over the level top of the tip and then turns down into a gap 
between this and another tip.  It continues between the tips until the landscape 
opens out.  The route narrows beyond the stile the route narrows and proceeds on a 
track through woodland (fenced in sections).  Cyfarthfa 36 terminates at Point I on 
the plan, grid reference SO 04200569, on Troedyrhiw 44, the (once metalled) track 
between Upper and Lower Colliers Row. 

 
Councillors are advised however, that a section of the used route on the ground 
(between Points E and H on the Plan, Appendix 5) does not correspond to the route 
described above.  This section, which runs between two coal tips, is overgrown with 
bushes and young trees and is completely impassable. 

 
There is very clear evidence that users walk two different routes from points east of 
the common junction with Cyfarthfa 34 and 38.  

 
The first of these routes commences at Point E grid ref SO 03930562, and proceeds 
along and down the side of the tip to a path between this and another tip to re-join 
the original route of Cyfarthfa 36 at Point F grid ref. SO 04150592.  This is shown by 
a dashed line in Appendix 5.  

 
The second of these routes continues along the top of the tip to Point G grid ref. SO 
03910562 then goes down the steep slope at the south-eastern end of the tip to 
rejoin the original route at Point H grid ref SO 04140566.  This is shown by a dotted 
line in Appendix 5.  
 
The dashed route E -F and the dotted route G - H show evidence of pedestrian use. 

 
Councillors are also requested to note that vehicles regularly access the Football 
Field. 

 
Since March 2008, the route now known as Cyfarthfa 36 has also been dealt with as 
Cyfarthfa 41 and 55; these have been incorporated into Cyfarthfa 36. 
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Map 
 

This route is depicted on the tithe map.  The eastern section, the tramway, is 
depicted on the Board of Health Map, 1876 and the western and eastern sections 
are depicted on the 1875 OS map.  The north-south tramroad (Cyfarthfa 38) is 
depicted as crossing this route on the three 19th century maps and Cyfarthfa 35 joins 
it on the 1875 and 1876 maps. 

 
The route is depicted in its entirety on 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 editions of the OS 
maps.  Cyfarthfa 34, 35 and 38 are depicted as joining this route on these OS maps 
and Cyfarthfa 37 is depicted as joining Cyfarthfa 36 on the 2005 map.  

 

Page 78



Councillors are requested to note that the entire eastern section of the first “diverted” 
route described above is depicted on 1978 and 2005 editions of the OS.  This may 
be the line of a further tramroad as depicted on the 1875 OS map. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on 1967 and 2008 aerial photographs.  
 

1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5(a) Correspondence within the file for the earlier, August 1991 claim demonstrates that 

this route was one proposed for registration by Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council in 
1995.  Letters between Andrew Mason, Mid Glamorgan County Engineer and 
Surveyor’s Department, and British Coal Opencast and Celtic Energy Ltd. explain 
that Mr Mason believes the area containing the claim belongs to British Coal, later 
Celtic Energy.  He explains that Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council (owner of the 
remainder of the land affected) proposed registering their section of the route as a 
footpath and requested British Coal Opencast/Celtic Energy’s agreement in allowing 
their section to be registered too.  

 
A letter of 5th September 1995 confirmed that Celtic Energy was not prepared to 
allow their section of the path to be registered as a public footpath although they 
were prepared to allow permissive access.  Their main reason was that they had 
only recently taken over the land and had not decided long term policies. 

 
Mr Mason’s reply included the paragraph: 

 
“Whilst I understand your reasons for only being prepared to grant a 
permissive right of way I have to advise you that public rights may already 
exist over this particular route.  As you are no doubt aware, if it can be proved 
that the public have had 20 years uninterrupted use of a particular route then 
the public are said to have acquired public rights over that route.  Therefore to 
grant a permissive route over what may already be a public right of way would 
be wrong because a permissive path ‘is a path which the landowner permits 
the public to use, with the intention that it should not become a public right of 
way.’ (Riddall, J. and Trevelyan, J. ‘Rights of Way – a guide to law practice 
p.56). 
 
I would also advise you that the County Council generally require any future 
development proposals to take account of ‘claimed’ or ‘possible claimed’ 
rights of way in order to protect the public’s interest.  Therefore once you have 
decided on your long term policy for this particular area it may be that you are 
required to protect this particular path anyway, whether it has been registered 
or not”. 
 

1.5(b) Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 36 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
planning applications by the NCB in 1966 and 1970.  

 

Page 79



On the NCB Map it was depicted as that section of Footpath B south of Cwm Glo 
Road and was referred to as Footpath B and described in detail in paragraph 2 of the 
NCB’s Footpath Application which states: 

 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked “Footpath B” on the Map which 
runs from a point on Heolgerrig Road, about 40 yards east of Six Bells Inn in a 
general South Easterly direction for a distance of about 510 yards and thence 
in a general Easterly direction for a distance of about 740 yards to meet a 
vehicular track between Upper Colliers Row and Lower Colliers Row at a 
point (numbered 6 on the Map) about 10 yards South East of Upper Colliers 
Row being the part which extends from a point (numbered 3 on the Map about 
300 yards South East of Six Bells Inn in a South Easterly direction for about 
220 yards to meet a footpath described in paragraph 6 below at a point 
(numbered 4 on the Map) about 520 yards South East of Six Bells Inn and 
thence in a general Easterly direction for approximately 740 yards to the said 
point numbered 6 on the Map.” 

 
Footpath B extends further northward than Cyfarthfa 36.  The northern section, the 
Cwm Glo Road is now maintainable highway. 

 
Four of the other footpaths (Footpaths E, F, G and C) and one vehicular route which 
were subject to the Application to Suspend join this claimed route. 

 
It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes 
Application. 

 
In the Vehicular Application schedule a section of this claimed route is described at 
paragraph 6(d) roads and footpaths private (vii) 

 
“A rough metalled farm road leads from Heolgerrig Road and enters the site at 
its Northern boundary approximately 220 yards South of the Heolgerrig and 
District Social Club and Institute.  It then extends in a South Easterly direction 
to Gelli-ddu Farmhouse where it terminates”. 

  
The majority of this route was outside the application site boundary of the 1986 and 
1988 National Coal Board Opencast Executive Applications and none of it was 
included within the area from which it was proposed to work coal.  On the Map which 
accompanied the Application to Suspend, the western half of this claimed route was 
clearly depicted and labelled “track” and the eastern section was clearly depicted, 
but as a narrower path (not labelled). 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 36 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.6 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

A section of this route is described in the extant list of PRoW in the Cyfarthfa Ward 
dated circa 1951.  

 

Page 80



The western section of Cyfarthfa 36 is included at number 1,  
 

 “From the “Six Bells Inn” Heolgerrig, via Cwmglo to Pen Cae Wern House to Lower 
Colliers Row hence to the Parish Road”. 
 

1.7 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

This claimed route was depicted and coloured as a bridleway on the 1991 Draft Map; 
it was not numbered. 
 

1.8 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made site visits to different sections of this route on three occasions 
and have walked the entire route. On one occasion they were accompanied by Mr 
John Walters, representative of Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 
The majority of the route was clearly defined and as described above. 

 
On each occasion many people were observed walking this route.  
 
Officers have also walked the dashed and doted routes depicted in Appendix 5.  
 

B CONSULTATION  
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 36, was issued in June 2008.  
 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
The main claimant for the earlier claim, Mr M. A. Boaden, Planning Manager, 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council, submitted: 

 
Correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); and 
WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 
 
The main claimant, for the 2002 claim, Mr Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 

 
 a schedule describing the claimed route; 

6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use (three 
stating over 20 years, one, 26 years, one over 30 years and one, 40 years), all 
claiming this route as a footpath (all claimants subsequently confirmed this route at 
interview); 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured red; 

Page 81



a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red; 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); and 
 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 
1.3b   A third application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of 
PRoWs across land at West Merthyr. These Rights of Way are depicted and 
described respectively on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule 
referred to below. Cyfarthfa 36 is depicted as “ Footpath B” on the NCB Map and 
described in Paragraph 2 of the Schedule. 

 
1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 

The main claimant and 4 of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed.  

 
1.3b(1)Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he has 

claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years.  He no 
longer walks these routes because of illness.  He occasionally used these routes as 
a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims. 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them.  His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work.  He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  He occasionally 
goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on other paths and 
on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating when he last 

walked each of the routes.  In this submission he stated that he has walked 
this – and the other claimed routes on a regular basis since 1977; 

 
2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes; 
 
3. a copy of a letter from Mr John Walters, Project Director, Merthyr Village Ltd., 

giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas and other (listed) Councillors of 
the Merthyr Naturalists Society to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Site; 
and 

Page 82



 
4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early developers of 

coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 
 

Mr Brian Thomas described this route, 
 

“With this walk I would start at a stile on a claimed footpath on the Cwm Glo 
Road to Upper Wern and this I did the last time I walked the route in 
September 2006.  Taking a right turn down a sloping track you go through a 
small grove of trees and then cross Nant Cwm Glo.  Take a S.E. direction 
along the bank of stream and then cross the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos short walk 
away from both streams meeting at their confluence.  The ruins of Gelli-Ddu 
farmhouse to the right are before another slope to meet the disused incline 
track.  Continuing up this track in a southerly direction to the ruins of Pen y 
Coedcae Cottages continue through the ruins along a claimed path Lower 
Colliers Row to Gernant Lane and the Cwm Du drift main haulage tramroad 
section”.  

 
Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of this route.  He stated that he walks it for 

pleasure and has done so since he came to live at Ynysfach when he was 21 (now 
76).  He now assumes he is trespassing on this land (Mr Jones referred to the 
Merthyr Village Site) – but used not to think so.  He has only once asked permission 
to go there (as part of a group); he keeps to the line of the route but on occasion 
wanders off to look at different things.  He stated that there are no stiles, gates or 
signs along this route. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007 

 
1.3b(3)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
 Mr Lewis noted that there is a stile on this route close to the road between Upper 

and Lower Colliers Row. 
 

Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born.  For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

Page 83



 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa 
Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to 
see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the 
Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and stated that 
he has used it regularly all of his life.  He described occasions when, as a young 
man, he gathered horses from the Waun and drove them down this claimed route 
(and others) to Colliers Row.  Mr Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the 
church (Cwm Glo Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs 
Mr Lewis recorded were those of CCW.  

 
 He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until recently the 

whole area was open.  “I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to 
go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 

 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this specific route to 

access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he usually spends about 2 hours 
out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes including Cyfarthfa 36, which 
he uses to get back onto the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and then 
back to Heolgerrig.  He is aware of a stile at the junction between Cyfarthfa 36 and 
Cyfarthfa 38x. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has done so 

Page 84



since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to walk this path 
(and the others) and has never sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and he also 
uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more than 
he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he 
can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it 
early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t actually 
delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although some 
routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  The routes have not 
changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(5)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives.  

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid so Mrs Connolly regularly used this route to visit her.  She and her 
husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married.  

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr Village Site 
after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to invent them, they already 
existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as more-used 
these days than those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly has used this route regularly as a short walk since she 
moved to Heolgerrig.  She accesses the route via the gate by the football field, goes 
down the Cwm Pit Line and up through the Coedcae to return home. 

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the Cwmdu and the 
Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the Castle Pit over past 
Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig using all the 
footpaths. 

Page 85



 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, for example, 
to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr Glanmor Williams began the interview by saying that he has known the area very 

well all his life as his grandmother lived at Cwm Glo cottages (where there was also 
a field and an orchard) and this lane was the regular access there.  He has used the 
route since being taken there as a baby.  

 
He displayed extensive knowledge of people who used to live in the area and their 
use of it.  Mr Williams stated when he was younger he (and others) regularly used 
this route on the Waun where they played cricket to the east and rugby and football 
to the west of the track.  The Home Guard also used this route on the Waun where 
they exercised. Mr Williams uses it for pleasure and as a short cut to different places. 

 
He said that he has used this whole area for a very long time and that the Coal 
Authority has only now fenced off the area because of danger to people – why then 
is it not dangerous for animals? 

 
Mr Williams has always believed that he has had a right to use this and other routes, 
there has never been any objection to anyone using them and he has neither sought 
nor been given permission to use the routes he describes. 

 
Mr Williams’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927. He was raised close to Mayor’s Square, 

Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. 
 

He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses, including 
this one: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the 

Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this 

too. We have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”.  
 

Page 86



• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village 
put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 

 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, EM says “I have 

walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years.  It is awkward to explain 
because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on 
whatever track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of 

people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we 

all just went on the site and walked where we wanted. We would take 
any path that took our fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years 
ago when they fenced in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been 
fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I 
wouldn’t go onto other people’s property”.  

 
• Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using 

these routes. 
 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of 
these tracks”. 

 
• Mr. Marshall commented on the danger on the site. “There have 

always been holes there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve walked there 
for over 70 years and only remember one accident. A boy from Cae 
Draw was playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 
 

1.3b(8)Mr Philip Jones (main claimant for Cyfarthfa 33) stated that he has lived at his 
current address for 20 years and has used both Cyfarthfa 33 and Cyfarthfa 34 
regularly. He described them both as being extensively used and also stated “elderly 
people in the village have always said it has been a right of way”.  

 
 Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1982 and 2007. 
 
1.3b(9)Mr Donald and Mrs Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have lived for 40 years 

at Heolgerrig and have used this and many of the routes over the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly throughout this period.  There was never any concern over walking 
anywhere on the site until recently.  Mr and Mrs Davies explained that they walk their 
dog twice a day, he in the night and she in the morning.  They try to walk circular 
routes, sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked 
on more of the routes than her husband.  Mr Davies also said that he has regularly 
taken his grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain routes on a 
pushbike. 

 

Page 87



Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site.  He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there.  Mr Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there.  Mrs Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”.  Mr Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere.  

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a map 
than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
They use this route as part of a circular route, for example, leaving Heolgerrig on 
Cyfarthfa 33, going along Cyfarthfa 34 then up Cyfarthfa 35 and returning via Cwm 
Glo Road or going to the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row before turning 
northward. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there were 
any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use of 
these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing.  He stated that he was coming to check fences.  He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any private 
land.  They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using the paths 
although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at one time in 
the recent past. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the ‘Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”.  Mrs Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”.  Mr Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area.  There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use”. 

 

Page 88



Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people to 
use.   

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed; these are all used by many people and they always see people on the 
routes.  

 
Mrs Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 

his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(10)Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his wife 

for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts and 
grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  Mrs Phelps would use this route as one of two 
alternatives to go to school each day – dependant upon which field the cows were in. 

 
They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they 
both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
Mr Phelps described this route 

 
“Starts at the top of the road and leads to the new football pitch, to Gelli Du 
Farm, from the left of the stile down to the juniors (where my wife was born) 
and then to Colliers Row” 

 
Mr Phelps gave evidence of having ridden a horse and driven a motor car on this 
route – during a period approximately 30 years ago. 

 
Mr Phelps still uses this route regularly but not as much as in previous years.  

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, but 
nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said had 

Page 89



walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae.” 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brother’s 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways).  His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the Council by Mr 
Phelps) showing all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(11)Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they have regularly used this route for walking their 

dog for approximately 40 years.  They are no longer able to use it as frequently as 
previously because of health problems.  They stated that many people from several 
parts of Heolgerrig walk on the Waun. 

Page 90



 
They have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths (from Heolgerrig 
and onto the Waun) in the north of the Merthyr Village Site regularly for this whole 
period. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that she understands that these paths have always been rights of 
way and has walked a dog on them for a long time; she notes that she always sees 
other people using them. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that when they had a dog they walked daily but she does not use 
the paths very often now – in addition she has asthma. 

 
Mr Mold said that he still walks occasionally during fine weather. 

 
They both believe that they have a right to use the path. Mrs Mold said “we just used 
it”. Mr Mold commented that the sign on the open area when leaving the lane from 
Heolgerrig suggests that the public use it. 

 
Mrs Mold said that no one has ever been there to stop people using the paths and 
her husband stated “there has only been the one occasion a few years ago when the 
lane was blocked off”. Both Mr & Mrs Mold stated that the route has always been 
clearly defined and that the route has always been the same. 

 
Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(12)Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health 

prevented him from doing so.  He often used this route as a section of one of several 
circular walks which commenced and terminated at Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site.  He 
has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this and many other routes 
regularly since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr Village Site since 
it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he would support the Coal Authority 
until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc into account was 
developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(13)Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and this route is 

part of these. 
 

He indicated the track from Cwmglo Road to the football field on a map and said that 
the Council had done some work there filling in holes – but said that they (the 

Page 91



Council) then said they should not have done this because they had no liability for 
the track. He stated, 

 
“I sometimes cut through to the Chapel on this walk.  These are the main 
ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go every day and have 
done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the ones described at least 
weekly.” 

 
He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to encourage 
people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful and it would 
be a shame if people were stopped from using them.  He continued, 

 
“These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the ones 
described at least weekly. 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people who 
still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have 
never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 

 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 

  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been led to believe 
that they are registered rights of way by people who have lived in Heolgerrig all their 
lives.  

 
Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(14)Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig.  He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground.  He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the ‘Merthyr Village Site” regularly before that.  Both stated that they 
have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north 
of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths.  He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going out 
for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 

Page 92



Mr and Mrs Elwyn Rees stated that they have often used this route which they 
described as “Cwm Glo Road to the Wern”.  Mr Rees stated that he had used this 
route to access the Juniors and Moodey’s Field where he had played football.  

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many.  They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems”. 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 

Page 93



1.3b(15)Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian/industrial archaeologist stated that he 
has used this route.  It is a means of access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  He 
has used the route since the 1970s. 

 
1.3b(16)Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years ago, he has 

used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on a daily basis until fencing 
was installed some 12 to 18 months previously to close in the land in the ownership 
of Merthyr Village Limited.  He said, 

 
“I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of recreation 
and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using any of these 
routes, however, I have walked these routes less frequently in the last 12-18 
months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using the 
routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(17)Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often 

with Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price.  He gave evidence of regular use of this 
route which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a 
circular walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(18)Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often with 

Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave evidence of regular use of this route 
which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(19)A number of people have given evidence of use of this route as a means of access 

to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  Mr David Price and Dr and Mrs Jones have 
submitted photographs of two services which have been held at Cwm Glo Chapel 
and one of the lay preachers, Mr Jeff Leysion, also asked that his name be included 
as someone who has used this and many other claimed paths on a regular basis; he 
also used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
1.4a Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting state: 
 

“There are various stiles (marked farmers access only) and locked gates from 
east – along a tip at the start, steep” 

 

Page 94



1.4b In addition to her general comments as discussed in Item 1 above, Mrs Misslebrook 
(representing herself, her brothers and another tenant) made comments specific to 
this route: 

 
“This has three stiles and a locked gate, again for all farmers access.  Signs 
have been put up numerous times but keep getting removed and vandalised.  
It has now been written on the stile in marker pen ‘farmers access only’ until a 
more robust method can be sought.  There are restricted designated rights of 
access across the lane to our fields, these are for people along the lane, so 
us, Daria Page and the Council (to access the football field”. 

 
Notes taken at interview with Mrs Misslebrook read:  

 
“The gate has always been locked and the stile is marked ‘farmers use only’  

 
The lane is only an access lane for 4 people including her family, Daria Page, 
land marked ‘B’, MTCBC, the football field marked ‘C’ and Merthyr Village, 
marked ‘D’. Deeds show these rights of access. 

 
Signs were erected during Mrs Misslebrook’s father’s period of occupancy.  
About 1976 it was owned by the NCB – although it was always local authority 
ground and the gate at point E was always locked because her father kept 
300 sheep. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook marked the position of five stiles.  Her family used to farm 
the whole area which was divided into sections for use by animals – the 
sheep were moved around from section to section. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook later commented on these notes in relation to Cyfarthfa 36: 

 
 “It was thought to have been LA ground and re-claimed or purchased by the 

LA from the NCB for the purpose of erecting a football ground.” 
 
In response to the Investigation Report Mrs Misslebrook wrote: 
 

“Cyfarthfa 36 – From Club fields – across Cwm, Glo – side of Hay field – 
across and down side of Juniors to lower connecting road Upper and Lower 
Colliers Row 
 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Portion of the aerial map in part of the indicative area is not date 

authenticated. 
3. Only one statement supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence. 
4. This route is not located within a SSSI.” 

 
1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 
1.5a In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 

2009 Halcrow state: 

Page 95



 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have made a 
comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks/paths that exist 
on the site.  During our visit it was apparent that the site is still used extensively by 
walkers and more locally by trail bikes.  In addition, a few horses and sheep were 
also on the site.  Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the site can 
be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
1.5b The majority of this route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 
 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
36. 

 
1.1 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the ground and 

have therefore included the routes E – F and G – H on the Plan for your 
consideration. They see these sections as an integral part of the route. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.2 This entire route has been claimed as a footpath; a section has been claimed as a 

bridleway. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Officers recognise that the section between Points A - B is regularly used by traffic 

and therefore present this as a BOAT. 
 
2.5 With regard to the claim for a section of this route (between Points B and C on the 

plan) as a bridleway in 1991, Officers consider that this status cannot be supported.  
No map survives from Mr Mason’s 1991 application and contemporary 
correspondence and other letters in the file dating from 1995 refer to this route as a 
footpath. 

 
2.6 Officers have presented evidence of this route as a bridleway.  It is depicted as a 

bridleway on the 1991 draft map and two users give evidence of equestrian use.  
 
2.7 There is limited documentary or oral evidence for use of this track as a bridleway and 

it cannot be accessed by the public other than on foot. 
 
2.8 There is however, considerable evidence of use of this route as a footpath over 

periods of between 12 and 70 years. 

Page 96



 
2.9 It should be noted that both the 1966 and 1970 NCB applications refer to this route 

as a footpath.  
 
2.10 Officers therefore consider the route between Points A - B to be a BOAT and 

between B - I to be a footpath. 
 
2.11 Officers consider the two detours to be footpaths. 
 
2.12 Due to the user evidence and the documentary evidence, this route is presented to 

you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
[historic]. 

 
3.0 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under S.31 

(6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that 
the route is not to become a Public Right of Way.  

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself.  In this case Officers consider that it 
would be the period between 13th December 1982 and 12th December 2002; 
extensive user evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.5 The 1991 claim however, establishes the relevant period as 21st August 1971 – 20th 

August 1991. 
 
3.6 User evidence however, exists since the 1950s. 
 
3.7 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
40 The Line of the Route 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 
4.2 Councillors are requested to note that the extreme eastern end of this route differs 

on the 1966 NCB map to its depiction on all other maps.  It is the route on the other 

Page 97



maps which is on the ground, which is used, and which is before you for 
determination today. 

 
4.3 For much of its length, this route follows a disused tramway. 
 
4.4 It is clear that this is a major route which is used as a means of accessing Open 

Access land and also a large numbers of other claimed PRoWs.  
 
4.5 The two detours are clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
5.1 The route has been depicted on a number of documentary and cartographic sources. 
 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
6.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
6.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry.  More 
specifically, the whole of this route was subject to a request for suspension under 
associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.3 The evidence of the extant Cyfarthfa Ward list dating from circa 1951 suggests that 

at this time this route was generally recognised as being a PRoW.  
 
7.4 Similarly, although the Draft Map of 1991 cannot be regarded as a definitive legal 

document, nevertheless, this route was recognised as being a PRoW at those times. 
 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
8.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
8.2 Twenty three people have given extensive evidence of use of this route for 

recreation and leisure as a footpath during the relevant period; one also submitted 

Page 98



evidence of bridleway and vehicular use in the northern section approximately 30 
years ago. 

 
8.3 Two people demonstrated use over a period of more than 70 years, one more than 

60 years, one more than 50 years, three more than 40 years, two for 25 years and 
two for approximately 12 years. 

 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants.  This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns.  Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed.  Councillors are also reminded that at that 
time there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this 

is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms.The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which allows for usage 
as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s.  Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1. 
 

Page 99



 Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 
 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations.  Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
 Mrs Misslebrook, for tenants also indicated the stiles, locked gate and also signs on 

the route.  She maintains that the northern section of the route is access only for 
certain landowners and to the Football Field. 

 
 Mrs Misslebrook states that the stiles along the route within the Merthyr Village Site 

were erected for farmers’ use only and bore signs to this effect.  Officers have seen 
these (now dilapidated) stiles.  There were no signs on them in autumn 2007 or 
summer 2009 and Officers cannot find physical evidence that signs have been 
erected on them. 

 
 It is the opinion of Officers that Mrs Misslebrook’s comment re “Lower Brondey” 

relates, in fact, to a typing error, sic “Lower Brondeg”. 
 
 Councillors will also be aware that in 2001 there was a severe outbreak of foot and 

mouth disease which affected access and recreation throughout the County 
Borough.  Advice Note 15, issued by the Planning Inspectorate deals with this issue. 
Mrs Misslebrook has suggested this interrupts what she considers to be the relevant 
20 year period.  This matter is dealt with in Item 1. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers have presented limited user evidence for the existence of Cyfarthfa 141 
between points A - B on the Plan as a BOAT since the 1970s to the present day. 
They accept vehicular use on this route for a minimum of 20 years. 
 
The equestrian evidence is insufficient for a bridleway on the route between Points B 
– C. 
 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of 
Cyfarthfa 36 between points B – I on the Plan as a footpath since the 1930s to the 

Page 100



present day. There is limited documentary and user evidence of equestrian use.  
This is not sufficient to record a bridleway. 
 
Officers present Cyfarthfa 141 for determination as a BOAT. 
 
Officers present Cyfarthfa 36, 74 and 92 for determination as footpaths. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 

claimed, viz. over the period 13th December 1982 and 12th December 2002 and at all 
material times before it.  

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and other 
interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a 
right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilitie s all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application.  It is considered that a presumption o f dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
Officers therefore recommend that a BOAT be recorded on the Definitive Map and 
Statement as depicted between Points A - B on the Plan, Appendix 5 and as 
described above, and as known as Cyfarthfa 141. 

 
  Officers also recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map and 

Statement as depicted between Points B - I (known as Cyfarthfa 36), E – F (known 

Page 101



as Cyfarthfa 74) and G – H (known as Cyfarthfa 92) on the Plan, Appendix 5 and as 
described above. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 141 
 
 1. Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A and B 
on the Plan on Appendix 5 has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a BOAT, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 141 as a BOAT. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 36 

 
 2. Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points B – I on 
the plan on Appendix 5 has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 

Page 102



 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 
Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 36 as a Footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 74 

 
 3. Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points E – F 
on the plan on Appendix 5 has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 74 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 

Page 103



Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 92 

 
 4. Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dotted line between Points G - H 
on the plan on Appendix 5 has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 92 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set out in 1, 
2, 3 and 4 above. 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

Page 104



P
age 105



P
age 106

T
his page is intentionally left blank



20th JANAURY 2010 REPORT 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC 
RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 36.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
The legal background is to be found at Appendix 1. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A section of the claimed route, Cyfarthfa 36, was the subject of a claim to record a 
PRoW (claim No. A763/4/93). On 20th August 1991 a claim to record a PRoW, 
bridleway, between Farm Cottage Heolgerrig (running in a south-easterly direction) 
towards Cwm Glo was received by Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council (Claim 1).  This 
claimed route runs between Points B and C on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 36.  This 
application is dealt with below. 

 
A claim to record a Public Right of Way (footpath) from a point on the Cwm Glo Road 
to a point on the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row was submitted to 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 12th December 2002 (Claim 2).  This route 
runs between Points B – L on the Plan and was referred to as A763/4/164. 

 
A further claim to record a Public Right of Way (footpath) from a point on the Cwm 
Glo Road to a point on the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row was 
submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 31st January 2008; this was 
referred to as Cyfarthfa 16 (Claim 3).  This claimed route runs between Points A – L 
on the Plan. 

 
The route commences on Cwm Glo Road, the end of a maintainable highway, Point 
A on the Plan, grid reference SO03420606.  It proceeds in a general south-south-
easterly direction on a hedged stone track.  It is joined by Cyfarthfa 37 then 
continues, passing an electricity mast in the east and a field fence in the west, Point 
B, grid reference SO03500587. It passes a football field (Moody’s Field) and 
continues to a stile and field gate which are adjacent to the ruins of Cwm Glo 
Cottages, Point C grid reference SO03570573. Cyfarthfa 35 leads off to the right and 
Cyfarthfa 36 continues, veering to a south-easterly direction on a clearly discernable 
track.  It is fenced on the left and has open grassland to the right.  Cyfarthfa 36 then 
turns to a general easterly direction and crosses a stile at Point D, grid reference 
SO03830563. It meets a further two claimed PRoW, Cyfarthfa 34 and Cyfarthfa 38 
on a re-vegetated tip at Point E, grid reference SO03850562.  

 
At this point the route is adjacent to the former Cwm Glo Pit and hereafter follows the 
route of a tramway which ran between the Pit and the road between Upper and 
Lower Colliers Row. 

 

Page 107



Cyfarthfa 36 continues over the level top of the tip and then turns down into a gap 
between this and another tip.  It narrows and continues between the tips until the 
landscape opens out and the route proceeds to another stile at Point J, grid 
reference SO04130567. The route then proceeds on a track through woodland 
(fenced in sections) and crosses a further stile at Point K, grid reference 
SO04170568.  Cyfarthfa 36 then terminates at Point L on the plan, grid reference 
SO04200569, on Troedyrhiw 44, the (once metalled) track between Upper and 
Lower Colliers Row. 

 
Councillors are advised however, that a section of the used route on the ground 
(between Points F and I on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 36) does not correspond to the route 
described above.  This section, which runs between two coal tips, is overgrown with 
bushes and young trees and is impassable. 

 
There is very clear evidence that users walk two different routes from points east of 
the common junction with Cyfarthfa 34 and 38.  

 
The first of these routes commences at Point F grid reference SO03880562, and 
proceeds along and down the side of the tip to a path between this and another tip to 
re-join the original route of Cyfarthfa 36 at Point H grid reference SO04110565.  This 
is shown by a dashed line on the plan.  

 
The second of these routes commences at Point G grid reference SO03890562 and 
then goes down the steep slope at the eastern end of the tip to rejoin the original 
route at Point I grid ref SO04130566.  This is shown by a dotted line on the plan.  
 
The dashed route F - H and the dotted route G - I show evidence of pedestrian use. 

 
Councillors are also requested to note that vehicles regularly access the Football 
Field. 

 
Since March 2008, the route now known as Cyfarthfa 36 has also been dealt with as 
Cyfarthfa 41 and 55; these have been incorporated into Cyfarthfa 36. 
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Map 
 

This route is depicted on the tithe map.  The eastern section, the tramway, is 
depicted on the Board of Health Map, 1876 and the western and eastern sections 
are depicted on the 1875 OS map.  The north-south tramroad (Cyfarthfa 38) is 
depicted as crossing this route on the three 19th century maps and Cyfarthfa 35 joins 
it on the 1875 and 1876 maps. 

 
The route is depicted in its entirety on 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 editions of the OS 
maps.  Cyfarthfa 34, 35 and 38 are depicted as joining this route on these OS maps 
and Cyfarthfa 37 is depicted as joining Cyfarthfa 36 on the 2005 map.  

 

Page 108



Councillors are requested to note that the entire eastern section of the first “diverted” 
route described above is depicted on 1978 and 2005 editions of the OS.  This may 
be the line of a further tramroad as depicted on the 1875 OS map. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on 1967 and 2008 aerial photographs.  
 

1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5(a) Correspondence within the file for the earlier, August 1991 claim demonstrates that 

this route was one proposed for registration by Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council in 
1995.  Letters between Andrew Mason, Mid Glamorgan County Engineer and 
Surveyor’s Department, and British Coal Opencast and Celtic Energy Ltd. explain 
that Mr Mason believes the area containing the claim belongs to British Coal, later 
Celtic Energy.  He explains that Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council (owner of the 
remainder of the land affected) proposed registering their section of the route as a 
footpath and requested British Coal Opencast/Celtic Energy’s agreement in allowing 
their section to be registered too.  

 
A letter of 5th September 1995 confirmed that Celtic Energy was not prepared to 
allow their section of the path to be registered as a public footpath although they 
were prepared to allow permissive access.  Their main reason was that they had 
only recently taken over the land and had not decided long term policies. 

 
Mr Mason’s reply included the paragraph: 

 
“Whilst I understand your reasons for only being prepared to grant a 
permissive right of way I have to advise you that public rights may already 
exist over this particular route.  As you are no doubt aware, if it can be proved 
that the public have had 20 years uninterrupted use of a particular route then 
the public are said to have acquired public rights over that route.  Therefore to 
grant a permissive route over what may already be a public right of way would 
be wrong because a permissive path ‘is a path which the landowner permits 
the public to use, with the intention that it should not become a public right of 
way.’ (Riddall, J. and Trevelyan, J. ‘Rights of Way – a guide to law practice 
p.56). 
 
I would also advise you that the County Council generally require any future 
development proposals to take account of ‘claimed’ or ‘possible claimed’ 
rights of way in order to protect the public’s interest.  Therefore once you have 
decided on your long term policy for this particular area it may be that you are 
required to protect this particular path anyway, whether it has been registered 
or not”. 
 

1.5(b) Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 36 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
planning applications by the NCB in 1966 and 1970.  

 

Page 109



On the NCB Map it was depicted as that section of Footpath B south of Cwm Glo 
Road and was referred to as Footpath B and described in detail in paragraph 2 of the 
NCB’s Footpath Application which states: 

 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked “Footpath B” on the Map which 
runs from a point on Heolgerrig Road, about 40 yards east of Six Bells Inn in a 
general South Easterly direction for a distance of about 510 yards and thence 
in a general Easterly direction for a distance of about 740 yards to meet a 
vehicular track between Upper Colliers Row and Lower Colliers Row at a 
point (numbered 6 on the Map) about 10 yards South East of Upper Colliers 
Row being the part which extends from a point (numbered 3 on the Map about 
300 yards South East of Six Bells Inn in a South Easterly direction for about 
220 yards to meet a footpath described in paragraph 6 below at a point 
(numbered 4 on the Map) about 520 yards South East of Six Bells Inn and 
thence in a general Easterly direction for approximately 740 yards to the said 
point numbered 6 on the Map.” 

 
Footpath B extends further northward than Cyfarthfa 36.  The northern section, the 
Cwm Glo Road is now maintainable highway. 

 
Four of the other footpaths (Footpaths E, F, G and C) and one vehicular route which 
were subject to the Application to Suspend join this claimed route. 

 
It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes 
Application. 

 
In the Vehicular Application schedule a section of this claimed route is described at 
paragraph 6(d) roads and footpaths private (vii) 

 
“A rough metalled farm road leads from Heolgerrig Road and enters the site at 
its Northern boundary approximately 220 yards South of the Heolgerrig and 
District Social Club and Institute.  It then extends in a South Easterly direction 
to Gelli-ddu Farmhouse where it terminates”. 

  
The majority of this route was outside the application site boundary of the 1986 and 
1988 National Coal Board Opencast Executive Applications and none of it was 
included within the area from which it was proposed to work coal.  On the Map which 
accompanied the Application to Suspend, the western half of this claimed route was 
clearly depicted and labelled “track” and the eastern section was clearly depicted, 
but as a narrower path (not labelled). 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 36 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.6 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

A section of this route is described in the extant list of PRoW in the Cyfarthfa Ward 
dated circa 1951.  

 

Page 110



The western section of Cyfarthfa 36 is included at number 1,  
 

 “From the “Six Bells Inn” Heolgerrig, via Cwmglo to Pen Cae Wern House to Lower 
Colliers Row hence to the Parish Road”. 
 

1.7 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

This claimed route was depicted and coloured as a bridleway on the 1991 Draft Map; 
it was not numbered. 
 

1.8 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made site visits to different sections of this route on three occasions 
and have walked the entire route. On one occasion they were accompanied by Mr 
John Walters, representative of Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 
The majority of the route was clearly defined and as described above. 

 
On each occasion many people were observed walking this route.  
 
Officers have also walked the dashed and doted routes depicted in Appendix 5.  
 

B CONSULTATION  
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 36, was issued in June 2008.  
 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
The main claimant for the earlier claim, Mr M. A. Boaden, Planning Manager, 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council, submitted: 

 
Correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); and 
WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 
 
The main claimant, for the 2002 claim, Mr Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 

 
 a schedule describing the claimed route; 

6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use (three 
stating over 20 years, one, 26 years, one over 30 years and one, 40 years), all 
claiming this route as a footpath (all claimants subsequently confirmed this route at 
interview); 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured red; 

Page 111



a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red; 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); and 
 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 
1.3b   A third application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of 
PRoWs across land at West Merthyr. These Rights of Way are depicted and 
described respectively on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule 
referred to below. Cyfarthfa 36 is depicted as “ Footpath B” on the NCB Map and 
described in Paragraph 2 of the Schedule. 

 
1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 

The main claimant and 4 of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed.  

 
1.3b(1)Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he has 

claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years.  He no 
longer walks these routes because of illness.  He occasionally used these routes as 
a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims. 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them.  His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work.  He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  He occasionally 
goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on other paths and 
on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating when he last 

walked each of the routes.  In this submission he stated that he has walked 
this – and the other claimed routes on a regular basis since 1977; 

 
2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes; 
 
3. a copy of a letter from Mr John Walters, Project Director, Merthyr Village Ltd., 

giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas and other (listed) Councillors of 
the Merthyr Naturalists Society to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Site; 
and 

Page 112



 
4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early developers of 

coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 
 

Mr Brian Thomas described this route, 
 

“With this walk I would start at a stile on a claimed footpath on the Cwm Glo 
Road to Upper Wern and this I did the last time I walked the route in 
September 2006.  Taking a right turn down a sloping track you go through a 
small grove of trees and then cross Nant Cwm Glo.  Take a S.E. direction 
along the bank of stream and then cross the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos short walk 
away from both streams meeting at their confluence.  The ruins of Gelli-Ddu 
farmhouse to the right are before another slope to meet the disused incline 
track.  Continuing up this track in a southerly direction to the ruins of Pen y 
Coedcae Cottages continue through the ruins along a claimed path Lower 
Colliers Row to Gernant Lane and the Cwm Du drift main haulage tramroad 
section”.  

 
Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of this route.  He stated that he walks it for 

pleasure and has done so since he came to live at Ynysfach when he was 21 (now 
76).  He now assumes he is trespassing on this land (Mr Jones referred to the 
Merthyr Village Site) – but used not to think so.  He has only once asked permission 
to go there (as part of a group); he keeps to the line of the route but on occasion 
wanders off to look at different things.  He stated that there are no stiles, gates or 
signs along this route. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007 

 
1.3b(3)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
 Mr Lewis noted that there is a stile on this route close to the road between Upper 

and Lower Colliers Row. 
 

Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born.  For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

Page 113



 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa 
Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to 
see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the 
Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and stated that 
he has used it regularly all of his life.  He described occasions when, as a young 
man, he gathered horses from the Waun and drove them down this claimed route 
(and others) to Colliers Row.  Mr Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the 
church (Cwm Glo Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs 
Mr Lewis recorded were those of CCW.  

 
 He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until recently the 

whole area was open.  “I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to 
go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 

 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this specific route to 

access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he usually spends about 2 hours 
out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes including Cyfarthfa 36, which 
he uses to get back onto the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and then 
back to Heolgerrig.  He is aware of a stile at the junction between Cyfarthfa 36 and 
Cyfarthfa 38x. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has done so 

Page 114



since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to walk this path 
(and the others) and has never sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and he also 
uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more than 
he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he 
can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it 
early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t actually 
delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although some 
routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  The routes have not 
changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(5)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives.  

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid so Mrs Connolly regularly used this route to visit her.  She and her 
husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married.  

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr Village Site 
after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to invent them, they already 
existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as more-used 
these days than those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly has used this route regularly as a short walk since she 
moved to Heolgerrig.  She accesses the route via the gate by the football field, goes 
down the Cwm Pit Line and up through the Coedcae to return home. 

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the Cwmdu and the 
Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the Castle Pit over past 
Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig using all the 
footpaths. 

Page 115



 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, for example, 
to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr Glanmor Williams began the interview by saying that he has known the area very 

well all his life as his grandmother lived at Cwm Glo cottages (where there was also 
a field and an orchard) and this lane was the regular access there.  He has used the 
route since being taken there as a baby.  

 
He displayed extensive knowledge of people who used to live in the area and their 
use of it.  Mr Williams stated when he was younger he (and others) regularly used 
this route on the Waun where they played cricket to the east and rugby and football 
to the west of the track.  The Home Guard also used this route on the Waun where 
they exercised. Mr Williams uses it for pleasure and as a short cut to different places. 

 
He said that he has used this whole area for a very long time and that the Coal 
Authority has only now fenced off the area because of danger to people – why then 
is it not dangerous for animals? 

 
Mr Williams has always believed that he has had a right to use this and other routes, 
there has never been any objection to anyone using them and he has neither sought 
nor been given permission to use the routes he describes. 

 
Mr Williams’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927. He was raised close to Mayor’s Square, 

Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. 
 

He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses, including 
this one: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the 

Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this 

too. We have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”.  
 

Page 116



• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village 
put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 

 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, EM says “I have 

walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years.  It is awkward to explain 
because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on 
whatever track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of 

people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we 

all just went on the site and walked where we wanted. We would take 
any path that took our fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years 
ago when they fenced in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been 
fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I 
wouldn’t go onto other people’s property”.  

 
• Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using 

these routes. 
 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of 
these tracks”. 

 
• Mr. Marshall commented on the danger on the site. “There have 

always been holes there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve walked there 
for over 70 years and only remember one accident. A boy from Cae 
Draw was playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 
 

1.3b(8)Mr Philip Jones (main claimant for Cyfarthfa 33) stated that he has lived at his 
current address for 20 years and has used both Cyfarthfa 33 and Cyfarthfa 34 
regularly. He described them both as being extensively used and also stated “elderly 
people in the village have always said it has been a right of way”.  

 
 Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1982 and 2007. 
 
1.3b(9)Mr Donald and Mrs Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have lived for 40 years 

at Heolgerrig and have used this and many of the routes over the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly throughout this period.  There was never any concern over walking 
anywhere on the site until recently.  Mr and Mrs Davies explained that they walk their 
dog twice a day, he in the night and she in the morning.  They try to walk circular 
routes, sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked 
on more of the routes than her husband.  Mr Davies also said that he has regularly 
taken his grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain routes on a 
pushbike. 

 

Page 117



Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site.  He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there.  Mr Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there.  Mrs Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”.  Mr Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere.  

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a map 
than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
They use this route as part of a circular route, for example, leaving Heolgerrig on 
Cyfarthfa 33, going along Cyfarthfa 34 then up Cyfarthfa 35 and returning via Cwm 
Glo Road or going to the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row before turning 
northward. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there were 
any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use of 
these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing.  He stated that he was coming to check fences.  He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any private 
land.  They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using the paths 
although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at one time in 
the recent past. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the ‘Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”.  Mrs Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”.  Mr Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area.  There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use”. 

 

Page 118



Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people to 
use.   

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed; these are all used by many people and they always see people on the 
routes.  

 
Mrs Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 

his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(10)Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his wife 

for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts and 
grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  Mrs Phelps would use this route as one of two 
alternatives to go to school each day – dependant upon which field the cows were in. 

 
They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they 
both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
Mr Phelps described this route 

 
“Starts at the top of the road and leads to the new football pitch, to Gelli Du 
Farm, from the left of the stile down to the juniors (where my wife was born) 
and then to Colliers Row” 

 
Mr Phelps gave evidence of having ridden a horse and driven a motor car on this 
route – during a period approximately 30 years ago. 

 
Mr Phelps still uses this route regularly but not as much as in previous years.  

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, but 
nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said had 

Page 119



walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae.” 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brother’s 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways).  His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the Council by Mr 
Phelps) showing all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(11)Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they have regularly used this route for walking their 

dog for approximately 40 years.  They are no longer able to use it as frequently as 
previously because of health problems.  They stated that many people from several 
parts of Heolgerrig walk on the Waun. 

Page 120



 
They have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths (from Heolgerrig 
and onto the Waun) in the north of the Merthyr Village Site regularly for this whole 
period. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that she understands that these paths have always been rights of 
way and has walked a dog on them for a long time; she notes that she always sees 
other people using them. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that when they had a dog they walked daily but she does not use 
the paths very often now – in addition she has asthma. 

 
Mr Mold said that he still walks occasionally during fine weather. 

 
They both believe that they have a right to use the path. Mrs Mold said “we just used 
it”. Mr Mold commented that the sign on the open area when leaving the lane from 
Heolgerrig suggests that the public use it. 

 
Mrs Mold said that no one has ever been there to stop people using the paths and 
her husband stated “there has only been the one occasion a few years ago when the 
lane was blocked off”. Both Mr & Mrs Mold stated that the route has always been 
clearly defined and that the route has always been the same. 

 
Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(12)Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health 

prevented him from doing so.  He often used this route as a section of one of several 
circular walks which commenced and terminated at Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site.  He 
has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this and many other routes 
regularly since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr Village Site since 
it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he would support the Coal Authority 
until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc into account was 
developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(13)Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and this route is 

part of these. 
 

He indicated the track from Cwmglo Road to the football field on a map and said that 
the Council had done some work there filling in holes – but said that they (the 

Page 121



Council) then said they should not have done this because they had no liability for 
the track. He stated, 

 
“I sometimes cut through to the Chapel on this walk.  These are the main 
ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go every day and have 
done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the ones described at least 
weekly.” 

 
He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to encourage 
people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful and it would 
be a shame if people were stopped from using them.  He continued, 

 
“These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the ones 
described at least weekly. 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people who 
still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have 
never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 

 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 

  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been led to believe 
that they are registered rights of way by people who have lived in Heolgerrig all their 
lives.  

 
Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(14)Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig.  He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground.  He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the ‘Merthyr Village Site” regularly before that.  Both stated that they 
have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north 
of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths.  He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going out 
for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 

Page 122



Mr and Mrs Elwyn Rees stated that they have often used this route which they 
described as “Cwm Glo Road to the Wern”.  Mr Rees stated that he had used this 
route to access the Juniors and Moodey’s Field where he had played football.  

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many.  They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems”. 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 

Page 123



1.3b(15)Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian/industrial archaeologist stated that he 
has used this route.  It is a means of access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  He 
has used the route since the 1970s. 

 
1.3b(16)Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years ago, he has 

used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on a daily basis until fencing 
was installed some 12 to 18 months previously to close in the land in the ownership 
of Merthyr Village Limited.  He said, 

 
“I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of recreation 
and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using any of these 
routes, however, I have walked these routes less frequently in the last 12-18 
months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using the 
routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(17)Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often 

with Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price.  He gave evidence of regular use of this 
route which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a 
circular walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(18)Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often with 

Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave evidence of regular use of this route 
which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(19)A number of people have given evidence of use of this route as a means of access 

to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  Mr David Price and Dr and Mrs Jones have 
submitted photographs of two services which have been held at Cwm Glo Chapel 
and one of the lay preachers, Mr Jeff Leysion, also asked that his name be included 
as someone who has used this and many other claimed paths on a regular basis; he 
also used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
1.4a Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting state: 
 

“There are various stiles (marked farmers access only) and locked gates from 
east – along a tip at the start, steep” 

 

Page 124



1.4b In addition to her general comments as discussed in Item 1 above, Mrs Misslebrook 
(representing herself, her brothers and another tenant) made comments specific to 
this route: 

 
“This has three stiles and a locked gate, again for all farmers access.  Signs 
have been put up numerous times but keep getting removed and vandalised.  
It has now been written on the stile in marker pen ‘farmers access only’ until a 
more robust method can be sought.  There are restricted designated rights of 
access across the lane to our fields, these are for people along the lane, so 
us, Daria Page and the Council (to access the football field”. 

 
Notes taken at interview with Mrs Misslebrook read:  

 
“The gate has always been locked and the stile is marked ‘farmers use only’  

 
The lane is only an access lane for 4 people including her family, Daria Page, 
land marked ‘B’, MTCBC, the football field marked ‘C’ and Merthyr Village, 
marked ‘D’. Deeds show these rights of access. 

 
Signs were erected during Mrs Misslebrook’s father’s period of occupancy.  
About 1976 it was owned by the NCB – although it was always local authority 
ground and the gate at point E was always locked because her father kept 
300 sheep. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook marked the position of five stiles.  Her family used to farm 
the whole area which was divided into sections for use by animals – the 
sheep were moved around from section to section. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook later commented on these notes in relation to Cyfarthfa 36: 

 
 “It was thought to have been LA ground and re-claimed or purchased by the 

LA from the NCB for the purpose of erecting a football ground.” 
 
In response to the Investigation Report Mrs Misslebrook wrote: 
 

“Cyfarthfa 36 – From Club fields – across Cwm, Glo – side of Hay field – 
across and down side of Juniors to lower connecting road Upper and Lower 
Colliers Row 
 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Portion of the aerial map in part of the indicative area is not date 

authenticated. 
3. Only one statement supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence. 
4. This route is not located within a SSSI.” 

 
1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 
1.5a In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 

2009 Halcrow state: 

Page 125



 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have made a 
comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks/paths that exist 
on the site.  During our visit it was apparent that the site is still used extensively by 
walkers and more locally by trail bikes.  In addition, a few horses and sheep were 
also on the site.  Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the site can 
be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
1.5b The majority of this route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 
 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
36. 

 
1.1 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the ground and 

have therefore included the routes  F - H (dashed line) and G – I (dotted line) on the 
Plan for your consideration. They see these sections as an integral part of the route. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.2 This entire route has been claimed as a footpath; a section has been claimed as a 

bridleway. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Officers recognise that the section between Points A - B is regularly used by traffic 

and therefore present this as a BOAT. 
 
2.5 With regard to the claim for a section of this route (between Points B and C on the 

plan) as a bridleway in 1991, Officers consider that this status cannot be supported.  
No map survives from Mr Mason’s 1991 application and contemporary 
correspondence and other letters in the file dating from 1995 refer to this route as a 
footpath. 

 
2.6 Officers have presented evidence of this route as a bridleway.  It is depicted as a 

bridleway on the 1991 draft map and two users give evidence of equestrian use.  
 
2.7 There is limited documentary or oral evidence for use of this track as a bridleway and 

it cannot be accessed by the public other than on foot. 
 
2.8 There is however, considerable evidence of use of this route as a footpath over 

periods of between 12 and 70 years. 

Page 126



 
2.9 It should be noted that both the 1966 and 1970 NCB applications refer to this route 

as a footpath.  
 
2.10 Officers therefore consider the route between Points A - B to be a BOAT and 

between B - L to be a footpath. 
 
2.11 Officers consider the two detours to be footpaths. 
 
2.12 Due to the user evidence and the documentary evidence, this route is presented to 

you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
[historic]. 

 
3.0 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under S.31 

(6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that 
the route is not to become a Public Right of Way.  

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself.  In this case Officers consider that it 
would be the period between 13th December 1982 and 12th December 2002; 
extensive user evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.5 The 1991 claim however, establishes the relevant period as 21st August 1971 – 20th 

August 1991. 
 
3.6 User evidence however, exists since the 1950s. 
 
3.7 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
40 The Line of the Route 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 
4.2 Councillors are requested to note that the extreme eastern end of this route differs 

on the 1966 NCB map to its depiction on all other maps.  It is the route on the other 

Page 127



maps which is on the ground, which is used, and which is before you for 
determination today. 

 
4.3 For much of its length, this route follows a disused tramway. 
 
4.4 It is clear that this is a major route which is used as a means of accessing Open 

Access land and also a large numbers of other claimed PRoWs.  
 
4.5 The two detours are clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
5.1 The route has been depicted on a number of documentary and cartographic sources. 
 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
6.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
6.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry.  More 
specifically, the whole of this route was subject to a request for suspension under 
associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.3 The evidence of the extant Cyfarthfa Ward list dating from circa 1951 suggests that 

at this time this route was generally recognised as being a PRoW.  
 
7.4 Similarly, although the Draft Map of 1991 cannot be regarded as a definitive legal 

document, nevertheless, this route was recognised as being a PRoW at those times. 
 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
8.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
8.2 Twenty three people have given extensive evidence of use of this route for 

recreation and leisure as a footpath during the relevant period; one also submitted 

Page 128



evidence of bridleway and vehicular use in the northern section approximately 30 
years ago. 

 
8.3 Two people demonstrated use over a period of more than 70 years, one more than 

60 years, one more than 50 years, three more than 40 years, two for 25 years and 
two for approximately 12 years. 

 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants.  This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns.  Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed.  Councillors are also reminded that at that 
time there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this 

is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms.The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which allows for usage 
as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s.  Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1 of the Rights 
of way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

Page 129



 
 Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 
 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations.  Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
 Mrs Misslebrook, for tenants also indicated the stiles, locked gate and also signs on 

the route.  She maintains that the northern section of the route is access only for 
certain landowners and to the Football Field. 

 
 Mrs Misslebrook states that the stiles along the route within the Merthyr Village Site 

were erected for farmers’ use only and bore signs to this effect.  Officers have seen 
these (now dilapidated) stiles.  There were no signs on them in autumn 2007 or 
summer 2009 and Officers cannot find physical evidence that signs have been 
erected on them. 

 
 It is the opinion of Officers that Mrs Misslebrook’s comment re “Lower Brondey” 

relates, in fact, to a typing error, sic “Lower Brondeg”. 
 
 Councillors will also be aware that in 2001 there was a severe outbreak of foot and 

mouth disease which affected access and recreation throughout the County 
Borough.  Advice Note 15, issued by the Planning Inspectorate deals with this issue. 
Mrs Misslebrook has suggested this interrupts what she considers to be the relevant 
20 year period.  This matter is dealt with in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee 
Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers have presented limited user evidence for the existence of Cyfarthfa 141 
between points A - B on the Plan as a BOAT since the 1970s to the present day. 
They accept vehicular use on this route for a minimum of 20 years. 
 
The equestrian evidence is insufficient for a bridleway on the route between Points B 
– C. 
 

Page 130



Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of 
Cyfarthfa 36 between points B – L on the Plan as a footpath since the 1930s to the 
present day. There is limited documentary and user evidence of equestrian use.  
This is not sufficient to record a bridleway. 
 
Officers present Cyfarthfa 141 for determination as a BOAT. 
 
Officers present Cyfarthfa 36, 74 and 92 for determination as footpaths. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 

claimed, viz. over the period 21st August 1971 and 20th August 1991 and at all 
material times before it.  

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and other 
interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a 
right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilitie s all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application.  It is considered that a presumption o f dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
Officers therefore recommend that a BOAT be recorded on the Definitive Map and 
Statement as depicted between Points A - B on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 36 and as 
described above, and is known as Cyfarthfa 141. 

 

Page 131



  Officers also recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map and 
Statement as depicted between Points B - L (known as Cyfarthfa 36), G - I (known 
as Cyfarthfa 74) and F – H (known as Cyfarthfa 92) on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 36 and as 
described above. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 141 
 
 1. Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A and B 
on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 36, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a BOAT, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 141 as a BOAT. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 36 

 
 2. Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points B – L on 
the plan, Cyfarthfa 36, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

Page 132



 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 36 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 74 

 
 3. Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dotted line between Points G - I 
on the plan, Cyfarthfa 36, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 74 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 

Page 133



Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 92 

 
 4. Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points F - H 
on the plan, Cyfarthfa 36, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 92 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set out in 1, 
2, 3 and 4 above. 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

Page 134



P
age 135



P
age 136

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 23rd July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 43 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 43 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 20th January 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 3rd February 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 9th February 
2010; Cyfarthfa 43 had previously been approved by a Committee in 
October 2009; this decision was ratified by Council in November 2009; 
both reports are appended at the end of this item. 

 
Subsequent investigation by officers shows that the route recorded in 
the 2010 Order is incorrect in that it does not follow the alignment as 
depicted on the NCB map and as supported by OS maps. The correct 
line of Cyfarthfa 43 is as depicted by a bold line between Points A – B 
– C on the plan, Cyfarthfa 43, Plan A; the dashed line between B – D 
on the plan is the incorrect  alignment as recorded in the 2010 Order. 
The alignment between Points A – B was recorded correctly.   

 
The route which is before committee today is as depicted by a bold line 
on the plan, Cyfarthfa 43, Plan B commences on Cyfarthfa 140 (a route 
on  the unconfirmed 2010 Order), a tarmac road approximately 12m 
south-west of No.1 Upper Colliers Row, Point A, grid reference 
SO03960604. It proceeds through a gate and then continues on an 
earth track in a general southerly direction to a further gate before 
veering to a general south-easterly direction alongside the western 
boundary of the Cyfarthfa Allotment Society Gardens to Point B, grid 
reference SO04040586. The route then changes to a general north-
easterly direction and continues along the southern boundary of the 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 137



Allotment Gardens to terminate at Point C, the maintainable highway, 
at grid reference SO04110591. 
 
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk the 
route between points A – B. 
 
Councillors are requested to note that an alternative route exists on the 
ground, between Points B – D – C as depicted with a dotted line on the 
plan, Cyfarthfa 43, Plan B. This route is also presented for 
determination today and is known as Cyfarthfa 111.    
 
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk the 
route depicted as Cyfarthfa 111. 

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Map 
 

The entire route is depicted on the 1875, 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 
editions of the OS map and joins the claimed PRoWs as described 
above. 

1.5 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on 1967 and 2008 aerial 
 photographs.  

 
1.6 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.6(a) Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of 

Way. 

 
Cyfarthfa 43 formed part of the Application to Suspend which 
accompanied the Planning Applications by the NCB in 1966 and 1970. 
It was depicted as Footpath D on the NCB Map and was referred to as 
Footpath D and described in detail in paragraph 4 of the NCB’s 
Footpath Application which stated: 

 
“ Part of a footpath delineated and marked “Footpath D” on the 
Map which runs from the vehicular track described in paragraph 
3 above at a point about 15 yards South West of No. 1 Upper 
Colliers Row in a general Southerly direction for about 220 yards 
and continues in a general North Easterly direction for about 100 
yards along the Western and South Eastern boundaries 
respectively of the Cyfarthfa Allotment Society Gardens to a 
point (numbered 14 on the Map) about 180 yards South South 
East of No.17 Upper Colliers Row being the part which extends 
from a point (numbered 13 on the Map) about 160 yards South 

Page 138



of No. 1 Upper Colliers row in a South Easterly direction for 
about 60 yards and in a North Easterly direction for about 100 
yards along the said boundaries of the Allotment gardens to the 
said point 14 on the Map”. 

 
It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular 
Routes Application and also joined one other vehicular route (at the 
commencement and terminus of Cyfarthfa 43) which were subject to 
the Application to Suspend.  

 
This route was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National 
Coal Board Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which 
accompanied this Application, the western section of Cyfarthfa 43 was 
depicted and labelled “track”; the southern section was depicted and 
labelled “path”. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 43 is one of the routes the 
Inspector referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning 
appeals for the two Merthyr Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were 
determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.7 Site Visits 
 

Officers have walked the route and found it as described above and 
noted use of the path. 

2.0 CONSULTATION  
 
2.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
2.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 43, was issued in June 
2008.  

 
2.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
2.3a The Claim 

 
The claimant, Mr. Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, 
submitted: 

 A copy of an OS map depicting the claimed route, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (application to modify the Definitive 
Map) and, 
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has 
served notice on the owner/occupier),  

 
 

Page 139



 
 
2.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
 
2.3b(1)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 

Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have 
walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her 
grandmother lived at Melincanaid so Mrs Connolly regularly used this 
route to visit her.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row 
when they were first married.  

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr 
Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to 
invent them, they already existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, 
the Heolgerrig area) as more-used these days than those in the south 
– apart from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly has used this route regularly as a short walk 
since she moved to Heolgerrig.  She accesses the route via the gate by 
the football field, goes down the Cwm Pit Line and up through the 
Coedcae to return home. 

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the 
Cwmdu and the Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the 
Castle Pit over past Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain 
and from Heolgerrig using all the footpaths. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using 
the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for 
exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of these claimed paths; they have 
never had their use of the paths challenged. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2012. 

 
2.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations 

and Objections 
 

Page 140



Councillors are requested to refer to the generic comments in Item 1 of 
the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
On 14th July 2008, Mrs. Misslebrook, tenant, wrote in response to the 
Investigation Report, 

 
“Cyfarthfa 43 – Top of Colliers Row – around Allotment Gardens 

to old Colliers Row Access Road 
1. Certificate 3 does not correspond with the map and the 

claimed ROW description. 
2. At the top of Colliers Row is an old blue coloured sign, 

stating ‘Danger Old Mine Shafts Keep Out’ 
3. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
4. Portion of aerial map in indicative area not date 

authenticated. 
5. Insufficient number of statements in evidence. 
6. This route is not within a SSSI”. 

 
2.5 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 
 This route runs through a SSSI. 

3.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 43 and Cyfarthfa 111. 

 
3.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground and have therefore included the route B – D – C (dotted 
line) on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 43 Plan B for your consideration. They see 
this section as an integral part of the route. 

 
3.3 Status 
 
3.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
3.5 This route has been claimed as a footpath under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 Section 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
3.6 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
3.7 Evidence has been adduced from maps and documents which indicate 

that this route is a footpath. 
 
3.8 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a footpath 

under Section 53(3)(c)(i). 

Page 141



 
 
4.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
4.1 The routes are presented to you for consideration under two sub-
 sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; 
 namely Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the routes are not to 
 become Public Rights of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
 as highways as there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate them. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
5.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
5.1 The majority of the route is clearly visible on the ground. 
 
5.2 The detour is clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
6.0 HISTORICAL AND OTHER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption and the 
ways deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is 
insufficient evidence that there has been any intention not to dedicate 
them. 

 

Page 142



6.2 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the 
Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating 
that the routes are not to become Public Rights of Way.  

 
6.3 The route has been described and depicted in a number of 

documentary and cartographic sources. 
 
7.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
7.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track / path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

 
7.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
 
8.0 PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND LOCAL AUTHORITY 

EVIDENCE 
 

8.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for 
open cast mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at 
Public Inquiry.  

 
8.2 More specifically, this entire route was subject to a request for 

suspension under associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 
 
8.3 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map 

or Statement at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its 
successors recognised this route and thirty two others –to such a 
degree that this and they were made the subject of legal applications to 
suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
9.0 USER EVIDENCE  
 
9.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
9.2 Two people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 
 
9.3 The routes have been available for public use. 
 
10.0 LANDOWNER AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES 
 

Page 143



10.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations 
made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which 
are set out previously in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 
5th October 2009. 

 
10.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate 

the claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the 
claimants. This was in line with data protection but officers have now 
been advised that from this stage in the procedure, all details can be 
made public if requested. 

 
10.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health 
 and safety concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these 
 cannot be taken into consideration when determining this Application. 
 Representatives of the owners expressed concern over the erosion on 
 the route; again, this cannot be taken into consideration when 
 determining this Application. 
 
10.4 E.T.Landnet, on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd.  
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the 

user evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors 
are also reminded that at this stage there was no requirement for the 
County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and 
Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of 

Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of 

occupancy of the houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 
1965 /66 which allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of 
forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of 

the industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 
1900s. Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows for 
usage as of right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 

assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed 
in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 
Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic 

records and from witnesses who have actually used the way is 
consistent one with another and that this is not a case where the 
registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 

Page 144



 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down 
under the relevant legislation. 

 
 
10.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a 

number of observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken 
into consideration when determining this Application, for example, they 
too have raised concerns about health and safety. 

11.0 SUMMARY 
 
11.1 Officers have presented user and historic evidence for the existence of 
 these routes  as footpaths for the relevant twenty year period. 
 
 The 1966 and 1970 applications by the NCB clearly indicate that at 

time the route Cyfarthfa 43 was a footpath. 
 
 Officers now consider that the available evidence establishes the 

existence of this route as a footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 

evidence, the observations from users and landlords and tenants of the 
land, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is 
evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, any Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of way exists. 

12.0 FINANCIAL  IMPLICATION(S) 
 
12.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
12.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
12.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 

Page 145



County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

13.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
13.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.   

14.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
14.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 43 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 43, Plan B, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 43 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 In respect of Cyfarthfa 111 
 
  
 

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a dotted line 
between Points B – D – C on the plan, Cyfarthfa 43 Plan 
B, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and 
that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

Page 146



 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 111 
as a Footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

   
 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 43 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 

Page 147



Page 148

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

C

D

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,128
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 43 A

Page 149



Page 150

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

C

D

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,128
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 43 B

Page 151



Page 152

This page is intentionally left blank



5th OCTOBER 2009 REPORT 
 

ITEM  10 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC RIG HT OF 
WAY, CYFARTHFA 43  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

An application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of PRoWs 
across land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and described 
respectively on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule referred to 
below. 

 
Cyfarthfa 43 is depicted as “D” on the NCB Map and described in paragraph 4 of the 
Schedule. 

 
The route, as depicted on the Plan, Appendix 10, commences on Cyfarthfa 57, a 
tarmac road (adjacent to a gate) approximately 12m south west of No.1 Upper 
Colliers Row, Point A, grid reference SO03970604. It continues on an earth track in 
a general southerly, veering to south-easterly direction alongside the western 
boundary of the Cyfarthfa Allotment Society Gardens. The route then changes to a 
general north-easterly direction and continues along the southern boundary of the 
Allotment Gardens to its termination at Point B, a gate adjoining Troedyrhiw 44 (here 
a maintainable highway) at grid reference SO04110591. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

The entire route is depicted on the 1875, 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 editions of the 
OS map and joins the claimed PRoWs as described above. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on 1967 and 2008 aerial photographs. 
 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 

 
Cyfarthfa 43 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the NCB in 1966 and 1970. It was depicted as Footpath D 

Page 153



on the NCB Map and was referred to as Footpath D and described in detail in 
paragraph 4 of the NCB’s Footpath Application which stated: 

 
“ Part of a footpath delineated and marked “Footpath D” on the Map which 
runs from the vehicular track described in paragraph 3 above at a point about 
15 yards South West of No. 1 Upper Colliers Row in a general Southerly 
direction for about 220 yards and continues in a general North Easterly 
direction for about 100 yards along the Western and South Eastern 
boundaries respectively of the Cyfarthfa Allotment Society Gardens to a point 
(numbered 14 on the Map) about 180 yards South South East of No.17 Upper 
Colliers Row being the part which extends from a point (numbered 13 on the 
Map) about 160 yards South of No. 1 Upper Colliers row in a South Easterly 
direction for about 60 yards and in a North Easterly direction for about 100 
yards along the said boundaries of the Allotment gardens to the said point 14 
on the Map”. 

 
It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes Application 
and also joined one other vehicular route (at the commencement and terminus of 
Cyfarthfa 43) which were subject to the Application to Suspend.  

 
This route was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which accompanied this 
Application, the western section of Cyfarthfa 43 was depicted and labelled “track”; 
the southern section was depicted and labelled “path”. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 43 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers have walked the route and found it as described above and noted use of the 
path. 

 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 43, was issued in June 2008.  
 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 

 
1.3a The Claim 

 
The claimant, Mr. Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, submitted: 

 

Page 154



 A copy of an OS map depicting the claimed route, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (application to modify the Definitive Map) and, 
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier),  
 

1.3b Interviews with Users 
 

Mr. Malcolm Connolly stated “this still exists and is well-used” and that he and his 
wife use it regularly. 

 
1.4 Landowners and Other Parties - Interviews and Written Observations and Objections  
 

Councillors are requested to refer to the generic comments in Item 1. 
 

On 14th July 2008, Mrs. Misslebrook, tenant, wrote in response to the Investigation 
Report, 

 
“Cyfarthfa 43 – Top of Colliers Row – around Allotment Gardens to old 
Colliers Row Access Road 

 
1. Certificate 3 does not correspond with the map and the claimed ROW 

description. 
2. At the top of Colliers Row is an old blue coloured sign, stating ‘Danger 

Old Mine Shafts Keep Out’ 
3. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
4. Portion of aerial map in indicative area not date authenticated. 
5. Insufficient number of statements in evidence. 
6. This route is not within a SSSI”. 

 
1.5 Other Evidence In Relation To This Route 
 
1.5a  This route runs through a SSSI. 
 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
43. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 Section 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 

Page 155



2.4 Evidence has been adduced from maps and documents which indicate that this 
route is a footpath. 

 
2.5 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a footpath under Section 

53(3)(c)(i). 
 
3.0 The Line of the Route 
 
3.1 The route is clearly visible on the ground.  
 
4.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
4.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption and the way deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there has been any 
intention not to dedicate it. 

 
4.2 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 

1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become 
a Public Right of Way.  

 
4.3 The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 
5.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track / path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
6.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 
 
6.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry.  
 
6.2 More specifically, this entire route was subject to a request for suspension under 

associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 
 
6.3 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
 
 

Page 156



7.0 User Evidence 
 
7.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above . 
 
7.2 One person has submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 
 
7.3 The route has been available for public use. 
 
8.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
8.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
8.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
8.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
8.4 E.T.Landnet, on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd.  
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1. Officers 
disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 

Page 157



 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 
witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
8.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Officers have presented historic evidence for the existence of this route as a footpath 

for the relevant twenty year period. 
 
 The 1966 and 1970 applications by the NCB clearly indicate that at time the route 

was a footpath. 
 
 Officers now consider that the available evidence establishes the existence of this 

route as a footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 

observations from users and landlords and tenants of the land, and having taken into 
account the information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, any Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided including 

historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that in the case of the claimed 
Public Right of Way, Cyfarthfa 43:- 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
 support that the route marked with a bold line on the Plan, Appendix 
 10, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 

Page 158



 has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
 rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

 Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

 made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

 period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
 to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
above. 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 159



Page 160

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 161



Page 162

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

20TH JANUARY 2010 REPORT 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC RIG HT OF 
WAY, CYFARTHFA 43  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
The legal background is to be found at Appendix 1. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

An application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of PRoWs 
across land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and described 
respectively on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule referred to 
below. 

 
Cyfarthfa 43 is depicted as “D” on the NCB Map and described in paragraph 4 of the 
Schedule. 

 
The route, as depicted on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 43, commences on Cyfarthfa 140, a 
tarmac road approximately 12m south-west of No.1 Upper Colliers Row, Point A, grid 
reference SO03960604. It proceeds through a gate and then continues on an earth 
track in a general southerly, veering to south-easterly direction alongside the western 
boundary of the Cyfarthfa Allotment Society Gardens. The route then changes to a 
general north-easterly direction and continues along the southern boundary of the 
Allotment Gardens to a field gate and then to its termination at Point B, Troedyrhiw 
44 (here a maintainable highway) at grid reference SO04120590. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

The entire route is depicted on the 1875, 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 editions of the 
OS map and joins the claimed PRoWs as described above. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on 1967 and 2008 aerial photographs. 
 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 

 
Cyfarthfa 43 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the NCB in 1966 and 1970. It was depicted as Footpath D 

Page 163



 2

on the NCB Map and was referred to as Footpath D and described in detail in 
paragraph 4 of the NCB’s Footpath Application which stated: 

 
“ Part of a footpath delineated and marked “Footpath D” on the Map which 
runs from the vehicular track described in paragraph 3 above at a point about 
15 yards South West of No. 1 Upper Colliers Row in a general Southerly 
direction for about 220 yards and continues in a general North Easterly 
direction for about 100 yards along the Western and South Eastern 
boundaries respectively of the Cyfarthfa Allotment Society Gardens to a point 
(numbered 14 on the Map) about 180 yards South South East of No.17 Upper 
Colliers Row being the part which extends from a point (numbered 13 on the 
Map) about 160 yards South of No. 1 Upper Colliers row in a South Easterly 
direction for about 60 yards and in a North Easterly direction for about 100 
yards along the said boundaries of the Allotment gardens to the said point 14 
on the Map”. 

 
It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes Application 
and also joined one other vehicular route (at the commencement and terminus of 
Cyfarthfa 43) which were subject to the Application to Suspend.  

 
This route was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which accompanied this 
Application, the western section of Cyfarthfa 43 was depicted and labelled “track”; 
the southern section was depicted and labelled “path”. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 43 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers have walked the route and found it as described above and noted use of the 
path. 

 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 43, was issued in June 2008.  
 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 

 
1.3a The Claim 

 
The claimant, Mr. Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, submitted: 

 

Page 164



 3

 A copy of an OS map depicting the claimed route, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (application to modify the Definitive Map) and, 
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier),  
 

1.3b Interviews with Users 
 

Mr. Malcolm Connolly stated “this still exists and is well-used” and that he and his 
wife use it regularly. 

 
1.4 Landowners and Other Parties - Interviews and Written Observations and Objections  
 

Councillors are requested to refer to the generic comments in Item 1 of the Rights of 
Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
On 14th July 2008, Mrs. Misslebrook, tenant, wrote in response to the Investigation 
Report, 

 
“Cyfarthfa 43 – Top of Colliers Row – around Allotment Gardens to old 
Colliers Row Access Road 

 
1. Certificate 3 does not correspond with the map and the claimed ROW 

description. 
2. At the top of Colliers Row is an old blue coloured sign, stating ‘Danger 

Old Mine Shafts Keep Out’ 
3. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
4. Portion of aerial map in indicative area not date authenticated. 
5. Insufficient number of statements in evidence. 
6. This route is not within a SSSI”. 

 
1.5 Other Evidence In Relation To This Route 
 
1.5a  This route runs through a SSSI. 
 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
43. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 Section 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 

Page 165



 4

2.4 Evidence has been adduced from maps and documents which indicate that this 
route is a footpath. 

 
2.5 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a footpath under Section 

53(3)(c)(i). 
 
3.0 The Line of the Route 
 
3.1 The route is clearly visible on the ground.  
 
4.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
4.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption and the way deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there has been any 
intention not to dedicate it. 

 
4.2 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 

1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become 
a Public Right of Way.  

 
4.3 The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 
5.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track / path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
6.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 
 
6.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry.  
 
6.2 More specifically, this entire route was subject to a request for suspension under 

associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 
 
6.3 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.0 User Evidence 
 

Page 166



 5

7.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above . 
 
7.2 One person has submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 
 
7.3 The route has been available for public use. 
 
8.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
8.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
8.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
8.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
8.4 E.T.Landnet, on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd.  
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1 of the Rights 
of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. Officers disregard any comments which 
do not relate to PRoW. 

 

Page 167



 6

 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 
witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
8.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Officers have presented historic evidence for the existence of this route as a footpath 

for the relevant twenty year period. 
 
 The 1966 and 1970 applications by the NCB clearly indicate that at time the route 

was a footpath. 
 
 Officers now consider that the available evidence establishes the existence of this 

route as a footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 

observations from users and landlords and tenants of the land, and having taken into 
account the information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, any Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided including 

historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that in the case of the claimed 
Public Right of Way, Cyfarthfa 43:- 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
 support that the route marked with a bold line on the Plan, Cyfarthfa  

Page 168



 7

  43, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
 has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
 rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

 Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

 made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

 period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
 to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
above. 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 169



Page 170

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 171



Page 172

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 24th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 48 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 48 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 20th January 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 3rd February 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 9th February 
2010; both reports are appended at the end of this item. 
 
Officers now state that the route included in the 2010 is incorrect in that 
it terminates to the south of the Nant Cwm Glo and not to the north of 
the Nant Cwm Glo. 
 
The route commences on the disused Cwm Du Drift incline at Point A, 
at its southern junction with Cyfarthfa 39 and its junction with Cyfarthfa 
91 (also before committee today for determination a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 order) grid reference SO03060538 and proceeds in 
a general northerly direction and then a general north-westerly 
direction, crosses a tributary of the Nant Cwm Glo, before continuing in 
a general north-westerly direction and then a general westerly direction 
to terminate on a hardcore track at Point B, at its northern junction with 
Cyfarthfa 39 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 order) grid reference 
SO02970547. 

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 173



1.4 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted in its entirety on Ordnance Survey maps of 1978, 
 1998 and 2005. It is also evident on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial 
 photographs. 
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 in both the southernmost and westernmost sections. In approximately 
 2008 the fence line around Brug Waun was moved in an easterly 
 direction thus preventing access along the route shown on the map. 
 Users now walk to the east of the fencing.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
2.0 CONSULTATION                                                                                                                              
 
2.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
2.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 48, was issued in June 
 2008.  

 
2.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
2.3a The Claim 

 
 On 30th November 2002 the main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly 
 submitted: 
 

a detailed schedule describing the claimed route, 
 
6 correctly completed evidence forms claiming this route as a footpath 
and showing evidence of use over 20 plus years, 25, 26, 30 plus years, 
40 and 50 plus years. At the request of the Rights of Way Officer, five 
claimants returned maps depicting the claimed route and the sixth 
claimant subsequently confirmed this route at interview. 
 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey (OS) map with the claimed route 
coloured red, 
 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) 
with the claimed route coloured yellow, 
 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (Application to Modify the Definitive 

 Map),  

Page 174



correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has 
served notice on the owner/occupier) and 
 
copy of the Rhyd y Car Archaeological Assessment. 

 
The main claimant and five of those who had completed evidence 
forms were interviewed and all exhibited lifelong knowledge of the area 
(the sixth claimant has subsequently moved from the Merthyr Tydfil 
area). Their verbal evidence supported and enhanced that which had 
been written in their claim forms, e.g. they gave many anecdotes of use 
of the route of the claim and showed knowledge of links with other 
tracks (some unclaimed and some claimed as Public Rights of Way by 
themselves and/or others) which they (and others) have walked since 
childhood. 

 
2.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
 Mrs. Charlotte Connolly was brought up at Lower Colliers Row, lived 

there when first married and has therefore known and used this route 
all her life   

 
 She stated that her grandfather worked at the Cwmdu Drift and he (and 
 other men) used this route daily to go to work. 

 
Mrs. Connolly and other children, 

 
“were up and down this path all the time, picking nuts in the 
Canal Woods, visiting Mrs Lambert (lived at a cottage on the 
route), going to swim in and play on the ice in Pencae Pond. 
Although people walked there, this route was a tramroad, taking 
coal to the screens and people would also get a lift on the trams. 
The rails were then removed about the 1940s and the route just 
became a path”. 

 
 She and her husband (main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly), have 
 used this route for walks and walking their dog, even after the whole 
 site was fenced in 2007. 
 
 Mrs Connolly submitted photographs showing sections of the claimed 
 route and a statement detailing her use of the whole of the Merthyr 
 Village area but particularly the southern section. 
 
 Neither she nor her husband have either sought or been given 
 permission to walk this route; they have always thought it was their 
 right. They have never been challenged while using it and have seen 
 other people using it.  
 

Mrs. Connolly’s evidence covers the period 1940 – 2012. 
 

Page 175



 Mr. Paul Brown confirmed the route of this claim. He stated that he has 
walked this (often with his wife and son) for approximately 26 years, 
having moved to Heolgerrig in 1979. He uses it for recreation and for 
photographing wildlife. He confirmed that he believes that he has a 
right to walk this path, he has never sought or been given permission to 
walk it and neither he, nor other people he has asked in Heolgerrig, 
have been challenged whilst using it. 

 
 He stated that there is a stile where this route joins another claimed 
 PRoW in the west and that he always goes around, not through Brug 
 Waun Farmyard. 
 

He has used this route less often during the past two years, initially 
because of pressure of work and additionally, latterly, because of 
mobility problems.  
 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Until approximately two years ago, Mr. Tony Chaplin walked this path 

on average twice a month for the previous 25 years. He uses it for 
recreation and bird watching and stated that there are stiles at the 
commencement of the route in the east and at its junction with the 
other (Cwm Du) Incline (both stiles leading to other claimed PRoW).   

 
Mr. Chaplin submitted a copy of the 1966 NCB No. 2 Map which 
depicts this route. He stated:  

 
“I believe de facto access has existed across the site for 
considerably longer than I have lived in Heolgerrig (i.e. 35 years) 
… I have observed other members of the public accessing the 
site on foot from my garden – including access to this path. I 
was originally taken on this path by one of my neighbours. I 
have never asked / sought permission. De facto access exists”.  

 
He has only been stopped from using this path during the foot and 
mouth outbreak in 2001. 

 
Mr Chaplin said that there is a clearly defined track which can be 
followed by strangers and “apart from the diversion around the 
farmyard”, the route has always followed the same line. There are 
gates (not always locked) at either end of the farmyard. 
 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
 Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 

Page 176



 He stated that there is a stile in the east, to the north of Lower Colliers 
 Row and one near Coedcae houses. 
  
 Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
 Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
 bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
 too small when his children were born. For the past 20 years he has 
 only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
 most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
 access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
 them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 
 named). He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
 on the Merthyr Village Site.  
 

He stated: 
 

“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 
 
 Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
 of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of
 the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He described 
 the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 
 
 He continued: 
  
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 
 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 
 Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he walked all of the routes 

which he has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the 
previous 30 years. He no longer walks these routes because of illness. 
He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends in 
Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 

Page 177



Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of 
his claimed routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an 
interesting walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his 
claims.  

 
Mr. Thomas had also previously sent a letter, as an individual, but 
enclosing copies of the Merthyr Naturalists’ Programme of Events, 
written accounts of walks by members and a copy of a letter from Mr. 
John Walters (project director, Merthyr Village) giving (conditional) 
agreement for the Society to walk on the Merthyr Village Site. Mr. 
Thomas submitted a further copy of this letter giving names of the 
people who had joined the walk.  

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one 
has ever challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his 
grandfather’s brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have 
had to use at least half of these paths when going to work. He has only 
sought or been given permission once – when going on the Merthyr 
Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on 
horseback or on bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also 
walks on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Thomas described walking this route, 
 

“I last walked the length of the route on 10/07/2006. I began the 
walk on a footpath north of Lower Colliers Row where you have 
to negotiate a stile and path which takes you over a small spoil 
heap including the Pencae Incline where another established 
footpath crosses open meadow land to yet another stile. By 
crossing this stile you come to the lower end of the Cwm Du drift 
main tramroad. Further on is another track and you eventually 
come to a stream. Continuing along this route is a small brook to 
your left and also Cwm Du drift buildings (SAM). The pathway 
on the right will take you pass these buildings and cross the 
stream where you eventually meet up with the road way from 
Gernant Lane to Blaencanaid.” 

 
Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 

 2006. 
 
 Mr. Tony Cousins says he walks the majority of the site still (and for at 

least 23 years) walks his dogs daily.  He uses a variety of routes. 
 

Page 178



He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept 
open to encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which 
are naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped 
from using it. He continued, 

 
 “There are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 
 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only 1 of a number of people 
 who still walk there. I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 
 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 
  

He believed he had the right to use these routes because he’d been 
led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who’ve 
lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  

 
He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept 
open to encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which 
are naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped 
from using it.  

 
Mr. Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

 
 Mr. & Mrs Donald and Linda Davies have lived for 40 years at 

Heolgerrig and have used many of the routes over the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly throughout this period. There was never any concern 
over walking anywhere on the site until recently. Mr. and Mrs. Davies 
explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in the night and she 
in the morning. They try to walk circular routes, sometimes shorter 
walks than others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked on more of 
the routes than her husband. Mr Davies also said that he has regularly 
taken his grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain 
routes on a pushbike. 

 
 Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. 
 He has walked all of the footpaths on the area for many years and 
 described the many historical sites there, for example, the Dissenters 
 Chapel to which access has now been denied although he has 
 accessed it for at least 40  years; until 20 years ago outdoor services 
 were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
 rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has 
 gathered this information from people who have always lived there. Mrs 
 Davies agreed and also said “people before us had a right to use it and 
 the old miners used it”. Mr Davies pointed out that the tramways are 

Page 179



 not dangerous. He moved  to Shirley Gardens in the 1960s and has a 
 friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
 around everywhere.  
 
 Mr and Mrs. Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used 
 routes on a map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 
 
 No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that 
 if there were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  
 
 Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them 
 concerning their use of these routes  and continued: 
 
 “I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude 
 re fencing. He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no 
 other remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me 
 walking there although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 
 
 Both Mr. and Mrs. Davies stated that they would not walk across a field 
 or any private land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to 
 prevent them from using the paths although they are aware that at 
 least one, in the north, was blocked at one time in the recent past.  
 
 Mr. Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the 
 ‘Merthyr Village Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as 
 usual”. Mrs Davies agreed saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. 
 Davies also stated 
 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. There 
 were chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why 
 should people today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 
 
 Mrs Davies added, 
 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 
 generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by 
 generations of us”. 
 
 Mr. Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land 
 is for people to use.   
 
 They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently 
 been claimed. These are all used by many people, they always see 
 people there; the last time he walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 
 women with dogs and a man on own. He also saw horse riders, at 
 least 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 
  
 Mrs Davies stated, 
 

Page 180



 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man 
 meets his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around 
 on the tramroad”. 
 
 Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
 
 Mrs. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
 
 Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been 
 brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother 
 lived at Gelli Du. They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before 
 moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well 
 (Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 
 
 He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
 claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all 
 of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
 are all clearly defined,  
 
 “Everyone links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and 
 lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 
 
 Mr. Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
 claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 
 
 Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
 from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
 and all of area down to Parish Road.  He traced all the claimed routes 
 on a map and said had walked every single path. He went shooting 
 and walking and took his two sons walking and shooting on every 
 single path. 
 
 The only time Mr. Phelps has either sought or received permission to 
 go anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 
 from the Davies brother’s father to go shooting – although the 
 permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 
 
 Mr. Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
 evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
 conformism. 
 

Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 
 

“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor 
 state now.  
 

Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go 
anywhere I wanted. It’s only recently that there have been 
problems, when they started fencing”. 

 

Page 181



He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area. Mr Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 
Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways). His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years 
ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to 
Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
 Mr. Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  
 
 “I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe 
 when looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking 
 there. The land is altering daily because people can’t access it so 
 easily and paths need cutting back”. 
 

He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 
 

Mr. Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went 
walking. They often took a picnic, would use different routes, for 
example, they had best views below Blaencanaid then followed the old 
tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr. Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and 
so do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
 “but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
 grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council 
by Mr. Phelps) showing all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
 Mr. Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to 
 Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years 
 before moving to Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself 
 fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area and had the whole 
 of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
 playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 
 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the 
 footpaths for family walks on the ‘Merthyr Village Site” regularly before 
 that. Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish 
 Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 
 

Page 182



 Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
 dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
 were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
 all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths. 
 He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 
 in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
 involved in this. 
 
 Mr. and Mrs. Rees stated that when married they lived at Lower 
 Colliers Row and had a car which they used on the tarmac path up to 
 Llwyncelyn and Upper Colliers Row and on the tarmac path over to 
 Rhydycar. They also stated that the track up to Melincanaid had a 
 tarmac surface at that time. They both referred to all of these routes as 
 Parish Roads but said that the one to the south did not have a tarmac 
 surface. 
 
 Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – 
 just going out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  
 
 Mr. Rees stated that his father had been killed in the Cwm Du drift but 
 that both his father and, later, his stepfather walked daily from Lower 
 Colliers Row to Cwm Du Drift to work using a number of the claimed 
 PRoWs. 
 
 Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on 
 the site, with no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just 
 followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
 use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
 many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
 paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  
 
 “I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and 
 for the last 75 years”. 
 
 Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
 complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 
 
 “I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
 Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 
 any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should 
 be noted that these cottages were so historically important that a 
 number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 
 
 At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
 described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
 
 During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
 become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
 Merthyr”. 
 

Page 183



 At one time Mr Rees regularly rode a horse along one of the paths 
 leading into town. It was not his horse but was kept in a field in front of 
 Lower Colliers Row. 
 
 In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they 
 have never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk 
 there; they have always walked on the same tracks which have been 
 clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no one 
 has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using these routes. 
 
 Mr. Rees added, 
 
 “I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
 drove on these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take 
 the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
 because of health problems” 
 
 Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
 the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 
 
 Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
 
 Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 
 Mr. Mike Jones, Local Access Forum member, stated that he moved to 
 Merthyr Tydfil in 1944 and began walking this area then. He uses 
 different routes including this one. He walks down Gernant Lane, 
 across the Cwm Du Drift Incline but was unsure (from the map) 
 whether he continued down this claimed route or the alternative, 
 eastern section of the Cwm Du Incline. He stated however that he 
 knows the route on the ground precisely. 
 
 He has never been challenged while using this route and thinks he has 
 a right to use it. 
 
 Mr. Jones’ evidence covers the period 1944 – 2007. 
 
 Mr. Colin Davies has used this route for approximately 42 years. He 
 walks daily and this is a section of one of his varied but regular routes. 
 He accesses it from different directions, e.g from the north, the Forest 
 Road from Mayor’s Square, he uses it to go east to another claimed 
 route and then usually goes northward to Brondeg or, less frequently, 
 southward to access other routes. 
 
 He has never been challenged while using the route and has never 
 asked permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period 1967 – 2009. 
 

Page 184



 Mr. John Gamlin has walked this route (often with Mr. Colin Davies) for 
 approximately six years and gave very similar evidence to that of Mr. 
 Davies. He walks daily, using different routes including this one, which 
 he accesses from the north, from Mayor’s Square via the Forest Road. 
 He uses this route to go east to another claimed route and then usually 
 goes northward to Brondeg or, less frequently, southward to access 
 other routes. 
 
 He has never been challenged while using the route and has never 
 asked permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mr. Gamlin’s evidence covers the period 2003 – 2009. 
 
 Mr. David Price has walked this route for approximately 15 years. He 
 walks daily (sometimes with Mr. Davies and Mr. Gamlin), using 
 different routes including this one which he accesses from the north, 
 from the Haul Road or from Mayor’s Square via the Forest Road. He 
 uses this route to go east to another claimed route and then usually 
 goes northward to Brondeg or, less frequently, southward to access 
 other routes. 
 
 He has never been challenged while using the route and has never 
 asked permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mr. Price’s evidence covers the period 1970 – 2009. 
 
 Mr. Glanmor Williams stated that he has used routes in this area for at 
 least 50 years and has walked this route quite often; he has never 
 been challenged whilst using it and has always thought that he has a 
 right to use it. 
 
 Mr. Williams’ evidence covers the period 1949 – 2009. 
 
2.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations 
 and Objections 
 
 In interview with MTCBC Officers, Mrs Misslebrook, representing all 
 tenants on the land, stated that the farmyard has always had locked 
 gates (her family have worked the farm since the 1940s) and no one 
 has ever been allowed access. This can be proved by reference to 
 haulage contractors since at least the 1970s and to Council Officers 
 who request permission for access to inspect tips. 
 
 In response to the notes taken at the interview, Mrs Misslebrook 
 reinforced the proof of locked gates by suggesting that Mr. Edward 
 Foley (Head of Engineering, MTCBC) may have noticed the locked 
 gate when conducting tip inspections and that the Coal Authority and 
 fencing haulage companies who deliver to the yard can also provide 
 this evidence. 

 

Page 185



3.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 
 before them today; an application based on long user to modify the 
 Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 48. 
 
4.0 STATUS 
 
4.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
4.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
4.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 
 by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
 not exist. 
 
4.4 Seventeen people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use during 
 the period to be considered. Evidence of pedestrian use exists from the 
 1930s. 
 
4.5 Officers therefore offer Cyfarthfa 48 as a footpath. 
 
5.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
5.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the PRoW. 
 
5.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / 
 map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected 
 a notice on site stating that the route is not to become a PRoW.  
 
5.3 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 
 normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
 right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
 itself. In this case it would be the period between 1st December 1982 
 and 30th November 2002; extensive user evidence exists for this 
 period.  
 
5.4 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
5.5 Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the 
 right now claimed, viz. footpath over the period 1st December 1982 and 
 30th November 2002 and at all material times before it.        
 
 

Page 186



6.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
6.1 The route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 
7.0 HISTORICAL AND OTHER EVIDENCE 
 
7.1 The route has been described and depicted in a number of 
 documentary and cartographic sources. 
 
8.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
8.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described indicates that 
 a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
 rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the 
 track/path and the way in which this claimed route links with other 
 routes. 
 
8.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 
 existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
 photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
 sections of the route. 
 
9.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
9.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 
 
9.2 Eighteen people have submitted extensive evidence of use of this route 
 for recreation and leisure as a footpath. 
 
10.0 LANDOWNERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES 
 
10.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations 
 made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which 
 are set out previously in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 
 5th October 2009. 
 
10.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate 
 the claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the 
 claimants. This was in line with data protection but officers have now 
 been advised that from this stage in the procedure, all details can be 
 made public if requested. 
 
10.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed 
 health and safety concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, 
 these cannot be taken into consideration when determining this 
 Application. 
 

Page 187



10.4 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a 
 number of observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken 
 into consideration when determining this Application, for example, they 
 too have raised concerns about health and safety. 
 
11.0 SUMMARY 
 
11.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated 
 as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers have presented extensive historic as well as pedestrian user 
 evidence for the existence of Cyfarthfa 48 as a footpath.  
 
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 48 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed viz. footpaths over the period 1st December 
 1982 and 30th November 2002 and at all material times before it.        
 
 Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
 evidence, the interviews with users, claimants, tenants of the land, 
 local people, landowners and other interested parties, and having 
 taken into account the information received from interested parties both 
 prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of 
 way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route 
 included on the application. It is considered that a presumption of 
 dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
 by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
 of any part of the route. An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
 Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
 Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
 relevant evidence. 
 
 This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 
 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  
 
 All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that 

Page 188



 this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
 continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  
 
 Taking the above into account, an order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way 
 exists. 
 
12.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
12.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 
 report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
 there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
 for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
 there is an objection to it / them. 
 
12.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 
 that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
12.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 
 considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
 County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
 believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  
 
13.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
13.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 
 required for the purpose of this report.   
 
14.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
14.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 
 Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 
 In respect of Cyfarthfa 48 
 

a) on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 48, has been used for 
such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 
 

b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 
Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 48 as a footpath. 

 
c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided no 

Page 189



objections or representations are made within the prescribed 
period or if any objections or representations so made are 
withdrawn. 

 
d) if any objection or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to 
refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 48 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 190



!

!

A

B

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

18.09.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,322
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 48

Page 191



Page 192

This page is intentionally left blank



5TH OCTOBER 2009 REPORT 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A  
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 39.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A claim to record a Public Right of Way (footpath) from the track between Upper 
and Lower Colliers Row, along former tramroads/inclines to the Forest Road was 
submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 30th November 2002. This 
was referred to as A763/4/161 and now known as Cyfarthfa 39 (Claim 1). 

 
A further claim to record a Public Right of Way (footpath) from the Forest Road to 
the road which runs between Upper and Lower Colliers Row was submitted to 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 31st January 2008 (Claim 2). This route 
was identical to that in Claim 1 and was referred to as Cyfarthfa 22. Post 2008, this 
claim has been known as Cyfarthfa 48.  This route is identical to Cyfarthfa 39. 

 
The route follows disused tram roads and inclines which joined the Cyfarthfa Canal 
which was constructed in the 1790s to export goods to the south and also to 
transport ironstone and coal northwards to the Cyfarthfa Ironworks. In the mid 
1800s, the Canal was replaced by the Cwm Pit Railway which ran between the 
Cwm Pit and the Cyfarthfa Works. 

 
The route can be divided into three sections. The first, in the east follows the Pen 
Cae Incline, the central section runs on the Cwm Du Drift Incline and the third, the 
western section, is part of a tramway which ran northward from the Cwm Du Drift. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Appendix 8, the route commences at Point A, grid 
reference SO04390522, a point on Troedyrhiw 44, the road which runs between 
Upper and Lower Colliers Row (the approximate line of the Cyfarthfa Canal and the 
line of the Cwm Pit Railway). It immediately crosses a stile and proceeds in a 
general north-westerly direction on a track over a spoil heap before joining the Pen 
Cae Incline which continues on a clearly defined track through grassland. The route 
crosses a stile where it crosses Cyfarthfa 38 then proceeds to its junction with 
Troedyrhiw 53, the eastern section of the Cwm Du Drift Incline. The route now 
veers to a general westerly direction and continues in a straight line through 
grassland along the well-defined track of the Cwm Du Drift Incline. It is joined by 
Troedyrhiw 52 from the south, then Cyfarthfa 35 from the north, adjacent to the 
ruins of Pen Coedcae Cottages.  

 
The route continues to the Cwm Du Drift site, now Brug Waun Farmyard (which 
includes a Scheduled Ancient Monument) at Point B grid ref SO 03060538. The 
route runs through the farmyard to Point C grid ref SO 02960548 before turning to a 
general north-north-westerly direction and joining a hardcore road. The route meets 

Page 193



a locked gate then continues for approximately 10m to its termination at Point D on 
the plan, grid ref. SO 02890564, its junction with the Forest Road, Troedyrhiw 51.  
 
Councillors are advised that the direct line of this claim is not always followed. 
Three diversions exist. 
 
The first diversion commences at Point J on the Plan, grid reference SO 04390521, 
and proceeds in a general north-westerly direction to join Cyfarthfa 39 at Point I, 
grid reference SO 04350523. 
 
The second diversion commences at Point H, grid Reference SO03560534 and  
crosses and re-crosses a stream, at Points G and F, rejoining Cyfarthfa 39 at Point 
E, grid reference SO 03490534. 
 
Councillors are requested to note that a third diversion exists. All user evidence for 
this claim is in favour of the route around, not through, Brug Waun farmyard; the 
main claimant has stated that this should be the route of the claim.  

 
Nevertheless, Officers must investigate the claim as submitted, between Points A – 
D. 
 
The detours between Points B – C; E-F-G-H and between I and J on the Plan are 
also submitted to Councillors for determination.  
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Maps 
 

The central and western sections of this route, the sections on the Cwm Du Drift 
Incline and onto the Forest Road are clearly depicted on the 1910 Valuation Map. A 
very small section leading out of the Farmyard and onto the western tramroad is 
not depicted. The route was not coloured, indicating that it was not publicly 
maintained. 

 
Ordnance Survey (OS) maps examined: 

  
1919 
The Pen Cae Incline is only depicted intermittently in its eastern section. The line of 
the route is crossed by tramway sidings leading to spoil tips almost immediately 
east of its commencement and then by a footpath to Pen Cae before meeting 
Cyfarthfa 38. 

 
The central section commences at its junction with Troedyrhiw 53 and follows the 
line of the Cwm Du Drift Tram Road. It is clearly depicted and labelled “tramway”. 
Adjacent to Penycaedcae Cottages it is joined by Troedyrhiw 52, Cyfarthfa 35 and 
a tramway and then by footpaths at points south of Llwyn yr Eos and the Cwm Du 
Drift. The route goes through the Cwm Du Drift.  

 

Page 194



The northward route, from the current day farmyard to the Forest Road is also 
clearly depicted and labelled “old tramway” and joined by a route running to the 
north-east. 
 ` 

 1957 
The entire route is depicted and labelled “track”. It is joined by all of the claimed 
PRoWs as described above and runs to the east of Brug Waun Farmyard.    

 
  
 

1978 
The entire route is depicted and labelled “track”. It is joined by the claimed PRoWs 
as described above with the exception of Troedyrhiw 52. The route runs through 
Brug Waun Farmyard. 

 
2005 
The route is clearly depicted on the Rhondda and Merthyr Tydfil / Merthyr Tudful 
Explorer Map 166 (2005). It is joined by the same claimed PRoWs as in the 1978 
edition. The route runs through Brug Waun Farmyard. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph, although the 
route runs through and not around Brug Waun Farmyard. 

 
The claimed route is obscured by trees in the eastern section on a 2008 aerial 
photograph. It is, however, clearly discernable for the remainder of its length. The 
route is clearly discerned both through and around Brug Waun Farmyard. 
 

1.5 Printed Books / Journals / Pamphlets / Websites Consulted 
 

This route is depicted in the MTCBC publication, “Merthyr Tydfil Official Guide and 
Street Plan”. 

 
The history of this route is discussed on the Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological 
Trust’s website, in Historic Landscape Characterisation Merthyr Tydfil, No. 070 
Cwm Glo: Tramroad, Plateway and Incline Corridor: 

 
“A transport corridor, comprising an extensive network of inclines and tracks 
connecting with the rail, tramroad and canal corridor … The major industrial 
transport network developments during the period 1875-1898 were … and 
the development of the tramroad and incline system serving the Cwmdu 
Drift, the latter was connected to the Cwm Pit Railway, just north of Lower 
Colliers Row …”  

 
The route is described on page 119 of the Historic Taff Valleys, Part Two, Social 
and Industrial History,  

 
“A little to the north of Lower Colliers Row, two inclines ascend the hillside 
towards Cwm Du …”. 

Page 195



 
The northern Incline is this claimed route. 
 

1.6 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.6a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 39 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was 
depicted as Footpath I on the NCB Map and was referred to as Footpath I and 
described in detail in paragraph 9 of the NCB’s Footpath Application which stated: 

 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath I’ on the map which 
runs from the footpath described in Paragraph 10 below at a point about 280 
yards South South West of the Mayor’s Square at Heolgerrig in a general 
South Easterly direction to the disused mine known as Cwmdu Drift and 
thence in a general Easterly direction for about 1500 yards to meet the 
vehicular track described in Paragraph 2 above at a point (numbered 21 on 
the map) about 140 yards North North West of No. 21 Lower Colliers Row 
being the part which extends from a point (numbered 18 on the map) about 
250 yards East of the said Cwm Du Drift in an Easterly direction for about 
1280 yards to the said point (numbered 21 on the map).” 

 
This description is the claimed route in reverse. 
 
Five other footpaths (Footpaths C, H, J, K and L) and one vehicular route which 
were subject to the Application to Suspend join this claimed route. 

 
The claimed route was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular 
Routes Application. 

 
This route was also one which was included in the March 1988, National Coal 
Board Opencast Executive Application for Suspension. On the Map which 
accompanied this application, the eastern section of this claimed route is labelled 
“track”. The western and central sections form part of “Footpath 36” and that 
section of Footpath 36 to be suspended was described in the Schedule,  

 
“part of Footpath No. 36, being that part which extends from a point 
approximately 115 metres south west of the ruin known as ‘The Dissenters’ 
Meeting House’ in an east-south-easterly direction to its junction with 
Bridleway No. 24 referred to in Paragraph 8 below at a point approximately 
395 metres west-south-west of the property known as ‘Old Rhyd y Car” .  

 
Officers interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 39 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr 
Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.7 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

Page 196



The route is described in the extant list of PRoW on the Cyfarthfa Ward dated circa 
1951. 

 
A section of Cyfarthfa 39 is included at number 10: 

 
“From Heolgerrig to Cwm Du to the Parish Road via the Waun”,   

 
and the entire route is described in number 8 (which then  continues further south 
to the Parish Road): 

 
 “From Heolgerrig to Cwmdu Colliery and Llwynyreos House to Pen 
Coedcae, Pen Cae Wern, Lower Colliers Row, Old Castell House to the 
Parish Road”. 

 
1.8 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

The 1979 Draft Map depicts the majority of this claimed route (excluding the 
eastern section, the Pen Cae Incline) as Footpath 36 which is described in the 
statement: 

 
“Commences on B. R. 34 and proceeds in a south easterly direction over 
brook and passing houses and the turning eastwards along track passing 
airshaft and ‘Pen-y-coedcae’ Farm. Then in a south easterly direction 
following old incline to its termination on B.R. 24.” 

 
Footpath 36 is therefore the western Incline and the entire length of the Cwm Du 
Drift Incline. 

 
In its description, the total length is given as 2000 yards and the width as 2 feet.  

  
This claimed route (excluding a section in the east) is also depicted in the 1991 
Draft Map as Footpath 36. 
 

1.9 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made three site visits to this route, twice accompanied by Mr. John 
Walters, a representative of Merthyr Village Ltd., who pointed out a number of 
hazards. They walked different sections of the route on different occasions and 
found it as described above. People were observed walking this route on each 
occasion. 
 

B. CONSULTATION                                                                                                                     
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 39, was issued in June 2008.  

Page 197



 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
 On 30th November 2002 the main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly submitted: 
 

a detailed schedule describing the claimed route, 
6 correctly completed evidence forms claiming this route as a footpath and showing 
evidence of use over 20 plus years, 25, 26, 30 plus years, 40 and 50 plus years. At 
the request of the Rights of Way Officer, five claimants returned maps depicting the 
claimed route and the sixth claimant subsequently confirmed this route at interview. 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey (OS) map with the claimed route coloured 
red, 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured yellow, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (Application to Modify the Definitive Map),  
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier) and 
copy of the Rhyd y Car Archaeological Assessment. 

 
The main claimant and five of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed and all exhibited lifelong knowledge of the area (the sixth claimant has 
subsequently moved from the Merthyr Tydfil area). Their verbal evidence supported 
and enhanced that which had been written in their claim forms, e.g. they gave 
many anecdotes of use of the route of the claim and showed knowledge of links 
with other tracks (some unclaimed and some claimed as Public Rights of Way by 
themselves and/or others) which they (and others) have walked since childhood. 

 
1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
1.3b(1)Mrs. Charlotte Connolly was brought up at Lower Colliers Row, lived there when 

first married and has therefore known and used this route all her life (she is 68).  
 

She stated that her grandfather worked at the Cwmdu Drift and he (and other men) 
used this route daily to go to work. 

 
Mrs. Connolly and other children, 

 
“were up and down this path all the time, picking nuts in the Canal Woods, 
visiting Mrs Lambert (lived at a cottage on the route), going to swim in and 
play on the ice in Pencae Pond. Although people walked there, this route 
was a tramroad, taking coal to the screens and people would also get a lift 
on the trams. The rails were then removed about the 1940s and the route 
just became a path”. 

 
She and her husband (main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly), have used this route 
for walks and walking their dog, even after the whole site was fenced in 2007. 

 

Page 198



Mrs Connolly submitted photographs showing sections of the claimed route and a 
statement detailing her use of the whole of the Merthyr Village area but particularly 
the southern section. 

 
Neither she nor her husband have either sought or been given permission to walk 
this route; they have always thought it was their right. They have never been 
challenged while using it and have seen other people using it.  

 
Mrs. Connolly’s evidence covers the period 1940 – 2007. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr. Paul Brown confirmed the route of this claim. He stated that he has walked this 

(often with his wife and son) for approximately 26 years, having moved to 
Heolgerrig in 1979. He uses it for recreation and for photographing wildlife. He 
confirmed that he believes that he has a right to walk this path, he has never 
sought or been given permission to walk it and neither he, nor other people he has 
asked in Heolgerrig, have been challenged whilst using it. 

 
He stated that there is a stile where this route joins another claimed PRoW in the 
west and that he always goes around, not through Brug Waun Farmyard. 

 
He has used this route less often during the past two years, initially because of 
pressure of work and additionally, latterly, because of mobility problems.  
 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(3)Until approximately two years ago, Mr. Tony Chaplin walked this path on average 

twice a month for the previous 25 years. He uses it for recreation and bird watching 
and stated that there are stiles at the commencement of the route in the east and at 
its junction with the other (Cwm Du) Incline (both stiles leading to other claimed 
PRoW).   

 
Mr. Chaplin submitted a copy of the 1966 NCB No. 2 Map which depicts this route. 
He stated:  

 
“I believe de facto access has existed across the site for considerably longer 
than I have lived in Heolgerrig (i.e. 35 years) … I have observed other 
members of the public accessing the site on foot from my garden – including 
access to this path. I was originally taken on this path by one of my 
neighbours. I have never asked / sought permission. De facto access 
exists”.  

 
He has only been stopped from using this path during the foot and mouth outbreak 
in 2001. 

 
Mr Chaplin said that there is a clearly defined track which can be followed by 
strangers and “apart from the diversion around the farmyard”, the route has always 
followed the same line. There are gates (not always locked) at either end of the 
farmyard. 
 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

Page 199



 
1.3b(4)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated that there is a stile in the east, to the north of Lower Colliers Row and 
one near Coedcae houses 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born. For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is 
on the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access 
to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that 
there should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, 
Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, 
there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant 
Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the 
history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 
 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

Page 200



 
1.3b(5)Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he walked all of the routes which he has 

claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years. He no 
longer walks these routes because of illness. He occasionally used these routes as 
a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims.  

 
Mr. Thomas had also previously sent a letter, as an individual, but enclosing copies 
of the Merthyr Naturalists’ Programme of Events, written accounts of walks by 
members and a copy of a letter from Mr. John Walters (project director, Merthyr 
Village) giving (conditional) agreement for the Society to walk on the Merthyr 
Village Site. Mr. Thomas submitted a further copy of this letter giving names of the 
people who had joined the walk.  

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on 
other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Thomas described walking this route, 
 

“I last walked the length of the route on 10/07/2006. I began the walk on a 
footpath north of Lower Colliers Row where you have to negotiate a stile and 
path which takes you over a small spoil heap including the Pencae Incline 
where another established footpath crosses open meadow land to yet 
another stile. By crossing this stile you come to the lower end of the Cwm Du 
drift main tramroad. Further on is another track and you eventually come to a 
stream. Continuing along this route is a small brook to your left and also 
Cwm Du drift buildings (SAM). The pathway on the right will take you pass 
these buildings and cross the stream where you eventually meet up with the 
road way from Gernant Lane to Blaencanaid.” 

 
Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 2006. 
 

1.3b(6)Mr. Tony Cousins says he walks the majority of the site still (and for at least 23 
years) walks his dogs daily.  He uses a variety of routes. 

 

Page 201



He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful 
and it would be a shame if people were stopped from using it. He continued, 

 
“There are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the 
ones described at least weekly. 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only 1 of a number of people who still 
walk there. I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have never 
seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 

 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 

  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he’d been led to believe 
that they are registered rights of way by people who’ve lived in Heolgerrig all their 
lives.  

 
He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful 
and it would be a shame if people were stopped from using it.  

 
Mr. Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr. & Mrs Donald and Linda Davies have lived for 40 years at Heolgerrig and have 

used many of the routes over the Merthyr Village Site regularly throughout this 
period. There was never any concern over walking anywhere on the site until 
recently. Mr. and Mrs. Davies explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in 
the night and she In the morning. They try to walk circular routes, sometimes 
shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked on more of the 
routes than her husband. Mr Davies also said that he has regularly taken his 
grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain routes on a pushbike. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there. Mrs Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”. Mr Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere.  

 
Mr and Mrs. Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a 
map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 

Page 202



No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there 
were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use 
of these routes  and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re fencing. 
He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no other remarks about 
the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there although, of course, 
he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any 
private land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using 
the paths although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at 
one time in the recent past.  

 
Mr. Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the ‘Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”. Mrs Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
us”. 

 
Mr. Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people 
to use.   

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed. These are all used by many people, they always see people there; the last  
time he walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 women with dogs and a man on own.  
He also saw horse riders, at least 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

 
Mrs Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 

his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 

 
Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mrs. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been brought up at 

Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du. They 

Page 203



married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they both 
know the whole area very well (Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed 
footpaths, all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all of the tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr. Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of area down to 
Parish Road.  He traced all the claimed routes on a map and said had walked every 
single path. He went shooting and walking and took his two sons walking and 
shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae.” 

 
The only time Mr. Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere 
on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brother’s 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk 
there. 

 
Mr. Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor state now.  

 
Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go anywhere I 
wanted. It’s only recently that there have been problems, when they started 
fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area. Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of 
regularly seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways). His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for 
example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr. Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 

Page 204



“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking there. The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths 
need cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr. Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went walking. They 
often took a picnic, would use different routes, for example, they had best views 
below Blaencanaid then followed the old tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr. Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council by Mr. Phelps) showing 
all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(9)Mr. Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the ‘Merthyr Village Site” regularly before that. Both stated that they 
have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the 
north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees stated that when married they lived at Lower Colliers Row and 
had a car which they used on the tarmac path up to Llwyncelyn and Upper Colliers 
Row and on the tarmac path over to Rhydycar. They also stated that the track up to 
Melincanaid had a tarmac surface at that time. They both referred to all of these 
routes as Parish Roads but said that the one to the south did not have a tarmac 
surface. 

 

Page 205



Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going 
out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. Rees stated that his father had been killed in the Cwm Du drift but that both his 
father and, later, his stepfather walked daily from Lower Colliers Row to Cwm Du 
Drift to work using a number of the claimed PRoWs. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with 
no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so 
would find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to 
those on the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to 
walk on these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication 
is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row 
was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any 
consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted 
that these cottages were so historically important that a number of them 
were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
At one time Mr Rees regularly rode a horse along one of the paths as going into 
town. It was not his horse but was kept in a field in front of Lower Colliers Row. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of 
any signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from 
using these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove 
on these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far 
as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 

Page 206



Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
 

Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 
1.3b(10)Mr. Mike Jones, Local Access Forum member, stated that he moved to Merthyr 

Tydfil in 1944 and began walking this area then. He uses different routes including 
this one. He walks down Gernant Lane, across the Cwm Du Drift Incline but was 
unsure (from the map) whether he continued down this claimed route or the 
alternative, eastern section of the Cwm Du Incline. He stated however that he 
knows the route on the ground precisely. 

 
He has never been challenged while using this route and thinks he has a right to 
use it. 

 
Mr. Jones’ evidence covers the period 1944 – 2007. 

 
1.3b(11)Mr. Colin Davies has used this route for approximately 42 years. He walks daily 

and this is a section of one of his varied but regular routes. He accesses it from 
different directions, e.g from the north, the Forest Road from Mayor’s Square, he 
uses it to go east to another claimed route and then usually goes northward to 
Brondeg or, less frequently, southward to access other routes. 

 
He has never been challenged while using the route and has never asked 
permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period 1967 – 2009. 

 
1.3b(12)Mr. John Gamlin has walked this route (often with Mr. Colin Davies) for 

approximately six years and gave very similar evidence to that of Mr. Davies. He 
walks daily, using different routes including this one, which he accesses from the 
north, from Mayor’s Square via the Forest Road. He uses this route to go east to 
another claimed route and then usually goes northward to Brondeg or, less 
frequently, southward to access other routes. 

 
He has never been challenged while using the route and has never asked 
permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr. Gamlin’s evidence covers the period 2003 – 2009. 

 
1.3b(13)Mr. David Price has walked this route for approximately 15 years. He walks daily 

(sometimes with Mr. Davies and Mr. Gamlin), using different routes including this 
one which he accesses from the north, from the Haul Road or from Mayor’s Square 
via the Forest Road. He uses this route to go east to another claimed route and 
then usually goes northward to Brondeg or, less frequently, southward to access 
other routes. 

 
He has never been challenged while using the route and has never asked 
permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr. Price’s evidence covers the period 1970 – 2009. 

Page 207



 
1.3b(14)Mr. Glanmor Williams stated that he has used routes in this area for at least 50 

years and has walked this route quite often; he has never been challenged whilst 
using it and has always thought that he has a right to use it. 

 
Mr. Williams’ evidence covers the period 1949 – 2009. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
 Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed this claimed route and stated that one of their tenants owns a section of 
the land in the west and they know that they (the tenants) have always refused 
access to the public. Three gates have recently been erected by the Coal Authority 
(at the beginning of the claimed route and either end of the farmyard). To the east 
of the farmyard the route is badly eroded and streams have to be crossed at two 
points.  

 
 In addition to her general comments at Item 1 above, Mrs Misslebrook 

(representing tenants) made comments specific to this route: 
 

“The claimed footpath at Upper Heolgerrig is actually a Private Road, and an 
animal track. (This animal route in any event will be altered, due to building 
development in the farm yard, necessitating the expansion of the yard 
boundary fence. Permission granted in July 2005)”.  

 
Cyfarthfa 39 – from Old Screens – Left of pen cae – Incline track – Around 
Farm yard – across Yard Road ends at Forestry Fork. 
 
1. Request for evidence verifying SAM at farm yard. 
2. description of route varies significantly from illustration on the map. 
3. Statements indicate that farmyard was walked around. 
4. ROW staff encountered locked gates. 
5. Working area – health and safety previously quoted. 
6. This route is not within an SSSI. 
7. This route is not within a TPO. 
8. This route does not run through open access. 
9. None of the maps are date verified. 
10. Only one statement supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence. 
11. Para 6 (2) is inaccurate, only one gate was erected by the Coal 

Authority the other two have always been there. 
 

Mrs Misslebrook and her brothers occupy the land of Brug Waun Farm and have 
made several written and verbal observations. They state that this specific route is 
outside Open Access land and is therefore private land. Mrs Misslebrook also 
stated, 

 
“This map indicates that the alleged right of way runs through the farm yard 
and across the farm lane, access has NEVER been allowed through the 

Page 208



farmyard on health and safety grounds due to machinery and subsidence, 
and the fact that it is a private working area. Gates are locked at all times 
and there are no stiles. However, the route on the master plan previously 
received, indicates that the path goes around the farmyard. This path has 
altered as the farm boundary has been extended to build a new cattle house. 
This has permitted development under farming planning regulations and was 
necessary to comply with new WAG regulations known as the Cross 
Compliance GAEC’s”. 

 
In interview with MTCBC Officers, Mrs Misslebrook, representing all tenants on the 
land, stated that the farmyard has always had locked gates (her family have worked 
the farm since the 1940s) and no one has ever been allowed access. This can be 
proved by reference to haulage contractors since at least the 1970s and to Council 
Officers who request permission for access to inspect tips. 

 
In response to the notes taken at the interview, Mrs Misslebrook reinforced the 
proof of locked gates by suggesting that Mr. Edward Foley (Head of Engineering, 
MTCBC) may have noticed the locked gate when conducting tip inspections and 
that the Coal Authority and fencing haulage companies who deliver to the yard can 
also provide this evidence. 
 

1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 
2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks 
/paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is 
still used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a 
few horses and sheep were also on the site. Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of 
view.”   

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are 
the subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest and a candidate Site of 
Interest for Nature Conservation. 

Page 209



 
Most of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open Access Land which has been 
subject to a Restriction Order since summer 2006.   

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application based on long user to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 39. 

 
Councillors are also requested to determine the detour marked with a dashed line 
between Points B – C on the Plan, Appendix 8, Cyfarthfa 48. 

 
2.0 1) Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Seventeen people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use during the period to 

be considered. Evidence of pedestrian use exists from the 1930s. 
 
2.5 Two claimants have submitted evidence of equestrian use. 
 
2.6 Officers therefore offer Cyfarthfa 39 and Cyfarthfa 48 as footpaths. 
 
3.0 2)  Period of use to be considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating 
that the route is not to become a PRoW.  

 
3.3 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case it would be the period 
between 1st December 1982 and 30th November 2002; extensive user evidence 
exists for this period.  

 
3.4 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 

Page 210



3.5 Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the right now 
claimed, viz. footpath over the period 1st December 1982 and 30th November 2002 
and at all material times before it.        

 
4.0 The Line of the Route 
 

The route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 

Both routes have been available for public use as a footpath. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 

The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 
cartographic sources. 

 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 

Depiction of this route on the various maps as described indicates that a track/path 
existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public rights on the route. It is, 
however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the way in which this 
claimed route links with other routes. 

 
Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the 
route and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the 
summer and foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. More 
specifically, this route has been one which was subject to a request for suspension 
under associated applications in 1966, 1970 and 1988. 

 
7.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or 

Statement at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors 
recognised this route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they 
were made the subject of legal applications to suspend. 

 
7.3 The 1966, 1970 and 1988 applications also clearly indicate that at those times the 

route was recognised as a public footpath and subsequent planning applications 
reinforce this.  

 
7.4 The evidence of the extant Cyfarthfa Ward list dating from circa 1951 suggests that 

at this time this route was generally recognised as being a PR0W.  
 
7.5 Although neither the Draft Map of 1979 nor that of 1991 can be regarded as a 

definitive legal document, nevertheless, this route was recognised as being a 
potential public right of way at those times. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 

Page 211



 
Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 

 
Eighteen people have submitted extensive evidence of use of this route for 
recreation and leisure as a footpath; two of these people have also submitted 
evidence of equestrian use. 

 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously 
in Item 1 on the agenda. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at 
that time there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this 

is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of 

the houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public which has been dealt with at Item 1. 
Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

Page 212



 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.5 Tenants 
 

Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 
observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns 
about health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been enjoyed 

by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and 
the ways deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate them. 

 
 Officers have presented extensive historic as well as pedestrian user evidence for 

the existence of Cyfarthfa 39 as a footpath since the 1930s to the present day.  
 

There is limited user evidence of equestrian use. 
 

Officer’s opinion is that there is insufficient evidence for a bridleway. 
 

Officers present Cyfarthfa 39 and 48 for determination as footpaths. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights 

now claimed viz. footpaths over the period 30th November 1982 and 30th November 
2002 and at all material times before it.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, 
the interviews with users, claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners 
and other interested parties, and having taken into account the information received 
from interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident 
that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application. It is considered that a presumption of  dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route. An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 

Page 213



 Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 Taking the above into account, Orders to modify th e Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 

 
D. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 
 1) In respect of Cyfarthfa 39  Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line on the Plan, Appendix 
8, has been used so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted 
by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant 
Order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 

Page 214



of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
above. 
 
 2)  In respect of Cyfarthfa 48 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line B - C on the Plan, 
Appendix 8, for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant 
Order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 
of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter.   

 
 3. In respect of Cyfarthfa 142 either, 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line E – F – G - H on the 
Plan, Appendix 8, for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not 
been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

Page 215



 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant 
Order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 
of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter.   

 
 4. In respect of Cyfarthfa 143, either 
 

1 a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line I - J on the Plan, 
Appendix 8, for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant 
Order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 
of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1, 2, 3 
and 4 above. 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 216



 
 
 
 

Page 217



Page 218

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 219



P
age 220

T
his page is intentionally left blank



20TH JANUARY 2010 REPORT 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A  
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 39.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
The legal background is to be found at Appendix 1. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A claim to record a Public Right of Way (footpath) from the track between Upper 
and Lower Colliers Row, along former tramroads/inclines to the Forest Road was 
submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 30th November 2002. This 
was referred to as A763/4/161 and is now known as Cyfarthfa 39 (Claim 1). 

 
A further claim to record a Public Right of Way (footpath) from the Forest Road to 
the road which runs between Upper and Lower Colliers Row was submitted to 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 31st January 2008 (Claim 2). This route 
was identical to that in Claim 1 and was referred to as Cyfarthfa 22. Post 2008, this 
claim has been known as Cyfarthfa 48.   

 
The route follows disused tramroads and inclines which joined the Cyfarthfa Canal 
which was constructed in the 1790s to export goods to the south and also to 
transport ironstone and coal northwards to the Cyfarthfa Ironworks. In the mid 
1800s, the Canal was replaced by the Cwm Pit Railway which ran between the 
Cwm Pit and the Cyfarthfa Works. 

 
The route can be divided into three sections. The first, in the east follows the Pen 
Cae Incline, the central section runs on the Cwm Du Drift Incline and the third, the 
western section, is part of a tramway which ran northward from the Cwm Du Drift. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 39, the route commences at Point A, grid 
reference SO04390522, a point on Troedyrhiw 44, the road which runs between 
Upper and Lower Colliers Row (the approximate line of the Cyfarthfa Canal and the 
line of the Cwm Pit Railway). It immediately crosses a stile and proceeds in a 
general north-westerly direction on a track over the Pen Cae Incline which 
continues on a clearly defined track through grassland. The route crosses Cyfarthfa 
38 then crosses a stile before its junction with Troedyrhiw 53, the eastern section of 
the Cwm Du Drift Incline. The route now veers to a general westerly direction and 
continues in a straight line through grassland along the well-defined track of the 
Cwm Du Drift Incline. It is joined by Troedyrhiw 52 from the south, Cyfarthfa 35 
from the north, adjacent to the ruins of Pen Coedcae Cottages and then Cyfarthfa 
46 from the north.  

 
The route continues to the Cwm Du Drift site, now Brug Waun Farmyard (which 
includes a Scheduled Ancient Monument) where it turns to a general north-north-

Page 221



westerly direction at Point I, grid reference SO03000539 and runs through the 
farmyard to Point J grid ref SO02960548 where there is a field gate and it becomes 
a hardcore road. The route proceeds along this track, meets a locked gate and then 
continues for approximately 10m to its termination at Point K on the plan, grid 
reference SO02890564, its junction with the Forest Road, Troedyrhiw 51.  
 
Councillors are advised that the direct line of this claim is not always followed. 
Three diversions exist. 
 
The first diversion commences at Point C on the Plan, grid reference SO04350523, 
and proceeds in a general south-easterly direction to join Cyfarthfa 39 at Point B, 
grid reference SO04390521.  
 
The second diversion commences at Point G on the plan, grid Reference 
SO03490534  and  crosses and re-crosses a stream, at Points F and E, rejoining 
Cyfarthfa 39 at Point D, grid reference SO03560534. 
 
Councillors are requested to note that a third diversion exists. All user evidence for 
this claim is in favour of the route around, not through, Brug Waun farmyard; the 
main claimant has stated that this should be the route of the claim. This diversion 
commences at Point H, grid reference SO03060538 and proceeds in a general 
northerly, then north-westerly direction to terminate at Point J, grid reference 
SO02960548. 

 
Nevertheless, Officers must investigate the claim as submitted, between Points A – 
K. 
 
The detours between Points C - B; G - F-E -D and between H and J on the Plan are 
also submitted to Councillors for determination.  
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Maps 
 

The central and western sections of this route, the sections on the Cwm Du Drift 
Incline and onto the Forest Road are clearly depicted on the 1910 Valuation Map. A 
very small section leading out of the Farmyard and onto the western tramroad is 
not depicted. The route was not coloured, indicating that it was not publicly 
maintained. 

 
Ordnance Survey (OS) maps examined: 

  
1919 
The Pen Cae Incline is only depicted intermittently in its eastern section. The line of 
the route is crossed by tramway sidings leading to spoil tips almost immediately 
east of its commencement and then by a footpath to Pen Cae before meeting 
Cyfarthfa 38. 

 

Page 222



The central section commences at its junction with Troedyrhiw 53 and follows the 
line of the Cwm Du Drift Tram Road. It is clearly depicted and labelled “tramway”. 
Adjacent to Penycaedcae Cottages it is joined by Troedyrhiw 52, Cyfarthfa 35 and 
a tramway and then by footpaths at points south of Llwyn yr Eos and the Cwm Du 
Drift. The route goes through the Cwm Du Drift.  

 
The northward route, from the current day farmyard to the Forest Road is also 
clearly depicted and labelled “old tramway” and joined by a route running to the 
north-east. 
 ` 

 1957 
The entire route is depicted and labelled “track”. It is joined by all of the claimed 
PRoWs as described above and runs to the east of Brug Waun Farmyard.    

 
1978 
The entire route is depicted and labelled “track”. It is joined by the claimed PRoWs 
as described above with the exception of Troedyrhiw 52. The route runs through 
Brug Waun Farmyard. 

 
2005 
The route is clearly depicted on the Rhondda and Merthyr Tydfil / Merthyr Tudful 
Explorer Map 166 (2005). It is joined by the same claimed PRoWs as in the 1978 
edition. The route runs through Brug Waun Farmyard. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph, although the 
route runs through and not around Brug Waun Farmyard. 

 
The claimed route is obscured by trees in the eastern section on a 2008 aerial 
photograph. It is, however, clearly discernable for the remainder of its length. The 
route is clearly discerned both through and around Brug Waun Farmyard. 
 

1.5 Printed Books / Journals / Pamphlets / Websites Consulted 
 

This route is depicted in the MTCBC publication, “Merthyr Tydfil Official Guide and 
Street Plan”. 

 
The history of this route is discussed on the Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological 
Trust’s website, in Historic Landscape Characterisation Merthyr Tydfil, No. 070 
Cwm Glo: Tramroad, Plateway and Incline Corridor: 

 
“A transport corridor, comprising an extensive network of inclines and tracks 
connecting with the rail, tramroad and canal corridor … The major industrial 
transport network developments during the period 1875-1898 were … and 
the development of the tramroad and incline system serving the Cwmdu 
Drift, the latter was connected to the Cwm Pit Railway, just north of Lower 
Colliers Row …”  

 

Page 223



The route is described on page 119 of the Historic Taff Valleys, Part Two, Social 
and Industrial History,  

 
“A little to the north of Lower Colliers Row, two inclines ascend the hillside 
towards Cwm Du …”. 

 
The northern Incline is this claimed route. 
 

1.6 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.6a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 39 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was 
depicted as Footpath I on the NCB Map and was referred to as Footpath I and 
described in detail in paragraph 9 of the NCB’s Footpath Application which stated: 

 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath I’ on the map which 
runs from the footpath described in Paragraph 10 below at a point about 280 
yards South South West of the Mayor’s Square at Heolgerrig in a general 
South Easterly direction to the disused mine known as Cwmdu Drift and 
thence in a general Easterly direction for about 1500 yards to meet the 
vehicular track described in Paragraph 2 above at a point (numbered 21 on 
the map) about 140 yards North North West of No. 21 Lower Colliers Row 
being the part which extends from a point (numbered 18 on the map) about 
250 yards East of the said Cwm Du Drift in an Easterly direction for about 
1280 yards to the said point (numbered 21 on the map).” 

 
This description is the claimed route in reverse. 
 
Five other footpaths (Footpaths C, H, J, K and L) and one vehicular route which 
were subject to the Application to Suspend join this claimed route. 

 
The claimed route was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular 
Routes Application. 

 
This route was also one which was included in the March 1988, National Coal 
Board Opencast Executive Application for Suspension. On the Map which 
accompanied this application, the eastern section of this claimed route is labelled 
“track”. The western and central sections form part of “Footpath 36” and that 
section of Footpath 36 to be suspended was described in the Schedule,  

 
“part of Footpath No. 36, being that part which extends from a point 
approximately 115 metres south west of the ruin known as ‘The Dissenters’ 
Meeting House’ in an east-south-easterly direction to its junction with 
Bridleway No. 24 referred to in Paragraph 8 below at a point approximately 
395 metres west-south-west of the property known as ‘Old Rhyd y Car” .  

 

Page 224



Officers interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 39 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr 
Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.7 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

The route is described in the extant list of PRoW on the Cyfarthfa Ward dated circa 
1951. 

 
A section of Cyfarthfa 39 is included at number 10: 

 
“From Heolgerrig to Cwm Du to the Parish Road via the Waun”,   

 
and the entire route is described in number 8 (which then  continues further south 
to the Parish Road): 

 
 “From Heolgerrig to Cwmdu Colliery and Llwynyreos House to Pen 
Coedcae, Pen Cae Wern, Lower Colliers Row, Old Castell House to the 
Parish Road”. 

 
1.8 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

The 1979 Draft Map depicts the majority of this claimed route (excluding the 
eastern section, the Pen Cae Incline) as Footpath 36 which is described in the 
statement: 

 
“Commences on B. R. 34 and proceeds in a south easterly direction over 
brook and passing houses and the turning eastwards along track passing 
airshaft and ‘Pen-y-coedcae’ Farm. Then in a south easterly direction 
following old incline to its termination on B.R. 24.” 

 
Footpath 36 is therefore the western Incline and the entire length of the Cwm Du 
Drift Incline. 

 
In its description, the total length is given as 2000 yards and the width as 2 feet.  

  
This claimed route (excluding a section in the east) is also depicted in the 1991 
Draft Map as Footpath 36. 
 

1.9 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made three site visits to this route, twice accompanied by Mr. John 
Walters, a representative of Merthyr Village Ltd., who pointed out a number of 
hazards. They walked different sections of the route on different occasions and 
found it as described above. People were observed walking this route on each 
occasion. 
 

B. CONSULTATION                                                                                                                                                                                
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  

Page 225



 
No response received. 

 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 39, was issued in June 2008.  
 

1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
 On 30th November 2002 the main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly submitted: 
 

a detailed schedule describing the claimed route, 
6 correctly completed evidence forms claiming this route as a footpath and showing 
evidence of use over 20 plus years, 25, 26, 30 plus years, 40 and 50 plus years. At 
the request of the Rights of Way Officer, five claimants returned maps depicting the 
claimed route and the sixth claimant subsequently confirmed this route at interview. 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey (OS) map with the claimed route coloured 
red, 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured yellow, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (Application to Modify the Definitive Map),  
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier) and 
copy of the Rhyd y Car Archaeological Assessment. 

 
The main claimant and five of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed and all exhibited lifelong knowledge of the area (the sixth claimant has 
subsequently moved from the Merthyr Tydfil area). Their verbal evidence supported 
and enhanced that which had been written in their claim forms, e.g. they gave 
many anecdotes of use of the route of the claim and showed knowledge of links 
with other tracks (some unclaimed and some claimed as Public Rights of Way by 
themselves and/or others) which they (and others) have walked since childhood. 

 
1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
1.3b(1)Mrs. Charlotte Connolly was brought up at Lower Colliers Row, lived there when 

first married and has therefore known and used this route all her life (she is 68).  
 

She stated that her grandfather worked at the Cwmdu Drift and he (and other men) 
used this route daily to go to work. 

 
Mrs. Connolly and other children, 

 
“were up and down this path all the time, picking nuts in the Canal Woods, 
visiting Mrs Lambert (lived at a cottage on the route), going to swim in and 
play on the ice in Pencae Pond. Although people walked there, this route 
was a tramroad, taking coal to the screens and people would also get a lift 

Page 226



on the trams. The rails were then removed about the 1940s and the route 
just became a path”. 

 
She and her husband (main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly), have used this route 
for walks and walking their dog, even after the whole site was fenced in 2007. 

 
Mrs Connolly submitted photographs showing sections of the claimed route and a 
statement detailing her use of the whole of the Merthyr Village area but particularly 
the southern section. 

 
Neither she nor her husband have either sought or been given permission to walk 
this route; they have always thought it was their right. They have never been 
challenged while using it and have seen other people using it.  

 
Mrs. Connolly’s evidence covers the period 1940 – 2007. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr. Paul Brown confirmed the route of this claim. He stated that he has walked this 

(often with his wife and son) for approximately 26 years, having moved to 
Heolgerrig in 1979. He uses it for recreation and for photographing wildlife. He 
confirmed that he believes that he has a right to walk this path, he has never 
sought or been given permission to walk it and neither he, nor other people he has 
asked in Heolgerrig, have been challenged whilst using it. 

 
He stated that there is a stile where this route joins another claimed PRoW in the 
west and that he always goes around, not through Brug Waun Farmyard. 

 
He has used this route less often during the past two years, initially because of 
pressure of work and additionally, latterly, because of mobility problems.  
 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(3)Until approximately two years ago, Mr. Tony Chaplin walked this path on average 

twice a month for the previous 25 years. He uses it for recreation and bird watching 
and stated that there are stiles at the commencement of the route in the east and at 
its junction with the other (Cwm Du) Incline (both stiles leading to other claimed 
PRoW).   

 
Mr. Chaplin submitted a copy of the 1966 NCB No. 2 Map which depicts this route. 
He stated:  

 
“I believe de facto access has existed across the site for considerably longer 
than I have lived in Heolgerrig (i.e. 35 years) … I have observed other 
members of the public accessing the site on foot from my garden – including 
access to this path. I was originally taken on this path by one of my 
neighbours. I have never asked / sought permission. De facto access 
exists”.  

 
He has only been stopped from using this path during the foot and mouth outbreak 
in 2001. 

 

Page 227



Mr Chaplin said that there is a clearly defined track which can be followed by 
strangers and “apart from the diversion around the farmyard”, the route has always 
followed the same line. There are gates (not always locked) at either end of the 
farmyard. 
 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated that there is a stile in the east, to the north of Lower Colliers Row and 
one near Coedcae houses 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born. For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is 
on the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access 
to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that 
there should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, 
Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, 
there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant 
Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the 
history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 
 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 
 

Page 228



I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he walked all of the routes which he has 

claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years. He no 
longer walks these routes because of illness. He occasionally used these routes as 
a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims.  

 
Mr. Thomas had also previously sent a letter, as an individual, but enclosing copies 
of the Merthyr Naturalists’ Programme of Events, written accounts of walks by 
members and a copy of a letter from Mr. John Walters (project director, Merthyr 
Village) giving (conditional) agreement for the Society to walk on the Merthyr 
Village Site. Mr. Thomas submitted a further copy of this letter giving names of the 
people who had joined the walk.  

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on 
other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Thomas described walking this route, 
 

“I last walked the length of the route on 10/07/2006. I began the walk on a 
footpath north of Lower Colliers Row where you have to negotiate a stile and 
path which takes you over a small spoil heap including the Pencae Incline 
where another established footpath crosses open meadow land to yet 
another stile. By crossing this stile you come to the lower end of the Cwm Du 
drift main tramroad. Further on is another track and you eventually come to a 
stream. Continuing along this route is a small brook to your left and also 
Cwm Du drift buildings (SAM). The pathway on the right will take you pass 
these buildings and cross the stream where you eventually meet up with the 
road way from Gernant Lane to Blaencanaid.” 

 

Page 229



Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 2006. 
 

1.3b(6)Mr. Tony Cousins says he walks the majority of the site still (and for at least 23 
years) walks his dogs daily.  He uses a variety of routes. 

 
He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful 
and it would be a shame if people were stopped from using it. He continued, 

 
“There are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the 
ones described at least weekly. 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only 1 of a number of people who still 
walk there. I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have never 
seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 

 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 

  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he’d been led to believe 
that they are registered rights of way by people who’ve lived in Heolgerrig all their 
lives.  

 
He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful 
and it would be a shame if people were stopped from using it.  

 
Mr. Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr. & Mrs Donald and Linda Davies have lived for 40 years at Heolgerrig and have 

used many of the routes over the Merthyr Village Site regularly throughout this 
period. There was never any concern over walking anywhere on the site until 
recently. Mr. and Mrs. Davies explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in 
the night and she In the morning. They try to walk circular routes, sometimes 
shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked on more of the 
routes than her husband. Mr Davies also said that he has regularly taken his 
grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain routes on a pushbike. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there. Mrs Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”. Mr Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere.  

Page 230



 
Mr and Mrs. Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a 
map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there 
were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use 
of these routes  and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re fencing. 
He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no other remarks about 
the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there although, of course, 
he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any 
private land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using 
the paths although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at 
one time in the recent past.  

 
Mr. Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the ‘Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”. Mrs Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
us”. 

 
Mr. Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people 
to use.   

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed. These are all used by many people, they always see people there; the last  
time he walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 women with dogs and a man on own.  
He also saw horse riders, at least 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

 
Mrs Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 

his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 

 
Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 

Page 231



Mrs. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
 
1.3b(8)Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been brought up at 

Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du. They 
married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they both 
know the whole area very well (Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed 
footpaths, all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all of the tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr. Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of area down to 
Parish Road.  He traced all the claimed routes on a map and said had walked every 
single path. He went shooting and walking and took his two sons walking and 
shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae.” 

 
The only time Mr. Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere 
on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brother’s 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk 
there. 

 
Mr. Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor state now.  

 
Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go anywhere I 
wanted. It’s only recently that there have been problems, when they started 
fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area. Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of 
regularly seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 

Page 232



bridleways). His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for 
example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr. Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking there. The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths 
need cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr. Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went walking. They 
often took a picnic, would use different routes, for example, they had best views 
below Blaencanaid then followed the old tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr. Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council by Mr. Phelps) showing 
all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(9)Mr. Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the ‘Merthyr Village Site” regularly before that. Both stated that they 
have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the 
north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees stated that when married they lived at Lower Colliers Row and 
had a car which they used on the tarmac path up to Llwyncelyn and Upper Colliers 
Row and on the tarmac path over to Rhydycar. They also stated that the track up to 

Page 233



Melincanaid had a tarmac surface at that time. They both referred to all of these 
routes as Parish Roads but said that the one to the south did not have a tarmac 
surface. 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going 
out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. Rees stated that his father had been killed in the Cwm Du drift but that both his 
father and, later, his stepfather walked daily from Lower Colliers Row to Cwm Du 
Drift to work using a number of the claimed PRoWs. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with 
no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so 
would find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to 
those on the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to 
walk on these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication 
is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row 
was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any 
consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted 
that these cottages were so historically important that a number of them 
were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
At one time Mr Rees regularly rode a horse along one of the paths as going into 
town. It was not his horse but was kept in a field in front of Lower Colliers Row. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of 
any signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from 
using these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove 
on these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far 
as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems” 

Page 234



 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(10)Mr. Mike Jones, Local Access Forum member, stated that he moved to Merthyr 

Tydfil in 1944 and began walking this area then. He uses different routes including 
this one. He walks down Gernant Lane, across the Cwm Du Drift Incline but was 
unsure (from the map) whether he continued down this claimed route or the 
alternative, eastern section of the Cwm Du Incline. He stated however that he 
knows the route on the ground precisely. 

 
He has never been challenged while using this route and thinks he has a right to 
use it. 

 
Mr. Jones’ evidence covers the period 1944 – 2007. 

 
1.3b(11)Mr. Colin Davies has used this route for approximately 42 years. He walks daily 

and this is a section of one of his varied but regular routes. He accesses it from 
different directions, e.g from the north, the Forest Road from Mayor’s Square, he 
uses it to go east to another claimed route and then usually goes northward to 
Brondeg or, less frequently, southward to access other routes. 

 
He has never been challenged while using the route and has never asked 
permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period 1967 – 2009. 

 
1.3b(12)Mr. John Gamlin has walked this route (often with Mr. Colin Davies) for 

approximately six years and gave very similar evidence to that of Mr. Davies. He 
walks daily, using different routes including this one, which he accesses from the 
north, from Mayor’s Square via the Forest Road. He uses this route to go east to 
another claimed route and then usually goes northward to Brondeg or, less 
frequently, southward to access other routes. 

 
He has never been challenged while using the route and has never asked 
permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr. Gamlin’s evidence covers the period 2003 – 2009. 

 
1.3b(13)Mr. David Price has walked this route for approximately 15 years. He walks daily 

(sometimes with Mr. Davies and Mr. Gamlin), using different routes including this 
one which he accesses from the north, from the Haul Road or from Mayor’s Square 
via the Forest Road. He uses this route to go east to another claimed route and 
then usually goes northward to Brondeg or, less frequently, southward to access 
other routes. 

 

Page 235



He has never been challenged while using the route and has never asked 
permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr. Price’s evidence covers the period 1970 – 2009. 

 
1.3b(14)Mr. Glanmor Williams stated that he has used routes in this area for at least 50 

years and has walked this route quite often; he has never been challenged whilst 
using it and has always thought that he has a right to use it. 

 
Mr. Williams’ evidence covers the period 1949 – 2009. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
 Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed this claimed route and stated that one of their tenants owns a section of 
the land in the west and they know that they (the tenants) have always refused 
access to the public. Three gates have recently been erected by the Coal Authority 
(at the beginning of the claimed route and either end of the farmyard). To the east 
of the farmyard the route is badly eroded and streams have to be crossed at two 
points.  

 
 In addition to her general comments at Item 1 above, Mrs Misslebrook 

(representing tenants) made comments specific to this route: 
 

“The claimed footpath at Upper Heolgerrig is actually a Private Road, and an 
animal track. (This animal route in any event will be altered, due to building 
development in the farm yard, necessitating the expansion of the yard 
boundary fence. Permission granted in July 2005)”.  

 
Cyfarthfa 39 – from Old Screens – Left of pen cae – Incline track – Around 
Farm yard – across Yard Road ends at Forestry Fork. 
 
1. Request for evidence verifying SAM at farm yard. 
2. description of route varies significantly from illustration on the map. 
3. Statements indicate that farmyard was walked around. 
4. ROW staff encountered locked gates. 
5. Working area – health and safety previously quoted. 
6. This route is not within an SSSI. 
7. This route is not within a TPO. 
8. This route does not run through open access. 
9. None of the maps are date verified. 
10. Only one statement supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence. 
11. Para 6 (2) is inaccurate, only one gate was erected by the Coal 

Authority the other two have always been there. 
 

Mrs Misslebrook and her brothers occupy the land of Brug Waun Farm and have 
made several written and verbal observations. They state that this specific route is 

Page 236



outside Open Access land and is therefore private land. Mrs Misslebrook also 
stated, 

 
“This map indicates that the alleged right of way runs through the farm yard 
and across the farm lane, access has NEVER been allowed through the 
farmyard on health and safety grounds due to machinery and subsidence, 
and the fact that it is a private working area. Gates are locked at all times 
and there are no stiles. However, the route on the master plan previously 
received, indicates that the path goes around the farmyard. This path has 
altered as the farm boundary has been extended to build a new cattle house. 
This has permitted development under farming planning regulations and was 
necessary to comply with new WAG regulations known as the Cross 
Compliance GAEC’s”. 

 
In interview with MTCBC Officers, Mrs Misslebrook, representing all tenants on the 
land, stated that the farmyard has always had locked gates (her family have worked 
the farm since the 1940s) and no one has ever been allowed access. This can be 
proved by reference to haulage contractors since at least the 1970s and to Council 
Officers who request permission for access to inspect tips. 

 
In response to the notes taken at the interview, Mrs Misslebrook reinforced the 
proof of locked gates by suggesting that Mr. Edward Foley (Head of Engineering, 
MTCBC) may have noticed the locked gate when conducting tip inspections and 
that the Coal Authority and fencing haulage companies who deliver to the yard can 
also provide this evidence. 
 

1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 
2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks 
/paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is 
still used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a 
few horses and sheep were also on the site. Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of 
view.”   

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are 
the subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 

Page 237



refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest and a candidate Site of 
Interest for Nature Conservation. 

 
Most of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open Access Land which has been 
subject to a Restriction Order since summer 2006.   

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application based on long user to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 39. 

 
Councillors are also requested to determine the detours marked with a dashed line 
on the plan, Cyfarthfa 39; between Points H - J on the Plan (Cyfarthfa 48), between 
Points D – E – F – G on the Plan (Cyfarthfa 142) and between Points B – C on the 
plan (Cyfarthfa 143). 

 
2.0 1) Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Seventeen people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use during the period to 

be considered. Evidence of pedestrian use exists from the 1930s. 
 
2.5 Two claimants have submitted evidence of equestrian use. 
 
2.6 Officers therefore offer Cyfarthfa 39, Cyfarthfa 48, Cyfarthfa 142 and Cyfarthfa 143 

as footpaths. 
 
3.0 2)  Period of use to be considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating 
that the route is not to become a PRoW.  

 
3.3 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case it would be the period 

Page 238



between 1st December 1982 and 30th November 2002; extensive user evidence 
exists for this period.  

 
3.4 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
3.5 Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the right now 

claimed, viz. footpath over the period 1st December 1982 and 30th November 2002 
and at all material times before it.        

 
4.0 The Line of the Route 
 

The route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 

Both routes have been available for public use as a footpath. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 

The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 
cartographic sources. 

 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 

Depiction of this route on the various maps as described indicates that a track/path 
existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public rights on the route. It is, 
however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the way in which this 
claimed route links with other routes. 

 
Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the 
route and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the 
summer and foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. More 
specifically, this route has been one which was subject to a request for suspension 
under associated applications in 1966, 1970 and 1988. 

 
7.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or 

Statement at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors 
recognised this route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they 
were made the subject of legal applications to suspend. 

 
7.3 The 1966, 1970 and 1988 applications also clearly indicate that at those times the 

route was recognised as a public footpath and subsequent planning applications 
reinforce this.  

 
7.4 The evidence of the extant Cyfarthfa Ward list dating from circa 1951 suggests that 

at this time this route was generally recognised as being a PR0W.  

Page 239



 
7.5 Although neither the Draft Map of 1979 nor that of 1991 can be regarded as a 

definitive legal document, nevertheless, this route was recognised as being a 
potential public right of way at those times. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 

Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 

Eighteen people have submitted extensive evidence of use of this route for 
recreation and leisure as a footpath; two of these people have also submitted 
evidence of equestrian use. 

 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously 
in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at 
that time there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this 

is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of 

the houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 

Page 240



the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public which has been dealt with at Item 1 
of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. Officers disregard any 
comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.5 Tenants 
 

Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 
observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns 
about health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been enjoyed 

by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and 
the ways deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate them. 

 
 Officers have presented extensive historic as well as pedestrian user evidence for 

the existence of Cyfarthfa 39 as a footpath since the 1930s to the present day.  
 

There is limited user evidence of equestrian use. 
 

Officer’s opinion is that there is insufficient evidence for a bridleway. 
 

Officers present Cyfarthfa 39, 48, 142 and 143 for determination as footpaths. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights 

now claimed viz. footpaths over the period 30th November 1982 and 30th November 
2002 and at all material times before it.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, 
the interviews with users, claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners 
and other interested parties, and having taken into account the information received 
from interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident 
that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 

Page 241



application. It is considered that a presumption of  dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route. An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 

Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 
 

This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 Taking the above into account, Orders to modify th e Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 

 
D. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 
 1) In respect of Cyfarthfa 39  Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A – K 
on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 39, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant 
Order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 

Page 242



 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 
of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
above. 
 
 2)  In respect of Cyfarthfa 48 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points H - J 
on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 39, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant 
Order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 
of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter.   

 
 3. In respect of Cyfarthfa 142 either, 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line G – F – E - D on the 
Plan, Cyfarthfa 39, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 

Page 243



 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant 
Order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 
of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter.   

 
 4. In respect of Cyfarthfa 143, either 
 

1 a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points C - 
B on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 39, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant 
Order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 
of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set out in 1, 2, 
3 and 4 above. 

Page 244



 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 
 

Page 245



Page 246

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 247



P
age 248

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 25th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 60 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 60 at its 
 junction with Cyfarthfa 35 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and 
 Cyfarthfa 36 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 order which is also 
 before you today for correction) at grid reference SO3570573 and it 
 proceeds in a general north-easterly direction along a well-defined path 
 with the Moody’s field to the north. It proceeds to Point B, grid 
 reference SO03640576 where it turns to a general south-easterly 
 direction and proceeds through an area  containing bracken to Point C, 
 a wooden stile, grid reference SO03700572. It continues in a general 
 south-easterly direction across re-vegetated coal tip to Point D, a 
 wooden stile, grid reference SO03820565. After crossing the stile the 
 route continues in a general south-easterly direction across re-
 vegetated coal tip to terminate at  Point E, grid reference SO03850564, 
 its junction with Cyfarthfa 71 (also before committee for determination 
 today).    

  
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E.  

 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-recognised route. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 249



1.3 Map 
 
 Section of the route are depicted on the 1875, 1919 and 1921 editions 
 of the OS. 
 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial 
 photographs. 

 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
 including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
 since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He now accesses 
 it from the Cwm Glo Road and uses it when he wants a short, circular 
 route. 
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or any of the paths challenged and does not 
 recognise any obstructions on the route other than the stile on the 
 Cwm Glo Road. 
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 

Page 250



 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the 
 stile leading to Cwm Glo Road and she has never been challenged 
 while using the route.  She has never asked permission of anyone to 
 use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 
 specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
 usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
 number of routes including Cyfarthfa 60.  
 
 He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
 area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
 winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
 believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
 sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 
 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 
 
 Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
 area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 
 
 He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
 far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
 Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
 area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
 additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
 didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 
 
 Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
 can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 
 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 
 
 Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
 although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
 others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 
 
 Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 

Page 251



 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
 this route is part of these. 
 
 He indicated the track from Cwmglo Road to the football field on a map 
 and said that the Council had done some work there filling in holes – 
 but said that they (the Council) then said they should not have done 
 this because they had no liability for the track.  

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 
 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 
 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 
  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 
 Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 60. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 60 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

Page 252



 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track/path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

 

Page 253



5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 
existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Four people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 60 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 

Page 254



 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E on the 
 Plan, Cyfarthfa 60 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 60 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D – E on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 60, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 

Page 255



it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 60 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 60 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 256



A

B

C

D

E

Tip

(disused)

Cwm-glo Pit

Issues
T
ra

c
k

Shaft

P
at

h 
(u

m
)

(disused)

Tip

Path (um)

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:2,012
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 60

Page 257



Page 258

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 24th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 66 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 66 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 21st March 2011, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 30th March 2011 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011. 
The 2011 report is appended at the end of this item. 
 
Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order is incorrect 
in that the route actually commences on Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2011 Order and also before committee today for 
correction) at Point A, grid reference SO03220579 bordering an old 
clay pit and proceeds through open moorland in a general south-
easterly direction to Point B, grid reference SO03240578. Here it 
changes to a general east-north-easterly direction and continues to 
Point C, grid reference SO03350582. The route then changes to a 
general easterly direction and continues along the top of a re-vegetated 
coal tip to Point D, grid reference SO03390583 where it turns to a 
general north and north-easterly direction and continues down the side 
of a re-vegetated coal tip to Point E grid reference SO03410584 where 
it turns to a east south-easterly direction and continues to Point F grid 
reference SO03450582.  Here is changes to a general north-easterly 
direction and continues to Point G, grid reference SO03460583. It 
continues in a general north-easterly direction and continues through a 
fenced and wooded area to terminate on Cyfarthfa 36 (a route subject 
to the unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for 
correction) at Point H, grid reference SO03500587. 
  

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 259



 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F – G – H. 
 

They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
and well-trodden route between Cyfarthfa 34 and 36 which walkers 
utilise as a section of a circular route. 

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 With the exception of the wooded area in the east, the route is depicted 
 on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
and as described above.  

 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 

Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 

  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He now accesses 
 it from the Cwm Glo Road and uses it when he wants a short, circular 
 route. 
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or  any of the paths challenged and does not 
 recognise any obstructions on the route other than the stile on the 
 Cwm Glo Road. 
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 

Page 260



 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the 
 stile leading to Cwm Glo Road and she has never been challenged 
 while using the route.  She has never asked permission of anyone to 
 use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 
 specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
 usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
 number of routes including Cyfarthfa 66.  
 
 He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
 area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
 winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
 believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
 sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 
 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 
 
 Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
 area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 
 
 He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
 far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
 Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
 area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
 additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
 didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 
 
 Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
 can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 
 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 
 

Page 261



 Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
 although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
 others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 
 

Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
 this route is part of these. 
 
 He indicated the track from Cwmglo Road to the football field on a map 
 and said that the Council had done some work there filling in holes – 
 but said that they (the Council) then said they should not have done 
 this because they had no liability for the track.  
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 
 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 
 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 
  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 
 Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 
 Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years 
 ago, he has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on 
 a daily basis until fencing was installed some 12 to 18 months 
 previously to close in the land in the ownership of Merthyr Village 
 Limited.  He said, 
 
 “I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of 
 recreation and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using 
 any of these routes, however, I have walked these routes less 
 frequently in the last 12-18 months following the erection of the fencing. 
 

Page 262



 I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using 
 the routes I have mentioned above”. 
 
 Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2012. 
 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 66. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 66 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 

Page 263



 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2  Six people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 66 for determination as a footpath. 
 

Page 264



 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive 
 Map and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) 
 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the 
 requirements of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public 
 Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F on 
 the Plan, Cyfarthfa 66 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 

Page 265



County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.   

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that  
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 66 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C – D – E – F – G – H on the Plan, 
Cyfarthfa 66, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 66 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 

Page 266



BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 66 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 267



Page 268

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

C

D

E

F

G
H

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,995
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

       CYFARTHFA 66

Page 269



Page 270

This page is intentionally left blank



21ST MARCH 2011 REPORT 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 17th January 2011 
Report Author Judith Jones  
Service Area Engineering, Highways & 

Transportation  
Committee Date 18th March 2011 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
Determination of application to record a Public Rig ht of 
Way, Cyfarthfa 66 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
Description of Claimed Route 
 
The route commences at grid reference SO03240578, Point A, on the plan, Cyfarthfa 
66, at the corner of a fenceline which borders an old clay pit, a point on Cyfarthfa 73 
(a route determined by RoW Committee 29th November 2010) and proceeds through 
open moorland along the southern side of the fenceline in a general east-north-
easterly direction to Point B, grid reference SO03260578. Here it changes to a 
general east-south-easterly direction to Point C, grid reference SO03270578 and 
then to a general east-north-easterly direction to Point D, grid reference 
SO03350582. The route then changes to a general south-easterly direction and 
continues along the side of a re-vegetated tip to Point E, grid reference SO03450580 
where it reverts to a general east-north-easterly direction, proceeds down the side of 
the tip into a wooded area and crosses a stile at Point F, grid reference 
SO03450583. It turns to a general north-easterly direction and continues through a 
fenced and wooded area to terminate on Cyfarthfa 36 (a route subject to the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order), Point G, grid reference SO03500588. 
 
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route as 
depicted between Points A – G. 
 
They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used and well-
trodden route between Cyfarthfa 73 and 36 which walkers utilise as a section of a 
circular route. 
 
Land Ownership 
 
The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 

Page 271



 
Maps 
 
The fenced track in the east is depicted on the 1919 edition of the OS as a track 
leading to a building / house at approximately Point F on the Plan. 
 
 Aerial Photographs 
  
With the exception of the wooded area in the east, the route is depicted on 2008 and 
2010 aerial photographs. 

 
Site Visits 
 
Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined and as 
described above.  
 
On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
User Evidence 
 
Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first married 
and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – including this path - from this 
time. He has used this route more often since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced.  He now accesses it from the Cwm Glo Road and 
uses it when he wants a short, circular route. 
 
He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never had his use of 
this or  any of the paths challenged and does not recognise any obstructions on the 
route other than the stile on the Cwm Glo Road. 
 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 
 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower Colliers 
Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and her husband 
lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she and her family have 
walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks 
as an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her husband 
moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a choice of routes from her 
house and uses it to access the network of paths which she regularly uses in the 
west Merthyr area. 
 
She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for example, to walk 
their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  Mrs 
Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 

Page 272



She does not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the stile leading to 
Cwm Glo Road and she has never been challenged while using the route.  She has 
never asked permission of anyone to use it. 
 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2010. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 
today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
66. 
 
Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the ground; they 
recognise Cyfarthfa 66 as a clearly defined and well-used footpath. 
 
Status 
 
A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT. 
 
Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; the 
investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of the route as a 
footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors as a footpath. 
 
Period of Use to be Considered 
 
The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 
53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) (long user) 
and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
  
A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 
1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under S.31 
(6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that 
the route is not to become a Public Right of Way. 
 
Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 
 
In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period looked at for 
the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 years prior to 
the date the route came into question.  In this case Officers consider that it would be 
the period between 1987 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 

Page 273



During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 
use. 
 
The Line of the Route 
 
The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
Aerial Photographs 
 
Depiction of the route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the existence of the 
route and of usage – although the available photographs are taken in the summer 
and foliage may obscure sections of the route. 
 
User Evidence 
 
Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
Two people have given evidence of use of this route as a footpath for recreation and 
leisure during the relevant period. 
 

3.0 SUMMARY 
 
Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 
 
Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the right now 
claimed. 
  
Officers present Cyfarthfa 66 for determination as a footpath. 
 
Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and aerial 
photography in support of the existence of this route as a footpath. 
 
Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is evident 
that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilitie s all the requirements of 
S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for  the route. It is considered 
that a presumption of dedication has arisen and tha t this presumption has not 
been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of int ention to dedicate by the 
landowner of any part of the route.  An Order to mo dify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981. 
 
Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i)  of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed . 
 

Page 274



Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway are 
unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 
claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all material times before it. 
 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rig ht of Way exists. 
 
Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement 
as depicted between Points A – G on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 66 and as described above. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
Officer time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  If Councillors 
determine that the Public Right of Way exists, there will be a financial implication in 
advertising the Order and also for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order is made 
and there is an objection to it. 
 
If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route will 
need to be signed. 
 
As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by the 
Committee when determining this application as the County Borough Council has a 
statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is sufficient evidence to 
support it. 

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 
are asked to confirm:- 
 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 66: 
 
Either 
 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that 
 the route marked with a bold line between Points A – B – C – D – E – F - G on 
 the plan, Cyfarthfa 66 has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
 that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
 rebutted by other evidence. 
 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 
 Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 66 as a Footpath. 
 

Page 275



 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 
 a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made within 
 the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made are 
 withdrawn. 
 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 
 not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
 Inspectorate for determination. 
 
Or 
 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
 insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
 the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has been 
 rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council 
 to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter. 
 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making o f the relevant Order as 
set out above. 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

Page 276



Page 277



Page 278

This page is intentionally left blank



                         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000                                                              www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 25th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 71 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1   Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences in an open area just to the south of the capped Robin’s 
 Pit on footpath Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order and also 
 before committee today for correction) at Point A, grid reference SO03780560 
 and proceeds across re- vegetated coal tip in a general north-easterly 
 direction to a wooden stile at Point B, grid reference SO03830563, also its 
 junction with Cyfarthfa 36 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order but also 
 before committee today for correction) and Cyfarthfa 74 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for correction). It 
 continues in a general north-easterly direction across re-vegetated coal tip to 
 Point C, grid reference SO03850564, its junction with Cyfarthfa 60 (also 
 before committee today for determination) before continuing to terminate at 
 Point D, grid reference SO03860565, its junction with  Cyfarthfa 38 (a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2010 Order). 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 
 as depicted between Points A – B – C – D.   
 
 This route formed a section of the route described by users in relation to 
 Cyfarthfa 34. Cyfarthfa 34 was reported to committee in October 2009, 
 January 2010 and November 2010 and included in the unconfirmed 2011 
 Order; these reports are appended at the end of this item.  
 
 Councillors are advised that the route of Cyfarthfa 34 was recorded incorrectly 
 and the route of Cyfarthfa 34 actually commences at Point E, grid reference 
 SO03200587 just to the south of a stile (the southern terminus of Cyfarthfa 33 
 – a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and it proceeds in a general 
 southerly direction to Point F, its northern junction with Cyfarthfa 106 (a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction). It continues in a general south-easterly to Point G, its junction with 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 279



 Cyfarthfa 66 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before 
 committee today for correction). It continues in a general south-easterly 
 direction to Point H, its junction with Cyfarthfa 73 (a route on the unconfirmed 
 2011 Order but also before committee today for correction). From here it 
 continues in a general south-easterly direction across the open Waun to Point 
 I where it crosses Cyfarthfa 66 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but 
 also before committee today for correction). It continues, turning to a general 
 southerly direction and descends the northern bank of Nant Cwm Glo, 
 crosses the Nant Cwm Glo and turns to a general easterly direction and then 
 reverting to a general south-easterly direction and continues, crossing 
 Cyfarthfa 102 (before committee today for determination) at Point J, before 
 continuing in a general south-easterly direction to Point K, where it crosses 
 Cyfarthfa 107 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before 
 committee today for correction). It then continues in a general south-easterly 
 direction to Point L, its junction with Cyfarthfa 46 (a route on the unconfirmed 
 2010 Order). It then continues in a general south-easterly direction to Point M, 
 grid reference SO03530546, its southern junction with Cyfarthfa 107 (a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction) where it turns to a general north-easterly direction and continues 
 to Point N, grid reference SO03580550, its junction with Cyfarthfa 115 (before 
 committee today for determination). Here changes to a general south-easterly 
 direction and proceeds, crossing the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos and continuing to 
 Point O, grid reference SO03580549 where it reverts to a general north-
 easterly direction and continues to Point P, its junction with Cyfarthfa 110 
 (before committee today for determination). it then continues to Point Q, grid 
 reference SO03590551, its junction with Cyfarthfa 88 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for correction) 
 where it changes to a general northerly direction and continues reverting to a 
 general north-easterly direction. It continues to Point R, its junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 83 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 but also before committee 
 today for correction) and soon thereafter turns to a general east-south-
 easterly direction and continues skirting the southern boundary of the ruins of 
 Gelli Du farm. It continues to Point S, its common junction with Cyfarthfa 35 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and Cyfarthfa 82 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order) where it changes to a general north-easterly 
 direction before proceeding to Point T, where it crosses Cyfarthfa 139 (a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction). It then continues passing Cyfarthfa 75 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for correction) at 
 Point U and then re-crossing the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos. After ascending the 
 eastern bank of the steam the route continues passing its junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 71 at Point A, grid reference SO03780560 before proceeding to 
 terminate at Point V, grid reference SO03590562, its common junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 36 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before 
 committee today for correction) and Cyfarthfa 38 (a route on the unconfirmed 
 2011 Order but also before committee today for correction). 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 
 as depicted between Points  E – F – G – H – I – J – K – L – M – N – O – P – 
 Q – R – S – T – U – A - V. 

Page 280



 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map and 
 Statement: Cyfarthfa 71 as depicted by a bold line between Points A – B – C 
 – D, Cyfarthfa 34 as depicted by a dashed line between Points E – F – G – H 
 – I – J – K – L – M – N – O – P – Q – R – S – T – U – A – V on the plan 
 Cyfarthfa 71 and as described above. 
 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 
1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 
 With the exception of the wooded area in the east, the route is depicted on 
 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 
 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined            
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.5   User Evidence 
 
 The user evidence below is that adduced in relation to the route Cyfarthfa 34. 
 The evidence given by the users for the section of the route known as 
 Cyfarthfa 71 formed part of the described route of Cyfarthfa 34. 

 
Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked Cyfarthfa 34 and the 
alternatives presented for determination today and many others, at least once 
a month for the previous 30 years.  He no longer walks these routes because 
of illness.  He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends 
in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his 
claimed routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an interesting 
walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims. 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has 
ever challenged him while using them.  His grandfather and his grandfather’s 
brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least 
half of these paths when going to work.  He has only sought or been given 
permission once – when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr 
Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or 
on bikes. 
 

Page 281



The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks 
on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 
 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1.  A schedule describing Cyfarthfa 34 and other claimed routes (not 

subject to this Report) and stating when he last walked each of the 
routes.  In this submission he stated that he has walked this – and the 
other claimed routes on a regular basis since 1977; 

 
2. A map depicting Cyfarthfa 34; 
 
3. A copy of a letter from Mr John Walters, Project Director, Merthyr 

Village Ltd., giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas and other 
(listed) Councillors of the Merthyr Naturalists Society to go on a walk 
on the Merthyr Village Site; and 

 
4. A photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early 

developers of coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 
 

In relation to Cyfarthfa 34, Mr Thomas wrote: 
 

“As is common in this area there are many stiles and it is with the stile over 
the Nant Cwm Pant Bach that I last walked this route in April 2004.  The 
Waun rough pasture is next which one walks for a fair distance then by 
turning left and heading south east for another hundred metres or so to cross 
the Nant Cwm Glo.  Still heading south east there is a hay meadow to the 
right, with some more rough pasture for several hundred metres to the bank of 
the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos where you then are above the ruins of the historic Cwm 
Glo Chapel.  Follow the stream bank downstream cross at a suitable point to 
walk down a grassed track in a north easterly direction to cross the claimed 
footpath Cwm Glo Road-Penycoedcae Cottages.  Travel still in a north 
easterly direction to cross a small bridge over the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos also 
known as the Nant Rhyd-y-car at this juncture. 
 
Travel in a north easterly direction pass the capped shaft of the Cwm Glo Pit 
to meet footpath and stile further along the route.  It is at this point that the 
claimed footpaths – Brondeg to Blaencanaid quarries and Cwm Glo Road to 
the Upper Wern all meet. 

 
Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 

 
Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of Cyfarthfa 34.  He stated that he walks 
for pleasure and uses many footpaths and has done since he came to live at 
Ynysfach when he was 21 (now 76).  Mr Jones prefers to walk this particular 
route when the children are off school and uses it to access a number of other 
claimed PRoW to go to Ynysfach; he uses it at least once a month.  He stated 
that there is a (broken) stile by the stream and “once over the stile you can 
walk and let your dogs go and lots of people do this”. 

Page 282



 
He now assumes he is trespassing on this land – but used not to think so.  He 
has only once asked permission to go there (as part of a group); he keeps to 
the line of the route but on occasion wanders off to look at different things. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  He 
commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers 
Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house 
there in 1964 and only moved because the house was too small when his 
children were born.  For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed 
routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site most days, but prior to 20 years 
ago, he used the routes for both access to work and for pleasure, and in fact 
always rode on most of them, especially as a young man with a group of 
others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more 
bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa 
Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to 
see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the 
Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 
 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the 
history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc 
and of individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles 
and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 
 
Mr Lewis confirmed Cyfarthfa 34 and stated that he has used this and the 
others presented for determination today regularly for at least 20 years.  He 
described occasions when, as a young man, he gathered horses from the 
Waun and drove them down Cyfarthfa 34 (and others) to Lower Colliers Row.  
Mr Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the church (Cwm Glo 
Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs Mr Lewis 
recorded were those of CCW. 

 

Page 283



He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until recently 
the whole area was open.  “I never even thought about whether or not we had 
a right to go there”. 
 
He continued: 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 
 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2010. 

 
Mr Paul Brown confirmed Cyfarthfa 34 on a map and that he uses this and the 
other routes in this Item to access the Waun and further walks. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has 
done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to 
walk this path (and the others) and has never sought or been given 
permission to use it.  He stated:  
 
“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route”. 
 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and 
he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more 
than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown 
stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is 
fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an additional reason was that there 
was the run-up to the election and he didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr 
Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 
 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t 
actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated: 
 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 
 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although 
some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  He usually 
spent about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes 
although always kept to the routes when clearly defined.  The routes have not 
changed during the period of his usage. 
 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

Page 284



 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the 
paths on the whole area all their lives. 

 
Mrs Connolly began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr Village Site 
more frequently after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to 
invent them, they already existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, the 
Heolgerrig area) as more-used these days than those in the south – apart 
from the Parish Road. 
 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she has only used Cyfarthfa 34 and the 
other routes since she moved to Heolgerrig (1995). She finds these the 
easiest access to Cwm Du Chapel where, she stated, annual services had 
been held until recently (October 2007). 
 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the Cwmdu and 
the Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the Castle Pit over past 
Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig using 
all the footpaths. 
Mrs Connolly has regularly used these routes, for example, to walk her dogs – 
even after being prevented from doing so when the area was fenced. 
 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the 
Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people 
would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise. 
 
Mrs Connolly confirmed that she has never sought or received permission to 
go on any of these claimed paths or had her use of the paths challenged. 
 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 
 
Mr Glanmor Williams began the interview by saying that he has known the 
area very well all his life as his grandmother lived at Cwm Glo cottages 
(where there was also a field and an orchard).  He has used the route since 
being taken there as a baby. 

 
He displayed extensive knowledge of people who used to live in the area and 
their use of it.  Mr Williams stated when he was younger he (and others) 
regularly used these routes on the Waun where they played cricket to the east 
and rugby and football to the west of the Cyfarthfa 34.  The Home Guard also 
used this route on the Waun where they exercised.  Mr Williams uses it for 
pleasure and as a short cut to different places. 
 
He said that he has used this whole area for a very long time and that the 
Coal Authority has only now fenced off the area because of danger to people 
– why then is it not dangerous for animals? 
 
Mr Williams has always believed that he has had a right to use Cyfarthfa 34 
and other routes, there has never been any objection to anyone using them 

Page 285



and he has neither sought nor been given permission to use the routes he 
describes. 
 
Mr Williams’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2007. 

 
Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927.  He was raised close to Mayor’s Square, 
Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. 

 
He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses, 
including these: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open; it covers the whole of the 

Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this 

too.  We have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”. 
 
• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village 

put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, EM says: “I have 

walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years.  It is awkward to explain 
because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on 
whatever track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of 

people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 

• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we 
all just went on the site and walked where we wanted.  We would take 
any path that took our fancy.  Nobody ever stopped us until two years 
ago when they fenced in the site.  I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been 
fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I 
wouldn’t go onto other people’s property”. 

 
Mr Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using these 
routes. 
 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of 
these tracks”. 

 
• Mr Marshall commented on the danger on the site. “There have always 

been holes there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve walked there for over 
70 years and only remember one accident.  A boy from Cae Draw was 
playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 

Page 286



Mr Philip Jones (main claimant for Cyfarthfa 33, a route included the 2010 
Order) stated that he has lived at his current address for 20 years and has 
used Cyfarthfa 34 and the other routes on the Waun regularly.  He described 
them as being extensively used. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1982 and 2007. 

 
Mr Donald and Mrs Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have lived for 40 
years at Heolgerrig and have used these and many of the routes over the 
Merthyr Village Site regularly throughout this period.  There was never any 
concern over walking anywhere on the site until recently.  Mr and Mrs Davies 
explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in the night and she in the 
morning.  They try to walk circular routes, sometimes shorter walks than 
others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked on more of the routes than her 
husband.  Mr Davies also said that he has regularly taken his grandchildren 
there and their grandson has used certain routes on a pushbike. 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site.  He has 
walked all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the 
many historical sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which 
access has now been denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 
years; until 20 years ago outdoor services were held there.  Mr Davies has 
always assumed that there have been rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) 
for hundreds of years and has gathered this information from people who 
have always lived there.  Mrs Davies agreed and also said “people before us 
had a right to use it and the old miners used it”.  Mr Davies pointed out that 
the tramways are not dangerous.  He moved to Shirley Gardens in the 1960s 
and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere. 

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on 
a map than on the ground - but they know them very well and use Cyfarthfa 
34 and the other routes on the Waun. 
 
No one has ever questioned their use of these routes and both stated that if 
there were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes. 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their 
use of these routes and continued: 
 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing.  He stated that he was coming to check fences.  He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 
 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any 
private land.  They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from 
using the paths although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was 
blocked at one time in the recent past. 

 

Page 287



Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the Merthyr 
Village Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”.  Mrs 
Davies agreed saying “we know it’s at our own risk”.  Mr Davies also stated: 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area.  There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use”. 

 
Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for 
people to use. 
 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed; these are all used by many people and they always see people on 
the routes. 

 
Mrs Davies stated: 

 
“People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 
his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 
 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his 
wife for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her 
aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They married in 1953 and lived at 
Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area 
very well (Mr Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
They have used these routes extensively both for access, for example, to 
Pencoedcae Cottages and to Gelli Du and to go for walks on the many tracks 
on the Waun.  He still uses them regularly but not as much as in previous 
years. 
 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed 
footpaths, all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks 
on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly 
defined. 
 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 
 

Page 288



Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on 
the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area 
down to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, 
but nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said 
he had walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his 
two sons walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 
 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 
 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go 
anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the 
Davies brothers’ father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry 
a gun, not to walk there. 
 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence 
of much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he 
is aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr 
Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; 
describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all 
of the paths on the site and also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  
He also gave evidence of regularly seeing horses being ridden there (on 
routes which are now claimed bridleways).  His evidence of vehicular use, 
however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and 
access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  
 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 
 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 
 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do 
others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  
 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed 
by Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the 
Council by Mr Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 

Page 289



Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 
 

Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 

Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they have regularly used these routes for walking 
their dogs for approximately 40 years.  They are no longer able to use it as 
frequently as previously because of health problems.  They stated that many 
people from several parts of Heolgerrig walk on the Waun. 

 
They have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths, including 
these, from Heolgerrig and onto the Waun in the north of the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly for this whole period. 
 
Mrs Mold stated that she understands that these paths have always been 
rights of way and has walked a dog on them for a long time; she notes that 
she always sees other people using them. Mrs Mold stated that when they 
had a dog they walked daily but she does not use the paths very often now – 
in addition she has asthma. 
 
Mr Mold said that he still walks occasionally during fine weather. 
 
They both believe that they have a right to use the path.  Mrs Mold said “we 
just used it.”  Mr Mold commented that the sign on the open area when 
leaving the lane from Heolgerrig suggests that the public use it. 
 
Mrs Mold said that no-one has ever been there to stop people using the paths 
and her husband stated “there has only been the one occasion a few years 
ago when the lane was blocked off.”  Both Mr and Mrs Mold stated that the 
route has always been clearly defined and that the route has always been the 
same. 
 
Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 
 
Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health 
prevented him from doing so.  He often used these routes as a section of one 
of several circular walks which commenced and terminated at Heolgerrig. 

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site.  
He has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used these and many 
other routes regularly since then. 
 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr Village Site 
since it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he would support the Coal 
Authority until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc into 
account was developed. 
 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 
 

Page 290



Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

Mr Gerald Foley telephoned explaining that personal circumstances 
prevented him attending for interview but subsequently submitted further 
written evidence.  He has used Cyfarthfa 34 since summer 1984 when he 
moved to the area.  He further stated that over the two and a half years prior 
to the claim date he walked the route daily and twice on weekends; prior to 
this he had used it at least once a week with his wife and family who also 
used these routes to access other paths to the south. 

 
Mr Foley gave specific evidence for Cyfarthfa 33 (a route included in the 2010 
Order) but pointed out that this evidence also relates to the routes on the 
Waun to the south as he and his family use Cyfarthfa 33 to access these 
routes – including Cyfarthfa 34. 
 
Mr Foley’s evidence covers the period between 1984 and 2007. 

 
Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and these 
routes are part of those.  He states that he walks, 
“sometimes up to Heolgerrig Road past the school.  I sometimes cut through 
to the Chapel on this walk.  These are the main ones which I use regularly – it 
varies day by day but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  
I guarantee I use the ones described at least weekly.” 
 
He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to encourage 
people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful and it 
would be a shame if people were stopped from using them.  He continued, 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people who 
still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have 
never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 
 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 
  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been led to 
believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have lived in 
Heolgerrig all their lives. 

 
Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
Mr Elwyn Rees (now deceased) stated that he had been brought up next door 
to Mrs Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there when he was 
first married in 1955.  He used all of the routes on the Merthyr Village Site 
regularly, including these, both when young and later, for family walks when 
he and his wife and children walked this route and all of the claimed routes to 
the north of it as well as the ones south to the Cwm Pits area. They lived there 
for 32 years before moving to Heolgerrig. Mrs Megan Rees also gave 
evidence of use of these routes. 

 

Page 291



He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this 
lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the 
Merthyr Village site as a playground.  He stated that he had not walked the 
area since about 2005 because of illness but prior to that had used the 
majority of the footpaths on the Merthyr Village Site for family walks regularly. 
Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all 
of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous 
shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by 
miners during the 1926 strike and as children they all got to know the 
dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths.  He also pointed out that 
the deep vents and shafts have been covered in reinforced concrete – his 
father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been involved in this (Mr Thomas used 
to own land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, 
with no thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just followed the 
footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones 
in addition to those on the map; they use so many.  They have always thought 
they had a right to walk on these paths and no one has ever challenged them, 
Mr Rees saying, 

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows everything about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 
 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 
 
Both stated that they have never asked or thought that they needed 
permission to walk there; they have always walked on the same tracks which 
have been clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no 
one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take the car as far as 

Page 292



Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems.” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area 
the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Rees added that she lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was first 
married in 1955 and used these routes regularly for family walks. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 
Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian/industrial archaeologist stated that 
he has used these routes. They are a means of access to the ruins of Cwm 
Glo Chapel.  He has used the routes since the 1970s. 

 
Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years ago, he 
has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including these - on a daily basis 
until fencing was installed some 12 to 18 months previously to close in the 
land in the ownership of Merthyr Village Limited.  He said: 

 
“I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of recreation 
and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using any of these 
routes, however, I have walked these routes less frequently in the last 12-18 
months following the erection of the fencing. 
 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using the 
routes I have mentioned above”. 
 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, 
often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price.  He gave evidence of regular 
use of these routes which he uses to access other routes to the south, often 
as a section of a circular walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often 
with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave evidence of regular use 
of these routes which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a 
section of a circular walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 
 
Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 
married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr - including this 
path - from this time. 
 

Page 293



He regularly uses this route to walk his dog, even after being prevented from 
doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses it from the north, from his 
bungalow, from Cwm Glo Road or, occasionally, from Gulley Nanni or 
sometimes from a number of different routes in the south.  He uses this route 
as a section of different circular walks.  He has never asked permission of 
anyone to use this route, has never had his use of any of the paths 
challenged and does not recognise any obstructions on the route. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 
 
A number of people have given evidence of use of these routes as a means of 
access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  Mr David Price and Dr and Mrs 
Jones have submitted photographs of two services which have been held at 
Cwm Glo Chapel and one of the lay preachers, Mr Jeff Leysion, also asked 
that his name be included as someone who has used this and many other 
claimed paths on a regular basis; he also used this route to access Cwm Glo 
Chapel when the services were held there. 

1.6 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
 Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed Cyfarthfa 34 and stated that the track goes through a hay field and 
through a field with very steep banks. 

 
 On 12th May 2007 Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 
 

“G. A673/4/167 Heolgerrig School to Cwm Glo Pit Shaft 
 
The stile at Heolgerrig School is marked up farmers access only, the alleged 
right of way appears to go through the corner of one of our fields which has no 
stile or gate in the area and is fenced.  The way goes up and down large 
bankings around the streams, these paths are animal networks for watering.  
This is also a restricted area due to mine workings as authorised by 
Countryside Council for Wales.  (See enclosed photo”). 

 
Notes taken at a meeting, 11th September 2007 read, 

 
“167. Where the brook crosses there is a 1 in 1 gradient” 

 
In response to these notes, Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“6. Claimed ROW LA Map – 101/167X – Served Map A763/4/167 

Heolgerrig School Lane to Cwm Glo Pit Shaft (Jan 2006) 
 
As noted in meeting. 

 
Additional Comments 
 

Page 294



Route differs from the served map.  The served map indicates the route goes 
through a hayfield which has always been fenced and locked.  Even on the 
deviated map there are steep inclines at various points along the route. 

 
The route has been altered within 18 months.  In addition to all my previous 
comments for striking out, I further request it be struck from consideration on 
the basis that due to the change, the claim now has no legal standing”. 
In response to the Investigation Reports Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“Cyfarthfa 34 – Heolgerrig School – between Patch and Dan Y Mynyydd Field 
– to Brook – to Benny’s – across Wash out – to Juniors 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 

2 Portion of the aerial map in part of the indicative area is not date 
authenticated. 

3 There is no footbridge across the stream, this is an unsafe rusty zinc 
sheet placed by person or persons unknown. 

4 Only two statements supporting others names blacked out therefore 
can’t be used in evidence. 

5 Only a third of this claimed ROW runs through the withdrawn Open 
Access Land”. 

 
1.7 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 

These routes are within a Site of Special Scientific Interest and run through 
land which is subject to a Tree Preservation Order. 

These routes run through Open Access Land which has been subject to a 
Restriction Order since summer 2006. 

 A short detour leads to a site of interest, the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. 

 In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village   Site, 
 March 2009 Halcrow state: 

“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent 
tracks/paths that exist on the site.  During our visit it was apparent that the site 
is still used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes.  In addition, 
a few horses and sheep were also on the site.  Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 
 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own 
conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal 
Authority, Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public 
Inquiry.  The Coal Authority decided to fence off the land.  It is known that 
members of the public cut sections of this fence in order to gain access to the 
site and use routes which are the subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the 

Page 295



owners refused to request an extension of the Order.  MTCBC therefore 
requested the removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Cyfarthfa 71 and recording Cyfarthfa 34 along its correct alignment. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 71 and Cyfarthfa 34 as clearly defined and 
well-used footpaths. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of the 
route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors as a footpath. 
 
3.0    PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to Councillors for consideration under Section 53(3)(b) 

of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely long user. 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence 
of the Public Right of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map 

under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on 
site stating that the routes are not to become a Public Right of Way. 

  
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption and the way deemed 
to have been dedicated as a highway as there is insufficient evidence that 
there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal 

period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application itself.  In this case 
officers consider that it would be the period between 11th October 1983 and 
10th October 2003; user evidence exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 

public use. 

Page 296



4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernible on the ground 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of 

the route and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in 
the summer and foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made 

by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out 
previously in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the 

claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants.  This 
was in line with data protection but officers have now been advised that from 
this stage in the procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and 
safety concerns.  Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken 
into consideration when determining this Application.  Representatives of the 
owners expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot 
be taken into consideration when determining this Application. 

 
6.3 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user 

evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed.  Councillors are also 
reminded that at this stage there was no requirement for the County Borough 
to maintain a register of PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the 
requirements of the National Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted 

that this is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and 
Statement, and subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence 
and documentation that the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, 

Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
  

Page 297



 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy 
of the houses and farms.  The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which 
allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the 
industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s.  
Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of 
right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

  
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 

assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in 
Item 1 of the Rights of way Committee Report, 5th October 2009.  Officers 
disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and 
 from witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another 
 and that this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of 
 evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under 

the relevant legislation. 
 

Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 
observations.  Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application, for example, they too have 
raised concerns about health and safety. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
Officers have presented user evidence for the existence of Cyfarthfa 71 
between points A – B – C – D on the Plan as a footpath and for Cyfarthfa 34 
between Points E – F – G – H – I – J – K L – M – N – O – P – Q – R – S – T – 
U – V as a footpath. 
 
Officers present Cyfarthfa 71 and Cyfarthfa 34 for determination as footpaths. 

 
Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 
rights now claimed, viz. over the period 11th October 1983 and 10th October 
2003 and at all material times before it. 

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, 
landowners and other interested parties, and having taken into account the 

Page 298



information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route included on the 
application.  It is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant 
evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that this highway was 
established long before modern times and therefore continues to be a 
highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of way exists. 

 

 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map and 
 Statement: Cyfarthfa 71 as depicted by a bold line between Points A – B – C 
 – D, Cyfarthfa 34 as depicted by a dashed line between Points E – F – G – H 
 – I – J – K – L – M – N – O – P – Q – R – S – T – U – A – V on the plan 
 Cyfarthfa 71 and as described above. 
 
 
8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the report. If 

Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), there will be a 
financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also for dealing with a 
Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and there is an objection to it / 
them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the 

route(s) will need to be signed. 
 

Page 299



8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 
the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.  

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 71 
 

a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support 
that the route marked with a bold line between Points A – B – C – D on 
the Plan, Cyfarthfa 71, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 71 as a footpath. 
 

c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 34 
 

a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support 
that the route marked with a bold line between Points E – F – G – H – I 
– J – K – L – M – N – O – P – Q – R – S – T – U – A – V on the Plan, 
Cyfarthfa 34, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not 
been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 71 as a footpath. 
 

c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 

Page 300



representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 

  
 Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set 
 out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 71 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 

Page 301



Page 302

This page is intentionally left blank



A
B

C
D

E

F
G

H

I

J

L
M

N
O P

Q

R S

T
U

V

K

Tip

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

 W
A
Y

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:4,447
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 71

Page 303



Page 304

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

5TH OCTOBER 2009 REPORT 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD  
A PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 34  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A claim to record a PRoW (footpath) from a stile at the southern point of Heolgerrig 
School Lane, “Gulley Nanni”, adjacent to the Nant Cwm Pant Cwm Bach, to a stile at 
the junction of Cyfarthfa 36 and Cyfarthfa 38, was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council on 10th October 2003.  This was referred to as Claim A763/4/167, 
now known as Cyfarthfa 34. 

 
In addition, an application was received by MTCBC on 31st January 2008 to record a 
number of Public Rights of Way across land at West Merthyr.  At that time, Cyfarthfa 
34 was included as sections of Cyfarthfa 14 and 20.  The northernmost section of 
Cyfarthfa 14 is dealt with at Cyfarthfa 33 in this Report and the western section of 
Cyfarthfa 20 (which has also been known as Cyfarthfa 46) is dealt with at Cyfarthfa 
46 in this Report.  The remainder of these routes are included in Cyfarthfa 34. 

 
The route, as depicted on the Plan, Appendix 3, commences at Point A, grid 
reference SO3200587, a stile adjacent to the Nant Cwm Pant Bach, at the southern 
end of a lane known as Heolgerrig School Lane or Gulley Nanni.  It proceeds in a 
general south-easterly direction along a clearly defined grass track through an area 
of rough pasture known as the Waun.  It follows the track down to and then crosses 
the Nant Cwm Glo.  The route continues towards the Nant Llwyn yr Eos, passing 
Cyfarthfa 46 at a point north of the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel, grid reference SO 
03520547.  At this point, Cyfarthfa 34 veers to a general north-easterly direction and 
continues on a gradual downhill slope, crossing the Nant Llwyn yr Eos and then 
going uphill to an open grassy area.  The route crosses Cyfarthfa 35 at grid 
reference SO 03690555 then continues on a clearly defined path through grassland 
to its termination at a stile which is the crossing point of a further two claimed 
PRoWs, Cyfarthfa 36 and 38, Point B, grid reference SO03850562. 
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Maps 
 

Only a section of this route in the area of Gelli Du is depicted on the 1875 OS map; it 
is crossed by Cyfarthfa 35. 

 
The entire route is depicted on 1919 and 1957 OS maps and is joined by all of the 
routes detailed in the description above. 

 

Page 305



 
 

The northern and south-western sections of this route are depicted on an OS map of 
1978 and these are joined by Cyfarthfa 33, 36, 38 and 46. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

This route is depicted on 1967 and 2006 aerial photographs. 
 

1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 34 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970.  It was 
depicted as sections of Footpaths A and G on the NCB Map; the northern section of 
Footpath A is dealt with in this Report at Item 2 and the western section of Footpath 
G is dealt with at Item 11. 

 
Cyfarthfa 34 was referred to within the detailed descriptions of Footpaths A and G in 
paragraphs 1 and 7 of the NCB’s Footpath Application, which state: 

 
 (Footpath A) 

 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath A’ on the Map which runs 
from a point on Heolgerrig Road about 100 yards East North East of 
Heolgerrig Junior and Infants Mixed School in a general South Easterly 
direction, for about 750 yards (crossing Nant Cwm Glo) to meet the footpath 
described in paragraph 7 below at a point (numbered 2 on the Map) about 
265 yards East North East of the ruins of Llwyn-yr-Eos being the part which 
extends from a point (numbered 1 on the Map) about 150 yards South East of 
the said School in a South Easterly direction for a distance of about 575 yards 
to the said point numbered 2 on the Map”. 

 
 (Footpath G) 
 

“A footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath G’ on the Map which runs from 
the footpaths described in paragraphs 2 and 3 above at the point numbered 5 
on the Map and extends in a general South Westerly direction for about 700 
yards to the ruins of Llwyn yr Eos”. 

 
Cyfarthfa 34 is that section of Footpath G to the north-east of a point near Cwm Glo 
Chapel. 

 
This route joins four other footpaths (Footpaths B, C, F and H). 

 
Footpaths A and G were two of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular 
Routes Application. 
 
This route was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which accompanied the 

Page 306



 
 

Application to Suspend, the southern section of Cyfarthfa 34 (part of Footpath G on 
the 1966 Map) was marked as a path. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 34 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006. 
 

1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made two site visits to this route, on the first occasion accompanied by 
Mr John Walters, a representative of Merthyr Village Ltd. who pointed out a number 
of possible hazards.  They followed a different (but well-used) route through the 
Waun and a different crossing point of the Nant Cwm Glo but followed the claimed 
line for the remainder of the route. 

 
On the second occasion, Officers followed the claimed route and found it as depicted 
in the description above. 

 
Councillors are therefore advised that there is evidence that two routes are used to 
cross the meadow in the north to access the stream.  The alternative route is one of 
those referred to at Item 1. 

 
Officers were informed in July, 2009 that the stile at the northern end of the route 
had been removed and replaced with a fence.  They are unable to inform Councillors 
of the date this occurred. 
 

B CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments 

 
No response received. 

 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 34, was issued in June 2008. 
 

1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 
 

The main claimant, Mr Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 
 

 a schedule describing the claimed route; 
6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use (two 
stating 21, one, 25, two 30 and one 40 years) and all claiming this route as a 
footpath.  Four claimants later submitted maps showing the claimed route and one 
claimant subsequently confirmed this route at interview; 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured red; 
a copy of the 1921 OS 6” – 1 mile map with the claimed route coloured red; 

Page 307



 
 

a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red; 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); and, 
WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 
 

1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 

The main claimant and 5 of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed. 

 
In addition to the documentary evidence described above, claimants gave evidence 
specific to this route. 

 
1.3b(1)Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he has 

claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years.  He no 
longer walks these routes because of illness.  He occasionally used these routes as 
a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims. 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them.  His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work.  He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 
 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  He occasionally 
goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on other paths and 
on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating when he last 

walked each of the routes.  In this submission he stated that he has walked 
this – and the other claimed routes on a regular basis since 1977; 

 
2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes; 
 
3. a copy of a letter from Mr John Walters, Project Director, Merthyr Village Ltd., 

giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas and other (listed) Councillors of 
the Merthyr Naturalists Society to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Site; 
and 

 

Page 308



 
 

4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early developers of 
coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 

 
In relation to this route, Mr Thomas wrote: 

 
“As is common in this area there are many stiles and it is with the stile over 
the Nant Cwm Pant Bach that I last walked this route in April 2004.  The 
Waun rough pasture is next which one walks for a fair distance then by 
turning left and heading south east for another hundred metres or so to cross 
the Nant Cwm Glo.  Still heading south east there is a hay meadow to the 
right, with some more rough pasture for several hundred metres to the bank of 
the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos where you then are above the ruins of the historic Cwm 
Glo Chapel.  Follow the stream bank downstream cross at a suitable point to 
walk down a grassed track in a north easterly direction to cross the claimed 
footpath Cwm Glo Road-Penycoedcae Cottages.  Travel still in a north 
easterly direction to cross a small bridge over the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos also 
known as the Nant Rhyd-y-car at this juncture. 

 
Travel in a north easterly direction pass the capped shaft of the Cwm Glo Pit 
to meet footpath and stile further along the route.  It is at this point that the 
claimed footpaths – Brondeg to Blaencanaid quarries and Cwm Glo Road to 
the Upper Wern all meet. 

 
Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of this route.  He stated that he walks for 

pleasure and uses many footpaths and has done since he came to live at Ynysfach 
when he was 21 (now 76).  Mr Jones prefers to walk this particular route when the 
children are off school and uses it to access a number of other claimed PRoW to go 
to Ynysfach; he uses it at least once a month.  He stated that there is a (broken) stile 
by the stream and “once over the stile you can walk and let your dogs go and lots of 
people do this”. 

 
He now assumes he is trespassing on this land – but used not to think so.  He has 
only once asked permission to go there (as part of a group); he keeps to the line of 
the route but on occasion wanders off to look at different things. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007 

 
1.3b(3)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born.  For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 

Page 309



 
 

young man with a group of others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates. 

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa 
Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to 
see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the 
Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and stated that 
he has used it regularly all of his life.  He described occasions when, as a young 
man, he gathered horses from the Waun and drove them down this claimed route 
(and others) to Colliers Row.  Mr Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the 
church (Cwm Glo Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs 
Mr Lewis recorded were those of CCW. 

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until recently the 
whole area was open.  “I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to 
go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 

 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this specific route to 

access the Waun and further walks. 

Page 310



 
 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has done so 
since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to walk this path 
(and the others) and has never sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route”.  

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and he also 
uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more than 
he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he 
can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it 
early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t actually 
delineate further specific paths on the map and stated: 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although some 
routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  He usually spent about 2 
hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes although always kept to 
the routes when clearly defined.  The routes have not changed during the period of 
his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(5)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives. 

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid so Mrs. Connolly regularly used this route to visit her.  She and her 
husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married. 

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr Village Site 
after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to invent them, they already 
existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as more-used 
these days than those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she has only used Cyfarthfa 34 since she moved 
to Heolgerrig (1995).  She finds this the easiest access to Cwm Du Chapel where, 
she stated, annual services had been held until recently (October 2007). 

Page 311



 
 

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the Cwmdu and the 
Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the Castle Pit over past 
Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig using all the 
footpaths. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, for example, 
to walk their dogs, dogs – even after being prevented from doing so when the area 
was fenced. 

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged. 
 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1953 and 2009. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 
 

1.3b(6)Mr Glanmor Williams began the interview by saying that he has known the area very 
well all his life as his grandmother lived at Cwm Glo cottages (where there was also 
a field and an orchard) and this lane was the regular access there.  He has used the 
route since being taken there as a baby. 

 
He displayed extensive knowledge of people who used to live in the area and their 
use of it.  Mr Williams stated when he was younger he (and others) regularly used 
this route on the Waun where they played cricket to the east and rugby and football 
to the west of the track.  The Home Guard also used this route on the Waun where 
they exercised. Mr Williams uses it for pleasure and as a short cut to different places. 

 
He said that he has used this whole area for a very long time and that the Coal 
Authority has only now fenced off the area because of danger to people – why then 
is it not dangerous for animals? 

 
Mr Williams has always believed that he has had a right to use this and other routes, 
there has never been any objection to anyone using them and he has neither sought 
nor been given permission to use the routes he describes. 

 
Mr Williams’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927. He was raised close to Mayor’s Square, 

Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. 
 

He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses, including 
this one: 

Page 312



 
 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the 

Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this 

too. We have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”.  
 
• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village 

put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, EM says “I have 

walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years. It is awkward to explain 
because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on 
whatever track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of 

people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we 

all just went on the site and walked where we wanted. We would take 
any path that took our fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years 
ago when they fenced in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been 
fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I 
wouldn’t go onto other people’s property”.  

 
• Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using 

these routes. 
 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of 
these tracks”. 

 
• Mr. Marshall commented on the danger on the site. “There have 

always been holes there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve walked there 
for over 70 years and only remember one accident. A boy from Cae 
Draw was playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
 Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr Philip Jones (main claimant for Cyfarthfa 33) stated that he has lived at his 

current address for 20 years and has used both Cyfarthfa 33 and Cyfarthfa 34 
regularly.  He described them both as being extensively used and also stated 
“elderly people in the village have always said it has been a right of way”.  

 
Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1982 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(9)Mr Donald and Mrs. Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have lived for 40 years 

at Heolgerrig and have used this and many of the routes over the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly throughout this period.  There was never any concern over walking 
anywhere on the site until recently.  Mr and Mrs Davies explained that they walk their 

Page 313



 
 

dog twice a day, he in the night and she in the morning.  They try to walk circular 
routes, sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked 
on more of the routes than her husband.  Mr Davies also said that he has regularly 
taken his grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain routes on a 
pushbike. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site.  He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there.  Mr Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there.  Mrs. Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”.  Mr Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous.  He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere. 

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a map 
than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there were 
any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes. 

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use of 
these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing.  He stated that he was coming to check fences.  He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any private 
land.  They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using the paths 
although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at one time in 
the recent past. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”.  Mrs. Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”.  Mr Davies also stated: 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area.  There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use”. 

Page 314



 
 

 
Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people to 
use. 

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed; these are all used by many people and they always see people on the 
routes.  

 
Mrs. Davies stated: 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 

his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(10)Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his wife 

for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts and 
grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before 
moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps 
referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
They have used this route extensively both for access, for example, to Pencoedcae 
Cottages and to Gelli Du and to go for walks on the many tracks on the Waun.  He 
still uses the route regularly but not as much as in previous years. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined. 

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, but 
nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said he had 
walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 

 

Page 315



 
 

The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brothers’ 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways).  His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the Council by Mr 
Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(11)Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they have regularly used this route for walking their 

dog for approximately 40 years.  They are no longer able to use it as frequently as 
previously because of health problems.  They stated that many people from several 
parts of Heolgerrig walk on the Waun. 

 
 They have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths (from Heolgerrig 

and onto the Waun) in the north of the Merthyr Village Site regularly for this whole 
period. 

 

Page 316



 
 

 Mrs Mold stated that she understands that these paths have always been rights of 
way and has walked a dog on them for a long time; she notes that she always sees 
other people using them. 

 
 Mrs Mold stated that when they had a dog they walked daily but she does not use 

the paths very often now – in addition she has asthma. 
 
 Mr Mold said that he still walks occasionally during fine weather. 
 

They both believe that they have a right to use the path.  Mrs Mold said “we just 
used it.”  Mr Mold commented that the sign on the open area when leaving the lane 
from Heolgerrig suggests that the public use it. 
 
Mrs Mold said that no-one has ever been there to stop people using the paths and 
her husband stated “there has only been the one occasion a few years ago when the 
lane was blocked off.”  Both Mr and Mrs Mold stated that the route has always been 
clearly defined and that the route has always been the same. 
 
Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 
 
Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(12)Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health 

prevented him from doing so.  He often used this route as a section of one of several 
circular walks which commenced and terminated at Heolgerrig. 

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site.  He 
has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this and many other routes 
regularly since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr Village Site since 
it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he would support the Coal Authority 
until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc into account was 
developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(13)Mr Gerald Foley telephoned explaining that personal circumstances prevented him 

attending for interview but subsequently submitted further written evidence.  He has 
used both Cyfarthfa 33 and 34 since summer 1984 when he moved to the area.  He 
further stated that over the two and a half years prior to the claim date he walked the 
route daily and twice on weekends; prior to this he had used it at least once a week 
with his wife and family who also used these routes to access other paths to the 
south. 

 
Mr Foley gave specific evidence for Cyfarthfa 33 but pointed out that this evidence 
also relates to the routes on the Waun to the south as he and his family use 
Cyfarthfa 33 to access these routes – including Cyfarthfa 34.. 

Page 317



 
 

 
Mr Foley’s evidence covers the period between 1984 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(14)Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and this route is 

part of these.  He states that he walks, 
 

“sometimes up to Heolgerrig Road past the school. I sometimes cut through to 
the Chapel on this walk.  These are the main ones which I use regularly – it 
varies day by day but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  
I guarantee I use the ones described at least weekly.” 

 
He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to encourage 
people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful and it would 
be a shame if people were stopped from using them.  He continued, 

 
“These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the ones 
described at least weekly. 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people who 
still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have 
never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 

 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 

  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been led to believe 
that they are registered rights of way by people who have lived in Heolgerrig all their 
lives. 

 
Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(15)Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig.  He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground.  He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that.  Both stated that they 
have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north 
of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths.  He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 

Page 318



 
 

Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going out 
for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren. 

 
Mr and Mrs Elwyn Rees stated that they use Gulley Nanni (Cyfarthfa 33) to access 
the Waun on Cyfarthfa 34 and further routes to the south, often as part of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many.  They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems”. 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

Page 319



 
 

 
1.3b(16)Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian/industrial archaeologist stated that he 

has used this route.  It is a means of access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  He 
has used the route since the 1970s. 

 
1.3b(17)Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years ago, he has 

used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on a daily basis until fencing 
was installed some 12 to 18 months previously to close in the land in the ownership 
of Merthyr Village Limited.  He said, 

 
“I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of recreation 
and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using any of these 
routes, however, I have walked these routes less frequently in the last 12-18 
months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using the 
routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(18)Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often 

with Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price. He gave evidence of regular use of this 
route which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a 
circular walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(19)Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often with 

Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave evidence of regular use of this route 
which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(20)A number of people have given evidence of use of this route as a means of access 

to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  Mr David Price and Dr and Mrs Jones have 
submitted photographs of two services which have been held at Cwm Glo Chapel 
and one of the lay preachers, Mr Jeff Leysion, also asked that his name be included 
as someone who has used this and many other claimed paths on a regular basis; he 
also used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel when the services were held there. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
 Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed this claimed route and stated that the track goes through a hay field and 
through a field with very steep banks. 

 
 On 12th May 2007 Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 
 

Page 320



 
 

“G. A673/4/167 Heolgerrig School to Cwm Glo Pit Shaf t 
The stile at Heolgerrig School is marked up farmers access only, the alleged 
right of way appears to go through the corner of one of our fields which has no 
stile or gate in the area and is fenced.  The way goes up and down large 
bankings around the streams these paths are animal networks for watering.  
This is also a restricted area due to mine workings as authorised by 
Countryside Council for Wales.  (See enclosed photo”). 

 
Notes taken at a meeting, 11th September 2007 read, 

 
“167. Where the brook crosses there is a 1 in 1 gradient” 

 
In response to these notes, Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“6. Claimed ROW LA Map – 101/167X – Served Map A763/ 4/167 
Heolgerrig School Lane to Cwm Glo Pit Shaft (Jan 20 06) 

  
As noted in meeting. 

 
Additional Comments 

 
Route differs from the served map.  The served map indicates the route goes 
through a hayfield which has always been fenced and locked.  Even on the 
deviated map there are steep inclines at various points along the route. 

 
The route has been altered within 18 months.  In addition to all my previous 
comments for striking out, I further request it be struck from consideration on 
the basis that due to the change, the claim now has no legal standing”. 

 
In response to the Investigation Reports Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“Cyfarthfa 34 – Heolgerrig School – between Patch and Dan Y Mynyydd Field 
– to Brook – to Benny’s – across Wash out – to Juniors 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Portion of the aerial map in part of the indicative area is not date 

authenticated. 
3. There is no footbridge across the stream, this is an unsafe rusty zinc 

sheet placed by person or persons unknown. 
4. Only two statements supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence. 
5. Only a third of this claimed ROW runs through the withdrawn Open 

Access Land”. 
 
1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 
 This route is within a Site of Special Scientific Interest and runs through land which is 

subject to a Tree Preservation Order. 
 

Page 321



 
 

 This route runs through Open Access Land which has been subject to a Restriction 
Order since summer 2006. 

 
 A short detour leads to a site of interest, the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 
 In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 

2009 Halcrow state: 
 

“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent 
tracks/paths that exist on the site.  During our visit it was apparent that the site 
is still used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes.  In addition, 
a few horses and sheep were also on the site.  Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 
 

C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
34. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT. 
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 They have considerable evidence for use of this route as a footpath. 
 
2.5 Due to the user evidence and the documentary evidence, this route is presented to 

you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
[historic]. 

Page 322



 
 

 
3.0 Period of Use of be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under S.31 

(6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that 
the route is not to become a PRoW. 

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself.  In this case Officers consider that it 
would be the period between 11th October 1983 and 10th October 2003; extensive 
user evidence exists for this period. 

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
4.0 The Line of the Route 
 

The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 

The route has been depicted on a number of cartographic sources. 
 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry.  More 
specifically, the whole of this route (in the guise of Footpath A and a section of 

Page 323



 
 

Footpath G) was subject to a request for suspension under associated applications 
in 1966 and 1970. 

 
 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route (A and G) and thirty one others to such a degree that this and they were made 
the subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
 Twenty three people have given extensive evidence of use of this route for 

recreation and leisure as a footpath, bridleway and BOAT. 
 
 In addition, it is known that a number of people have used this route to access Cwm 

Glo Chapel for services. 
 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants.  This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns.  Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application.  Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed.  Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this 

is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 

Page 324



 
 

 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms.  The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 
workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s.  Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1.  Officers 
disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations.  Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of this 
route as a BOAT, bridleway and a footpath. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence of use as a BOAT is insufficient to show usage as a BOAT. 

 
Evidence of equestrian use is also insufficient for bridleway status. 

 
Officers therefore present this route for determination as a footpath. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 

claimed, viz. over the relevant period and at all material times before it. 
 

Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and other 
interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a 
right of way does exist over this route. 

Page 325



 
 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application.  It is considered that a presumption o f dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
Your officers therefore recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement as depicted on the Plan, Appendix 3 and described above. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 
 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line on the plan on Appendix 
3 has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 

 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 

Page 326



 
 

representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter. 

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out 
in 1 above. 

 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 
 

Page 327



Page 328

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 329



Page 330

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

20TH JANUARY 2010 REPORT 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD  
A PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 34  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoW s. 
 
The legal background is to be found at Appendix 1. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A claim to record a PRoW (footpath) from a stile at the southern point of Heolgerrig 
School Lane, “Gulley Nanni”, adjacent to the Nant Cwm Pant Cwm Bach, to a stile at 
the junction of Cyfarthfa 36 and Cyfarthfa 38, was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council on 10th October 2003.  This was referred to as Claim A763/4/167, 
now known as Cyfarthfa 34. 

 
In addition, an application was received by MTCBC on 31st January 2008 to record a 
number of Public Rights of Way across land at West Merthyr.  At that time, Cyfarthfa 
34 was included as sections of Cyfarthfa 14 and 20.  The northernmost section of 
Cyfarthfa 14 is Cyfarthfa 33 and the western section of Cyfarthfa 20 (which has also 
been known as Cyfarthfa 46) is dealt with at Cyfarthfa 46 in this Report.  The 
remainder of these routes are included in Cyfarthfa 34. 

 
The route, as depicted on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 34, commences at Point A, grid 
reference SO3200587, a stile adjacent to the Nant Cwm Pant Bach, at the southern 
end of a lane known as Heolgerrig School Lane or Gulley Nanni.  It proceeds in a 
general south-easterly direction along a clearly defined grass track through an area 
of rough pasture known as the Waun.  It follows the track down to and then crosses 
the Nant Cwm Glo.  The route continues towards the Nant Llwyn yr Eos, passing 
Cyfarthfa 46 at a point north of the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel, grid reference SO 
03520547.  At this point, Cyfarthfa 34 veers to a general north-easterly direction and 
continues on a gradual downhill slope, crossing the Nant Llwyn yr Eos and then 
going uphill to an open grassy area.  The route crosses Cyfarthfa 35 at grid 
reference SO03690555 then continues on a clearly defined path through grassland 
to its termination at its common junction with Cyfarthfa 36 and 38, Point B, grid 
reference SO03850562. 
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Maps 
 

Only a section of this route in the area of Gelli Du is depicted on the 1875 OS map; it 
is crossed by Cyfarthfa 35. 

 

Page 331



 
 

The entire route is depicted on 1919 and 1957 OS maps and is joined by all of the 
routes detailed in the description above. 

 
The northern and south-western sections of this route are depicted on an OS map of 
1978 and these are joined by Cyfarthfa 33, 36, 38 and 46. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

This route is depicted on 1967 and 2006 aerial photographs. 
 

1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 34 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970.  It was 
depicted as sections of Footpaths A and G on the NCB Map; the northern section of 
Footpath A is dealt with in this Report at Item 2 and the western section of Footpath 
G is dealt with at Item 11. 

 
Cyfarthfa 34 was referred to within the detailed descriptions of Footpaths A and G in 
paragraphs 1 and 7 of the NCB’s Footpath Application, which state: 

 
 (Footpath A) 

 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath A’ on the Map which runs 
from a point on Heolgerrig Road about 100 yards East North East of 
Heolgerrig Junior and Infants Mixed School in a general South Easterly 
direction, for about 750 yards (crossing Nant Cwm Glo) to meet the footpath 
described in paragraph 7 below at a point (numbered 2 on the Map) about 
265 yards East North East of the ruins of Llwyn-yr-Eos being the part which 
extends from a point (numbered 1 on the Map) about 150 yards South East of 
the said School in a South Easterly direction for a distance of about 575 yards 
to the said point numbered 2 on the Map”. 

 
 (Footpath G) 
 

“A footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath G’ on the Map which runs from 
the footpaths described in paragraphs 2 and 3 above at the point numbered 5 
on the Map and extends in a general South Westerly direction for about 700 
yards to the ruins of Llwyn yr Eos”. 

 
Cyfarthfa 34 is that section of Footpath G to the north-east of a point near Cwm Glo 
Chapel. 

 
This route joins four other footpaths (Footpaths B, C, F and H). 

 
Footpaths A and G were two of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular 
Routes Application. 
 

Page 332



 
 

This route was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which accompanied the 
Application to Suspend, the southern section of Cyfarthfa 34 (part of Footpath G on 
the 1966 Map) was marked as a path. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 34 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006. 
 

1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made two site visits to this route, on the first occasion accompanied by 
Mr John Walters, a representative of Merthyr Village Ltd. who pointed out a number 
of possible hazards.  They followed a different (but well-used) route through the 
Waun and a different crossing point of the Nant Cwm Glo but followed the claimed 
line for the remainder of the route. 

 
On the second occasion, Officers followed the claimed route and found it as depicted 
in the description above. 

 
Councillors are therefore advised that there is evidence that two routes are used to 
cross the meadow in the north to access the stream.  The alternative route is one of 
those referred to at Item 1. 

 
Officers were informed in July, 2009 that the stile at the northern end of the route 
had been removed and replaced with a fence.  They are unable to inform Councillors 
of the date this occurred. 
 

B CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments 

 
No response received. 

 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 34, was issued in June 2008. 
 

1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 
 

The main claimant, Mr Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 
 

 a schedule describing the claimed route; 
6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use (two 
stating 21, one, 25, two 30 and one 40 years) and all claiming this route as a 
footpath.  Four claimants later submitted maps showing the claimed route and one 
claimant subsequently confirmed this route at interview; 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured red; 

Page 333



 
 

a copy of the 1921 OS 6” – 1 mile map with the claimed route coloured red; 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red; 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); and, 
WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 
 

1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 

The main claimant and 5 of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed. 

 
In addition to the documentary evidence described above, claimants gave evidence 
specific to this route. 

 
1.3b(1)Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he has 

claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years.  He no 
longer walks these routes because of illness.  He occasionally used these routes as 
a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims. 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them.  His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work.  He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 
 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  He occasionally 
goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on other paths and 
on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating when he last 

walked each of the routes.  In this submission he stated that he has walked 
this – and the other claimed routes on a regular basis since 1977; 

 
2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes; 
 
3. a copy of a letter from Mr John Walters, Project Director, Merthyr Village Ltd., 

giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas and other (listed) Councillors of 
the Merthyr Naturalists Society to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Site; 
and 

 

Page 334



 
 

4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early developers of 
coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 

 
In relation to this route, Mr Thomas wrote: 

 
“As is common in this area there are many stiles and it is with the stile over 
the Nant Cwm Pant Bach that I last walked this route in April 2004.  The 
Waun rough pasture is next which one walks for a fair distance then by 
turning left and heading south east for another hundred metres or so to cross 
the Nant Cwm Glo.  Still heading south east there is a hay meadow to the 
right, with some more rough pasture for several hundred metres to the bank of 
the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos where you then are above the ruins of the historic Cwm 
Glo Chapel.  Follow the stream bank downstream cross at a suitable point to 
walk down a grassed track in a north easterly direction to cross the claimed 
footpath Cwm Glo Road-Penycoedcae Cottages.  Travel still in a north 
easterly direction to cross a small bridge over the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos also 
known as the Nant Rhyd-y-car at this juncture. 

 
Travel in a north easterly direction pass the capped shaft of the Cwm Glo Pit 
to meet footpath and stile further along the route.  It is at this point that the 
claimed footpaths – Brondeg to Blaencanaid quarries and Cwm Glo Road to 
the Upper Wern all meet. 

 
Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of this route.  He stated that he walks for 

pleasure and uses many footpaths and has done since he came to live at Ynysfach 
when he was 21 (now 76).  Mr Jones prefers to walk this particular route when the 
children are off school and uses it to access a number of other claimed PRoW to go 
to Ynysfach; he uses it at least once a month.  He stated that there is a (broken) stile 
by the stream and “once over the stile you can walk and let your dogs go and lots of 
people do this”. 

 
He now assumes he is trespassing on this land – but used not to think so.  He has 
only once asked permission to go there (as part of a group); he keeps to the line of 
the route but on occasion wanders off to look at different things. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007 

 
1.3b(3)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born.  For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 

Page 335



 
 

young man with a group of others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates. 

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa 
Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to 
see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the 
Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and stated that 
he has used it regularly all of his life.  He described occasions when, as a young 
man, he gathered horses from the Waun and drove them down this claimed route 
(and others) to Colliers Row.  Mr Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the 
church (Cwm Glo Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs 
Mr Lewis recorded were those of CCW. 

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until recently the 
whole area was open.  “I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to 
go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 

 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this specific route to 

access the Waun and further walks. 

Page 336



 
 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has done so 
since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to walk this path 
(and the others) and has never sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route”.  

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and he also 
uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more than 
he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he 
can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it 
early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t actually 
delineate further specific paths on the map and stated: 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although some 
routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  He usually spent about 2 
hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes although always kept to 
the routes when clearly defined.  The routes have not changed during the period of 
his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(5)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives. 

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid so Mrs. Connolly regularly used this route to visit her.  She and her 
husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married. 

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr Village Site 
after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to invent them, they already 
existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as more-used 
these days than those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she has only used Cyfarthfa 34 since she moved 
to Heolgerrig (1995).  She finds this the easiest access to Cwm Du Chapel where, 
she stated, annual services had been held until recently (October 2007). 

Page 337



 
 

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the Cwmdu and the 
Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the Castle Pit over past 
Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig using all the 
footpaths. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, for example, 
to walk their dogs, dogs – even after being prevented from doing so when the area 
was fenced. 

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged. 
 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1953 and 2009. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 
 

1.3b(6)Mr Glanmor Williams began the interview by saying that he has known the area very 
well all his life as his grandmother lived at Cwm Glo cottages (where there was also 
a field and an orchard) and this lane was the regular access there.  He has used the 
route since being taken there as a baby. 

 
He displayed extensive knowledge of people who used to live in the area and their 
use of it.  Mr Williams stated when he was younger he (and others) regularly used 
this route on the Waun where they played cricket to the east and rugby and football 
to the west of the track.  The Home Guard also used this route on the Waun where 
they exercised. Mr Williams uses it for pleasure and as a short cut to different places. 

 
He said that he has used this whole area for a very long time and that the Coal 
Authority has only now fenced off the area because of danger to people – why then 
is it not dangerous for animals? 

 
Mr Williams has always believed that he has had a right to use this and other routes, 
there has never been any objection to anyone using them and he has neither sought 
nor been given permission to use the routes he describes. 

 
Mr Williams’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927. He was raised close to Mayor’s Square, 

Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. 
 

He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses, including 
this one: 

Page 338



 
 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the 

Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this 

too. We have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”.  
 
• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village 

put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, EM says “I have 

walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years. It is awkward to explain 
because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on 
whatever track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of 

people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we 

all just went on the site and walked where we wanted. We would take 
any path that took our fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years 
ago when they fenced in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been 
fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I 
wouldn’t go onto other people’s property”.  

 
• Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using 

these routes. 
 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of 
these tracks”. 

 
• Mr. Marshall commented on the danger on the site. “There have 

always been holes there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve walked there 
for over 70 years and only remember one accident. A boy from Cae 
Draw was playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
 Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr Philip Jones (main claimant for Cyfarthfa 33) stated that he has lived at his 

current address for 20 years and has used both Cyfarthfa 33 and Cyfarthfa 34 
regularly.  He described them both as being extensively used and also stated 
“elderly people in the village have always said it has been a right of way”.  

 
Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1982 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(9)Mr Donald and Mrs. Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have lived for 40 years 

at Heolgerrig and have used this and many of the routes over the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly throughout this period.  There was never any concern over walking 
anywhere on the site until recently.  Mr and Mrs Davies explained that they walk their 

Page 339



 
 

dog twice a day, he in the night and she in the morning.  They try to walk circular 
routes, sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked 
on more of the routes than her husband.  Mr Davies also said that he has regularly 
taken his grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain routes on a 
pushbike. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site.  He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there.  Mr Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there.  Mrs. Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”.  Mr Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous.  He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere. 

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a map 
than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there were 
any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes. 

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use of 
these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing.  He stated that he was coming to check fences.  He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any private 
land.  They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using the paths 
although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at one time in 
the recent past. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”.  Mrs. Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”.  Mr Davies also stated: 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area.  There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use”. 

Page 340



 
 

 
Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people to 
use. 

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed; these are all used by many people and they always see people on the 
routes.  

 
Mrs. Davies stated: 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 

his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(10)Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his wife 

for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts and 
grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before 
moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps 
referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
They have used this route extensively both for access, for example, to Pencoedcae 
Cottages and to Gelli Du and to go for walks on the many tracks on the Waun.  He 
still uses the route regularly but not as much as in previous years. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined. 

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, but 
nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said he had 
walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 

 

Page 341



 
 

The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brothers’ 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways).  His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the Council by Mr 
Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(11)Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they have regularly used this route for walking their 

dog for approximately 40 years.  They are no longer able to use it as frequently as 
previously because of health problems.  They stated that many people from several 
parts of Heolgerrig walk on the Waun. 

 
 They have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths (from Heolgerrig 

and onto the Waun) in the north of the Merthyr Village Site regularly for this whole 
period. 

 

Page 342



 
 

 Mrs Mold stated that she understands that these paths have always been rights of 
way and has walked a dog on them for a long time; she notes that she always sees 
other people using them. 

 
 Mrs Mold stated that when they had a dog they walked daily but she does not use 

the paths very often now – in addition she has asthma. 
 
 Mr Mold said that he still walks occasionally during fine weather. 
 

They both believe that they have a right to use the path.  Mrs Mold said “we just 
used it.”  Mr Mold commented that the sign on the open area when leaving the lane 
from Heolgerrig suggests that the public use it. 
 
Mrs Mold said that no-one has ever been there to stop people using the paths and 
her husband stated “there has only been the one occasion a few years ago when the 
lane was blocked off.”  Both Mr and Mrs Mold stated that the route has always been 
clearly defined and that the route has always been the same. 
 
Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 
 
Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(12)Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health 

prevented him from doing so.  He often used this route as a section of one of several 
circular walks which commenced and terminated at Heolgerrig. 

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site.  He 
has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this and many other routes 
regularly since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr Village Site since 
it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he would support the Coal Authority 
until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc into account was 
developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(13)Mr Gerald Foley telephoned explaining that personal circumstances prevented him 

attending for interview but subsequently submitted further written evidence.  He has 
used both Cyfarthfa 33 and 34 since summer 1984 when he moved to the area.  He 
further stated that over the two and a half years prior to the claim date he walked the 
route daily and twice on weekends; prior to this he had used it at least once a week 
with his wife and family who also used these routes to access other paths to the 
south. 

 
Mr Foley gave specific evidence for Cyfarthfa 33 but pointed out that this evidence 
also relates to the routes on the Waun to the south as he and his family use 
Cyfarthfa 33 to access these routes – including Cyfarthfa 34.. 

Page 343



 
 

 
Mr Foley’s evidence covers the period between 1984 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(14)Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and this route is 

part of these.  He states that he walks, 
 

“sometimes up to Heolgerrig Road past the school. I sometimes cut through to 
the Chapel on this walk.  These are the main ones which I use regularly – it 
varies day by day but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  
I guarantee I use the ones described at least weekly.” 

 
He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to encourage 
people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful and it would 
be a shame if people were stopped from using them.  He continued, 

 
“These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the ones 
described at least weekly. 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people who 
still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have 
never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 

 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 

  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been led to believe 
that they are registered rights of way by people who have lived in Heolgerrig all their 
lives. 

 
Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(15)Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig.  He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground.  He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that.  Both stated that they 
have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north 
of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths.  He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 

Page 344



 
 

Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going out 
for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren. 

 
Mr and Mrs Elwyn Rees stated that they use Gulley Nanni (Cyfarthfa 33) to access 
the Waun on Cyfarthfa 34 and further routes to the south, often as part of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many.  They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems”. 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

Page 345



 
 

 
1.3b(16)Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian/industrial archaeologist stated that he 

has used this route.  It is a means of access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  He 
has used the route since the 1970s. 

 
1.3b(17)Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years ago, he has 

used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on a daily basis until fencing 
was installed some 12 to 18 months previously to close in the land in the ownership 
of Merthyr Village Limited.  He said, 

 
“I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of recreation 
and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using any of these 
routes, however, I have walked these routes less frequently in the last 12-18 
months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using the 
routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(18)Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often 

with Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price. He gave evidence of regular use of this 
route which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a 
circular walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(19)Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often with 

Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave evidence of regular use of this route 
which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(20)A number of people have given evidence of use of this route as a means of access 

to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  Mr David Price and Dr and Mrs Jones have 
submitted photographs of two services which have been held at Cwm Glo Chapel 
and one of the lay preachers, Mr Jeff Leysion, also asked that his name be included 
as someone who has used this and many other claimed paths on a regular basis; he 
also used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel when the services were held there. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
 Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed this claimed route and stated that the track goes through a hay field and 
through a field with very steep banks. 

 
 On 12th May 2007 Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 
 

Page 346



 
 

“G. A673/4/167 Heolgerrig School to Cwm Glo Pit Shaf t 
The stile at Heolgerrig School is marked up farmers access only, the alleged 
right of way appears to go through the corner of one of our fields which has no 
stile or gate in the area and is fenced.  The way goes up and down large 
bankings around the streams these paths are animal networks for watering.  
This is also a restricted area due to mine workings as authorised by 
Countryside Council for Wales.  (See enclosed photo”). 

 
Notes taken at a meeting, 11th September 2007 read, 

 
“167. Where the brook crosses there is a 1 in 1 gradient” 

 
In response to these notes, Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“6. Claimed ROW LA Map – 101/167X – Served Map A763/ 4/167 
Heolgerrig School Lane to Cwm Glo Pit Shaft (Jan 20 06) 

  
As noted in meeting. 

 
Additional Comments 

 
Route differs from the served map.  The served map indicates the route goes 
through a hayfield which has always been fenced and locked.  Even on the 
deviated map there are steep inclines at various points along the route. 

 
The route has been altered within 18 months.  In addition to all my previous 
comments for striking out, I further request it be struck from consideration on 
the basis that due to the change, the claim now has no legal standing”. 

 
In response to the Investigation Reports Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“Cyfarthfa 34 – Heolgerrig School – between Patch and Dan Y Mynyydd Field 
– to Brook – to Benny’s – across Wash out – to Juniors 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Portion of the aerial map in part of the indicative area is not date 

authenticated. 
3. There is no footbridge across the stream, this is an unsafe rusty zinc 

sheet placed by person or persons unknown. 
4. Only two statements supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence. 
5. Only a third of this claimed ROW runs through the withdrawn Open 

Access Land”. 
 
1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 
 This route is within a Site of Special Scientific Interest and runs through land which is 

subject to a Tree Preservation Order. 
 

Page 347



 
 

 This route runs through Open Access Land which has been subject to a Restriction 
Order since summer 2006. 

 
 A short detour leads to a site of interest, the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 
 In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 

2009 Halcrow state: 
 

“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent 
tracks/paths that exist on the site.  During our visit it was apparent that the site 
is still used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes.  In addition, 
a few horses and sheep were also on the site.  Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 
 

C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
34. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT. 
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 They have considerable evidence for use of this route as a footpath. 
 
2.5 Due to the user evidence and the documentary evidence, this route is presented to 

you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
[historic]. 

Page 348



 
 

 
3.0 Period of Use of be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under S.31 

(6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that 
the route is not to become a PRoW. 

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself.  In this case Officers consider that it 
would be the period between 11th October 1983 and 10th October 2003; extensive 
user evidence exists for this period. 

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
4.0 The Line of the Route 
 

The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 

The route has been depicted on a number of cartographic sources. 
 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry.  More 
specifically, the whole of this route (in the guise of Footpath A and a section of 

Page 349



 
 

Footpath G) was subject to a request for suspension under associated applications 
in 1966 and 1970. 

 
 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route (A and G) and thirty one others to such a degree that this and they were made 
the subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
 Twenty three people have given extensive evidence of use of this route for 

recreation and leisure as a footpath, bridleway and BOAT. 
 
 In addition, it is known that a number of people have used this route to access Cwm 

Glo Chapel for services. 
 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants.  This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns.  Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application.  Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed.  Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this 

is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 

Page 350



 
 

 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms.  The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 
workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s.  Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1 of the Rights 
of way Committee Report, 5th October 2009.  Officers disregard any comments 
which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations.  Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of this 
route as a BOAT, bridleway and a footpath. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence of use as a BOAT is insufficient to show usage as a BOAT. 

 
Evidence of equestrian use is also insufficient for bridleway status. 

 
Officers therefore present this route for determination as a footpath. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 

claimed, viz. over the relevant period and at all material times before it. 
 

Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and other 
interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 

Page 351



 
 

interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a 
right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application.  It is considered that a presumption o f dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
Your officers therefore recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement as depicted on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 34, and described above. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 
 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34, 
has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 

Page 352



 
 

 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter. 

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out 
in 1 above. 

 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 
 

Page 353



Page 354

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 355



P
age 356

T
his page is intentionally left blank



29TH NOVEMBER 2010 REPORT 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 5th November 2010 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Rights of Way Section 
Committee Date 29th November 2010 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Determination of Application to Record a Public Rig ht of 
Way, Cyfarthfa 34 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 

 
The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 34 was included in the 2010 Order, 
relevant sections of which are appended to this item.  Cyfarthfa 34 had 
previously been referred to Committee in October and November 2009; 
relevant sections of these reports are also appended at the end of this item. 
 
Subsequent discussion with Mr Malcolm Connolly (main claimant) and other 
users, as well as investigation by officers, has shown that the currently 
recorded route in the 2010 Order is neither that claimed by Mr Connolly nor 
that as supported by the historical evidence and therefore needs to be 
amended. The correct line of Cyfarthfa 34 is as depicted by a bold line 
between Points A – B – C on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34, Plan A; the dashed line 
between A - B on the plan is the incorrect alignment as recorded in the 2010 
Order. The alignment between Points B – C was recorded correctly. 

 
The route which is before committee today is as depicted by a bold line on the 
plan, Cyfarthfa 34, Plan B. It commences at Point A, grid reference 
SO3200587, a stile adjacent to the Nant Cwm Pant Bach, at the southern end 
of a lane known as Heolgerrig School Lane or Gulley Nanni and proceeds in a 
general south-easterly direction along a clearly defined grass track through an 
area of rough pasture known as the Waun to Point B on the plan, grid 
reference SO03210582, and continues in a general south-south-easterly 
direction to Point C, grid reference SO03290569 where it enters the wooded 
valley of the Nant Cwm Glo.  Here it turns to a general south-westerly direction 
to Point D, grid reference SO03280567 where it crosses the Nant Cwm Glo 
and then turns to a general south-easterly direction up the southern bank of 
the stream to Point E, grid reference SO03330568. The route continues 

 

Page 357



towards the Nant Llwyn yr Eos, passing Cyfarthfa 46 (a route which was 
included in the 2010 Order) at a point north of the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel, 
Point P on the plan and then continuing to Point F where it changes to a 
general north-easterly direction.  It continues on a gradual downhill slope, 
crossing the Nant Llwyn yr Eos and then going uphill to an open grassy area.  
The route crosses Cyfarthfa 35 (a route which was included in the 2010 Order) 
at Point H, grid reference SO03690555 then continues on a clearly defined 
path through grassland to its termination at its common junction with Cyfarthfa 
36 and 38 (routes which were included in the 2010 Order), at Point I, grid 
reference SO03850562. 

 
Councillors are also requested to note that between Points A – P, there is 
evidence that there are a number of currently walked alternatives to Cyfarthfa 
34 and there is a further alternative between Points B - S.  
 
Councillors are therefore requested to determine a further four routes which 
are alternative routes on the ground to this western section of Cyfarthfa 34.  
Routes  between Points B – J – K (known as Cyfarthfa 106), between Points B 
– L – K – Q – R – S (known as Cyfarthfa 73), between Points L – M – N – O – 
P, known as Cyfarthfa 107 and between Points R – O (known as Cyfarthfa 
108) are now used and are presented for determination today. 
 
Mr Connolly’s walked route deviates from the line of Cyfarthfa 34 in the north 
and is presented to Councillors for determination today.  The route, as 
depicted by him on an Ordnance Survey map, demonstrates a different line to 
that for which he submitted other evidence.  Investigations by officers 
demonstrate that this route is well-defined and well-used. The route, as 
depicted by a dashed line between Points B – J – K on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34 
Plan B. It commences on Cyfarthfa 34 at its junction with Cyfarthfa 73 (also 
before Councillors for determination today), at Point B on the plan, grid 
reference SO03210582, and continues through the Waun in a general 
southerly direction to Point J, grid reference SO03320569 where it turns to a 
general east-north-easterly direction, crossing Cyfarthfa 34 and Cyfarthfa 107 
to terminate on Cyfarthfa 73 at Point K, grid reference SO03340573.  This 
route is Cyfarthfa 106. 

 
Councillors are also requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
depicted with a dotted line on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34, Plan B.  This route 
commences on Cyfarthfa 34, at Point B, grid reference SO03210582, at the 
common junction with Cyfarthfa 106 (also before Councillors for determination 
today) adjacent to an old clay pit on the left and proceeds through the Waun 
on a very gradual down-hill gradient on a well-defined and well-used earth 
track in a general south-easterly direction, meeting Cyfarthfa 107 at Point L 
and Cyfarthfa 106 at Point K (routes which are also before Councillors for 
determination today) and continuing to Point Q, grid reference SO03390572.  
Here it enters the wooded valley of the Nant Cwm Glo, turns to a general 
south-south-easterly direction, crossing the Nant Cwm Glo and continuing to 
Point R, grid reference SO03410567, its junction with Cyfarthfa 108 (also 
before Councillors for determination today).  The route then reverts to a 
general south-easterly direction, initially passing bracken and shrubs on the 

Page 358



left and then going more steeply downhill through bracken and bramble to an 
open grassed area where it terminates on footpath Cyfarthfa 35 (a route which 
was included in the 2010 Order), at Point S, grid reference SO03620561.  This 
route is Cyfarthfa 73. Councillors are advised that this route is one of those 
referred to at Item 1 in the October 2009 Report as appended at the end of 
this item. 

 
Councillors are also requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
depicted by a dotted and dashed line on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34 Plan B.  The 
route commences on Cyfarthfa 73, at Point L, grid reference SO03310573 and 
proceeds in a general south-easterly direction, crossing Cyfarthfa 106 (also 
before Councillors for determination today) and continuing to Point M, grid 
reference SO03350571 where it enters the wooded valley of the Nant Cwm 
Glo.  Here it turns to a general south-westerly direction and crosses the 
stream at Point N, grid reference SO03340569 where it changes to a general 
south-south-easterly direction and continues through open grassland to Point 
O, its junction with the southern terminus of Cyfarthfa 108 (also before 
Councillors for determination today) and then continues to its termination on 
Cyfarthfa 34 at Point P, grid reference SO03520547.  This route is Cyfarthfa 
107. 

 
Councillors are further requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
depicted by crosses on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34, Plan B. The route commences 
on Cyfarthfa 73, at Point R, grid reference 03410567, immediately south of the 
Nant Cwm Glo valley and continues through open grassland to terminate on 
Cyfarthfa 107 (also before Councillors for determination today) at Point O, grid 
reference SO03440555.  This route is Cyfarthfa 108. 

 
Any further reference to plans in this Item refers to Cyfarthfa 34, Plan B. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

Only a section of Cyfarthfa 34 in the area of Gelli Du is depicted on the 1875 
OS map. 

 
The entire route, Cyfarthfa 34, is depicted on 1919 and 1957 OS maps. 

 
The northern and south-western sections of Cyfarthfa 34 are depicted on an 
OS map of 1978. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 Cyfarthfa 34 between Points A – B as well as routes, Cyfarthfa 73, 106, 106 

and 108 are depicted on a 2008 aerial photograph. 
 

Page 359



Cyfarthfa 34 between Points A – B as well as routes, Cyfarthfa 73, 106, 106 
and 108 are depicted on a 2010 aerial photograph.  Sections of the line of 
Cyfarthfa 34 between Points B – P are less clearly depicted. 
 

1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 

Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 34 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied 
the Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 
1970.  It was depicted as sections of Footpaths A and G on the NCB Map; the 
northern section of Footpath A is dealt with in this Report at Item 2 and the 
western section of Footpath G is dealt with at Item 11. 

 
Cyfarthfa 34 was referred to within the detailed descriptions of Footpaths A 
and G in paragraphs 1 and 7 of the NCB’s Footpath Application, which state: 

 
 (Footpath A) 
 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath A’ on the Map which runs 
from a point on Heolgerrig Road about 100 yards East North East of 
Heolgerrig Junior and Infants Mixed School in a general South Easterly 
direction, for about 750 yards (crossing Nant Cwm Glo) to meet the footpath 
described in paragraph 7 below at a point (numbered 2 on the Map) about 265 
yards East North East of the ruins of Llwyn-yr-Eos being the part which 
extends from a point (numbered 1 on the Map) about 150 yards South East of 
the said School in a South Easterly direction for a distance of about 575 yards 
to the said point numbered 2 on the Map”. 
 
(Footpath G) 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath G’ on the Map which runs from 
the footpaths described in paragraphs 2 and 3 above at the point numbered 5 
on the Map and extends in a general South Westerly direction for about 700 
yards to the ruins of Llwyn yr Eos”. 

 
Cyfarthfa 34 is that section of Footpath G to the north-east of a point near 
Cwm Glo Chapel. 

 
Cyfarthfa 34 joins four other footpaths (Footpaths B, C, F and H). 

 
Footpaths A and G were two of the twenty nine footpaths described in the 
Vehicular Routes Application. 
 
Cyfarthfa 34 was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National 
Coal Board Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which 
accompanied the Application to Suspend, the southern section of Cyfarthfa 34 
(part of Footpath G on the 1966 Map) was marked as a path. 

 

Page 360



Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 34 is one of the routes the Inspector 
referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two 
Merthyr Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 
2006. 
 

1.6 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made three site visits to this route. 
 
 On the last occasion (November 2010) they noted that the route of Cyfarthfa 

34 between B – C – D – E – P is no longer apparent on the ground and it is 
clear that the other routes presented for determination today have superseded 
it. 

   
 On the second and third occasions, the lines of Cyfarthfa 73, 106, 107 and 

108 were well-defined and showed evidence of use. 
 
On the first site visit, officers were led by Mr John Walters, representative of 
Merthyr Village Ltd. who took them between Points A – B and then along the 
route of Cyfarthfa 73 to join Cyfarthfa 35 at Point S.  He described this as the 
route which people walked – although at that time, the route southward, along 
Cyfarthfa 34 was visible, certainly in the north. 

 
 The routes of Cyfarthfa 73, 106, 107, 108 are clearly defined and as described 

above. Cyfarthfa 34 is clearly defined between Points A – B and P – H. 
 
 On each occasion people were observed walking one of the above routes. 
 

2.0 CONSULTATION 
 
2.1 MTCBC Internal Departments 

 
No response received. 

 
2.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into the route, Cyfarthfa 34, was issued in June 2008. 
 

2.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
2.4 The Claim 
 

The main claimant, Mr Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 
 

 A schedule describing the claimed route; 
6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use 
(two stating 21, one, 25, two 30 and one 40 years) and all claiming this route 
as a footpath.  Four claimants later submitted maps showing the claimed route 
and one claimant subsequently confirmed this route at interview; 

Page 361



A copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured red; 
the map was at a scale to 1:10,000 and the western section of the claimed 
route was depicted in a different alignment to that now put before committee. 
A copy of the 1921 OS 6” – 1 mile map with the claimed route coloured red; 
A copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red; the map showed a different alignment to that on 
the OS 1:10,000. 
Correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); 
and, WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the 
owner/occupier). 
 

2.5 Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 

The main claimant and 5 of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed. 

 
In addition to the documentary evidence described above, claimants gave 
evidence specific to this route. 

 
2.6 User Evidence 
 

Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked Cyfarthfa 34 and the 
alternatives presented for determination today and many others, at least once 
a month for the previous 30 years.  He no longer walks these routes because 
of illness.  He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends in 
Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his 
claimed routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an interesting 
walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims. 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has 
ever challenged him while using them.  His grandfather and his grandfather’s 
brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least 
half of these paths when going to work.  He has only sought or been given 
permission once – when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr 
Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or 
on bikes. 
 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks 
on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 
 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1. A schedule describing Cyfarthfa 34 and other claimed routes (not 

subject to this Report) and stating when he last walked each of the 

Page 362



routes.  In this submission he stated that he has walked this – and the 
other claimed routes on a regular basis since 1977; 

 
2. A map depicting Cyfarthfa 34; 
 
3. A copy of a letter from Mr John Walters, Project Director, Merthyr 

Village Ltd., giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas and other 
(listed) Councillors of the Merthyr Naturalists Society to go on a walk on 
the Merthyr Village Site; and 

 
4. A photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early 

developers of coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 
 

In relation to Cyfarthfa 34, Mr Thomas wrote: 
 

“As is common in this area there are many stiles and it is with the stile over the 
Nant Cwm Pant Bach that I last walked this route in April 2004.  The Waun 
rough pasture is next which one walks for a fair distance then by turning left 
and heading south east for another hundred metres or so to cross the Nant 
Cwm Glo.  Still heading south east there is a hay meadow to the right, with 
some more rough pasture for several hundred metres to the bank of the Nant 
Llwyn-yr-Eos where you then are above the ruins of the historic Cwm Glo 
Chapel.  Follow the stream bank downstream cross at a suitable point to walk 
down a grassed track in a north easterly direction to cross the claimed 
footpath Cwm Glo Road-Penycoedcae Cottages.  Travel still in a north 
easterly direction to cross a small bridge over the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos also 
known as the Nant Rhyd-y-car at this juncture. 
 
Travel in a north easterly direction pass the capped shaft of the Cwm Glo Pit 
to meet footpath and stile further along the route.  It is at this point that the 
claimed footpaths – Brondeg to Blaencanaid quarries and Cwm Glo Road to 
the Upper Wern all meet. 

 
Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 

 
Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of Cyfarthfa 34.  He stated that he walks 
for pleasure and uses many footpaths and has done since he came to live at 
Ynysfach when he was 21 (now 76).  Mr Jones prefers to walk this particular 
route when the children are off school and uses it to access a number of other 
claimed PRoW to go to Ynysfach; he uses it at least once a month.  He stated 
that there is a (broken) stile by the stream and “once over the stile you can 
walk and let your dogs go and lots of people do this”. 

 
He now assumes he is trespassing on this land – but used not to think so.  He 
has only once asked permission to go there (as part of a group); he keeps to 
the line of the route but on occasion wanders off to look at different things. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007. 

 

Page 363



Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  He 
commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers 
Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house 
there in 1964 and only moved because the house was too small when his 
children were born.  For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed 
routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site most days, but prior to 20 years 
ago, he used the routes for both access to work and for pleasure, and in fact 
always rode on most of them, especially as a young man with a group of 
others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more 
bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa 
Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to 
see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the 
Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 
 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the 
history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc 
and of individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles 
and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 
 
Mr Lewis confirmed Cyfarthfa 34 and stated that he has used this and the 
others presented for determination today regularly for at least 20 years.  He 
described occasions when, as a young man, he gathered horses from the 
Waun and drove them down Cyfarthfa 34 (and others) to Lower Colliers Row.  
Mr Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the church (Cwm Glo 
Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs Mr Lewis 
recorded were those of CCW. 

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until recently 
the whole area was open.  “I never even thought about whether or not we had 
a right to go there”. 
 
He continued: 
 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 
 

Page 364



No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 
 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2010. 

 
Mr Paul Brown confirmed Cyfarthfa 34 on a map and that he uses this and the 
other routes in this Item to access the Waun and further walks. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has 
done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to 
walk this path (and the others) and has never sought or been given permission 
to use it.  He stated:  
 
“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route”. 
 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and 
he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more 
than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown 
stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  
He stopped using it early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the 
run-up to the election and he didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is 
a MTCBC Councillor). 
 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t 
actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated: 
 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 
 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although 
some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  He usually 
spent about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes 
although always kept to the routes when clearly defined.  The routes have not 
changed during the period of his usage. 
 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 

Page 365



Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the 
paths on the whole area all their lives. 

 
Mrs Connolly began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr Village Site 
more frequently after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to 
invent them, they already existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, the 
Heolgerrig area) as more-used these days than those in the south – apart 
from the Parish Road. 
 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she has only used Cyfarthfa 34 and the 
other routes since she moved to Heolgerrig (1995). She finds these the 
easiest access to Cwm Du Chapel where, she stated, annual services had 
been held until recently (October 2007). 
 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the Cwmdu and 
the Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the Castle Pit over past 
Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig using 
all the footpaths. 

 
Mrs Connolly has regularly used these routes, for example, to walk her dogs – 
even after being prevented from doing so when the area was fenced. 
 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the 
Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people 
would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise. 
 
Mrs Connolly confirmed that she has never sought or received permission to 
go on any of these claimed paths or had her use of the paths challenged. 
 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 
 
Mr Glanmor Williams began the interview by saying that he has known the 
area very well all his life as his grandmother lived at Cwm Glo cottages (where 
there was also a field and an orchard).  He has used the route since being 
taken there as a baby. 

 
He displayed extensive knowledge of people who used to live in the area and 
their use of it.  Mr Williams stated when he was younger he (and others) 
regularly used these routes on the Waun where they played cricket to the east 
and rugby and football to the west of the Cyfarthfa 34.  The Home Guard also 
used this route on the Waun where they exercised.  Mr Williams uses it for 
pleasure and as a short cut to different places. 
 
He said that he has used this whole area for a very long time and that the Coal 
Authority has only now fenced off the area because of danger to people – why 
then is it not dangerous for animals? 
 
Mr Williams has always believed that he has had a right to use Cyfarthfa 34 
and other routes, there has never been any objection to anyone using them 

Page 366



and he has neither sought nor been given permission to use the routes he 
describes. 
 
Mr Williams’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2007. 

 
Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927.  He was raised close to Mayor’s Square, 
Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. 

 
He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses, 
including these: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the 

Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this 

too.  We have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”. 
 
• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village 

put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, EM says: “I have 

walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years.  It is awkward to explain 
because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on whatever 
track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of 

people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 

• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we 
all just went on the site and walked where we wanted.  We would take 
any path that took our fancy.  Nobody ever stopped us until two years 
ago when they fenced in the site.  I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been 
fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I 
wouldn’t go onto other people’s property”. 

 
Mr Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using these 
routes. 
 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of 
these tracks”. 

 
• Mr Marshall commented on the danger on the site. “There have always 

been holes there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve walked there for over 
70 years and only remember one accident.  A boy from Cae Draw was 
playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 

Page 367



Mr Philip Jones (main claimant for Cyfarthfa 33, a route included the 2010 
Order) stated that he has lived at his current address for 20 years and has 
used Cyfarthfa 34 and the other routes on the Waun regularly.  He described 
them as being extensively used. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1982 and 2007. 

 
Mr Donald and Mrs Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have lived for 40 
years at Heolgerrig and have used these and many of the routes over the 
Merthyr Village Site regularly throughout this period.  There was never any 
concern over walking anywhere on the site until recently.  Mr and Mrs Davies 
explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in the night and she in the 
morning.  They try to walk circular routes, sometimes shorter walks than 
others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked on more of the routes than her 
husband.  Mr Davies also said that he has regularly taken his grandchildren 
there and their grandson has used certain routes on a pushbike. 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site.  He has 
walked all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many 
historical sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has 
now been denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 
years ago outdoor services were held there.  Mr Davies has always assumed 
that there have been rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of 
years and has gathered this information from people who have always lived 
there.  Mrs Davies agreed and also said “people before us had a right to use it 
and the old miners used it”.  Mr Davies pointed out that the tramways are not 
dangerous.  He moved to Shirley Gardens in the 1960s and has a friend who 
knows the whole area very well and who took him around everywhere. 

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on 
a map than on the ground - but they know them very well and use Cyfarthfa 34 
and the other routes on the Waun. 
 
No one has ever questioned their use of these routes and both stated that if 
there were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes. 
 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their 
use of these routes and continued: 
 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing.  He stated that he was coming to check fences.  He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 
 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any 
private land.  They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from 
using the paths although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was 
blocked at one time in the recent past. 

 

Page 368



Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the Merthyr 
Village Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”.  Mrs 
Davies agreed saying “we know it’s at our own risk”.  Mr Davies also stated: 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area.  There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use”. 

 
Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for 
people to use. 
 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed; these are all used by many people and they always see people on 
the routes. 

 
Mrs Davies stated: 

 
“People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 
his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 
 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his 
wife for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her 
aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They married in 1953 and lived at 
Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area 
very well (Mr Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
They have used these routes extensively both for access, for example, to 
Pencoedcae Cottages and to Gelli Du and to go for walks on the many tracks 
on the Waun.  He still uses them regularly but not as much as in previous 
years. 
 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed 
footpaths, all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks 
on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly 
defined. 
 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 
 

Page 369



Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on 
the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area 
down to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, 
but nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said 
he had walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his 
two sons walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 
 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 
 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go 
anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the 
Davies brothers’ father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry 
a gun, not to walk there. 
 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence 
of much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he 
is aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr 
Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; 
describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of 
the paths on the site and also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He 
also gave evidence of regularly seeing horses being ridden there (on routes 
which are now claimed bridleways).  His evidence of vehicular use, however, 
was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to 
Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  
 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 
 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 
 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do 
others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  
 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great grandchildren 
there when they’re a bit older”. 
 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed 
by Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the 
Council by Mr Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

Page 370



 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they have regularly used these routes for walking 
their dogs for approximately 40 years.  They are no longer able to use it as 
frequently as previously because of health problems.  They stated that many 
people from several parts of Heolgerrig walk on the Waun. 

 
They have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths, including 
these, from Heolgerrig and onto the Waun in the north of the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly for this whole period. 
 
Mrs Mold stated that she understands that these paths have always been 
rights of way and has walked a dog on them for a long time; she notes that 
she always sees other people using them. Mrs Mold stated that when they had 
a dog they walked daily but she does not use the paths very often now – in 
addition she has asthma. 
 
Mr Mold said that he still walks occasionally during fine weather. 
 
They both believe that they have a right to use the path.  Mrs Mold said “we 
just used it.”  Mr Mold commented that the sign on the open area when leaving 
the lane from Heolgerrig suggests that the public use it. 
 
Mrs Mold said that no-one has ever been there to stop people using the paths 
and her husband stated “there has only been the one occasion a few years 
ago when the lane was blocked off.”  Both Mr and Mrs Mold stated that the 
route has always been clearly defined and that the route has always been the 
same. 
 
Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 
 
Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health 
prevented him from doing so.  He often used these routes as a section of one 
of several circular walks which commenced and terminated at Heolgerrig. 

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site.  
He has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used these and many other 
routes regularly since then. 
 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr Village Site 
since it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he would support the Coal 
Authority until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc into 
account was developed. 
 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

Page 371



 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

Mr Gerald Foley telephoned explaining that personal circumstances prevented 
him attending for interview but subsequently submitted further written 
evidence.  He has used Cyfarthfa 34 since summer 1984 when he moved to 
the area.  He further stated that over the two and a half years prior to the claim 
date he walked the route daily and twice on weekends; prior to this he had 
used it at least once a week with his wife and family who also used these 
routes to access other paths to the south. 

 
Mr Foley gave specific evidence for Cyfarthfa 33 (a route included in the 2010 
Order) but pointed out that this evidence also relates to the routes on the 
Waun to the south as he and his family use Cyfarthfa 33 to access these 
routes – including Cyfarthfa 34. 
 
Mr Foley’s evidence covers the period between 1984 and 2007. 

 
Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and these 
routes are part of those.  He states that he walks, 

 
“sometimes up to Heolgerrig Road past the school.  I sometimes cut through 
to the Chapel on this walk.  These are the main ones which I use regularly – it 
varies day by day but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I 
guarantee I use the ones described at least weekly.” 
 
He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to encourage 
people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful and it 
would be a shame if people were stopped from using them.  He continued, 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people who 
still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have 
never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 
 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 
  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been led to 
believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have lived in 
Heolgerrig all their lives. 

 
Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
Mr Elwyn Rees (now deceased) stated that he had been brought up next door 
to Mrs Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there when he was 
first married in 1955.  He used all of the routes on the Merthyr Village Site 
regularly, including these, both when young and later, for family walks when 
he and his wife and children walked this route and all of the claimed routes to 
the north of it as well as the ones south to the Cwm Pits area. They lived there 

Page 372



for 32 years before moving to Heolgerrig. Mrs Megan Rees also gave 
evidence of use of these routes. 

 
He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this 
lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground.  He stated that he had not walked the area since 
about 2005 because of illness but prior to that had used the majority of the 
footpaths on the Merthyr Village Site for family walks regularly. Both stated 
that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the 
footpaths to the north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous 
shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by 
miners during the 1926 strike and as children they all got to know the 
dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths.  He also pointed out that the 
deep vents and shafts have been covered in reinforced concrete – his father-
in-law and Eddie Thomas had been involved in this (Mr Thomas used to own 
land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, 
with no thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just followed the 
footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones 
in addition to those on the map; they use so many.  They have always thought 
they had a right to walk on these paths and no one has ever challenged them, 
Mr Rees saying, 

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration of 
preserving these unique mining cottages.  It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 
 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has become 
an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
Both stated that they have never asked or thought that they needed 
permission to walk there; they have always walked on the same tracks which 
have been clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no 
one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

Page 373



 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems.” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area 
the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Rees added that she lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was first 
married in 1955 and used these routes regularly for family walks. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
  
Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian/industrial archaeologist stated that 
he has used these routes. They are a means of access to the ruins of Cwm 
Glo Chapel.  He has used the routes since the 1970s. 

 
Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years ago, he 
has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including these - on a daily basis until 
fencing was installed some 12 to 18 months previously to close in the land in 
the ownership of Merthyr Village Limited.  He said: 

 
“I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of recreation 
and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using any of these 
routes, however, I have walked these routes less frequently in the last 12-18 
months following the erection of the fencing. 
 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using the 
routes I have mentioned above”. 
    
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, 
often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price.  He gave evidence of regular 
use of these routes which he uses to access other routes to the south, often 
as a section of a circular walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often 
with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave evidence of regular use of 
these routes which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a 
section of a circular walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 
Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 
married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr - including this 
path - from this time. 

Page 374



  
He regularly uses this route to walk his dog, even after being prevented from 
doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses it from the north, from his 
bungalow, from Cwm Glo Road or, occasionally, from Gulley Nanni or 
sometimes from a number of different routes in the south.  He uses this route 
as a section of different circular walks.  He has never asked permission of 
anyone to use this route, has never had his use of any of the paths challenged 
and does not recognise any obstructions on the route. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 
 
A number of people have given evidence of use of these routes as a means of 
access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel.  Mr David Price and Dr and Mrs Jones 
have submitted photographs of two services which have been held at Cwm 
Glo Chapel and one of the lay preachers, Mr Jeff Leysion, also asked that his 
name be included as someone who has used this and many other claimed 
paths on a regular basis; he also used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel 
when the services were held there. 

 
2.7 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 

Objections 
 
 Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed Cyfarthfa 34 and stated that the track goes through a hay field and 
through a field with very steep banks. 

 
 On 12th May 2007 Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 
 

“G. A673/4/167 Heolgerrig School to Cwm Glo Pit Shaf t 
The stile at Heolgerrig School is marked up farmers access only, the alleged 
right of way appears to go through the corner of one of our fields which has no 
stile or gate in the area and is fenced.  The way goes up and down large 
bankings around the streams, these paths are animal networks for watering.  
This is also a restricted area due to mine workings as authorised by 
Countryside Council for Wales.  (See enclosed photo”). 

 
Notes taken at a meeting, 11th September 2007 read, 

 
“167. Where the brook crosses there is a 1 in 1 gradient” 

 
In response to these notes, Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“6. Claimed ROW LA Map – 101/167X – Served Map A763/ 4/167 

Heolgerrig School Lane to Cwm Glo Pit Shaft (Jan 20 06) 
  

As noted in meeting. 
  
 Additional Comments 
 

Page 375



Route differs from the served map.  The served map indicates the route goes 
through a hayfield which has always been fenced and locked.  Even on the 
deviated map there are steep inclines at various points along the route. 

 
The route has been altered within 18 months.  In addition to all my previous 
comments for striking out, I further request it be struck from consideration on 
the basis that due to the change, the claim now has no legal standing”. 

 
In response to the Investigation Reports Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“Cyfarthfa 34 – Heolgerrig School – between Patch and Dan Y Mynyydd Field 
– to Brook – to Benny’s – across Wash out – to Juniors 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 

2. Portion of the aerial map in part of the indicative area is not date 
authenticated. 

3. There is no footbridge across the stream, this is an unsafe rusty zinc 
sheet placed by person or persons unknown. 

4. Only two statements supporting others names blacked out therefore 
can’t be used in evidence. 

5. Only a third of this claimed ROW runs through the withdrawn Open 
Access Land”. 

 
2.8 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 

these route are within a Site of Special Scientific Interest and run through land 
which is subject to a Tree Preservation Order. 

 
These routes run through Open Access Land which has been subject to a 
Restriction Order since summer 2006. 

 
 A short detour leads to a site of interest, the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. 

 
 In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, 

March 2009 Halcrow state: 
 

“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent 
tracks/paths that exist on the site.  During our visit it was apparent that the site 
is still used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes.  In addition, 
a few horses and sheep were also on the site.  Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 
 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own 
conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal 
Authority, Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public 
Inquiry.  The Coal Authority decided to fence off the land.  It is known that 

Page 376



members of the public cut sections of this fence in order to gain access to the 
site and use routes which are the subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the 
owners refused to request an extension of the Order.  MTCBC therefore 
requested the removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 
 

3.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
 Councillors are advised that evidence exists for all of the routes described 

above. 
 
 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
amending the line of Cyfarthfa 34 and recording Cyfarthfa 73, 106, 107 and 
108. 

 
 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 73, 106, 107 and 108 as well worn, clearly 
defined tracks which are well-used routes. 

  
 Officers have interpreted the evidence before taking into account all the 

documentary and user evidence to ascertain the correct alignment of the 
routes. 

 
3.1 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
BOAT.  

 
 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 

the investigation could conclude that the routes do not exist. 
 
 Officers recognise that these routes are footpaths and have user evidence of 

the routes as footpaths and therefore present the routes to Councillors as 
footpaths. 

 
3.2 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
 The routes are presented to Councillors for consideration under Section 

53(3)(b) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely long user. 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of 
the Public Right of Way. 

 

Page 377



 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under 
S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site 
stating that the routes are not to become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption and the ways 
deemed to have been dedicated as highways as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate them. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal 

period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application itself.  In this case 
officers consider that it would be the period between 11th October 1983 and 
10th October 2003; user evidence exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been available for 

public use. 
 
3.3 The Line of the Route 
 
 All routes are clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
3.4 Historical and Other Evidence 
 

Cyfarthfa 34 has been depicted on a number of cartographic sources. 
 
3.5 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
 Depiction of a route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of 
public rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of the existence of the 
track/path and the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
 Depiction of a route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the 

route and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the 
summer and foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
3.6 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open 
cast mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry.  
More specifically, the whole of Cyfarthfa 34 (in the guise of Footpath A and a 
section of Footpath G) was subject to a request for suspension under 
associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 

 
Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or 
Statement at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors 
recognised Cyfarthfa 34 (A and G) and thirty one others to such a degree that 
this and they were made the subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 
and 1970. 

Page 378



 
 
 

 
3.7 User Evidence 
 
 Councillors are requested to take into account extensive user evidence 

described above. 
 
 In addition, it is known that a number of people have used these routes to 

access Cwm Glo Chapel for services. 
 
3.8 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made 

by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out 
previously in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the 

claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants.  This 
was in line with data protection but officers have now been advised that from 
this stage in the procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and 
safety concerns.  Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken 
into consideration when determining this Application.  Representatives of the 
owners expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot 
be taken into consideration when determining this Application. 

 
3.9 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user 

evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed.  Councillors are also 
reminded that at this stage there was no requirement for the County Borough 
to maintain a register of PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the 
requirements of the National Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted 

that this is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and 
Statement, and subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence 
and documentation that the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, 

Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy 

of the houses and farms.  The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which 
allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 

Page 379



The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the 
industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s.  
Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of 
right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 

assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 
1 of the Rights of way Committee Report, 5th October 2009.  Officers disregard 
any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and 

from witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another 
and that this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of 
evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under 

the relevant legislation. 
 

Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 
observations.  Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application, for example, they too have 
raised concerns about health and safety. 

 

4.0 SUMMARY 
 

Officers present the amended line of Cyfarthfa 34 as well as the routes, 
Cyfarthfa 73, 106, 107 and 108 for determination as footpaths. 

 
Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 
rights now claimed, viz. over the period 11th October 1983 and 10th October 
2003 and at all material times before it. 

 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 

evident that rights of way do exist over these routes. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met  for the routes.  It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has ari sen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evi dence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement co uld therefore be 
made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act  1981. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that these routes are highways and 
have no obstructions. 

 

Page 380



 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3(c)( i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rig hts of Way exist. 

 
 Officers recommend that footpaths, Cyfarthfa 34, 73, 106, 107 and 108 be 

recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement. 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  If 

Councillors determine that the Public Rights of Way exist, there will be a 
financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with a Public 
Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 

 
5.2 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route 

will need to be signed. 
 
5.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it. 

 

6.00 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
6.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 
1) In respect of Cyfarthfa 34: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B – C – D - E – P – F – G – H – I on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34 has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not 
been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 34 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 

Page 381



 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
2) In respect of Cyfarthfa 73: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dotted line between Points 
B – L – K – Q – R - S on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34 has been used 
for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 73 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2) In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

 
3) In respect of Cyfarthfa 106: 

 
 Either 

Page 382



 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points 
B – J – K on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34 has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 106 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

 
4) In respect of Cyfarthfa 107: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed - dotted line 
between Points L –M – N – O – P on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34 has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not 
been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 107 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 

Page 383



 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
5) In respect of Cyfarthfa 108: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a line of crosses, between 
Points R - O on the plan, Cyfarthfa 34 has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 108 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

 
6.2 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Orders as 

set out in 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5  above. 
 

Page 384



 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

Page 385



Page 386

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 387



Page 388

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 389



Page 390

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 24th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 73 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 73 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 29th November 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 8th December 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011.  
 
Cyfarthfa 73 was included within Cyfarthfa 34 (29th November 2010) 
Committee Report.  This report is appended at the end of the item that 
relates to Cyfarthfa 71. 
 
Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order is incorrect 
in that the route actually commences on Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2011 Order and also before you for correction today) at 
Point A, grid reference SO03230577 a point to the south of an old clay 
pit and proceeds through the Waun on a very gradual down-hill 
gradient on a well-defined and well-used earth track in a general south-
easterly direction, meeting Cyfarthfa 107 at Point B (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
correction) and Cyfarthfa 106 at Point C (a route on the unconfirmed 
2011 Order  but also before committee today for correction) and 
continuing to Point D, grid reference SO03380572.  Here it enters the 
wooded valley of the Nant Cwm Glo, turns to a general south-south-
easterly direction, crossing the Nant Cwm Glo and continuing to Point 
E, grid reference SO03410567, its junction with Cyfarthfa 108 (a route 
on the unconfirmed 2011 Order ).  The route then reverts to a general 
south-easterly direction, initially passing bracken and shrubs on the 
left, passing its common junction with Cyfarthfa 102 and Cyfarthfa 109 
(both before committee today for determination) at point F, and then 

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 391



going more steeply downhill through bracken and bramble to an open 
grassed area in a general  easterly direction where it terminates at its 
common junction with Cyfarthfa 35 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 
Order), and Cyfarthfa 139 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 order also 
before committee today for correction) and Cyfarthfa 115 (also before 
committee today for determination) at Point G, grid reference 
SO03620562.  Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that 
users walk this route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F 
– G.  

 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route between Cyfarthfa 34 in the west and Cyfarthfa 
 35 and Cyfarthfa 139 in the east which walkers utilise as a section of a 
 circular route. 

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial 
 photographs. 

 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence  
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
 including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
 since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.   
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or any of the paths challenged. Mr Connolly’s 
 evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 

Page 392



 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route she has never 
 asked permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including this one.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 
  
 Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
 area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 
 

He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

Page 393



 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
 this route is part of these. 
  
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 
 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 
 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 
  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 
 Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 
 walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
 evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
 routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
 
 Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 73. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 73 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

Page 394



 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to Councillors for consideration under Section 

53(3)(b) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely long user. 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the Public Right of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as there is 
insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself.  In this case officers consider that it would be the period between 
11th October 1983 and 10th October 2003; user evidence exists for this 
period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernible on the ground. 
 

Page 395



5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2  Five people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Officers present the amended line of Cyfarthfa 73 for determination as 
 a footpath. 
 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 11th October 1983 and 10th 
October 2003 and at all material times before it. 

 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 

is evident that the right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 has been met for the route.  It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 

“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that these 
routes are highways and have no obstructions. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 

 
 Officers recommend that footpath, Cyfarthfa 73 be recorded on the 

Definitive Map and Statement. 
 

Page 396



8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.      

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 73 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D – E – F – G on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 
73, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and 
that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 73 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 

Page 397



to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 73 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 398



A

B

C
D

E

F
G

Nant L
lw

ynyreos

Tip

16

20

18

22

Issues

CB

Collects

Spreads

(disused)

Tk B

Mast

Path (um)

D
ra

in

Issues

Collects

D
ra

in

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:2,633
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 73

Page 399



Page 400

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 25th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 74 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 74 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 20th January 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 3rd February 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 9th February 
2010; Cyfarthfa 74 had previously been approved by a Committee in 
October 2009; this decision was ratified by Council in November 2009; 
the routes formed part of the committee reports for Cyfarthfa 36.  The 
reports are appended at the end of the item which relates to Cyfarthfa 
36. 

 
Officers now state that the recorded route is incorrect and the walked 
route actually commences at Point A, grid reference SO03830563 at a 
wooden stile, its western junction with Cyfarthfa 36 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for 
correction) and proceeds in a general east-north-easterly direction to 
Point B where it crosses Cyfarthfa 38 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 
Order). It continues in a general east north-easterly direction to Point 
C, grid reference SO03900564, its western junction with Cyfarthfa 92 
(a route on the unconfirmed 2010 but also before committee today for 
correction). It continues in a general east-north-easterly direction to 
Point D, grid reference SO04050569 and then in a general easterly 
direction to Point E, grid reference SO04090568. The route then 
descends the eastern slope of the re-vegetated coal tip in a general 
southerly direction to terminate at Point F, grid reference SO04100565, 
a wooden stile and its common junction with Cyfarthfa 36, its eastern 
junction (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 but also before committee 

 

Agenda Item 12

Page 401



today for correction) and Cyfarthfa 92 (a route on the unconfirmed 
2010 Order but also before committee today for correction). 
 
Councillors are advised that there is very clear evidence on the ground 
that users walk the route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E 
– F. This is regarded as a well-used alternative to a section of Cyfarthfa 
36. 

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on aerial photographs of 2008 
 and 2010.   

  
1.5 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made site visits to this route and found it defined and as 
 described above.  

 
1.6  User Evidence 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 36, which he uses to get back 
onto the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and then back to 
Heolgerrig.  He is aware of a stile at the junction between Cyfarthfa 36 
and Cyfarthfa 38. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 

Page 402



additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 

Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have 
walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her 
grandmother lived at Melincanaid so Mrs Connolly regularly used this 
route to visit her.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row 
when they were first married.  

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr 
Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to 
invent them, they already existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, 
the Heolgerrig area) as more-used these days than those in the south 
– apart from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly has used this route regularly as a short walk 
since she moved to Heolgerrig.  She accesses the route via the gate by 
the football field, goes down the Cwm Pit Line and up through the 
Coedcae to return home. 

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the 
Cwmdu and the Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the 
Castle Pit over past Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain 
and from Heolgerrig using all the footpaths. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using 
the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for 
exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

Page 403



 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of these claimed paths; they have 
never had their use of the paths challenged. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2012. 
 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years 
ago, he has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on 
a daily basis until fencing was installed some 12 to 18 months 
previously to close in the land in the ownership of Merthyr Village 
Limited.  He said, 

 
 “I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of 
 recreation and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using 
 any of these routes, however, I have walked these routes less 
 frequently in the last 12-18 months following the erection of the fencing. 

 

Page 404



I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people 
using the routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2012. 

 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 74. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 74 as a clearly defined and well-
used route. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
become a Public Right of Way.  

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 

Page 405



a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself.  In this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 
13th December 1982 and 12th December 2002; extensive user 
evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground.   
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage.  
 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 
 
6.2 Six people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path 
 has been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a 
 full period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated 
 as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 74 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 

Page 406



 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 13th December 1982 and 
 12th December 2002 and at all material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F on 
 the Plan, Cyfarthfa 74 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report. 
     

Page 407



10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 74 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D – E – F on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 74, 
has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 74 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 74 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 408



A B

C

D

E

F

Tip

(disused)

Level

Track

(disused)
Tip

(disused)

Tip

(disused)

(disused)

Tip
T
ra

c
k

Tip

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:2,119
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 74

Page 409



Page 410

This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000                                                              www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 25th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development  
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
Cyfarthfa 77 

1.0    INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route described as Cyfarthfa 77 commences at point A, its junction with 
 the maintainable highway to the north-east of Upper Colliers Row, grid 
 reference SO04040609, and proceeds in a general westerly direction to 
 point B, to the rear of no. 6/8 Upper Colliers Row, grid reference 
 SO04000609, where it turns to a general west-south-westerly direction to a 
 point to the rear of No. 1 Upper Colliers Row, Point C, grid reference 
 SO03960607. Here the route changes to a general south-south-westerly 
 direction to terminate on the south-western side of No. 1 Upper Colliers Row, 
 Point D, grid reference SO03960604. 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 
 as depicted between Points A – B – C – D.  
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used and 
 well-trodden route between the maintainable highway to the north-east of 
 Upper Colliers Row, Heolgerrig and Cyfarthfa 140 (route on  the unconfirmed 
 2010 Order) which walkers utilise as a section of a circular  route. 
 
1.2 Land Ownership 
  
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 
 The path is indicated on the historical maps of 1857, 1875, 1919, 1957 and 
 the current OS map. 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 411



1.4 Aerial Photographs 
             
 With the exception of the wooded area in the west, the route is visible on 
 2001, 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs.  

 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined and as 
 described above.  
 
 On these occasions they have observed people walking the route. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
 
 Mrs. Susan Harries was born in 1964 and has lived for the majority of her life 
 in the Cwmglo Road area of Heolgerrig. 
 

From 1970 until 1977 she can remember visiting Upper Colliers Row and 
walking the path to the rear with her father, when they would visit an Aunt, or 
a woman she called Aunty, at No. 10 Upper Colliers Row. She would usually 
be riding her bicycle and would ride from her home at Fourwinds, Cwmglo 
Road, Heolgerrig to Upper Colliers Row. Mrs Harries stated, she was then 
able to ride the bicycle through a parcel of land locally known as the Coed 
Cae, (presently being developed by Redrow) to the rear of Brondeg and 
would enter the Aunt’s home either through the front or rear door. When 
entering through the rear, she would have to use this path.  

 
 In 1977 Mrs Harries was provided with her first horse and would walk and ride 
 her horse along the path to the rear of Upper Colliers Row. She would access 
 the path either from the road leading into Upper Colliers Row from 
 Pantycelenin, Heolgerrig, or from the path at the bottom of Brondeg, 
 Heolgerrig beginning at the Cephas Evangelical Church. From there she 
 would normally ride on to the parcels of land leading to Lower Colliers Row, 
 the Waun or the Coed Cae, usually returning through the path at the rear of 
 Upper Colliers Row. In 1987 she no longer owned a horse. 
 
 From 1987 to 1998 Mrs Harries would borrow horses from friends and 
 neighbours and used to  ride a horse with her daughter seated in front and 
 would again use the route to the rear of Upper Colliers Row in order to gain 
 access to the area of the land that she described previously as Coed Cae, 
 Lower Colliers Row or the Waun. 
 
 From 1998 to the present Mrs Harries again purchased horses which are 
 stabled in Upper Colliers Row and walks to the stables daily using the route to 
 the rear of Upper Colliers Row to gain access to the stables. 
 
 Mrs Harries described the path as being grassed and narrower near the Coed 
 Cae end compared to the Line end. 
 

Page 412



 She has often seen people using the path on foot usually with their dogs. The 
 path had never been fenced or gated until recently when a barrier had been 
 placed across its entrance near the “line” end. The barrier has recently been 
 removed. She was, however, able to gain access to the path by passing the 
 barrier on either side. 
 
 Mrs Harries had not been stopped or challenged from using the path by any 
 person and had not seen any notices of any description on or near the path 
 preventing its use. 
 
 Mrs. Harris’s evidence covers the periods between 1970 and 2012. 
 
 Mr. Henry Dorricott lived in Georgetown from 1956, before moving to his 
 current address, (in Heolgerrig), where he has lived since 1962. 
 
 His wife’s grandparents lived at No. 12 Upper Colliers Row, Heolgerrig. He 
 visited the address regularly with his wife and walked the claimed path either 
 entering the home to the front or rear which forms part of the claimed route.  
 
 Since 1985 he has walked the route once or twice per week into the rear of 
 Upper Colliers Row, to examine and access land he owns at the rear of No. 
 12 Upper Colliers Row. This parcel of land has been in the family ownership 
 since the 1920s. 
 
 He gains access to the path on foot, either from the Cephas Evangelical 
 Church direction, the bottom of Brondeg, (along another claimed path, 
 Cyfarthfa 57) or along the road leading to Upper Colliers Row from 
 Pantycelenin. He also walks the route in the opposite direction. 
 
 When Mr. Dorricott was younger he used the route daily to access the 
 Heolgerrig Social Club which used to be based at the Pencoedcae Farm 
 house, (now part of the Redrow Housing Development). He walked the path 
 from the rear of Upper Colliers Row and Brondeg Estate and into the 
 Pencoedcae Farm. He has been a regular member of the social club and for 
 the past 46 years has been the Club Secretary. 
 
 Nobody has ever challenged or stopped Mr. Dorricott walking on the land. 
 
 He has never seen any vehicles / horses etc on the land. 
 
 The only people he has seen walking the route are the residents. 
 
 A barrier was erected sometime prior to Christmas 2011, but this has since 
 been removed. The barrier did not prevent him accessing the route. 
 
 He also stated that it had never been fenced off and no notices of any 
 description had been placed on the path. 
 
 Mr. Dorricott’s evidence covers the periods between 1962 and 2012. 
 

Page 413



 
 Mr. Gareth Jones has lived at the current address for 37 years; he bought his 
 house in 1975.  
 
 He walks the route to the rear of Upper Colliers Row every day and has done 
 so since 1975. He used to access the path form the  Cephas Evangelical 
 Church, Brondeg, Heolgerrig, (along another claimed path, Cyfarthfa 57) until 
 he finished work in 1999. 
 
 He continues to walk the route every day and accesses the route from the 
 rear of his home. 
 
 In 1980, Mr. Jones had possessary title of a parcel of land to the rear of No. 1 
 Upper Colliers Row and maintained the land up until 2007 when the title 
 deeds for the land were relinquished. He used the path daily to access this 
 land. 
 
 He continues to walk the path from the rear of his home twice a week walking 
 around the rear in the direction of No. 1 Upper Colliers Row or onto the road 
 adjacent to his home. 
 
 He has never been challenged or stopped from walking on the land. 
 

He had seen other people, mainly neighbours, using the path to gain access 
 to their homes. 
 
 Mr. Jones stated that he had seen delivery lorries supplying oil to the 
 neighbours houses.  
 
 He also stated that neighbours had used the path to fields to gain access to 
 stables. 
  
 He stated that it had never been fenced off and no notices of any description 
 had been placed on the path. 
 
 A barrier was erected sometime prior to Christmas 2011, but this has since 
 been removed. The barrier did not prevent him using the path as he was able 
 to walk either side onto the path. 
 
 Mr Jones’s evidence covers the period between 1975 and 2012. 
 
 Mr. Tudor Burnell has lived in Heolgerrig since 1957, moving away to live 
 between 1964 and 1981. 
 
 His mother-in-law lived at No. 13 Upper Colliers Row and he used the route 
 everyday with his wife and then his daughter to visit his wife’s parents. 
 
 He used to access the path either off the “line”, the road leading from 
 Pantycelenin to Upper Colliers Row or from the Cephas Evangelical Church 

Page 414



 Brondeg Heolgerrig, to gain access to the rear of 13 Upper Colliers Row. He 
 would use this circular route daily. 
 
 From 1959 and for the next 40 years he used to breed Welsh terrier dogs and 
 used to walk these animals daily along the above described route. 
 
 Mr. Burnell and his family moved to the Blackwood area in 1964 but used to 
 return every weekend to visit his wife’s parents and continued to use the path. 
 
 Mr. Burnell returned to Merthyr Tydfil in 1981 and up until 2001 continued to 
 walk the route in a circular direction with his daughter, occasionally 
 accompanied by the dogs. 
 
 Nobody has ever challenged or stopped Mr. Burnell walking on the land. 
 
 Mr. Burnell stated that he had seen delivery lorries using the route going at 
 least three-quarters of the way up the path to the back of the houses. 
  
 He also stated that it had never been fenced off and no signs of any 
 description have been placed on or near the path. 
 
 Mr Burnell’s evidence covers the period between 1957 and 2001. 
 
 Mr Allan Thomas was born in 1947 and when he was 18 months old he lived 
 with his parents in No.10 Upper Colliers Row. 
 
 He remained at this address until 1967 when he moved to the Swansea Road 
 area of Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
 In 1969 he moved to White Street Dowlais and in 1971 returned to live at No. 
 4 Upper Colliers Row. 
 
 In 1975 he moved to the Twyncarmel area of Merthyr Tydfil and in 2000 he 
 moved to the Brecon Road area. 
 
 He now lives in the Gurnos  area of Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
 He has always walked the area around Upper Colliers Row and when living 
 there used the path to the rear on a daily basis to gain access to the home 
 and to the area of land he described as” Coed Cae” and the “line”. 
 
 He continued to walk the path when leaving to live in other parts of Merthyr as 
 he used to return to No. 1 Upper Colliers Row to visit his grandmother who 
 lived there. 
 

Owing to his association with the area he has accumulated friends whom he 
visits on a weekly basis, remains in contact with them and continues to walk 
the path described to gain access on to other parts of the land in and around 
the described route. 

 

Page 415



 He describes the path as always being grassed - wide near the “line” and 
 narrowing at the” Coed Cae” end. 
 
 The path had never been fenced or gated until recently when a barrier had 
 been placed across its entrance near the “line” end. He was able to access 
 the path by passing the barrier on either side. 
 
 He has never been stopped or prevented from using the path by any person 
 and had not seen any notices of any description on or near the path 
 preventing its use. 
 
 He had seen other persons use the path on foot. 
 
 Mr Thomas’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2012.  
 
 Mr. Peter East has lived in Heolgerrig, since 1982. 
  
 Between 1982 and 2012, Mr. East has walked the path daily. He has used the 
 path by leaving his home from the front and walking to the rear and using the 
 path to the road he describes as the “line”. (The road that leads from Upper 
 Colliers Row to Pantycelenin). 
 
 He used the path daily to walk his children to school, to walk his dogs, to visit 
 his parents in Swansea Road or to walk to the town centre. He remembers 
 the road called the “line” as he remembers the Heolgerrig Halt, the old railway 
 station near the old brick works. 
 
 He described the path as always being a grassed path wide enough to allow a 
 vehicle to travel along it from the “line” into Upper Colliers Row but the path 
 narrowed to a metre at the rear of his home. He indicated that the path was 
 shown on the deeds for both his home and his garden area.  
 
 Nobody has ever challenged or stopped Mr. East walking on the path. 
 
 He has seen people walking the route usually people with an interest in the 
 area and the local residents. His daughter usually uses the path once a week 
 when she walks her horses along the route, visiting him and showing the 
 horse to the local children. The horse is stabled in the Pandy Stables near 
 Cyfarthfa Park. 
 
 He also stated that it had never been fenced off and no notices of any 
 description had been placed on the path. He stated that there was a sign not 
 related to the path indicating “old mine shaft”. 
 

A resident had placed a barrier across the path near the entrance from the 
“line”, at the end of last year to prevent vehicles using the path. The barrier 
has since been removed. 
 
He stated that he was able to walk either side of the barrier when it was 
erected to use the path. 

Page 416



Mr. East’s evidence covers the period between 1982 and 2012. 
 

Mr. Gary Morris has lived in Heolgerrig, since being married in 1967. 
 
 Between 1967 and 2002, Mr. Morris was a keen walker until he suffered an 
 illness which prevented him from walking any great distance.  
 
 He had walked the route four times per week at the rear of Upper Colliers 
 Row, to gain access either onto the Coed Cae, Waun or Lower Colliers Row. 
 

He would gain access to the path on foot, either from the Cephas Evangelical 
Church direction, the bottom of Brondeg, (along another claimed path, 
Cyfarthfa 57) and turn left to walk along the rear of Upper Colliers Row or 
would approach the path along the road leading to Upper Colliers Row from 
Pantycelenin. He also walks the route in the opposite direction.  

 
Between 1982 and 1992 he was the proud owner of a Staffordshire bull terrier 
dog which always accompanied him on his walks through the path and across 
the land. He described the path as a grassed path wide enough to allow a 
lorry to travel along it from the road into Upper Colliers Row but the path 
narrowed at the top, where it joined the path from Cephas Evangelical 
Church, Brondeg. “You couldn’t drive through the rear of Upper Colliers Row. 
It was narrow at the top”.  

 
 Nobody has ever challenged or stopped Mr. Morris walking on the path. 
 
 The only people he has seen walking the route are the residents. 
 
 He also stated that it had never been fenced off and no notices of any 
 description had been placed on the path. 
 
 Mr Morris’s evidence covers the period between the 1960s and 2002. 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 
 married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – including this 
 path - from this time. He has used this route more often since he moved to  
 Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
 
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs. 
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never had his 
 use of this or any of the paths challenged.  
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
 Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower 
 Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and 
 her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
 and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  She 

Page 417



 has used this route for walks as an adult since the 1950s but much more 
 regularly since she and her husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She 
 accesses it from a choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the 
 network of paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for example, to 
 walk their dogs.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented 
 from using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog-fouling of 
 streets and people would become more unhealthy as they would have lost 
 this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the stile 
 leading to Cwm Glo Road and she has never been challenged while using the 
 route.  She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2012. 
 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and this 
 route is part of these.  

 
“These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years. I guarantee I use the ones 
described at least twice weekly. 
 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people who 
still walk there. I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and I have 
never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 
 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been led to 
believe that they were registerd rights of way by people who have lived in 
Heolgerrig all their lives. 
 

 Mr. Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012.   
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this specific 

route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he usually spends 
about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes including 
Cyfarthfa 77. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has 
done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to 
walk this path (and the others) and has never sought or been given 
permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 

Page 418



 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 
  
 Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and 
 he also uses these walks to take photographs. 
 
 He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more 
 than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown 
 stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  
 He stopped using it early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the 
 run-up to the election and he didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is 
 a MTCBC Councillor). 
 
 Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t 
 actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 
 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 
  
 Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although 
 some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  The routes 
 have not changed during the period of his usage. 
 
 Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 
2.0 CONSULTATION 
 
2.1 MTCBC internal departments 
 
 No response received. 
 
2.2 Investigation report 
 
 An investigation report into this route Cyfarthfa 77 was issued in July 2012. 
 
2.3 Observations and information from applicants and other users 
 
2.4 The Claim 
 
 The main claimant, Susan Harries 2 Elgan Court Cwmglo Road Heolgerrig 
 Merthyr Tydfil submitted: 
 
 a schedule describing the claimed route; 

6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use 
(three stating over 20 years, one, 26 years, one over 30 years and one, 40 
years), all claiming this route as a footpath (all claimants subsequently 
confirmed this route at interview); 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured 
red; 

Page 419



correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); 
and 
WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the 
owner/occupier). 

3.0  ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 
 them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
 adding Cyfarthfa 77. 
 
3.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 
 ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 77 as a clearly defined and well-used 
 footpath. 
 
3.3 Status 
 
3.4 A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT. 
 
3.5 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 
 the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
3.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of the 
 route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors as a 
 footpath. 
 
4.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
4.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 
 Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
4.2 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
 twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence 
 of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
4.3 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map 
 under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on 
 site stating that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way. 
 
4.4 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 
 enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
 twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as 
 there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
 dedicate it. 
 
4.5 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period looked 
 at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 

Page 420



 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In this case Officers 
 consider that it would be the period between 25th April 1992 and 24th April 
 2012, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
4.6 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 
 public use. 
 
5.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
5.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
6.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
6.1 Depiction of the route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the existence of 
 the route and of usage – although the available photographs are taken in the 
 summer and foliage may obscure sections of the route. 
 
7.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
7.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 
 
7.2 Eleven people have given evidence of use of this route as a footpath for 
 recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 

8.0 SUMMARY 
 
8.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 
 enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
 twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and 
 there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
 dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 
 right now claimed. 
 
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 77 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and aerial 
 photography in support of the existence of this route as a footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 
 evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of 
 S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of intention 
 to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order to modify the 

Page 421



 Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be made under S.53(3)(b) 
 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
 highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
 highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this route is a highway and has 
 no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 
 rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1992-2012 and at all material times 
 before it. 
 

Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 

 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map and 
 Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D  on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 
 77 and as described above. 

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
9.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  If 
 Councillors determine that the Public Right of Way exists, there will be a 
 financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with a Public 
 Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 
 
9.2 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route 
 will need to be signed. 
 
9.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 
 the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
 Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
 sufficient evidence to support it. 

10.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.     

11.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
11.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 
 Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

Page 422



 In respect of Cyfarthfa 77: 
 

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B – C – D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 77, has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as 
a footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 77 as a footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 
 
 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as 
 set out above. 
 
 
 GARY THOMAS 
 DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 77 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 423



Page 424

This page is intentionally left blank



AB

C

D

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,300
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 77

Page 425



Page 426

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 26th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 78 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 78 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 20th January 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 3rd February 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 9th February 
2010. The route formed part of the committee reports for Cyfarthfa 46. 
The report for Cyfarthfa 46 is appended at the end of this item.   
 

 Officers now state that the route included in the 2010 Order is incorrect 
 in that the route actually commences on Cyfarthfa 107 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order and also before committee today for 
 correction) at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 78, grid reference 
 SO03500546 and proceeds in a general westerly direction through a 
 wooded area, crosses the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos and continues to Point 
 B, grid reference SO03470546, the north-eastern wall of the disused 
 Cwm Glo chapel. It proceeds in a general southerly direction to 
 Point C, grid reference SO03470544, the south-western wall of the 
 disused Cwm Glo chapel. It continues in a general southerly direction 
 meandering up a bank to Point D, grid reference SO03470543 where it 
 enters an open area and continues in a general south-westerly 
 direction to Point E, grid reference SO03390537. From here it 
 proceeds meandering in a general southerly direction to Point F, grid 
 reference SO03400534 where it terminates at its junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 39 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order). 
 

Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F.  

 
 

1.2 Land Ownership 

 

Agenda Item 14

Page 427



 
The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 
 With the exception of the wooded area in the north, the route is 
 depicted on 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 
 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.5 Users 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
 including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
 since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.   
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or  any of the paths challenged.  
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the 
 stile leading to Cwm Glo Road and she has never been challenged 

Page 428



 while using the route.  She has never asked permission of anyone to 
 use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 78.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 

Page 429



 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years 
ago, he has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on 
a daily basis until fencing was installed some 12 to 18 months 
previously to close in the land in the ownership of Merthyr Village 
Limited.  He said, 

 
 “I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of 
 recreation and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using 
 any of these routes, however, I have walked these routes less 
 frequently in the last 12-18 months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people 
using the routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2012. 

 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 
 
Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  
He commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

Page 430



 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
too small when his children were born.  For the past 20 years he has 
only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 
named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, the 
stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no 
mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s 
a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 
 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 
the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths.  He described 
the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 
 
Mr Lewis confirmed Cyfarthfa 78 and stated that he has used this and 
the others presented for determination today regularly for at least 20 
years.  He described occasions when, as a young man, he gathered 
horses from the Waun and drove them down Cyfarthfa 34 (and others) 
to Lower Colliers Row.  Mr Lewis then detailed the position of a stile 
near the church (Cwm Glo Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” 
signs, the only other signs Mr Lewis recorded were those of CCW. 

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until 
recently the whole area was open.  “I never even thought about 
whether or not we had a right to go there”. 
 
He continued: 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  
We lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding 
on the paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all 
open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
erected”. 

Page 431



 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2010. 
 

 Mr Elwyn Marshall telephoned the Rights of Way Project Officer and 
requested a meeting to discuss his use of paths in the West Merthyr 
area. 

 
Mr Marshall stated that he was born in 1927 and he was brought up 
close to Mayor’s Square, Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across 
the road) to Gernant Lane. He stated that he uses all of the paths and 
tracks on the Merthyr Village Site and made several further statements 
which apply to all of the routes which he uses: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of 

the Merthyr Village Site”. 
 

•             “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter 
says this too. We have all always gone there for pleasure not for 
work”.  

 
•              “There have never been any signs or notices there until 

Merthyr Village put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 

•  “I have walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years. It is 
awkward to explain because I do not understand the map but 
I’ve always gone on whatever track I fancied – and everybody 
else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens 

of people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 

• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of 
way, we all just went on the site and walked where we wanted. 
We would take any path that took our fancy. Nobody ever 
stopped us until two years ago when they fenced in the site. I 
haven’t gone anywhere that’s been fenced in since then, I 
wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I wouldn’t to go onto 
other people’s property”.  

 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but 

I can’t understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could 
use any of these tracks”. 

 
 Mr Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using 

these routes. 
 

 Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period between 1931 and 2009. 
 

 Mr David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been 
brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother 

Page 432



lived at Gelli Du. They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before 
moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well 
(Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all 
of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other 
and lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
and all of the area down to the Parish Road.  He finds difficulty 
identifying these on a map but nevertheless attempted to trace all the 
claimed routes – including this one - on a map and said had walked 
every single path. He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There 
were four ponds – one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the 
Snakey alongside the Road, one big one on the left side of the 
Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go 
anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 
from the Davies brother’s father to go shooting – although the 
permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor 

 state now.  
Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go 
anywhere I wanted. It’s only recently that there have been 
problems, when they started fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area. Mr Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 

Page 433



Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways).  

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to 
describe when looking on a map. Although signs are up, people 
are still walking there. The land is altering daily because people 
can’t access it so easily and paths need cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went 
walking. They often took a picnic, would use different routes, for 
example, they had best views below Blaencanaid then followed the old 
tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so 
do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
 Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
 backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council 
 by Mr. Phelps) showing all of the footpaths.  

 
 Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 

 Mr & Mrs.Donald and Linda Davies have lived for 40 years at 
Heolgerrig and have used many of the routes over the Merthyr Village 
Site, including this one, regularly throughout this period. There was 
never any concern over walking anywhere on the site until recently.  

 
Mr and Mrs Davies explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in 
the night and she in the morning. They try to walk circular routes, 
sometimes shorter walks than others and generally Mrs Davies has 
walked on more of the routes than her husband. Mr. Davies also said 
that he has regularly taken his grandchildren there and their grandson 
has used certain routes on a pushbike. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. 
He has walked all of the footpaths on the area for many years and 
described the many historical sites there, for example, the Dissenters 
Chapel to which access has now been denied although he has 
accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor services 
were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 

Page 434



rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has 
gathered this information from people who have always lived there. 
Mrs. Davies agreed and also said “people before us had a right to use 
it and the old miners used it”. Mr. Davies pointed out that the tramways 
are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in the 1960s and has 
a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him around 
everywhere.  

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used 
routes on a map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that 
if there were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them 
concerning their use of these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his 
attitude re fencing. He stated that he was coming to check 
fences. He made no other remarks about the fencing and he 
didn’t say anything about me walking there although, of course, 
he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field 
or any private land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent 
them from using the paths although they are aware that at least one, in 
the north, was blocked at one time in the recent past.  

 
Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the 
‘Merthyr Village Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as 
usual”. Mrs Davies agreed saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. 
Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. There 
 were chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why 
 should people today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 
 generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by 
 generations of use”. 

 
Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land 
is for people to use.   

 
They stated that there are far more used paths than have currently 
been claimed. These are all used by many people, they always see 
people there; the last time he walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 

Page 435



women with dogs and a man on own. He also saw horse riders, at least 
2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

 
 Mrs Davies stated, 
 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man 
 meets his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around 
 on the tramroad” 
 Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
  
 Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
 
 Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill 
 health prevented him from doing so. He often used this route as a 
 section of one of several circular walks which started and ended back 
 on Heolgerrig. 
 
 Mr Chaplin looked at maps which he had previously submitted. He 
 stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row 
 site. He stated that he has lived close to this area since 1963 and has 
 used this and many other routes regularly since then. 
 
 He has never been challenged whilst using this route and has never 
 sought or been given permission to use it. He has frequently seen 
 others using it. 
 

Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period 1963 – 2007 
 

 Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. 
Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years 
before moving to Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself 
fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area and had the whole 
of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 
4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the 
footpaths for family walks on the ‘Merthyr Village Site” regularly before 
that. Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish 
Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
They stated that they have used this claimed route as a section of one 
of many walks. Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk  on certain 
paths regularly (including this one) – just going out for a walk with their 
children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths. 
He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 

Page 436



in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Eddie Thomas used to own land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the 
site, with no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child 
and for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower 
Colliers Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal 
Executive without any consideration of preserving these unique 
mining cottages. It should be noted that these cottages were so 
historically important that a number of them were re-built at the 
National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of 
Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland 
area has become an even more unique and attractive ‘green 
backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they 
have never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk 
there; they have always walked on the same tracks which have been 
clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no one 
has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I 
rode or drove on these routes I saw others doing the same. I 
sometimes take the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I 
don’t walk as I used to because of health problems”. 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 

Page 437



 Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian /industrial archaeologist 
stated that he has used this route. It is a means of access to the ruins 
of Cwm Glo Chapel. 

 
Mr Thomas’ evidence covers the period 1970 – 2007 

 
Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 
walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price. He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
 A number of people have given evidence of use of this route as a 
 means of access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. Mr. David Price and 
 Dr. and Mrs. Jones have submitted photographs of two services which 
 have been held at Cwm Glo Chapel and one of the lay preachers, Mr. 
 Jeff Leysion, also asked that his name be included as someone who 
 has used this and many other claimed paths on a regular basis; he also 
 used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel when the services were 
 held there. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 78 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 78 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
3.0 STATUS 
 
3.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
3.2 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
3.3 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 438



4.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
 
5.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
5.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
6.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
6.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
7.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
7.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
7.2 Seventeen people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

Page 439



8.0 SUMMARY 
 
8.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 78 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F on 
 the Plan, Cyfarthfa 78 and as described above. 

Page 440



9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
9.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
9.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
9.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

10.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.      

11.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
11.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 78 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D – E – F on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 78, 
has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 78 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 

Page 441



to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 78 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 442



AB

C
D

E

F

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,205
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

      CYFARTHFA 78

Page 443



Page 444

This page is intentionally left blank



5TH OCTOBER 2009 REPORT 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC RIG HT OF 
WAY, CYFARTHFA 46 

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

An application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of PRoWs 
across land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and described 
respectively on the National Coal Board (NCB) Map No. 2 and in the Schedule 
referred to below. 

 
The majority of the route of Cyfarthfa 46 is depicted as the eastern section of 
Footpath G on the NCB Map and described in paragraph 7 of the Schedule. The 
remainder of the route, that section between Llwyn yr Eos and the Cwm Du Drift 
Incline has been brought to the attention of MTCBC Officers. 
 
The section between A and B is dealt within Cyfarthfa 34. 

 
The route for determination commences at Point B on the Plan, Appendix 11, grid 
reference SO 03520547 a point on Cyfarthfa 34 (the junction of the termination of 
Footpath A with Footpath G on the NCB Map). It proceeds gradually uphill in a 
general south-westerly direction through ancient woodland alongside the Nant Llwyn 
yr Eos. The ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel are approximately 20m to the south and a 
further well-used path leads to this. Cyfarthfa 46 then goes up a bank to more level 
ground and continues through rough pasture with woodland (and the remains of 
Llwyn yr Eos House) on the left and a coal tip on the right. At the south-western edge 
of the tip, this route terminates on the grassed track of Cyfarthfa 39, the Cwm Du 
Drift Incline, at Point C, grid reference SO 03190536. The landscape here is open 
rough pasture facing fields of rough pasture on the slopes of Mynydd Aberdâr.  

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

On the 1875 OS map, a section of this route is depicted, going to the north-east from 
Llwyn yr Eos House.  

 
With the exception of the section between Llwyn yr Eos and the Cwm Du Drift 
Incline, this route is depicted on 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 editions of the OS. It 
joins Cyfarthfa 34 on each map. 

 
 
 

Page 445



1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph. 
 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 46 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970.  

 
It was depicted as a section of Footpath G on the NCB Map and the route was 
described in detail in a section of paragraph 7, of the NCB’s Footpath Application 
which stated: 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath G” on the Map which runs from 
the footpaths described in paragraphs 2 and 3 above at the point numbered 5 
on the Map and extends in a general South Westerly direction for about 700 
yards to the ruins of Llwyn yr Eos”. 

 
Cyfarthfa 46 is that section of Footpath G to the west of the junction with Footpath A; 
the remainder of Footpath G has been dealt with at Item 3 in this Report. 
 
It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes 
Application. 
 
This route was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which accompanied this 
Application, the section of Cyfarthfa 46 east of Llwyn yr Eos was depicted and 
labelled as a path. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 46 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers walked the route and found it as described above.  
 

In the west, in a short boggy section alongside the tip, the route follows a track which 
demonstrates limited vehicle use. It is Officer’s opinion that this vehicular use is only 
by farmers or representatives of the landowner. 

 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments 
 

No response received. 
 
 

Page 446



1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 46, was issued in June 2008.  
 
1.3 Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 
 

The main claimant for Cyfarthfa 46, Mr Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, 
submitted: 

 
 A copy of an OS map depicting the claimed route, 

correctly completed form WCA 5 (application to modify the Definitive Map) and, 
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier),  

 
1.3b Interviews with Users 
 
1.3b(1)Councillors are also requested to note the generic comments detailed in Item 1. 
 
1.3b(2)Most users also said that they used this route as a section of a circular route, 

passing Cwm Glo Chapel and accessing the Cwm Du Drift Incline. 
 
1.3b(3)Mr. Brian Thomas confirmed that this is one of the routes which he has regularly 

walked and uses it to access Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 

He stated that until 2006 he walked all of the routes which he has claimed and many 
others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years. He no longer walks these 
routes because of illness. He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting 
friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims and the other routes which he 
walks.  

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on 
other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 2006. 

 

Page 447



1.3b(4)Mr Donald Jones showed extensive knowledge of the whole of the area of West  
Merthyr, in particular the Merthyr Village Site, and stated that he has regularly 
walked most of the tracks on the area to the north of the Parish Road since he came 
to live at Ynysfach when he was 21 (he is now 74). He used to ride on horseback 
everyday (tracks not specified) but now just walks for pleasure and uses most of the 
footpaths on the site.  

 
Mr Jones confirmed the line of this route. 

 
He further stated  

 
“Celtic Energy erected stiles when they were going to opencast. Some of 
these are now overgrown but we can walk where we want. The air is clean; 
there are no cars, nothing”. 

 
Mr Jones now assumes that he is trespassing but has never seen any “No 
Trespassing” signs and no one has ever challenged his use of the routes. He has 
asked permission to go onto the site only once when he went there as part of a 
group – and assumes that this was because of the need for insurance. 

 
Mr Jones also stated, 

 
‘With this development we are bound to loose a number of rights of way but 
we have to keep the canal bank, the parish road, the road to the Dissenters. 
Could we sort this out?’ 

 
He expressed a wish to keep only some of the routes, for example, those up to the 
mountain and a diversion to the Parish Road if any development occurred. 

 
Mr Jones subsequently telephoned and stated that he wished to withdraw his claim. 
He later wrote (24th October 2007) that due to opencast coal at Rhydycar West, 
rights of way were no longer appropriate. Legal advice to Officers is that the 
information given by Mr. Jones prior to his telephone call should be included. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1954 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and stated that 

he has used it regularly all of his life. He detailed the position of a stile near the 
church (Cwm Glo Chapel). Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs 
Mr. Lewis recorded were those of CCW.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 

Page 448



you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr. Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and stated that this is one of the 

routes he has used regularly.  
 

He walks on several routes in the West Merthyr area, on average, two or three times 
a month, perhaps less during winter – and has done so since he moved to 
Heolgerrig in 1979. He, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and he also 
uses these walks to take photographs. He believes he has a right to walk this path 
(and others) and has never sought or been given permission to use it. He stated  
 
“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic Energy’s 
Application. I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig who have walked 
the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been challenged about using this 
route”  

 
Mr. Brown has spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig who have walked the 
same routes and neither he nor they have ever been challenged about using this 
route. 

 
Mr. Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is 
fenced. He stopped using it early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the 
run-up to the election and he didn’t have as much time as usual. 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t actually 
delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 

 
Mr. Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although some 
routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others. He usually spent about 2 
hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes although always kept to 
the routes when clearly defined. The routes have not changed during the period of 
his usage. 

 
Mr. Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 

Page 449



1.3b(7)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives. She has however, only begun using the routes in the 
north of the Merthyr Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but stated that 
she did not have to invent them, they already existed. She sees these paths (in the 
north, the Heolgerrig area) as more-used these days than those in the south – apart 
from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Connolly stated that she has only used Cyfarthfa 46 since she moved to 
Heolgerrig (1995). She finds this the easiest access to Cwm Du Chapel where, she 
stated, annual services had been held until recently (October 2007).  

 
She and her husband (main claimant for a number of routes in the Merthyr Village 
area, Mr Malcolm Connolly) have regularly used this and many of the claimed routes, 
for example, to walk their dogs, – even after being prevented from doing so when the 
area was fenced. Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from 
using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people 
would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr Elwyn Marshall telephoned the Rights of Way Project Officer and requested a 

meeting to discuss his use of paths in the West Merthyr area. 
 

Mr Marshall stated that he was born in 1927 and he was brought up close to Mayor’s 
Square, Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. He 
stated that he uses all of the paths and tracks on the Merthyr Village Site and made 
several further statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the Merthyr 

Village Site”. 
 

•             “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this too. We 
have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”.  

 
•              “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village put 

up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 

•  “I have walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years. It is awkward to explain 
because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on whatever track 
I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of people 

walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 

Page 450



• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we all just 
went on the site and walked where we wanted. We would take any path that 
took our fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years ago when they fenced 
in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been fenced in since then, I 
wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I wouldn’t to go onto other people’s 
property”.  

 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of these 
tracks”. 

 
Mr Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using these routes. 

 
Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period between 1931 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(9)Mr Philip Jones (main claimant for Cyfarthfa 33) stated that he has lived at his 

current address for 20 years and has used this and many other routes on the Waun, 
Heolgerrig for the whole of that period without being challenged or asking permission 
to use it.  Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(10) Mr David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been brought up at 

Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du. They 
married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they both 
know the whole area very well (Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road.  He finds difficulty identifying these on a map but nevertheless 
attempted to trace all the claimed routes – including this one - on a map and said 
had walked every single path. He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brother’s 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 

Page 451



Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor state now.  
Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go anywhere I 
wanted. It’s only recently that there have been problems, when they started 
fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area. Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways).  

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking there. The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went walking. They often 
took a picnic, would use different routes, for example, they had best views below 
Blaencanaid then followed the old tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council by Mr. Phelps) showing all 
of the footpaths.  

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(11)Mr & Mrs.Donald and Linda Davies have lived for 40 years at Heolgerrig and have 

used many of the routes over the Merthyr Village Site, including this one, regularly 
throughout this period. There was never any concern over walking anywhere on the 
site until recently.  

 
Mr and Mrs Davies explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in the night and 
she in the morning. They try to walk circular routes, sometimes shorter walks than 

Page 452



others and generally Mrs Davies has walked on more of the routes than her 
husband. Mr. Davies also said that he has regularly taken his grandchildren there 
and their grandson has used certain routes on a pushbike. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there. Mrs. Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”. Mr. Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere.  

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a map 
than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there were 
any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use of 
these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing. He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any private 
land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using the paths 
although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at one time in 
the recent past.  

 
Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the ‘Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”. Mrs Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. Davies also stated 

 
“I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. There were 
chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
“There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 
generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use”. 

 

Page 453



Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people to 
use.   

 
They stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been claimed. 
These are all used by many people, they always see people there; the last time he 
walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 women with dogs and a man on own. He also 
saw horse riders, at least 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

 
Mrs Davies stated, 

 
“People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 
his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad” 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(12)Mr and Mrs Mold have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths 

(from Heolgerrig and onto the Waun) in the north of the Merthyr Village Site regularly 
for this whole period and certainly since they have had a dog. This is one of the 
routes which they use. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that she understands that this and all the other paths have always 
been rights of way and they have walked a dog on them for a long time; she notes 
that she always sees other people using them. Mr Mold also said that numerous 
people use these paths. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that when they had a dog they walked daily but she does not use 
the paths very often now – in addition she has asthma. Mr Mold said that he still 
walks occasionally during fine weather. 

 
Mr and Mrs Mold said that no one has ever been there to stop people using the 
paths. 

 
Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they know a lot of people from the Shirley 
Gardens/Chester Close area who use these paths, particularly to walk their dogs. 

 
Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 
Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(13)Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health 

prevented him from doing so. He often used this route as a section of one of several 
circular walks which started and ended back on Heolgerrig. 

 
Mr Chaplin looked at maps which he had previously submitted. He stated that most 
of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site. He stated that he has lived 
close to this area since 1963 and has used this and many other routes regularly 
since then. 

 

Page 454



He has never been challenged whilst using this route and has never sought or been 
given permission to use it. He has frequently seen others using it. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period 1963 – 2007 

 
1.3b(14)Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the ‘Merthyr Village Site” regularly before that. Both stated that they 
have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north 
of it. 

 
They stated that they have used this claimed route as a section of one of many 
walks. Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk  on certain paths regularly 
(including this one) – just going out for a walk with their children and later their 
grandchildren.  

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Eddie Thomas used to own land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

Page 455



 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems”. 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(15)Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian /industrial archaeologist stated that he 

has used this route. It is a means of access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 

Mr Thomas’ evidence covers the period 1970 – 2007 
 

Messrs Colin Davies, John Gamlin and David Price all gave evidence of regular use 
of this route, as a section of a circular route or to access further routes to the south. 
 
Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years ago, he has 
used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on a daily basis until fencing 
was installed some 12 to 18 months previously to close in the land in the ownership 
of Merthyr Village Limited.  He said, 

 
“I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of recreation 
and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using any of these 
routes, however, I have walked these routes less frequently in the last 12-18 
months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using the 
routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

 
Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often with 
Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price. He gave evidence of regular use of this route 
which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 

Page 456



Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often with 
Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave evidence of regular use of this route 
which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 

 
A number of people have given evidence of use of this route as a means of access 
to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. Mr. David Price and Dr. and Mrs. Jones have 
submitted photographs of two services which have been held at Cwm Glo Chapel 
and one of the lay preachers, Mr. Jeff Leysion, also asked that his name be included 
as someone who has used this and many other claimed paths on a regular basis; he 
also used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel when the services were held there. 

 
1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interview and Written Observations and Objections 
 

Councillors are requested to note the generic comments detailed in Item 1 but no 
comments specific to this route have been made. 
 
A673/4/167 Heolgerrig School to Cwm Glo Pit Shaft –  The stile at Heolgerrig 
School is marked up farmers access only, the alleged right of way appears to go 
through the corner of one of our fields which has no stile or gate in the area and is 
fenced.  The way goes up and down large bankings around the streams these paths 
are animal networks for watering.  This is also a restricted area due to mine workings 
as authorised by Countryside Council for Wales . 

 
 Claimed ROW LA Map – 101/167X – Served Map A763/4/1 67 Heolgerrig School 

Lane to Cwm Glo Pit Shaft (Jan 2006) – Additional C omments – Route differs 
from the served map.  The served map indicates the route goes through a hayfield 
which has always been fenced and locked.   Even on the deviated map there are 
steep inclines at various points along the route. 

 
The route has been altered within 18 months. In addition to all my previous 
comments for striking out, I further request it be struck from consideration on the 
basis that due to the change, the claim now has no legal standing. 
 
In response to the Investigation Report Cyfarthfa 46 – Patch Field/Hay Field Junction 
– to Benny’s – Sheep/Cattle Track to Pencoedcae 
 
1. Description of route does not correspond with the illustration on the map. 
2. This route is not located within a TPO. 
3. This route is not located within a SSSI. 
4. There is no scheduled monument on this route. 
5. This route is not located within Open Access Land. 
6. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
7. Only notes of meetings evident, no signed statements. 

 
1.5 Other Evidence In Relation to this Route 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site,  

Page 457



March 2009 Halcrow state: 
 

“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks 
/paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is still 
used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a 
few horses and sheep were also on the site. Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”.   

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest, Open Access Land and a 
candidate Site of Interest for Nature Conservation. 

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
46. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
 1981Section 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Evidence has been adduced from maps and documents which indicate that this 
 route is a footpath. 
 
2.5 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a footpath under Section 
 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
 
 

Page 458



3.0 The Line of the Route 
 
3.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 
4.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
4.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption and the way deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there has been any 
intention not to dedicate it. 

 
4.2 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 

1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become 
a Public Right of Way.  

 
4.3 The route has been depicted on a number of documentary and cartographic sources. 
 
5.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the 
way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
6.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
6.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. More 
specifically, the majority of this route was subject to a request for suspension under 
associated applications in 1966 and 1970 (the exception was the extreme south-
western section of the route). 

 
6.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.0 User Evidence 
 
7.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
7.2 Twenty two people have given extensive evidence of use of this route for recreation 

and leisure as a footpath. 
 
7.3 One person has given evidence of equestrian use. 
 

Page 459



7.4 In addition, it is known that a number of people have used this route to access Cwm 
Glo Chapel for services. 

 
8.0 Landowners and other Interested parties 
 
8.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
8.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
8.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
8.4 E.T.Landnet, on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd., have made a number of generic 

observations. 
 
 They query the cartographic and documentary evidence. The 1966 NCB Map 
 together with the other maps examined and the user evidence clearly demonstrate 
 that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this stage there was no 
 requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
 Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and Countryside 
 Act 1949. 
 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 
 Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 
 the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1. Officers 
 disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 
 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 
 witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
 this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 
 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 
 relevant legislation. 

Page 460



 
8.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 
 general observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into 
 consideration when determining this Application, for example, they too have raised 
 concerns about health and safety. 
 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of this 

route as a footpath. 
 

The 1966 and 1970 applications by the NCB clearly indicate that at time the route 
was a footpath. 

 
The limited equestrian evidence is not sufficient to support a bridleway. 

 
Officers now consider that the available evidence establishes the existence of this 
route as a footpath. 

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
observations from users and landlords and tenants of the land, and having taken into 
account the information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f Way exists. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 
 Either 
 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that  

the route marked with a bold line between b – C on the plan on Appendix 11 
has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 

Page 461



 
c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 

a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made 
within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
are withdrawn.   

 
d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination. 

 
  Or 
 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities insufficient 

evidence has been provided in support of the application to record the claimed Right 
of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has been rejected and that they 
may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning 
Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
above. 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN AND 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 462



Page 463



Page 464

This page is intentionally left blank



DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC RIG HT OF 
WAY, CYFARTHFA 46 

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
The legal background is to be found at Appendix 1. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

An application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of PRoWs 
across land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and described 
respectively on the National Coal Board (NCB) Map No. 2 and in the Schedule 
referred to below. 

 
The majority of the route of Cyfarthfa 46 is depicted as the eastern section of 
Footpath G on the NCB Map and described in paragraph 7 of the Schedule.  An 
extension of the route, which deviates from Footpath G, has been brought to the 
attention of MTCBC Officers. 
 
The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 46, grid reference SO 
03850562 and continues to Point B, grid reference SO03520547 a point on Cyfarthfa 
34 (the junction of the termination of Footpath A with Footpath G on the NCB Map). It 
proceeds gradually uphill in a general south-westerly direction through ancient 
woodland alongside the Nant Llwyn yr Eos with the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel to the 
south. Cyfarthfa 46 then goes up a bank to more level ground and continues through 
rough pasture and woodland to the remains of Llwyn yr Eos House, Point E, grid 
reference SO03290540.  
 
Officers have observed other used routes. At Point C, grid reference SO03500547 
there is clearly discernable evidence of a used path leading westward. It descends 
the northern bank of the Nant Llwynyreos, crosses the stream and ascends the 
southern bank and continues uphill to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel where it 
terminates at Point C1, grid reference SO03480545. This is depicted as a dashed 
line between Points C – C1 on the plan and is presented to councillors as Cyfarthfa 
78. 
 
Councillors are requested to note that the used route also deviates at Point D, grid 
reference SO03320543 and the track continues through rough pasture with a coal tip 
on the right. At the south-western edge of the tip, the route terminates on the 
grassed track of Cyfarthfa 39, the Cwm Du Drift Incline, at Point D1, grid reference 
SO 03190536. The landscape here is open rough pasture facing fields of rough 
pasture on the slopes of Mynydd Aberdâr. This route is depicted as a dashed line 
between Points D – D1 on the plan and is presented to councillors as Cyfarthfa 86. 
 
The section between A and B on the plan, Cyfarthfa 46 is dealt with in Cyfarthfa 34. 
Councillors are requested to determine the routes between B – E and C – C1 and D 
– D1. 

 

Page 465



1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

On the 1875 OS map, a section of this route is depicted, going to the north-east from 
Llwyn yr Eos House.  

 
With the exception of the section between Llwyn yr Eos and the Cwm Du Drift 
Incline, this route is depicted on 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 editions of the OS. It 
joins Cyfarthfa 34 on each map. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph. 
 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 46 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970.  

 
It was depicted as a section of Footpath G on the NCB Map and the route was 
described in detail in a section of paragraph 7, of the NCB’s Footpath Application 
which stated: 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath G” on the Map which runs from 
the footpaths described in paragraphs 2 and 3 above at the point numbered 5 
on the Map and extends in a general South Westerly direction for about 700 
yards to the ruins of Llwyn yr Eos”. 

 
Cyfarthfa 46 is that section of Footpath G to the west of the junction with Footpath A; 
the remainder of Footpath G has been dealt with at Item 3 in this Report. 
 
It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes 
Application. 
 
This route was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which accompanied this 
Application, the section of Cyfarthfa 46 east of Llwyn yr Eos was depicted and 
labelled as a path. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 46 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.6 Site Visits 
 

Page 466



Officers walked the route and found it as described above.  
 

In the west, in a short boggy section alongside the tip, the route follows a track which 
demonstrates limited vehicle use. It is Officer’s opinion that this vehicular use is only 
by farmers or representatives of the landowner. 

 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments 
 

No response received. 
 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 46, was issued in June 2008.  
 
1.3 Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 
 

The main claimant for Cyfarthfa 46, Mr Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, 
submitted: 

 
 A copy of an OS map depicting the claimed route, 

correctly completed form WCA 5 (application to modify the Definitive Map) and, 
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier),  

 
1.3b Interviews with Users 
 
1.3b(1)Councillors are also requested to note the generic comments detailed in Item 1. 
 
1.3b(2)Most users also said that they used this route as a section of a circular route, 

passing Cwm Glo Chapel and accessing the Cwm Du Drift Incline. 
 
1.3b(3)Mr. Brian Thomas confirmed that this is one of the routes which he has regularly 

walked and uses it to access Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 

He stated that until 2006 he walked all of the routes which he has claimed and many 
others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years. He no longer walks these 
routes because of illness. He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting 
friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims and the other routes which he 
walks.  

 

Page 467



He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on 
other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 2006. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr Donald Jones showed extensive knowledge of the whole of the area of West  

Merthyr, in particular the Merthyr Village Site, and stated that he has regularly 
walked most of the tracks on the area to the north of the Parish Road since he came 
to live at Ynysfach when he was 21 (he is now 74). He used to ride on horseback 
everyday (tracks not specified) but now just walks for pleasure and uses most of the 
footpaths on the site.  

 
Mr Jones confirmed the line of this route. 

 
He further stated  

 
“Celtic Energy erected stiles when they were going to opencast. Some of 
these are now overgrown but we can walk where we want. The air is clean; 
there are no cars, nothing”. 

 
Mr Jones now assumes that he is trespassing but has never seen any “No 
Trespassing” signs and no one has ever challenged his use of the routes. He has 
asked permission to go onto the site only once when he went there as part of a 
group – and assumes that this was because of the need for insurance. 

 
Mr Jones also stated, 

 
‘With this development we are bound to loose a number of rights of way but 
we have to keep the canal bank, the parish road, the road to the Dissenters. 
Could we sort this out?’ 

 
He expressed a wish to keep only some of the routes, for example, those up to the 
mountain and a diversion to the Parish Road if any development occurred. 

 
Mr Jones subsequently telephoned and stated that he wished to withdraw his claim. 
He later wrote (24th October 2007) that due to opencast coal at Rhydycar West, 
rights of way were no longer appropriate. Legal advice to Officers is that the 
information given by Mr. Jones prior to his telephone call should be included. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1954 and 2007. 

 

Page 468



1.3b(5)Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and stated that 
he has used it regularly all of his life. He detailed the position of a stile near the 
church (Cwm Glo Chapel). Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs 
Mr. Lewis recorded were those of CCW.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr. Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and stated that this is one of the 

routes he has used regularly.  
 

He walks on several routes in the West Merthyr area, on average, two or three times 
a month, perhaps less during winter – and has done so since he moved to 
Heolgerrig in 1979. He, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and he also 
uses these walks to take photographs. He believes he has a right to walk this path 
(and others) and has never sought or been given permission to use it. He stated  
 
“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic Energy’s 
Application. I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig who have walked 
the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been challenged about using this 
route”  

 
Mr. Brown has spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig who have walked the 
same routes and neither he nor they have ever been challenged about using this 
route. 

 
Mr. Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is 
fenced. He stopped using it early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the 
run-up to the election and he didn’t have as much time as usual. 

 

Page 469



Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t actually 
delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 

 
Mr. Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although some 
routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others. He usually spent about 2 
hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes although always kept to 
the routes when clearly defined. The routes have not changed during the period of 
his usage. 

 
Mr. Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(7)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives. She has however, only begun using the routes in the 
north of the Merthyr Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but stated that 
she did not have to invent them, they already existed. She sees these paths (in the 
north, the Heolgerrig area) as more-used these days than those in the south – apart 
from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Connolly stated that she has only used Cyfarthfa 46 since she moved to 
Heolgerrig (1995). She finds this the easiest access to Cwm Du Chapel where, she 
stated, annual services had been held until recently (October 2007).  

 
She and her husband (main claimant for a number of routes in the Merthyr Village 
area, Mr Malcolm Connolly) have regularly used this and many of the claimed routes, 
for example, to walk their dogs, – even after being prevented from doing so when the 
area was fenced. Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from 
using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people 
would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr Elwyn Marshall telephoned the Rights of Way Project Officer and requested a 

meeting to discuss his use of paths in the West Merthyr area. 
 

Mr Marshall stated that he was born in 1927 and he was brought up close to Mayor’s 
Square, Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. He 
stated that he uses all of the paths and tracks on the Merthyr Village Site and made 
several further statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the Merthyr 

Village Site”. 
 

Page 470



•             “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this too. We 
have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”.  

 
•              “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village put 

up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 

•  “I have walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years. It is awkward to explain 
because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on whatever track 
I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of people 

walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 

• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we all just 
went on the site and walked where we wanted. We would take any path that 
took our fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years ago when they fenced 
in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been fenced in since then, I 
wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I wouldn’t to go onto other people’s 
property”.  

 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of these 
tracks”. 

 
Mr Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using these routes. 

 
Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period between 1931 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(9)Mr Philip Jones (main claimant for Cyfarthfa 33) stated that he has lived at his 

current address for 20 years and has used this and many other routes on the Waun, 
Heolgerrig for the whole of that period without being challenged or asking permission 
to use it.  Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(10) Mr David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been brought up at 

Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du. They 
married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they both 
know the whole area very well (Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 

Page 471



to the Parish Road.  He finds difficulty identifying these on a map but nevertheless 
attempted to trace all the claimed routes – including this one - on a map and said 
had walked every single path. He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brother’s 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor state now.  
Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go anywhere I 
wanted. It’s only recently that there have been problems, when they started 
fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area. Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways).  

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking there. The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went walking. They often 
took a picnic, would use different routes, for example, they had best views below 
Blaencanaid then followed the old tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 

Page 472



Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council by Mr. Phelps) showing all 
of the footpaths.  

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(11)Mr & Mrs.Donald and Linda Davies have lived for 40 years at Heolgerrig and have 

used many of the routes over the Merthyr Village Site, including this one, regularly 
throughout this period. There was never any concern over walking anywhere on the 
site until recently.  

 
Mr and Mrs Davies explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in the night and 
she in the morning. They try to walk circular routes, sometimes shorter walks than 
others and generally Mrs Davies has walked on more of the routes than her 
husband. Mr. Davies also said that he has regularly taken his grandchildren there 
and their grandson has used certain routes on a pushbike. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there. Mrs. Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”. Mr. Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere.  

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a map 
than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there were 
any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use of 
these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing. He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any private 
land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using the paths 
although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at one time in 
the recent past.  

 

Page 473



Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the ‘Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”. Mrs Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. Davies also stated 

 
“I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. There were 
chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
“There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 
generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use”. 

 
Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people to 
use.   

 
They stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been claimed. 
These are all used by many people, they always see people there; the last time he 
walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 women with dogs and a man on own. He also 
saw horse riders, at least 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

 
Mrs Davies stated, 

 
“People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 
his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad” 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(12)Mr and Mrs Mold have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths 

(from Heolgerrig and onto the Waun) in the north of the Merthyr Village Site regularly 
for this whole period and certainly since they have had a dog. This is one of the 
routes which they use. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that she understands that this and all the other paths have always 
been rights of way and they have walked a dog on them for a long time; she notes 
that she always sees other people using them. Mr Mold also said that numerous 
people use these paths. 

 
Mrs Mold stated that when they had a dog they walked daily but she does not use 
the paths very often now – in addition she has asthma. Mr Mold said that he still 
walks occasionally during fine weather. 

 
Mr and Mrs Mold said that no one has ever been there to stop people using the 
paths. 

 
Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they know a lot of people from the Shirley 
Gardens/Chester Close area who use these paths, particularly to walk their dogs. 

Page 474



 
Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 
Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(13)Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health 

prevented him from doing so. He often used this route as a section of one of several 
circular walks which started and ended back on Heolgerrig. 

 
Mr Chaplin looked at maps which he had previously submitted. He stated that most 
of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site. He stated that he has lived 
close to this area since 1963 and has used this and many other routes regularly 
since then. 

 
He has never been challenged whilst using this route and has never sought or been 
given permission to use it. He has frequently seen others using it. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period 1963 – 2007 

 
1.3b(14)Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the ‘Merthyr Village Site” regularly before that. Both stated that they 
have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north 
of it. 

 
They stated that they have used this claimed route as a section of one of many 
walks. Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk  on certain paths regularly 
(including this one) – just going out for a walk with their children and later their 
grandchildren.  

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Eddie Thomas used to own land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 

Page 475



Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems”. 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(15)Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian /industrial archaeologist stated that he 

has used this route. It is a means of access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 

Mr Thomas’ evidence covers the period 1970 – 2007 
 

Messrs Colin Davies, John Gamlin and David Price all gave evidence of regular use 
of this route, as a section of a circular route or to access further routes to the south. 
 
Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years ago, he has 
used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on a daily basis until fencing 
was installed some 12 to 18 months previously to close in the land in the ownership 
of Merthyr Village Limited.  He said, 

 
“I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of recreation 
and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using any of these 

Page 476



routes, however, I have walked these routes less frequently in the last 12-18 
months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using the 
routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

 
Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often with 
Mr Colin Davies and Mr David Price. He gave evidence of regular use of this route 
which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often with 
Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave evidence of regular use of this route 
which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 

 
A number of people have given evidence of use of this route as a means of access 
to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. Mr. David Price and Dr. and Mrs. Jones have 
submitted photographs of two services which have been held at Cwm Glo Chapel 
and one of the lay preachers, Mr. Jeff Leysion, also asked that his name be included 
as someone who has used this and many other claimed paths on a regular basis; he 
also used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel when the services were held there. 

 
1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interview and Written Observations and Objections 
 

Councillors are requested to note the generic comments detailed in Item 1 of the 
Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009.but no comments specific to this 
route have been made. 
 
Mrs Brenda Misslebrook, tenant on the site stated: 
 
A673/4/167 Heolgerrig School to Cwm Glo Pit Shaft –  The stile at Heolgerrig 
School is marked up farmers access only, the alleged right of way appears to go 
through the corner of one of our fields which has no stile or gate in the area and is 
fenced.  The way goes up and down large bankings around the streams these paths 
are animal networks for watering.  This is also a restricted area due to mine workings 
as authorised by Countryside Council for Wales . 

 
 Claimed ROW LA Map – 101/167X – Served Map A763/4/1 67 Heolgerrig School 

Lane to Cwm Glo Pit Shaft (Jan 2006) – Additional C omments – Route differs 
from the served map.  The served map indicates the route goes through a hayfield 
which has always been fenced and locked.   Even on the deviated map there are 
steep inclines at various points along the route. 

 

Page 477



The route has been altered within 18 months. In addition to all my previous 
comments for striking out, I further request it be struck from consideration on the 
basis that due to the change, the claim now has no legal standing. 
 
In response to the Investigation Report Cyfarthfa 46 – Patch Field/Hay Field Junction 
– to Benny’s – Sheep/Cattle Track to Pencoedcae 
 
1. Description of route does not correspond with the illustration on the map. 
2. This route is not located within a TPO. 
3. This route is not located within a SSSI. 
4. There is no scheduled monument on this route. 
5. This route is not located within Open Access Land. 
6. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
7. Only notes of meetings evident, no signed statements. 

 
1.5 Other Evidence In Relation to this Route 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site,  
March 2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks 
/paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is still 
used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a 
few horses and sheep were also on the site. Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”.   

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest, Open Access Land and a 
candidate Site of Interest for Nature Conservation. 

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
46, 78 and 86. 

 

Page 478



2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
 1981Section 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Evidence has been adduced from maps and documents which indicate that this 
 route is a footpath. 
 
2.5 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a footpath under Section 
 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
3.0 The Line of the Route 
 
3.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 
4.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
4.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption and the way deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there has been any 
intention not to dedicate it. 

 
4.2 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 

1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become 
a Public Right of Way.  

 
4.3 The route has been depicted on a number of documentary and cartographic sources. 
 
5.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the 
way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
6.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
6.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. More 
specifically, the majority of this route was subject to a request for suspension under 

Page 479



associated applications in 1966 and 1970 (the exception was the extreme south-
western section of the route). 

 
6.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.0 User Evidence 
 
7.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
7.2 Twenty two people have given extensive evidence of use of this route for recreation 

and leisure as a footpath. 
 
7.3 One person has given evidence of equestrian use. 
 
7.4 In addition, it is known that a number of people have used this route to access Cwm 

Glo Chapel for services. 
 
8.0 Landowners and other Interested parties 
 
8.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
8.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
8.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
8.4 E.T.Landnet, on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd., have made a number of generic 

observations. 
 
 They query the cartographic and documentary evidence. The 1966 NCB Map 
 together with the other maps examined and the user evidence clearly demonstrate 
 that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this stage there was no 
 requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
 Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and Countryside 
 Act 1949. 
 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 
 Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 

Page 480



 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 
houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 
 the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1 of the Rights 
of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. Officers  disregard any comments which do 
not relate to PRoW. 
 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 
 witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
 this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 
 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 
 relevant legislation. 
 
8.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 
 general observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into 
 consideration when determining this Application, for example, they too have raised 
 concerns about health and safety. 
 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of this 

route as a footpath. 
 

The 1966 and 1970 applications by the NCB clearly indicate that at time Cyfarthfa 46 
was a footpath. 

 
The limited equestrian evidence is not sufficient to support a bridleway. 

 
Officers now consider that the available evidence establishes the existence of this 
route as a footpath. 

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
observations from users and landlords and tenants of the land, and having taken into 
account the information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that rights of way, Cyfarthfa 46, 78 and 86 do exist 
over these routes. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that these highways were established long 
before modern times and therefore continue to be highways despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

Page 481



 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f Way exists. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 
 1) In respect of Cyfarthfa 46; Either 
 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that 

the route marked with a bold line between B – E on the plan on Cyfarthfa 46 
has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 

c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 
a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made 
within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
are withdrawn.   

 
d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination. 

 
  Or 
 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities insufficient 

evidence has been provided in support of the application to record the claimed Right 
of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has been rejected and that they 
may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning 
Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
 2) In respect of Cyfarthfa 78; Either 
 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that 

the route marked with a dashed line between C – C1 on the plan on Cyfarthfa 
46 has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 

Page 482



c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 
a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made 
within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
are withdrawn.   

 
d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination. 

 
  Or 
 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities insufficient 

evidence has been provided in support of the application to record the claimed Right 
of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has been rejected and that they 
may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning 
Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
 2) In respect of Cyfarthfa 86; Either 
 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support that 

the route marked with a dashed line between D – D1 on the plan on Cyfarthfa 
46 has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 

c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 
a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made 
within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
are withdrawn.   

 
d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination. 

 
  Or 
 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities insufficient 

evidence has been provided in support of the application to record the claimed Right 
of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has been rejected and that they 
may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning 
Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set out in 1, 
2 and 3 above. 
 
 

Page 483



 
GARETH CHAPMAN AND 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 484



P
age 485



P
age 486

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 7th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 81 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at its junction with Cyfarthfa 92 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction) at Point A on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 81, grid reference 
 SO04100564 and it proceeds alongside re-vegetated coal tip in a 
 general east – north easterly direction to Point B, grid reference 
 SO04120564. Here  it changes to a general south-easterly direction 
 and continues through an open area and then a sparsely populated 
 wooded area to Point C, grid reference SO04150560, its junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 95 (also before committee today for determination). It 
 continues in a general south-easterly direction through another 
 open area to Point D, grid reference SO04170557 where it changes to 
 a general south-westerly direction and continues through a gap in the 
 trees into another open area to Point E, grid reference SO04160555. 
 Here it changes to a general south-south-easterly direction and 
 continues through the open area and then enters the wooded banks of 
 the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos stream, crosses the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos and then 
 leaves the wooded banks of the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos and continues to 
 another open area to Point F, grid reference SO04180550, its junction 
 with Cyfarthfa 94 (also before committee today for determination). It 
 continues in a general south-south-easterly direction through the open 
 area and then enters the Canal Woods and continues to Point G, grid 
 reference SO04210544 where it changes to a general south-westerly 
 direction. It proceeds through the Canal Woods into a further open area 
 to Point H, grid reference SO04190539. Here it reverts to a general 
 south-south-easterly direction and continues through a gap in the trees 
 and then through another open area to Point I grid reference 
 SO04200533. Here  it changes to a general south-easterly direction 
 and re-enters the Canal Woods and continues to Point J, grid reference 
 SO04220532, its junction with Cyfarthfa 80 (also before committee 

 

Agenda Item 15

Page 487



 today for determination). It finally continues in a general south-
 easterly direction through the Canal Woods to terminate at Point K, 
 grid reference SO04290524, its junction with Cyfarthfa 39 (a  route on 
 the unconfirmed 2010 Order). 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C –D – E – F – G – H – I – J 
 – K. 
 
 Councillors are also requested to note that evidence exists that there 
 are a further three routes which lead off Cyfarthfa 80. 
 
 They are requested to note that evidence exists for the route depicted 
 with a dashed line between Points C – L on the plan. This commences 
 on Cyfarthfa 81 at Point C, grid reference SO04150560 and continues 
 in a general east-south-easterly direction through an open area and 
 then through a wooded area to terminate at Point L, grid reference 
 SO04230560, its junction with Cyfarthfa 135 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order). This route is known as Cyfarthfa 95. 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that user walk this 
 route as depicted between Points C – L. 
 
 Councillors are also requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
 depicted with a dotted line between Points F – M – N – O - P – Q - R 
 on the plan. It commences at Point F, grid reference SO04180550 and 
 proceeds through an open area in a general easterly direction to Point 
 M, grid reference SO04210550. Here it changes to a general south-
 easterly direction and continues across re-vegetated coal tip and then 
 enters the wooded banks of the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos where it turns to a 
 general east-north-easterly direction at Point N, grid reference 
 SO04260548. From here it continues to Point O, grid reference 
 SO04280549, its western junction with Cyfarthfa 138 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order). It continues along the line of Cyfarthfa 138 to 
 Point P, grid reference SO04280550. From here it continues along the 
 banks of the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos in a general east-north-easterly 
 direction to Point Q, grid reference SO04290550 where it enters a 
 more open area and changes to a general north-easterly direction and 
 continues to Point R, grid reference SO04310553 where it terminates 
 at its junction with Cyfarthfa 79 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 
 Order). Councillors are requested to note that the section between 
 Points O and P has already been determined and is a section of 
 Cyfarthfa 138 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order). The route is 
 known as Cyfarthfa 94 between Points F – M – N – O and It is known 
 as Cyfarthfa 98 between Points P – Q – R.   
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that user walk the 
 route as depicted between F – M – N – O – P – Q – R. 
 

Page 488



 Councillors are also requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
 depicted with a line of crosses between Points J – S on the plan. 
 The route commences at Point J, grid reference SO04220532 in the 
 Canal Woods and proceeds through the Canal Woods in a general 
 south-westerly direction to Point S, grid reference SO04150528 where 
 it terminates at its junction with Cyfarthfa 39 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order). This route is known as Cyfarthfa 80. 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that user walk this 
 route as depicted between J - S. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 
 With the exception of Cyfarthfa 80, sections of the routes are depicted 
 on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 
 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to these routes and found them clearly 
 defined and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 them. 
 
1.5 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
 including these paths - from this time. He has used this route more 
 often since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.   
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or any of the paths challenged and does not 
 recognise any obstructions on the route. 
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 

Page 489



 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has 
 never been challenged while using the route.  She has never asked 
 permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including these.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

Page 490



Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
 this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 
 Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 
 Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
 demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  
 He commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the 
 Merthyr Village Site. 
 

Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
too small when his children were born.  For the past 20 years he has 
only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 
named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 
 

Page 491



“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, the 
stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no 
mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s 
a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 
 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 
the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths.  He described 
the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 
 
Mr Lewis confirmed these routes and stated that he has used this and 
the others presented for determination today regularly for at least 20 
years.  He described occasions when, as a young man, he gathered 
horses from the Waun and drove them down Cyfarthfa 34 (and others) 
to Lower Colliers Row.  Mr Lewis then detailed the position of a stile 
near the church (Cwm Glo Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” 
signs, the only other signs Mr Lewis recorded were those of CCW. 

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until 
recently the whole area was open.  “I never even thought about 
whether or not we had a right to go there”. 
 
He continued: 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  
We lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding 
on the paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all 
open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
erected”. 
 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2010. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 81, Cyfarthfa 95, Cyfarthfa 94, Cyfarthfa 
98 and Cyfarthfa 80. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 81, Cyfarthfa 95, Cyfarthfa 94, 
Cyfarthfa 98 and Cyfarthfa 80 as clearly defined and well-used 
footpaths. 

Page 492



 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that these routes are footpaths, have user evidence 
 of the routes as footpaths and therefore present these route to 
 Councillors as footpaths. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the routes are not to 
 become a Public Rights of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
 as a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate them. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 All routes are clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
 

Page 493



5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the routes. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE  
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Five people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
as highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
intention during that period to dedicate them. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 81, Cyfarthfa 95, Cyfarthfa 94, Cyfarthfa 98 
 and Cyfarthfa 80 for determination as footpaths. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of these routes as 
 footpaths. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over these routes. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the routes. It 
 is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 

Page 494



 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement; Cyfarthfa 81 as depicted by a bold line between Points 
 A – B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I – J - K, Cyfarthfa 95 as depicted by a 
 dashed line between Points C – L, Cyfarthfa 94 as depicted by a dotted 
 line between Points F – M – N – O, Cyfarthfa 98 as depicted by a 
 dotted line between Points P – Q – R, Cyfarthfa 80 as depicted by a 
 line of crosses between Points J – S on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 81 and as 
 described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.     
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 81 

Page 495



  
 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 

to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I – J - K on the 
Plan, Cyfarthfa 81, has been used for such period so as 
to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 81 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to 
refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 95 

  
 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 

to support that the route marked with a dashed line 
between Points C – L on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 81, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 95 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
e) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to 
refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 94 

  

Page 496



 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a dotted line 
between Points F – M – N - O on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 81, 
has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 94 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
f) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to 
refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 98 

  
 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 

to support that the route marked with a dotted line 
between Points P – Q - R on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 81, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 98 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
g) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to 
refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 497



In respect of Cyfarthfa 80 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a line of crosses 
between Points J - S on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 81, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 80 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
h) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to 
refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 81 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 498



D

D

D
D

A
B

C
D

E

F

G

H

I
J

K

S

L

M

N

O
P

Q

R

(disused)

Tip

Tip

Tip

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,940
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA  81

Page 499



Page 500

This page is intentionally left blank



  MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 6th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 83 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 83 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 21st March 2011, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 30th March 2011 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011; 
Cyfarthfa 83 had previously been approved by a Committee in 
November 2010; this decision was ratified by Council in December 
2010. Both reports are appended at the end of this item. 

 
As shown on the plan, Cyfarthfa 83, the route in the 2011 Order 
commences on Cyfarthfa 35 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) 
at Point B, grid reference SO03630560 and proceeds in a general 
south-westerly direction to Point C, grid reference SO03610557 where 
it changes to a general south-easterly direction and continues to Point 
D grid reference SO03620555 where it terminates on Cyfarthfa 34 (a 
route subject to the unconfirmed 2011 Order and also before 
committee today for correction). 
 
Subsequent advice from users and investigation by officers, however, 
has shown that the line of the recorded route is incomplete and that the 
walked route commences at Point A, grid reference SO03640561, its 
junction with Cyfarthfa 139 (also before Committee today for 
correction). 
 
Councillors are advised that there is very clear evidence on the ground 
that users walk the route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D.  
 
 

 

Agenda Item 16

Page 501



 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 

and as described above. 
 
1.5  User Evidence 
 

Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr - 
including this path - from this time.  He regularly uses it to walk his dog, 
even after being prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  
He accesses it from the north, from his home, from Cyfarthfa 36 and 
Cyfarthfa 35; one of the routes which he uses to go to Cwm Glo Chapel 
or as a part of longer walks over the whole of the west Merthyr area. 

 
He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
had his use of this, or any of his used paths challenged and does not 
recognise any obstructions on the route. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 

Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole west Merthyr area all their lives.  She has used this route 
for walks as an adult since the 1950s but more often since 1996 when 
she moved to Heolgerrig. 

 
She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dogs, and include it as one of several circular 
walks - even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced.  She accesses it from the north, from her home, from Cyfarthfa 
36 and Cyfarthfa 35.  Mrs Connolly stated that this is one of the routes 
which she uses to go to Cwm Glo Chapel or as a part of longer walks 
over the whole of the west Merthyr area. 
 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using 
the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog-fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they would have lost this 
area for exercise.  She does not recognise any obstructions on the 
route; has never been challenged while using it and has never asked 
permission of anyone to use it. 

 

Page 502



Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2010. 
 
Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he has lived at Heolgerrig since 1978 and 
from that time has regularly walked this route until a combination of ill 
health and the fencing of the Merthyr Village Site prevented him from 
doing so.  He accessed it from Gulley Nanny or from Cwm Glo Road, 
from Cyfarthfa 36 and Cyfarthfa 35 or from Cyfarthfa 34 and used it as 
a section of several circular walks.  He does not recognise any 
obstructions on the route; has never been challenged while using the 
route and has never asked permission of anyone to use it.  He said that 
this is one of the routes to Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 
Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  
He commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
too small when his children were born.  For the past 20 years he has 
only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 
named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, the 
stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no 
mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s 
a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 
 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 
the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths.  He described 
the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 
 

Page 503



He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until 
recently the whole area was open.  “I never even thought about 
whether or not we had a right to go there”. 
 
He continued: 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  
We lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding 
on the paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all 
open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
erected”. 
 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2010. 
 
Mr Tony Cousins stated that he has used this route for at least 25 
years and despite the fencing of the site, continues to use it.  He 
accesses it from Gulley Nanny or from Cwm Glo Road, from Cyfarthfa 
36 and Cyfarthfa 35 or from Cyfarthfa 34 and uses it as a section of 
several circular walks.  He does not recognise any obstructions on the 
route; has never been challenged while using the route and has never 
asked permission of anyone to use it. 
 
Mr David Phelps explained that his wife had been brought up at 
Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts had lived at Gelli Du.  After their 
marriage in 1953 they lived at Pantycelynen and then moved to Gelli 
Du in (approximately) 1957.  He, his wife and sons have always used 
this route, both while living at Gelli Du and  subsequently for recreation, 
describing it “if go to the right of Gelli Du Farm, up past the brook to the 
chapel”.  This is a section of several circular routes which Mr Phelps 
still uses, despite the fencing of the Merthyr Village Site.  He does not 
recognise any obstructions on the route; has never been challenged 
while using the route and has never asked permission of anyone to use 
it. 
 
Mr and Mrs Donald and Linda Davies have lived at Heolgerrig for 40 
years and have used this route for most of that time; they continue to 
use it today despite the fencing of the Merthyr Village Site.  They walk 
daily, sometimes together and sometimes separately, walking their dog 
and this is a section of one of several circular routes which they each 
use.  They do not recognise any obstructions on the route; have never 
been challenged while using it and have never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 
 
Mr David Phelps explained that his wife had been brought up at 
Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts had lived at Gelli Du.  After their 
marriage in 1953 they lived at Pantycelynen and then moved to Gelli 
Du in (approximately) 1957.  He, his wife and sons have always used 
this route, both while living at Gelli Du and  subsequently for recreation, 
describing it “if go to the right of Gelli Du Farm, up past the brook to the 
chapel”.  This is a section of several circular routes which Mr Phelps 

Page 504



still uses, despite the fencing of the Merthyr Village Site.  He does not 
recognise any obstructions on the route; has never been challenged 
while using the route and has never asked permission of anyone to use 
it. 
 
Mr and Mrs Donald and Linda Davies have lived at Heolgerrig for 40 
years and have used this route for most of that time; they continue to 
use it today despite the fencing of the Merthyr Village Site.  They walk 
daily, sometimes together and sometimes separately, walking their dog 
and this is a section of one of several circular routes which they each 
use.  They do not recognise any obstructions on the route; have never 
been challenged while using it and have never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 83, which he uses to get back 
onto the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and then back to 
Heolgerrig.   

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 

Page 505



Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years 

ago, he has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on 
a daily basis until fencing was installed some 12 to 18 months 
previously to close in the land in the ownership of Merthyr Village 
Limited.  He said, 

 
 “I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of 
 recreation and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using 
 any of these routes, however, I have walked these routes less 
 frequently in the last 12-18 months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people 
using the routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2012. 

 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 83. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 83 as a clearly defined and well-
used route. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 

Page 506



2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 

of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council 
or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become a 
Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
this case Officers consider that a reliable date of challenge would be 
between 1987 and the fencing in 2007 when access was prevented 
onto the Merthyr Village Site. User evidence exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground.   
 
5.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 
 
5.2 Fourteen people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 
 

Page 507



6.0 SUMMARY 
 
6.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 83 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 

is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route.  It 
is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 

“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
route is a highway and has no obstructions. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 

the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987 - 2007 and at all 
material times before it. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement could therefore be made under S.53 (3(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53 (3)(b) have been met and that the Public Right of way exists. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of these routes under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that 
these highways were established long before modern times and 
therefore continue to be highways despite any subsequent 
obstructions. 

Page 508



 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of way exists. 

 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D  on the Plan, 
Cyfarthfa 83 and as described above. 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
7.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
7.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
7.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.      

9.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
9.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 83 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 83, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 83 as 
a footpath. 

 

Page 509



 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 83 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 510



A

B

C

D

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:336
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 83

Page 511



Page 512

This page is intentionally left blank



29th November 2010 Report 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 5th November 2010 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Rights of Way Section 
Committee Date 29th November 2010 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Determination of application to record a Public Rig ht of 
Way, Cyfarthfa 83 

1.1 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.2 Description of Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 83, grid reference 

SO03600560, on Cyfarthfa 35, a route which was determined in a Committee, 
October 2009, ratified by Full Council on 11th November 2009 and is included 
in the unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order, 9th February 2010.  It 
proceeds in a general south-westerly direction, from the southern bank of the 
Nant Llwynyreos and the ruins of Gelli Du farmyard to Point B, grid reference 
SO03610557 where it turns to a general south-easterly direction to terminate 
at Point C, grid reference SO03620557, on Cyfarthfa 34, a route which was 
determined in a Committee, 20th January 2010, ratified by Full Council on 3rd 
February 2010 and is included in the unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification 
Order, 9th February 2010. Councillors will also note that Cyfarthfa 34 is before 
them for determination today. 

 
 Councillors are advised that there is very clear evidence on the ground that 

users walk this route as depicted on the plan between Points A – C. Officers 
have been advised that this route is used to access routes to the south-west 
e.g. to Cwm Glo Chapel. 

 
 Councillors are advised that Officers identify this route as one which is well-

used and well-recognised. 
 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined and as 

described above. 
 

 

Page 513



 
 
1.5 User Evidence  
 

Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 
married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr - including this 
path - from this time.  He regularly uses it to walk his dog, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses it from the 
north, from his home, from Cyfarthfa 36 (a route which was determined in a 
Committee, 20th January 2010, ratified by Full Council on 3rd February 2010 
and is included in the unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order, 9th 
February 2010) and Cyfarthfa 35 (a route which was determined in a 
Committee, October 2009, ratified by Full Council on 11th November 2009 and 
is included in the unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order, 9th February 
2010), or from Cyfarthfa 73 (before Councillors for determination today).  He 
uses this route as a section of different circular walks; one of the routes which 
he uses to go to Cwm Glo Chapel or as a part of longer walks over the whole 
of the west Merthyr area. 

 
He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never had his 
use of this, or any of his used paths challenged and does not recognise any 
obstructions on the route. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and 
her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole west Merthyr area all their 
lives.  She has used this route for walks as an adult since the 1950s but more 
often since 1996 when she moved to Heolgerrig. 

 
She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for example, to 
walk their dogs, and include it as one of several circular walks - even after 
being prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  She accesses it 
from the north, from her home, from Cyfarthfa 36 (a route which was 
determined in a Committee, 20th January 2010, ratified by Full Council on 3rd 
February 2010 and is included in the unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification 
Order, 9th February 2010) and Cyfarthfa 35 (a route which was determined in a 
Committee, October 2009, ratified by Full Council on 11th November 2009 and 
is included in the unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order, 9th February 
2010) or from Cyfarthfa 73 (before Councillors for determination today).  Mrs 
Connolly stated that this is one of the routes which she uses to go to Cwm Glo 
Chapel or as a part of longer walks over the whole of the west Merthyr area. 
 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the 
Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog-fouling of streets and people 
would become more unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise.  

Page 514



She does not recognise any obstructions on the route; has never been 
challenged while using it and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2010. 
 
Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he has lived at Heolgerrig since 1978 and from 
that time has regularly walked this route until a combination of ill health and 
the fencing of the Merthyr Village Site prevented him from doing so.  He 
accessed it from Gulley Nanny or from Cwm Glo Road, from Cyfarthfa 36 (a 
route which was determined in a Committee, 20th January 2010, ratified by Full 
Council on 3rd February 2010 and is included in the unconfirmed Definitive 
Map Modification Order, 9th February 2010) and Cyfarthfa 35 (a route which 
was determined in a Committee, October 2009, ratified by Full Council on 11th 
November 2009 and is included in the unconfirmed Definitive Map 
Modification Order, 9th February 2010) or from Cyfarthfa 34 and Cyfarthfa 73 
(before Councillors for determination today) and used it as a section of several 
circular walks.  He does not recognise any obstructions on the route; has 
never been challenged while using the route and has never asked permission 
of anyone to use it.  He said that this is one of the routes to Cwm Glo Chapel. 
 
Mr Tony Cousins stated that he has used this route for at least 25 years and 
despite the fencing of the site, continues to use it.  He accesses it from Gulley 
Nanny or from Cwm Glo Road, from Cyfarthfa 36 (a route which was 
determined in a Committee, 20th January 2010, ratified by Full Council on 3rd 
February 2010 and is included in the unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification 
Order, 9th February 2010) and Cyfarthfa 35 (a route which was determined in a 
Committee, October 2009, ratified by Full Council on 11th November 2009 and 
is included in the unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order, 9th February 
2010) or from Cyfarthfa 34 and Cyfarthfa 73 (before Councillors for 
determination today) and uses it as a section of several circular walks.  He 
does not recognise any obstructions on the route; has never been challenged 
while using the route and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 
 
Mr David Phelps explained that his wife had been brought up at Pencoedcae 
Cottages and her aunts had lived at Gelli Du.  After their marriage in 1953 they 
lived at Pantycelynen and then moved to Gelli Du in (approximately) 1957.  
He, his wife and sons have always used this route, both while living at Gelli Du 
and  subsequently for recreation, describing it “if go to the right of Gelli Du 
Farm, up past the brook to the chapel”.  This is a section of several circular 
routes which Mr Phelps still uses, despite the fencing of the Merthyr Village 
Site.  He does not recognise any obstructions on the route; has never been 
challenged while using the route and has never asked permission of anyone to 
use it. 
 
Mr and Mrs Donald and Linda Davies have lived at Heolgerrig for 40 years 
and have used this route for most of that time; they continue to use it today 
despite the fencing of the Merthyr Village Site.  They walk daily, sometimes 
together and sometimes separately, walking their dog and this is a section of 
one of several circular routes which they each use.  They do not recognise 

Page 515



any obstructions on the route; have never been challenged while using it and 
have never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 

2.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Cyfarthfa 83. 

 
 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 83 as a clearly defined and well-used route. 
 
2.1 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
BOAT. 

 
 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 

the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of the route 

as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors as a footpath. 
 
2.2 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 

Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of 
the Public Rights of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under 

S.31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site 
stating that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period looked 

at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date the route came into question.  In this case Officers 
consider that a reliable date of challenge would be between 1987 and the 

Page 516



fencing in 2007 when access was prevented onto the Merthyr Village Site. 
User evidence exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 

public use. 
 
2.3 The Line of the Route 
 
 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
2.4 User Evidence 
 
 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
 Seven people have given evidence of use of this route as a footpath for 

recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 
  

3.0 SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 83 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 

evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met  for the route.  It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has ari sen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evi dence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order 
to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could th erefore be made 
under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 . 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this route is a highway and has 
no obstructions. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987 - 2007 and at all material times 
before it. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement could therefore be made under S.53 (3(b) Wildlife and 

Page 517



Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53 (3)(b) have been met and that the Public Right  of way exists. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant 
evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of these routes under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that these highways were 
established long before modern times and therefore continue to be highways 
despite any subsequent obstructions. 
 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of way exists. 

 
3.1 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map and 

Statement as depicted between Points A – C on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 83 and as 
described above. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Councillors determine that the Public Right of Way exists, there will be a 

financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with a Public 
Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 

 
4.2 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route 

will need to be signed. 
 
4.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it. 

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
5.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 83: 

 
 Either 

Page 518



 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B  - C on the plan, Cyfarthfa 83 has been used for such period 
so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 83 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

 
5.2 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order 

as set out in 1 above. 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
 
 

Page 519



Page 520

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 521



Page 522

This page is intentionally left blank



21st March 2011 Report 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 17th January 2011 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Engineering, Highways & 

Transportation  
Committee Date 18th March 2011 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
Determination of application to record a Public Rig ht of 
Way, Cyfarthfa 83 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 83 was determined in a Rights of 
Way Committee meeting of November 2010.  

 
Officers now inform Councillors that the grid reference at the commencement 
of the route in the north is SO03630560 and request that Councillors approve 
this amendment to the information provided in the original Report as 
appended to this Item.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 83 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B – C on the plan, Cyfarthfa 83 has been used for such period 
so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 

 

Page 523



 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 
Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 83 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

 
 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant 

Order as set out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Page 524



P
age 525



P
age 526

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 18th September 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 88 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 88 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 21st March 2011, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 30th March 2011 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011. 
The 2011 report is appended at the end of this item. 
 

 Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order is incorrect 
 in that the route actually commences at its common junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 39 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and Cyfarthfa 84 
 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order) and Troedyrhiw 136 (a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2011 Order) at Point A, grid reference 
 SO03700535 and it proceeds in a general north-westerly direction to 
 Point B, grid  reference SO03680535. Here it heads through the 
 remains of an old boundary wall in a general north-easterly direction 
 to Point C, grid reference SO03680536 where it reverts to a general 
 north-westerly direction and continues through ancient woodland, 
 skirting the ruins of the houses and garden boundaries of Pencoedcae 
 Cottages, passing Point D, its junction with Cyfarthfa 87 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order) before continuing to Point E, grid reference 
 SO03630542, its junction with Cyfarthfa 93 (also before committee 
 today for determination). It continues in a general north-westerly 
 direction, passing its junction with Cyfarthfa 85 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order) at Point F. It continues and descends the 
 coal shale bank to Point G, grid reference SO03580546 (its junction 
 with Cyfarthfa 113, also before committee today for determination), 
 where it reverts to a general north-easterly direction and proceeds 
 along a grass path, passing Point H, grid reference SO03590547 its 

 

Agenda Item 17

Page 527



 junction with Cyfarthfa 110 (also before committee today for 
 determination) before continuing to Point I, grid reference 
 SO03590551 where it terminates at its junction with Cyfarthfa 34 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order and also before committee today 
 for correction).  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C - D – E – F- G - H - I. 
 
 Councillors are also requested to note that there is evidence that a 
 further three routes lead off Cyfarthfa 88. 
 
 They are requested to note that evidence exists for the route depicted 
 with a dashed line between Points E – J - K on the plan, Cyfarthfa 88. 
 This route commences at Point E, grid reference SO03630542 and 
 proceeds between walls in a general north-easterly direction to Point J, 
 grid reference SO03640543. From here it continues in a general south-
 easterly direction skirting the boundary of Pencoedcae gardens to 
 Point K, grid reference SO03700542 where it terminates at its common 
 junction with Cyfarthfa 35 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and 
 Cyfarthfa 87 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order). This route is 
 known as Cyfarthfa 93.  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points E – J - K. 
 
 They are also requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
 depicted with a dotted line between Points H – L on the plan, Cyfarthfa 
 88. This route commences at Point H, grid reference SO03590547 and 
 proceeds along a grass track in a general northerly direction to Point L, 
 grid reference SO03580549 where it terminates at its junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order and also before 
 committee today for correction). This route is known as Cyfarthfa 110. 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points H - L. 
 
 Councillors are also requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
 depicted with a line of crosses between Points G – M – N – O – P – Q 
 – R - S on the plan, Cyfarthfa 88. This route commences at Point G, 
 grid reference SO03580546 and it proceeds in a general west-north-
 westerly direction crossing a stream at Point M, grid reference 
 SO03570547 before continuing in a general west-north-westerly 
 direction to cross the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos at Point N, grid reference 
 SO03560547. It continues in a general west-north-westerly direction to 
 Point O, grid reference SO03560547 where it changes to a general 
 south-westerly direction running immediately to north of the stream to 
 Point P, grid reference SO03540545 where it again crosses the Nant 
 Llwyn-yr-eos. It continues in a general south-westerly direction to Point 
 Q, grid reference SO03530545 where it reverts to a general west-

Page 528



 north-westerly direction and proceeds to Point R, grid reference 
 SO03530545 where it re-crosses the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos. After crossing 
 the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos it starts to ascend the northern bank of the Nant 
 Llwyn-yr-eos and continues to Point S, grid reference SO03520545 
 where it terminates at its junction with Cyfarthfa 107 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction). This route is known as Cyfarthfa 113 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points G – M – N – O – P – Q – R - S. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify all these routes as well-
 used and well-trodden routes.  

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.4 Maps 
 
 The extreme northern section of Cyfarthfa 88 is depicted 1875, 1900, 
 1919 and 1957 OS Maps 

 
1.5 Aerial Photographs 
 
 Those sections of the routes not within wooded areas are depicted on 
 aerial photographs of 2003, 2206, 2008 and 2010. 
 
1.6 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to these routes and found them clearly 
 defined and as described above.  
 
 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 it. 
 
1.7 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 

Page 529



Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 88, Cyfarthfa 93 Cyfarthfa 110 
and Cyfarthfa 113.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 

Page 530



Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

these routes are part of those. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

Page 531



 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 
  

 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 
walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 

Page 532



2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 88, Cyfarthfa 93, Cyfarthfa 110 and 
Cyfarthfa 113. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 88, Cyfarthfa 93, Cyfarthfa 110 
and Cyfarthfa 113 as clearly defined and well-used footpaths. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.4 Officers recognise that these routes as footpaths have user evidence 
 of the routes as footpaths and therefore present the routes to 
 Councillors as footpaths. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route are presented to you for consideration under two sub-
 sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; 
 namely Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the routes are not to 
 become Public Rights of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
 as highways as there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate them. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 

Page 533



 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The routes are clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS   
 
5.1 Depiction of a route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track / path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 
 existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
 photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
 sections of the route. 
 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE  
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Six people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
 as highways, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate them. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 88, Cyfarthfa 93, Cyfarthfa 110 and 
 Cyfarthfa 113 for determination as footpaths. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of these routes as 
 footpaths. 
 

Page 534



 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that rights of way do exist over these routes. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the routes. It 
 is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that these 
 routes are highways and have no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 
 
 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement; Cyfarthfa 88 as depicted by a bold line between Points 
 A – B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I, Cyfarthfa 93 as depicted by a 
 dashed line between Points E – J – K, Cyfarthfa 110 as depicted by 
 a dotted line between Points H – L and Cyfarthfa 113 as depicted by a  
 line of crosses between Points G – M – N – O – P – Q – R - S on the 
 plan, Cyfarthfa 88 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 

Page 535



County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 88 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I on the Plan, 
Cyfarthfa 88, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 88 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 In respect of Cyfarthfa 93 

 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a dashed line 
between Points E – J - K on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 88, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 

Page 536



 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 
Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 93 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 110 

 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a dotted line 
between Points H - L on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 88, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 110 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
d)  if any objections or representations are made within the 

 prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
 to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
 for determination. 

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 113 

 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a line of crosses 
between Points G – M – N – O – P – Q – R - S on the 
Plan, Cyfarthfa 88, has been used for such period so as 
to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

Page 537



 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 113 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 
 
 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 88 

 
September 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 538



D D D
D

D

D

D D
D D

A

B

C

D

E

F
G

H

I

J

K

L

M

N
O

P
QR

S

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

190912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,264
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 88

Page 539



Page 540

This page is intentionally left blank



21st March 2011 Report 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 17th January 2011 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Engineering, Highways & 

Transportation  
Committee Date 18th March 2011 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
Determination of application to record a Public Rig ht of 
Way, Cyfarthfa 88 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Councillors are requested to note that there is evidence that there are a 
number of walked routes in area of the Pencoedcae Cottages and they are 
requested to determine these. 

 
 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The route commences immediately adjacent to a track, the Cwm Du Incline, at 
its common junction with Cyfarthfa 39 (the Incline and a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order) and Cyfarthfa 84 (before councillors for 
determination today), at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 88, grid reference 
SO03700535. It proceeds in a general north-westerly direction through ancient 
woodland, skirting the ruins of the houses and garden boundaries of the 
Pencoedcae Cottages, passing Point F and then continuing to Point B, grid 
reference SO03590546 where it goes down a shale bank and continues to 
terminate on Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order), at grid 
reference SO03580549. 

 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 

as depicted between Points A – F - B - C. 
 
 They are also advised that officers identify this route as a well-used and well-

trodden route between Cyfarthfa 34 and the Pencoedcae Cottages and Cwm 
Du Incline. 

  
 Councillors are also requested to note that there is evidence that there are a 

number of currently walked routes leading off Cyfarthfa 88. 
 

 

Page 541



They are requested to note that evidence exists for the route depicted with a 
dashed line between Points B - D on the plan, Cyfarthfa 88. This commences 
on Cyfarthfa 88, at Point B, grid reference SO03590546 and continues in a 
general south-south-westerly direction through dense woodland, open 
moorland, less dense woodland and finally open moorland  to terminate on the 
Cwm Du Incline, Point D, grid reference SO03560535. This is known as 
Cyfarthfa 88. 
 
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 
as depicted between Points B – D. 

 
They are further advised that Officers identify this route (with a section of 
Cyfarthfa 88) as a well-used and well-trodden route between Cyfarthfa 34 and 
the Cwm Du Incline (Cyfarthfa 39). 
 
Councillors are also requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
depicted with a dashed and dotted line between Points A - E on the plan, 
Cyfarthfa 88. It commences at its common junction with Cyfarthfa 88 and the 
Cwm Du incline (Cyfarthfa 39), at Point A, grid reference SO03700535 and 
continues in a general north-north-easterly direction through open woodland 
adjacent to the curtilage of Pencoedcae Cottages  to terminate on Cyfarthfa 
35, Point E, grid reference SO03700537. This is known as Cyfarthfa 84. 
 
They are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route as 
depicted between Points A - E. 

 
They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used and 
well-trodden alternative route to the extreme southern section of Cyfarthfa 35, 
between the ruins of Pencoedcae Cottages and the Cwm Du Incline. 
 
Councillors are further requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
depicted with a dotted line between Points F - G on the plan, Cyfarthfa 88. 
This commences on Cyfarthfa 88, at Point F, grid reference SO03660538 and 
continues in an arc in a general north-north-easterly and then north-easterly 
direction through woodland and then an open grassed area  to terminate on 
Cyfarthfa 35 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order), Point G, grid reference 
SO03700542. This is known as Cyfarthfa 87. 
 
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 
as depicted between Points F - G. 

 
They are further advised that Officers identify this route (with a section of 
Cyfarthfa 88) as a well-used and well-trodden alternative route around the 
curtilage of the ruins of Pencoedcae Cottages and continuing to the Cwm Du 
Incline. 
 

 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

Page 542



 Aerial Photographs 
 

Those sections of the routes not within woodland areas are depicted on aerial 
photographs 2008 and 2010. 

 
 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made several site visits to these routes and found them clearly 

defined and as described above. 
 
 They have observed people using each route. 
 
 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 

married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – including 
these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being prevented 
from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses them from a number 
of different directions, making a choice of the route on the ground when out 
walking. He uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole network of 
paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, has 
never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and does not 
recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and 
her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  She 
has used this route for walks as an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when 
the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of different directions 
and then chooses which route to walk on the ground. She uses them as 
sections of longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never been 
challenged while using it and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2010. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT  
 

Page 543



 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 
them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Cyfarthfa 88, 85, 84 and 87. 

 
 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 88, 85, 84 and 87 as clearly defined and 
well-used routes. 

 
 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
BOAT. 

 
 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 

the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
 Officers recognise that these routes are footpaths, have user evidence of the 

routes as footpaths and therefore present them to Councillors as footpaths. 
 
 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
 The routes are presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 

Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

  
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of 
the Public Right of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site 
stating that the routes are not to become Public Rights of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways as 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate them. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period looked 

at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date the route came into question. In this case Officers 
consider that it would be the period between 1987 and 2007, user evidence 
exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been available for 

public use. 
 
 The Line of the Route 

Page 544



 
 The entire routes are clearly discernable on the ground. 
 

Aerial Photographs 
 
 Depiction of the routes on an aerial photograph is evidence of the existence of 

the routes and of usage – although the available photographs are taken in the 
summer and foliage may obscure sections. 

 
 User Evidence 
 

Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
 Two people have given evidence of use of these routes as footpaths for 

recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 
 

3.0 SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways, and 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate them. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

rights now claimed. 
  

Officers present Cyfarthfa 88, 85, 84 and 87 for determination as footpaths. 
 

Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and aerial 
photography in support of the existence of these routes as footpaths. 

 
  Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 

evident that rights of way do exist over these routes. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements 

of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the routes.  It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has ari sen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evi dence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement co uld therefore be 
made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i ) of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must  be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that these routes are highways. 

Page 545



 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all material times 
before it. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rig hts of Way exist. 

 
 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map and 

Statement as depicted on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 88 by a bold line between Points 
A – B – C (Cyfarthfa 88), by a dashed line between Points B – D (Cyfarthfa 
85), by a dashed and dotted line between Points A – E (Cyfarthfa 84) and by a 
dotted line between Points F – G (Cyfarthfa 87) and as described above. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
 Officer time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  If 

Councillors determine that the Public Rights of Way exist, there will be a 
financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with a Public 
Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 

 
 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the routes 

will need to be signed. 
 
 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it. 

 

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 
(1) In respect of Cyfarthfa 88: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– F – B – C on the plan, Cyfarthfa 88 has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 

Page 546



 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 
Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 88 as a Footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against 
the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days 
from the date of the decision letter. 

 
(2) In respect of Cyfarthfa 85: 
 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points 
B - D on the plan, Cyfarthfa 88 has been used for such period so 
as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 85 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

3. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 

Page 547



record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against 
the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days 
from the date of the decision letter. 

 
(3) In respect of Cyfarthfa 84: 
 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed and dotted line 
between Points A - E on the plan, Cyfarthfa 88 has been used 
for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 84 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

4. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against 
the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days 
from the date of the decision letter. 

 
(4) In respect of Cyfarthfa 87: 
 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points 
F - G on the plan, Cyfarthfa 88 has been used for such period so 
as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 

Page 548



 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 
Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 87 as a Footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

5. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against 
the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days 
from the date of the decision letter. 

 
 

 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant 
Orders as set out in 1, 2, 3 and 4 above. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Page 549



Page 550

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 551



Page 552

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 31st July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 89 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 89 at grid 
 reference SO04320537 on a vehicular track that led from Upper 
 Colliers Row to Lower Colliers Row through woodland in a general 
 west-north-westerly direction to Point B, grid reference SO04310537 
 where it changes to a general southerly  direction and continues to 
 Point C, grid reference SO04310537. From here it changes to a 
 general west-south-westerly direction and continues to Point D, 
 grid reference SO04290536, where it terminates at the entrance to a 
 barricaded disused addit. 
  
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route which walkers utilise in order to access a point 
 of interest. 
 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 

 

Agenda Item 18

Page 553



 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 it. 
 
1.5 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking, including Cyfarthfa 89.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 

Page 554



believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 

Page 555



“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

  

 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 

3.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 89. 

 
3.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 89 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
3.3 Status 
 
3.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
3.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 

Page 556



3.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
4.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
5.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
5.1 The route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Four people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

 
 

Page 557



7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 89 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D on the Plan, 
 Cyfarthfa 89 and as described above. 

Page 558



8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.   

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 89 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 89, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 89 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 

Page 559



to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 89 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 

Page 560



D C

B

A

Drift

(disused)

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:431
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 89

Page 561



Page 562

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 1st August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 90 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 90, grid 
 reference SO04530516 at its southern junction with Cyfarthfa 79 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order) near a pond (“The Froggy”) and 
 it proceeds in a general north-westerly direction along a grass and 
 earth track initially through an open area and then through a wooded 
 area, passing another pond (“The Snakey”), before running through 
 another open area before continuing to terminate at Point B, grid 
 reference SO04440534, its northern junction with Cyfarthfa 79 (a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2011 Order).  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-recognised route and an alternative to Cyfarthfa 79. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Map 
 
  A Section of the route is depicted on the 1919 OS Map. 
 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial 
 photographs. 
 

 

Agenda Item 19

Page 563



1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr  
 including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
 since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or any of the paths challenged and does not 
 recognise any obstructions on the route.  
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has 
 never been challenged while using the route.  She has never asked 
 permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 90.  

Page 564



 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 

Page 565



 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  

 
Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

 

Page 566



 “They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 
 when they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole 
area was open, courting couples always walked up the Parish 
Road and there were always pimpers there. 
 

I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 90. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 90 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Right of Way. 
 

Page 567



 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernible on the ground 
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track/path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
5.3 User Evidence 
 
5.4 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
5.5 Five people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

6.0 SUMMARY 
 
6.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 

Page 568



 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 90 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 

It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 

Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement as depicted between Points A – B  on the Plan, 
Cyfarthfa 90 and as described above. 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
7.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 

Page 569



for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
7.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
7.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.   

9.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
9.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 90 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 90, has been used for 
such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not 
been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 90 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 

Page 570



GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 90 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 571



Page 572

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

10
1/3

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

18.09.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,346
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 90

Page 573



Page 574

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 31st July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 91 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 91 at grid 
 reference SO02910531 at its junction with Cyfarthfa 54 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order) and it proceeds in a general easterly 
 direction initially between two re-vegetated coal tips and then across 
 more open land to  Point B, grid reference SO03060532. Here it 
 changes to a general north-easterly direction and continues to Point C, 
 grid reference SO03070533 where it turns to a general north-north 
 easterly direction and continues along an earth track to Point D, grid 
 reference SO03060538 where it terminates at its common junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 39 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and Cyfarthfa 48 
 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee 
 today for correction).  

 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-recognised route. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial 
 photographs. 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 20

Page 575



1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.5 User Evidence  
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
 including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
 since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.   
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or any of the paths challenged and does not 
 recognise any obstructions. 
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has 
 never been challenged while using the route.  She has never asked 
 permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 

Page 576



usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 91.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

this route is part of these. 
 

 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 

Page 577



 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

 
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years 
ago, he has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one. He 
said, 

 
 “I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of 
 recreation and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using 
 any of these routes, however, I have walked these routes less 
 frequently in the last 12-18 months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people 
using the routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2012. 

 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 

Page 578



He stated: 
 

“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

  

Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 91. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 91 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 

Page 579



 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Seven people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 91 for determination as a footpath. 
 

Page 580



 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 

Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D on the Plan, 
 Cyfarthfa 91 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 

Page 581



County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 91 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 91, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 91 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 

Page 582



 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 91 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 

Page 583



Page 584

This page is intentionally left blank



A B

C

D

Pond

Tip

(disused)

Pond

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,198
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 91

Page 585



Page 586

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 6th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 92 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 92 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 20th January 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 3rd February 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 9th February 
2010; Cyfarthfa 92 had previously been approved by a Committee in 
October 2009; this decision was ratified by Council in November 2009; 
the routes formed part of the committee reports for Cyfarthfa 36.  The 
reports are appended at the end of the Item that relates to Cyfarthfa 
36. 

 
Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order is incorrect 
in that the route actually commences at Point A, grid reference 
SO03900564 at its junction with Cyfarthfa 74 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for 
correction) and it proceeds along the top of re-vegetated coal tip in a 
general south-westerly direction to Point B, grid reference 
SO03880562, where it crosses Cyfarthfa 36 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for 
correction). It continues in a general south-westerly direction along re-
vegetated coal tip to Point C, grid reference SO03860557 where it 
changes to a general south-easterly and heads towards Point D, grid 
reference SO03880554, its junction with Cyfarthfa 76 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010). From here it continues along the top of re-
vegetated coal tip in a general easterly direction to Point E, grid 
reference SO03940555. It now turns to a general southerly direction 
and starts to descend the bank of the coal tip to Point F, grid reference 
SO03940551, its junction with Cyfarthfa 96 (also before committee for 

 

Agenda Item 21

Page 587



determination today). From here it proceeds along flatter ground in a 
general easterly direction to Point G, grid reference SO03970551, its 
junction with Cyfarthfa 97 (also before committee today for 
determination). The route now changes to a general north-easterly 
direction and proceeds between two re-vegetated coal tips in a general 
north-easterly direction to Point H, grid reference SO04100564, its 
junction with Cyfarthfa 81 (also before committee today for 
determination). It then changes to a general northerly direction and 
continues to terminate at Point I, grid reference SO04100565, its 
common junction with Cyfarthfa 36 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 
Order but also before committee today for correction) and Cyfarthfa 74 
(a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee 
today for correction).       
 

 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that user walk this 
 route as depicted between A – B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I. 

 
 Councillors are also requested to note that evidence exists that there 
 are a further two routes which lead off Cyfarthfa 92. 
 
 Councillors are requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
 depicted with a dotted line between Point F – J on the plan. This 
 commences on Cyfarthfa 92 at Point F, grid reference 
 SO03940551 and continues in a general north-westerly direction, near 
 the bottom of the bank of the re vegetated coal tip and just to the 
 north of the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos, to Point J, grid reference SO03870553, 
 its junction with Cyfarthfa 76 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 
 Order). This route is known as Cyfarthfa 96. 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that user walk this 
 route as depicted between F – J. 
 
 Councillors are also requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
 depicted with a dashed line between Points G – K – L on the plan. 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that user walk this 
 route as depicted between G – K – L. The route commences at Point 
 G, grid reference SO03970551 and it proceeds in a general south-
 westerly direction initially along flat ground and then down the 
 bank of the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos. It then crosses the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos 
 and meanders up the bank of the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos before changing to 
  a general north-westerly direction at Point K, grid reference 
 SO03940549 and continuing through re-vegetated coal tip which is 
 populated with some trees to terminate at Point L, grid reference 
 SO03880550, its junction with Cyfarthfa 76 (a route on the unconfirmed 
 2010 Order).   This route is known as Cyfarthfa 97. 
  
 

Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that user walk this 
route as depicted between G – K – L.  

Page 588



1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.4 Maps 
 
 A section of Cyfarthfa 92 is depicted on the 1875 and 1900 OS Maps 

 
1.5 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed routes are clearly depicted on aerial photographs of 2003, 
 2006, 2008 and 2010.   

  
1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made site visits to the routes and found them as defined 
 above.  

 
1.7 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 92, Cyfarthfa 96 and Cyfarthfa 97. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 

Page 589



 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

,  
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born 

ower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have 
walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her 
grandmother lived at Melincanaid so Mrs Connolly regularly used this 
route to visit her.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row 
when they were first married.  

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr 
Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to 
invent them, they already existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, 
the Heolgerrig area) as more-used these days than those in the south 
– apart from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly has used this route regularly as a short walk 
since she moved to Heolgerrig.  She accesses the route via the gate by 
the football field, goes down the Cwm Pit Line and up through the 
Coedcae to return home. 

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the 
Cwmdu and the Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the 
Castle Pit over past Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain 
and from Heolgerrig using all the footpaths. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using 
the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for 
exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of these claimed paths; they have 
never had their use of the paths challenged. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2012. 

Page 590



Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years 
ago, he has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one.  He 
said, 

 
 “I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of 
 recreation and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using 
 any of these routes, however, I have walked these routes less 
 frequently in the last 12-18 months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people 
using the routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2012. 

 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 

Page 591



2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 92, Cyfarthfa 96 and Cyfarthfa 97. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 92, Cyfarthfa 96 and Cyfarthfa 97 
as clearly defined and well-used routes. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that these routes are footpaths, have user evidence 
 of the routes as footpaths and therefore present these routes to 
 Councillors as footpaths. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
become a Public Right of Way.  

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
as highways, as there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
intention during that period to dedicate them. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself.  In this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 
13th December 1982 and 12th December 2002; extensive user 
evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been 

available for public use. 

Page 592



4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The routes are clearly discernable on the ground.   
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track / path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

 
5.2 Depiction of a route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage.  
 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 
 
6.2 Six people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path as
 have been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for 
 a full period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been 
 dedicated as highways, and there is insufficient evidence that there 
 was no intention during that period to dedicate them. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 92, Cyfarthfa 96 and Cyfarthfa 97 for 
 determination as footpaths. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of these routes as 
 footpaths. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over these routes. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the routes. It 
is  considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes.  An 

Page 593



 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 13th December 1982 and 
 12th December 2002 and at all material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F – G 
 – H – I, (Cyfarthfa 92) between F – J (Cyfarthfa 96) and between G – K 
 – L (Cyfarthfa 97) on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 92 and as described 
 above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(s) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    
  

Page 594



10.0 RECOMMENDATION(s) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 92 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C – D – E – F – G – H - I on the Plan, 
Cyfarthfa 92, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 92 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 96 

  
 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 

to support that the route marked with a dotted line 
between Points F – J on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 92, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 96 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 

Page 595



 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 97 

  
 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 

to support that the route marked with a dashed line 
between Points G – K – L on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 92, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 97 as 
a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

  
 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 92 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 596



A

B

C
D E

F G

H

I

J

K

L

Tip

(disused)

Level

T
ra

c
k

(disused)

(disused)

Tip

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,574
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 92

Page 597



Page 598

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 9th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 100 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 100, grid 
 reference SO03640602, at its western junction with Cyfarthfa 37 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and proceeds through 
 deciduous woodland in a general north-easterly direction to Point B, 
 grid reference SO03670605, just to the  south of the Nant Cwm Pant 
 Bach. Here it turns to a general south-easterly direction and continues 
 through the deciduous woodland to Point C, grid reference 
 SO03690603. It then changes to a general easterly direction and 
 continues through a meadow to terminate at Point D, grid reference 
 SO03740603, its eastern junction with Cyfarthfa 37 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order).  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D.  

 
 This route formed a section of the route described by users in relation 
 to Cyfarthfa 37. Cyfarthfa 37 was reported to committee in October 
 2009. This report is appended at the end of this item.  

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The eastern section of the route is depicted on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 
 2010 aerial  photographs. The western section is not visible due to 
 tree coverage. 
 

 

Agenda Item 22

Page 599



 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.5 User Evidence 
 
 The user evidence below is that adduced in relation to the route 
 Cyfarthfa 37. The evidence given by the users for the section of the 
 route known as Cyfarthfa 100 formed part of the described route of 
 Cyfarthfa 37. 
  
 Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill 

health prevented him from doing so.  He often used this route as a 
section of one of several circular walks which commenced and 
terminated at Heolgerrig. 

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers 
Row site.  He has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this 
and many other routes regularly since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr 
Village Site since it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he 
would support the Coal Authority until the remediation scheme which 
took the railway arch etc into account was developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
 Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes 

which he has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the 
previous 30 years.  He no longer walks these routes because of illness.  
He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends in 
Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of 
his claimed routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an 
interesting walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his 
claims. 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one 
has ever challenged him while using them.  His grandfather and his 
grandfather’s brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have 
had to use at least half of these paths when going to work. He has only 

Page 600



sought or been given permission once – when going on the Merthyr 
Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on 
horseback or on bikes. 
 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  
He occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and 
also walks on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating 

when he last walked each of the routes.  In this submission he 
stated that he has walked this – and the other claimed routes on 
a regular basis since 1977; 

 
2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes; 
 
3. a copy of a letter from Mr John Walters, Project Director, 

Merthyr Village Ltd., giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas 
and other (listed) Councillors of the Merthyr Naturalists Society 
to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Site; and 

 
4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early 

developers of coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 
 

Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 
 
 Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  
He commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis noted that there is a stile on this route close to the road 
between Upper and Lower Colliers Row. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
too small when his children were born.  For the past 20 years he has 
only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 
named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

Page 601



“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  
 

 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 
 

Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 
the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths.  He described 
the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and 
stated that he has used it regularly all of his life.  He stated that no one 
has ever stopped him going up there and until recently the whole area 
was open.  “I never even thought about whether or not we had a right 
to go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go 
there.  We lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as 
walking and riding on the paths we went bird nesting.  And when 
I was a child it was all open, it’s only since about1964 that any 
fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 
 specific route to get back onto the road between Upper and Lower 
 Colliers Row and then back to Heolgerrig.  
 

He stated that he usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would 
criss-cross a number of routes including Cyfarthfa 36, which he uses to 
get back onto the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and 
then back to Heolgerrig.  He is aware of a stile at the junction between 
Cyfarthfa 36 and Cyfarthfa 38. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  

 

Page 602



 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 
 

Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
 Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
 can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 
  
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life 

and his wife for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae 
Cottages and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  Mrs Phelps 
would use this route as one of two alternatives to go to school each 
day – dependant upon which field the cows were in. 

 
The only sign that he remembers was erected close to this route about 
2006 by the Davies Brothers stating that it was dangerous to walk in 
the area because of old workings. 

 
They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to 
Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps 
referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
 Mr Phelps gave evidence of having ridden a horse and driven a motor 
 car on this route – during a period approximately 30 years ago. 

 
Mr Phelps still uses this route regularly but not as much as in previous 
years. 
 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all 

Page 603



of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
are all clearly defined, 

 
 “Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and 
 lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
and all of the area down to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in 
identifying routes on a map, but nevertheless, attempted to trace all the 
claimed routes on a map and said he had walked every single path.  
He went shooting and walking and took his two sons walking and 
shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There 
were four ponds – one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the 
Snakey alongside the Road, one big one on the left side of the 
Parish Road and one in Coedcae.” 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go 
anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 
from the Davies brothers’ father to go shooting – although the 
permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area.  Mr Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 
Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways).  His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years 
ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to 
Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said, 

 
 “I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe 
 when looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking 
 there.  The land is altering daily because people can’t access it so 
 easily and paths need cutting back”. 
  
 He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

Page 604



 
 Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so 
 do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site, 
 
 “but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
 grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, 
loaned to the Council by Mr Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 
 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
 Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs 

Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years 
before moving to Heolgerrig.  He stated that he thought himself 
fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area and had the whole 
of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
playground.  He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 
to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the 
footpaths for family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before 
that.  Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish 
Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths.  
He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 
in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – 
just going out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren. 
Mr and Mrs Elwyn Rees stated that they have often used this route 
which they described as “Cwm Glo Road to the Wern”.  When Mr Rees 
lived at Cwm Glo Road he used this route as a short cut to town and up 
until about 1 year ago he regularly took his dog there.  He now walks 
less frequently because “I am not as able to walk as well as I used to”.  
He believes this road has been used for hundreds of years. 
 
He also believes that the proposed Wimpey development on the field 
takes this route into account. 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the 
site, with no thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 

Page 605



many.  They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr Rees saying, 

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child 
and for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
 “I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
 Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 
 any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It 
 should be noted that these cottages were so historically important that 
 a number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 
 
 At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
 described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
 
 During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
 become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
 Merthyr”. 
 

In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they 
have never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk 
there; they have always walked on the same tracks which have been 
clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no one 
has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
 “I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
 drove on these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take 
 the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
 because of health problems”. 
 
 Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
 the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 
 
 Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
 

Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 
 Mr Tony Cousins confirmed the route of the claim and stated ‘I walk 

this way into town’  He pointed out that the discrepancy between his 
map and the one with the main claim was because he had included the 
complete route from his house.  He stated, 

 
 “I have walked all of the area, not just this route for as long as I have 
 lived here, 23 years because I’ve always owned dogs and still walk 
 them there. 

Page 606



 
Mr Cousins said that he used the route for pleasure and said  
 

“it is a pleasant walk, part ancient woodland, and also for access 
to the town centre away from the traffic - although some 
sections of the path are quite muddy”. 

 
He believed he had the right to use this route because he’d been led to 
believe that this was a registered right of way by people who have lived 
in Heolgerrig all their lives.  He has always used the same route – 
although he deviates slightly on occasion; no one has ever stopped 
him from using the route or challenged him about it. 

 
The only time he has ever sought permission to go onto the route was 
when he asked the then owner, Mr Page, permission for workmen to 
enter to renew sewerage pipes. Mr Cousins does not know whether Mr 
Page still owns this land. 

 
Mr Cousins has knowledge of gates and stiles on the route.  He says 
there used to be a gate on the route for many years.  It was always 
locked with a chain and padlock but when he first moved to the area he 
was told that this was a stile-gate and anyone could climb it.  The gate 
was only removed when Wimpey entered to bore for ground stability 
quite recently.  There is a wooden stile at Point B which was replaced 
about a year ago.  There is a stile at point C which was replaced when 
CCW designated the area an SSSI.  The only signs he knows of are 
the recently- erected warning signs.  The only fencing he knows of – 
other than the recent fencing of the site - was of an old shaft a few feet 
deep and a warning sign was put adjacent to this. 

 
Mr Cousins said that Wimpey have submitted a planning application for 
50 houses and the application includes the line of a diverted footpath. 

 
 Mr Derek Rees expressed himself happy with his original application 

form but wanted to support the full extent of the claim on the main 
claimant’s map.  He drew the amended line on a map which he signed 
and dated. 

 
He stated that he uses this route approximately once a month, 
sometimes as a short cut to town through Ynysfach.  He has never 
found it obstructed or been prevented from using the footpath in any 
way, “no one has ever objected to my using it and I have never been 
challenged by anyone”.  He is not aware that anyone has maintained 
the route.  He indicated two stiles on his map. 

 
Mr Rees stated that he has always believed that he has had a right to 
use this route and has always been aware that there is a footpath 
there, this has been passed down from older family members – he has 
inherited what they did previously.  There has always been an easily 

Page 607



followed and clearly defined route.  He has never seen any signs on 
the route and he frequently sees other people using it. 

 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he and his wife have used this route 

since they moved to Heolgerrig about 12 years previously. He 
described the route:  

 
 “It goes up from Upper Colliers Row, a well-worn, 8ft wide incline with 
 no obstructions to where it crosses claim 163x.  Then cross over a stile 
 which was re-constructed about 1 year ago by the Davies Bros, tenants 
 on the site, replacing an old broken stile which had been there. 
 
 The route then crosses the top of re-vegetated spoil, down a slope, 
 across a bog, through a meadow containing Devils Bit Scabious, 
 habitat for the Marsh Fritillary butterfly, enter woodland for about 100m, 
 exit over a recently re-constructed stile (as above), across rough 
 pasture and remains of the original Heolgerrig Social Club and exit via 
 pastureland via the iron stile on an old gate onto the Cwm Glo Road”. 
 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 

Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have 
walked the paths on the whole area all their lives. 

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr 
Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to 
invent them, they already existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, 
the Heolgerrig area) as more-used these days than those in the south 
– apart from the Parish Road.  Mrs Charlotte Connolly has used this 
route regularly as a short walk since she moved to Heolgerrig. 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. 

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using 
the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for 
exercise. 

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of these claimed paths; they have 
never had their use of the paths challenged and neither has had any 
interest in the site. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 
 
 

Page 608



1.6 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations 
and Objections 

 
 Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie 
 Price, discussed this claimed route and notes taken state: 
 
 “This begins at the tips at Colliers Row where there is an issue with 
 water and a stile marked ‘Farmers use only’.  There is a mineshaft on 
 the route which has been fenced off since 2005. It has never been in a 
 walkable condition. There are sink holes there”. 
 
 Notes taken at a meeting with Mrs. Misslebrook and Officers read, 
 
 “Signs were erected during Mrs Misslebrook’s father’s time. About 
 1976 it was owned by the NCB – although really was always local 
 authority ground and the gate at point E was always locked because 
 her father kept 300 sheep. 
 
 Mrs Misslebrook marked the position of 5 stiles. Her family used to 
 farm the whole area which was divided into sections for use by animals 
 – the sheep were moved around from section to section. 
 This information also relates to claims 163x,164x,180x and 112x 
 (her family had the whole area before David Evans had any interest in 
 the land)”. 

 Mrs Misslebrook commented on these notes: 
 

“11. Claimed ROW LA Map 101/180X – Served Map 
A763/4/180 Upper Colliers Row.  Application for 
Modification Order dated 15th July 2006 

 
 On the Cwm Glo Road end, Daria Page’s land, there is a locked 

gate with no stile.  On MVL land there are two stiles marked 
farmers access only.  The first notice served indicated that the 
footpath went through a mine shaft.  When this shaft was fenced 
off by the Coal Authority, Mr Connelly of Greenacres, Brondeg, 
Heolgerrig, then served me an application for Modification Order 
under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  I copied the 
documents to Beth Jones and queried the legality of the 
document as the CROW Act was relevant to rights of way and 
superseded the statutes in the 1981 Act. 

 
 Ms Jones passed the issue to the legal department in the L.A. 

and I have yet to receive a response. 
 

 In addition to my other objections, this route has been altered in 
the last 12 months by Coal Authority works and I request it be 
struck from consideration on the basis of due to the change, the 
claim now has no legal standing”. 

 

Page 609



 In response to the Investigation report, Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 
  
 “Cyfarthfa 37 – Through Club Fields and Lower SSSI to Colliers Row 
 
  1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
  2. Portion of aerial map in part of indicative area is not date 
   authenticated. 
  3. One aerial map evidences new portion of A470, needs to 
   be struck from evidence, would not meet 20 year time 
   scale. 
  4. Only one statement supporting others names blacked out 
   therefore can’t be used in evidence. 
  5. There are no TPOs in this area”. 
 

1.7 Other Evidence in Relation to this Route 

 In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village 
 Site, March 2009 Halcrow state: 
 

“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we 
have made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most 
apparent tracks/paths that exist on the site.  During our visit it was 
apparent that the site is still used extensively by walkers and more 
locally by trail bikes.  In addition, a few horses and sheep were also on 
the site.  Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the 
site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own 
conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal 
Authority, Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last 
Public Inquiry. The Coal Authority decided to fence off the land. It is 
known that members of the public cut sections of this fence in order to 
gain access to the site and use routes which are the subject of this 
Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. 
An Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks 
but the owners refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC 
therefore requested the removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
 The western section of this route runs through a Site of Special 
 Scientific Interest. 
 
 
 

Page 610



2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 100. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 100 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT. 
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath under Section 53(3)(b). 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.4 Evidence has been adduced from maps, literature and documents 

which indicate that this route is a footpath. 
 
2.5 Due to the user evidence and the documentary evidence, this route is 

presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 
53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) [historic]. 

 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.3 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the 

Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating 
that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way is 20 years prior to the date of the application itself.  In this 
case this would be the period 5th January 1986 to 4th January 2006. 

Page 611



 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
7.0 LANDOWNERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES 
 
7.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations 

made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which 
are set out previously in Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
7.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate 

the claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the 
claimants.  This was in line with data protection but officers have now 
been advised that from this stage in the procedure, all details can be 
made public if requested. 

 
7.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health 
 and safety concerns.  Whilst their importance is recognised,  these 
 cannot be taken into consideration when determining this Application. 

 
7.4 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the 

user evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed.  Councillors 
are also reminded that at this stage there was no requirement for the 
County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and 
Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is 

accepted that this is a multi-part process in the development of the 
Definitive Map and Statement, and subsequent investigations have 
revealed via user evidence and documentation that the route exists. 

Page 612



 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of 

Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of 

occupancy of the houses and farms  The last house was demolished in 
1965/66 which allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of 
forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of 
the industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 
1900s.  Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows 
for usage as of right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 

assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed 
in Item 1. 

 
 Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 
 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic 

records and from witnesses who have actually used the way is 
consistent one with another and that this is not a case where the 
registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down 

under the relevant legislation. 
 

7.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a 
 number of observations.  Many issues they have raised cannot be 
 taken into consideration when determining this Application, for 
 example, they too have raised concerns about health and safety. 

8.0 SUMMARY 
  
8.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the 
 existence of this route as a footpath for the relevant twenty year period. 

 
Officers present this route for determination as a footpath. 

 
 Officers now consider that the available evidence establishes the 

existence of this route as a footpath. 
 

Page 613



Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the observations from users and landlords and tenants of the 
land, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is 
evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the 
right now claimed, viz. footpath over the period 4th January 1986 and 
4th January 2006 and at all material times before it. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route 
included on the application.  It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the route.  An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
 Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
 relevant evidence. 

This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 

“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of way exists. 

 
Your officers therefore recommend that a footpath on the route 
depicted between Points A – B – C – D be recorded on the Definitive 
Map and Statement. 

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
9.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 

Page 614



9.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 
that the route(s) will need to be signed. 

 
9.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

10.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.      

11.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
11.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 100 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 100, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 100 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 

Page 615



 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 100 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 616



A

B

C
D

Nant Cwm-pant-bach

Pond

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:766
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 100

Page 617



Page 618

This page is intentionally left blank



5th October 2009 Report 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A  
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 37.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A claim to record a Public Right of Way from No. 1, Upper Colliers Row to Cwm Glo 
Road, Heolgerrig was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 4th 
January 2006.  This was referred to as Claim A763/4/180 and now known as 
Cyfarthfa 37. 

 
In addition, an application was received by MTCBC on 31st January 2008 to record a 
number of Public Rights of Way across land at West Merthyr.  At that time, Cyfarthfa 
37 was included as Cyfarthfa 18 (and post 2008 as Cyfarthfa 44). 

 
The route, as shown on the Plan, Appendix 6, commences at Point A, grid ref SO 
03960604 immediately adjacent to No. 1 Upper Colliers Row.  It proceeds to Point B 
grid reference SO 03820602, the common junction of Cyfarthfa 37 with Cyfarthfa 38 
and 57.  It proceeds up a bank and crosses a stile before levelling off and continuing 
along a path on a partly re-generated spoil tip.  The route then crosses a small 
stream and carries on through a meadow before going uphill through woodland to a 
stile.  Cyfarthfa 37 continues through rough pasture to its termination, Point C, grid 
reference SO03460599, a field gate (with climbing rungs) which leads to Cwm Glo 
Road, Cyfarthfa 36. 
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Maps 
 

This entire route is depicted on the 1875 OS map and the 1886 Board of Health 
map. 

 
On 1919 and 1957 editions of the OS Map, the route stops at the Penycoedcae 
Bungalow although the entire route is again depicted on the 2005 editions.  On all of 
these maps the route runs between Cwm Glo Road and Upper Colliers Row, joining 
Cyfarthfa 36, 38 and 57. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 and 2008 aerial photograph. 
 
 
 

Page 619



 
1.5 Printed Books / Journals / Phamphlets / Websites Consulted 
 

This route is depicted as a path in the MTCBC publication, Merthyr Tydfil, Official 
Guide and Street Plan. 
 

1.6 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.6a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 37 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. 

 
It was depicted as Footpath E on the NCB Map and described in detail in paragraph 
5 of the NCB’s Footpath Application which stated: 

 
“Part of a footpath marked “Footpath E” on the Map which runs from the 
footpath described in paragraph 2 above at a point about 120 yards South 
South East of Heolgerrig and District Social Club and Institute in a general 
Easterly direction for about 400 yards to meet the footpath described in 
paragraph 3 above at the said point numbered 7 on the Map being the part 
which extends from a point (numbered 15 on the Map) about 150 yards South 
East of the said club and Institute in a general Easterly direction for about 200 
yards to the said point numbered 7 on the Map”. 

 
This description is the claimed route in reverse. 

 
Footpath E joined further claimed routes which were subject to the Application to 
Suspend, Footpaths B, C and D. 

 
It also joined a vehicular route which ran between Brondeg and Ynysfach and for 
which suspension was required. 

 
It was one of the twenty-nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes 
Application. 
 
This route was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which accompanied the 
Application to Suspend, the majority of the route is depicted and annotated “path” 
while that section between Coedcae Bungalow and the Cwm Glo Road is depicted 
as a track. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 37 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006. 
 

1.7 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

The majority of this route is described in the extant list of PRoWs for the Cyfarthfa 
Ward dated circa 1951. 

Page 620



 
Only the extreme western section of this route is excluded from number 4: 

 
“From Coed Cae Bungalow to Upper Colliers Row”. 
 

1.8 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 
This claimed route is depicted and coloured as a footpath (although not numbered) 
on the 1991 Draft Map. 
 

1.9 Site visits 
 

Officers have inspected this route on two occasions.  On the first they were 
accompanied by Mr John Walters, representative of Merthyr Village Ltd. and they 
were unable to identify the line of the claim through the woodland in the western 
section.  This line was followed on the second occasion, however. 

 
A fence (broken in parts) has been erected across the route’s commencement in the 
east.  It is nevertheless clear that users go over the fence to access this route – 
although some users detour onto the adjacent re-generated tip on the northern side. 

 
The remainder of the route is as described above. 
 

B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments 
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 37, was issued in June 2008. 
 

1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 

1.3a The Claim 
 
The main claimant, Mr Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 

 
 a schedule describing the claimed route; 

6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use (five 
people giving evidence over 20 years and one person over 40 years), all claiming 
this route as a footpath and 4 including maps showing the claimed route. Two 
claimants subsequently confirmed this route at interview; 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured yellow; 
a copy of the 1921 OS 6” – 1 mile map with the claimed route coloured yellow; 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured yellow; 
three coloured photographs showing stiles and gates on the route; 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); and 

Page 621



 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 
 

1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
In addition to the documentary evidence described above, claimants gave evidence 
specific to this route. 

 
1.3b(1)Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health prevented 

him from doing so.  He often used this route as a section of one of several circular 
walks which commenced and terminated at Heolgerrig. 

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site.  He 
has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this and many other routes 
regularly since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr Village Site since 
it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he would support the Coal Authority 
until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc into account was 
developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he has 

claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years.  He no 
longer walks these routes because of illness.  He occasionally used these routes as 
a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims. 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them.  His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 
 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  He occasionally 
goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on other paths and 
on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 

Page 622



1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating when he last 
walked each of the routes.  In this submission he stated that he has walked 
this – and the other claimed routes on a regular basis since 1977; 

 
2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes; 
 
3. a copy of a letter from Mr John Walters, Project Director, Merthyr Village Ltd., 

giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas and other (listed) Councillors of 
the Merthyr Naturalists Society to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Site; 
and 

 
4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early developers of 

coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 
 

Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 
 
1.3b(3)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis noted that there is a stile on this route close to the road between Upper 
and Lower Colliers Row. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born.  For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa 
Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to 
see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the 
Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 

Page 623



Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and stated that 
he has used it regularly all of his life.  He stated that no one has ever stopped him 
going up there and until recently the whole area was open.  “I never even thought 
about whether or not we had a right to go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this specific route to 

get back onto the road between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and then back to 
Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that he usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 36, which he uses to get back onto the road 
between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and then back to Heolgerrig.  He is aware of 
a stile at the junction between Cyfarthfa 36 and Cyfarthfa 38. 

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has done so 
since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to walk this path 
(and the others) and has never sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and he also 
uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more than 
he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he 
can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it 
early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 

Page 624



Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t actually 
delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although some 
routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  The routes have not 
changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his wife 

for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts and 
grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  Mrs Phelps would use this route as one of two 
alternatives to go to school each day – dependant upon which field the cows were in. 

 
The only sign that he remembers was erected close to this route about 2006 by the 
Davies Brothers stating that it was dangerous to walk in the area because of old 
workings. 

 
They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they 
both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
Mr Phelps gave evidence of having ridden a horse and driven a motor car on this 
route – during a period approximately 30 years ago. 

 
Mr Phelps still uses this route regularly but not as much as in previous years. 
 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined, 

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, but 
nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said he had 
walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae.” 

 

Page 625



The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brothers’ 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways).  His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said, 

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site, 

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the Council by Mr 
Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 
 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig.  He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground.  He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that.  Both stated that they 
have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north 
of it. 

 

Page 626



Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths.  He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going out 
for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren. 

 
Mr and Mrs Elwyn Rees stated that they have often used this route which they 
described as “Cwm Glo Road to the Wern”.  When Mr Rees lived at Cwm Glo Road 
he used this route as a short cut to town and up until about 1 year ago he regularly 
took his dog there.  He now walks less frequently because “I am not as able to walk 
as well as I used to”.  He believes this road has been used for hundreds of years. 
 
He also believes that the proposed Wimpey development on the field takes this route 
into account. 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many.  They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr Rees saying, 

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 
 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

Page 627



 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems”. 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr Tony Cousins confirmed the route of the claim and stated ‘I walk this way into 

town’  He pointed out that the discrepancy between his map and the one with the 
main claim was because he had included the complete route from his house.  He 
stated, 

 
“I have walked all of the area, not just this route for as long as I have lived 
here, 23 years because I’ve always owned dogs and still walk them there. 

 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say this has always been a right of way and 
there’s always been a gate at point A (attached map) and a stile at point B but 
that years ago there were kissing gates at points B and C”. 

 
Mr Cousins said that he used the route for pleasure and said  
 

“it is a pleasant walk, part ancient woodland, and also for access to the town 
centre away from the traffic - although some sections of the path are quite 
muddy”. 

 
He believed he had the right to use this route because he’d been led to believe that 
this was a registered right of way by people who have lived in Heolgerrig all their 
lives.  He has always used the same route – although he deviates slightly on 
occasion; no one has ever stopped him from using the route or challenged him about 
it. 

 
The only time he has ever sought permission to go onto the route was when he 
asked the then owner, Mr Page, permission for workmen to enter to renew sewerage 
pipes. Mr Cousins does not know whether Mr Page still owns this land. 

 
Mr Cousins has knowledge of gates and stiles on the route.  He says there used to 
be a gate at Point A for many years.  It was always locked with a chain and padlock 
but when he first moved to the area he was told that this was a stile-gate and anyone 
could climb it.  The gate was only removed when Wimpey entered to bore for ground 
stability quite recently.  There is a wooden stile at Point B which was replaced about 
a year ago.  There is a stile at point C which was replaced when CCW designated 
the area an SSSI.  The only signs he knows of are the recently- erected warning 

Page 628



signs.  The only fencing he knows of – other than the recent fencing of the site - was 
of an old shaft a few feet deep and a warning sign was put adjacent to this. 

 
Mr Cousins said that Wimpey have submitted a planning application for 50 houses 
and the application includes the line of a diverted footpath. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr Derek Rees expressed himself happy with his original application form but 

wanted to support the full extent of the claim on the main claimant’s map.  He drew 
the amended line on a map which he signed and dated. 

 
He stated that he uses this route approximately once a month, sometimes as a short 
cut to town through Ynysfach.  He has never found it obstructed or been prevented 
from using the footpath in any way, “no one has ever objected to my using it and I 
have never been challenged by anyone”.  He is not aware that anyone has 
maintained the route.  He indicated two stiles on his map. 

 
Mr Rees stated that he has always believed that he has had a right to use this route 
and has always been aware that there is a footpath there, this has been passed 
down from older family members – he has inherited what they did previously.  There 
has always been an easily followed and clearly defined route.  He has never seen 
any signs on the route and he frequently sees other people using it. 

 
1.3b(9)Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he and his wife have used this route since they 

moved to Heolgerrig about 12 years previously. He described the route:  
 

“It goes up from Upper Colliers Row, a well-worn, 8ft wide incline with no 
obstructions to where it crosses claim 163x.  Then cross over a stile which 
was re-constructed about 1 year ago by the Davies Bros, tenants on the site, 
replacing an old broken stile which had been there. 

 
The route then crosses the top of re-vegetated spoil, down a slope, across a 
bog, through a meadow containing Devils Bit Scabious, habitat for the Marsh 
Fritillary butterfly, enter woodland for about 100m, exit over a recently re-
constructed stile (as above), across rough pasture and remains of the original 
Heolgerrig Social Club and exit via pastureland via the iron stile on an old 
gate onto the Cwm Glo Road”. 

 
1.3b(10)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives. 

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr Village Site 
after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to invent them, they already 
existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as more-used 
these days than those in the south – apart from the Parish Road.  Mrs Charlotte 
Connolly has used this route regularly as a short walk since she moved to 
Heolgerrig. 

 

Page 629



Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, for example, 
to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced. 

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise. 

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged and neither has had any interest in the site. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
1.4(a) Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed this claimed route and notes taken state: 
 

“This begins at the tips at Colliers Row where there is an issue with water and 
a stile marked ‘Farmers use only’.  There is a mineshaft on the route which 
has been fenced off since 2005. It has never been in a walkable condition. 
There are sink holes there”. 

 
Notes taken at a meeting with Mrs. Misslebrook and Officers read, 

 
“Signs were erected during Mrs Misslebrook’s father’s time. About 1976 it was 
owned by the NCB – although really was always local authority ground and 
the gate at point E was always locked because her father kept 300 sheep. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook marked the position of 5 stiles. Her family used to farm the 
whole area which was divided into sections for use by animals – the sheep 
were moved around from section to section. 

 
This information also relates to claims 163x,164x,180x and 112x 
(her family had the whole area before David Evans had any interest in the 
land)”. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook commented on these notes: 

 
“11. Claimed ROW LA Map 101/180X – Served Map A763/4 /180 Upper 

Colliers Row.  Application for Modification Order d ated 15 th July 
2006 

 
 On the Cwm Glo Road end, Daria Page’s land, there is a locked gate with no 

stile.  On MVL land there are two stiles marked farmers access only.  The first 
notice served indicated that the footpath went through a mine shaft.  When 

Page 630



this shaft was fenced off by the Coal Authority, Mr Connelly of Greenacres, 
Brondeg, Heolgerrig, then served me an application for Modification Order 
under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  I copied the documents to Beth 
Jones and queried the legality of the document as the CROW Act was 
relevant to rights of way and superseded the statutes in the 1981 Act. 

 
 Ms Jones passed the issue to the legal department in the L.A. and I have yet 

to receive a response. 
 

 In addition to my other objections, this route has been altered in the last 12 
months by Coal Authority works and I request it be struck from consideration 
on the basis of due to the change, the claim now has no legal standing”. 

 
In response to the Investigation report, Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“Cyfarthfa 37 – Through Club Fields and Lower SSSI t o Colliers Row 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Portion of aerial map in part of indicative area is not date authenticated. 
3. One aerial map evidences new portion of A470, needs to be struck 

from evidence, would not meet 20 year time scale. 
4. Only one statement supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence. 
5. There are no TPOs in this area”. 
 

1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to this Route 
 
1.5(a) In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 

2009 Halcrow state: 
 

“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have made a 
comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks/paths that exist 
on the site.  During our visit it was apparent that the site is still used extensively by 
walkers and more locally by trail bikes.  In addition, a few horses and sheep were 
also on the site.  Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the site can 
be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

Page 631



 
1.5(b) The western section of this route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 
 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
51. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT. 
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath under Section 53(3)(b). 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Evidence has been adduced from maps, literature and documents which indicate 

that this route is a footpath. 
 
2.5 Due to the user evidence and the documentary evidence, this route is presented to 

you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
[historic]. 

 
3.0 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.3 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 

1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become 
a Public Right of Way. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way is 20 years prior to 
the date of the application itself.  In this case this would be the period 5th January 
1986 to 4th January 2006. 

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
4.0 The Line of the Route 

Page 632



 
4.1 The route cannot be discerned on the ground. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
5.1 The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
61 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
6.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 
 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. 
 
72 More specifically, this entire route was subject to a request for suspension under 

associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 
 
7.3 The evidence of the extant list of PRoWs in the Cyfarthfa ward dated circa 1951 

suggests that at this time this route was generally regarded as being a PRoW. 
 
7.4 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
8.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
82 One person has submitted evidence of pedestrian use during this period. 
 
8.3 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
90 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the agenda. 

 

Page 633



9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 
accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants.  This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns.  Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed.  Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this is a 

multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms  The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 
workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s.  Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1. 
 
 Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 
 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations.  Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

Page 634



 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of this 
route as a footpath for the relevant twenty year period. 

 
The 1966 and 1970 applications by the NCB clearly indicate that at time the route 
was a footpath. 

 
The 1951 Cyfarthfa list also demonstrates that in 1951 this route was regarded as a 
footpath. 
 
Officers present this route for determination as a footpath. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 

claimed, viz. over the period 31st January 1988 and 31st January 2008 and at all 
material times before it. 

 
 Officers now consider that the available evidence establishes the existence of this 

route as a footpath. 
 

Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
observations from users and landlords and tenants of the land, and having taken into 
account the information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the right now 
claimed, viz. footpath over the period 4th January 1986 and 4th January 2006 and at 
all material times before it. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application.  It is considered that a presumption o f dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 

Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 
 

This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

Page 635



 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
Your officers therefore recommend that a footpath on the route depicted between 
Points B–C be recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.0 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 
 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between B – C on the 
Plan on Appendix 6 has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter. 

 

Page 636



Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out 
in 1 above. 

 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

Page 637



Page 638

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 639



Page 640

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 14th September 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 101 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 101 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 29th November 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 8th December 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011; 
both reports are appended at the end of this item. 
 
Cyfarthfa 101 was included within Cyfarthfa 79 (29th November 2010) 
Committee Report. That report is appended at the end of this item 
 
Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 is incorrect in that 
it terminates at its junction with Cyfarthfa 112 (also before Committee 
today) and not on Cyfarthfa 79. 
 
The route commence at its junction with Cyfarthfa 103 at Point A on the 
plan, grid reference SO04480515 and it proceeds in a general north-
easterly direction along a revegetated coal tip to Point B on the plan, 
grid reference SO004520517 where it terminates at its junction with 
Cyfarthfa 112. 
 
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
route as depicted between Point A – B. 
 
Councillors are further requested to note that evidence exists for a 
further route adjoining Cyfarthfa 101, namely Cyfarthfa 112. 
 
Councillors are requested to note that evidence exists for the route 
known as Cyfarthfa 112 depicted with a dashed line between Points C 

 

Agenda Item 23

Page 641



– B – D on the plan. This route commences at its northern junction with 
Cyfarthfa 79 at Point C, grid reference SO04510518 and it proceeds in 
a general southerly direction, passing its junction with Cyfarthfa 101 at 
Point B, grid reference SO04520517 before continuing in a general 
southerly direction to terminate at Point D, grid reference SO04550512, 
its southern junction with Cyfarthfa 79.     
 
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
route as depicted between Point C – B - D. 
 

1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is evident on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial 
 photographs. 
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to these routes and found them clearly 
 defined.   
 
1.6  Users 
 

Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  
He commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
too small when his children were born.  For the past 20 years he has 
only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 
named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, the 
stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no 

Page 642



mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s 
a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 
the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths.  He described 
the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of these specific routes on a map 
and stated that he has used them regularly all of his life, often as a 
means of access to the Froggy Pond and to the Incline. 

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going there and until 
recently the whole area was open.  “I never even thought about 
whether or not we had a right to go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 
when they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 
 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area 
was open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and 
there were always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  
We lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding 
on the paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all 
open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 

 
Mr Paul Brown confirmed the routes on a map and that he uses these 
routes to access the Incline, the Froggy and further walks. 

 
He used to walk on these and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk these paths and has never sought or 
been given permission to use them.  He stated:  
 
“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
have ever been challenged about using this route”.  

 

Page 643



Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site and 
stated: 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
right to walk these paths”. 
 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  He usually spent about 2 hours out walking and would criss-
cross a number of routes although always kept to the routes when 
clearly defined.  The routes have not changed during the period of his 
usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 
Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927.  He was raised close to Mayor’s 
Square, Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to 
Gernant Lane. 

 
He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he 
uses, including these: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of 

the Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden.  My daughter 

says this too.  We have all always gone there for pleasure not 
for work”. 

 
• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr 

Village put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, Mr 

Marshall says “I have walked here since 1938, for the last 78 
years.  It is awkward to explain because I do not understand the 
map but I’ve always gone on whatever track I fancied – and 
everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens 

of people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 

Page 644



 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of 

way, we all just went on the site and walked where we wanted.  
We would take any path that took our fancy.  Nobody ever 
stopped us until two years ago when they fenced in the site.  I 
haven’t gone anywhere that’s been fenced in since then, I 
wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I wouldn’t go onto other 
people’s property”. 
 

• Mr Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while 
using these routes. 

 
• “I can show anybody anything up there.  I know all the routes but 

I can’t understand a map and can’t show you on a map.  I could 
use any of these tracks”. 

 
• Mr Marshall commented on the danger on the site.  “There have 

always been holes there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve 
walked there for over 70 years and only remember one accident.  
A boy from Cae Draw was playing on the screens and lost a 
leg”. 

 
Mr Marshall sees these routes as a means of access to the Froggy and 
to the Incline. 

 
 Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 

Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life 
and his wife for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae 
Cottages and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They 
married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so 
they both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps referred to the 
Merthyr Village Site). 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all 
of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
are all clearly defined. 

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and 
lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 
 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
and all of the area down to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in 
identifying routes on a map, but nevertheless, attempted to trace all the 

Page 645



claimed routes on a map and said he had walked every single path.  
He went shooting and walking and took his two sons walking and 
shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four 
ponds – one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey 
alongside the Road, one big one on the left side of the Parish Road 
and one in Coedcae”. 
 
He described these routes as a means of accessing the Froggy and 
the Incline. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go 
anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 
from the Davies brothers’ father to go shooting – although the 
permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area.  Mr Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 
Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways).   

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe 
when looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking 
there.  The land is altering daily because people can’t access it so 
easily and paths need cutting back”. 
 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so 
do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 
 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, 
loaned to the Council by Mr Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

Page 646



 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used these routes regularly until ill 
health prevented him from doing so.  He often used them as sections 
of several circular walks which commenced and terminated at 
Heolgerrig and they are a means of accessing the Froggy and the 
Incline. 

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers 
Row site.  He has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this 
and many other routes regularly since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he has not been on the Merthyr 
Village Site since it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he 
would support the Coal Authority until the remediation scheme which 
took the railway arch etc into account was developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
that these routes are part of these, going to the Incline, the Froggy or 
routes to the north and south. 
 
He feels that it is very important that public rights of way should be kept 
open to encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which 
are naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped 
from using them. 
 
He continued, 

 
“These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
I use the ones described at least weekly. 
 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
the time. 
 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
rights of way.” 
  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
lived in Heolgerrig all their lives. 

 

Page 647



Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 
Mr Elwyn Rees (now deceased) stated that he had been brought up 
next door to Mrs Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived 
there when he was first married in 1955.  He used several routes 
around Lower Colliers Row - including these - regularly, both when 
young and later, for family walks when he and his wife and children 
walked this route and all of the claimed routes to the north of it as well 
as the ones south to the Cwm Pits area. They lived there for 32 years 
before moving to Heolgerrig. Mrs Megan Rees also gave evidence of 
use of these routes. 

 
He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as 
the Merthyr Village site as a playground.  He stated that he had not 
walked the area since about 2005 because of illness but prior to that, 
had used the majority of the footpaths for family walks on the Merthyr 
Village Site regularly. Both stated that they have walked on the 
Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths.  
He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 
in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr Thomas used to own land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly, 
including these, just going out for a walk with their children and later 
their grandchildren. 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the 
site, with no thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
many.  They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr Rees saying, 

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a child and 
for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 
 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 
any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It 
should be noted that these cottages were so historically important that 
a number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 

Page 648



 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
Merthyr”. 

 
Both stated that they have never asked or thought that they needed 
permission to walk there; they have always walked on the same tracks 
which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the 
routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
drove on these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take 
the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
because of health problems.” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Rees added that she lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was 
first married in 1955 and used these routes regularly for family walks. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr - 
including these paths - from this time. 

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dog, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He uses them as 
sections of different circular walks, accessing them from the north or 
from the Parish Road in the south and uses them to walk past the 
Froggy or to access the Incline.  He has never asked permission of 
anyone to use the routes, has never had his use of any of the paths 
challenged and does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 

Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole west Merthyr area all their lives. 

Page 649



 
She has used these routes for walks as an adult since the 1950s, to 
access the Froggy, or the incline.  She accesses them from the north 
or from the Parish Road.  She and her husband regularly use the 
routes for recreation, for example, to walk their dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also 
pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog-fouling of streets and people 
would become more unhealthy as they would have lost this area for 
exercise.  She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes and 
she has never been challenged while using them.  She has never 
asked permission of anyone to use them. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 101 and Cyfarthfa 112. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise both Cyfarthfa 101 and Cyfarthfa 112 as 
clearly defined and well-used footpaths. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 These routes are presented to you for consideration under two sub-
 sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; 
 namely Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 

Page 650



 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the routes are not to 
 become Public Rights of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
 as highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate them. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been 
 available for public use. 
 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Eleven people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
 as highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate them. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed. 

Page 651



  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 101 and Cyfarthfa 112 for determination as 
 footpaths. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of these routes as  
 footpaths. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over these routes. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement: Cyfarthfa 101 as depicted by a bold line between 
 Points A – B and Cyfarthfa 112 as depicted by a dashed line between 
 Point C – B - D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 101 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 

Page 652



8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 
that the route(s) will need to be signed. 

 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 101 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 101, has been used 
for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has 
not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 101 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 112 

 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a dashed line 

Page 653



between Points C - B – D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 101, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 112 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 101 

 
September 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 654



¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:484
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

   CYFARTHFA 101

A

B

C

D

Page 655



Page 656

This page is intentionally left blank



29th November 2010 Report 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT  
 

Date Written 5th November 2010 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Rights of Way Section 
Committee Date 29th November 2010 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 
1.0 Determination of application to record a Public  Right of Way, 

Cyfarthfa 79 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.0 Description of Route 
 

The route commences on the Parish Road, Troedyrhiw 69 (a route included in 
the 2010 Order), at grid reference SO04590511, Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 
79.  It proceeds on a well-defined earth track through an area of small re-
vegetated coal tips and other deposits in a general north-westerly direction to 
Point B, grid reference SO04550511 where it changes to a general west-
north-westerly direction and continues to Point C, grid reference SO04530517.  
Here it reverts to a general north-westerly direction, passes Point D, grid 
reference SO04520517, and continues to Point E, grid reference SO04450521 
where it changes to a general north-north-easterly direction, continuing to 
Point F, grid reference SO04410538.  The route then continues in a general 
west-north-westerly direction to Point G, grid reference SO04400547 where it 
reverts to a general north-westerly direction to Point H, grid reference 
SO04240557, its termination on Cyfarthfa 135, a route included in the 2010 
Order. 

 
 This route has been described to officers as a route from which the public 

access the Incline and a pond called the “Froggy” and also as an alternative 
and equally well-used north-south route to Cyfarthfa 135 and its southern 
continuation, Troedyrhiw 44 (a route included in the 2010 Order). 

 
Councillors are also advised that there is very clear evidence on the ground 
that users walk a route as depicted by a dashed line between Points E and I 
on the plan, Cyfarthfa 79.  It commences at Point E and continues in a general 
west-south-westerly direction to terminate at Point I, grid reference 
SO04400519, a point on Troedyrhiw 44 (a route included in the 2010 Order).  

 

Page 657



This is known as Cyfarthfa 99 and has been described as a means of 
accessing the incline. 

  
Councillors are also advised that there is very clear evidence on the ground 
that users walk a route as depicted by a dotted line between Points D and J on 
the plan, Cyfarthfa 79.  It commences at Point D and continues in a general 
westerly and then south-westerly direction to terminate at Point J, grid 
reference SO04480515. This is known as Cyfarthfa 101. 

 
Councillors are further advised that there is very clear evidence on the ground 
that users walk a route as depicted by a dashed - dotted line between Points K 
– J - L on the plan, Cyfarthfa 79.  It commences on Troedyrhiw 44 (a route 
included in the 2010 Order), at Point K, grid reference SO04410519 and 
proceeds in a general south-easterly direction to Point J where it meets 
Cyfarthfa 101. Here it changes to a general south-westerly direction and 
continues to terminate at Point L, grid reference SO04500503, a point on 
Troedyrhiw 44 (a route included in the 2010 Order).  This is known as 
Cyfarthfa 103 has been described as a means of accessing the incline and an 
alternative to Troedyrhiw 44 in this southern section. 

 
 Councillors are advised that Officers identify these routes as well- worn tracks 

which are well-used and well-recognised.  
 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 
1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 

Most of Cyfarthfa 79 is depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph; the exception is 
the extreme northern section which terminates adjacent to the point where the 
Nant Rhyd y Car meets Troedyrhiw 44. 

 
All routes are depicted on 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 

 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to these routes and found them clearly defined 

and as described above.  They observed a number of people using each 
route. 

 
1.5 User Evidence  

 
Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  He 
commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers 
Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house 

Page 658



there in 1964 and only moved because the house was too small when his 
children were born.  For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed 
routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site most days, but prior to 20 years 
ago, he used the routes for both access to work and for pleasure, and in fact 
always rode on most of them, especially as a young man with a group of 
others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more 
bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa 
Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to 
see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the 
Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the 
history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc 
and of individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles 
and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of these specific routes on a map and 
stated that he has used them regularly all of his life, often as a means of 
access to the Froggy Pond and to the Incline. 

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going there and until recently the 
whole area was open.  “I never even thought about whether or not we had a 
right to go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 
 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2010. 

 

Page 659



Mr Paul Brown confirmed the routes on a map and that he uses these routes 
to access the Incline, the Froggy and further walks. 

 
He used to walk on these and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, 
on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has 
done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to 
walk these paths and has never sought or been given permission to use them.  
He stated:  
 
“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route”.  

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and 
he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more 
than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown 
stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  
He stopped using it early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the 
run-up to the election and he didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is 
a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site and stated: 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 
 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although 
some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  He usually 
spent about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes 
although always kept to the routes when clearly defined.  The routes have not 
changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 
Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927.  He was raised close to Mayor’s Square, 
Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. 

 
He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses, 
including these: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the 

Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden.  My daughter says this 

too.  We have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”. 
 

Page 660



• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village 
put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 

 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, Mr Marshall says 

“I have walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years.  It is awkward to 
explain because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on 
whatever track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of 

people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we 

all just went on the site and walked where we wanted.  We would take 
any path that took our fancy.  Nobody ever stopped us until two years 
ago when they fenced in the site.  I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been 
fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I 
wouldn’t go onto other people’s property”. 
 

• Mr Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using 
these routes. 

 
• “I can show anybody anything up there.  I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map.  I could use any of 
these tracks”. 

 
• Mr Marshall commented on the danger on the site.  “There have always 

been holes there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve walked there for over 
70 years and only remember one accident.  A boy from Cae Draw was 
playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
Mr Marshall sees these routes as a means of access to the Froggy and to the 
Incline. 

 
 Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 

Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his 
wife for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her 
aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They married in 1953 and lived at 
Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area 
very well (Mr Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed 
footpaths, all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks 
on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly 
defined. 

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 
 

Page 661



Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on 
the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area 
down to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, 
but nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said 
he had walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his 
two sons walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 
 
He described these routes as a means of accessing the Froggy and the 
Incline. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go 
anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the 
Davies brothers’ father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry 
a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence 
of much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he 
is aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr 
Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; 
describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of 
the paths on the site and also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He 
also gave evidence of regularly seeing horses being ridden there (on routes 
which are now claimed bridleways).   

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 
 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do 
others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great grandchildren 
there when they’re a bit older”. 
 

Page 662



Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed 
by Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the 
Council by Mr Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used these routes regularly until ill health 
prevented him from doing so.  He often used them as sections of several 
circular walks which commenced and terminated at Heolgerrig and they are a 
means of accessing the Froggy and the Incline. 

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site.  
He has lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this and many other 
routes regularly since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he has not been on the Merthyr Village 
Site since it was fenced off.  He stated that he had said he would support the 
Coal Authority until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc 
into account was developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and that 
these routes are part of these, going to the Incline, the Froggy or routes to the 
north and south. 
 
He feels that it is very important that public rights of way should be kept open 
to encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally 
beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from using them. 
 
He continued, 

 
“These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the ones 
described at least weekly. 
 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people who 
still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have 
never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 
 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 
  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been led to 
believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have lived in 
Heolgerrig all their lives. 

Page 663



 
Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
Mr Elwyn Rees (now deceased) stated that he had been brought up next door 
to Mrs Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there when he was 
first married in 1955.  He used several routes around Lower Colliers Row - 
including these - regularly, both when young and later, for family walks when 
he and his wife and children walked this route and all of the claimed routes to 
the north of it as well as the ones south to the Cwm Pits area. They lived there 
for 32 years before moving to Heolgerrig. Mrs Megan Rees also gave 
evidence of use of these routes. 

 
He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this 
lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground.  He stated that he had not walked the area since 
about 2005 because of illness but prior to that, had used the majority of the 
footpaths for family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly. Both stated 
that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the 
footpaths to the north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous 
shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by 
miners during the 1926 strike and as children they all got to know the 
dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths.  He also pointed out that the 
deep vents and shafts have been covered in reinforced concrete – his father-
in-law and Eddie Thomas had been involved in this (Mr Thomas used to own 
land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly, 
including these, just going out for a walk with their children and later their 
grandchildren. 

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, 
with no thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just followed the 
footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones 
in addition to those on the map; they use so many.  They have always thought 
they had a right to walk on these paths and no one has ever challenged them, 
Mr Rees saying, 

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration of 
preserving these unique mining cottages.  It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

Page 664



 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has become 
an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
Both stated that they have never asked or thought that they needed 
permission to walk there; they have always walked on the same tracks which 
have been clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no 
one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems.” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area 
the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Rees added that she lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was first 
married in 1955 and used these routes regularly for family walks. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 

married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr - including 
these paths - from this time. 

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dog, even after being prevented 
from doing so when the area was fenced.  He uses them as sections of 
different circular walks, accessing them from the north or from the Parish Road 
in the south and uses them to walk past the Froggy or to access the Incline.  
He has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, has never had 
his use of any of the paths challenged and does not recognise any 
obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and 
her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole west Merthyr area all their 
lives. 

 

Page 665



She has used these routes for walks as an adult since the 1950s, to access 
the Froggy, or the incline.  She accesses them from the north or from the 
Parish Road.  She and her husband regularly use the routes for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when 
the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were 
prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog-fouling 
of streets and people would become more unhealthy as they would have lost 
this area for exercise.  She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes 
and she has never been challenged while using them.  She has never asked 
permission of anyone to use them. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2010. 

 

2.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Cyfarthfa 79, Cyfarthfa 99, Cyfarthfa 101 and Cyfarthfa 103. 

 
 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 79, 99, 101 and 103 as clearly defined and 
well-used routes. 

 
2.2 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
BOAT. 

 
 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 

the investigation could conclude that the routes do not exist. 
 
 Officers recognise that these routes are footpaths, they have user evidence of 

this and therefore present them to Councillors as footpaths. 
 
2.3 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
  The routes are presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 

Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of 
the Public Rights of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site 
stating that the routes are not to become Public Rights of Way. 

 

Page 666



 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been 
enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways as 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate them. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period looked 

at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date the routes came into question.  In this case Officers 
consider that a reliable date of challenge would be between 1987 and the 
fencing in 2007 when access onto the Merthyr Village Site was prevented. 
User evidence exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been available for 

public use. 
 
2.4 The Line of the Route 
 
 The routes are clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
2.5 Aerial Photographs 
 
 Depiction of the route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the existence of 

the route and of usage. 
 
2.6 User Evidence 
 

Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
 Eleven people have given evidence of use of these routes as footpaths for 

recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 
  

3.0 SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that Cyfarthfa 79, 99, 101 

and 103 have been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption 
for a full period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated 
as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 79, 99, 101 and 103 for determination as footpaths. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 

evident that rights of way do exist over these routes. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met  for the routes.  It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has ari sen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evi dence of lack of 

Page 667



intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement co uld therefore be 
made under S53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1 981. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officer’s view that these routes are highways and 
have no obstructions. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987 - 2007 and at all material times 
before it. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53(3)(b) have been met and that the Public Rights  of Way exist. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant 
evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of these routes under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that these highways were 
established long before modern times and therefore continue to be highways 
despite any subsequent obstructions. 
 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Ri ghts of way exists. 

 
 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map and 

Statement; Cyfarthfa 79 as depicted by a bold line between Points A – B – C –
D – E – F – G - H, Cyfarthfa 99 as depicted by a dashed line between Points E 
– I, Cyfarthfa 101 as depicted by a dotted line between Points D - J and 
Cyfarthfa 103 as depicted by a dashed-dotted line between Points K – J - L on 
the Plan, Cyfarthfa 79, and as described above. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the routes and writing the report. If 

Councillors determine that the Public Rights of Way exist, there will be a 

Page 668



financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with a Public 
Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 

 
4.2 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route 

will need to be signed. 
 
4.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it. 

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
5.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 
1) In respect of Cyfarthfa 79: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B – C - D – E – F – G - H on the plan, Cyfarthfa 79 has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 79 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

  
2) In respect of Cyfarthfa 99 

Page 669



 
Either 

 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points 
E - I on the plan, Cyfarthfa 79 has been used for such period so 
as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 99 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

 
3) In respect of Cyfarthfa 101: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dotted line between Points 
D - J on the plan, Cyfarthfa 79 has been used for such period so 
as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 101 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 

Page 670



 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

  
4) In respect of Cyfarthfa 103: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed-dotted line between 
Points K – J - L on the plan, Cyfarthfa 79 has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 103 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

  
 
5.2 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order 

as set out in 1, 2, 3 and 4  above. 

Page 671



 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Page 672



Page 673



Page 674

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 27th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 102 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 102, grid 
 reference SO03540562, at its common junction with Cyfarthfa 73 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today 
 for correction) and Cyfarthfa 109 (also before committee today for 
 determination). It proceeds along a grass track through the Waun in a 
 general west-north-westerly direction to Point B, grid reference 
 SO03470564. Here it changes to a general south-westerly direction 
 and proceeds passing its junction with Cyfarthfa 108 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order), then its junction with Cyfarthfa 107 (a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction) before continuing to terminate at Point C, grid reference 
 SO03320544, its junction with Cyfarthfa 46 (a route on the unconfirmed 
 2010 Order).  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C.  
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-recognised route. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on 2003, 2006 2008 and 2010 aerial 
 photographs. 

 

 

Agenda Item 24

Page 675



1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
 including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
 since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced and uses it when 
 he wants a short, circular route. 
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or  any of the paths challenged.  
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has 
 never been challenged while using the route.  She has never asked 
 permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 102.  

Page 676



 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 

Page 677



 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 102. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 102 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Right of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 

Page 678



 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 

In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Four people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 102 for determination as a footpath. 
 

Page 679



 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A  - B – C on the Plan, 
 Cyfarthfa 102 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 

Page 680



County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.   

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 102 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 102, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 102 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 

Page 681



BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 102 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 682



A

B

C

Nant C
wm-g

lo

Tip

CS

Track

Tk B

Shaft

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,840
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 102

Page 683



Page 684

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 26th July 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 104 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences just to the south of an open area on re-
 vegetated coal tip at Point A, grid reference SO03900546, its northern 
 junction with Cyfarthfa 38 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and 
 proceeds in a general southerly and then a general south-easterly 
 direction through a boggy area around an old oak tree to terminate at 
 Point B, grid reference SO03920543, its southern junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 38 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order). 
 
 This route formed a section of the route described by users in relation 
 to Cyfarthfa 38. Cyfarthfa 38 was reported to committee in October 
 2009 and January 2010 and included in the unconfirmed 2010 Order; 
 these reports are appended at the end of this item.  
 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Aerial Photographs 
  
 The route is visible on 2003, 2006 and 2008 aerial photographs.  By 
 2010 the route is obscured by trees. 

 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 

 

Agenda Item 25

Page 685



1.5 User Evidence 
 
 The user evidence below is that adduced in relation to the route 
 Cyfarthfa 38. The evidence given by the users for the section of the 
 route known as Cyfarthfa 104 formed part of the described route of 
 Cyfarthfa 38. 
 
 In October 2007 Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father 

had been born at Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she has only used this particular route since 
moving to Brondeg but she and her husband (main claimant, Mr. 
Malcolm Connolly), regularly use it for walks and walking their dog, 
even after the whole site was fenced in 2007. Mrs. Connolly stated that 
this was a direct tramroad to the Cyfarthfa Furnaces and submitted 
photographs showing sections of the claimed route. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Connolly recognise that this route continues further 
to the west - and they use this extended track. They stated however, 
that they had only submitted a claim on this section, Cyfarthfa 38, 
because they thought it unnecessary to claim the western extension as 
the Forestry Commission (owners there) allow access over their land. 

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she only began using the routes in the north 
of the Merthyr Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she 
did not have to invent them, they already existed. She sees these 
paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as more used these days than 
those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 
 
Mrs Connolly also stated that the previous owners of Bleancanaid 
Farm used the Parish Road, Troedyrhiw and a section of Cyfarthfa 38 
to access their farm. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly have regularly used this route, for example, to 
walk their dogs – even after being prevented from doing so when the 
area was fenced. Mrs. Connolly also pointed out that if people were 
prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog 
fouling of streets and people would become more unhealthy as they 
have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of this path; they have never had 
their use of it challenged. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly’s evidence for this route covers the period 
between 1996 and 2009. 

 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 

Page 686



He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
This is one of the routes which Mr. Lewis Lewis has used all of his life. 
He recognises that a gate has been erected by the Junior’s Tip, a stile 
further along (which has now rotted) and a plank placed across the 
Nant Rhydycar.  

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 
 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 

Page 687



 Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes 
which he has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the 
previous 30 years. He no longer walks these routes because of illness. 
He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends in 
Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of 
his claimed routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an 
interesting walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his 
claims.  

 
In a written statement, Mr. Brian Thomas described walking this route, 
 

 “This has to be the longest of the routes on site and I last walked it 
 sometime during August 2006. After leaving Brondeg there is a rough 
 track going south, as you proceed you pass another track to the right 
 which leads to Upper Colliers Row. By staying on the first track you 
 walk upon the disused Cwm Glo – Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway, 
 where impressive hedges are on both sides of the track and there is 
 another stile. The pathway still has the stone tramway sleepers clearly 
 visable and to your right is a wire fence which crosses claimed footpath 
 from Cwm Glo to Upper Wern. At this point you descend a steep bank 
 to negotiate the Nant Rhyd y Car which is also commonly known as 
 Nant Llwyn Yr Eos by crossing the other side the path follows a 
 southerly direction where a large oak tree had crashed down. 

 The tramway now grassed over in a south by south westerly direction 
 to come to claimed footpath which connects Gernant Lane with Lower 
 Colliers Row and by continuing along this route is another stile onto an 
 inclined tramway. On this tramway turn right, head in a north westerly 
 direction for some good distance before turning left onto the 
 Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway before heading south again. The 
 tramway is crossed by a small brook, nearby you turn right into a small 
 grove of silver birch trees which leads to a tree lined roadway which 
 narrows considerably into a footpath. 

 Head west you come to old ironstone workings and yet again is 
 another stile. Continue along footpath close to forestry plantation 
 towards the west with the forestry fencing on your left. Eventually you 
 will come to a tree-lined grassed over track which ends on a claimed 
 right of way road to Blaencanaid Farm and Forestry Commission 
 plantation.” 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one 
has ever challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his 
grandfather’s brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have 
had to use at least half of these paths when going to work. He has only 
sought or been given permission once – when going on the Merthyr 
Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 
 

Page 688



He has often seen other people using these routes – some on 
horseback or on bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also 
walks on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 

 2006. 
 
 Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been 

brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother 
lived at Gelli Du. They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before 
moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well 
(Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site).  

 
Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife has used this route for all of her 
life and he has used it for over 50 years. He and his sons (they more 
often than him) have ridden horses on this path and they used to spend 
every weekend walking to fish or shoot and therefore used this route 
regularly.  

 
Mr. Phelps described this route which he stated branches off from the 
south, from his house, up the tramroad, past the Juniors Football Pitch 
then Upper Wern. It joins further claimed routes (to Colliers Row and to 
the Parish Road) and links up with a web of routes over the Merthyr 
Village Site. Mr. Phelps stated that the northern section was originally 
the tramway to the quarry and up to Blaencanaid and that there are still 
stones on the surface of this route.  

 
He said that this claimed route was regularly used as a public highway, 
groceries and coal, for example, were carried on this road. It was 
drained by iron drains which discharged into a small brook running to 
the Coedcae.  

 
Mr. Phelps regularly used to drive from the Heolgerrig Road up this 
road or the Cwm Glo Road to Gelli Du. He stated “until they removed 
their poles, the Electricity Board looked after the road”.  

 
His wife used this route as one of two alternatives to walk to school 
(depending which field the cows were in). 

 
Mr Phelps complained about a gate erected by the Davies Bros; he 
maintains that this should not be there. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all 
of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
are all clearly defined,  

Page 689



 
 “Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and 
 lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr. Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
and all of the area down to the Parish Road. Mr. Phelps found difficulty 
tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
 “I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe 
 when looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking 
 there. The land is altering daily because people can’t access it so 
 easily and paths need cutting back”. 

He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 
  
 He stated that he had walked every single path. He went shooting and 
 walking and took his two sons walking and shooting on every single 
 path. 
 

The only time Mr. Phelps has either sought or received permission to 
go anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 
from the Davies brother’s father to go shooting – although the 
permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr. Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor 

 state now.  
 

Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go 
anywhere I wanted. It’s only recently that there have been 
problems, when they started fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area. Mr Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 
Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways). His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years 

Page 690



ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to 
Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr. Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went 
walking. They often took a picnic, would use different routes, for 
example, they had best views below Blaencanaid then followed the old 
tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr. Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and 
so do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

  
 “but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
 grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

Mr. Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council 
by Mr. Phelps) showing all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
 Mr. Tony Chaplin, claimant for another route, stated that he has 

frequently used the northern section of this route as a means of access 
to the rest of the site. He would then either go southward or eastward 
and up to Upper Colliers Row.  

 
Mr. Tony Chaplin says that he has not been on the Merthyr Village Site 
since it was fenced off. He stated that he had originally said that he 
would support the Coal Authority until the remediation scheme which 
took the railway arch etc. into account was developed.  

 
Mr. Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr. Chaplin looked at maps which he had previously submitted. He 
stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row 
site. He stated that he has lived close to this area since 1963 and has 
used these routes regularly since then. 

 
He has never been challenged whilst using this route and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it. He has frequently seen 
others using it. 

 
Mr. Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
 Mr. Donald and Mrs. Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have 

lived for 40 years at Heolgerrig and have used many of the routes over 
the Merthyr Village Site regularly throughout this period. There was 
never any concern over walking anywhere on the site until recently. Mr. 
and Mrs. Davies explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in 
the night and she in the morning. They try to walk circular routes, 

Page 691



sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs. Davies has 
walked on more of the routes than her husband. Mr. Davies also said 
that he has regularly taken his grandchildren there and their grandson 
has used certain routes on a pushbike. 

 
Mr. Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. 
He has walked all of the footpaths on the area for many years and 
described the many historical sites there, for example, the Dissenters 
Chapel to which access has now been denied although he has 
accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor services 
were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has 
gathered this information from people who have always lived there. 
Mrs. Davies agreed and also said “people before us had a right to use 
it and the old miners used it”. Mr Davies pointed out that the tramways 
are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in the 1960s and has 
a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him around 
everywhere.  

 
Although they have used the entire route, they agreed that they make 
more use of the northern section of Cyfarthfa 38 as this is a means of 
access to other routes or can be used as a route home. Mrs. Davies 
uses this particular route more often than her husband. They frequently 
see other people using this route and before the Merthyr Village Site 
was fenced off they regularly saw horse riders using it. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used 
routes on a map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that 
if there were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr. Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them 
concerning their use of these routes and continued: 

 
 “I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude 
 re fencing. He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no 
 other remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me 
 walking there although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 
  
 Both Mr. and Mrs. Davies stated that they would not walk across a field 
 or any private land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent 
 them from using the paths although they are aware that at least one, in 
 the north, was blocked at one time in the recent past.  
 

Mr. Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the 
‘Merthyr Village Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as 
usual”. Mrs. Davies agreed saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. 
Davies also stated 

 

Page 692



 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. 
There were chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived 
there, so why should people today be discriminated against from 
people years ago?” 

 
Mrs. Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think 

about it, generations used it, the footpaths have been marked 
out by generations of use.” 

 
Mr. Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land 
is for people to use.   

 
 They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently 
 been claimed. These are all used by many people, they always see 
 people there; the last time he walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 
 women with dogs and a man on own. He also saw horse riders, at least 
 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

Mrs. Davies stated, 
 

 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one 
man meets his friend from Caedraw every morning and then 
goes around on the tramroad”. 

 
Mr. Davies also submitted 10 photographs in evidence. 

 
Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mrs. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
 Mr. Elwyn Rees, claimant for other routes, has used this route all of his 

life. He also stated that his father and then stepfather, together with 
other men, used sections of this path to go to work at the Cwmdu Drift 
and believes that this route is the original “road of stones”. 

 
Mr. Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. 
Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years 
before moving to Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself 
fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area and had the whole 
of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 
4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the 
footpaths for family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before 
that. Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish 
Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. Mrs. Megan Rees 
has knowledge of the area since sometime before her marriage to Mr. 
Elwyn Rees in 1955 when she went to live at Lower Colliers Row. She 
and her husband confirmed that they have always used this route for 

Page 693



walks, often with their children and often as part of circular routes 
involving other claimed routes within the Merthyr Village site.  

 
Mrs. Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – 
just going out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths. 
He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 
in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own land in West Merthyr). 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on 
the site, with no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child 
and for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
 “I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
 Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 
 any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should 
 be noted that these cottages were so historically important that a 
 number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 

 
 At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
 described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
 During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
 become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
 Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they 
have never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk 
there; they have always walked on the same tracks which have been 
clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no one 
has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 

Page 694



 “I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
 drove on these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take 
 the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
 because of health problems” 
  
 Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
 the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 
 
 Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
 
 Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
  
1.6 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations 

and Objections 
 
 Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie 
 Price, discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting 
 read:  
 
 “Access off the Forest Road is by a stile marked ‘farmers use only’. 
 The route then goes around the tree line of the forest. It is not too bad 
 to walk there but from the flat area to the curve formed around the 
 junction with the forks of claims 168x, there are a large number of sink 
 holes. Usually it is impossible to use the route at point D and only 
 possible to cut across the fenceline.” 
 
 Mrs. Misslebrook (representing another tenant) made a number of 
 comments specific to this route. She maintains that it is outside Open 
 Access land and is therefore private land.  
 
 On 12th May, 2007 she wrote, 
 
 “On previous documents received from the Council, there are three 
 stiles indicated, the first two are evident and are farmers access stiles. 
 These are erected by farmers for the purpose of periodically moving 
 around the farm between fenced areas without damaging them. (see 
 enclosed photo)”. 
 
 She further indicated that from the brook onwards, many routes were 
 just sheep tracks as her father had had 300 sheep. She also said that 
 because the Forestry fence has not always been there it is impossible 
 to claim 20 years use on one route as the fence position has changed. 
 
 On 19th September 2007 Mrs. Misslebrook made additional comments 
 in response to the notes taken at interview.  
 
 “Claimed ROW LA Map – Served Map A763/4/163 Blaencanaid 
 Ironstone Quarries to Lower Brondey (Jan 2006) 
 
 As noted in meeting 

Page 695



 
 Additional comments 
 
 “Lower Brondey does not exist so no legal entity on this claim anyway. 
 Steep inclines either side of washout. In terms of the map the served 
 copy indicates 3 stiles but fails to mention they are marked up farmers 
 access only. Mr Mansell Short has sheep in part of this area and the 
 stiles are used for him to gain access with his sheep dogs, to gather 
 sheep, without damaging the fences. Therefore I request the claim be 
 struck from consideration based on discussion points and legal entity.” 
 
 On a further occasion, 14th July 2008, Mrs. Misslebrook wrote: 
 
 “Cyfarthfa 38 –Brondeg to juniors – (over barbed wire fence?) Over 
 drop towards junction at Pen Cae – Up Incline – (over another barbed 
 wire fence?) Across sink holes joining forestry boundary – along 
 boundary to forestry road. 
 
 1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
 2. Only two statements supporting others names blacked out  
  therefore can’t be used in evidence 
 3. This route is not within a SSSI 
 4. This route is not within a TPO.” 
 
1.7 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 
 In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village 
 Site, March 2009 Halcrow state: 
 
 “The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we 
 have made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most 
 apparent tracks /paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was 
 apparent that the site is still used extensively by walkers and more 
 locally by trail bikes. In addition, a few horses and sheep were also on 
 the site. Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the 
 site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

   
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own 
conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal 
Authority, Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last 
Public Inquiry. The Coal Authority decided to fence off the land. It is 
known that members of the public cut sections of this fence in order to 
gain access to the site and use routes which are the subject of this 
Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. 
An Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks 

Page 696



but the owners refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC 
therefore requested the removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 

 
The southern section of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open 
Access Land which has been subject to a Restriction Order since 
summer 2006.   

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application based on long user to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 104. 

 
2.2 Status 
 
2.3 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.4 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.5 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / 

map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected 
a notice on site stating that the route is not to become a PRoW.  

 
3.3 Evidence has been submitted of signs erected on stiles but this would 

not be sufficient to satisfy S. 31(6), and as discussed, the evidence for 
the presence of such signs is limited. Mrs. Misslebrook stated that 
signs stating that the stiles were for farmers use only were erected by 
her father. She has submitted photographs depicting “Farmers access 
only” hand written on the top bars of stiles. The bars are more recent 
than the 1960s. No evidence for the date for this writing has been 
submitted.  

 

Page 697



3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 
normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself. In this case it would be the period between 2nd January 1983 and 
2nd January 2003; extensive user evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
3.6 Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the 

right now claimed, viz. footpath over the period 3rd January 1983 and 
2nd January 2003 and at all material times before it. 

 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
5.2 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations 

made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which 
are set out previously in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 
5th October 2009. 

 
5.3 Representatives of Merthyr Village Ltd. pointed out that the route is 

accessed by a stile marked “Farmers Access Only” and that access is 
also denied by a fence.  

 
5.4 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate 

the claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the 
claimants. This was in line with data protection but officers have now 
been advised that from this stage in the procedure, all details can be 
made public if requested. 

 
5.5 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed 

health and safety concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, 
these cannot be taken into consideration when determining this 
Application.  Representatives of the owners expressed concern over 
the erosion on the route, again this cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this route. 

 
5.6 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the 

user evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors 

Page 698



are also reminded that at that time there was no requirement for the 
County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and 
Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is 

accepted that this is a multi-part process in the development of the 
Definitive Map and Statement, and subsequent investigations have 
revealed via user evidence and documentation that the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of 

Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of 

occupancy of the houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 
1965 /66 which allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of 
forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of 

the industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 
1900s. Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows for 
usage as of right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 

assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public which has 
been dealt with at Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th 
October 2009. Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to 
PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic 

records and from witnesses who have actually used the way is 
consistent one with another and that this is not a case where the 
registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
5.7 Landowners are also concerned about the effects of erosion and 

washout on this route; again, Councillors cannot take this into 
consideration when determining this route. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down 

under the relevant legislation. 
 
5.8 Tenants 
 
 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a 

number of observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken 
into consideration when determining this Application, for example, they 
too have raised concerns about health and safety. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook states that the stiles along the route within the 

Merthyr Village Site were erected for farmers’ use only and bore signs 

Page 699



to this effect. Officers have seen these (now dilapidated) stiles. There 
were no signs on them in autumn 2007 or summer 2009 and Officers 
cannot find physical evidence that signs have been erected on them. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment concerning the Forestry Commission 

fence has been discussed above, where it is recognised that users are 
currently using a route to the north of the original one. 

 
 It is the opinion of Officers that Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment re “Lower 

Brondey” relates, in fact, to a typing error, sic “Lower Brondeg”. 
 
 Mrs. Misslebrook also raised the issue of fences and stated that that a 

large section of this route is only a sheep track.  
 
 Councillors will also be aware that in 2001 there was a severe outbreak 

of foot and mouth disease which affected access and recreation 
throughout the County Borough. Advice Note 15, issued by the 
Planning Inspectorate deals with this issue. Mrs. Misslebrook has 
suggested this interrupts what she considers to be the relevant 20 year 
period. This matter is dealt with in Item 1 of the Rights of Way 
Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

6.0 SUMMARY 
 
6.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 Officers have presented pedestrian user evidence for the existence of 

Cyfarthfa 104 as a footpath.  
 
 Officers therefore present this route for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 

the rights now claimed, viz. footpath over the period 3rd January 1983 
and 2nd January 2003 and at all material times before it.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local 
people, landowners and other interested parties, and having taken into 
account the information received from interested parties both prior to 
and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does 
exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route 
included on the application. It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 

Page 700



by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the route. An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
 Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
 relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of way exists. 

 
 Your officers therefore recommend that a footpath be recorded along 
 the routes on the plan in Cyfarthfa 104. 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
7.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
7.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
7.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.      

Page 701



9.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
9.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 104 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 104, has been used 
for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has 
not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 104 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 104 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 702



A

B

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.12

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:237
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 104

Page 703



Page 704

This page is intentionally left blank



5th October 2009 Report 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC  
RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 38. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
A.  THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 

 
A claim to record a PRoW between Lower Brondeg, Heolgerrig to the Forest Road 
via the (disused) Blaencanaid Ironstone Quarries, was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council on 2nd January 2003. This was referred to as A763/4/163 
and is now known as Cyfarthfa 38 (Claim 1). 

 
In addition, a number of claims to record Public Rights of Way (footpaths) were 
submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 31st January 2008. At that 
time, routes Cyfarthfa 16 and 28 and Troedyrhiw 15 and 25 contained sections of the 
line of Cyfarthfa 38; they are all incorporated within Cyfarthfa 38. 

 
The majority of this route (that section which runs in a general north-south direction) 
follows the former Cwm Glo - Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway which carried 
ironstone (and later coal) northwards from the Blaencanaid Quarries to the Cyfarthfa 
Ironworks. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Appendix 7, the route commences at Point A, grid 
reference SO 03820602, its common junction with a west - east track which runs 
from Cwm Glo Road, Cyfarthfa 37, and Cyfarthfa 57. 

 
Cyfarthfa 38 proceeds southward on a banked and hedged track which still has 
many stone tramway sleepers. It crosses a stile and continues through more open 
grassland.  

 
The route turns to a south-westerly direction onto a grassed coal tip where it meets 
Cyfarthfa 34 and 36 at a stile, Point B, grid reference, SO 3850562 on the plan.  

 
Veering to a general south-south-easterly direction, the route continues over the stile 
and the spoil tip before crossing the Nant Rhydycar (known as Nant Llwyn yr Eos in 
the west) in a very steep coal shale ravine which was created during a washout in 
1979.  

 
Councillors are advised that the direct line of this claim is not always followed at this 
point. Two diversions are used. There is evidence of limited use of a “zig zag” route 
across the ravine between, Points C – D – E – F – G on the plan, or, at Point B, 
users do not cross the stile but walk parallel to the fence, following the line of 
Cyfarthfa 34 in a general south-westerly direction. This diversion leads to a clearly 
discernable crossing point of the Nant Rhydycar and soon afterwards to Point H grid 
ref. SO 03740557 where the diverted route veers to a general south-easterly 

Page 705



direction and returns to the line of Cyfarthfa 38 crossing a (cut) fence at the south of 
the ravine, Point I grid ref. SO 03880549.  

 
Cyfarthfa 38 then continues on the grassed tramway, crossing Cyfarthfa 39 (the Pen 
y Cae Drift Incline, Point J, grid ref. SO 04000531), passing the junction with 
Cyfarthfa 42 Point K grid ref. SO 04010529 and then crossing a stile onto the Cwm 
Du Drift Incline (Point L grid ref. SO 04020525), where Cyfarthfa 38 joins a route 
from the south, Troedyrhiw 63 and T53 from the east. The route follows the Cwm Du 
Drift Incline for a short distance (approximately 50m) through open woodland in a 
north-westerly direction, meeting Troedyrhiw 53 again (Point M grid ref. SO 
03980526), before itself reverting to a general southerly direction. 

 
This route now proceeds uphill through spoil tips. A short distance before it crosses a 
brook, the route veers to a south-westerly direction and runs through ancient 
woodland, passing Troedyrhiw 48 at Point N grid ref. SO 03990515 and Troedyrhiw 
52 at Point O grid ref. SO 03910506. 

 
During the site visit with Mr. John Walters, in 2007, Officers could distinguish and 
follow the route from the spoil tips and through grassland to its junction with the 
woodland. This section was not discernable during a site visit, summer 2009.  

 
Cyfarthfa 38 continues uphill through ancient woodland in a generally westward 
direction on a well-defined track which gradually narrows to approximately 1.5m. It 
passes Troedyrhiw 59 (Point P grid ref. SO 03740508) and 58 (Point Q grid ref. SO 
03670509) which lead off to the south-west. 

 
The route crosses a further stile and enters an avenue of trees bounded by more 
open rough pasture to the north and coniferous plantation on the southern side. It 
then terminates at Point R on the plan, its junction with the Forest Road, Troedyrhiw 
51, at grid reference SO03270501.  

 
In its final section, Councillors are requested to note that since the fencing was 
erected around the Merthyr Village Site in 2007, in order to access and egress onto 
and off the Forest Road users have to climb over a barbed wire-topped fence which 
forms an obstruction. It is clear that on the ground, users cross an older, less 
obstructive, Forestry Commission fence. Users are seen to be making a deviation 
around the obstruction and are “pushed” further north – which they are entitled to do. 
The PRoW has not moved. 

 
Since March 2008, the route now known as Cyfarthfa 38 has been dealt with under 
different names; Cyfarthfa 42 (dealt with at item 9 in this Report), Cyfarthfa 25 
(encapsulated within Cyfarthfa 38) and Troedyrhiw 55 (the eastern section 
encapsulated within Cyfarthfa 38 and the western section has been offered for 
dedication by the Forestry Commission.  The legal process is currently being 
undertaken.) 
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

Page 706



1.3 Maps 
 

That section of the route between Brondeg and the track from Cwm Glo Road is 
depicted on the Tithe Map. 

 
That section of this route which follows the Cwm Glo - Blaencanaid Ironstone Mine 
Tramway is depicted on the Board of Health Map. 

 
The entire route is depicted on the Valuation Map. 

 
Several editions of OS maps were examined: 

 
That section of this route which follows the Cwm Glo – Blaencanaid Ironstone Mines 
Tramway is depicted on the 1875 OS map. It is labelled “tramway”. 

 
This claimed route is joined by a former tramway going eastward to Upper Colliers 
Row, Cyfarthfa 57, a further eastward tramway between the Cwm Glo Pit and the 
Cwm Pit Railway, Cyfarthfa 36, a track to workings and spoil tips in the west and a 
footpath leading south, Troedyrhiw 48. 
 
On an edition of 1919, the route is depicted with the exception of a short section in 
the west, between the final stile and the Forest Road. The northern section is 
labelled “old tramway”. It is joined by all of the claimed routes as described above as 
well as Cyfarthfa 34 and Troedyrhiw 47, 52, 58 59 and 63. 

 
The entire route is depicted on a 1957 OS map. It is labelled “FP” on that section 
between the Cwm Glo – Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway and the termination in the 
west. It is joined by Cyfarthfa 39 and all of the claimed routes as described above. 
 
The entire route is also depicted on the 2005 edition and is joined by six of the 
claimed PRoWs described above; Troedyrhiw 58 and 59 are not depicted. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The entire route is depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph. 
 

The route is depicted clearly but only intermittently on a 2008 photograph. The north-
south section of this route, between Brondeg and the claimed PRoW on the Cwm Du 
Drift Incline is clearly depicted and the claimed line through the wash out is evident 
as is the diagonal line along it. Only the entry and exit points of the route in its “zig 
zag” along the Incline are clear, the remainder of the route along the Incline is 
obscured by trees. The route to the west, to the commencement of the Forestry 
Commission plantation is depicted although it is then again obscured by trees until it 
terminates on the Forest Road. 
 

1.5 Books / Journals / Pamphlets / Websites Consulted 
 

The majority of this route is depicted on the MTCBC publication, “Merthyr Tydfil 
Official Guide and Street Plan”. Sections depicted are in the north (Cephus Church 

Page 707



to junction with Cyfarthfa 36) and west (junction with Troedyrhiw 53 to the Forest 
Road). 

 
The track between Brondeg and Cwm Glo Road is depicted on a plan, Sheet 192, 
attached to the 1814 Parliamentary Bill for railway construction. 
 

1.6 Government Orders and Records 
  
1.6a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 38 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970.  

 
It is depicted as sections of four other routes on the NCB Map,  

 
1. The northern section, to the Pencae Incline, is the northern section of 

Footpath C  
2. A very short section in the centre of the route is a section of Footpath V. 
3. The short north-westward section on the Cwm Du Drift Incline is a section of 

Footpath L  
4. The remainder of the route is a section of Footpath N.  

 
These four sections were described in the NCB Applications to Suspend. 

 
1.  Paragraph 3 (Footpath C) 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath C’ on the Map which runs from a 
point (numbered 7 on the map) about 50 yards north of Coed Cae Bungalow 
on a vehicular track leading from Brondeg to Upper Colliers Row in a general 
southerly direction to meet footpaths described in paragraph 2 and paragraph 
7 of this Schedule at the point (numbered 5 on the Map about 380 yards south 
of the said Bungalow and then in a general South Easterly direction for about 
1100 yards to a point (numbered 11 on the Map) on the Parish road about 
210 yards South South West of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row”. 

 
2.  Paragraph 22 (Footpath V) 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath V” on the Map which runs from 
a point (numbered 47 on the Map) on the Parish Road about 500 yards South 
West of No. 1  Lower Colliers Row in a general North North Westerly direction 
for about 830 yards to meet the footpath described in paragraph 3 above at a 
point (numbered 9 on the Map) about 360 yards East South East of the ruins 
of No. 1 Pen-y-coedcae Cottages”. 

 
3. Paragraph 12 (Footpath L) 
 

“A footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath L’ on the map which runs from 
the footpath described in paragraph 9 above at a point (numbered 20 on the 
map) about 120 yards East South East of the ruins of No. 1 Pen-y-coedcae 
cottages and extends in a South easterly direction for a distance of about 840 

Page 708



yards to its termination at a point (numbered 27 on the map) immediately to 
the North East of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row.” 

 
4.  Paragraph 14 (Footpath N) 

 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath N’ on the Map which runs 
from the footpath described in paragraph 12 above at a point (numbered 24 
on the Map) about 330 yards East South East of the ruins of No. 1 Pen-y-
coedcae Cottages, in a Southerly direction for a distance of about 130 yards 
to meet the footpath described in paragraph 20 below (at a point numbered 29 
on the Map) about 400 yards South East of the ruins of No. 1 Pen-y-coedcae 
Cottages and then in a general Westerly direction to the North Western corner 
of the Blaencanaid Forest at Cefn Ffordd and thence in a South South 
Easterly direction along the North Western edge of the forest adjacent to the 
boundary of the Merthyr County Borough and Aberdare Urban District 
Councils being the part which extends from the said point (numbered 24 on 
the Map) in a Southerly direction to the said point (numbered 29 on the Map) 
and continues in a general Westerly direction for about 1000 yards to a point 
(numbered 31 on the Map) about 460 yards South South East of the said 
Cwmdu Drift”. 

 
Eight of the other footpaths which were subject to the Application to Suspend join 
this claimed route, Cyfarthfa 38. These are Footpaths B, G, I, J, K, Q, R and T, all 
routes which are claimed PRoW and dealt with in this Report. Cyfarthfa 38 also 
joined a vehicular route which was subject to an Application to Suspend. 

 
In the Vehicular Routes Application, a section of Cyfarthfa 38, directly south of the 
vehicular route, Cyfarthfa 57, is described at paragraph 6(d) roads and footpaths 
private (viii)  

 
“A rough metalled track extends from the vehicular track described in 
paragraph 6(d)(ii) above for approximately 300 yards in a Southerly direction 
past Coedcae Bungalow after which trace is lost”. 

 
Footpaths C, L, N and V were four of the twenty nine footpaths described in the 
Vehicular Routes Application. 

 
Sections of this route were included in the March 1988, National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive application for suspension. On the Map which accompanied this 
application, that short section along the Cwm Du Drift Incline is labelled “Footpath 
36” and the remainder of the route to the west is labelled “Footpath 35”. Footpaths 
35 and 36 were described in the schedule:  

 
Footpath 35, 

 
“… that part which runs from a point approximately 395 metres north-north-
west of the farmstead known as Blaen-canaid, in a general easterly direction 
for approximately 365 metres…”, 

 
and Footpath 36, 

Page 709



 
 “Part of Footpath No. 36, being that part which extends from a point 
approximately 115 metres south west of the ruin known as “The Dissenters’ 
Meeting House” in an east-south-easterly direction to its junction with 
Bridleway No. 24 referred to in paragraph 8 below at a point approximately 
395 metres west-south-west of the property known as “Old Rhyd-y-Car”. 

 
In addition, the northern section is labelled “Old Tramway (disused)”. The track is 
clearly depicted and labelled southward from its junction with Cyfarthfa 34 and 36 up 
to and then beyond the ravine. 

 
Officers interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 38 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.7 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

Sections of this route are described in the extant list of Public Rights of Way in the 
Cyfarthfa Ward dated circa 1951: 

 
Number 2 

 
“from Brondeg, Heolgerrig, to the Coedcae Bungalow to join the route as in 
No. 1 near Cwm Glo, thence to Pen Cae Wern to Lower Colliers Row to the 
Parish Road. (This route also branches near Pen Cae Wern House, the other 
arm leading to the Parish road via the Waun)”, 

 
and Number 10, 

 
“From Heolgerrig to Cwm Du to the Parish Road via the Waun”.  

 
1.8 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

The 1979 Draft Map depicts the western section of this claimed route as Footpath 35 
and it is described in the statement: 

 
“Commences at gate on termination of B.R’s. 31 and 34 and proceeds in an 
easterly direction along path flanked by fence on the southern side. Then by 
track unfenced to its termination on F.P. 37.” 

 
The description gives the length as 900 yards and the width as 3 feet.  

  
On the 1991 draft map, the northern section of this claimed route is depicted as a 
section of Bridle Road 37, and the western section as Footpath 35.  

 
Although the precise termination point of the private vehicular route described above 
cannot be determined, Officers surmise that this may overlap at least some of the 
line depicted as bridleway in 1991. 
 

1.9 Site Visits 

Page 710



 
Officers have made three site inspections of this route, walking different sections on 
each occasion.  
 
They were accompanied by Mr. John Walters, a representative of Merthyr Village 
Ltd. on two occasions; Mr. Walters pointed out several hazards. Officers did not try 
and cross the Nant Llwyn yr Eos whilst with Mr. Walters; they diverted to inspect a 
further route.  

 
On a separate occasion they walked the second of the two used diversions as 
described above. The zig zag diversion was not walked but was clearly discernable. 

 
The remainder of the route was found as described above. 

 
On each occasion a number of people were observed walking this route.  
 

B. CONSULTATION                                                                                                                        
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  

 
No response received. 

 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 38, was issued in June 2008.  
 

1.3 Observations and Information From Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
On 2nd January 2003 the main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly submitted: 

 
a detailed schedule describing the claimed route, 
6 correctly completed evidence forms claiming this route as a footpath and showing 
evidence of use; two over 50 years, two over 30 years, one 25 years and one in 
excess of 20 years. At the request of the Rights of Way Officer, five claimants 
returned signed maps depicting this route; the sixth subsequently confirmed this 
route on a map at interview, 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey (OS) map with the claimed route coloured pink, 
a copy of an extract from the 1921 OS map, claimed route coloured yellow, 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured yellow, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map),  
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier) and 
a copy of the Rhydycar Archaeological Assessment. 
 

1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 

Page 711



The main claimant and four of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed.  

 
1.3b(1)In October 2007 Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been 

born at Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have 
walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she has only used this particular route since moving to 
Brondeg but she and her husband (main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly), regularly 
use it for walks and walking their dog, even after the whole site was fenced in 2007. 
Mrs. Connolly stated that this was a direct tramroad to the Cyfarthfa Furnaces and 
submitted photographs showing sections of the claimed route. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Connolly recognise that this route continues further to the west - 
and they use this extended track. They stated however, that they had only submitted 
a claim on this section, Cyfarthfa 38, because they thought it unnecessary to claim 
the western extension as the Forestry Commission (owners there) allow access over 
their land. 

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr 
Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to invent them, 
they already existed. She sees these paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as 
more used these days than those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 
 
Mrs Connolly also stated that the previous owners of Bleancanaid Farm used the 
Parish Road, Troedyrhiw and a section of Cyfarthfa 38 to access their farm. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly have regularly used this route, for example, to walk their dogs 
– even after being prevented from doing so when the area was fenced. Mrs. 
Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of this path; they have never had their use of it challenged. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly’s evidence for this route covers the period between 1996 and 
2009. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on this 
claimed route and many others on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
This is one of the routes which Mr. Lewis Lewis has used all of his life. He 
recognises that a gate has been erected by the Junior’s Tip, a stile further along 
(which has now rotted) and a plank placed across the Nant Rhydycar.  

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row), 
worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the 
house was too small when his children were born. For the past 20 years he has only 

Page 712



used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most 
days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access 
to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We lived 
there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the paths we 
went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only since about 
1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(3)Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he 

has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years. He 
no longer walks these routes because of illness. He occasionally used these routes 
as a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims.  

 

Page 713



In a written statement, Mr. Brian Thomas described walking this route, 
 

“This has to be the longest of the routes on site and I last walked it sometime 
during August 2006. After leaving Brondeg there is a rough track going south, 
as you proceed you pass another track to the right which leads to Upper 
Colliers Row. By staying on the first track you walk upon the disused Cwm 
Glo – Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway, where impressive hedges are on both 
sides of the track and there is another stile. The pathway still has the stone 
tramway sleepers clearly visable and to your right is a wire fence which 
crosses claimed footpath from Cwm Glo to Upper Wern. At this point you 
descend a steep bank to negotiate the Nant Rhyd y Car which is also 
commonly known as Nant Llwyn Yr Eos by crossing the other side the path 
follows a southerly direction where a large oak tree had crashed down. 

 
The tramway now grassed over in a south by south westerly direction to come 
to claimed footpath which connects Gernant Lane with Lower Colliers Row 
and by continuing along this route is another stile onto an inclined tramway. 
On this tramway turn right, head in a north westerly direction for some good 
distance before turning left onto the Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway before 
heading south again. The tramway is crossed by a small brook, nearby you 
turn right into a small grove of silver birch trees which leads to a tree lined 
roadway which narrows considerably into a footpath. 

 
Head west you come to old ironstone workings and yet again is another stile. 
Continue along footpath close to forestry plantation towards the west with the 
forestry fencing on your left. Eventually you will come to a tree-lined grassed 
over track which ends on a claimed right of way road to Blaencanaid Farm 
and Forestry Commission plantation.” 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He occasionally 
goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on other paths and 
on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 2006. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been brought up at 

Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du. They 
married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they both 
know the whole area very well (Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site).  

 

Page 714



Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife has used this route for all of her life and he has 
used it for over 50 years. He and his sons (they more often than him) have ridden 
horses on this path and they used to spend every weekend walking to fish or shoot 
and therefore used this route regularly.  

 
Mr. Phelps described this route which he stated branches off from the south, from his 
house, up the tramroad, past the Juniors Football Pitch then Upper Wern. It joins 
further claimed routes (to Colliers Row and to the Parish Road) and links up with a 
web of routes over the Merthyr Village Site. Mr. Phelps stated that the northern 
section was originally the tramway to the quarry and up to Blaencanaid and that 
there are still stones on the surface of this route.  

 
He said that this claimed route was regularly used as a public highway, groceries 
and coal, for example, were carried on this road. It was drained by iron drains which 
discharged into a small brook running to the Coedcae.  

 
Mr. Phelps regularly used to drive from the Heolgerrig Road up this road or the Cwm 
Glo Road to Gelli Du. He stated “until they removed their poles, the Electricity Board 
looked after the road”.  

 
His wife used this route as one of two alternatives to walk to school (depending 
which field the cows were in). 

 
Mr Phelps complained about a gate erected by the Davies Bros; he maintains that 
this should not be there. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr. Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road. Mr. Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking there. The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

  
He stated that he had walked every single path. He went shooting and walking and 
took his two sons walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 

Page 715



“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four  ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”’ 

 
The only time Mr. Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere 
on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brother’s 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr. Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor state now.  

 
Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go anywhere I 
wanted. It’s only recently that there have been problems, when they started 
fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area. Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways). His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr. Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went walking. They 
often took a picnic, would use different routes, for example, they had best views 
below Blaencanaid then followed the old tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr. Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr. Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council by Mr. Phelps) showing all 
of the footpaths.  

 
Mr. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr. Tony Chaplin, claimant for another route, stated that he has frequently used the 

northern section of this route as a means of access to the rest of the site. He would 
then either go southward or eastward and up to Upper Colliers Row.  

 

Page 716



Mr. Tony Chaplin says that he has not been on the Merthyr Village Site since it was 
fenced off. He stated that he had originally said that he would support the Coal 
Authority until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc. into account 
was developed.  

 
Mr. Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr. Chaplin looked at maps which he had previously submitted. He stated that most 
of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site. He stated that he has lived 
close to this area since 1963 and has used these routes regularly since then. 

 
He has never been challenged whilst using this route and has never sought or been 
given permission to use it. He has frequently seen others using it. 

 
Mr. Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr. Donald and Mrs. Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have lived for 40 

years at Heolgerrig and have used many of the routes over the Merthyr Village Site 
regularly throughout this period. There was never any concern over walking 
anywhere on the site until recently. Mr. and Mrs. Davies explained that they walk 
their dog twice a day, he in the night and she in the morning. They try to walk circular 
routes, sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs. Davies has walked 
on more of the routes than her husband. Mr. Davies also said that he has regularly 
taken his grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain routes on a 
pushbike. 

 
Mr. Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there. Mrs. Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”. Mr Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere.  

 
Although they have used the entire route, they agreed that they make more use of 
the northern section of Cyfarthfa 38 as this is a means of access to other routes or 
can be used as a route home. Mrs. Davies uses this particular route more often than 
her husband. They frequently see other people using this route and before the 
Merthyr Village Site was fenced off they regularly saw horse riders using it. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a 
map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there were 
any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 

Page 717



Mr. Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use of 
these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing. He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any 
private land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using the 
paths although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at one 
time in the recent past.  

 
Mr. Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the ‘Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”. Mrs. Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs. Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use.” 

 
Mr. Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people 
to use.   

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed. These are all used by many people, they always see people there; the last 
time he walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 women with dogs and a man on own. 
He also saw horse riders, at least 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

 
Mrs. Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 

his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 

 
Mr. Davies also submitted 10 photographs in evidence. 

 
Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mrs. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr. Elwyn Rees, claimant for other routes, has used this route all of his life. He also 

stated that his father and then stepfather, together with other men, used sections of 

Page 718



this path to go to work at the Cwmdu Drift and believes that this route is the original 
“road of stones”. 

 
Mr. Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. Charlotte Connolly at 
Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to Heolgerrig. He 
stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area 
and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 4 years but 
both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for family walks on the 
Merthyr Village Site regularly before that. Both stated that they have walked on the 
Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. Mrs. Megan 
Rees has knowledge of the area since sometime before her marriage to Mr. Elwyn 
Rees in 1955 when she went to live at Lower Colliers Row. She and her husband 
confirmed that they have always used this route for walks, often with their children 
and often as part of circular routes involving other claimed routes within the Merthyr 
Village site.  

 
Mrs. Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going 
out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own land in West Merthyr). 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

Page 719



 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
1.4(a) Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting read:  
 

“Access off the Forest Road is by a stile marked ‘farmers use only’. The route 
then goes around the tree line of the forest. It is not too bad to walk there but 
from the flat area to the curve formed around the junction with the forks of 
claims 168x, there are a large number of sink holes. Usually it is impossible to 
use the route at point D and only possible to cut across the fenceline.” 

 
1.4(b) Mrs. Misslebrook (representing another tenant) made a number of comments 

specific to this route. She maintains that it is outside Open Access land and is 
therefore private land.  

 
On 12th May, 2007 she wrote, 

 
“On previous documents received from the Council, there are three stiles 
indicated, the first two are evident and are farmers access stiles. These are 
erected by farmers for the purpose of periodically moving around the farm 
between fenced areas without damaging them. (see enclosed photo)”. 

 
She further indicated that from the brook onwards, many routes were just sheep 
tracks as her father had had 300 sheep. She also said that because the Forestry 
fence has not always been there it is impossible to claim 20 years use on one route 
as the fence position has changed. 

 

Page 720



On 19th September 2007 Mrs. Misslebrook made additional comments in response to 
the notes taken at interview.  

 
4 “Claimed ROW LA Map – Served Map A763/4/163 Blaenc anaid Ironstone 

Quarries to Lower Brondey (Jan 2006)  
 

As noted in meeting 
 
Additional comments 

 
“Lower Brondey does not exist so no legal entity on this claim anyway. Steep 
inclines either side of washout. In terms of the map the served copy indicates 
3 stiles but fails to mention they are marked up farmers access only. Mr 
Mansell Short has sheep in part of this area and the stiles are used for him to 
gain access with his sheep dogs, to gather sheep, without damaging the 
fences. Therefore I request the claim be struck from consideration based on 
discussion points and legal entity.” 

 
On a further occasion, 14th July 2008, Mrs. Misslebrook wrote: 

 
“Cyfarthfa 38 –Brondeg to juniors – (over barbed wire fence?) Over drop 
towards junction at Pen Cae – Up Incline – (over another barbed wire fence?) 
Across sink holes joining forestry boundary – along boundary to forestry road. 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Only two statements supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence 
3. This route is not within a SSSI 
4. This route is not within a TPO.” 
 

1.4(c) Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 
2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have made a 
comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks /paths that exist 
on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is still used extensively by 
walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a few horses and sheep were 
also on the site. Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the site can 
be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

   
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

Page 721



 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 

 
The southern section of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open Access Land 
which has been subject to a Restriction Order since summer 2006.   

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application based on long user to modify the Definitive Map and Statement 
by adding Cyfarthfa 38. 

 
1.1 Councillors are also requested to determine the detours referred to above. The 

detour to the west, initially along Cyfarthfa 34 and then turning back to Cyfarthfa 38 
is referred to as Cyfarthfa 75 and the “zig-zag”detour through the ravine is referred to 
as Cyfarthfa 76. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Ten people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use during the period to be 

considered. Evidence of pedestrian use exists from the 1930s. 
 
2.5 Officers have presented very limited evidence of this route as a BOAT or a 

bridleway. The draft map of 1991 depicts the northern section of this route as a 
bridleway and one claimant has submitted evidence of equestrian and BOAT use. 

 
2.6 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the ground and 

have therefore included the route marked by dashed lines between Points C-D-E-F-
G and by dots between points H - I on the Plan for your consideration. They see 
these sections as an integral part of the route. The only evidence for these sections 
is from Officer’s observations on the ground. They therefore offer these sections for 
consideration as footpaths.  

 
3.0  Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

Page 722



 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating 
that the route is not to become a PRoW.  

 
3.3 Evidence has been submitted of signs erected on stiles but this would not be 

sufficient to satisfy S. 31(6), and as discussed, the evidence for the presence of such 
signs is limited. Mrs. Misslebrook stated that signs stating that the stiles were for 
farmers use only were erected by her father. She has submitted photographs 
depicting “Farmers access only” hand written on the top bars of stiles. The bars are 
more recent than the 1960s. No evidence for the date for this writing has been 
submitted.  

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case it would be the period 
between 2nd January 1983 and 2nd January 2003; extensive user evidence exists for 
this period.  

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
3.6 Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the right now 

claimed, viz. footpath over the period 3rd January 1983 and 2nd January 2003 and at 
all material times before it.        

 
3.7 Officers also consider that the two routes, Cyfarthfa 75 and 76 have been used since 

the washout in December 1979 and this allows for twenty years user on these routes 
also, that is the period between 1st January 1980 and 3rd December 1999. 

 
4.0 The Line of the Route 
 
4.1 All routes are clearly discernable on the ground. The section walked in 2007 but not 

found in summer 2009 is attributed to lack of use since the site was fenced. 
 
4.2 There is verbal and documentary evidence that this claimed route is only a section of 

a much longer route which has been used as a public footpath since at least the 
1960s. This route continues westward up the mountainside to Mynydd Aberdâr and 
then veers southward to terminate at the junction of a number of other claimed 
PRoW. 

 
43 The routes have been available for public use as a footpath. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
5.1 The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 

6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 

Page 723



6.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described indicates that a track/path 
existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public rights on the route. It is, 
however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the way in which this 
claimed route links with other routes. 

 
6.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. More 
specifically, this route has been one which was subject to a request for suspension 
under associated applications in 1966, 1970 and 1988. 

 
72 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route C, V, L and N and twenty eight others –to such a degree that this and they 
were made the subject of legal applications to suspend. 

 
7.3 The 1966, 1970 and 1988 applications also clearly indicate that at those times the 

route was recognised as a public footpath and subsequent planning applications 
reinforce this.  

 
7.4 Although neither the Draft Map of 1979 nor that of 1991 can be regarded as a 

definitive legal document, nevertheless, this route was recognised as being a 
potential public right of way at those times. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
8.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
8.2 Ten people have submitted extensive evidence of use of this route for recreation and 

leisure as a footpath; one of these people has also submitted evidence of BOAT and 
equestrian use. 

 
8.3 One person demonstrated use over a period of more than 70 years, one more than 

60 years, one more than 50 years, one for 30 years, one for 25 years  and two for 
approximately twelve years. 

 
8.4 The fact that stiles were erected (verbal evidence from one user states mid 1960s) 

indicates that the route was recognised as having public status at that time.  
 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the Agenda. 

 

Page 724



9.2 Representatives of Merthyr Village Ltd. pointed out that the route is accessed by a 
stile marked “Farmers Access Only” and that access is also denied by a fence.  

 
9.3 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.4 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application.  Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route, again this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this route. 

 
9.5 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at that 
time there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this 

is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public which has been dealt with at Item 1. 
Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 Landowners are also concerned about the effects of erosion and washout on this 

route; again, Councillors cannot take this into consideration when determining this 
route. 

Page 725



 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.6 Tenants 
 
 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook states that the stiles along the route within the Merthyr Village Site 

were erected for farmers’ use only and bore signs to this effect. Officers have seen 
these (now dilapidated) stiles. There were no signs on them in autumn 2007 or 
summer 2009 and Officers cannot find physical evidence that signs have been 
erected on them. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment concerning the Forestry Commission fence has been 

discussed above, where it is recognised that users are currently using a route to the 
north of the original one. 

 
 It is the opinion of Officers that Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment re “Lower Brondey” 

relates, in fact, to a typing error, sic “Lower Brondeg”. 
 
 Mrs. Misslebrook also raised the issue of fences and stated that that a large section 

of this route is only a sheep track.  
 
 Councillors will also be aware that in 2001 there was a severe outbreak of foot and 

mouth disease which affected access and recreation throughout the County 
Borough. Advice Note 15, issued by the Planning Inspectorate deals with this issue. 
Mrs. Misslebrook has suggested this interrupts what she considers to be the relevant 
20 year period. This matter is dealt with in Item 1. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been enjoyed 

by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and 
the ways deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate them. 

 
 Officers have presented extensive historic as well as pedestrian user evidence for 

the existence of Cyfarthfa 38 as a footpath since the 1930s to the present day.  
 
 There is limited documentary and user evidence of a BOAT and of equestrian use. 
 
 This is not sufficient evidence to record a BOAT.  
 
 Consideration has also been given to this route as a restricted byway and it is 

Officer’s opinion that there is insufficient evidence for this status. 
 

Page 726



 Similarly, consideration has been given to this route as a bridleway and again, 
Officer’s opinion is that there is insufficient evidence for a bridleway. 

 
 Officers therefore present this route for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers also present Cyfarthfa 75 and 76 for determination as footpaths and 

evidence of use has been provided. 
 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 
claimed, viz. footpaths over the period 3rd January 1983 and 2nd January 2003 and at 
all material times before it.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and other 
interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a 
right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application. It is considered that a presumption of  dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route. An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
Your officers therefore recommend that footpaths be recorded along the routes on the plan 
in Appendix 7. 
 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Page 727



 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 
are asked to confirm:- 

 
 In respect of Cyfarthfa 38 
 
 1) Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line on the Plan, Appendix 7, 
between Points A - R, has been used so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
above. 

 
 In respect of Cyfarthfa 75 
 
 2) Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line H-I on the Plan, 
Appendix 7, for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted 
by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 

Page 728



 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
above. 
 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 76 

 
 3) Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line, Points C-D-E-F-G on 
the Plan, Appendix 7, for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 

Page 729



Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1, 2 and 
3 above. 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 730



Page 731



Page 732

This page is intentionally left blank



20th January 2010 Report 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC  
RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 38. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
The legal background is to be found at Appendix 1. 
 
A.  THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 

 
A claim to record a PRoW between Lower Brondeg, Heolgerrig to the Forest Road 
via the (disused) Blaencanaid Ironstone Quarries, was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council on 2nd January 2003. This was referred to as A763/4/163 
and is now known as Cyfarthfa 38 (Claim 1). 

 
In addition, a number of claims to record Public Rights of Way (footpaths) were 
submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 31st January 2008. At that 
time, routes Cyfarthfa 16 and 28 and Troedyrhiw 15 and 25 contained sections of the 
line of Cyfarthfa 38; they are all incorporated within Cyfarthfa 38. 

 
The majority of this route (that section which runs in a general north-south direction) 
follows the former Cwm Glo - Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway which carried 
ironstone (and later coal) northwards from the Blaencanaid Quarries to the Cyfarthfa 
Ironworks. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 38, the route commences in Lower Brondeg, at 
Point A, grid reference SO03850624 and continues in a general southerly direction 
to Point B, grid reference SO03820602, its common junction with a west - east track 
which runs from Cwm Glo Road, Cyfarthfa 37, and Cyfarthfa 57. The route for 
determination commences here. 

 
Cyfarthfa 38 proceeds southward on a banked and hedged track which still has 
many stone tramway sleepers. It crosses a stile and continues through more open 
grassland.  

 
The route turns to a south-westerly direction onto a grassed coal tip where it meets 
Cyfarthfa 34 and 36, Point C, grid reference, SO3850562 on the plan.  

 
Veering to a general south-south-easterly direction, the route continues over the 
spoil tip before crossing the Nant Rhydycar (known as Nant Llwyn yr Eos in the 
west) in a very steep coal shale ravine which was created during a washout in 1979.  

 
Councillors are advised that the direct line of this claim is not always followed at this 
point. Two diversions are used. There is evidence of limited use of a “zig zag” route 
across the ravine between, Points D (grid reference, SO03860555) E – F – G - H 
(grid reference SO03880550) on the plan, or, at Point C, users walk parallel to the 

Page 733



fence, following the line of Cyfarthfa 34 in a general south-westerly direction. This 
diversion leads to a clearly discernable crossing point of the Nant Rhydycar and 
soon afterwards to Point I grid reference SO03730557 where the diverted route 
veers to a general south-easterly direction and returns to the line of Cyfarthfa 38 
crossing a (cut) fence at the south of the ravine, Point J grid reference SO03880549.  

 
Cyfarthfa 38 then continues on the grassed tramway, crossing Cyfarthfa 39 (the Pen 
y Cae Drift Incline, Point K, grid reference SO04000531), passing the junction with 
Cyfarthfa 42 Point L grid reference SO04010529 and then crossing a stile onto the 
Cwm Du Drift Incline (Point M grid reference SO04020525), where Cyfarthfa 38 joins 
a route from the south, Troedyrhiw 63 and Troedyrhiw 47 from the east. The route 
follows the Cwm Du Drift Incline for a short distance (approximately 50m) through 
open woodland in a north-westerly direction, meeting Troedyrhiw 53 (Point N grid 
reference SO03980526), before itself reverting to a general southerly direction. 

 
This route now proceeds uphill through spoil tips. It veers to a south-westerly 
direction and runs through ancient woodland, passing Troedyrhiw 48 at Point O, grid 
reference SO03990515 and Troedyrhiw 52 and 177 at Point P grid reference 
SO03910506. 

 
During the site visit with Mr. John Walters, in 2007, Officers could distinguish and 
follow the route from the spoil tips and through grassland to its junction with the 
woodland. This section was not discernable during a site visit, summer 2009.  

 
Cyfarthfa 38 continues uphill through ancient woodland in a generally westward 
direction on a well-defined track which gradually narrows to approximately 1.5m. It 
passes Troedyrhiw 59 (Point Q grid reference SO03740508) and 58 (Point R grid 
reference SO03670509) which lead off to the south-west. 

 
The route crosses a further stile and enters an avenue of trees bounded by more 
open rough pasture to the north and coniferous plantation on the southern side. It 
then terminates at Point S on the plan, its junction with the Forest Road, Troedyrhiw 
51, at grid reference SO03270501.  

 
In its final section, Councillors are requested to note that since the fencing was 
erected around the Merthyr Village Site in 2007, in order to access and egress onto 
and off the Forest Road users have to climb over a barbed wire-topped fence which 
forms an obstruction. It is clear that on the ground, users cross an older, less 
obstructive, Forestry Commission fence. Users are seen to be making a deviation 
around the obstruction and are “pushed” further north – which they are entitled to do. 
The PRoW has not moved. 

 
Since March 2008, the route now known as Cyfarthfa 38 has been dealt with under 
different names; Cyfarthfa 42, Cyfarthfa 25 (encapsulated within Cyfarthfa 38) and 
Troedyrhiw 55 (the eastern section encapsulated within Cyfarthfa 38 and the western 
section has been offered for dedication by the Forestry Commission.  The legal 
process is currently being undertaken.) 
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

Page 734



The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Maps 
 

That section of the route between Brondeg and the track from Cwm Glo Road is 
depicted on the Tithe Map. 

 
That section of this route which follows the Cwm Glo - Blaencanaid Ironstone Mine 
Tramway is depicted on the Board of Health Map. 

 
The entire route is depicted on the Valuation Map. 

 
Several editions of OS maps were examined: 

 
That section of this route which follows the Cwm Glo – Blaencanaid Ironstone Mines 
Tramway is depicted on the 1875 OS map. It is labelled “tramway”. 

 
This claimed route is joined by a former tramway going eastward to Upper Colliers 
Row, Cyfarthfa 57, a further eastward tramway between the Cwm Glo Pit and the 
Cwm Pit Railway, Cyfarthfa 36, a track to workings and spoil tips in the west and a 
footpath leading south, Troedyrhiw 48. 
 
On an edition of 1919, the route is depicted with the exception of a short section in 
the west, between the final stile and the Forest Road. The northern section is 
labelled “old tramway”. It is joined by all of the claimed routes as described above as 
well as Cyfarthfa 34 and Troedyrhiw 47, 52, 58 59 and 63. 

 
The entire route is depicted on a 1957 OS map. It is labelled “FP” on that section 
between the Cwm Glo – Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway and the termination in the 
west. It is joined by Cyfarthfa 39 and all of the claimed routes as described above. 
 
The entire route is also depicted on the 2005 edition and is joined by six of the 
claimed PRoWs described above; Troedyrhiw 58 and 59 are not depicted. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The entire route is depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph. 
 

The route is depicted clearly but only intermittently on a 2008 photograph. The north-
south section of this route, between Brondeg and the claimed PRoW on the Cwm Du 
Drift Incline is clearly depicted and the claimed line through the wash out is evident 
as is the diagonal line along it. Only the entry and exit points of the route in its “zig 
zag” along the Incline are clear, the remainder of the route along the Incline is 
obscured by trees. The route to the west, to the commencement of the Forestry 
Commission plantation is depicted although it is then again obscured by trees until it 
terminates on the Forest Road. 
 

1.5 Books / Journals / Pamphlets / Websites Consulted 
 

Page 735



The majority of this route is depicted on the MTCBC publication, “Merthyr Tydfil 
Official Guide and Street Plan”. Sections depicted are in the north (Cephus Church 
to junction with Cyfarthfa 36) and west (junction with Troedyrhiw 53 to the Forest 
Road). 

 
The track between Brondeg and Cwm Glo Road is depicted on a plan, Sheet 192, 
attached to the 1814 Parliamentary Bill for railway construction. 
 

1.6 Government Orders and Records 
  
1.6a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 38 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970.  

 
It is depicted as sections of four other routes on the NCB Map,  

 
1. The northern section, to the Pencae Incline, is the northern section of 

Footpath C  
2. A very short section in the centre of the route is a section of Footpath V. 
3. The short north-westward section on the Cwm Du Drift Incline is a section of 

Footpath L  
4. The remainder of the route is a section of Footpath N.  

 
These four sections were described in the NCB Applications to Suspend. 

 
1.  Paragraph 3 (Footpath C) 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath C’ on the Map which runs from a 
point (numbered 7 on the map) about 50 yards north of Coed Cae Bungalow 
on a vehicular track leading from Brondeg to Upper Colliers Row in a general 
southerly direction to meet footpaths described in paragraph 2 and paragraph 
7 of this Schedule at the point (numbered 5 on the Map about 380 yards south 
of the said Bungalow and then in a general South Easterly direction for about 
1100 yards to a point (numbered 11 on the Map) on the Parish road about 
210 yards South South West of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row”. 

 
2.  Paragraph 22 (Footpath V) 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath V” on the Map which runs from 
a point (numbered 47 on the Map) on the Parish Road about 500 yards South 
West of No. 1  Lower Colliers Row in a general North North Westerly direction 
for about 830 yards to meet the footpath described in paragraph 3 above at a 
point (numbered 9 on the Map) about 360 yards East South East of the ruins 
of No. 1 Pen-y-coedcae Cottages”. 

 
3. Paragraph 12 (Footpath L) 
 

“A footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath L’ on the map which runs from 
the footpath described in paragraph 9 above at a point (numbered 20 on the 

Page 736



map) about 120 yards East South East of the ruins of No. 1 Pen-y-coedcae 
cottages and extends in a South easterly direction for a distance of about 840 
yards to its termination at a point (numbered 27 on the map) immediately to 
the North East of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row.” 

 
4.  Paragraph 14 (Footpath N) 

 
“Part of a footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath N’ on the Map which runs 
from the footpath described in paragraph 12 above at a point (numbered 24 
on the Map) about 330 yards East South East of the ruins of No. 1 Pen-y-
coedcae Cottages, in a Southerly direction for a distance of about 130 yards 
to meet the footpath described in paragraph 20 below (at a point numbered 29 
on the Map) about 400 yards South East of the ruins of No. 1 Pen-y-coedcae 
Cottages and then in a general Westerly direction to the North Western corner 
of the Blaencanaid Forest at Cefn Ffordd and thence in a South South 
Easterly direction along the North Western edge of the forest adjacent to the 
boundary of the Merthyr County Borough and Aberdare Urban District 
Councils being the part which extends from the said point (numbered 24 on 
the Map) in a Southerly direction to the said point (numbered 29 on the Map) 
and continues in a general Westerly direction for about 1000 yards to a point 
(numbered 31 on the Map) about 460 yards South South East of the said 
Cwmdu Drift”. 

 
Eight of the other footpaths which were subject to the Application to Suspend join 
this claimed route, Cyfarthfa 38. These are Footpaths B, G, I, J, K, Q, R and T, all 
routes which are claimed PRoW and dealt with in this Report. Cyfarthfa 38 also 
joined a vehicular route which was subject to an Application to Suspend. 

 
In the Vehicular Routes Application, a section of Cyfarthfa 38, directly south of the 
vehicular route, Cyfarthfa 57, is described at paragraph 6(d) roads and footpaths 
private (viii)  

 
“A rough metalled track extends from the vehicular track described in 
paragraph 6(d)(ii) above for approximately 300 yards in a Southerly direction 
past Coedcae Bungalow after which trace is lost”. 

 
Footpaths C, L, N and V were four of the twenty nine footpaths described in the 
Vehicular Routes Application. 

 
Sections of this route were included in the March 1988, National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive application for suspension. On the Map which accompanied this 
application, that short section along the Cwm Du Drift Incline is labelled “Footpath 
36” and the remainder of the route to the west is labelled “Footpath 35”. Footpaths 
35 and 36 were described in the schedule:  

 
Footpath 35, 

 
“… that part which runs from a point approximately 395 metres north-north-
west of the farmstead known as Blaen-canaid, in a general easterly direction 
for approximately 365 metres…”, 

Page 737



 
and Footpath 36, 

 
 “Part of Footpath No. 36, being that part which extends from a point 
approximately 115 metres south west of the ruin known as “The Dissenters’ 
Meeting House” in an east-south-easterly direction to its junction with 
Bridleway No. 24 referred to in paragraph 8 below at a point approximately 
395 metres west-south-west of the property known as “Old Rhyd-y-Car”. 

 
In addition, the northern section is labelled “Old Tramway (disused)”. The track is 
clearly depicted and labelled southward from its junction with Cyfarthfa 34 and 36 up 
to and then beyond the ravine. 

 
Officers interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 38 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.7 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

Sections of this route are described in the extant list of Public Rights of Way in the 
Cyfarthfa Ward dated circa 1951: 

 
Number 2 

 
“from Brondeg, Heolgerrig, to the Coedcae Bungalow to join the route as in 
No. 1 near Cwm Glo, thence to Pen Cae Wern to Lower Colliers Row to the 
Parish Road. (This route also branches near Pen Cae Wern House, the other 
arm leading to the Parish road via the Waun)”, 

 
and Number 10, 

 
“From Heolgerrig to Cwm Du to the Parish Road via the Waun”.  

 
1.8 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

The 1979 Draft Map depicts the western section of this claimed route as Footpath 35 
and it is described in the statement: 

 
“Commences at gate on termination of B.R’s. 31 and 34 and proceeds in an 
easterly direction along path flanked by fence on the southern side. Then by 
track unfenced to its termination on F.P. 37.” 

 
The description gives the length as 900 yards and the width as 3 feet.  

  
On the 1991 draft map, the northern section of this claimed route is depicted as a 
section of Bridle Road 37, and the western section as Footpath 35.  

 
Although the precise termination point of the private vehicular route described above 
cannot be determined, Officers surmise that this may overlap at least some of the 
line depicted as bridleway in 1991. 

Page 738



 
1.9 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made three site inspections of this route, walking different sections on 
each occasion.  
 
They were accompanied by Mr. John Walters, a representative of Merthyr Village 
Ltd. on two occasions; Mr. Walters pointed out several hazards. Officers did not try 
and cross the Nant Llwyn yr Eos whilst with Mr. Walters; they diverted to inspect a 
further route.  

 
On a separate occasion they walked the second of the two used diversions as 
described above. The zig zag diversion was not walked but was clearly discernable. 

 
The remainder of the route was found as described above. 

 
On each occasion a number of people were observed walking this route.  
 

B. CONSULTATION                                                                                                                              
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  

 
No response received. 

 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 38, was issued in June 2008.  
 

1.3 Observations and Information From Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
On 2nd January 2003 the main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly submitted: 

 
a detailed schedule describing the claimed route, 
6 correctly completed evidence forms claiming this route as a footpath and showing 
evidence of use; two over 50 years, two over 30 years, one 25 years and one in 
excess of 20 years. At the request of the Rights of Way Officer, five claimants 
returned signed maps depicting this route; the sixth subsequently confirmed this 
route on a map at interview, 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey (OS) map with the claimed route coloured pink, 
a copy of an extract from the 1921 OS map, claimed route coloured yellow, 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured yellow, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map),  
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier) and 
a copy of the Rhydycar Archaeological Assessment. 
 

1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 

Page 739



 
The main claimant and four of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed.  

 
1.3b(1)In October 2007 Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been 

born at Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have 
walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she has only used this particular route since moving to 
Brondeg but she and her husband (main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly), regularly 
use it for walks and walking their dog, even after the whole site was fenced in 2007. 
Mrs. Connolly stated that this was a direct tramroad to the Cyfarthfa Furnaces and 
submitted photographs showing sections of the claimed route. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Connolly recognise that this route continues further to the west - 
and they use this extended track. They stated however, that they had only submitted 
a claim on this section, Cyfarthfa 38, because they thought it unnecessary to claim 
the western extension as the Forestry Commission (owners there) allow access over 
their land. 

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr 
Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to invent them, 
they already existed. She sees these paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as 
more used these days than those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 
 
Mrs Connolly also stated that the previous owners of Bleancanaid Farm used the 
Parish Road, Troedyrhiw and a section of Cyfarthfa 38 to access their farm. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly have regularly used this route, for example, to walk their dogs 
– even after being prevented from doing so when the area was fenced. Mrs. 
Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of this path; they have never had their use of it challenged. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly’s evidence for this route covers the period between 1996 and 
2009. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on this 
claimed route and many others on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
This is one of the routes which Mr. Lewis Lewis has used all of his life. He 
recognises that a gate has been erected by the Junior’s Tip, a stile further along 
(which has now rotted) and a plank placed across the Nant Rhydycar.  

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row), 
worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the 

Page 740



house was too small when his children were born. For the past 20 years he has only 
used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most 
days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access 
to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We lived 
there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the paths we 
went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only since about 
1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(3)Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he 

has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years. He 
no longer walks these routes because of illness. He occasionally used these routes 
as a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims.  

Page 741



 
In a written statement, Mr. Brian Thomas described walking this route, 
 

“This has to be the longest of the routes on site and I last walked it sometime 
during August 2006. After leaving Brondeg there is a rough track going south, 
as you proceed you pass another track to the right which leads to Upper 
Colliers Row. By staying on the first track you walk upon the disused Cwm 
Glo – Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway, where impressive hedges are on both 
sides of the track and there is another stile. The pathway still has the stone 
tramway sleepers clearly visable and to your right is a wire fence which 
crosses claimed footpath from Cwm Glo to Upper Wern. At this point you 
descend a steep bank to negotiate the Nant Rhyd y Car which is also 
commonly known as Nant Llwyn Yr Eos by crossing the other side the path 
follows a southerly direction where a large oak tree had crashed down. 

 
The tramway now grassed over in a south by south westerly direction to come 
to claimed footpath which connects Gernant Lane with Lower Colliers Row 
and by continuing along this route is another stile onto an inclined tramway. 
On this tramway turn right, head in a north westerly direction for some good 
distance before turning left onto the Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway before 
heading south again. The tramway is crossed by a small brook, nearby you 
turn right into a small grove of silver birch trees which leads to a tree lined 
roadway which narrows considerably into a footpath. 

 
Head west you come to old ironstone workings and yet again is another stile. 
Continue along footpath close to forestry plantation towards the west with the 
forestry fencing on your left. Eventually you will come to a tree-lined grassed 
over track which ends on a claimed right of way road to Blaencanaid Farm 
and Forestry Commission plantation.” 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He occasionally 
goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on other paths and 
on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 2006. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been brought up at 

Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du. They 
married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they both 
know the whole area very well (Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site).  

 

Page 742



Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife has used this route for all of her life and he has 
used it for over 50 years. He and his sons (they more often than him) have ridden 
horses on this path and they used to spend every weekend walking to fish or shoot 
and therefore used this route regularly.  

 
Mr. Phelps described this route which he stated branches off from the south, from his 
house, up the tramroad, past the Juniors Football Pitch then Upper Wern. It joins 
further claimed routes (to Colliers Row and to the Parish Road) and links up with a 
web of routes over the Merthyr Village Site. Mr. Phelps stated that the northern 
section was originally the tramway to the quarry and up to Blaencanaid and that 
there are still stones on the surface of this route.  

 
He said that this claimed route was regularly used as a public highway, groceries 
and coal, for example, were carried on this road. It was drained by iron drains which 
discharged into a small brook running to the Coedcae.  

 
Mr. Phelps regularly used to drive from the Heolgerrig Road up this road or the Cwm 
Glo Road to Gelli Du. He stated “until they removed their poles, the Electricity Board 
looked after the road”.  

 
His wife used this route as one of two alternatives to walk to school (depending 
which field the cows were in). 

 
Mr Phelps complained about a gate erected by the Davies Bros; he maintains that 
this should not be there. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr. Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road. Mr. Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking there. The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

  
He stated that he had walked every single path. He went shooting and walking and 
took his two sons walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 

Page 743



“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four  ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”’ 

 
The only time Mr. Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere 
on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brother’s 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr. Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor state now.  

 
Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go anywhere I 
wanted. It’s only recently that there have been problems, when they started 
fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area. Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways). His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr. Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went walking. They 
often took a picnic, would use different routes, for example, they had best views 
below Blaencanaid then followed the old tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr. Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr. Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council by Mr. Phelps) showing all 
of the footpaths.  

 
Mr. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr. Tony Chaplin, claimant for another route, stated that he has frequently used the 

northern section of this route as a means of access to the rest of the site. He would 
then either go southward or eastward and up to Upper Colliers Row.  

 

Page 744



Mr. Tony Chaplin says that he has not been on the Merthyr Village Site since it was 
fenced off. He stated that he had originally said that he would support the Coal 
Authority until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc. into account 
was developed.  

 
Mr. Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr. Chaplin looked at maps which he had previously submitted. He stated that most 
of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site. He stated that he has lived 
close to this area since 1963 and has used these routes regularly since then. 

 
He has never been challenged whilst using this route and has never sought or been 
given permission to use it. He has frequently seen others using it. 

 
Mr. Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr. Donald and Mrs. Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have lived for 40 

years at Heolgerrig and have used many of the routes over the Merthyr Village Site 
regularly throughout this period. There was never any concern over walking 
anywhere on the site until recently. Mr. and Mrs. Davies explained that they walk 
their dog twice a day, he in the night and she in the morning. They try to walk circular 
routes, sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs. Davies has walked 
on more of the routes than her husband. Mr. Davies also said that he has regularly 
taken his grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain routes on a 
pushbike. 

 
Mr. Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there. Mrs. Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”. Mr Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere.  

 
Although they have used the entire route, they agreed that they make more use of 
the northern section of Cyfarthfa 38 as this is a means of access to other routes or 
can be used as a route home. Mrs. Davies uses this particular route more often than 
her husband. They frequently see other people using this route and before the 
Merthyr Village Site was fenced off they regularly saw horse riders using it. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a 
map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there were 
any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 

Page 745



Mr. Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use of 
these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing. He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any 
private land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using the 
paths although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at one 
time in the recent past.  

 
Mr. Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the ‘Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”. Mrs. Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs. Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use.” 

 
Mr. Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people 
to use.   

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed. These are all used by many people, they always see people there; the last 
time he walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 women with dogs and a man on own. 
He also saw horse riders, at least 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

 
Mrs. Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 

his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 

 
Mr. Davies also submitted 10 photographs in evidence. 

 
Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mrs. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr. Elwyn Rees, claimant for other routes, has used this route all of his life. He also 

stated that his father and then stepfather, together with other men, used sections of 

Page 746



this path to go to work at the Cwmdu Drift and believes that this route is the original 
“road of stones”. 

 
Mr. Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. Charlotte Connolly at 
Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to Heolgerrig. He 
stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area 
and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 4 years but 
both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for family walks on the 
Merthyr Village Site regularly before that. Both stated that they have walked on the 
Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. Mrs. Megan 
Rees has knowledge of the area since sometime before her marriage to Mr. Elwyn 
Rees in 1955 when she went to live at Lower Colliers Row. She and her husband 
confirmed that they have always used this route for walks, often with their children 
and often as part of circular routes involving other claimed routes within the Merthyr 
Village site.  

 
Mrs. Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going 
out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own land in West Merthyr). 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

Page 747



 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
1.4(a) Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie Price, 

discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting read:  
 

“Access off the Forest Road is by a stile marked ‘farmers use only’. The route 
then goes around the tree line of the forest. It is not too bad to walk there but 
from the flat area to the curve formed around the junction with the forks of 
claims 168x, there are a large number of sink holes. Usually it is impossible to 
use the route at point D and only possible to cut across the fenceline.” 

 
1.4(b) Mrs. Misslebrook (representing another tenant) made a number of comments 

specific to this route. She maintains that it is outside Open Access land and is 
therefore private land.  

 
On 12th May, 2007 she wrote, 

 
“On previous documents received from the Council, there are three stiles 
indicated, the first two are evident and are farmers access stiles. These are 
erected by farmers for the purpose of periodically moving around the farm 
between fenced areas without damaging them. (see enclosed photo)”. 

 
She further indicated that from the brook onwards, many routes were just sheep 
tracks as her father had had 300 sheep. She also said that because the Forestry 
fence has not always been there it is impossible to claim 20 years use on one route 
as the fence position has changed. 

 

Page 748



On 19th September 2007 Mrs. Misslebrook made additional comments in response to 
the notes taken at interview.  

 
4 “Claimed ROW LA Map – Served Map A763/4/163 Blaenc anaid Ironstone 

Quarries to Lower Brondey (Jan 2006)  
 

As noted in meeting 
 
Additional comments 

 
“Lower Brondey does not exist so no legal entity on this claim anyway. Steep 
inclines either side of washout. In terms of the map the served copy indicates 
3 stiles but fails to mention they are marked up farmers access only. Mr 
Mansell Short has sheep in part of this area and the stiles are used for him to 
gain access with his sheep dogs, to gather sheep, without damaging the 
fences. Therefore I request the claim be struck from consideration based on 
discussion points and legal entity.” 

 
On a further occasion, 14th July 2008, Mrs. Misslebrook wrote: 

 
“Cyfarthfa 38 –Brondeg to juniors – (over barbed wire fence?) Over drop 
towards junction at Pen Cae – Up Incline – (over another barbed wire fence?) 
Across sink holes joining forestry boundary – along boundary to forestry road. 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Only two statements supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence 
3. This route is not within a SSSI 
4. This route is not within a TPO.” 
 

1.4(c) Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 
2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have made a 
comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks /paths that exist 
on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is still used extensively by 
walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a few horses and sheep were 
also on the site. Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the site can 
be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

   
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

Page 749



 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 

 
The southern section of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open Access Land 
which has been subject to a Restriction Order since summer 2006.   

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application based on long user to modify the Definitive Map and Statement 
by adding Cyfarthfa 38. 

 
1.1 Councillors are also requested to determine the detours referred to above. The 

detour to the west, initially along Cyfarthfa 34 and then turning back to Cyfarthfa 38 
is referred to as Cyfarthfa 75 and the “zig-zag”detour through the ravine is referred to 
as Cyfarthfa 76. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Ten people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use during the period to be 

considered. Evidence of pedestrian use exists from the 1930s. 
 
2.5 Officers have presented very limited evidence of this route as a BOAT or a 

bridleway. The draft map of 1991 depicts the northern section of this route as a 
bridleway and one claimant has submitted evidence of equestrian and BOAT use. 

 
2.6 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the ground and 

have therefore included the route marked by dashed lines between Points D-E-F-G-
H and by dashed lines between Points I - J on the Plan for your consideration. They 
see these sections as an integral part of the route. The only evidence for these 
sections is from Officer’s observations on the ground. They therefore offer these 
sections for consideration as footpaths.  

 
3.0  Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

Page 750



 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating 
that the route is not to become a PRoW.  

 
3.3 Evidence has been submitted of signs erected on stiles but this would not be 

sufficient to satisfy S. 31(6), and as discussed, the evidence for the presence of such 
signs is limited. Mrs. Misslebrook stated that signs stating that the stiles were for 
farmers use only were erected by her father. She has submitted photographs 
depicting “Farmers access only” hand written on the top bars of stiles. The bars are 
more recent than the 1960s. No evidence for the date for this writing has been 
submitted.  

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case it would be the period 
between 2nd January 1983 and 2nd January 2003; extensive user evidence exists for 
this period.  

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
3.6 Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the right now 

claimed, viz. footpath over the period 3rd January 1983 and 2nd January 2003 and at 
all material times before it.        

 
3.7 Officers also consider that the two routes, Cyfarthfa 75 and 76 have been used since 

the washout in December 1979 and this allows for twenty years user on these routes 
also, that is the period between 1st January 1980 and 3rd December 1999. 

 
4.0 The Line of the Route 
 
4.1 All routes are clearly discernable on the ground. The section walked in 2007 but not 

found in summer 2009 is attributed to lack of use since the site was fenced. 
 
4.2 There is verbal and documentary evidence that this claimed route is only a section of 

a much longer route which has been used as a public footpath since at least the 
1960s. This route continues westward up the mountainside to Mynydd Aberdâr and 
then veers southward to terminate at the junction of a number of other claimed 
PRoW. 

 
43 The routes have been available for public use as a footpath. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
5.1 The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 

6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 

Page 751



6.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described indicates that a track/path 
existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public rights on the route. It is, 
however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the way in which this 
claimed route links with other routes. 

 
6.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. More 
specifically, this route has been one which was subject to a request for suspension 
under associated applications in 1966, 1970 and 1988. 

 
72 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route C, V, L and N and twenty eight others –to such a degree that this and they 
were made the subject of legal applications to suspend. 

 
7.3 The 1966, 1970 and 1988 applications also clearly indicate that at those times the 

route was recognised as a public footpath and subsequent planning applications 
reinforce this.  

 
7.4 Although neither the Draft Map of 1979 nor that of 1991 can be regarded as a 

definitive legal document, nevertheless, this route was recognised as being a 
potential public right of way at those times. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
8.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
8.2 Ten people have submitted extensive evidence of use of this route for recreation and 

leisure as a footpath; one of these people has also submitted evidence of BOAT and 
equestrian use. 

 
8.3 One person demonstrated use over a period of more than 70 years, one more than 

60 years, one more than 50 years, one for 30 years, one for 25 years  and two for 
approximately twelve years. 

 
8.4 The fact that stiles were erected (verbal evidence from one user states mid 1960s) 

indicates that the route was recognised as having public status at that time.  
 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 

Page 752



9.2 Representatives of Merthyr Village Ltd. pointed out that the route is accessed by a 
stile marked “Farmers Access Only” and that access is also denied by a fence.  

 
9.3 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.4 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application.  Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route, again this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this route. 

 
9.5 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at that 
time there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this 

is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public which has been dealt with at Item 1 of 
the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. Officers disregard any 
comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 

Page 753



 Landowners are also concerned about the effects of erosion and washout on this 
route; again, Councillors cannot take this into consideration when determining this 
route. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.6 Tenants 
 
 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook states that the stiles along the route within the Merthyr Village Site 

were erected for farmers’ use only and bore signs to this effect. Officers have seen 
these (now dilapidated) stiles. There were no signs on them in autumn 2007 or 
summer 2009 and Officers cannot find physical evidence that signs have been 
erected on them. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment concerning the Forestry Commission fence has been 

discussed above, where it is recognised that users are currently using a route to the 
north of the original one. 

 
 It is the opinion of Officers that Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment re “Lower Brondey” 

relates, in fact, to a typing error, sic “Lower Brondeg”. 
 
 Mrs. Misslebrook also raised the issue of fences and stated that that a large section 

of this route is only a sheep track.  
 
 Councillors will also be aware that in 2001 there was a severe outbreak of foot and 

mouth disease which affected access and recreation throughout the County 
Borough. Advice Note 15, issued by the Planning Inspectorate deals with this issue. 
Mrs. Misslebrook has suggested this interrupts what she considers to be the relevant 
20 year period. This matter is dealt with in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee 
Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been enjoyed 

by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and 
the ways deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate them. 

 
 Officers have presented extensive historic as well as pedestrian user evidence for 

the existence of Cyfarthfa 38 as a footpath since the 1930s to the present day.  
 
 There is limited documentary and user evidence of a BOAT and of equestrian use. 
 
 This is not sufficient evidence to record a BOAT.  

Page 754



 
 Consideration has also been given to this route as a restricted byway and it is 

Officer’s opinion that there is insufficient evidence for this status. 
 
 Similarly, consideration has been given to this route as a bridleway and again, 

Officer’s opinion is that there is insufficient evidence for a bridleway. 
 
 Officers therefore present this route for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers also present Cyfarthfa 75 and 76 for determination as footpaths and 

evidence of use has been provided. 
 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 
claimed, viz. footpaths over the period 3rd January 1983 and 2nd January 2003 and at 
all material times before it.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and other 
interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a 
right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application. It is considered that a presumption of  dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route. An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 

Page 755



Your officers therefore recommend that footpaths be recorded along the routes on the plan 
in Cyfarthfa 38. 
 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 
 In respect of Cyfarthfa 38 
 
 1) Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 
38, between Points B - S, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
above. 

 
 In respect of Cyfarthfa 75 
 
 2) Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line I - J on the Plan, 
Cyfarthfa 38, has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 

Page 756



that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not 
been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
above. 
 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 76 

 
 3) Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line, Points D-E-F-G-H on 
the Plan, Cyfarthfa 36, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 

Page 757



 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1, 2 and 
3 above. 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 758



Page 759



Page 760

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 6th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 105 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences in an open area on re-vegetated coal tip at Point 
 A on the plan Cyfarthfa 105, grid reference SO03980534, its junction 
 with Cyfarthfa 38 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and it 
 proceeds along a grass track in a general south-south-easterly 
 direction to Point B, grid reference SO03990531 where it crosses 
 Cyfarthfa 39  (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order). Here it changes 
 to a general south then south-south-westerly direction and proceeds 
 through deciduous woodland along an earth track to Point C, grid 
 reference SO03970526, its junction with Troedyrhiw 53 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction) where it terminates. 
 
 This route formed a section of the route described by users in relation 
 to Cyfarthfa 38. Cyfarthfa 38 was reported to committee in October 
 2009 and January 2010 and included in the unconfirmed 2010 Order; 
 these reports are appended at the end of the item relating to Cyfarthfa 
 104.  
  
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
  
 A section of the route is depicted on an OS map of 1875.  
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 26

Page 761



1.4 Aerial Photographs 
  
 The northern section of the route is visible on aerial photographs of 
 2008 and 2010. The southern section is obscured by trees. 

 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
 
 The user evidence below is that adduced in relation to the route 
 Cyfarthfa 38. The evidence given by the users for the section of the 
 route known as Cyfarthfa 104 formed part of the described route of 
 Cyfarthfa 38. 
 
 In October 2007 Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father 

had been born at Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she has only used this particular route since 
moving to Brondeg but she and her husband (main claimant, Mr. 
Malcolm Connolly), regularly use it for walks and walking their dog, 
even after the whole site was fenced in 2007. Mrs. Connolly stated that 
this was a direct tramroad to the Cyfarthfa Furnaces and submitted 
photographs showing sections of the claimed route. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Connolly recognise that this route continues further 
to the west - and they use this extended track. They stated however, 
that they had only submitted a claim on this section, Cyfarthfa 38, 
because they thought it unnecessary to claim the western extension as 
the Forestry Commission (owners there) allow access over their land. 

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she only began using the routes in the north 
of the Merthyr Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she 
did not have to invent them, they already existed. She sees these 
paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as more used these days than 
those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 
 
Mrs Connolly also stated that the previous owners of Bleancanaid 
Farm used the Parish Road, Troedyrhiw and a section of Cyfarthfa 38 
to access their farm. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly have regularly used this route, for example, to 
walk their dogs – even after being prevented from doing so when the 
area was fenced. Mrs. Connolly also pointed out that if people were 
prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog 

Page 762



fouling of streets and people would become more unhealthy as they 
have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of this path; they have never had 
their use of it challenged. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly’s evidence for this route covers the period 
between 1996 and 2009. 

 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
This is one of the routes which Mr. Lewis Lewis has used all of his life. 
He recognises that a gate has been erected by the Junior’s Tip, a stile 
further along (which has now rotted) and a plank placed across the 
Nant Rhydycar.  

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

Page 763



 
He continued: 

 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 
 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 
 Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes 

which he has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the 
previous 30 years. He no longer walks these routes because of illness. 
He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends in 
Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of 
his claimed routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an 
interesting walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his 
claims.  

 
In a written statement, Mr. Brian Thomas described walking this route, 
 

 “This has to be the longest of the routes on site and I last walked it 
 sometime during August 2006. After leaving Brondeg there is a rough 
 track going south, as you proceed you pass another track to the right 
 which leads to Upper Colliers Row. By staying on the first track you 
 walk upon the disused Cwm Glo – Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway, 
 where impressive hedges are on both sides of the track and there is 
 another stile. The pathway still has the stone tramway sleepers clearly 
 visable and to your right is a wire fence which crosses claimed footpath 
 from Cwm Glo to Upper Wern. At this point you descend a steep bank 
 to negotiate the Nant Rhyd y Car which is also commonly known as 
 Nant Llwyn Yr Eos by crossing the other side the path follows a 
 southerly direction where a large oak tree had crashed down. 

 
 The tramway now grassed over in a south by south westerly direction 
 to come to claimed footpath which connects Gernant Lane with Lower 
 Colliers Row and by continuing along this route is another stile onto an 
 inclined tramway. On this tramway turn right, head in a north westerly 
 direction for some good distance before turning left onto the 
 Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway before heading south again. The 
 tramway is crossed by a small brook, nearby you turn right into a small 
 grove of silver birch trees which leads to a tree lined roadway which 
 narrows considerably into a footpath. 

 Head west you come to old ironstone workings and yet again is 
 another stile. Continue along footpath close to forestry plantation 

Page 764



 towards the west with the forestry fencing on your left. Eventually you 
 will come to a tree-lined grassed over track which ends on a claimed 
 right of way road to Blaencanaid Farm and Forestry Commission 
 plantation.” 

He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one 
has ever challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his 
grandfather’s brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have 
had to use at least half of these paths when going to work. He has only 
sought or been given permission once – when going on the Merthyr 
Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on 
horseback or on bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also 
walks on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 

 2006. 
 
 Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been 

brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother 
lived at Gelli Du. They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before 
moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well 
(Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site).  

 
Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife has used this route for all of her 
life and he has used it for over 50 years. He and his sons (they more 
often than him) have ridden horses on this path and they used to spend 
every weekend walking to fish or shoot and therefore used this route 
regularly.  

 
Mr. Phelps described this route which he stated branches off from the 
south, from his house, up the tramroad, past the Juniors Football Pitch 
then Upper Wern. It joins further claimed routes (to Colliers Row and to 
the Parish Road) and links up with a web of routes over the Merthyr 
Village Site. Mr. Phelps stated that the northern section was originally 
the tramway to the quarry and up to Blaencanaid and that there are still 
stones on the surface of this route.  

 
He said that this claimed route was regularly used as a public highway, 
groceries and coal, for example, were carried on this road. It was 
drained by iron drains which discharged into a small brook running to 
the Coedcae.  

 
Mr. Phelps regularly used to drive from the Heolgerrig Road up this 
road or the Cwm Glo Road to Gelli Du. He stated “until they removed 
their poles, the Electricity Board looked after the road”.  

Page 765



 
His wife used this route as one of two alternatives to walk to school 
(depending which field the cows were in). 

 
Mr Phelps complained about a gate erected by the Davies Bros; he 
maintains that this should not be there. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all 
of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
are all clearly defined,  

 
 “Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and 
 lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr. Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
and all of the area down to the Parish Road. Mr. Phelps found difficulty 
tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
 “I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe 
 when looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking 
 there. The land is altering daily because people can’t access it so 
 easily and paths need cutting back”. 

He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 
  
 He stated that he had walked every single path. He went shooting and 
 walking and took his two sons walking and shooting on every single 
 path. 
 

The only time Mr. Phelps has either sought or received permission to 
go anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 
from the Davies brother’s father to go shooting – although the 
permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr. Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor 

 state now.  
 

Page 766



Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go 
anywhere I wanted. It’s only recently that there have been 
problems, when they started fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area. Mr Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 
Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways). His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years 
ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to 
Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr. Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went 
walking. They often took a picnic, would use different routes, for 
example, they had best views below Blaencanaid then followed the old 
tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr. Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and 
so do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

  
 “but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
 grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

Mr. Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council 
by Mr. Phelps) showing all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
 Mr. Tony Chaplin, claimant for another route, stated that he has 

frequently used the northern section of this route as a means of access 
to the rest of the site. He would then either go southward or eastward 
and up to Upper Colliers Row.  

 
Mr. Tony Chaplin says that he has not been on the Merthyr Village Site 
since it was fenced off. He stated that he had originally said that he 
would support the Coal Authority until the remediation scheme which 
took the railway arch etc. into account was developed.  

 
Mr. Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr. Chaplin looked at maps which he had previously submitted. He 
stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row 
site. He stated that he has lived close to this area since 1963 and has 
used these routes regularly since then. 

 

Page 767



He has never been challenged whilst using this route and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it. He has frequently seen 
others using it. 

 
Mr. Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
 Mr. Donald and Mrs. Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have 

lived for 40 years at Heolgerrig and have used many of the routes over 
the Merthyr Village Site regularly throughout this period. There was 
never any concern over walking anywhere on the site until recently. Mr. 
and Mrs. Davies explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in 
the night and she in the morning. They try to walk circular routes, 
sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs. Davies has 
walked on more of the routes than her husband. Mr. Davies also said 
that he has regularly taken his grandchildren there and their grandson 
has used certain routes on a pushbike. 

 
Mr. Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. 
He has walked all of the footpaths on the area for many years and 
described the many historical sites there, for example, the Dissenters 
Chapel to which access has now been denied although he has 
accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor services 
were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has 
gathered this information from people who have always lived there. 
Mrs. Davies agreed and also said “people before us had a right to use 
it and the old miners used it”. Mr Davies pointed out that the tramways 
are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in the 1960s and has 
a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him around 
everywhere.  

 
Although they have used the entire route, they agreed that they make 
more use of the northern section of Cyfarthfa 38 as this is a means of 
access to other routes or can be used as a route home. Mrs. Davies 
uses this particular route more often than her husband. They frequently 
see other people using this route and before the Merthyr Village Site 
was fenced off they regularly saw horse riders using it. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used 
routes on a map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that 
if there were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr. Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them 
concerning their use of these routes and continued: 

 
 “I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude 
 re fencing. He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no 

Page 768



 other remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me 
 walking there although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Davies stated that they would not walk across a field 
or any private land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent 
them from using the paths although they are aware that at least one, in 
the north, was blocked at one time in the recent past.  

 
Mr. Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the 
‘Merthyr Village Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as 
usual”. Mrs. Davies agreed saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. 
Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. 

There were chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived 
there, so why should people today be discriminated against from 
people years ago?” 

 
Mrs. Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think 

about it, generations used it, the footpaths have been marked 
out by generations of use.” 

 
Mr. Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land 
is for people to use.   

 
 They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently 
 been claimed. These are all used by many people, they always see 
 people there; the last time he walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 
 women with dogs and a man on own. He also saw horse riders, at least 
 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

 
Mrs. Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one 

man meets his friend from Caedraw every morning and then 
goes around on the tramroad”. 

 
Mr. Davies also submitted 10 photographs in evidence. 

 
Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mrs. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
 Mr. Elwyn Rees, claimant for other routes, has used this route all of his 

life. He also stated that his father and then stepfather, together with 
other men, used sections of this path to go to work at the Cwmdu Drift 
and believes that this route is the original “road of stones”. 

Page 769



 
Mr. Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. 
Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years 
before moving to Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself 
fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area and had the whole 
of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 
4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the 
footpaths for family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before 
that. Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish 
Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. Mrs. Megan Rees 
has knowledge of the area since sometime before her marriage to Mr. 
Elwyn Rees in 1955 when she went to live at Lower Colliers Row. She 
and her husband confirmed that they have always used this route for 
walks, often with their children and often as part of circular routes 
involving other claimed routes within the Merthyr Village site.  

 
Mrs. Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – 
just going out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths. 
He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 
in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own land in West Merthyr). 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on 
the site, with no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child 
and for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
 “I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
 Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 
 any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should 
 be noted that these cottages were so historically important that a 
 number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 
 
 At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
 described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

Page 770



 During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
 become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
 Merthyr”. 
 
 In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they 
 have never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk 
 there; they have always walked on the same tracks which have been 
 clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no one 
 has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using these routes. 
 
 Mr. Rees added, 
 
 “I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
 drove on these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take 
 the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
 because of health problems” 
 

Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

  
1.7 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations 

and Objections 
 
1.7(a) Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie 

Price, discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting 
read:  

 
 “Access off the Forest Road is by a stile marked ‘farmers use only’. 
 The route then goes around the tree line of the forest. It is not too bad 
 to walk there but from the flat area to the curve formed around the 
 junction with the forks of claims 168x, there are a large number of sink 
 holes. Usually it is impossible to use the route at point D and only 
 possible to cut across the fenceline.” 

 
1.7(b) Mrs. Misslebrook (representing another tenant) made a number of 

comments specific to this route. She maintains that it is outside Open 
Access land and is therefore private land.  

 
On 12th May, 2007 she wrote, 

 
“On previous documents received from the Council, there are 
three stiles indicated, the first two are evident and are farmers 
access stiles. These are erected by farmers for the purpose of 
periodically moving around the farm between fenced areas 
without damaging them. (see enclosed photo)”. 

 

Page 771



She further indicated that from the brook onwards, many routes were 
just sheep tracks as her father had had 300 sheep. She also said that 
because the Forestry fence has not always been there it is impossible 
to claim 20 years use on one route as the fence position has changed. 

 
On 19th September 2007 Mrs. Misslebrook made additional comments 
in response to the notes taken at interview.  

 
4 “Claimed ROW LA Map – Served Map A763/4/163 Blaencanaid 

Ironstone Quarries to Lower Brondey (Jan 2006) 
 

As noted in meeting 
 
Additional comments 

 
“Lower Brondey does not exist so no legal entity on this claim 
anyway. Steep inclines either side of washout. In terms of the 
map the served copy indicates 3 stiles but fails to mention they 
are marked up farmers access only. Mr Mansell Short has 
sheep in part of this area and the stiles are used for him to gain 
access with his sheep dogs, to gather sheep, without damaging 
the fences. Therefore I request the claim be struck from 
consideration based on discussion points and legal entity.” 

 
On a further occasion, 14th July 2008, Mrs. Misslebrook wrote: 

 
“Cyfarthfa 38 –Brondeg to juniors – (over barbed wire fence?) 
Over drop towards junction at Pen Cae – Up Incline – (over 
another barbed wire fence?) Across sink holes joining forestry 
boundary – along boundary to forestry road. 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Only two statements supporting others names blacked 

out therefore can’t be used in evidence 
3. This route is not within a SSSI 
4. This route is not within a TPO.” 

 
 
1.8 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village 
Site, March 2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we 
have made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most 
apparent tracks / paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was 
apparent that the site is still used extensively by walkers and more 
locally by trail bikes. In addition, a few horses and sheep were also on 
the site. Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the 
site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

Page 772



   
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own 
conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal 
Authority, Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last 
Public Inquiry. The Coal Authority decided to fence off the land. It is 
known that members of the public cut sections of this fence in order to 
gain access to the site and use routes which are the subject of this 
Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. 
An Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks 
but the owners refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC 
therefore requested the removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 

 
The southern section of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open 
Access Land which has been subject to a Restriction Order since 
summer 2006.   

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application based on long user to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 105. 

 
2.2 Status 
 
2.3 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.4 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.5 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 

Page 773



3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / 
map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected 
a notice on site stating that the route is not to become a PRoW.  

 
3.3 Evidence has been submitted of signs erected on stiles but this would 

not be sufficient to satisfy S. 31(6), and as discussed, the evidence for 
the presence of such signs is limited. Mrs. Misslebrook stated that 
signs stating that the stiles were for farmers use only were erected by 
her father. She has submitted photographs depicting “Farmers access 
only” hand written on the top bars of stiles. The bars are more recent 
than the 1960s. No evidence for the date for this writing has been 
submitted.  

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself. In this case it would be the period between 2nd January 1983 and 
2nd January 2003; extensive user evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
3.6 Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the 

right now claimed, viz. footpath over the period 3rd January 1983 and 
2nd January 2003 and at all material times before it. 

 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS  
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track/path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

  
 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 

Page 774



 
 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations 

made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which 
are set out previously in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 
5th October 2009. 

 
6.3 Representatives of Merthyr Village Ltd. pointed out that the route is 

accessed by a stile marked “Farmers Access Only” and that access is 
also denied by a fence.  

 
6.4 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate 

the claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the 
claimants. This was in line with data protection but officers have now 
been advised that from this stage in the procedure, all details can be 
made public if requested. 

 
6.5 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed 

health and safety concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, 
these cannot be taken into consideration when determining this 
Application.  Representatives of the owners expressed concern over 
the erosion on the route, again this cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this route. 

 
6.6 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the 

user evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors 
are also reminded that at that time there was no requirement for the 
County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and 
Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is 

accepted that this is a multi-part process in the development of the 
Definitive Map and Statement, and subsequent investigations have 
revealed via user evidence and documentation that the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of 

Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of 

occupancy of the houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 
1965 /66 which allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of 
forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of 

the industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 
1900s. Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows for 
usage as of right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 

Page 775



 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 
assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public which has 
been dealt with at Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th 
October 2009. Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to 
PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic 

records and from witnesses who have actually used the way is 
consistent with one another and that this is not a case where the 
registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
6.7 Landowners are also concerned about the effects of erosion and 

washout on this route; again, Councillors cannot take this into 
consideration when determining this route. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down 

under the relevant legislation. 
 
6.8 Tenants 
 
 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a 

number of observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken 
into consideration when determining this Application, for example, they 
too have raised concerns about health and safety. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook states that the stiles along the route within the 

Merthyr Village Site were erected for farmers’ use only and bore signs 
to this effect. Officers have seen these (now dilapidated) stiles. There 
were no signs on them in autumn 2007 or summer 2009 and Officers 
cannot find physical evidence that signs have been erected on them. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment concerning the Forestry Commission 

fence has been discussed above, where it is recognised that users are 
currently using a route to the north of the original one. 

 
 It is the opinion of Officers that Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment re “Lower 

Brondey” relates, in fact, to a typing error, sic “Lower Brondeg”. 
 
 Mrs. Misslebrook also raised the issue of fences and stated that that a 

large section of this route is only a sheep track.  
 
 Councillors will also be aware that in 2001 there was a severe outbreak 

of foot and mouth disease which affected access and recreation 
throughout the County Borough. Advice Note 15, issued by the 
Planning Inspectorate deals with this issue. Mrs. Misslebrook has 
suggested this interrupts what she considers to be the relevant 20 year 
period. This matter is dealt with in Item 1 of the Rights of Way 
Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
 

Page 776



7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 Officers have presented pedestrian user evidence for the existence of 

Cyfarthfa 105 as a footpath.  
 
 Officers therefore present this route for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 

the rights now claimed, viz. footpath over the period 3rd January 1983 
and 2nd January 2003 and at all material times before it.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local 
people, landowners and other interested parties, and having taken into 
account the information received from interested parties both prior to 
and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does 
exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route 
included on the application. It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the route. An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
 Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
 relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 

Page 777



 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
and Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of way exists. 

 
 Officers therefore recommend that a footpath be recorded along the 
 route on the plan in Cyfarthfa 105. 
 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.     
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 105 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 105, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 

Page 778



 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 
Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 105 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 105 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 

Page 779



Page 780

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

C

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:595
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

      CYFARTHFA 105

Page 781



Page 782

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 1st August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 106 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 106 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 29th November 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 8th December 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011.  
 
Cyfarthfa 106 was included within Cyfarthfa 34 and Cyfarthfa 34 is 
appended at Cyfarthfa 71. 
 

 Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order is incorrect 
 in that the route actually commences on Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order and also before committee today for 
 correction) at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 106, grid reference 
 SO03210582, its junction with Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the unconfirmed 
 2011 Order) and proceeds through open moorland in a general 
 southerly direction to point B, grid reference SO03220569. Here it 
 changes to a general easterly and then a general east-north-easterly 
 direction, crossing footpath Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order) before continuing in a general east-north-
 easterly direction and then crossing footpath Cyfarthfa 107 (a route on 
 the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction). It then continues in a general east-north-easterly direction 
 and terminates at its junction with Cyfarthfa 73 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction) at point C grid reference SO03340573.   
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C. 

 

Agenda Item 27

Page 783



 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route. 
 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on 2003, 2006 2008 and 2010 aerial 
 photographs. 

 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
 including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
 since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He now accesses 
 it from the Cwm Glo Road and uses it when he wants a short, circular 
 route. 
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or  any of the paths challenged and does not 
 recognise any obstructions on the route other than the stile on the 
 Cwm Glo Road. 
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 

Page 784



 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the 
 stile leading to Cwm Glo Road and she has never been challenged 
 while using the route.  She has never asked permission of anyone to 
 use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including this one.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 

Page 785



Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 106. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 106 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 

Page 786



2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 
by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
 The route is presented to Councillors for consideration under Section 

53(3)(b) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely long user. 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the Public Right of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the routes are not to 
become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as there is 
insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself.  In this case officers consider that it would be the period between 
11th October 1983 and 10th October 2003; user evidence exists for this 
period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 

Page 787



6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2  Five people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Officers present the amended line of Cyfarthfa 106 for determination as 
 a footpath. 
 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 11th October 1983 and 10th 
October 2003 and at all material times before it. 

 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 

is evident that the right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route.  It 
is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 

“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
route is a highway and has no obstructions. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 

 
 Officers recommend that footpath, Cyfarthfa 106 be recorded on the 

Definitive Map and Statement. 
 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 

Page 788



8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 
that the route(s) will need to be signed. 

 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.  

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 106  
 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 

to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 106, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 106 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 789



GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 106 

 
July 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 790



A

B

C

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,062
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

    CYFARTHFA 106

Page 791



Page 792

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 2nd August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 107 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 107 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 29th November 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 8th December 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011.  
 
Cyfarthfa 107 was included within Cyfarthfa 34 and Cyfarthfa 34 is 
appended at Cyfarthfa 71. 

 
 Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order is incorrect 
 in that the route commences on Cyfarthfa 73 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order and also before committee today for 
 correction) at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 107, grid reference 
 SO03310573 and it proceeds along a grass track in a general south-
 easterly direction to Point B where it crosses Cyfarthfa 106 (a route on 
 the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction). It continues in a general south-easterly direction to the top 
 of the  bank of the Nant Cwm Glo, Point C, grid reference 
 SO03350571. From here it proceeds in a south-westerly direction 
 descending the northern bank of the Nant Cwm Glo, it then crosses the 
 stream and reverts to a general south-easterly direction at Point D, grid 
 reference SO03340569. It continues across open land to Point E where 
 it crosses Cyfarthfa 102 (also before committee today for 
 determination) before continuing to Point F, its junction with Cyfarthfa 
 108 (a route on the  unconfirmed 2011 Order). From here it continues 
 in a general south-easterly direction to Point G, grid reference 
 SO03500548, its junction with Cyfarthfa 109 (also before committee 
 today for determination). It  then proceeds in a general southerly 

 

Agenda Item 28

Page 793



 direction descending the northern bank of the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos to 
 Point H, grid reference SO03500546, its junction with Cyfarthfa 78 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee 
 today for correction). It continues  descending the northern bank in a 
 general south-easterly direction to Point I its junction with Cyfarthfa 114 
 (also before committee today for determination) , grid reference 
 SO03520545 where it changes to a general north-easterly direction 
 and continues to terminate at Point J, grid reference SO03530546, its 
 junction with Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order). 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D - E – F – G – H – I – J. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route. 
 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial 
 photographs. 

 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence  
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
 including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
 since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.   
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or  any of the paths challenged. 
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 

Page 794



 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has 
 never been challenged while using the route. She has never asked 
 permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including this one.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

Page 795



 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 107. 

Page 796



 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 107 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to Councillors for consideration under Section 

53(3)(b) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely long user. 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the Public Right of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the routes are not to 
become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as there is 
insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself.  In this case officers consider that it would be the period between 
11th October 1983 and 10th October 2003; user evidence exists for this 
period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
 

Page 797



 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2  Five people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Officers present the amended line of Cyfarthfa 107 for determination as 
 a footpath. 
 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 11th October 1983 and 10th 
October 2003 and at all material times before it. 

 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 

is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route.  It 
is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 

“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
route is a highway and has no obstructions. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 

 

Page 798



 Officers recommend that footpath, Cyfarthfa 107 be recorded on the 
Definitive Map and Statement. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.      
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that  
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 107  
 
 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 

to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I – J on the Plan, 
Cyfarthfa 107, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 107 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

Page 799



 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 107 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 800



A
B

C
D

E

F

G

H

I

J

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,614
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

    CYFARTHFA 107

Page 801



Page 802

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 2nd August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 109 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 109, grid 
 reference SO03540562, at its common junction with Cyfarthfa 73 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order also before committee today for 
 correction) and Cyfarthfa 102 (also before committee today for 
 determination). It proceeds along a grass track through an area that 
 contains bracken in a general south-westerly direction to Point B, grid 
 reference SO03500555. Here it changes to a general southerly 
 direction and proceeds through another area containing bracken to 
 terminate at Point C, grid reference SO03500548, its junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 107 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before 
 committee today for correction).  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C. 
 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 
 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 

 

Agenda Item 29

Page 803



 
1.5  User Evidence  
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 
 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
 this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 

Page 804



 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 
  

Page 805



 Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
 of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
 routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
 described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
 detail. 
 

He continued: 
 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 
  
 Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years 
ago, he has used many of the claimed PRoWs - including this one - on 
a daily basis until fencing was installed some 12 to 18 months 
previously to close in the land in the ownership of Merthyr Village 
Limited.  He said, 

 
 “I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of 
 recreation and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using 
 any of these routes, and however, I have walked these routes less
 frequently in the last 12-18 months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people 
using the routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 109. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 109 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 

Page 806



 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 

Page 807



5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 
existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Six people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 109 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 

Page 808



 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive 
 Map and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) 
 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the 
 requirements of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public 
 Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C on the Plan, 
 Cyfarthfa 109 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.     
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 109 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 109, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 

Page 809



has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 109 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 109 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 810



A

B

C

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

AB

08/11/2011
DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

Planning

1:922
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 109

Page 811



Page 812

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 13th September 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 115 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Cyfarthfa 115 at its 
 junction with Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order and 
 is also before committee today for correction) at grid reference 
 SO03580549 and it proceeds in a general north-easterly direction 
 along a well-defined path to Point B, grid reference SO03620562 
 where it terminates at its common junction with Cyfarthfa 73 (a route on 
 the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction), Cyfarthfa 35 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and 
 Cyfarthfa 139 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before 
 committee today for correction).  

  
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
route as depicted between Points A – B.  

 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-recognised route. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The sections of the route not obscured by trees are depicted on 2003, 
 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 

 

Agenda Item 30

Page 813



 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.6 Users  
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
 including this path - from this time. He has used this route more often 
 since he moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. 
  
 He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
 prevented from doing so when the area was fenced 
 
 He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
 had his use of this or any of the paths challenged and does not 
 recognise any obstructions on the route. 
 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
 Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
 up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
 Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
 they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
 on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
 an adult since the 1950s but much more regularly since she and her 
 husband moved to Heolgerrig in the 1990s. She accesses it from a 
 choice of routes from her house and uses it to access the network of 
 paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 
 
 She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for 
 example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
 when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
 people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
 be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
 unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 
 
 She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has 
 never been challenged while using the route.  She has never asked 
 permission of anyone to use it. 
 
 Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
 2012. 
 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 
 specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
 usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
 number of routes including Cyfarthfa 115.  

Page 814



 
 He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
 area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
 winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
 believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
 sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 
 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 
 
 Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
 area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 
 
 He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
 far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
 Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
 area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
 additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
 didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 
 
 Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
 can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 
 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 
 
 Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
 although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
 others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 
 
 Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
 this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 
 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

Page 815



 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 
  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 
 Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
This is one of the routes which Mr. Lewis Lewis has used all of his life. 
He recognises that a gate has been erected by the Junior’s Tip, a stile 
further along (which has now rotted) and a plank placed across the 
Nant Rhydycar.  

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a 
 long distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm 
 Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 

Page 816



described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
 “They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 
 when they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 
 
 No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area 
 was open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and 
 there were always pimpers there. 
 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped  us. As well as walking and 
 riding on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was 
 all open,  it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have 
 been erected”. 
  
 Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 115. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 115 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 

Page 817



 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernible on the ground 
 
5.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
5.2  Four people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

6.0 SUMMARY 
 
6.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 115 for determination as a footpath. 
 

Page 818



 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B on the Plan, 
 Cyfarthfa 115 and as described above. 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
7.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
7.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
7.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 

Page 819



County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    
 

9.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
9.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 115 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 115, has been used 
for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has 
not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 115 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 

Page 820



 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 115 

 
September 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 821



Page 822

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

210912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,074
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

    CYFARTHFA 115

Page 823



Page 824

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 18th September 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 137 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 

 
The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 137 was determined in a Rights of 
Way Committee meeting of 21st March 2011, ratified in a meeting of Full 
Council, 30th March 2011 and included in an unconfirmed Definitive Map 
Modification Order dated 18th May 2011. The 2011 report is appended at the 
end of this item. 
 

 Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order is incorrect  in 
that the route actually commences at its common junction with  Cyfarthfa 143 (a 
route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and Troedyrhiw  44 (a  route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order), at grid reference  SO04390521, Point A, on the plan, 
Cyfarthfa 137 and proceeds in a  general south-westerly direction through re-
vegetated coal tips to Point  B, grid reference SO04370519 (its junction with 
Cyfarthfa 114, also  before committee today for determination). Here the route 
changes to a  general southerly direction and continues to Point C, grid 
reference  SO04380517 where it reverts to a general south-westerly direction, 
 enters an area of ancient woodland before terminating at its common 
 junction with Troedyrhiw 143 (also before committee today for 
 determination) and Cyfarthfa 114 (also before committee today for 
 determination), at Point D, grid reference SO04350512. 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 

as depicted between Points A – B – C – D. 
 
 Councillors are further requested to note that there is evidence of a further 

route leading off Cyfarthfa 137. 
 

 

Agenda Item 31

Page 825



 They are requested to note that evidence exists for the route depicted with a 
dashed line between Points B – E - F on the plan. 

 
 This route commences at Point B, grid reference SO04370519 and ascends a 

bank, in a general south westerly direction towards the Pencae Pond. It then 
continues along the top of the bank to Point E, grid reference SO04340516 
where it changes to a general southerly direction and terminates at point F, 
grid reference SO04340514 its junction with Cyfarthfa 143. This route is 
known as Cyfarthfa 114.  

 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 

as depicted with a dotted line between Points B – E - F. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify these routes as well-used and 

well-trodden routes between the Pencae and Cwm Du Inclines and as an 
alternative to the southern section of the track between Upper and lower 
Colliers Row, here known as Troedyrhiw 44 (a route in the unconfirmed 2010 
Order). 

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 With the exception of the wooded area in the east, the route is depicted  on 
2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 

 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
  
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 

married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – including this 
path - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being prevented from 
doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses it from either incline or the 
track between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and uses it as a section of a 
much larger network of paths. 

 
He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never had his 
use of this or any of the paths challenged and does not recognise any 
obstructions on the route other than the stile in the south. 

 

Page 826



Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and 
her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives. She 
has used this route when playing as a child and for walks as an adult since 
the 1950s. She accesses it from either of the inclines or from Troedyrhiw 44, 
the track between Upper and Lower Colliers Row. She uses it to access the 
network of paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 

 
She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for example, to 
walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from 
using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog-fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they would have lost this area for 
exercise. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the stile 
leading to the Cwm Du Incline; she has never been challenged while using 
the route and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2012. 

 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this specific 

route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he usually spends 
about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes including 
Cyfarthfa 114 and Cyfarthfa 137.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has 
done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to 
walk this path (and the others) and has never sought or been given 
permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and 
he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more 
than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown 
stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  
He stopped using it early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the 
run-up to the election and he didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is 
a MTCBC Councillor). 

Page 827



 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t 
actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although 
some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  The routes 
have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and this 

route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are  naturally 
beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from  using them.  He 
continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day  but 
I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee  I use the 
ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all  the 
time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been  led 
to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have  lived in 
Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often 

with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave evidence of regular use 
of this route which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a 
section of a circular walk. 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He 

Page 828



commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr Village 
Site. 
 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers 
Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and only moved 
because the house was too small when his children were born. For the past 
20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used this and 
many other routes for both access to work and for pleasure, and in fact 
always rode on most of them, especially as a young man with a group of 
others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that there should be far more 
bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, the 
stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s  a 
lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters  church, 
Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long  distance, there’s 
lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits,  Abernant Tunnel from 
the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the 
history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning routes of the 
trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He described the position 
of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

  

 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding  on the 
paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all  open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been  erected”. 

Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Cyfarthfa 137 and Cyfarthfa 114. 

 

Page 829



2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 
ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 137 and Cyfarthfa 114 as clearly defined 
and well-used footpaths. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of  the 
route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors  as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections  of 
Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely  Section 53(3)(b) 
(long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a  minimum 
of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to  deny the existence of 
the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory  declaration/map 
under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the  Council or erected a notice on 
site stating that the routes are not to  become Public Rights of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated  as 
highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention  during 
that period to dedicate them. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In  this 
case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987  and 2007, user 
evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been  available 
for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 Both routes are clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 

Page 830



 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of 

the route and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in 
the summer and foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2  Six people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 
 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated  as 
highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no  intention during that 
period to dedicate them. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of  the 
right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Cyfarthfa 137 and Cyfarthfa 114 for determination as 
 footpaths. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of these routes as  footpaths. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it  is 
evident that a right of way does exist over these routes. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements  of 
S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for these routes.  It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that  this presumption 
has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of  intention to dedicate by 
the landowner of any part of the routes.  An  Order to modify the Definitive Map 
and Statement could therefore be  made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 

Page 831



 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of  the 
rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all  material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements  of 
S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement; Cyfarthfa 137 as depicted by a bold line between  Points A – 
B – C – D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 114 as depicted by a  dashed line between B 
– F on the plan, Cyfarthfa 137 and as described  above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the report. If 

Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), there will be a 
financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also for dealing with a 
Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and there is an objection to it / 
them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the 

route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 137 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
- B – C – D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 137, has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as 

Page 832



a footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 137 as a footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 In respect of Cyfarthfa 114 

 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points 
B – E - F on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 137, has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as 
a footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 114 as a footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set out 
above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 

Page 833



 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 137 

 
September 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 834



A

B

C

D

E

F

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:609
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 137

Page 835



Page 836

This page is intentionally left blank



21st March 2011 Report  
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 17th January 2011 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Engineering, Highways & 

Transportation  
Committee Date 18th March 2011 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
Determination of Application to record a Public Rig ht of 
Way, Cyfarthfa 137 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The route commences at its common junction with Cyfarthfa 143 (an access 
route to the Pencae Incline, a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and 
Troedyrhiw 44 (the track between Upper and Lower Colliers Row, a route 
subject to the unconfirmed 2010 Order), at grid reference SO04380521, Point 
A, on the plan, Cyfarthfa 137 and proceeds in a general south-westerly 
direction through re-vegetated coal tips to Point B, grid reference 
SO04370520. Here the route changes to a general southerly direction and 
continues to Point C, grid reference SO04380516 where it reverts to a general 
south-westerly direction, enters an area of ancient woodland, crosses a stile 
and then continues, to terminate on the Cwm Du Incline, Troedyrhiw 179 (a 
route subject to the unconfirmed 2010 Order), Point D, grid reference 
SO04360512. 

 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 

as depicted between Points A – D. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used and 

well-trodden route between the Pencae and Cwm Du Inclines and as an 
alternative to the southern section of the track between Upper and lower 
Colliers Row, here known as Troedyrhiw 44 (a route in the unconfirmed 2010 
Order). 

 
 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 

Page 837



 
Aerial Photographs 

  
The route is depicted on 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 
 

 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made two site visits to this route and found it clearly defined and 

as described above. 
 
 On these and at least two other occasions whilst investigating other routes 

they have seen people using the route. 
 
 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 

married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – including this 
path - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being prevented from 
doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses it from either incline or the 
track between Upper and Lower Colliers Row and uses it as a section of a 
much larger network of paths. 

 
He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never had his 
use of this or any of the paths challenged and does not recognise any 
obstructions on the route other than the stile in the south. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and 
her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives. She has 
used this route when playing as a child and for walks as an adult since the 
1950s. She accesses it from either of the inclines or from Troedyrhiw 44, the 
track between Upper and Lower Colliers Row. She uses it to access the 
network of paths which she regularly uses in the west Merthyr area. 

 
She and her husband regularly use this route for recreation, for example, to 
walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from 
using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog-fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they would have lost this area for 
exercise. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the stile 
leading to the Cwm Du Incline; she has never been challenged while using the 
route and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

Page 838



 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2010. 

  

2.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Cyfarthfa 137. 

 
 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 137 as a clearly defined and well-used route. 
 
 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
BOAT. 

 
 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 

the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of the route 

as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors as a footpath. 
 
 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 

Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

  
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of 
the Public Rights of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site 
stating that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period looked 

at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date the route came into question.  In this case Officers 
consider that it would be the period between 1987 and 2007, user evidence 
exists for this period. 

Page 839



 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 

public use. 
 
 The Line of the Route 
 
 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
 Aerial Photographs 
 
 Depiction of the route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the existence of 

the route and of usage – although the available photographs are taken in the 
summer and foliage may obscure the southernmost section of the route. 

 
 User Evidence 
 

Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
 Two people have given evidence of use of this route as a footpath for 

recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 
 

3.0 SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

right now claimed. 
  

Officers present Cyfarthfa 137 for determination as a footpath. 
 

Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and aerial 
photography in support of the existence of this route as a footpath. 

 
  Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 

evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements 

of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has ari sen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evi dence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order 
to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could th erefore be made 
under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 

Page 840



 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i ) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must  be reviewed. 

 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this route is a highway and has 
no obstructions. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all material times 
before it. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rig ht of Way exists. 

 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map and 

Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C - D on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 
137 and as described above. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
 Officer time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  If 

Councillors determine that the Public Right of Way exists, there will be a 
financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with a Public 
Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 

 
 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route 

will need to be signed. 
 
 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it. 

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 
In respect of Cyfarthfa 137: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B – C - D on the plan, Cyfarthfa 137 has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 

Page 841



Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 137 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

 
 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant 

Order as set out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Page 842



Page 843



Page 844

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 3rd August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 139 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 

 
The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 139 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 21st March 2011, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 30th March 2011 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011. 
Cyfarthfa 139 had previously been recorded on the 2010 Order 
incorrectly following determination (as an alternative route off Cyfarthfa 
35) at committee in October 2009 and ratification by Full Council on 
11th November 2009. The 2009 and 2011 reports are appended at the 
end of this item. 
 

 Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order was also 
 incorrect. The route actually commences at its common junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 73 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before 
 committee today for correction) and Cyfarthfa 35 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed  2010 Order), and Cyfarthfa 115 (also before committee 
 today for determination) at grid reference SO03620562, Point A, on the 
 plan Cyfarthfa 139 and proceeds in a general east-south-easterly 
 direction through an area of open land, crosses the Nant Llwyn-yr-eos, 
 and continues to Point B, grid reference SO03640561, its junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 83 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 order, but also before 
 Committee today for correction). It continues in a general east-
 south-easterly direction to Point C, grid reference SO03670560 
 where it changes to a general south-easterly direction and continues 
 through open land to point D, where it crosses Cyfarthfa 34 (a route on 
 the unconfirmed 2011) before continuing to Point E, where it crosses 
 Cyfarthfa 82 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order) before finally 
 continuing in a general southerly direction to Point F, grid reference 

 

Agenda Item 32

Page 845



 SO03710554, its southern  junction with Cyfarthfa 35 where it 
 terminates. 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 

route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F.  
  
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 With the exception of the wooded area in the east, the route is depicted 
 on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 

 
1.5 Site Visits 
  
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.6 Users Evidence  
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 

Page 846



so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2010. 

 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Cyfarthfa 139.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

Page 847



 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 
 Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily 

walks, often with Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin.  He gave 
evidence of regular use of this route which he uses to access other 
routes to the south, often as a section of a circular walk. 
 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2012. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 

Page 848



He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
 He continued: 
 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and 
 riding on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was 
 all open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have 
 been erected”. 
 

Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 
 Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years 

ago, he has used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one.  
 
 He said: 
 

 “I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of 
 recreation and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using 
 any of these routes, however, I have walked these routes less 
 frequently in the last 12-18 months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people 
using the routes I have mentioned above”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2012. 

Page 849



2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 139. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Cyfarthfa 139 as a clearly defined and well-
used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected any notice on site stating that the route is not to 
become a Public Right of Way.  

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the rights of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way is 20 years prior to the date of the application itself. In this 
case this would be the period 3rd January 1983 to 2nd January 2003. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration under Section 53(3)(b), the 

route, Cyfarthfa 139 presented for determination today has been 
available for public use. 

 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 

Page 850



 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2  Seven people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated 
 as highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the 
 existence of this route as a footpath. 
 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
the rights now claimed.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the interviews with users, claimants, tenants of the land, 
local people, landowners and other interested parties, and having 
taken into account the information received from interested parties both 
prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of 
way does exist over this route. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the routes 
included on the application. It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the routes. An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of these routes under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

Page 851



 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway were established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstruction.  

 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
and Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    
 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Cyfarthfa 139 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D – E – F on the Plan, Cyfarthfa 139, 
has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 

Page 852



that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 139 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Cyfarthfa 139 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 853



Page 854

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

C

D

E

F

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:922
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

CYFARTHFA 139

Page 855



Page 856

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

5th October 2009 
# 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A  
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, CYFARTHFA 35.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A claim to record a PRoW (footpath) from Cwm Glo Road to Pencoedcae Cottages 
was submitted to MTCBC on 7th January 2003. This was referred to as Claim 
A763/4/166n and now known as Cyfarthfa 35. 

 
In addition, an application was received by MTCBC on 31st January 2008 to record a 
number of PRoW across land at West Merthyr. At that time, the majority of Cyfarthfa 
35 was included as Cyfarthfa 19 and 21. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Appendix 4, the route commences at Point A, a field gate 
and adjacent stile leading off Cyfarthfa 36, at grid reference SO03570573. It 
proceeds downhill on a grass track in a general south-easterly direction, crossing the 
Nant Cwm Glo and then continuing alongside this stream before crossing the Nant 
Llwyn yr Eos immediately before the confluence of the two streams. It passes the 
ruins of Gelli Du Farm and then continues up a slope to cross Cyfarthfa 34, grid 
reference SO03690555.  Cyfarthfa 35 now changes to a general southerly direction 
and goes through old spoil tips uphill to the ruins of Pencoedcae Cottages and then 
continues to its termination on the Cwm Du Drift Incline, Cyfarthfa 39, Point D, grid 
reference SO03730534. 

 
 Officers have been advised that they should also consider the route on the ground.  

There is a clearly defined and well-used path around the eastern side of Gelli Du 
Farmyard.  They therefore present the route marked with a dashed line between 
Point B, grid reference SO03630560 and Point C, grid reference SO03670558 on the 
Plan for determination, Cyfarthfa 139. 

 
Since March 2008, the route now known as Cyfarthfa 35 has been dealt with under 
different names, Cyfarthfa 30, 45 and 47; these are encapsulated into Cyfarthfa 35. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

The claimed route is depicted on the 1876 Board of Health Map, and on the 1875 OS 
map and is joined by Cyfarthfa 34, 36 and 46. The route is also depicted on the 
1919, and 1957 editions of the OS map where it is also joined by these three routes 
and by Cyfarthfa 39.  The section around Gelli Du Farmyard is omitted from the 1978 

Page 857



 
 

OS map although it is still joined by the four other claimed routes. The entire route 
and its junction with the four other routes is depicted on the 2005 edition. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 and a 2008 aerial photograph.  
 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Cyfarthfa 35 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970.  It was 
depicted as Footpaths F and H on the NCB Map and was referred to as Footpaths F 
and H and described in detail in paragraphs 6 and 8 of the NCB’s Footpath 
Application which state: 

 
at paragraph 6, 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath F” on the Map and which runs 
from the footpath described in paragraph 2 above at the said point numbered 
4 on the Map in a general South-Easterly direction for a distance of about 160 
yards to Gelli-ddu”. 

 
and at paragraph 8, 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath H” on the Map which runs from 
a footpath described in paragraph 9 below at a point (numbered 16 on the 
Map) about 40 yards South South East of the ruins of No. 1 Pen-y-Coedcae 
Cottages and extends in a general Northerly direction for about 280 yards to 
Gelli-ddu”. 

 
Three of the other footpaths which were subject to the Application to Suspend, 
Footpaths B, G and I, join this claimed route. 

 
Footpaths F and H terminate on the northern and southern boundaries respectively 
of Gelli Du Farmyard. Cyfarthfa 35 however, joins the footpaths F and H together. 

 
It was two of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes 
Application. 

 
This route was outside the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive Applications, but on the Map which accompanied this 
Application, Cyfarthfa 35 was marked as a path in its southern section and a track in 
the north. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Cyfarthfa 35 is one of the routes the Inspector referred 
to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr Village 
Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 

Page 858



 
 

1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers have walked this route and found it as described above, both in relation to 
the claimed route and the detour around the farmyard. 

 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Cyfarthfa 35, was issued in June 2008.  
 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users. 

 
1.3a The Claim 

 
The main claimant, Mr Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 

 
 a schedule describing the claimed route; 

6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use, one 
21 years, one 26 years, two 30 years and two 40 years, all claiming this route as a 
footpath; four claimants subsequently submitted maps depicting their claimed route; 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured yellow; 

 a copy of the 1921 OS 6” – 1 mile map with the claimed route coloured yellow; 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured yellow; 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map); and 
 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 

 
1.3b Interviews with Claimants 

 
The main claimant and 5 of those who had completed evidence forms were 
interviewed. 

 
In addition to the documentary evidence described above, claimants gave evidence 
specific to this route. 

 
1.3b(1)Mr Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he has 

claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years. He no 
longer walks these routes because of illness.  He occasionally used these routes as 
a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these.  His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims.  

 

Page 859



 
 

He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes.  The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden.  He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on 
other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating when he last 

walked each of the routes.  In this submission he stated that he has walked this – 
and the other claimed routes on a regular basis since 1977; 
 

2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes; 
 

3. a copy of a letter from Mr. John Walters, Project Director, Merthyr Village Ltd., 
giving conditional permission to Mr Thomas and other (listed) Councillors of the 
Merthyr Naturalists Society to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Sit; and 
 

4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early developers of 
coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 

 
Mr Brian Thomas described this route, 

 
“With this walk I would start at a stile on a claimed footpath on the Cwm Glo 
Road to Upper Wern and this I did the last time I walked the route in 
September 2006.  Taking a right turn down a sloping track you go through a 
small grove of trees and then cross Nant Cwm Glo.  Take a S.E. direction 
along the bank of stream and then cross the Nant Llwyn-yr-Eos short walk 
away from both streams meeting at their confluence.  The ruins of Gelli-Ddu 
farmhouse to the right are before another slope to meet the disused incline 
track.  Continuing up this track in a southerly direction to the ruins of Pen y 
Coedcae Cottages continue through the ruins along a claimed path Lower 
Colliers Row to Gernant Lane and the Cwm du drift main haulage tramroad 
section”.  

 
Mr Thomas’ evidence relates to the period 1977 – 2006. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of this route.  He stated that he walks it for 

pleasure and has done so since he came to live at Ynysfach when he was 21 (now 
76).  He now assumes he is trespassing on this land (Mr Jones referred to the 
Merthyr Village Site) – but used not to think so.  He has only once asked permission 
to go there (as part of a group); he keeps to the line of the route but on occasion 
wanders off to look at different things.  He stated that there are no stiles, gates or 
signs along this route. 

 

Page 860



 
 

Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007. 

1.3b(3)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 
his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born.  For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and stated that 
he has used it regularly all of his life.  He described occasions when, as a young 
man, he gathered horses from the Waun and drove them down this claimed route 
(and others) to Colliers Row.  Mr. Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the 
church (Cwm Glo Chapel).  Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs 
Mr Lewis recorded were those of CCW.  

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until recently the 
whole area was open. “I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to 
go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 

Page 861



 
 

No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 

 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this specific route to 

access the Waun and further walks. 
 

He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr area, on 
average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during winter – and has done so 
since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to walk this path 
(and the others) and has never sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route”.  

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this area and he also 
uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more than 
he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he 
can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it 
early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he can’t actually 
delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although some 
routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others.  He usually spent about 2 
hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes although always kept to 
the routes when clearly defined.  The routes have not changed during the period of 
his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(5)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives.  

Page 862



 
 

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid so Mrs. Connolly regularly used this route to visit her.  She and her 
husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married.  

 
Mrs Connolly only began using the routes in the north of the Merthyr Village Site 
after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she did not have to invent them, they already 
existed.  She sees these paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as more-used 
these days than those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Connolly has used this route regularly over the last 11/12 years.  She accesses 
this by the stile by the Juniors and has found protected species (wax cap) along this 
route.  

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the Cwmdu and the 
Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the Castle Pit over past 
Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig using all the 
footpaths. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, for example, 
to walk their dogs, – even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged. 

 
 Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1953 – 2009. 

Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 
 
1.3b(6)Mr Glanmor Williams began the interview by saying that he has known the area very 

well all his life as his grandmother lived at Cwm Glo cottages (where there was also 
a field and an orchard) and this lane was the regular access there.  He has used the 
route since being taken there as a baby.  

 
He displayed extensive knowledge of people who used to live in the area and their 
use of it.  Mr Williams stated when he was younger he (and others) regularly used 
this route on the Waun where they played cricket to the east and rugby and football 
to the west of the track.  The Home Guard also used this route on the Waun where 
they exercised. Mr Williams uses it for pleasure and as a short cut to different places. 

 
He said that he has used this whole area for a very long time and that the Coal 
Authority has only now fenced off the area because of danger to people – why then 
is it not dangerous for animals? 

Page 863



 
 

Mr. Williams has always believed that he has had a right to use this and other routes, 
there has never been any objection to anyone using them and he has neither sought 
nor been given permission to use the routes he describes. 

 
Mr Williams’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr Elwyn Marshall  
 

Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927. He was raised close to Mayor’s Square, 
Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. 

 
He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses, including 
this one: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the Merthyr Village 

Site”. 
 

• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this too. We have 
all always gone there for pleasure not for work”.  

 
• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village put up 

‘Danger’ signs”. 
 

• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, EM says “I have walked here 
since 1938, for the last 78 years. It is awkward to explain because I do not 
understand the map but I’ve always gone on whatever track I fancied - and 
everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of people walking 

these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 

• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we all just went on 
the site and walked where we wanted. We would take any path that took our fancy. 
Nobody ever stopped us until two years ago when they fenced in the site. I haven’t 
gone anywhere that’s been fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or 
fences, I wouldn’t go onto other people’s property”.  

 
• Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using these routes. 

 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t understand a 

map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of these tracks”. 
 

• Mr. Marshall commented on the danger on the site. “There have always been holes 
there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve walked there for over 70 years and only 
remember one accident. A boy from Cae Draw was playing on the screens and lost a 
leg”. 

 
 Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 - 2009. 
 

 

Page 864



 
 

 
1.3b(8)Mr Philip Jones (main claimant for Cyfarthfa 33) stated that he has lived at his 

current address for 20 years and has used both Cyfarthfa 33 and Cyfarthfa 34 
regularly. He described them both as being extensively used and also stated “elderly 
people in the village have always said it has been a right of way”.  

 
 Mr Jones’ evidence covers the period between 1982 – 2007. 
 
1.3b(9)Mr Donald and Mrs Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have lived for 40 years 

at Heolgerrig and have used this and many of the routes over the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly throughout this period. There was never any concern over walking 
anywhere on the site until recently. Mr and Mrs Davies explained that they walk their 
dog twice a day, he in the night and she n the morning. They try to walk circular 
routes, sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs Davies has walked 
on more of the routes than her husband. Mr Davies also said that he has regularly 
taken his grandchildren there and their grandson has used certain routes on a 
pushbike. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. He has walked 
all of the footpaths on the area for many years and described the many historical 
sites there, for example, the Dissenters Chapel to which access has now been 
denied although he has accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor 
services were held there. Mr Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has gathered this 
information from people who have always lived there. Mrs Davies agreed and also 
said “people before us had a right to use it and the old miners used it”. Mr Davies 
pointed out that the tramways are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in 
the 1960s and has a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him 
around everywhere.  

 
Mr and Mrs Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used routes on a map 
than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
They use this route often as part of a circular route, for example, leaving Heolgerrig 
on Cyfarthfa 33, going along Cyfarthfa 34 then up Cyfarthfa 35 and returning via 
Cwm Glo Road. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that if there were 
any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them concerning their use of 
these routes and continued: 

 
“I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude re 
fencing. He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no other 
remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me walking there 
although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr and Mrs Davies stated that they would not walk across a field or any private 
land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent them from using the paths 

Page 865



 
 

although they are aware that at least one, in the north, was blocked at one time in 
the recent past. 

 
Mr Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the Merthyr Village 
Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as usual”. Mrs. Davies agreed 
saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. There were 

chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived there, so why should people 
today be discriminated against from people years ago?” 

 
Mrs Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think about it, 

generations used it, the footpaths have been marked out by generations of 
use”. 

 
Mr Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land is for people to 
use.   

 
They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently been 
claimed; these are all used by many people and they always see people on the 
routes.  

 
Mrs Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one man meets 

his friend from Caedraw every morning and then goes around on the 
tramroad”. 

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 
Mrs. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(10)Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his wife 

for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts and 
grandmother lived at Gelli Du. Mrs. Phelps would use this route as one of two 
alternatives to go to school each day – dependant upon which field the cows were in. 

 
They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so they 
both know the whole area very well (Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
Mr Phelps still uses this route regularly but not as much as in previous years.  

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined,  

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 

Page 866



 
 

Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, but 
nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said he had 
walked every single path. He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“that used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brother’s 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area. Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways). His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking there. The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the Council by Mr. 
Phelps) showing all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

Page 867



 
 

Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 
1.3b(11)Mr and Mrs Mold stated that they have regularly used this route for walking their 

dog for approximately 40 years. They are no longer able to use it as frequently as 
previously because of health problems. They stated that many people from several 
parts of Heolgerrig walk on the Waun. 

 
 They have lived at Heolgerrig for 42 years and used specific paths (from Heolgerrig 

and onto the Waun) in the north of the Merthyr Village Site regularly for this whole 
period. 

 
 Mrs Mold stated that she understands that these paths have always been rights of 

way and has walked a dog on them for a long time; she notes that she always sees 
other people using them. 

 
 Mrs Mold stated that when they had a dog they walked daily but she does not use 

the paths very often now – in addition she has asthma. 
 
 Mr Mold said that he still walks occasionally during fine weather. 
 
 They both believe that they have a right to use the path.  Mrs Mold said “we just 

used it”.  Mr Mold commented that the sign on the open area when leaving the lane 
from Heolgerrig suggests that the public use it. 

 
 Mrs Mold said that no one has ever been there to stop people using the paths and 

her husband stated “there has only been the one occasion a few years ago when the 
lane was blocked off”.  Both Mr & Mrs Mold stated that the route has always been 
clearly defined and that the route has always been the same. 

 
 Mr Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 
 
 Mrs Mold’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2007. 
 
1.3b(12)Mr Tony Chaplin stated that he had used this route regularly until ill health 

prevented him from doing so. He often used this route as a section of one of several 
circular walks which commenced and terminated at Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row site. He has 
lived close to this area since 1963 and has used this and many other routes regularly 
since then. 

 
Mr Chaplin maintains however, that he hasn’t been on the Merthyr Village Site since 
it was fenced off. He stated that he had said he would support the Coal Authority 
until the remediation scheme which took the railway arch etc into account was 
developed. 

 
Mr Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 

Page 868



 
 

1.3b(13)Mr Gerald Foley telephoned explaining that personal circumstances prevented him 
attending for interview but subsequently submitted further written evidence. He has 
used both Cyfarthfa 33 and 34 since summer 1984 when he moved to the area. He 
further stated that over the two and a half years prior to the claim date he walked the 
route daily and twice on weekends; prior to this he had used it at least once a week 
with his wife and family who also used these routes to access other paths to the 
south. 

 
Mr Foley gave specific evidence for Cyfarthfa 33 but pointed out that this evidence 
also relates to the routes on the Waun to the south as he and his family use 
Cyfarthfa 33 to access these routes – including Cyfarthfa 34. 

 
Mr Foley’s evidence covers the period between 1984 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(14)Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and this route is 

part of these. He states that he walks, 
 

“sometimes up to Heolgerrig Road past the school. I sometimes cut through to 
the Chapel on this walk. These are the main ones which I use regularly – it 
varies day by day but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  
I guarantee I use the ones described at least weekly.” 

 
He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to encourage 
people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful and it would 
be a shame if people were stopped from using them. He continued, 

 
“These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the ones 
described at least weekly. 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people who 
still walk there. I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have 
never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 

 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 

  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been led to believe 
that they are registered rights of way by people who have lived in Heolgerrig all their 
lives.  

 
Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(15)Mr Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for 
family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that. Both stated that they 

Page 869



 
 

have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north 
of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – just going out 
for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr and Mrs Elwyn Rees stated that they use Gulley Nanni (Cyfarthfa 33) to access 
the Waun on Cyfarthfa 34 and further routes to the south, often as part of a circular 
walk.  

 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 

Page 870



 
 

“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems”. 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(16)Mr Clive Thomas, local amateur historian /industrial archaeologist stated that he 

has used this route. It is a means of access to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. He has 
used the route since the 1970s. 

 
1.3b(17)Mr Colin Davies stated that since moving to Heolgerrig some 42 years ago, he has 

used many of the claimed PRoWs  - including this one - on a daily basis until fencing 
was installed some 12 to 18 months previously to close in the land in the ownership 
of Merthyr Village Limited. He said, 

 
“I would add that I have walked all these routes for the purpose of recreation 
and walking my dog, I have never been stopped from using any of these 
routes, however, I have walked these routes less frequently in the last 12-18 
months following the erection of the fencing. 

 
I would also add that whilst walking I frequently see other people using the 
routes I have mentioned above”.                   

 
Mr Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(18)Mr John Gamlin also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often 

with Mr. Colin Davies and Mr David Price. He gave evidence of regular use of this 
route which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a 
circular walk. 

 
Mr Gamlin’s evidence covers the period between 2003 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(19)Mr David Price also uses a number of the claimed routes for daily walks, often with 

Mr Colin Davies and Mr John Gamlin. He gave evidence of regular use of this route 
which he uses to access other routes to the south, often as a section of a circular 
walk. 

 
Mr Price’ evidence covers the period between 1970 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(20)A number of people have given evidence of use of this route as a means of access 

to the ruins of Cwm Glo Chapel. Mr David Price and Dr and Mrs Jones have 
submitted photographs of two services which have been held at Cwm Glo Chapel 
and one of the lay preachers, Mr Jeff Leysion, also asked that his name be included 
as someone who has used this and many other claimed paths on a regular basis; he 
also used this route to access Cwm Glo Chapel when the services were held there. 

Page 871



 
 

 
1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 

Objections 
 

1.4(a) Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms Anne-Marie Price, 
discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting state: 

 
“This goes through streams with very steep banks. Access is over a locked 
gate (sign there too)”. 

 
1.4(b) Mrs Misslebrook (tenant and representing her brothers) wrote, 
 
  “Cwm Glo Road to Pencaedcae Cottages 

As “D”, they would have to go over a locked gate or farmers access only stile”  
Mrs Misslebrook (representing her brothers and Mr David Evans) stated at interview 
that a section of this route was washed out during the Boxing Day floods 1979. Mrs 
Misslebrook’s comments in reply to notes written at this interview included, 

 
“ Claimed ROW LA Map – 101/166x – served Map A763/4/1 66 Cwm Glo 
Road to Pencoedcae Cottages (Jan 2006) 
As noted in meeting 

 
Additional comments 
Route starts on the other side of a locked gate and a stile marked farmer 
access only, route comes to a dead end. Therefore I request that the route be 
struck from consideration”. 

 
1.5 Other Evidence In Relation To This Route 

 In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 
2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have made a 
comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks /paths that exist 
on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is still used extensively by 
walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a few horses and sheep were 
also on the site. Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the site can 
be zoned from a hazard point of view”.   

 
 They have also carried out a site visit and formed their opinion that the route around 

the farmyard exists. 
 
 Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 

Merthyr Village Ltd. And MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry.  The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land.  It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
 The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9.  An 

Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 

Page 872



 
 

refused to request an extension of the Order.  MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest and a candidate Site of 
Interest for Nature Conservation. 

 
 This route is within an area of Open Access Land which has been subject to a 

Restriction Order since summer 2006.   
 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
35 and the route around the farmyard, Cyfarthfa 139. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 They have considerable evidence of this route as a footpath. 
 
2.5 Due to the user evidence and the documentary evidence, this route is presented to 

you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
[historic]. 

 
3.0 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating 
that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way.  

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case Officers consider that it 

Page 873



 
 

would be the period between 8th January 1983 and 7th January 2003; extensive user 
evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
4.0 The Line of the Route 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 
4.2 The route around the farmyard is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
4.3 It is clear that this is a major route which is used as a means of accessing Open 

Access land and also a large number of other claimed PRoWs.  
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
5.1 The route has been depicted on a number of document and cartographic sources. 
 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
6.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track / path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
6.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. More 
specifically, the majority of this route (with the exception of a very short section 
through Gelli Du farmyard) were subject to a request for suspension under 
associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route (F and H) and thirty one others –to such a degree that this and they were made 
the subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
8.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
8.2 Twenty four people have given extensive evidence of use of this route for recreation 

and leisure as a footpath, one as a BOAT and two people have stated that they have 
ridden on it. 

Page 874



 
 

 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T.Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this 

is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 
workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1. Officers 
disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

Page 875



 
 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
9.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway.  There is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
1) Status: 

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of 
this route as a BOAT, bridleway and a footpath. 

 
Mr. Phelps’ evidence of use as a BOAT is insufficient to show usage as a 
Boat.  

 
Evidence of equestrian use is also insufficient for bridleway status. 

 
Officers therefore present this route for determination as a footpath. 
 
Officers also present the route around the farmyard for determination as a 
footpath. 

 
2) Period of use 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 

claimed, viz. over the relevant period and at all material times before it.        
 

Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and other 
interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a 
right of way does exist over this route. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilitie s all the requirements of S. 
31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application. It is considered that a presumption of  dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route. An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 

Page 876



 
 

Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
Your officers therefore recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement as depicted on the Plan, Appendix 4 and described above. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 

are asked to confirm:- 
 
 1) In respect of Cyfarthfa 35  Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line A-B-C-D on the plan on 
Appendix 4 has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not 
been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 

 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
 made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

 period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
 to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

Page 877



 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
 2) In respect of Cyfarthfa 139 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
 support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points B & C 
 on the plan on Appendix 4 has been used for such period so as to 
 raise  presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and 
 that the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

 Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 

 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
 made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

 period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
 to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1 
and 2 above. 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
  
 

Page 878



Page 879



Page 880

This page is intentionally left blank



 

21st March 2011 Report 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 17th January 2011 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Engineering, Highways & 

Transportation  
Committee Date 18th March 2011 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Determination of Application to Record a Public Rig ht of Way, 
Cyfarthfa 139 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Cyfarthfa 139 was determined in a Rights of Way 
Committee meeting of 20th January 2010, ratified in a meeting of Full Council, 3rd 
February 2010 and included in an unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order 
dated 9th February 2010; Cyfarthfa 139 had previously been approved by a Committee 
in October 2009; this decision was ratified by Council in November 2009; relevant 
sections of these Reports are also appended at the end of this item. 

 
Officers now state that the route recorded in the 2010 Order does not follow the 
precise alignment of the walked route and therefore requires amendment. The correct 
alignment of Cyfarthfa 139 is as depicted by the bold line between Points A  - B  - C – 
D on the plan, Cyfarthfa 139, Plan A. The dashed line between Points E - F on this 
plan is the incorrect alignment as recorded on the 2010 Order.  

              
The route, Cyfarthfa 139, which is before Committee today is as depicted by a bold line 
between Points A – B - C – D on the plan, Cyfarthfa 139, Plan B (the only plan referred 
to hereafter). It commences immediately south of a crossing point of the Nant Cwm 
Glo, at Point A, grid reference, SO03630560, its junction with Cyfarthfa 35 (a route on 
the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and Cyfarthfa 83 (a route approved by committee in 
November 2010). It proceeds through woodland between the northern boundary of the 
ruins of Gelli Du farmyard and the southern bank of the Nant Cwm Glo in a general 
north-easterly direction to Point B, grid reference SO03650561, where it changes to a 
general south-easterly direction and continues, entering a more open area, crossing 
Cyfarthfa 34 at Point C, grid reference SO03700555, where it changes to a general 
southerly direction and continues to terminate in an open grassed area on Cyfarthfa 35 
at grid reference SO03710554. 

 

Page 881



 

                                                                 
Councillors are also advised that a further route exists which adjoins Cyfarthfa 139. 
Discussions with users and further site visits have informed officers that an additional 
route exists between Cyfarthfa 35, Cyfarthfa 139 and Cyfarthfa 75 as depicted by a 
dashed line between Points E - F on the plan, Cyfarthfa 139, Plan B. This is known as 
Cyfarthfa 82. 

 
This route commences in an open grassed area, a point on Cyfarthfa 35, Point E, grid 
reference SO03690555 and proceeds in a general east-south-easterly direction for a 
very short distance to cross Cyfarthfa 139 at Point F and then continues to terminate at 
a point on Cyfarthfa 75, Point G, grid reference SO03760554. 

 
Land Ownership 

 
The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 
Aerial Photographs 

  
The claimed routes are clearly depicted on 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 

 
Site Visits 

 
MTCBC Officers have walked both routes on several occasions and found them as 
described above. 

 
Other walkers were observed on each occasion. 

 
 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first married and 

has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – including these paths - from this 
time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced.  He accesses them from a number of different 
directions, making a choice of the route on the ground when out walking. He uses 
them as sections of longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, has never had 
his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and does not recognise any 
obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower Colliers 
Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and 
at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at 
Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she and her family have walked 
the paths on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as an 
adult since the 1950s.   

Page 882



 

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, for example, to 
walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when the area was fenced. 
She accesses them from a number of different directions and then chooses which 
route to walk on the ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the 
whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never been challenged 
while using it and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2010. 

 

2.0 CONSULTATION 
 
 MTCBC Internal Departments 

 
No response received. 

  

3.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding Cyfarthfa 
139 and 82. 

 
 Status 
 
 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
 The routes have been claimed as footpaths. 
 
 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 

the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
 They have considerable evidence for use of these routes as footpaths. 
 
 Due to the user evidence and the documentary evidence, these routes are therefore 

presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of Section 53(3) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 
53(3)(c)(i) [historic]. 

 
 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 

Page 883



 

 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under S.31 (6) 
of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected any notice on site stating that the 
routes are not to become Public Rights of Way.  

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the rights of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way is 20 years prior to 
the date of the application itself. In this case this would be the period 3rd January 1983 
to 2nd January 2003. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration under Section 53(3)(b), the route, 

Cyfarthfa 139 and the other routes which are presented for determination today have 
been available for public use. 

 
 The Line of the Route 
 

Both routes are clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
 The routes have been available for public use as footpaths. 
 
 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
 The routes, Cyfarthfa 139 and 82 have been depicted on aerial photographs. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
 Aerial Photographs 
 
 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
 User Evidence 
 
 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence as described above. 
 
 Two people have given extensive evidence of use of this route for recreation and 

leisure as a footpath.  

4.0 SUMMARY 
 

Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways, and there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate them. 

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of these 
routes as footpaths. 

 

Page 884



 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 
claimed.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with users, claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and 
other interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that rights 
of way do exist over these routes. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilitie s all the requirements of S. 
31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he routes included on the 
application. It is considered that a presumption of  dedication has arisen and that 
this presumption has not been rebutted by sufficien t evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes. An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claims are based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of these routes under Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a highway, 
always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway are unlawful. 
It is Officers’ view here that these highways were established long before modern 
times and therefore continue to be highways despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requireme nts of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been 
met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 

Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors are 
asked to confirm:- 
 
1) In respect of Cyfarthfa 139: 

 Either 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support 

that the route marked with a bold line between Points A – B – C - D on 
the plan has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 139 as a Footpath. 

Page 885



 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations 
are made within the prescribed period or if any objections or 
representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to 
the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 Or 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has been 
rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council 
to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
2) In respect of Cyfarthfa 82: 

 Either 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support 

that the route marked with a bold line between Points E – F – G - H on 
the plan has been used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show Cyfarthfa 82 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations 
are made within the prescribed period or if any objections or 
representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order to 
the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 Or 
2) In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has been 
rejected and that they  Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision 
letter. 

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making o f the relevant Order as set out 
in 1 and 2 above. 
 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Page 886



P
age 887



P
age 888

T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 889



P
age 890

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 13th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 49 & Troedyrhiw 175 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The route  

 
 In October 2009 a report was presented to committee in respect of the 
 Parish Road which ran from Rhyd-y-car to Troedyrhiw. This was known 
 as and referred to as Troedyrhiw 49. That report is appended at the 
 end of this item. Also in October 2009 a report was presented to 
 committee in respect of a vehicular route that led from Heolgerrig to 
 Troedyrhiw. This was known as Troedyrhiw 175. Troedyrhiw 175 was 
 re-presented to committee in January 2010 as the incorrect route had 
 been followed. Both the 2009 and 2010 reports are appended at the 
 end of this item. 
 
 The plan, Parish Road, shows both the claimed routes. 
 
 The plan, Parish Road A shows the route claimed as Troedyrhiw 49: 
 Committee is required to note the following: 
 
 1. The section between Points A – B was extinguished under s116 
 Highways Act 1980 in September 2009. 
 
 2. The section between Points B – C is recorded correctly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as the whole 
 of Troedyrhiw 69.  
 
 3. The section between Points C – D is recorded incorrectly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as a section of 
 Troedyrhiw 49. 
 
 4. The section between Points D – E – F is recorded correctly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as a section of 
 Troedyrhiw 49. 

 

Agenda Item 33

Page 891



 
 5. The section between Points F – G is recorded correctly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as the whole 
 of Troedyrhiw 83. This route is already recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as a bridleway following a dedication of the route by the 
 Forestry Commission. 
 
 6. The section between Points G - H is recorded correctly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as the whole 
 of Troedyrhiw 185.  
 
 7. The section between Points H - I is recorded correctly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as the whole 
 of Troedyrhiw 82. This route is already recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as a bridleway following a dedication of the route by the 
 Forestry Commission. 
 
 The plan, Parish Road B shows the route claimed as Troedyrhiw 175: 
 Committee is required to note the following: 
 
 8. The section between Points J - K is recorded correctly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as the whole 
 of Cyfarthfa 135.  
 
 9. The section between Points K – M as shown by a dashed line is 
 recorded correctly as a bridleway on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as 
 the whole of Cyfarthfa 138. This section was established following the 
 blocking of a culvert in December 1979 when a section of the road was 
 washed away.  
 
 10. The section between Points L – M - C is recorded correctly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as the whole 
 of Troedyrhiw 44.  
 
 11. The section between Points C – N - D is recorded incorrectly 
 as a restricted byway on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as a section of 
 Troedyrhiw 175. 
 
 12. The section between Points C – Q – N as shown by a dashed 
 line is  recorded correctly as a restricted byway on the unconfirmed 
 2010 Order as the whole of Troedyrhiw 184.  
 
 13. The section between Points D - E – F is recorded correctly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as a section of 
 Troedyrhiw 49.  
  
 14. The section between Points F - O is recorded correctly as a 
 byway open to all traffic on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as a section of 
 Troedyrhiw 83.  
 

Page 892



 15. The section between Points O - P is recorded correctly as a 
 restricted byway on the unconfirmed 2010 Order as the whole of 
 Troedyrhiw 84.  
 
 Committee is advised that the route shown with a bold line on the plan, 
 Parish Road C between Points C – N  - D – E – F is the correct 
 alignment of the Parish Road and that this is known as Troedyrhiw 175 
 and is a BOAT. 
 
 Committee is further advised that the route shown with a dashed line 
 on the plan, Parish Road Plan C between Points C – D is actually 
 footpath Y as referred to in the NCB applications of 1966 and 1970. 
 
 Committee is required to determine Troedyrhiw 49 as depicted 
 between Points C – D as a footpath and Troedyrhiw 175 between 
 Points C – N – D – E – F  as a BOAT.  
 
1.2 Background Information 
 

Troedyrhiw 175 formed part of the Application to Suspend Public Right 
of Way which accompanied the Planning Applications by the National 
Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was depicted as a section of a 
vehicular route on the NCB Map and was described in detail in 
paragraph 6(d)(iii) of the roads and footpaths public section in the 
NCB’s Application which states: 

  
 “Part of a track which is used by vehicles commences at a point 
 lettered “A” on Map No. 2 approximately 120 yards West of Llwyncelyn 
 and runs in a generally southerly direction across the site past Lower 
 Colliers Row and continues across the Parish Road (at a point lettered 
 “B” on Map 2) and later across an iron bridge spanning the disused  the 
 disused Merthyr Branch Railway to a point (lettered “C” on Map No. 2) 
 where it leaves the site in the South Eastern corner. After leaving the 
 site the track extends in different directions, firstly to Waunwyllt Farm, 
 secondly as a bridleway to Upper Abercanaid and thirdly as a footpath 
 to the disused Waunwyllt Colliery”. 

 
The NCB’s Statement of Case which accompanied the Footpath 
Application stated that the Board was making application:  
 

“for suspension of three routes which may have also been used 
by vehicular traffic, namely … parts of the track from Upper 
Colliers Row to the bridge nearest to the North Eastern end of 
the Merthyr Railway Tunnel”’.  

 
Troedyrhiw 175 is a section of this named route. 
 
Further this route, Troedyrhiw 175 was included in the 1986 and 1988 
National Coal Board Opencast Executive Applications as most of 
Bridleway No. 24 which was described in the Schedule at Paragraph 8, 

Page 893



 
 “Part of Bridleway No.24, being that part which extends from its 

junction with the public road leading to “Upper Colliers Row” at a 
point approximately 105 metres west of the property known as 
“Llwyncelyn House” in a general south-south-easterly direction 
to a point approximately 380 metres north-east of the ruin known 
as “Waunwyllt”. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Troedyrhiw 175 is one of the routes the 
Inspector referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning 
appeal for the two Merthyr Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were 
determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  
 
Troedyrhiw 49 formed part of the Application to Suspend which 
accompanied the Planning Applications by the National Coal Board 
(NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It is depicted as a section of Footpath Y on 
the NCB Map and described in paragraph 25 of the NCB’s Footpath 
Application:  

 
“A footpath delineated and marked as “Footpath Y” on the Map 
which runs from a point (numbered 55 on the Map) on a 
vehicular track approximately 100 yards South East of No. 1 
Lower Colliers Row and extends for about 440 yards in a South 
Easterly direction to converge with the said vehicular track at a 
point (numbered 56 on the map) about 570 yards West South 
West of Glyndyrys House and diverge therefrom in a South 
Westerly direction for about 370 yards to a point (numbered 58 
on the map) at Cwm Pit”. 

 
The remainder of Footpath Y is recorded in the unconfirmed 2010 
Order as a footpath depicted as Troedyrhiw 66. 

 
Footpath Y was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the 
Vehicular Routes Application to suspend Public Right of Way.  

 
Committee is referred to the reports appended to this item which 
provide all the historic, cartographic, user evidence and miscellaneous 
evidence and information in relation to these two routes. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by recording Troedyrhiw 49 and Troedyrhiw 175 at the 
correct status and along the correct alignment. 

 
2.2 Status 
 
2.3 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 Byway Open to All Traffic.  

Page 894



 
2.4 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.5 Evidence has been adduced from maps, literature and documents 

which indicate that the route of Troedyrhiw 175 is part of the Parish 
Road and therefore supports the creation of a BOAT, under Section 
53(3)(c)(i). Sections of this route are metalled signifying that it was 
intended for vehicular use. 

 
2.6 Evidence has been adduced from maps, literature and documents 

which indicate that the route of Troedyrhiw 49 is a footpath. 
 
2.7 The routes are therefore presented to you for consideration under two 

sub-sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; 
namely Section 53(3)(b) [long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) [historic]. 

 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the PRoW. 

  
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself. In this case there are a number of applications for this route and 
there is evidence of obstruction.  Evidence exists however, for 
whichever 20 year period of use is applied. 

 
The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / 
map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected 
a notice on site stating that the route is not to become a Public Right of 
Way.  

 
Councillors will note information supplied in the appended reports 
before them that the path has been enjoyed by the public as of right 
and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the way 
deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 A factor that needs to be borne in mind is that there has been a barring 

of the way in 1975 when the tenant, Mr. Davies, erected a gate. The 
correspondence within the Merthyr Tydfil Borough file indicates that 
this gate was erected for the purpose of preventing cattle straying and 
for the prevention of gypsies entering the tenant’s land and further that 
Mr. Davies seemed to accept that he needed permission for the gates, 

Page 895



i.e. he accepted the public right of way at this point. This being so it 
seems to Officers that this was not a challenge which would bring the 
right of way into question. 

 
 Councillors are requested to note that extensive user evidence exists 
 for the entire period. 
 

During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
available for public use. 

 
Councillors will recollect that the historical and documentary evidence 
indicates that this way, Troedyrhiw 175, has existed since the early 19th 
century if not before. 

 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route Troedyrhiw 172 is discernible on the ground.  Troedyrhiw 49 
is  not discernible on the ground. 
 
4.2 Councillors are reminded that by 1998 the route of the Parish Road 
 had changed.  This was due to the deposition of material from the 
 construction of the A470 within the mid 1990’s.  Councillors are 
 requested to note that they are looking at the route in existence pre – 
 the date of the claim and not what is currently in situ.  
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track/path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account the user evidence 

described in the appended reports.  
 
6.2 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 
 

The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for 
open cast mining which were either withdrawn or refused at Public 
Inquiry. 
 

Page 896



More specifically a section of this route in the north was subject to a 
request for suspension as a vehicular route under associated 
application in 1966 and 1970. 

 
Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive map 
or Statement at either of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its 
successors recognised this route and thirty two others –to such a 
degree that this and they were made the subject of legal applications to 
suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
 as highways, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate it. 
 

1) Status: 
 

 Officers have presented extensive historic as well as equestrian and 
 pedestrian user evidence for the existence of Troedyrhiw 175 as a 
 track, bridleway and footpath since the 1930s to the present day. 
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 175 as a BOAT. 
 
 Officers have presented extensive historic evidence for the existence of 
 Troedyrhiw 49 as a footpath. Officers present Troedyrhiw 49 as a 
 footpath. 
 

2) Period of use 
 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
the rights now claimed, viz. over the relevant periods described above 
and at all material times before.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the interviews with claimants, users, tenants of the land, 
local people, landowners and other interested parties, and having 
taken into account the information received from interested parties both 
prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that  rights of 
way do exist over these routes. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route 
included on the application. It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the routes. Orders to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

Page 897



 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 
Taking the above into account, Orders to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exists. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.     

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 49 
  

Page 898



 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a dashed line 
between Points C - D on the Plan, Parish Road C, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 49 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 In respect of Troedyrhiw 175 

  
 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 

to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points C – N – D - E – F on the Plan, Parish Road C, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a byway open to all traffic, and 
that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
175 as a byway open to all traffic. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set 
out above. 
 

Page 899



 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 49 
Troedyrhiw 175 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 900



AB
C

D
E

F

G

H

I

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:12,578
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

PARISH ROAD PLAN A

Page 901



Page 902

This page is intentionally left blank



J

K L
M

C
Q

N

D

E

F

O

P

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:9,715
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

PARISH ROAD PLAN B

Page 903



Page 904

This page is intentionally left blank



C

N

D

E

F

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:4,857
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

PARISH ROAD PLAN C

Page 905



Page 906

This page is intentionally left blank



5th October 2009 Report 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC RIG HT OF 
WAY, BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC, TROEDYRHIW 49.  

 
 
Unless otherwise stated, all Public Rights of Way in this Item are claimed Public Rights of 
Way. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The majority of this route forms the Parish Road between Merthyr Tydfil (Rhydycar) 
and Abercanaid. 

 
A claim to record a Public Right of Way (BOAT and bridleway) from a point adjacent 
to the A470 roundabout at Gethin Woods along the Parish Road to Rhydycar was 
submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 2nd November 1990. This 
was originally known as claim A763/4/67 (Claim 1) and to date, this route has been 
divided into a number of sections: 

 
1. The extreme eastern section of this claim, between Old Rhydycar and 

Cyfarthfa 9 (on the Definitive Map and Statement) has been stopped-up by a 
Side Road Order in 1994 and a Magistrates Court Order in September 2009. 

 
2. The section of this claim immediately west of Bridleway Cyfarthfa 9 to its 

common junction with Troedyrhiw 44 and 69 is dealt with as a section of 
Troedyrhiw 69 in this Report . 

 
3. The route southward from the common junction described immediately above 

to the common junction with Troedyrhiw 66 and 175 overlaps the claimed 
route for Troedyrhiw 66. This section is dealt with in this item. 

 
4. Two sections to the south of the iron bridge, over the (disused) Vale of Neath 

Railway have been the subject of an of dedication by the Forestry 
Commission; the legal process is currently being undertaken (Troedyrhiw 82 
and 83).   

 
5. A further section of this route, between the two Forestry Commission routes 

remains a section of Troedyrhiw 49, as dealt with in this item. 
 

Some of these sections have been subject to a number of other claims for PRoWs. 
 

A claim to record a Public Right of Way (restricted byway) from the western end of 
the Spur Road to the ruins of Hendre Fawr was submitted to MTCBC on 6th June 
2008 (Claim 2).   This is dealt with as Troedyrhiw 69 in this Report. 

 

Page 907



A claim to record a PRoW (footpath) from a point to the east of Cyfarthfa 9 to 
Melincanaid was submitted to MTCBC on 21st March 2002. This is dealt with in 
Troedyrhiw 69. 
 
 An application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of PRoWs 
across land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and described 
respectively on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule referred to 
below. This was the route which is depicted as “Footpath Y” on the NCB Map and 
described in paragraph 25 of the Schedule. A section of this route is a section of 
Troedyrhiw 49 and the remainder is dealt with as Troedyrhiw 66. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Appendix 24, the original claimed route, Troedyrhiw 49, 
commences at Point A, grid reference, SO 04900521, at Rhydycar. It proceeds 
westward near to the roundabout on the A470(T) to Point B, grid reference, SO 
04670519, the western end of the Spur Road. It proceeds to Point C, SO 04520499 
the junction of Troedyrhiw 44 and 69. This is an open area which was subject to 
remediation following the collapse of a ventilation shaft in January 2008. The route 
proceeds up the slope of a spoil tip then continues in a general south-south-easterly 
direction, sweeping to a general south-south-westerly direction on a well-used and 
well-defined track over a plateau of made-up ground which was formed from the 
tipping of waste material during the building of the A470 in 1995. By 1998 the route 
had changed due to the deposition of material and the route has become realigned. 
Councillors must note that they are determining the claimed route. They are 
requested to note that it is impossible to measure or ensure the precise line of the 
original route over this section.  

 
The route slopes very gradually downhill into an area of woodland and marsh where 
the route is a well-defined earth/compacted small coal track. It crosses the common 
junction of Troedyrhiw 66 and 175 point D grid reference SO 04620457 and then 
changes to a general south-easterly direction as it continues to Point E, the iron 
bridge over the Vale of Neath Railway, grid reference, SO 04490427.  

 
From this point southwards the Forestry Commission has offered to dedicate the 
track as a bridleway, Troedyrhiw 82, and the legal process is being undertaken. The 
track is clearly defined, going gradually uphill and running between hedges or 
fences; it demonstrates an old stone surface in sections – although sections are now 
badly eroded. Troedyrhiw 83 terminates at Point F, grid reference SO 04890373.  At 
the crossroads south of point E the route crosses a dedication by the Forestry 
Commission.  The legal process is currently being undertaken.  At the top of the field 
above Point F a further route offered for dedication by Forestry Commission joins 
Troedyrhiw 49.  The legal process is currently being undertaken. 

 
The claimed route continues in a general south-easterly direction on the well-defined 
track and passes Graig Farm on the west as the land levels off. It then goes 
gradually downhill to Point G, grid reference SO 04990351 a barrier (erected by the 
Forestry Commission) with a pedestrian and equestrian gap to the side.  

 
Troedyrhiw 82 passes two offered dedication by the Forestry Commission.  The legal 
process is currently being undertaken; they lead to Webbers Pond.  The route 
continues southwards on Troedyrhiw 83 to terminate near the roundabout on the 

Page 908



A470(T), south of Gethin Woodland Car Park, Point I, grid reference SO 06020304.  
A barrier exists at point H, grid reference SO 05920305. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd., Forestry Commission and an unknown 
owner. Letters sent to Graig Farm by PRoW Officers have been returned to MTCBC 
unopened and marked “address unknown”. 

 
1.3 Maps  
 

With the exception of a short section north of the iron bridge, both sections are 
depicted on the tithe map. 

 
Both routes are clearly marked on the 1875 OS map.  

 
The northern section of Troedyrhiw 49 follows the line of the Cwm Pit Railway and 
the remainder of both routes is clearly depicted on a 1919 edition of the OS. 

 
Both routes are marked in their entirety on 1957 and 1978 editions of the OS and the 
southern section of Troedyrhiw 49 and the entire route of Troedyrhiw 185 are 
depicted on the 2005 edition. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

Both sections are clearly depicted on a 1967 and a 2008 aerial photograph.  
 

In relation to the 2008 photograph however, Councillors are requested to note 
Officers’ concerns as to the precise line of the route in the north. 

 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

The northern section of Troedyrhiw 49 formed part of the Application to Suspend 
which accompanied the Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 
1966 and 1970. It is depicted as a section of Footpath Y on the NCB Map and 
described in a paragraph 25 of the NCB’s Footpath Application:  

 
“A footpath delineated and marked as “Footpath Y” on the Map which runs 
from a point (numbered 55 on the Map) on a vehicular track approximately 
100 yards South East of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row and extends for about 440 
yards in a South Easterly direction to converge with the said vehicular track at 
a point (numbered 56 on the map) about 570 yards West South West of 
Glyndyrys House and diverge therefrom in a South Westerly direction for 
about 370 yards to a point (numbered 58 on the map) at Cwm Pit”. 

 
The remainder of Footpath Y is dealt with as Troedyrhiw 66, in this Report. 

 

Page 909



Footpath Y was joined by vehicular routes in the north and in the south, both subject 
to the Application for Suspension. 

 
Footpath Y was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes 
Application. 
 
Troedyrhiw 49 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was 
depicted as a section of a vehicular route on the NCB Map and was described in 
detail in paragraph 6(d)(iii) of the roads and footpaths public section in the NCB’s 
Application which states: 

  
“Part of a track which is used by vehicles commences at a point lettered “A” on Map 
No. 2 approximately 120 yards West of Llwyncelyn and runs in a generally southerly 
direction across the site past Lower Colliers Row and continues across the Parish 
Road (at a point lettered “B” on Map 2) and later across an iron bridge spanning the 
disused  the disused Merthyr Branch Railway to a point (lettered “C” on Map No. 2) 
where it leaves the site in the South Eastern corner. After leaving the site the track 
extends in different directions, firstly to Waunwyllt Farm, secondly as a bridleway to 
Upper Abercanaid and thirdly as a footpath to the disused Waunwyllt Colliery”. 

 
The NCB’s Statement of Case which accompanied the Footpath Application stated 
that the Board was making application:  
 

“for suspension of three routes which may have also been used by vehicular 
traffic, namely … parts of the track from Upper Colliers Row to the bridge 
nearest to the North Eastern end of the Merthyr Railway Tunnel”’.  

 
Troedyrhiw 49 is a section of this named route. 
 
This route was included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board Opencast 
Executive Applications as most of Bridleway No. 24 which was described in the 
Schedule at Paragraph 8, 

 
 “Part of Bridleway No.24, being that part which extends from its junction with 

the public road leading to “Upper Colliers Row” at a point approximately 105 
metres west of the property known as “Llwyncelyn House” in a general south-
south-easterly direction to a point approximately 380 metres north-east of the 
ruin known as “Waunwyllt”. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Troedyrhiw 49 is one of the routes the Inspector 
referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr 
Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.5b Side Roads Order 
 

Further evidence of the existence of this route is found in the Inspector’s Report of a 
Public Inquiry held on the 15th – 17th June 1993 into an Application by the Welsh 
Office for Authorisation of the Cardiff-Glan Conwy Trunk Road (A470) (Pentrebach-
Cefn Coed Diversion) Order 199, the Cardiff-Glan Conwy Trunk Road (A470) 

Page 910



(Pentrebach-Cefn Coed Diversion, Side Roads) Order 199, the Cardiff-Glan Conwy 
Trunk Road (A470) (Pentrebach-Cefn Coed Diversion, Side Roads) (Supplementary) 
Order 199, the Cardiff-Glan Conwy Trunk Road (A470) (Pentrebach-Cefn Coed 
Diversion) Compulsory Purchase Order 199 and the Application for Certificates 
under S.19(1)b and Schedule 3 Paragraph 6(1) of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981. 

 
At Paragraph 3.48 the Inspector states: 

 
“Much of the bypass covered an area which was criss-crossed with a number 
of “claimed” byways, bridleways and footpaths. For most of the area no 
Definitive Map existed of the rights-of-way, although Mid Glamorgan County 
Council was in the process of completing a review”. 

 
He continues at Paragraph 3.49, 

 
“The aim of the new scheme had been to maintain, wherever possible, the 
existing network of routes. Primary rights-of-way would be routed over or 
under the new trunk road, whilst other routes would be provided with 
connections to the primary rights of way…”. 

 
At Paragraph 3.55 the Inspector states: 

 
“Pedestrians would not be provided with crossing facilities at the Rhyd y Car 
roundabout. Users of the Parish Road would be diverted via a new path and 
footbridge”. 

 
In his Finding of Facts at 5.33, the Inspector states, 

 
“Pedestrian facilities would not be provided at the roundabout at Rhyd y Car. 
A new path and footbridge would be available for users of the Parish Road”. 

 
This refers to the  north eastern section of Troedyrhiw 49 but demonstrates that at 
this time it is clear that the existence of this entire route as a section of the Parish 
Road was recognized by the Inspector and the Welsh Office. 

 
In the Cardiff - Glan Conwy Trunk Road (A470) (Pentrebach – Cefn Coed Diversion, 
Side Roads) Order 1994 a section of the original Parish Road was stopped-up. It 
was described: 

 
“Schedule Two, Site Plan Two (where it was depicted), Rhyd y Car Footpaths 
and Other Alterations, Highways to be stopped Up, Reputed byway ref. 2/1 
from a point 54m south-west of existing entrance to old Rhyd-y-Car, generally 
westwards for a distance of 140m”. 

 
It was replaced by the Spur Road (described in the document as “GG”) and 
Bridleway Cyfarthfa 9 (described as “FF”). 

 
In addition, the Parish Road south of this route and extending to Ash Road, 
Troedyrhiw was extinguished by a Side Road Order.  This was the Cardiff-Llangurig 
Trunk Road (Abercynon – Pentrebach Diversion Side Roads/Order 1979 as 

Page 911



amended by the Cardiff-Llangurig Trunk Road (Abercynon –Pentrebach Diversion 
Side Roads) Order 1981 as amended by The Cardiff – Llangurig Trunk Road 
(Abercynon – Pentrebach Diversion Side Roads/Order 1979 (Variation) Order 1982. 
 
The Parish Road is clearly defined on the 1979 Order as “unclassified road from 
Dynevor Arms to Graig Gethin” and is referred to at P9 of the attached schedule. 

 
1.6 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

The original claimed route of Troedyrhiw 49 forms a section of two routes Numbers 
12 and 13: 
 

“12. From the Parish Road via Waunwyllt Farm to Aberdare. 
13.  From the Parish Road via Waunwyllt Farm to Troedyrhiw”. 

 
1.7 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

The 1979 Draft Map depicts Troedyrhiw 49 as a section of Bridleway 24 which is 
described in the statement,  

  
“Commences at junction with B.R. 20 and F.P’s. 21 and 25 and proceeds in a 
north westerly direction over Footbridge and then in a north easterly and north 
westerly direction following well defined track under disused incline around 
subsided road passed Upper Wern to its termination with County Highway”. 

 
The entire length of Bridleway 24 was 1400 yards and the width was given as 6 foot.  

 
Troedyrhiw 185 is depicted as sections of Footpath 18 and Bridleway 20 which are 
described in the statements, 

 
“ 18    F.P 
Commences at the west end of bridge near Castle levels and proceeds in a north 
westerly direction between mound and hill over three small streams to its termination 
at gate and stile and F.P. 19 and 20”, 

 
and 

 
 “20  B.R. 

Commences at junction with F.P. 18 and 19 near “Graig Farm” and proceeds 
generally in a north westerly direction passing Graig Farm and continuing along track 
with trees and hedges on both sides generally downhill to its termination with F. P’s. 
21, 24 and 25.” 
 
The whole route is also depicted on the 1991 Draft Map as sections of Bridleways 
18, 20 and 24. 

 
1.8 Obstruction 
 

In January 1975, a section of Troedyrhiw 69 was subject to a complaint concerning 
an obstruction, a locked gate, erected in the eastern section. 

Page 912



 
A letter of 5th June 1975 indicates that the tenant of the land, Mr. R. Davies of 2, 
Coronation Terrace, Heolgerrig, recognised the fact that this route was a public right 
of way and that he needed permission for the gate to remain (although unlocked) in 
order to contain stock and to exclude gypsies. 

 
A memo from the Mid Glamorgan County Council Highways and Transportation 
Department of 26th November 1975 indicated the perceived status of this route at 
that time. The memo is headed “ Public Highway from Rhydycar to the site of the 
former Colliers Row” and states,  
 

“… The Clerk’s position is that the H.A. is not empowered to allow gates on 
County Roads (only footpaths & bridleways) & as the Boro Co. made the 
Complaint some action must be taken, despite the limited public utility of this 
“old parish road”. 

 
Correspondence of February 1976 demonstrates that a subsequent tenant, Miss 
Clayton, produced two written statements (one from Mr. R. Davies) which contained 
recollections of an earlier gate on or about this position. 

 
Further correspondence of 15 October 1976 gives the view of an officer on behalf of 
the Mid Glamorgan County Engineer and Surveyor that the status of this route would 
be that of a public footpath. He adds,  

 
“The Borough Council’s view is that to the best of their knowledge, this right of 
way has been used for many years by horseriders prior to its gating, although 
there is no documentary evidence”.  

 
1.9 Site Visits 
 

Officers have walked this route on a number of occasions, both to identify its line and 
also to access other routes.  

 
It was found as in the description above; there was always evidence of equestrian 
use and other walkers and joggers were seen on every occasion. 

 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Troedyrhiw 49, was issued in June 2008.  
 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 

 
1.3a The Claim 
 

Page 913



1.3a(1)The main claimant for Claim 1, Mr Philip Watkins, submitted: 
 

5 correctly completed evidence forms, all claiming this route as a Byway Open to All 
Traffic (BOAT), three giving evidence as a BOAT, one as a bridleway and one 
demonstrating general use. 
a copy of a current OS map with the claimed route coloured green and yellow,   
correctly completed Form WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map),  
and correctly completed Form WCA 7 (Confirmation that the landowner had been 
notified). 

 
1.3a(2)The main claimant for Claim 2, Mr Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 
 

six correctly completed evidence forms giving evidence over 20, 30, 55, 58, 67 and 
71 years, 
Ordnance Survey extract depicting the claimed route, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (application to modify the Definitive Map), 
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier),  
a detailed schedule of the claimed route, 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red,  
a copy of an extract from the tithe map with the claimed route coloured red, 
extract from Merthyr Historian Vol. VI mentioning the route between Lower Colliers 
Row and Hendre Fawr, 
four extracts from Historic Taff Valleys, Vol. 3,  two maps showing eastern and 
western sections of claimed route, both marked ‘Parish Road’; copy of text 
mentioning the claimed route and copy of text describing the Parish Road at the 
eastern end, 

  two extracts from History of the Hamlet of Gellideg, a map showing the claimed route 
and text ‘the Parish Road leading from Merthyr to Hendre Fawr and the mountain 
top’,  
 a photograph showing a locked gate on the claimed route, and 
 extracts from Rhyd–y-Car Archaeological Assessment mentioning footpaths, tracks, 
by ways and bridleways and also a summary of an old route from Melincanaid to 
Rhyd-y-car. 

  
1.3a(3)The claimant for the third claim, Mr Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, 

submitted: 
 
 A copy of an OS map depicting the claimed route, 

correctly completed form WCA 5 (application to modify the Definitive Map) and, 
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served 
notice on the owner/occupier),  

 
1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
1.3b(1)Mr Philip Watkins described his claim, the original route of Troedyrhiw 49 which he 

stated he has used all of his life. He also stated that use of this route is part of the 
history of Merthyr; Tydfil’s brother, Rhun, fought a battle at Pont y Rhun then he and 
his brothers went up the Parish Road – this route. Mr Watkins said that this was an 

Page 914



obvious ancient route in the north with ancient banks and hedges – now disappeared 
when the A470 was constructed  - so he cannot guarantee that this northern section 
is the ancient route.  

 
Mr. Watkins explained the background to his claims. He stated that when proposals 
for the A470(T) were first made known, local people saw that the proposals did not 
allow public access onto routes which they had used all their lives without thought. 
They had been very concerned and set up a committee in a local public house to 
discuss the routes and how to claim them. At that time they also had the idea of the 
Taff Trail and made a number of claims for this. The Ramblers Association and 
Groundwork Trust gave them advice and help. Many villagers attended the 
meetings, gave witness statements and everybody recalled where they walked and 
then signed their statements. Mr. Watkins explained that the OS had an office by 
Pioneer/Co-op and they used the facilities there. 

 
They took advice from the Ramblers Association to apply for the Parish Road at 
Graig Road and this went to Public Inquiry at Pentrebach when a number of PRoWs 
were created and the BOAT westward from Abercanaid. 

 
He stated that he had regularly ridden a horse on this route with his brother-in-law 
(Mr. Kenneth Deen, another claimant); although there was a gate near Graig Farm, 
this was never locked. 

 
Mr Watkins stated “the only thing I remember going along there was horses” but had 
claimed the route as a BOAT under pressure from other villagers. He amended this 
by saying that he had also used this route on occasion on motorbike. He also stated 
that there was an annual motor bike ride from the College Car Park along 
Troedyrhiw 49 to Anthony Grove, Abercanaid. He thinks this dates from the 1950s – 
but confirms that he remembers this happening throughout the late 1960s and early 
1970s. 

 
The village committee which had been formed to submit claims had done so to 
protect the village but Mr Watkins thinks that in claiming a BOAT they had 
inadvertently made a “rat run” and would cause a danger for the village - particularly 
if the route could be used by heavy vehicles. He also pointed out the problems 
created by joy riders. 

 
1.3b(2)Mrs Anita Deen also referred to the entire original route of Troedyrhiw 49. She 

stated that she has walked this all her life; for pleasure, recreation, and as short cuts 
to farms or different places. She was taken on this route by her grandfather and her 
parents and also took her own children there. Mrs Deen referred to this route as the 
Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Deen pointed out that there used to be access onto the Parish Road if you 
carried straight on from Gethin Farm instead of turning right to Webbers Pond. Once 
you were on the Parish Road there were no gates except for one near the farm close 
to Gethin Woodland Park picnic area. The gates were never locked but they did have 
a self closing mechanism on them with weights attached to the gates so that they 
would shut and keep the animals in. 

 

Page 915



To get to the Parish Road, Webbers Pond and to the rest of the mountain Mrs Deen 
said that they always used the bridge (a major stone bridge) over the railway line 
until they took this bridge down in the 1970s. To get to the stone bridge Mrs Deen 
used to walk along a very-well worn pathway. All rights of way on other side still 
remained. 

 
Mrs Deen has only stopped walking this route due to medical conditions. 

 
1.3b(3)Mr Kenneth Deen said that he and many other people that he knows have used this 

route as a bridleway. He has used it regularly all of his life and only stopped because 
of medical conditions.  
 

1.3b(4)Mr Robert Holdaway stated that he rode horses every morning for about 30 years 
when younger. Troedyrhiw 49 was a section of one of several circular routes he used 
to access the top of the mountain, up to Heolgerrig and returning to Abercanaid.  

 
Mr. Holdaway’s evidence demonstrates use from 1961 onwards. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr. Vivien Elliot telephoned the Rights of Way Project Officer and requested a 

meeting to discuss his use of paths in the West Merthyr area. 
 

He described in detail how he has regularly walked on a minimum of 23 of the routes 
in Items 2 - 40 in this Report and detailed the way in which the routes link to form 
circular walks. 

 
Mr. Elliot explained that he had been brought up at Riverside then went to his brother 
in Cae Draw so that the whole area of West Merthyr and in particular, the Merthyr 
Village Site, had been his play area. He had gone all over the Merthyr Village area 
and the Gethin Woods area using the claimed PRoWs, for example, fishing and 
picking nuts, strawberries and blackberries.  

 
He stated, 
 

“Why do we have to fight for these rights of way? People have been using 
these for hundreds of years. People didn’t walk the roads, they walked the 
mountains. My father died when he was 86. My mother came from Aberaman 
to Cae Draw and her family, Gibbons, wheeled barrels of vinegar from 
Thomas St., Cae Draw to Aberdare. Also Powells, the butter merchant and 
Webley, markets, they all used the Penylan route over the mountain. 

 
The Mountain Ash Road to Troedyrhiw to Merthyr; they were all linked. The 
road went to the bottom of Troedyrhiw. 

 
There are no walkways on that mountain where people haven’t walked”. 

 
In relation to this particular route, Mr. Elliot maintains that he drove down to 
Abercanaid. He also described how Mr Davies (Waun Wyllt) used this route to drive 
down to Abercanaid and Bryn (Hendre Fawr) went to school, down the Parish road 
to Abercanaid, “there were no gates or anything”. He thinks that the building of the 
A470 destroyed many of the walks. 

Page 916



 
He has recently been challenged by Mr. Wyn Hollaway whilst walking his terriers on 
Troedyrhiw 49 – but this is the only time he has ever been challenged anywhere in 
the west Merthyr area. 

 
Mr. Elliot ’s evidence covers the period between 1930 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(6)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives.  

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and she and her husband lived at Lower 
Colliers Row when they were first married.  

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used this and many others of the claimed 
routes, for example, to walk their dogs, – even after being prevented from doing so 
when the area was fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged and neither has had any interest in the site. 

 
Mr Connolly stated that this is a very prominent footpath and very well used. He has 
once driven to the ironbridge  in a car along the dismantled railway – but he usually 
walked it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period 1945 – 2008 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period 1965 – 2008. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr. Morgan Harris stated of the Merthyr Village Site, 
 

“I use this area for pleasure now but I’ve always used it. I also used to go to 
visit friends at the farm and I’ve used all these paths for at least 60 years. I 
have always used the paths on a regular basis, in my youth I was always up 
there playing, setting the ferns on fire, and since I’ve retired I’m there 
everyday. I rode there all the time when I was younger, I kept horses in 
RhydyCar and I rode after work most nights, I was living in Cae Draw. Now I 
only walk there, mostly in the evenings. 

 
“Charlotte Connelly lived up Colliers Row. They were going to take away 
Malcolm Connelly’s land for building and that’s why he did these claims.” 

 
Mr. Harris stated that he uses far more paths than he actually claimed and described 
these. He said that he has never been challenged on any or them or sought or been 
given permission to use any of them. 

 

Page 917



He said, 
 

“I took my children there and I take my grandchildren there. When I was young we 
always went there as a group of boys, sometimes we’d be riding there, the boys from 
Rhyd y Car would come up the path. I always see other people when I’m up there 
walking now”. 
 
He has always assumed he has a right to go anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site; 
he has never been challenged while using the route and has never asked permission 
of anyone to use it. He has often seen others using it.  

 
Mr. Harris’ evidence covers the period between 1947 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born. For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
“I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

Page 918



 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(9)Mr. Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Charlotte Connolly 

at Lower Colliers Row and lived there when he was first married in 1955. He has 
used this route regularly both when young and later, for family walks when he and 
his wife and children walked this route and all of the claimed routes to the north of it 
as well as the ones south to the Cwm Pits area. They lived there for 32 years before 
moving to Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely 
area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site 
as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 4 years 
but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for family walks on 
the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that. Both stated that they have walked on 
the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
He stated that because of ill health he has not walked as much during the last 3 or 4 
years as he had previously. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own land in West Merthyr). 

 
Mr. and Mrs Rees stated that when married they lived at Lower Colliers Row and 
had a car which they used on the tarmac path up to Llwyncelyn and Upper Colliers 
Row and on the tarmac path over to Rhydycar. They also stated that the track up to 
Melincanaid had a tarmac surface at that time. They both referred to all of these 
routes as Parish Roads but said that the one to the south (Troedyrhiw 49) did not 
have a tarmac surface. 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on this path regularly – just going out for 
a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 

Page 919



“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Megan Rees lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was first married in 1955 
and stated that she was regularly driven on this and another claimed route into Rhyd 
y Car (this is the eastern section of Troedyrhiw 49). Mrs Rees also used it regularly 
for family walks. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(10)Mrs Kim Davies has ridden whole of the West Merthyr area regularly for over 30 

years and was the bridleway officer for the British Horse Society for 6 years. Mrs 
Davies lives at Abercanaid and uses this route to access the whole of Mynydd 
Aberdâr. 

 
She stated: 

 
“I used to go every day training horses for the Wales & Border Counties, this 
was from 1980 up until 2 years ago. I used to do this with three horses, that is 
I rode 3 times each way, every day. I don’t think that there is a single track 
that I haven’t ridden on.” 

 
Mrs Davies took a number of other riders with her and says she has a number of  
people ready and available to give evidence of riding these routes. 

Page 920



 
Mrs Davies gave extensive evidence of having ridden – and taken many other horse 
riders – on this track on a regular basis for at least 30 years. She uses this route as 
part of several circular routes she knows. She gave evidence of use for a minimum 
of 30 years during which time she has ridden the entire route of Troedyrhiw 49 
regularly. 

 
Mrs Davies stated that she knows area very well, “every nook and cranny of the  
Forestry Commission land and the Merthyr Village Site” but is not happy following 
the routes on a map. She added, “My husband would give evidence too because he  
knows it as well as I do”. Mrs Davies stated that she often used to take little routes  
off the tracks as well as the tracks themselves. 
 
In response to the question of whether she ever saw anyone else using the same – 
or other – route, Mrs Davies replied, 

 
“Absolutely loads – I used to go (this was before Jill Tracy started going) up 
the Parish Road and up the steep road that links up with Mountain Ash and 
meet a girl and few horse riders from Mountain Ash”. 

 
Mrs Davies also replied to a question as to whether she had ever been challenged 
over her use of these routes and stated, 

“Challenge? – never, ever, not for over 30 years.  In fact, even when they 
were drilling, no-one ever asked, in fact, I asked them what they were doing”. 

Mrs Davies also pointed out that over the years quite a few obstructions had been  
added. She stated, 

 
“Bit by bit been fenced off for different purposes. 

 Waun Wyllt Farm for example, Margaret Clayton would never stop any of us 
going through the farm – but we always closed the gates. 

 
Mrs Davies also saw one of girls she had taught to ride who now works in an 
adjacent office to that of the Public Rights of Way Department. Emma Lewis stated 
that she was one of a group of 7 or 8 who rode everyday from age 9/10 until 15 (she  
is now 21). 

 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1978 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(11)Ms. Jill Tracey has ridden and walked many of the routes in the West Merthyr area 

since she was 18, for about 32 years. She only rides when she is accompanied by 
Mrs Kim Davies but has also walked this route regularly years ago (particularly post 
1985 for 3 to 4 years). She takes her dogs for walks there too. She most recently 
walked her dogs there approximately 6 years ago.  Her partner was a runner and 
used to run around the mountain from Rhydycar when younger and now walks long 
distances on the site. 

 
Ms. Tracey believes that she has a right to walk and ride on this area. She has just 
become bridleway officer for British Horse Society for the area and is hoping to form 
a group and ride out together.   

Page 921



 
She has regularly seen others using this route, stating, “mostly walkers or runners, 
you never felt alone because always see someone”. 

 
Ms. Tracey’s evidence covers the period between 1976 and 2008. 

 
1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 

Objections 
 

Representatives of Merthyr Village Ltd., Mr John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie Price, 
discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting state: 

 
“There used to be a gate at the section before the junction with claim 112x. 
This route could only be walked if properly kitted out for walking. There is 
some erosion and flooding which becomes worse in the northern section”. 

 
Claim 112 is dealt with  as Troedyrhiw 44 in this Report. 

 
Notes taken at a meeting with PRoWs Officers, Mrs Misslebrook, a tenant and 
representative of tenants read: 

 
“This path has a locked gate and was blocked by stones by Mr Evans about 2 
years ago to prevent fly tipping and dumping cars. This is the entrance onto 
the Parish Road”.  

 
Mrs Misslebrook’s comments in relation to these notes read, 
 

“2. Claimed ROW LA Map 108/67X – No map served for t his route  
  As noted during the meeting. 
 
Additional Comments 
 
I request it be struck from consideration on the basis of discussion and that no map 
has been served on any tenant stating the intention to claim, therefore it has no legal 
basis”. 

 
In response to the Investigation Report, Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

“Troedyrhiw 49 – From Old Railway Bridge at Donkey Tip across Railway by 
Waunwyllt and onto Gethin wood 

 

1. Maps not date authenticated. 

2. Statements supporting are blacked out therefore can’t be used in evidence”. 

 
1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to this Route 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 
2009 Halcrow state: 

 

Page 922



“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks 
/paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is still 
used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a 
few horses and sheep were also on the site. Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”.   

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 
 

C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding 
Troedyrhiw 49. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 the northern section of the route for Rhydycar to Waunwyllt has been claimed as a 

BOAT.  The middle section as a bridleway and the southern section from Graig Road 
to the roundabout as a BOAT. 

 
2.2 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.3 Evidence has been adduced from maps, literature and documents which indicate 

that the entire route is part of the Parish Road and therefore supports the creation of 
a BOAT, under Section 53(3)(c)(i). Sections of this route are metalled signifying that 
it was intended for vehicular use. 

 
2.4 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 

Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) 
[long user] and Section 53(3)(c)(i) [historic]. 

 
3.0 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

Page 923



  
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case there are a number of 
applications for this route and there is evidence of obstruction.  Evidence exists 
however, for whichever 20 year period of use is applied. 

 
The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / map under 
S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating 
that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way.  

 
Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
  
 A factor that needs to be borne in mind is that there has been a barring of the way in 

1975 when the tenant, Mr. Davies, erected a gate. The correspondence within the 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough file indicates that this gate was erected for the purpose of 
preventing cattle straying and for the prevention of gypsies entering the tenant’s land 
and further that Mr. Davies seemed to accept that he needed permission for the 
gates, i.e. he accepted the public right of way at this point. This being so it seems to 
Officers that this was not a challenge which would bring the right of way into 
question. 

 
Councillors are requested to note that extensive user evidence exists for the entire 
period. 

 
During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 
use. 

 
Councillors will recollect that the historical and documentary evidence indicates that 
this way has existed since the early 19th century if not before. 

 
4.0 The Line of The Route 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground.  
 
4.2 Councillors are reminded that by 1998 the route had changed. This was due to the 

deposition of material from the construction of the A470 in the mid 1990s. Following 
the deposition of material the route has become realigned. Councillors are requested 
to note that they are looking at the route in existence pre the date of the claim and 
not what is currently in situ. 

 
4.3 Although the area around the ventilation shaft at Lower Colliers Row has been 

subject to remediation, the line of the route remains clear of any obstructions. 
 
4.4 The route has been widely recognized as and available for public use as a Parish 

Road. 

Page 924



 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
5.1 The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
6.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the 
way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
6.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. More 
specifically, sections of this route were subject to a request for suspension under 
associated applications in 1966, 1970 and 1988. 

 
7.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. the NCB also recognised 
a number of vehicular routes at those times. 

 
7.3 The evidence of the Cyfarthfa Ward list suggests that at this time this route was 

generally recognised as being a Public Right of Way. 
 
7.4 Similarly, although neither the Draft Map of 1979 nor that of 1991 can be regarded 

as a definitive legal document, nevertheless, this route was recognised as being a 
public right of way at those times. 

 
7.5 The making of the Side Road Order in 1982 gives more credence to the existence of 

this route. 
 
7.8 The making of the Side Road Order in 1994 and the Inspector’s comments in 1993 

clearly signify the existence of this route. They also indicate that at that time, both 
the Inspector and the Welsh Office regarded this route as the Parish Road. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
8.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
8.2 Thirteen people have given extensive evidence of use of this route for recreation and 

leisure. 

Page 925



 
8.3 Three people have given limited evidence of vehicular use (one also rode the route 

and the others walked it). One of these people also gave evidence of vehicular use 
by others. 

 
8.4 Five people gave evidence of extensive evidence of equestrian use of this route 

(three of these people also walked it). 
 
8.5 Five people only gave evidence of walking the route. 
 
8.6 Officers have seen evidence of equestrian use and have seen a number of people 

walking it. 
 
8.7 There is extensive user and historical evidence for use of this route as a BOAT, 

footpath and bridleway since the 1930s. 
 
8.8 Officers have presented user and historic evidence for this route. There is extensive 

evidence for bridleway and footpath use since the 1940s to the present day. There is 
limited evidence for the existence of this route as a BOAT since the 1960s to the 
present day. 

 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Two sections of the original route of Troedyrhiw 49 have been offered to MTCBC for 

dedication as a bridleway. These are currently undergoing the legal process. 
 
9.2 Attempts have been made to discover the ownership of the land between Points F - 

G on the Plan and to contact the occupier of Graig Farm. These have been 
unsuccessful. 

 
9.3 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1. 

 
9.4 Both landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.5 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.6 E.T.Landnet, on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd., 
 

The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 
clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

Page 926



 
With regard their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this is 
a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 
Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 

 
This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 
houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 
workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 
the evidence given by members of the public which is dealt with at  Item 1.  Officers 
disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 
 
Landowners are also concerned about the effects of erosion and washout on this 
route; again, Councillors cannot take this into consideration when determining this 
route. 

 
Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 
witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 
relevant legislation. 

 
9.7 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 

Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been enjoyed 
by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and 
the ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways, and there is insufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
1) Status: 
 

Officers have presented extensive historic as well as equestrian and pedestrian user 
evidence for the existence of this route as a track, bridleway and footpath since the 
1930s to the present day. 

Page 927



 
Officers present the entire route from Rhydycar to the roundabout as a BOAT. 

 
2) Period of use 

 
Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 
claimed, viz. over the relevant periods described above and at all material times 
before.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, users, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and 
other interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that  
rights of way do exist over these routes. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilitie s all the requirements of S. 
31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application. It is considered that a presumption of  dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the routes. Orders to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
Taking the above into account, Orders to modify the  Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of way exists. 

 
 A BOAT be recorded along the entire route. 
 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided including 
historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm:- 

 
1)  In respect of Troedyrhiw 49 Either 

Page 928



 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support:  

 
that the route depicted between Points C - E and marked with a bold line on 
the plan in Appendix 24, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a BOAT,  and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of Definitive Map Modification 

 Order to show Public Rights of Way as a BOAT.  
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 

 a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made 
 within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
 are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

 not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Orders to the Planning 
 Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 
 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record the 
claimed Rights of Way to advise the applicant that their application has been 
rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council to 
the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
2) In respect of Troedyrhiw 83, Either, 
 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support:  

 
that the route depicted between Points E - F and marked with a bold line on 
the Plan in Appendix 24 has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a BOAT and that the evidence has 
not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show a Public Right of Way as a  BOAT. 
 

c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 
a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made 
within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
are withdrawn.   

 
d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Orders to the Planning 
Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

Page 929



 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record the 
claimed Rights of Way to advise the applicant that their application has been 
rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council to 
the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
3. In respect of Troedyrhiw 185, Either, 
  
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support:  

 
that the route depicted between Points F - G and marked with a bold line on 
the plan in Appendix 24, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a BOAT,  and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of Definitive Map Modification 

 Order to show Public Rights of Way as a BOAT.  
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 

 a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made 
 within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
 are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

 not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Orders to the Planning 
 Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 
 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record the 
claimed Rights of Way to advise the applicant that their application has been 
rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council to 
the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
4. In respect of Troedyrhiw 82 
 
  
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to support:  

 
that the route depicted between Points G - I and marked with a bold line on 
the plan in Appendix 24, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a BOAT,  and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of Definitive Map Modification 

 Order to show Public Rights of Way as a BOAT.  
 

Page 930



 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order made as 
 a result of (b) above provided no objections or representations are made 
 within the prescribed period or if any objections or representations so made 
 are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed period and 

 not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Orders to the Planning 
 Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 
 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record the 
claimed Rights of Way to advise the applicant that their application has been 
rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the Council to 
the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

. 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set out in 1, 2, 3 
and 4 above. 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 931



Page 932

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 933



Page 934

This page is intentionally left blank



 
5th October 2009 

 
DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC RIG HT OF 

WAY, TROEDYRHIW 175. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

An application was received on 6th June 2008 to record a number of PRoWs across 
land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and described respectively 
on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule referred to below. This 
claim, Troedyrhiw 175 referred to a vehicular route identified in the 1966 and 1970 
NCB applications. This route commenced at the maintainable highway at 
Llwyncelyn, continued to the Parish Road and then southward to Waunwyllt Farm.   

 
 A further claim to record a Public Right of Way (BOAT and bridleway) from a point 

adjacent to the A470 roundabout at Gethin Woods along the Parish Road to 
Rhydycar was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 2nd November 
1990. This was originally known as claim A763/4/67, later Troedyrhiw 49 (Claim 2). 
Different sections of Troedyrhiw 49 have been dealt with in different Items in this 
Report.  

 
As depicted by a black line on the Plan, Appendix 25, Troedyrhiw 175 commences at 
grid reference SO 04140583, Point A. It proceeds south of the common junction of 
Troedyrhiw 44, 49 and 69, Point B, grid reference SO 04630490. It proceeds 
gradually downhill, in a general south westerly direction on a well-used and well-
defined track, sweeping around a plateau of made-up ground which was formed from 
the tipping of waste material during the building of the A470 in 1995. The route 
continues, changing to an easterly direction as it crosses the (disused) railway 
leading to the Glyndyrys Pit, then reverting to a south-easterly and finally a south-
westerly direction as it reaches Point C, grid reference SO04620457, its common 
junction with Troedyrhiw 49 and 66. The route then continues southward to Point D, 
grid reference SO04540420 before turning westward to terminate at Point E, grid 
reference SO04360415. 
 
The section between Point A and B is dealt with in Troedyrhiw 44. Section C – D is 
dealt with in Troedyrhiw 49. 
 
The sections for determination by Councillors are between Points B – C and D and E 
on the Plan. 

 
 Officers have also observed a well-used and well defined route at the north-east 

corner of Troedyrhiw 175.  This detour is marked with a dashed line between B and 
B1 on the Plan, grid reference SO04600494 and is determined as T184.  This 
section is also before Councillors for determination. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

Page 935



The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd and the Forestry Commission. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

The entire route is depicted on the 1875, 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 editions of the 
OS.   The route is also shown on the tithe map.  In respect of the portions left for 
determination the route from a point immediately north of the Vale of Neath Railway 
and heading southwards is coloured.  A section to the north of this point is not 
depicted on the tithe. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 and a 2008 aerial photograph. 
 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Troedyrhiw 175 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was 
depicted as a section of a vehicular route on the NCB  Map and was described in 
detail in paragraph 6(d)(iii) of the roads and footpaths public section in the NCB’s 
Application which states: 

  
“Part of a track which is used by vehicles commences at a point lettered “A” 
on Map No. 2 approximately 120 yards West of Llwyncelyn and runs in a 
generally southerly direction across the site past Lower Colliers Row and 
continues across the Parish Road (at a point lettered “B” on Map 2) and later 
across an iron bridge spanning the disused  the disused Merthyr Branch 
Railway to a point (lettered “C” on Map No. 2) where it leaves the site in the 
South Eastern corner. After leaving the site the track extends in different 
directions, firstly to Waunwyllt Farm, secondly as a bridleway to Upper 
Abercanaid and thirdly as a footpath to the disused Waunwyllt Colliery”. 

 
The NCB’s Statement of Case which accompanied the Footpath Application stated 
that the Board was making application:  
 

“for suspension of three routes which may have also been used by vehicular 
traffic, namely … parts of the track from Upper Colliers Row to the bridge 
nearest to the North Eastern end of the Merthyr Railway Tunnel”’.  

 
Troedyrhiw 175 is a section of this named route. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Troedyrhiw 175 is one of the routes the Inspector 
referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr 
Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  
 

1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers have inspected this route and found it as described above. 

Page 936



 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Troedyrhiw 175 (then known as Cyfarthfa 58), 
was issued in June 2008.  

 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 

 
1.3a The Claim 
 
1.3a(1)The claimant, Mr Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, submitted: 
 

 A copy of an OS map depicting the claimed route, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (application to modify the Definitive Map) 
and, 
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has 
served notice on the owner/occupier),  

 
1.3a(2)The main claimant for Troedyrhiw 49, Mr. Philip Watkins, submitted: 
 

 a schedule describing the claimed route, 
6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years 
use, all claiming this route as a footpath and 4 including maps showing the 
claimed route. Two claimants subsequently confirmed this route at interview , 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured 
red, 
a copy of the 1921 OS 6” – 1 mile map with the claimed route coloured yellow, 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red, 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map) 
and, 
 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the 
owner/occupier). 

 
1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
1.3b(1)Mr Philip Watkins described his claim, the original route of Troedyrhiw 49 which he 

stated he has used all of his life. He also stated that use of this route is part of the 
history of Merthyr; Tydfil’s brother, Rhun, fought a battle at Pont y Rhun then he and 
his brothers went up the Parish Road – this route. Mr Watkins said that this was an 
obvious ancient route in the north with ancient banks and hedges – now disappeared 
when the A470 was constructed  - so he cannot guarantee that this northern section 
is the ancient route.  

 

Page 937



Mr. Watkins explained the background to his claims. He stated that when proposals 
for the A470(T) were first made known, local people saw that the proposals did not 
allow public access onto routes which they had used all their lives without thought. 
They had been very concerned and set up a committee in a local public house to 
discuss the routes and how to claim them. At that time they also had the idea of the 
Taff Trail and made a number of claims for this. The Ramblers Association and 
Groundwork Trust gave them advice and help. Many villagers attended the 
meetings, gave witness statements and everybody recalled where they walked and 
then signed their statements. Mr. Watkins explained that the OS had an office by 
Pioneer/Co-op and they used the facilities there. 

 
They took advice from the Ramblers Association to apply for the Parish Road at 
Graig Road and this went to public inquiry at Pentrebach when a number of PRoWs 
were created and the BOAT westward from Abercanaid. 

 
He stated that he had regularly ridden a horse on this route with his brother-in-law 
(Mr. Kenneth Deen, another claimant); although there was a gate near Graig Farm, 
this was never locked. 

 
Mr Watkins stated “the only thing I remember going along there was horses” but had 
claimed the route as a BOAT under pressure from other villagers. He amended this 
by saying that he had also used this route on occasion on motorbike. He also stated 
that there was an annual motor bike ride from the College Car Park along 
Troedyrhiw 49 to Anthony Grove, Abercanaid. He thinks this dates from the 1950s – 
but confirms that he remembers this happening throughout the late 1960s and early 
1970s. 

 
The village committee which had been formed to submit claims had done so to 
protect the village but Mr Watkins thinks that in claiming a BOAT they had 
inadvertently made a “rat run” and would cause a danger for the village - particularly 
if the route could be used by heavy vehicles. He also pointed out the problems 
created by joy riders. 

 
1.3b(2)Mrs Anita Deen also referred to the entire original route of Troedyrhiw 49. She 

stated that she has walked this all her life; for pleasure, recreation, and as short cuts 
to farms or different places. She was taken on this route by her grandfather and her 
parents and also took her own children there. Mrs Deen referred to this route as the 
Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Deen pointed out that there used to be access onto the Parish Road if you 
carried straight on from Gethin Farm instead of turning right to Webbers Pond. Once 
you were on the Parish Road there were no gates except for one near the farm close 
to Gethin Woodland Park picnic area. The gates were never locked but they did have 
a self closing mechanism on them with weights attached to the gates so that they 
would shut and keep the animals in. 

 
To get to the Parish Road, Webbers Pond and to the rest of the mountain Mrs Deen 
said that they always used the bridge (a major stone bridge) over the railway line 
until they took this bridge down in the 1970s. To get to the stone bridge Mrs Deen 

Page 938



used to walk along a very-well worn pathway. All rights of way on other side still 
remained. 

 
Mrs Deen has only stopped walking this route due to medical conditions. 

 
1.3b(3)Mr Kenneth Deen said that he and many other people that he knows have used this 

route as a bridleway. He has used it regularly all of his life and only stopped because 
of medical conditions.  
 

1.3b(4)Mr Robert Holdaway stated that he rode horses every morning for about 30 years 
when younger. Troedyrhiw 49 was a section of one of several circular routes he used 
to access the top of the mountain, up to Heolgerrig and returning to Abercanaid.  

 
Mr. Holdaway’s evidence demonstrates use from 1961 onwards. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr. Vivien Elliot telephoned the Rights of Way Project Officer and requested a 

meeting to discuss his use of paths in the West Merthyr area. 
 

He described in detail how he has regularly walked on a minimum of 23 of the routes 
in Items 2 - 40 in this Report and detailed the way in which the routes link to form 
circular walks. 

 
Mr. Elliot explained that he had been brought up at Riverside then went to his brother 
in Cae Draw so that the whole area of West Merthyr and in particular, the Merthyr 
Village Site, had been his play area. He had gone all over the Merthyr Village area 
and the Gethin Woods area using the claimed PRoWs, for example, fishing and 
picking nuts, strawberries and blackberries.  

 
He stated, 
 

“Why do we have to fight for these rights of way? People have been using 
these for hundreds of years. People didn’t walk the roads, they walked the 
mountains. My father died when he was 86. My mother came from Aberaman 
to Cae Draw and her family, Gibbons, wheeled barrels of vinegar from 
Thomas St., Cae Draw to Aberdare. Also Powells, the butter merchant and 
Webley, markets, they all used the Penylan route over the mountain. 
The Mountain Ash Road to Troedyrhiw to Merthyr; they were all linked. The 
road went to the bottom of Troedyrhiw. 
There are no walkways on that mountain where people haven’t walked”. 

 
In relation to this particular route, Mr. Elliot maintains maintained that he drove down 
to Abercanaid. He also described how Mr Davies (Waun Wyllt) used this route to 
drive down to Abercanaid and Bryn (Hendre Fawr) went to school, down the Parish 
Road to Abercanaid, “there were no gates or anything”. He thinks that the building of 
the A470 destroyed many of walks. 

 
He has recently been challenged by Mr. Wyn Hollaway whilst walking his terriers on 
Troedyrhiw 49 – but this is the only time he has ever been challenged anywhere in 
the west Merthyr area. 

 

Page 939



Mr. Elliot ’s evidence covers the period between 1930 and 2008. 
 
1.3b(6)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives.  

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and she and her husband lived at Lower 
Colliers Row when they were first married.  

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used this and many others of the claimed 
routes, for example, to walk their dogs, dogs – even after being prevented from 
doing so when the area was fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged and neither has had any interest in the site. 

 
Mr Connolly stated that this is a very prominent footpath and very well used. He has 
once driven to the ironbridge (south of this route) in a car along the dismantled 
railway – but he usually walked it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period 1945 – 2008 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period 1965 – 2008. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr. Morgan Harris stated of the Merthyr Village Site, 
 

“I use this area for pleasure now but I’ve always used it. I also used to go to 
visit friends at the farm and I’ve used all these paths for at least 60 years. I 
have always used the paths on a regular basis, in my youth I was always up 
there playing, setting the ferns on fire, and since I’ve retired I’m there 
everyday. I rode there all the time when I was younger, I kept horses in 
RhydyCar and I rode after work most nights, I was living in Cae Draw. Now I 
only walk there, mostly in the evenings. 

 
“Charlotte Connelly lived up Colliers Row. They were going to take away 
Malcolm Connelly’s land for building and that’s why he did these claims” 

 
Mr. Harris stated that he uses far more paths than he actually claimed and described 
these. He said that he has never been challenged on any or them or sought or been 
given permission to use any of them. 

 
He said, 

 
“I took my children there and I take my grandchildren there. When I was 
young we always went there as a group of boys, sometimes we’d be riding 

Page 940



there, the boys from Rhyd y Car would come up the path. I always see other 
people when I’m up there walking now. 

 
He has always assumed he has a right to go anwhere on the Merthyr Village Site; he 
has never been challenged while using the route and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. He has often seen others using it.  

 
Mr. Harris’ evidence covers the period between 1947 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born. For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
“I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

1.3b(9)Mr. Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Charlotte Connolly 
at Lower Colliers Row and lived there when he was first married in 1955. He has 
used this route regularly both when young and later, for family walks when he and 

Page 941



his wife and children walked this route and all of the claimed routes to the north of it 
as well as the ones south to the Cwm Pits area. They lived there for 32 years before 
moving to Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely 
area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site 
as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 4 years 
but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for family walks on 
the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that. Both stated that they have walked on 
the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
He stated that because of ill health he has not walked as much during the last 3 or 4 
years as he had previously. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own land in West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on this path regularly – just going out for 
a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 

Page 942



signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Megan Rees lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was first married in 1955 
and stated that she was regularly driven on this and another claimed route into Rhyd 
y Car (this is the eastern section of Troedyrhiw 49). Mrs Rees also used it regularly 
for family walks. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(10)Mrs Kim Davies has ridden whole of the West Merthyr area regularly for over 30 

years and was the bridleway officer for the British Horse Society for 6 years. Mrs 
Davies lives at Abercanaid and uses this route to access the whole of Mynydd 
Aberdâr. 

 
She stated: 

 
“I used to go every day training horses for the Wales & Border Counties, this 
was from 1980 up until 2 years ago. I used to do this with three horses, that is 
I rode 3 times each way, every day. I don’t think that there is a single track 
that I haven’t ridden on”. 

 
 Mrs Davies took a number of other riders with her and says she has a number of 

people ready and available to give evidence of riding these routes. 
 

Mrs Davies gave extensive evidence of having ridden – and taken many other horse 
riders – on this track on a regular basis for at least 30 years. She uses this route as 
part of several circular routes she knows. She gave evidence of use for a minimum 
of 30 years during which time she has ridden the entire route of Troedyrhiw 49 
regularly. 

 
Mrs Davies stated that she knows area very well, “every nook and cranny of the  
Forestry Commission land and the Merthyr Village Site” but is not happy following 
the routes on a map. She added, “My husband would give evidence too because he  
knows it as well as I do”. Mrs Davies stated that she often used to take little routes  
off the tracks as well as the tracks themselves. 
 
In response to the question of whether she ever saw anyone else using the same – 
or other – route, Mrs Davies replied, 

Page 943



 
“Absolutely loads – I used to go (this was before Jill Tracy started going) up 
the Parish Road and up the steep road that links up with Mountain Ash and 
meet a girl and few horse riders from Mountain Ash”. 

 
Mrs Davies also replied to a question as to whether she had ever been challenged 
over her use of these routes and stated, 

“Challenge? – never, ever, not for over 30 years.  In fact, even when they 
were drilling, no-one ever asked, in fact, I asked them what they were doing”. 

Mrs Davies also pointed out that over the years quite a few obstructions had been 
added. She stated, 

 
“Bit by bit been fenced off for different purposes. 

 Waun Wyllt Farm for example, Margaret Clayton would never stop any of us 
going through the farm – but we always closed the gates. 

 
Mrs Davies also saw one of girls she had taught to ride who now works in an  
adjacent office to that of the Public Rights of Way Department. Emma Lewis stated 
that she was one of a group of 7 or 8 who rode everyday from age 9/10 until 15 (she 
is now 21). 

 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1978 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(11)Ms. Jill Tracey has ridden and walked many of the routes in the West Merthyr area 

since she was 18, for about 32 years. She only rides when she is accompanied by 
Mrs Kim Davies but has also walked this route regularly years ago (particularly post 
1985 for 3 to 4 years). She takes her dogs for walks these too. She most recently 
walked her dogs there approximately 6 years ago.  Her partner was a runner and 
used to run around mountain from Rhydycar when younger and now walks long 
distances on the site. 

 
Ms. Tracey believes that she has a right to walk and ride on this area. She has just 
become bridleway officer for British Horse Society for area and is hoping to form a 
group and ride out together.   

 
She has regularly seen others using this route, stating, “mostly walkers or runners, 
you never felt alone because always see someone”. 

 
Ms. Tracey’s evidence covers the period between 1976 and 2008. 

 
1.4 Landowners and Other Parties - Interviews and Written Observations and Objections 
 

Councillors are requested to refer to the comments made by Merthyr Village Ltd., 
their representatives and tenants, in Item 1. 

 
 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 

Page 944



1.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 
today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding 
Troedyrhiw 175.  It is also to assist Councillors with determining the detour, 
Troedyrhiw 184. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway or Restricted Byway.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a BOAT under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981Section 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Until the implementation of Sections 66 and 67 of the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act 2006, PRoW could be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, 
Restricted Byway or BOAT.  Since this time, May 2005, however, a claim cannot be 
made for a BOAT. 

 
2.5 Evidence has been adduced from maps, documents and users which indicate that 

this route has been used as a bridleway and as a footpath. 
 
2.6 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a bridleway under 

Section 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
3.0 The Line of the Route 
 

The route is clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
4.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
4.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption and the way deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there has been any 
intention not to dedicate it. 

 
4.2 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 

1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become 
a Public Right of Way.  

 
4.3 The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 
5.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 

Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 
indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track / path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

Page 945



 
6.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 
 

The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 
mining which were either withdrawn or refused at Public Inquiry. 
 
More specifically a section of this route in the north was subject to a request for 
suspension as a vehicular route under associated application in 1966 and 1970. 

 
Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive map or Statement 
at either of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 
 

7.0 User evidence 
 
Thirteen people have given evidence of use of this route for recreation and leisure. 

 
Five people gave evidence of extensive evidence of equestrian use of this route 
(three of these people also walked it). 

 
8.0 Landowners and other Interested Parties 
 
8.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1. 

 
8.2 Both landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
8.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
8.4 E.T.Landnet, on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd.  
 

The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 
clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 
Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 

 
This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 
houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

Page 946



 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 
workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 
the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1. Officers 
disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 
relevant legislation. 

 
8.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
8.6 A section has been offered for dedication by the Forestry Commission.  The legal 

process is currently being undertaken. 
 
D. SUMMARY 
 

Officers have presented historic evidence for the existence of this route as a 
bridleway. 

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
observations from landlords and tenants of the land, and having taken into account 
the information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
Taking the above into account, any Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f Way exists. 

 
 E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided including 
historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that in the case of the claimed 
Public Right of Way, Troedyrhiw 175:- 

 
Either 

 

Page 947



1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between B and C on the 
Plan, Appendix 25, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a restricted byway, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a restricted byway. 
 

c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

that insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the 
application to record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant 
that their application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in 
writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate 
within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
 

2.  In respect of Troedyrhiw 184 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between B and B1 on the 
Plan, Appendix 25, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a restricted byway, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a restricted byway. 
 

c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

 

Page 948



2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
that insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the 
application to record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant 
that their application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in 
writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate 
within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
3.  In respect of Troedyrhiw 84 Either 

 
1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

support that the route marked with a bold line between D - E on the 
Plan, Appendix 25, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a restricted byway, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a restricted byway. 
 

c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

that insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the 
application to record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant 
that their application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in 
writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate 
within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1, 2 
and 3 above. 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 

Page 949



Page 950

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 951



Page 952

This page is intentionally left blank



20th January 2010 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC RIG HT OF 
WAY, TROEDYRHIW 175. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoW in this Item are claimed PRoW. 
 
The legal background is to be found at Appendix 1. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

An application was received on 6th June 2008 to record a number of PRoWs across 
land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and described respectively 
on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule referred to below. This 
claim, Troedyrhiw 175 referred to a vehicular route identified in the 1966 and 1970 
NCB applications. This route commenced at the maintainable highway at 
Llwyncelyn, continued to the Parish Road and then southward to Waunwyllt Farm.   

 
 A further claim to record a Public Right of Way (BOAT and bridleway) from a point 

adjacent to the A470 roundabout at Gethin Woods along the Parish Road to 
Rhydycar was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 2nd November 
1990. This was originally known as claim A763/4/67, later Troedyrhiw 49 (Claim 2).  

 
As depicted by a bold line on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 175, Troedyrhiw 175 commences 
at grid reference SO04140584, Point A and proceeds in a general south-south-
easterly direction to the common junction of Troedyrhiw 44, 49 and 69, Point B, grid 
reference SO04520499. It proceeds gradually downhill, in a general south-westerly 
direction to Point C, grid reference SO04530497 and continues on a well-used and 
well-defined track, sweeping around a plateau of made-up ground which was formed 
from the tipping of waste material during the building of the A470 in 1995. The route 
continues, changing to an easterly direction at Point D, grid reference SO04600488, 
as it crosses the (disused) railway leading to the Glyndyrys Pit, then reverting to a 
general southerly direction at Point E, grid reference SO04630489 before continuing 
to Point F, grid reference SO04620457, its common junction with Troedyrhiw 49 and 
66. The route then continues to Point G, grid reference SO04540420 before turning 
westward to terminate at Point H, grid reference SO04360415. 
 
The section between Points A and B is dealt with in Troedyrhiw 44 and the sections 
between B – C and F – G are Troedyrhiw 49. 
 
The sections for determination by Councillors are between Points C – D – E – F and 
G - H on the Plan. 

 
 Officers have also observed a well-used and well defined route at the north-east 

corner of Troedyrhiw 175.  This detour is marked with a dashed line between B and 
E on the Plan, grid reference SO04630489 and is determined as Troedyrhiw 184.  
This section is also before Councillors for determination. 

Page 953



 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd and the Forestry Commission. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

The entire route is depicted on the 1875, 1919, 1957, 1978 and 2005 editions of the 
OS.   The route is also shown on the tithe map.  In respect of the portions left for 
determination the route from a point immediately north of the Vale of Neath Railway 
and heading southwards is coloured.  A section to the north of this point is not 
depicted on the tithe. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 and a 2008 aerial photograph. 
 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Troedyrhiw 175 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was 
depicted as a section of a vehicular route on the NCB  Map and was described in 
detail in paragraph 6(d)(iii) of the roads and footpaths public section in the NCB’s 
Application which states: 

  
“Part of a track which is used by vehicles commences at a point lettered “A” 
on Map No. 2 approximately 120 yards West of Llwyncelyn and runs in a 
generally southerly direction across the site past Lower Colliers Row and 
continues across the Parish Road (at a point lettered “B” on Map 2) and later 
across an iron bridge spanning the disused  the disused Merthyr Branch 
Railway to a point (lettered “C” on Map No. 2) where it leaves the site in the 
South Eastern corner. After leaving the site the track extends in different 
directions, firstly to Waunwyllt Farm, secondly as a bridleway to Upper 
Abercanaid and thirdly as a footpath to the disused Waunwyllt Colliery”. 

 
The NCB’s Statement of Case which accompanied the Footpath Application stated 
that the Board was making application:  
 

“for suspension of three routes which may have also been used by vehicular 
traffic, namely … parts of the track from Upper Colliers Row to the bridge 
nearest to the North Eastern end of the Merthyr Railway Tunnel”’.  

 
Troedyrhiw 175 is a section of this named route. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Troedyrhiw 175 is one of the routes the Inspector 
referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr 
Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  
 

Page 954



1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers have inspected this route and found it as described above. 
 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Troedyrhiw 175 (then known as Cyfarthfa 58), 
was issued in June 2008.  

 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 

 
1.3a The Claim 
 
1.3a(1)The claimant, Mr Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, submitted: 
 

 A copy of an OS map depicting the claimed route, 
correctly completed form WCA 5 (application to modify the Definitive Map) 
and, 
correctly completed form WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has 
served notice on the owner/occupier),  

 
1.3a(2)The main claimant for Troedyrhiw 49, Mr. Philip Watkins, submitted: 
 

 a schedule describing the claimed route, 
6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years 
use, all claiming this route as a footpath and 4 including maps showing the 
claimed route. Two claimants subsequently confirmed this route at interview , 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured 
red, 
a copy of the 1921 OS 6” – 1 mile map with the claimed route coloured yellow, 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red, 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map) 
and, 
 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the 
owner/occupier). 

 
1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
1.3b(1)Mr Philip Watkins described his claim, the original route of Troedyrhiw 49 which he 

stated he has used all of his life. He also stated that use of this route is part of the 
history of Merthyr; Tydfil’s brother, Rhun, fought a battle at Pont y Rhun then he and 
his brothers went up the Parish Road – this route. Mr Watkins said that this was an 
obvious ancient route in the north with ancient banks and hedges – now disappeared 

Page 955



when the A470 was constructed  - so he cannot guarantee that this northern section 
is the ancient route.  

 
Mr. Watkins explained the background to his claims. He stated that when proposals 
for the A470(T) were first made known, local people saw that the proposals did not 
allow public access onto routes which they had used all their lives without thought. 
They had been very concerned and set up a committee in a local public house to 
discuss the routes and how to claim them. At that time they also had the idea of the 
Taff Trail and made a number of claims for this. The Ramblers Association and 
Groundwork Trust gave them advice and help. Many villagers attended the 
meetings, gave witness statements and everybody recalled where they walked and 
then signed their statements. Mr. Watkins explained that the OS had an office by 
Pioneer/Co-op and they used the facilities there. 

 
They took advice from the Ramblers Association to apply for the Parish Road at 
Graig Road and this went to public inquiry at Pentrebach when a number of PRoWs 
were created and the BOAT westward from Abercanaid. 

 
He stated that he had regularly ridden a horse on this route with his brother-in-law 
(Mr. Kenneth Deen, another claimant); although there was a gate near Graig Farm, 
this was never locked. 

 
Mr Watkins stated “the only thing I remember going along there was horses” but had 
claimed the route as a BOAT under pressure from other villagers. He amended this 
by saying that he had also used this route on occasion on motorbike. He also stated 
that there was an annual motor bike ride from the College Car Park along 
Troedyrhiw 49 to Anthony Grove, Abercanaid. He thinks this dates from the 1950s – 
but confirms that he remembers this happening throughout the late 1960s and early 
1970s. 

 
The village committee which had been formed to submit claims had done so to 
protect the village but Mr Watkins thinks that in claiming a BOAT they had 
inadvertently made a “rat run” and would cause a danger for the village - particularly 
if the route could be used by heavy vehicles. He also pointed out the problems 
created by joy riders. 

 
1.3b(2)Mrs Anita Deen also referred to the entire original route of Troedyrhiw 49. She 

stated that she has walked this all her life; for pleasure, recreation, and as short cuts 
to farms or different places. She was taken on this route by her grandfather and her 
parents and also took her own children there. Mrs Deen referred to this route as the 
Parish Road. 

 
Mrs Deen pointed out that there used to be access onto the Parish Road if you 
carried straight on from Gethin Farm instead of turning right to Webbers Pond. Once 
you were on the Parish Road there were no gates except for one near the farm close 
to Gethin Woodland Park picnic area. The gates were never locked but they did have 
a self closing mechanism on them with weights attached to the gates so that they 
would shut and keep the animals in. 

 

Page 956



To get to the Parish Road, Webbers Pond and to the rest of the mountain Mrs Deen 
said that they always used the bridge (a major stone bridge) over the railway line 
until they took this bridge down in the 1970s. To get to the stone bridge Mrs Deen 
used to walk along a very-well worn pathway. All rights of way on other side still 
remained. 

 
Mrs Deen has only stopped walking this route due to medical conditions. 

 
1.3b(3)Mr Kenneth Deen said that he and many other people that he knows have used this 

route as a bridleway. He has used it regularly all of his life and only stopped because 
of medical conditions.  
 

1.3b(4)Mr Robert Holdaway stated that he rode horses every morning for about 30 years 
when younger. Troedyrhiw 49 was a section of one of several circular routes he used 
to access the top of the mountain, up to Heolgerrig and returning to Abercanaid.  

 
Mr. Holdaway’s evidence demonstrates use from 1961 onwards. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr. Vivien Elliot telephoned the Rights of Way Project Officer and requested a 

meeting to discuss his use of paths in the West Merthyr area. 
 

He described in detail how he has regularly walked on a minimum of 23 of the routes 
in Items 2 - 40 in this Report and detailed the way in which the routes link to form 
circular walks. 

 
Mr. Elliot explained that he had been brought up at Riverside then went to his brother 
in Cae Draw so that the whole area of West Merthyr and in particular, the Merthyr 
Village Site, had been his play area. He had gone all over the Merthyr Village area 
and the Gethin Woods area using the claimed PRoWs, for example, fishing and 
picking nuts, strawberries and blackberries.  

 
He stated, 
 

“Why do we have to fight for these rights of way? People have been using 
these for hundreds of years. People didn’t walk the roads, they walked the 
mountains. My father died when he was 86. My mother came from Aberaman 
to Cae Draw and her family, Gibbons, wheeled barrels of vinegar from 
Thomas St., Cae Draw to Aberdare. Also Powells, the butter merchant and 
Webley, markets, they all used the Penylan route over the mountain. 
The Mountain Ash Road to Troedyrhiw to Merthyr; they were all linked. The 
road went to the bottom of Troedyrhiw. 
There are no walkways on that mountain where people haven’t walked”. 

 
In relation to this particular route, Mr. Elliot maintains maintained that he drove down 
to Abercanaid. He also described how Mr Davies (Waun Wyllt) used this route to 
drive down to Abercanaid and Bryn (Hendre Fawr) went to school, down the Parish 
Road to Abercanaid, “there were no gates or anything”. He thinks that the building of 
the A470 destroyed many of walks. 

 

Page 957



He has recently been challenged by Mr. Wyn Hollaway whilst walking his terriers on 
Troedyrhiw 49 – but this is the only time he has ever been challenged anywhere in 
the west Merthyr area. 

 
Mr. Elliot ’s evidence covers the period between 1930 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(6)Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives.  

 
She was brought up at Lower Colliers Row and she and her husband lived at Lower 
Colliers Row when they were first married.  

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used this and many others of the claimed 
routes, for example, to walk their dogs, dogs – even after being prevented from 
doing so when the area was fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged and neither has had any interest in the site. 

 
Mr Connolly stated that this is a very prominent footpath and very well used. He has 
once driven to the ironbridge (south of this route) in a car along the dismantled 
railway – but he usually walked it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period 1945 – 2008 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period 1965 – 2008. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr. Morgan Harris stated of the Merthyr Village Site, 
 

“I use this area for pleasure now but I’ve always used it. I also used to go to 
visit friends at the farm and I’ve used all these paths for at least 60 years. I 
have always used the paths on a regular basis, in my youth I was always up 
there playing, setting the ferns on fire, and since I’ve retired I’m there 
everyday. I rode there all the time when I was younger, I kept horses in 
RhydyCar and I rode after work most nights, I was living in Cae Draw. Now I 
only walk there, mostly in the evenings. 

 
“Charlotte Connelly lived up Colliers Row. They were going to take away 
Malcolm Connelly’s land for building and that’s why he did these claims” 

 
Mr. Harris stated that he uses far more paths than he actually claimed and described 
these. He said that he has never been challenged on any or them or sought or been 
given permission to use any of them. 

 
He said, 

Page 958



 
“I took my children there and I take my grandchildren there. When I was 
young we always went there as a group of boys, sometimes we’d be riding 
there, the boys from Rhyd y Car would come up the path. I always see other 
people when I’m up there walking now. 

 
He has always assumed he has a right to go anwhere on the Merthyr Village Site; he 
has never been challenged while using the route and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. He has often seen others using it.  

 
Mr. Harris’ evidence covers the period between 1947 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born. For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
“I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

Page 959



1.3b(9)Mr. Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Charlotte Connolly 
at Lower Colliers Row and lived there when he was first married in 1955. He has 
used this route regularly both when young and later, for family walks when he and 
his wife and children walked this route and all of the claimed routes to the north of it 
as well as the ones south to the Cwm Pits area. They lived there for 32 years before 
moving to Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely 
area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site 
as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 4 years 
but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for family walks on 
the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that. Both stated that they have walked on 
the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
He stated that because of ill health he has not walked as much during the last 3 or 4 
years as he had previously. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own land in West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on this path regularly – just going out for 
a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 

Page 960



In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Megan Rees lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was first married in 1955 
and stated that she was regularly driven on this and another claimed route into Rhyd 
y Car (this is the eastern section of Troedyrhiw 49). Mrs Rees also used it regularly 
for family walks. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(10)Mrs Kim Davies has ridden whole of the West Merthyr area regularly for over 30 

years and was the bridleway officer for the British Horse Society for 6 years. Mrs 
Davies lives at Abercanaid and uses this route to access the whole of Mynydd 
Aberdâr. 

 
She stated: 

 
“I used to go every day training horses for the Wales & Border Counties, this 
was from 1980 up until 2 years ago. I used to do this with three horses, that is 
I rode 3 times each way, every day. I don’t think that there is a single track 
that I haven’t ridden on”. 

 
 Mrs Davies took a number of other riders with her and says she has a number of 

people ready and available to give evidence of riding these routes. 
 

Mrs Davies gave extensive evidence of having ridden – and taken many other horse 
riders – on this track on a regular basis for at least 30 years. She uses this route as 
part of several circular routes she knows. She gave evidence of use for a minimum 
of 30 years during which time she has ridden the entire route of Troedyrhiw 49 
regularly. 

 
Mrs Davies stated that she knows area very well, “every nook and cranny of the  
Forestry Commission land and the Merthyr Village Site” but is not happy following 
the routes on a map. She added, “My husband would give evidence too because he  
knows it as well as I do”. Mrs Davies stated that she often used to take little routes  
off the tracks as well as the tracks themselves. 

Page 961



 
In response to the question of whether she ever saw anyone else using the same – 
or other – route, Mrs Davies replied, 

 
“Absolutely loads – I used to go (this was before Jill Tracy started going) up 
the Parish Road and up the steep road that links up with Mountain Ash and 
meet a girl and few horse riders from Mountain Ash”. 

 
Mrs Davies also replied to a question as to whether she had ever been challenged 
over her use of these routes and stated, 

“Challenge? – never, ever, not for over 30 years.  In fact, even when they 
were drilling, no-one ever asked, in fact, I asked them what they were doing”. 

Mrs Davies also pointed out that over the years quite a few obstructions had been 
added. She stated, 

 
“Bit by bit been fenced off for different purposes. 

 Waun Wyllt Farm for example, Margaret Clayton would never stop any of us 
going through the farm – but we always closed the gates. 

 
Mrs Davies also saw one of girls she had taught to ride who now works in an  
adjacent office to that of the Public Rights of Way Department. Emma Lewis stated 
that she was one of a group of 7 or 8 who rode everyday from age 9/10 until 15 (she 
is now 21). 

 
Mrs Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1978 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(11)Ms. Jill Tracey has ridden and walked many of the routes in the West Merthyr area 

since she was 18, for about 32 years. She only rides when she is accompanied by 
Mrs Kim Davies but has also walked this route regularly years ago (particularly post 
1985 for 3 to 4 years). She takes her dogs for walks these too. She most recently 
walked her dogs there approximately 6 years ago.  Her partner was a runner and 
used to run around mountain from Rhydycar when younger and now walks long 
distances on the site. 

 
Ms. Tracey believes that she has a right to walk and ride on this area. She has just 
become bridleway officer for British Horse Society for area and is hoping to form a 
group and ride out together.   

 
She has regularly seen others using this route, stating, “mostly walkers or runners, 
you never felt alone because always see someone”. 

 
Ms. Tracey’s evidence covers the period between 1976 and 2008. 

 
1.4 Landowners and Other Parties - Interviews and Written Observations and Objections 
 
Councillors are requested to refer to the comments made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their 
representatives and tenants, in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 
2009. 
 

Page 962



C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding 
Troedyrhiw 175.  It is also to assist Councillors with determining the detour, 
Troedyrhiw 184. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway or Restricted Byway.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a BOAT under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981Section 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Until the implementation of Sections 66 and 67 of the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act 2006, PRoW could be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, 
Restricted Byway or BOAT.  Since this time, May 2005, however, a claim cannot be 
made for a BOAT. 

 
2.5 Evidence has been adduced from maps, documents and users which indicate that 

this route has been used as a bridleway and as a footpath. 
 
2.6 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a bridleway under 

Section 53(3)(c)(i). 
 
3.0 The Line of the Route 
 

The route is clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
4.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
4.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption and the way deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there has been any 
intention not to dedicate it. 

 
4.2 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 

1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become 
a Public Right of Way.  

 
4.3 The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 
5.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 

Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 
indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 

Page 963



rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track / path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
6.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 
 

The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 
mining which were either withdrawn or refused at Public Inquiry. 
 
More specifically a section of this route in the north was subject to a request for 
suspension as a vehicular route under associated application in 1966 and 1970. 

 
Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive map or Statement 
at either of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 
 

7.0 User evidence 
 
Thirteen people have given evidence of use of this route for recreation and leisure. 

 
Five people gave evidence of extensive evidence of equestrian use of this route 
(three of these people also walked it). 

 
8.0 Landowners and other Interested Parties 
 
8.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
8.2 Both landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
8.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
8.4 E.T.Landnet, on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd.  
 

The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 
clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 
Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 

 

Page 964



This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 
houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 
workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 
the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1 of the Rights 
of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. Officers disregard any comments which 
do not relate to PRoW. 

 
The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 
relevant legislation. 

 
8.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
8.6 A section has been offered for dedication by the Forestry Commission.  The legal 

process is currently being undertaken. 
 
D. SUMMARY 
 

Officers have presented historic evidence for the existence of this route as a 
bridleway. 

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
observations from landlords and tenants of the land, and having taken into account 
the information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
Taking the above into account, any Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f Way exists. 

 
 E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Page 965



Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided including 
historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that in the case of the claimed 
Public Right of Way, Troedyrhiw 175:- 

 
Either 

 
1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

support that the route marked with a bold line between C – F on the 
Plan, Troedyrhiw 175, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a restricted byway, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a restricted byway. 
 

c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

that insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the 
application to record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant 
that their application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in 
writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate 
within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
 

2.  In respect of Troedyrhiw 184 Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a dashed line between B and E on 
the Plan, Troedyrhiw 175, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a restricted byway, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a restricted byway. 
 

c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 

Page 966



d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 
period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

that insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the 
application to record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant 
that their application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in 
writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate 
within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
3.  In respect of Troedyrhiw 84; Either 

 
1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

support that the route marked with a bold line between G - H on the 
Plan, Troedyrhiw 175, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a restricted byway, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a restricted byway. 
 

c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 
made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

that insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the 
application to record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant 
that their application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in 
writing, against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate 
within 28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out in 1, 2 
and 3 above. 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 

Page 967



 
 
 

Page 968



Page 969



Page 970

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 10th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 53 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Troedyrhiw 53 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 5th October 2009, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 11th November 2009 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 9th February 
2010; the 2009 report is appended at the end of this item. 

 
Officers now state that the route recorded in the 2010 Order is incorrect 
in that there are two stiles on the route and not one as previously 
stated. The route therefore requires amendment.  

 
The route commences at Point A on the plan, Troedyrhiw 53, at grid 
reference SO03810534 at its junction with Cyfarthfa 39 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order) and it proceeds in a general east-south-
easterly direction along a disused tramroad to a stile at Point B, grid 
reference SO03810534. It continues in an east-south-easterly direction 
to another stile at Point C, grid reference SO03970527 (also its junction 
with Cyfarthfa 105 (also before committee today for determination) 
before proceeding in an east-south-easterly direction to terminate at 
Point D, grid reference SO03980526, its junction with Cyfarthfa 38 (a 
route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order). 
 

 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D. 

 
  
 

 

 

Agenda Item 34

Page 971



1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Maps 
 

The entire route of Troedyrhiw 53 is depicted on 1919, 1957 and 1978 
editions of the OS. The section along the Cwm Du Drift Incline is 
depicted on a 2005 edition. 
 

1.5 Aerial Photographs 
 

The section along the Cwm Du Drift Incline is clearly depicted on a 
1967 and 2008 aerial photograph. 
 

1.6 Government Orders and Records 

1.6a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of 
 Way 
 
 Troedyrhiw 53 formed part of the Application to Suspend which 
 accompanied the Planning Applications by the National Coal Board 
 (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was depicted as two sections of Footpath L 
 on the NCB Map and was referred to as Footpath L and described in 
 detail in paragraph 12 of the NCB’s Footpath Application which stated: 
 
 “A footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath L’ on the Map which runs 
 from the footpath described in paragraph 9 above at a point (numbered 
 20 on the Map) about 120 yards East South East of the ruins of Pen-y-
 coedcae Cottages and extends in a South Easterly direction for a 
 distance of about 840 yards to its termination at a point (numbered 27 
 on the Map) immediately to the north of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row.” 
 
 Footpath L joined five other routes which were subject to the 
 Application to Suspend, Footpaths C, I, M, N and V.  
 
 It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular 
 Routes Application. 
 
 The section along the Cwm Du Drift Incline formed the eastern section 
 of a footpath which was included in the March 1988, National Coal 
 Board Opencast Executive Application for Suspension. On the Map 
 which accompanied this Application, Troedyrhiw 53 was labelled as a 
 section of “Footpath 36” and described in the Schedule,       
 

 “Part of Footpath 36, being that part which extends from a point 
 approximately 115 metres south west of the ruin known as “The 
 Dissenters’ Meeting House” in an east-south-easterly direction to its 
 junction with Bridleway No. 24 referred to in paragraph 8 below at a 

Page 972



 point approximately 395 metres west-south-west of the property known 
 as “Old Rhyd-y-Car”. 

 
Footpath 36 continued eastward from Footpath L, along the Cwm Du 
Drift Incline (Item 8, Cyfarthfa 39), and westward, from the north-east 
corner of Lower Colliers Row onto a route called bridleway 24, dealt 
with in this Report at Item 20,Troedyrhiw 44. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Troedyrhiw 53 is one of the routes the 
Inspector referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning 
appeals for the two Merthyr Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were 
determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  
 

1.7 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

The route is found in the extant list of PRoW in the Cyfarthfa Ward 
 dated circa 1951.  
 

Troedyrhiw 53 is included at numbers 1, 2 and 8: 
 

“1. From the “Six Bells Inn” Heolgerrig, via Cwmglo to Pen 
Cae Wern House to Lower Colliers Row hence to the 
Parish Road. 

 
2. From Brondeg, Heolgerrig, to the Coedcae Bungalow to 

join the route as in No. 1 near Cwmglo, thence to Pen 
Cae Wern to Lowers Colliers Row to the Parish Road. 
(This route also branches near Pen Cae Wern House, the 
other arm leading to the Parish Road via the Waun.) 

 
8. From Heolgerrig to Cwmdu Colliery and Llwynrheos 

House to Pen Coedcae, Pen Cae Wern, Lower Colliers 
Row, Old Castle House, to the Parish Road.” 

 
1.8 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

 The 1979 Draft Map depicts this claimed route as the eastern section 
 of Footpath 36 and it is described in the statement,  

  
 F.P.    

 Commences on B.R. 34 and proceeds in a south easterly direction 
 over brook and passing houses and the turning eastwards along track 
 passing air shaft and ‘Pen-y-coedcae’ Farm. Then in a south easterly 
 direction following old incline to its termination on B.R. 24”. 

 
In its description, the total length is given as 2000 yards and the width 

 as 2 feet.  
  

Page 973



Troedyrhiw 53 is also depicted in the 1991 Draft Map as the eastern 
section of Footpath 36. 

 
1.9 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.10 MTCBC Internal Departments   
 

No response received. 
 
1.11 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Troedyrhiw 53, was issued in 
 June 2008.  

 
1.12 The Claim 

 
The claimant, Mr. Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, 

 submitted: 
 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route 
coloured red, 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive 
Map) and, 
 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the 
owner/occupier). 

 
1.13 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on the claimed route and many other tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis, who was born and brought up at Lower Colliers Row 
and who has lived in the area all of his life stated that this is one of the 
routes which he has used without challenge all of his life.  

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
too small when his children were born. For the past 20 years he has 
only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 

Page 974



named). He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 
the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He described 
the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 
Mr. Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and 
stated that he has used it regularly all of his life. He described 
occasions when, as a young man, he gathered horses from the Waun 
and drove them down this claimed route (and others) to Colliers Row. 
Mr. Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the church (Cwm 
Glo Chapel). Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs 
Mr. Lewis recorded were those of CCW.  

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until 
recently the whole area was open. “I never even thought about whether 
or not we had a right to go there”. 

 
He continued: 
 

 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
 Mr. and Mrs. Malcolm Connolly stated that they have used this path, 

Mrs. Connolly for all of her life and Mr. Connolly for over 40 years, 
without challenge. From the junction with the north of Lower Colliers 
Row they walk down the front of the ruins to access the Parish Road. 
They stated that they did not claim this route because they claimed 

Page 975



several parallel paths and frequently walk between them all. They also 
stated that this route is still used by other people. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced.   

 
Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born 
at Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family 
have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using 
the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for 
exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of these claimed paths; they have 
never had their use of the paths challenged. 

 
Mrs. Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 
 

 Mr. Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. 
Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years 
before moving to Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself 
fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area and had the whole 
of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 
4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the 
footpaths (including this one) for family walks on the Merthyr Village 
Site regularly before that. Both stated that they have walked on the 
Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths. 
He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 
in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs. Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly, 
including this one – just going out for a walk with their children and later 
their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. and Mrs. Elwyn Rees stated that they use Gulley Nanni to access 
the Waun on Cyfarthfa 34 and further routes to the south, often as part 
of a circular walk.  

Page 976



 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on 
the site, with no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child 
and for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
 “I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
 Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 
 any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should 
 be noted that these cottages were so historically important that a 
 number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 

 
 At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
 described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
 During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
 become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
 Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they 
have never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk 
there; they have always walked on the same tracks which have been 
clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no one 
has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
 “I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
 drove on these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take 
 the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
 because of health problems”. 

 
Mr. Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 

Page 977



 Mr. Clive Thomas, local amateur historian and industrial archaeologist 
stated that he has used this route as a section of circular walks 
although he stopped going to Lower Colliers Row about late 1960s 
once people had moved out. The only time he has ever been 
challenged was in January 2008 – by the owner or his representative. 

 
 Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927. He was raised close to Mayor’s 

Square, Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to 
Gernant Lane. 

 
 He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he 
 uses, including this one: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the 

whole of the Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My 

daughter says this too. We have all always gone there for 
pleasure not for work”.  

 
• “There have never been any signs or notices there until 

Merthyr Village put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, Mr 

Marshall says “I have walked here since1938, for the last 
78 years. It is awkward to explain because I do not 
understand the map but I’ve always gone on whatever 
track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see 

dozens of people walking these tracks on a Sunday after 
chapel”. 

 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a 

right of way, we all just went on the site and walked 
where we wanted. We would take any path that took our 
fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years ago when 
they fenced in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s 
been fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the 
gates or fences, I wouldn’t go onto other people’s 
property”.  

 
• Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged 

while using these routes. 
 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the 

routes but I can’t understand a map and can’t show you 
on a map. I could use any of these tracks”. 

 

Page 978



• Mr. Marshall commented on the danger on the site. 
“There have always been holes there, it’s common 
knowledge but I’ve walked there for over 70 years and 
only remember one accident. A boy from Cae Draw was 
playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
  Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 

 Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life 
and his wife for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae 
Cottages and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They 
married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so 
they both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps referred to the 
Merthyr Village Site). 

 
They have used this route extensively both for access, for example, to 
Pencoedcae Cottages and to Gelli Du and to go for walks on the many 
tracks on the Waun.  He still uses the route regularly but not as much 
as in previous years. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all 
of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
are all clearly defined. 

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other 
and lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
and all of the area down to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in 
identifying routes on a map, but nevertheless, attempted to trace all the 
claimed routes on a map and said he had walked every single path.  
He went shooting and walking and took his two sons walking and 
shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There 
were four ponds – one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the 
Snakey alongside the Road, one big one on the left side of the 
Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go 
anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 
from the Davies brothers’ father to go shooting – although the 
permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 

Page 979



Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
conformism. 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area.  Mr Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 
Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways).  His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years 
ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to 
Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to 
describe when looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people 
are still walking there.  The land is altering daily because people 
can’t access it so easily and paths need cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so 
do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, 
loaned to the Council by Mr Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 

1.14 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations 
and Objections 

 
Comments specific to this route have only been received from Mrs. 
Misslebrook, tenant, although Councillors are requested to refer to the 
generic comments, Item 1. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“Troedyrhiw 53 – From below Pencoedcae down Upper Incline 
towards the screens and around pit wash 

 

Page 980



1. Maps not date authenticated. 
2. There are no statements or meeting notes in support of 

this CROW. 
3. The route is not within a SSSI”. 
 

1.15 Other Evidence in Relation to this route. 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village 
Site, March 2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we 
have made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most 
apparent tracks /paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was 
apparent that the site is still used extensively by walkers and more 
locally by trail bikes. In addition, a few horses and sheep were also on 
the site. Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the 
site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”.   

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own 
conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal 
Authority, Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last 
Public Inquiry. The Coal Authority decided to fence off the land. It is 
known that members of the public cut sections of this fence in order to 
gain access to the site and use routes which are the subject of this 
Report. 

 
 The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. 
 An Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks 
 but the owners refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC 
 therefore requested the removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest and forms 
the boundary of a candidate Site of Interest for Nature Conservation. 

 
The western terminus of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open 
Access Land which has been subject to a Restriction Order since 
summer 2006.   

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 53. 

 
2.2 Status 
 

Page 981



2.3 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.4 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.5 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 HISTORICAL AND OTHER EVIDENCE 
 
3.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is 
insufficient evidence that there has been any intention not to dedicate 
it. 

3.2 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the 
Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating 
that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way.  

 
3.3 The route has been described and depicted in a number of 

documentary and cartographic sources. 
 
4.0 MAPS AND OTHER PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
4.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track / path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

 
4.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
5.0 PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND LOCAL AUTHORITY EVIDE NCE 
 
5.1 The 1966, 1970 and 1988 applications clearly indicate that at time the 

route was a footpath. 
 
5.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive map 

or Statement at either of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its 
successors recognised this route and thirty two others –to such a 
degree that this and they were made the subject of legal applications to 
suspend in 1966, 1970 and 1988.   
 

Page 982



5.3 The evidence of the Cyfarthfa Ward list suggests that at this time this 
route was generally recognised as being a Public Right of Way. 

 
5.4 Similarly, although neither the Draft Map of 1979 nor that of 1991 can 

be regarded as a definitive legal document, nevertheless, this route 
was recognised as being a public right of way at those times. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Nine people have given evidence of use of this route. 
 
6.2 The route has been available for public use. 
 
7.0 LANDOWNERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES  
 
71 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations 

made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which 
are set out previously in Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
7.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate 

the claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the 
claimants. This was in line with data protection but officers have now 
been advised that from this stage in the procedure, all details can be 
made public if requested. 

 
7.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health 

and safety concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these 
cannot be taken into consideration when determining this Application.  
Representatives of the owners expressed concern over the erosion on 
the route; again, this cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application. 

 
7.4 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd.  
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the 

user evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors 
are also reminded that at this stage there was no requirement for the 
County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and 
Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of 

Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of 

occupancy of the houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 
1965/66 which allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of 
forty years. 

 

Page 983



 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of 
the industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 
1900s. Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows for 
usage as of right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 

assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed 
in Item 1. Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to 
PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic 

records and from witnesses who have actually used the way is 
consistent one with another and that this is not a case where the 
registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down 

under the relevant legislation. 
 
7.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a 

number of observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken 
into consideration when determining this Application, for example, they 
too have raised concerns about health and safety. 

8.0 SUMMARY 
 
8.1 Officers have presented historic and user evidence for the existence of 

this route as a footpath. 
 

Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the observations from users, landlords and tenants of the 
land, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is 
evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 Taking the above into account, any Order to modify the Definitive Map 
and Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
9.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 

Page 984



for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
9.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
9.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

10.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    

11.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
11.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 53 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C – D on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 53, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 53 
as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 

Page 985



 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 53 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 

Page 986



A

B

C
D

Tip

(disused)

Level

T
rack

(dis)

Tip

(disused)

(disused)

Tip

Track

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,309
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 53

Page 987



Page 988

This page is intentionally left blank



5th October 2009 Report 
 

ITEM 27 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC  
RIGHT OF WAY, FOOTPATH, TROEDYRHIW 53.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all Public Rights of Way in this Item are claimed Public Rights of 
Way. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

An application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of Public 
Rights of Way across land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and 
described respectively on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule 
referred to below (Claim 1). 

 
Troedyrhiw 53 is depicted as “Footpath L” on the NCB Map, and described in 
paragraph 12 of the Schedule.  
 
For much of its length, Footpath L is the eastern section of the Cwm Du Drift Incline 
and in its eastern section it follows the eastern and southern boundaries of Lower 
Colliers Row. 
 
A claim to record a Public Right of Way from the Pencoedcae Incline to Melincanaid 
Parish Road was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 7th January 
2003. This was referred to as Claim A763/4/162, now known as Troedyrhiw 47 and 
contained a very short section of Troedyrhiw 53 on the Cwm Du Drift Incline (Claim 
2).  Troedyrhiw 47 is dealt with at Item 22. 
 
A very short section of this route was also included in a further claim to record a 
PRoW between Lower Brondeg, Heolgerrig to the Forest Road via the (disused) 
Blaencanaid Ironstone Quarries, was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council on 2nd January 2003. This was referred to as A763/4/163 and is now known 
as Cyfarthfa 38 (Claim 3).  Cyfarthfa 38 is dealt with at Item 7. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Appendix 27, Troedyrhiw 53 commences at Point A, its 
junction with the Cwm Du Drift Incline, Cyfarthfa 39, to the east of the ruins of 
Pencoedcae Cottages, grid reference SO 03810534. It proceeds gradually downhill 
in a south-easterly direction through open grassland to its junction with Cyfarthfa 38, 
Point B grid ref. SO 03980526 on the plan. Troedyrhiw 53 then continues along the 
Incline on the line of Cyfarthfa 38 to Point C grid ref. SO 04020525, adjacent to the 
ruins of Pencae Cottages where Cyfarthfa 38 forks sharply from the north and the 
route is joined by Troedyrhiw 63 from the south and Troedyrhiw 47. Troedyrhiw 53 
now continues downhill on the line of Troedyrhiw 47 to point D grid ref. SO 04090522 
where Troedyrhiw 47 continues south-eastward and Cyfarthfa 42 joins from the 
north. Troedyrhiw 53 continues, maintaining its south-easterly direction and entering 
a tree-lined avenue which opens out into an area of ancient woodland. The route 

Page 989



then continues in open grassland as it changes to a general south-south-easterly 
direction, finally veering south-westerly, passing the northern extremity of Troedyrhiw 
54 as it follows the eastern and southern boundaries of the ruins of Lower Colliers 
Row. It terminates on a southern section of Troedyrhiw 54, Point E, grid reference 
SO 04450500. 

 
Councillors are requested to note that the route for determination has been divided 
into two; Points A – B, and D- E. The central sections, between Points B - C and C – 
D are dealt with as sections of Cyfarthfa 38 and Troedyrhiw 47 respectively. 

 
Councillors are therefore requested to determine the routes A – B and D – E on the 
plan. 
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Maps 
 

The entire route of Troedyrhiw 53 is depicted on 1919, 1957 and 1978 editions of the 
OS. The section along the Cwm Du Drift Incline is depicted on a 2005 edition. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The section along the Cwm Du Drift Incline is clearly depicted on a 1967 and 2008 
aerial photograph. 
 

1.5 Printed Books / Journals / Pamphlets / Websites Consulted 
 

The eastern section of this route is depicted on a map in the MTCBC publication, 
“Merthyr Tydfil Official Guide and Street Plan”. 
 

1.6 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.6a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Troedyrhiw 53 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was 
depicted as two sections of Footpath L on the NCB Map and was referred to as 
Footpath L and described in detail in paragraph 12 of the NCB’s Footpath 
Application which stated: 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked ‘Footpath L’ on the Map which runs from 
the footpath described in paragraph 9 above at a point (numbered 20 on the 
Map) about 120 yards East South East of the ruins of Pen-y-coedcae 
Cottages and extends in a South Easterly direction for a distance of about 840 
yards to its termination at a point (numbered 27 on the Map) immediately to 
the north of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row.” 

 

Page 990



Footpath L joined five other routes which were subject to the Application to Suspend, 
Footpaths C, I, M, N and V.  

 
It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes 
Application. 

 
The section along the Cwm Du Drift Incline formed the eastern section of a footpath 
which was included in the March 1988, National Coal Board Opencast Executive 
Application for Suspension. On the Map which accompanied this Application, 
Troedyrhiw 53 was labelled as a section of “Footpath 36” and described in the 
Schedule,       

 
“Part of Footpath 36, being that part which extends from a point approximately 
115 metres south west of the ruin known as “The Dissenters’ Meeting House” 
in an east-south-easterly direction to its junction with Bridleway No. 24 
referred to in paragraph 8 below at a point approximately 395 metres west-
south-west of the property known as “Old Rhyd-y-Car”. 

 
Footpath 36 continued eastward from Footpath L, along the Cwm Du Drift Incline 
(Item 8, Cyfarthfa 39), and westward, from the north-east corner of Lower Colliers 
Row onto a route called bridleway 24, dealt with in this Report at Item 20,Troedyrhiw 
44. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Troedyrhiw 53 is one of the routes the Inspector 
referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr 
Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  
 

1.7 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

The route is found in the extant list of PRoW in the Cyfarthfa Ward dated circa 1951.  
 

Troedyrhiw 53 is included at numbers 1, 2 and 8: 
 

“1. From the “Six Bells Inn” Heolgerrig, via Cwmglo to Pen Cae Wern 
House to Lower Colliers Row hence to the Parish Road. 

 
2. From Brondeg, Heolgerrig, to the Coedcae Bungalow to join the route 

as in No. 1 near Cwmglo, thence to Pen Cae Wern to Lowers Colliers 
Row to the Parish Road. (This route also branches near Pen Cae Wern 
House, the other arm leading to the Parish Road via the Waun.) 

 
8. From Heolgerrig to Cwmdu Colliery and Llwynrheos House to Pen 

Coedcae, Pen Cae Wern, Lower Colliers Row, Old Castle House, to 
the Parish Road.” 

 
1.8 Draft Public Rights of Way Map and Schedule 
 

The 1979 Draft Map depicts this claimed route as the eastern section of Footpath 36 
and it is described in the statement,  

  

Page 991



“F.P.    
Commences on B.R. 34 and proceeds in a south easterly direction over brook 
and passing houses and the turning eastwards along track passing air shaft 
and ‘Pen-y-coedcae’ Farm. Then in a south easterly direction following old 
incline to its termination on B.R. 24”. 

 
In its description, the total length is given as 2000 yards and the width as 2 feet.  

  
Troedyrhiw 53 is also depicted in the 1991 Draft Map as the eastern section of 
Footpath 36. 
 

1.9 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made two site visits route and found it as described above along the 
Cwm Du Drift Incline. Officers found that the topography of the section to the east of 
Lower Colliers Row has changed; they were unable to access this section. 
 

B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Troedyrhiw 53, was issued in June 2008.  
 

1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
The claimant, Mr. Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, submitted: 
 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured red, 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map) and, 
 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 

 
1.3b Interviews with Users 
 
1.3b(1)Mr Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on the 
claimed route and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis, who was born and brought up at Lower Colliers Row and who has 
lived in the area all of his life stated that this is one of the routes which he has used 
without challenge all of his life.  

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born. For 

Page 992



the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis confirmed the route of this specific claim on a map and stated that 
he has used it regularly all of his life. He described occasions when, as a young 
man, he gathered horses from the Waun and drove them down this claimed route 
(and others) to Colliers Row. Mr. Lewis then detailed the position of a stile near the 
church (Cwm Glo Chapel). Other than the new “Danger” signs, the only other signs 
Mr. Lewis recorded were those of CCW.  

 
He stated that no one has ever stopped him going up there and until recently the 
whole area was open. “I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to 
go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 

 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We lived 
there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the paths we 
went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only since about 
1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

Page 993



 
1.3b(2)Mr. and Mrs. Malcolm Connolly stated that they have used this path, Mrs. Connolly 

for all of her life and Mr. Connolly for over 40 years, without challenge. From the 
junction with the north of Lower Colliers Row they walk down the front of the ruins to 
access the Parish Road. They stated that they did not claim this route because they 
claimed several parallel paths and frequently walk between them all. They also 
stated that this route is still used by other people. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, for example, 
to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced.   

 
Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives.  

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged. 

 
Mrs. Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(3)Mr. Elwyn Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. Charlotte 

Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 
3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths 
(including this one) for family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that. 
Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the 
footpaths to the north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Eddie Thomas owned land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs. Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly, including this 
one – just going out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. and Mrs. Elwyn Rees stated that they use Gulley Nanni to access the Waun on 
Cyfarthfa 34 and further routes to the south, often as part of a circular walk.  

Page 994



 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems”. 

 
Mr. Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr. Clive Thomas, local amateur historian and industrial archaeologist stated that he 

has used this route as a section of circular walks although he stopped going to 
Lower Colliers Row about late 1960s once people had moved out. The only time he 
has ever been challenged was in January 2008 – by the owner or his representative. 

 

Page 995



1.3b(5)Mr Elwyn Marshall was born in 1927. He was raised close to Mayor’s Square, 
Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant Lane. 

 
He made several statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses, including 
this one: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the 

Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this 

too. We have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”.  
 
• “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr Village 

put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
• With reference to all of the routes and the whole site, Mr Marshall says 

“I have walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years. It is awkward to 
explain because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on 
whatever track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of 

people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we 

all just went on the site and walked where we wanted. We would take 
any path that took our fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years 
ago when they fenced in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been 
fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I 
wouldn’t go onto other people’s property”.  

 
• Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using 

these routes. 
 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of 
these tracks”. 

 
• Mr. Marshall commented on the danger on the site. “There have 

always been holes there, it’s common knowledge but I’ve walked there 
for over 70 years and only remember one accident. A boy from Cae 
Draw was playing on the screens and lost a leg”. 

 
  Mr Marshall’s evidence covers the period 1931 – 2009. 

1.3b(6)Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his wife 
for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts and 
grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before 
moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps 
referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

Page 996



 
They have used this route extensively both for access, for example, to Pencoedcae 
Cottages and to Gelli Du and to go for walks on the many tracks on the Waun.  He 
still uses the route regularly but not as much as in previous years. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined. 

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, but 
nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said he had 
walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brothers’ 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways).  His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

Page 997



 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.  
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the Council by Mr 
Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
Comments specific to this route have only been received from Mrs. Misslebrook, 
tenant, although Councillors are requested to refer to the generic comments, Item 1. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 

 
“Troedyrhiw 53 – From below Pencoedcae down Upper Incline towards the 
screens and around pit wash 

 

1. Maps not date authenticated. 
2. There are no statements or meeting notes in support of this CROW. 
3. The route is not within a SSSI”. 
 

1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to this route. 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 
2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have made a 
comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks /paths that exist 
on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is still used extensively by 
walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a few horses and sheep were 
also on the site. Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the site can 
be zoned from a hazard point of view”.   

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route. 
 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 

Page 998



sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest and forms the boundary 
of a candidate Site of Interest for Nature Conservation. 

 
The western terminus of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open Access Land 
which has been subject to a Restriction Order since summer 2006.   

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding 
Troedyrhiw 53 and Troedyrhiw 177. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway or Restricted Byway.  
 

2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 Section 53(3)(c)(i). 

 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Evidence has been adduced from maps and documents which indicate that this 

route is a footpath. 
 
2.5 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a footpath under Section 

53(3)(c)(i). 
 
3.0 The Line of the Route 
 
3.1 This route has been divided into two, Troedyrhiw 53 in the west and Troedyrhiw 179 

in the east. 
 

The route on the Cwm Du Drift Incline is clearly visible on the ground.  
 
4.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
4.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption and the way deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there has been any 
intention not to dedicate it. 

Page 999



 
4.2 The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 

1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become 
a Public Right of Way.  

 
4.3 The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 

cartographic sources. 
 
5.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track / path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track / path and 
the way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
6.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 
 
6.1 The 1966, 1970 and 1988 applications clearly indicate that at time the route was a 

footpath. 
 
6.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive map or Statement 

at either of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966, 1970 and 1988.   
 

6.3 The evidence of the Cyfarthfa Ward list suggests that at this time this route was 
generally recognised as being a Public Right of Way. 

 
6.4 Similarly, although neither the Draft Map of 1979 nor that of 1991 can be regarded 

as a definitive legal document, nevertheless, this route was recognised as being a 
public right of way at those times. 

 
7.0 User evidence 
 
7.1 Nine people have given evidence of use of this route. 
 
7.2 The route has been available for public use. 
 
8.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
81 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
8.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 

Page 1000



with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
8.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application.  Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
8.4 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd.  
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1. Officers 
disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 

witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 
8.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 
 Officers have presented historic and user evidence for the existence of this route as 

a footpath. 
 

Page 1001



Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
observations from users, landlords and tenants of the land, and having taken into 
account the information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, any Order to modify  the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f Way exists. 

 
 E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided including 

historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that in the case of the claimed 
Public Right of Way 

 
 In respect of Troedyrhiw 53 
 
 1) Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route between Points A – B and marked with a bold 
line on the Plan, Appendix 27, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 

Page 1002



Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
 And 
 
 In respect of Troedyrhiw 179 
 2) Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route between Points D - E and marked with a bold 
line on the Plan, Appendix 27, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that 
the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
k Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set out in 1 
and 2 above. 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 

Page 1003



Page 1004

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1005



Page 1006

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 8th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 110 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at its western junction with Cyfarthfa 38 (a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) in an open area at Point A on the plan 
 Troedyrhiw 110, grid reference SO03660510 and it proceeds along a 
 grass track in a general north-easterly direction, passing its junction 
 with Troedyrhiw 136 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order) to a stile 
 at Point B, grid reference SO03680510. It continues in a general north-
 easterly direction to Point C, grid reference SO03700510 where it 
 changes to a general east-south-easterly direction and continues to 
 Point D grid reference SO03800507, its common junction with 
 Cyfarthfa 38 in the east (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and 
 Troedyrhiw 138 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order) where it 
 terminates. 
 
 This route formed a section of the route described by users in relation 
 to Cyfarthfa 38. Cyfarthfa 38 was reported to committee in October 
 2009 and January 2010 and included in the unconfirmed 2010 Order; 
 these reports are appended at the end of the item relating to Cyfarthfa 
 104.  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D.  
 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 35

Page 1007



1.3 Aerial Photographs 
  
 The route is visible on aerial photographs of 2003, 2006, 2008 and 
 2010. 
 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.5 User Evidence 
 
 The user evidence below is that adduced in relation to the route 
 Cyfarthfa 38. The evidence given by the users for the section of the 
 route known as Troedyrhiw 110 formed part of the described route of 
 Cyfarthfa 38. 
 
 In October 2007 Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father 

had been born at Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she has only used this particular route since 
moving to Brondeg but she and her husband (main claimant, Mr. 
Malcolm Connolly), regularly use it for walks and walking their dog, 
even after the whole site was fenced in 2007. Mrs. Connolly stated that 
this was a direct tramroad to the Cyfarthfa Furnaces and submitted 
photographs showing sections of the claimed route. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Connolly recognise that this route continues further 
to the west - and they use this extended track. They stated however, 
that they had only submitted a claim on this section, Cyfarthfa 38, 
because they thought it unnecessary to claim the western extension as 
the Forestry Commission (owners there) allow access over their land. 

 
Mrs. Connolly stated that she only began using the routes in the north 
of the Merthyr Village Site after moving to the Heolgerrig area but she 
did not have to invent them, they already existed. She sees these 
paths (in the north, the Heolgerrig area) as more used these days than 
those in the south – apart from the Parish Road. 
 
Mrs Connolly also stated that the previous owners of Bleancanaid 
Farm used the Parish Road, Troedyrhiw and a section of Cyfarthfa 38 
to access their farm. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly have regularly used this route, for example, to 
walk their dogs – even after being prevented from doing so when the 
area was fenced. Mrs. Connolly also pointed out that if people were 
prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog 

Page 1008



fouling of streets and people would become more unhealthy as they 
have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of this path; they have never had 
their use of it challenged. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly’s evidence for this route covers the period 
between 1996 and 2009. 

 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
This is one of the routes which Mr. Lewis Lewis has used all of his life. 
He recognises that a gate has been erected by the Junior’s Tip, a stile 
further along (which has now rotted) and a plank placed across the 
Nant Rhydycar.  

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

Page 1009



 
He continued: 

 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 
 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 
 Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes 

which he has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the 
previous 30 years. He no longer walks these routes because of illness. 
He occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends in 
Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the 
countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of 
his claimed routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an 
interesting walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his 
claims.  

 
In a written statement, Mr. Brian Thomas described walking this route, 
 

 “This has to be the longest of the routes on site and I last walked it 
 sometime during August 2006. After leaving Brondeg there is a rough 
 track going south, as you proceed you pass another track to the right 
 which leads to Upper Colliers Row. By staying on the first track you 
 walk upon the disused Cwm Glo – Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway, 
 where impressive hedges are on both sides of the track and there is 
 another stile. The pathway still has the stone tramway sleepers clearly 
 visable and to your right is a wire fence which crosses claimed footpath 
 from Cwm Glo to Upper Wern. At this point you descend a steep bank 
 to negotiate the Nant Rhyd y Car which is also commonly known as 
 Nant Llwyn Yr Eos by crossing the other side the path follows a 
 southerly direction where a large oak tree had crashed down. 

 
 The tramway now grassed over in a south by south westerly direction 
 to come to claimed footpath which connects Gernant Lane with Lower 
 Colliers Row and by continuing along this route is another stile onto an 
 inclined tramway. On this tramway turn right, head in a north westerly 
 direction for some good distance before turning left onto the 
 Blaencanaid Ironstone Tramway before heading south again. The 
 tramway is crossed by a small brook, nearby you turn right into a small 
 grove of silver birch trees which leads to a tree lined roadway which 
 narrows considerably into a footpath. 

 

Page 1010



 Head west you come to old ironstone workings and yet again is 
 another stile. Continue along footpath close to forestry plantation 
 towards the west with the forestry fencing on your left. Eventually you 
 will come to a tree-lined grassed over track which ends on a claimed 
 right of way road to Blaencanaid Farm and Forestry Commission 
 plantation.” 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one 
has ever challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his 
grandfather’s brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have 
had to use at least half of these paths when going to work. He has only 
sought or been given permission once – when going on the Merthyr 
Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on 
horseback or on bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also 
walks on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 

 2006. 
 
 Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife (also a claimant) had been 

brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages, and her aunts and grandmother 
lived at Gelli Du. They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before 
moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well 
(Mr. Phelps referred to the Merthyr Village Site).  

 
Mr. David Phelps stated that his wife has used this route for all of her 
life and he has used it for over 50 years. He and his sons (they more 
often than him) have ridden horses on this path and they used to spend 
every weekend walking to fish or shoot and therefore used this route 
regularly.  

 
Mr. Phelps described this route which he stated branches off from the 
south, from his house, up the tramroad, past the Juniors Football Pitch 
then Upper Wern. It joins further claimed routes (to Colliers Row and to 
the Parish Road) and links up with a web of routes over the Merthyr 
Village Site. Mr. Phelps stated that the northern section was originally 
the tramway to the quarry and up to Blaencanaid and that there are still 
stones on the surface of this route.  

 
He said that this claimed route was regularly used as a public highway, 
groceries and coal, for example, were carried on this road. It was 
drained by iron drains which discharged into a small brook running to 
the Coedcae.  

 

Page 1011



Mr. Phelps regularly used to drive from the Heolgerrig Road up this 
road or the Cwm Glo Road to Gelli Du. He stated “until they removed 
their poles, the Electricity Board looked after the road”.  

 
His wife used this route as one of two alternatives to walk to school 
(depending which field the cows were in). 

 
Mr Phelps complained about a gate erected by the Davies Bros; he 
maintains that this should not be there. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly. He stated that all 
of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
are all clearly defined,  

 
 “Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and 
 lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr. Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
and all of the area down to the Parish Road. Mr. Phelps found difficulty 
tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
 “I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe 
 when looking on a map. Although signs are up, people are still walking 
 there. The land is altering daily because people can’t access it so 
 easily and paths need cutting back”. 

He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 
  
 He stated that he had walked every single path. He went shooting and 
 walking and took his two sons walking and shooting on every single 
 path. 

 
The only time Mr. Phelps has either sought or received permission to 
go anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 
from the Davies brother’s father to go shooting – although the 
permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr. Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
conformism. 

 
Of obstructions on the routes, Mr. Phelps stated, 

 
“There are stiles on the tracks but some of them are in a poor 

 state now.  

Page 1012



 
Only the gate to the Juniors has ever been locked I could go 
anywhere I wanted. It’s only recently that there have been 
problems, when they started fencing”. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area. Mr Phelps stated that he has seen “stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 
Heolgerrig and Swansea Road. He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways). His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years 
ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to 
Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr. Phelps gave evidence that his wife and his whole family went 
walking. They often took a picnic, would use different routes, for 
example, they had best views below Blaencanaid then followed the old 
tramway all the way up. 

 
Mr. Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and 
so do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

  
 “but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
 grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr. Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (loaned to the Council 
by Mr. Phelps) showing all of the footpaths.  

 
Mr. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
 Mr. Tony Chaplin, claimant for another route, stated that he has 

frequently used the northern section of this route as a means of access 
to the rest of the site. He would then either go southward or eastward 
and up to Upper Colliers Row.  

 
Mr. Tony Chaplin says that he has not been on the Merthyr Village Site 
since it was fenced off. He stated that he had originally said that he 
would support the Coal Authority until the remediation scheme which 
took the railway arch etc. into account was developed.  

 
Mr. Chaplin also has health problems and difficulty with walking now. 

 
Mr. Chaplin looked at maps which he had previously submitted. He 
stated that most of his walks have been within the 1966 Colliers Row 

Page 1013



site. He stated that he has lived close to this area since 1963 and has 
used these routes regularly since then. 

 
He has never been challenged whilst using this route and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it. He has frequently seen 
others using it. 

 
Mr. Chaplin’s evidence covers the period between 1963 and 2007. 

 
 Mr. Donald and Mrs. Linda Davies, claimants for other routes, have 

lived for 40 years at Heolgerrig and have used many of the routes over 
the Merthyr Village Site regularly throughout this period. There was 
never any concern over walking anywhere on the site until recently. Mr. 
and Mrs. Davies explained that they walk their dog twice a day, he in 
the night and she in the morning. They try to walk circular routes, 
sometimes shorter walks than others and generally, Mrs. Davies has 
walked on more of the routes than her husband. Mr. Davies also said 
that he has regularly taken his grandchildren there and their grandson 
has used certain routes on a pushbike. 

 
Mr. Davies stated that he has extensive knowledge of the whole site. 
He has walked all of the footpaths on the area for many years and 
described the many historical sites there, for example, the Dissenters 
Chapel to which access has now been denied although he has 
accessed it for at least 40 years; until 20 years ago outdoor services 
were held there. Mr. Davies has always assumed that there have been 
rights there (the Merthyr Village Site) for hundreds of years and has 
gathered this information from people who have always lived there. 
Mrs. Davies agreed and also said “people before us had a right to use 
it and the old miners used it”. Mr Davies pointed out that the tramways 
are not dangerous. He moved to Shirley Gardens in the 1960s and has 
a friend who knows the whole area very well and who took him around 
everywhere.  

 
Although they have used the entire route, they agreed that they make 
more use of the northern section of Cyfarthfa 38 as this is a means of 
access to other routes or can be used as a route home. Mrs. Davies 
uses this particular route more often than her husband. They frequently 
see other people using this route and before the Merthyr Village Site 
was fenced off they regularly saw horse riders using it. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Davies agreed that it is more difficult to follow their used 
routes on a map than on the ground - but they know them very well. 

 
No one has ever questioned their use of this route and both stated that 
if there were any ‘private’ signs they would have found different routes.  

 
Mr. Davies also stated that no one has ever challenged them 
concerning their use of these routes and continued: 

 

Page 1014



 “I met a Coal Authority engineer – spoke to him and asked his attitude 
 re fencing. He stated that he was coming to check fences. He made no 
 other remarks about the fencing and he didn’t say anything about me 
 walking there although, of course, he saw me walking there”. 

 
Both Mr. and Mrs. Davies stated that they would not walk across a field 
or any private land. They maintain that no one has ever tried to prevent 
them from using the paths although they are aware that at least one, in 
the north, was blocked at one time in the recent past.  

 
Mr. Davies stated that he knows they are not supposed to walk the 
‘Merthyr Village Site now as it has been fenced off “but we carry on as 
usual”. Mrs. Davies agreed saying “we know it’s at our own risk”. Mr. 
Davies also stated 

 
 “I cannot see why people aren’t allowed to access the area. 

There were chapels/houses/tramway etc there, people lived 
there, so why should people today be discriminated against from 
people years ago?” 

 
Mrs. Davies added, 

 
 “There was never an issue about going on there, I don’t think 

about it, generations used it, the footpaths have been marked 
out by generations of use.” 

 
Mr. Davies also pointed out that stiles on the site indicate that the land 
is for people to use.   

 
 They also stated that there are far more used paths than have currently 
 been claimed. These are all used by many people, they always see 
 people there; the last time he walked  (2 days previously) he saw 2 
 women with dogs and a man on own. He also saw horse riders, at least 
 2/3 times a week on specific tracks. 

 
Mrs. Davies stated, 

 
 “People are there all the time – we all go at different times – one 

man meets his friend from Caedraw every morning and then 
goes around on the tramroad”. 

 
Mr. Davies also submitted 10 photographs in evidence. 

 
Mr. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
Mrs. Davies’ evidence covers the period between 1967 and 2007. 

 
 Mr. Elwyn Rees, claimant for other routes, has used this route all of his 

life. He also stated that his father and then stepfather, together with 

Page 1015



other men, used sections of this path to go to work at the Cwmdu Drift 
and believes that this route is the original “road of stones”. 

 
Mr. Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to Mrs. 
Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years 
before moving to Heolgerrig. He stated that he thought himself 
fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely area and had the whole 
of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site as a 
playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 
4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the 
footpaths for family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before 
that. Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish 
Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. Mrs. Megan Rees 
has knowledge of the area since sometime before her marriage to Mr. 
Elwyn Rees in 1955 when she went to live at Lower Colliers Row. She 
and her husband confirmed that they have always used this route for 
walks, often with their children and often as part of circular routes 
involving other claimed routes within the Merthyr Village site.  

 
Mrs. Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths regularly – 
just going out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 
Mr. Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths. 
He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 
in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own land in West Merthyr). 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on 
the site, with no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child 
and for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
 “I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
 Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 
 any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should 
 be noted that these cottages were so historically important that a 
 number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 

 

Page 1016



 At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
 described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
 During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
 become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
 Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they 
have never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk 
there; they have always walked on the same tracks which have been 
clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no one 
has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
 “I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
 drove on these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take 
 the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
 because of health problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

  
1.6 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations 

and Objections 
 
1.6(a) Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie 

Price, discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting 
read:  

 
 “Access off the Forest Road is by a stile marked ‘farmers use only’. 
 The route then goes around the tree line of the forest. It is not too bad 
 to walk there but from the flat area to the curve formed around the 
 junction with the forks of claims 168x, there are a large number of sink 
 holes. Usually it is impossible to use the route at point D and only 
 possible to cut across the fenceline.” 

 
1.6(b) Mrs. Misslebrook (representing another tenant) made a number of 

comments specific to this route. She maintains that it is outside Open 
Access land and is therefore private land.  

 
On 12th May, 2007 she wrote, 

 

Page 1017



“On previous documents received from the Council, there are 
three stiles indicated, the first two are evident and are farmers 
access stiles. These are erected by farmers for the purpose of 
periodically moving around the farm between fenced areas 
without damaging them. (see enclosed photo)”. 

 
She further indicated that from the brook onwards, many routes were 
just sheep tracks as her father had had 300 sheep. She also said that 
because the Forestry fence has not always been there it is impossible 
to claim 20 years use on one route as the fence position has changed. 

 
On 19th September 2007 Mrs. Misslebrook made additional comments 
in response to the notes taken at interview.  

 
4 “Claimed ROW LA Map – Served Map A763/4/163 Blaencanaid 

Ironstone Quarries to Lower Brondey (Jan 2006) 
 

As noted in meeting 
 
Additional comments 

 
“Lower Brondey does not exist so no legal entity on this claim 
anyway. Steep inclines either side of washout. In terms of the 
map the served copy indicates 3 stiles but fails to mention they 
are marked up farmers access only. Mr Mansell Short has 
sheep in part of this area and the stiles are used for him to gain 
access with his sheep dogs, to gather sheep, without damaging 
the fences. Therefore I request the claim be struck from 
consideration based on discussion points and legal entity.” 

 
On a further occasion, 14th July 2008, Mrs. Misslebrook wrote: 

 
“Cyfarthfa 38 –Brondeg to juniors – (over barbed wire fence?) 
Over drop towards junction at Pen Cae – Up Incline – (over 
another barbed wire fence?) Across sink holes joining forestry 
boundary – along boundary to forestry road. 

 
1. None of the maps are date authenticated. 
2. Only two statements supporting others names blacked 

out therefore can’t be used in evidence 
3. This route is not within a SSSI 
4. This route is not within a TPO.” 

 
1.7 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village 
Site, March 2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we 
have made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most 

Page 1018



apparent tracks /paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was 
apparent that the site is still used extensively by walkers and more 
locally by trail bikes. In addition, a few horses and sheep were also on 
the site. Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the 
site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

   
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own 
conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 

 
Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal 
Authority, Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last 
Public Inquiry. The Coal Authority decided to fence off the land. It is 
known that members of the public cut sections of this fence in order to 
gain access to the site and use routes which are the subject of this 
Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. 
An Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks 
but the owners refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC 
therefore requested the removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 

 
The southern section of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open 
Access Land which has been subject to a Restriction Order since 
summer 2006.   

 
2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application based on long user to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 110. 

 
2.2 Status 
 
2.3 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.4 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.5 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 

Page 1019



minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / 

map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected 
a notice on site stating that the route is not to become a PRoW.  

 
3.3 Evidence has been submitted of signs erected on stiles but this would 

not be sufficient to satisfy S. 31(6), and as discussed, the evidence for 
the presence of such signs is limited. Mrs. Misslebrook stated that 
signs stating that the stiles were for farmers use only were erected by 
her father. She has submitted photographs depicting “Farmers access 
only” hand written on the top bars of stiles. The bars are more recent 
than the 1960s. No evidence for the date for this writing has been 
submitted.  

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 

normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself. In this case it would be the period between 2nd January 1983 and 
2nd January 2003; extensive user evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
3.6 Officers consider that the evidence establishes the existence of the 

right now claimed, viz. footpath over the period 3rd January 1983 and 
2nd January 2003 and at all material times before it. 

 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTO 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track/path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

  
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  

Page 1020



 
6.2 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations 

made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which 
are set out previously in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 
5th October 2009. 

 
6.3 Representatives of Merthyr Village Ltd. pointed out that the route is 

accessed by a stile marked “Farmers Access Only” and that access is 
also denied by a fence.  

 
6.4 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate 

the claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the 
claimants. This was in line with data protection but officers have now 
been advised that from this stage in the procedure, all details can be 
made public if requested. 

 
6.5 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed 

health and safety concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, 
these cannot be taken into consideration when determining this 
Application.  Representatives of the owners expressed concern over 
the erosion on the route, again this cannot be taken into consideration 
when determining this route. 

 
6.6 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the 

user evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors 
are also reminded that at that time there was no requirement for the 
County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and 
Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is 

accepted that this is a multi-part process in the development of the 
Definitive Map and Statement, and subsequent investigations have 
revealed via user evidence and documentation that the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of 

Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of 

occupancy of the houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 
1965 /66 which allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of 
forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of 

the industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 

Page 1021



1900s. Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows for 
usage as of right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 

assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public which has 
been dealt with at Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th 
October 2009. Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to 
PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic 

records and from witnesses who have actually used the way is 
consistent one with another and that this is not a case where the 
registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
6.7 Landowners are also concerned about the effects of erosion and 

washout on this route; again, Councillors cannot take this into 
consideration when determining this route. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down 

under the relevant legislation. 
 
6.8 Tenants 
 
 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a 

number of observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken 
into consideration when determining this Application, for example, they 
too have raised concerns about health and safety. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook states that the stiles along the route within the 

Merthyr Village Site were erected for farmers’ use only and bore signs 
to this effect. Officers have seen these (now dilapidated) stiles. There 
were no signs on them in autumn 2007 or summer 2009 and Officers 
cannot find physical evidence that signs have been erected on them. 

 
 Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment concerning the Forestry Commission 

fence has been discussed above, where it is recognised that users are 
currently using a route to the north of the original one. 

 
 It is the opinion of Officers that Mrs. Misslebrook’s comment re “Lower 

Brondey” relates, in fact, to a typing error, sic “Lower Brondeg”. 
 
 Mrs. Misslebrook also raised the issue of fences and stated that that a 

large section of this route is only a sheep track.  
 
 Councillors will also be aware that in 2001 there was a severe outbreak 

of foot and mouth disease which affected access and recreation 
throughout the County Borough. Advice Note 15, issued by the 
Planning Inspectorate deals with this issue. Mrs. Misslebrook has 
suggested this interrupts what she considers to be the relevant 20 year 

Page 1022



period. This matter is dealt with in Item 1 of the Rights of Way 
Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 Officers have presented pedestrian user evidence for the existence of 

Troedyrhiw 110 as a footpath.  
 
 Officers therefore present this route for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 

the right now claimed, viz. footpath over the period 3rd January 1983 
and 2nd January 2003 and at all material times before it.        

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local 
people, landowners and other interested parties, and having taken into 
account the information received from interested parties both prior to 
and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does 
exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route 
included on the application. It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the route. An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
 Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
 relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that 

Page 1023



this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of way exists. 

 
 Your officers therefore recommend that a footpath be recorded along 
 the route on the plan in Troedyrhiw 110. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.     

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 110 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 110, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 

Page 1024



 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 
Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
110 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 110 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 1025



Page 1026

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B
C

D

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:967
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

    TROEDYRHIW 110

Page 1027



Page 1028

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 6th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 116 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The route commences at Point A on the plan, Troedyrhiw 116 at grid 
 reference SO04640487 on Troedyrhiw 175 (a route on the 
unconfirmed  2010 Order) and proceeds initially along a grass path, 
then down an  embankment to Point B where it crosses 
Troedyrhiw 72 (a route on the  unconfirmed  2011 Order) before 
continuing to Point C, grid reference  SO04760480, its junction with 
Troedyrhiw 142 (also before committee today for determination). From 
here it continues in a general easterly direction through a wooded area 
to Point D, grid reference SO04790480. It then turns to a general 
southerly direction and continues through the wooded area to Point E, 
grid reference SO04790473 where it changes to a general south-south-
westerly direction to Point F, grid reference SO04780471 where it 
terminates at its junction with Troedyrhiw 68 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2010 Order).   

 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E - F. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route which walkers utilise. 

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4  Aerial Photographs 
 

 

Agenda Item 36

Page 1029



 With the exception of the section in the wooded area the route is visible 
on aerial photographs of 2001, 2003, 2006, 2008  and 2010. 
 

 
   

 
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 

Page 1030



She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Troedyrhiw 116.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

Page 1031



 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
 “They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 
 when they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole 
area was open, courting couples always walked up the Parish 
Road and there were always pimpers there. 
 

 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

Page 1032



 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 116. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 116 as a clearly defined and 
well-used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 

Page 1033



 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
  
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2  Five people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

Page 1034



7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 116 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F on 
the Plan,  Troedyrhiw 116 and as described above. 

Page 1035



8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 116 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C – D – E – F on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 116, 
has been used for such period so as to raise presumption 
that it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
116 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

Page 1036



 
  
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 116  

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1037



Page 1038

This page is intentionally left blank



B

C

D

E

F

A

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

210912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,756
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 116

Page 1039



Page 1040

This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000                                                              www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 18th September 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 121  

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 
   
 The route commences to the south of a stile at Point A on the plan, 
 Troedyrhiw 121, grid reference SO04060471 and it proceeds skirting the edge 
 of e re-vegetated coal tip in a general south-easterly direction, then a general 
 southerly direction and then a general south-westerly direction to Point B, grid 
 reference SO04080468, its junction with Troedyrhiw 128. It then continues 
 descending the southern bank of the re-vegetated coal tip to Point C, grid 
 reference SO04070468 where it turns to a general southerly direction and 
 continues across open and to Point D, grid reference SO04090462. Here it 
 changes to a general south-south-westerly direction and continues through a 
 gap in the tree line to another open area. It continues through this open area 
 to Point E, grid reference SO04080459 where it turns to a general south-
 westerly direction and continues passing through a gap in another tree line 
 before changing to a general southerly direction at Point F, grid reference 
 SO04060457. From here it continues through the open area to Point G, grid 
 reference SO04060455. It then reverts to a general south-westerly and 
 continues to  Point H, grid reference SO04050454 where it turns to a general 
 south-south-easterly direction and continues through the open area to 
 terminate at Point I, grid reference SO04100447, its junction with Troedyrhiw 
 45 (the Parish Road – a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order). 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 
 as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I. 
 
 Councillors are also requested that there is evidence of a further route that 
 leads off Troedyrhiw 121. 
 

 

Agenda Item 37

Page 1041



 They are requested to note that evidence exists for the route depicted with a 
 dashed line between Points B – J on the plan, Troedyrhiw 121. This route 
 commences at Point B, grid reference SO04080468 and it proceeds along the 
 top of a re-vegetated coal tip in a general north-north-easterly direction to 
 Point J, grid reference SO04060470, its junction with Troedyrhiw 61 (a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) where it terminates. This route is known as 
 Troedyrhiw 128. 
   
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 
 as depicted by a dashed line between Points B – J.  
 
 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 
1.4  Aerial Photographs 
 
 Sections of the route to the north and south are clearly visible on the 
 following aerial photographs dated 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010. 
 
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined
 and as described above.  
 
 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 

married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr including these 
paths from this time.  
 
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being prevented 
from doing so when the area was fenced. He accesses them from a number 
of different directions, making a choice of the route on the ground when out 
walking. He uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole network of 
paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, has 
never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and does not 
recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid. She was brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid. She and 

Page 1042



her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives. She 
has used this route for walks as an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when 
the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of different 
directions and then chooses which route to walk on the ground. She uses 
them as sections of longer walks using the whole network of paths in west 
Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never been 
challenged while using it and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Troedyrhiw 121 and Troedyrhiw 128. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 121 and Troedyrhiw 128 as clearly defined 
and well-used footpaths. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.6 Officers recognise that these routes are footpaths, have user evidence of the 
 route as footpaths and therefore present these routes to Councillors as  
 footpaths. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 
 Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
 twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence 
 of the Public Right of Way. 
 

Page 1043



 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map 
 under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice 
 on site stating that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 
 enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
 twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as 
 there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
 dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period   looked 
 at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
 years prior to the date the route came into question. In this case Officers 
 consider that it would be the period between 1987 and 2007, user evidence 
 exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 
 public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route is clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
5.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
5.2 Two people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

6.0 SUMMARY 
 
6.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 
 enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
 twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and 
 there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
 dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 
 right now claimed. 
 
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 121 and Troedyrhiw 128 for determination as  
 footpaths. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and aerial 
 photography in support of the existence of this route as a footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 
 evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

Page 1044



 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements of 
 S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of  intention 
 to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route. An Order to modify the 
 Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be made under S.53(3)(b) 
 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
 highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
 highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view that this route is a highway and has 
 no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 
 rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all material times 
 before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
 Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
 S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map and 
 Statement: Troedyrhiw 121 as depicted by a bold line between Points A – B – 
 C – D – E – F – G – H - I, Troedyrhiw 128 as depicted by a dashed line 
 between Points B - J on the plan Troedyrhiw 121 and as described above. 
 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
7.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the report. If 

Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), there will be a 
financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also for dealing with a 
Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and there is an objection to it / 
them. 

 
7.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the 

route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
7.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it.  

 
 

Page 1045



8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    

9.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
9.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 121 
 

a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A – B 
– C – D – E – F – G – H – I on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 121, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not been 
rebutted by other evidence. 

 
            b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 121 as a footpath. 
 
            c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.  

 
            d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
In respect of Troedyrhiw 128 

 
a)  On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

 support that the route marked with a bold line between Points B 
 – J on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 121, has been used for such period 
 so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
 footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
 evidence. 

 
            b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 128 as a footpath. 
 
            c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.  

 

Page 1046



            d) if any objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 

 
 

 Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set out 
above 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 121 

 
September 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 

Page 1047



Page 1048

This page is intentionally left blank



A

C

D

E

F

G
H

I

J

B

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

060912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,566
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

    TROEDYRHIW 121

Page 1049



Page 1050

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 9th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 122  

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Troedyrhiw 122 at grid 
 reference SO04500432 on Troedyrhiw 175 (previously recorded 
 incorrectly as Troedyrhiw 49 on the 2010 order) and proceeds in a 
 general south-easterly direction,  crossing a culvert over the Nant 
 Canaid, to Point B, grid reference SO04510430 where it 
 terminates at its junction with Troedyrhiw 145 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order. 
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route which walkers utilise and an important link 
 between Troedyrhiw 175 and Troedyrhiw 145. 
 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4  Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is obscured by trees and is not visible on aerial photographs. 
 

 
   

 
 

 

Agenda Item 38

Page 1051



1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

 
 

Page 1052



 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 

Page 1053



 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 122. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 122 as a clearly defined and 
well-used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  

Page 1054



 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
5.2 Four people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

6.0 SUMMARY 
 
6.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 

Page 1055



 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 122 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B on the Plan, 
 Troedyrhiw 122 and as described above. 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 

Page 1056



8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 
that the route(s) will need to be signed. 

 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    
 

9.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 122 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 122, has been used 
for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has 
not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
122 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as 
set out above. 
 
 
 

Page 1057



 
  
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 122 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1058



A

B

194.5m

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:476
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 122

Page 1059



Page 1060

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 6th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 129 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Troedyrhiw 129 at grid 
 reference SO04370508, its junction with Troedyrhiw 140 (a route on 
 the unconfirmed 2011 Order) and proceeds in a general south-easterly 
 direction across re-vegetated coal tip to terminate at Point B, grid 
 reference SO04420500, its junction with Troedyrhiw 180 (a route on 
 the unconfirmed 2011 Order, but also before committee today for 
 correction).  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route which walkers utilise. 

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.4  Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is visible on aerial photographs of 2003, 2006, 2008 and 
 2010. 
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  

 

Agenda Item 39

Page 1061



 
 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

 
 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 

specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Troedyrhiw 129.  

 

Page 1062



He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

Page 1063



 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
 “They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 
 when they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole 
area was open, courting couples always walked up the Parish 
Road and there were always pimpers there. 
 

 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

Page 1064



 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 
 before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
 Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 129. 
 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 129 as a clearly defined and 
well-used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Right of Way. 

Page 1065



 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Five people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 

Page 1066



  
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 129 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B on the Plan, 
 Troedyrhiw 129 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 

Page 1067



8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 
considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 129 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 129, has been used 
for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has 
not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
129 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as 
set out above. 
  
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 

Page 1068



 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 129 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1069



Page 1070

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

Tip

(um)

Path

Tip

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:669
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 129

Page 1071



Page 1072

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 9th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 137 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at its junction with Cyfarthfa 38 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010) Order at Point A, grid reference SO03800507 and 
 proceeds in a general south-easterly direction to Point B, grid reference 
 SO03970497, its junction with Troedyrhiw 177 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order) where it terminates.  
 
 This route formed a section of the route described by users in relation 
 to Troedyrhiw 52.   Troedyrhiw 52 was reported to committee  
 October  2009 and included in the unconfirmed  2010 Order; this 
 report is appended at the end of this item.  

 
Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
route as depicted between A – B.  

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Aerial Photographs 
  
 With the exception of the section obscured by trees, the route is 
 depicted on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 
 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 

 

Agenda Item 40

Page 1073



 
1.5  User Evidence 
 
 The user evidence below is that adduced in relation to the route 
 Troedyrhiw 52. The evidence given by the users for  the section of 
 the route known as Troedyrhiw 137 formed part of the  described 
 route of Troedyrhiw 52. 
 
 Mr. Connolly did not submit an evidence form but attended for interview 
 on three occasions.  
 

He pointed out that fencing of the Merthyr Village site had prevented 
access to almost all footpaths for most of 2007 so that they would now 
be overgrown and not reflect their use in other years.  

 
He also stated that he believes this fencing is illegal and submitted 
letters from the Commission for Local Administration in Wales and from 
Simon Cadenhead (MTCBC) which, he maintained, say that claimed 
rights of way need Stopping Up Orders before closure. 

 
Mr. Connolly has walked this claimed route since the 1950s. He does 
not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the gate in the 
south; he has never been challenged while using the route and has 
never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
He also submitted a copy of Map No. 2 referred to in the Colliers Row 
(070846) Application dated the 15th day of June 1966, on which he 
drew his claimed routes and others which he uses and a copy of the 
Opencast Coal Act 1958, The Colliers Row Application 070846. 

 
Mr. Connolly pointed out that this whole area is the only recreational 
facility in the Cyfarthfa Ward. Without use of these paths, children and 
others on horses will be unable to use the Cwm Incline and will have 
nowhere to ride. 

 
Mr. Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1953 and 2009. 
 

 Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born 
at Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family 
have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives. She has used 
this route for walks as an adult since the 1950s. 

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the 
Cwmdu and the Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the 
Castle Pit over past Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain 
and from Heolgerrig using all the footpaths. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly have regularly used this route, for example, to 
walk their dogs, – even after being prevented from doing so when the 
area was fenced.   

Page 1074



 
Mrs. Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using 
the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for 
exercise.  

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the route other than the 
gate in the south. Mrs. Connolly has never been challenged while using 
the route other than the day that she was on the Merthyr Village Site 
when her husband, Mr. John Walters and Mrs Judith Jones were also 
walking there. When she and her husband stated that they intended 
continuing on the Old Parish Road to Melincanaid for a walk, Mr. 
Walters remonstrated with them but they ignored him and continued on 
their walk. This post-dated the period of the claim. 

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
She also stated that the previous owners of Blaencanaid Farm used 
the Parish Road (Troedyrhiw 69), Troedyrhiw 48 and a section of 
Cyfarthfa 38 to access their farm. 

 
Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that there was a gate on the Parish 
Road entrance to this route which was tied to keep in the horses. As a 
child she walked up this path to the three tips (spoil from ironstone 
quarries) and also used to watch her brother and friends gathering 
horses for people in Colliers Row. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or 
received permission to go on any of these claimed paths; they have 
never had their use of the paths challenged. 

 
Mrs. Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 19450 and 2009. 

 
 Mr. Morgan Harris stated that this is one of the routes on the Merthyr 

Village Site which he has used for all of his life. He stated of the 
Merthyr Village Site, 

 
 “I use this area for pleasure now but I’ve always used it. I also used to 
 go to visit friends at the farm and I’ve used all these paths for at least 
 60 years. I have always used the paths on a regular basis, in my youth 
 I was always up there playing, setting the ferns on fire, and since I’ve 
 retired I’m there everyday. I rode there all the time when I was younger, 
 I kept horses in Rhydycar and I rode after work most nights, I was living 
 in Cae Draw. Now I only walk there, mostly in the evenings. 

 
 During the 1920s strike, this area became called the Patches. People 
 went up past Colliers Row to the mountain to dig for coal, some sold it 
 too. My grandfathers did this, they carried it down on their backs. We 
 had to be careful (in the late 1940s/50s) where we ran because of the 
 holes which had been dug for coal in the Patches”. 

Page 1075



 
 “Charlotte Connelly lived up Colliers Row. They were going to take 
 away Malcolm Connelly’s land for building and that’s why he did these 
 claims” 

 
Mr. Harris stated that he uses far more paths than he actually claimed 
and described these. He said that he has never been challenged on 
any or them or sought or been given permission to use any of them. 
He said, 

 
 “I took my children there and I take my grandchildren there. When I 
 was young we always went there as a group of boys, sometimes we’d 
 be riding there, the boys from Rhyd y Car would come up the path. I 
 always see other people when I’m up there walking now. 

 
He has always assumed he has a right to go there, he has never been 
challenged while using the route and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. He has often seen others using it.  

 
Mr. Harris’ evidence covers the period between 1947 and 2007. 

 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
too small when his children were born. For the past 20 years he has 
only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 
named). He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 

Page 1076



 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 
the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He described 
the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
With reference to this specific route, Mr. Lewis stated that  

 
 “I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 
 Mr. Elwyn Rees said that he had extensive knowledge of the whole of 
 the west Merthyr area. He was born in Lower Colliers Row and lived 
 there for 32 years and then moved to Heolgerrig. He said that he 
 knows every thing about the area and the only complication is the 
 Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 
 
 Mr. Rees stated that there has been a locked gate at the junction with 
 the Parish Road for many years but Mr Rees – and others – have 
 always climbed this and lifted their dogs over. Mr Rees said that he has 
 used this route for leisure and walked there regularly up until about a 
 year ago. 
 

Mrs. Megan Rees has used this route since she married Mr. Elwyn 
Rees, 1955. She confirmed that they used to walk up this route 
regularly - just for a walk with their children and later their 
grandchildren. She knows the walk as the ‘Three Tips Walk’. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on 
the site, with no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child 
and for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
 “I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
 Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 

Page 1077



 any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should 
 be noted that these cottages were so historically important that a 
 number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 

 
 At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who
 described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
 During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
 become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
 Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they 
have never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk 
there; they have always walked on the same tracks which have been 
clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the routes and no one 
has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
 “I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
 drove on these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take 
 the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
 because of health problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 

 Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes 
which he has claimed (including this one) and many others, at least 
once a month for the previous 30 years. He no longer walks these 
routes because of illness. He occasionally used these routes as a short 
cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation 
and enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of 
his claimed routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an 
interesting walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his 
claims.  

 
Mr. Thomas had also previously sent a letter, as an individual, but 
enclosing copies of the Merthyr Naturalists’ Programme of Events, 
written accounts of walks by members and a copy of a letter from Mr. 
John Walters (project director, Merthyr Village) giving (conditional) 
agreement for the Society to walk on the Merthyr Village Site. Mr. 

Page 1078



Thomas submitted a further copy of this letter giving names of the 
people who had joined the walk.  

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one 
has ever challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his 
grandfather’s brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have 
had to use at least half of these paths when going to work. He has only 
sought or been given permission once – when going on the Merthyr 
Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on 
horseback or on bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also 
walks on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Thomas stated that he thought the route of this claim continued to 
the Forest Road. He has never seen any signs along the route and has 
always thought that he could use the route. 

 
Mr. Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 
1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating 

when he last walked each of the routes. In this submission he 
stated that he has walked this – and the other claimed routes on 
a regular basis since 1977, 

2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes, 
 3. a copy of a letter from Mr. John Walters, Project Director,  
  Merthyr Village Ltd., giving conditional permission to Mr.  
  Thomas and  other (listed) Councillors of the Merthyr Naturalists 
  Society to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Site, and 

 4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early 
  developers of coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 

 
Mr. Thomas’ evidence covers the period 1977 – 2007. 

 
 Mr. Elwyn Marshall telephoned the Rights of Way Project Officer and 

requested a meeting to discuss his use of paths in the West Merthyr 
area. 

 
Mr. Marshall stated that he was born in 1927 and He was brought up 
close to Mayor’s Square, Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across 
the road) to Gernant Lane. He stated that he uses all of the paths and 
tracks on the Merthyr Village Site and made several further statements 
which apply to all of the routes which he uses: 

 

Page 1079



• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the 
whole of the Merthyr Village Site”. 

 
• “The Waun has always been our back garden. My 

daughter says this too. We have all always gone there for 
pleasure not for work”.  

 
•  “There have never been any signs or notices there until 

Merthyr Village put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
•  “I have walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years. It is 

awkward to explain because I do not understand the map 
but I’ve always gone on whatever track I fancied – and 
everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see 

dozens of people walking these tracks on a Sunday after 
chapel”. 

 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a 

right of way, we all just went on the site and walked 
where we wanted. We would take any path that took our 
fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years ago when 
they fenced in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s 
been fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the 
gates or fences, I wouldn’t go onto other people’s 
property”.  

 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the 

routes but I can’t understand a map and can’t show you 
on a map. I could use any of these tracks”. 

 
Mr. Elwyn Marshall stated that he has used this route all of his life, 

 stating, 
 

“I often use these routes. Colliers Row people call it the “Three 
Tips walk”, we call it “The Patches”. I do not go further west from 
these routes”. 

 
Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using any 
of these routes. 

 
Mr. Marshall’s evidence covers the period between 1931 and 2009. 
 

 Mr. Tony Cousins says he walks the majority of the site still (and for at 
least 23 years) walks his dogs daily.  He uses a variety of routes. 

 
Mr. Cousins described a walk he uses regularly which incorporates this 
route. He stated that he walks down Cwmglo Road, then through the 

Page 1080



left of football field, over the stile and then chooses one of three 
different routes (all claimed PRoWs) to access Troedyrhiw 48. 

 
He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept 
open to encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which 
are naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped 
from using it. He continued, 

 
 “There are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only 1 of a number of people 
 who still walk there. I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he’d been 
led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who’ve 
lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  

 
He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept 
open to encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which 
are naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped 
from using it.  

 
Mr. Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 
 

 Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life 
and his wife for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae 
Cottages and her aunts and grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They 
married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before moving to Pantycelynen so 
they both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps referred to the 
Merthyr Village Site). 

 
They have used this route extensively both for access, for example, to 
Pencoedcae Cottages and to Gelli Du and to go for walks on the many 
tracks on the Waun.  He still uses the route regularly but not as much 
as in previous years. 

 
He described many routes and their links to each other, many are 
claimed footpaths, all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all 
of the tracks on the Merthyr Village Site link one with another and they 
are all clearly defined. 

 

Page 1081



“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other 
and lots go over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 
claims on the map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area 
from below Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square 
and all of the area down to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in 
identifying routes on a map, but nevertheless, attempted to trace all the 
claimed routes on a map and said he had walked every single path.  
He went shooting and walking and took his two sons walking and 
shooting on every single path. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go 
anywhere on the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission 
from the Davies brothers’ father to go shooting – although the 
permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was 
evidence of much history there, for example all the industry and non-
conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes 
although he is aware that others have been told off for having dogs 
loose in the area.  Mr Phelps stated that he has seen“stacks of people 
walking the paths”; describing men from Abercanaid and Pentrebach 
walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and also people from 
Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed 
bridleways).  His evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years 
ago’, for example, vehicles on the Parish Road and access to 
Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to 
describe when looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people 
are still walking there.  The land is altering daily because people 
can’t access it so easily and paths need cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so 
do others.  He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 
“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 

Page 1082



Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be 
backed by Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, 
loaned to the Council by Mr Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 

1.7 Information from Landowners and Other Parties 
 

Councillors are also requested to refer to the generic responses from 
the owner, their representatives and tenant as detailed in Item1 of the 
Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009 

1.7(a) Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie 
Price, discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting 
state: 

 
“This is fenced where it joins claim 156x and Mr. Walters does 
not believe that there is a gate or stile providing access at this 
point. It goes through three tips, an area of sink holes and old 
mine workings.” 

 
1.7(b) Mrs. Misslebrook, tenant (and representing another tenant) wrote on 
 12th May 2007: 
  
 “At the end of this alleged right of way is a locked gate and the area is 
 fenced in. There are various fencings off by the Coal Authority along 
 this alleged right of way which have been in existence for 18 months.” 
 
 Notes taken at a meeting with Mrs. Misslebrook read: 
 
 “Mrs. Misslebrook outlined a triangular area where she said it is only 
 possible to walk if bent double”.  
 
 In response to the Investigation Report on this route, Mrs. Misslebrook 
 wrote, 
 
 “Troedyrhiw 48 – V paths across near fatality joining a 3 tips  running to 
 Parish Road” 
 
 1. Maps are not date authenticated. 
 2. There are no statements only meeting notes. 
 3. This route is not within a SSSI”.  
 
 
 
1.8 Other Evidence in Relation to This Route 
 
1.8(a) This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 

 

Page 1083



In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village 
Site, March 2009 Halcrow state: 

 
 “The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we 
 have made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most 
 apparent tracks/paths that exist on the site.  During our visit it was 
 apparent that the site is still used extensively by walkers and more 
 locally by trail bikes.  In addition, a few horses and sheep were also on 
 the site.  Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the 
 site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

 
 Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own 
 conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 
 

Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal 
Authority, Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last 
Public Inquiry. The Coal Authority decided to fence off the land. It is 
known that members of the public cut sections of this fence in order to 
gain access to the site and use routes which are the subject of this 
Report. 

 
 The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. 
 An Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks 
 but the owners refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC 
 therefore requested the removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 
 
 The majority of this route runs through a Site of special Scientific 
 Interest. 
  
2.0 ASSESSMENT 

 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 
 before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
 Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 137. 
 
2.2 Status 
 
2.3 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.4 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.5 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
 

Page 1084



3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement / statutory declaration / 

map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected 
a notice on site stating that the route is not to become a Public Right of 
Way.  

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the 
normal period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the 
right of way for long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application 
itself. In this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 
8th January 1983 and 7th January 2003; extensive user evidence exists 
for this period.  

 
3.4 The route and the detour have been available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
7.0 LANDOWNERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES 
 
7.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations 

made by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which 
are set out previously in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 
5th October 2009. 

Page 1085



 
7.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate 

the claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the 
claimants. This was in line with data protection but officers have now 
been advised that from this stage in the procedure, all details can be 
made public if requested. 

 
7.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health 

and safety concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these 
cannot be taken into consideration when determining this Application.  
Representatives of the owners expressed concern over the erosion on 
the route; again, this cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application. 

 
7.4 E.T. Landnet  on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the 

user evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors 
are also reminded that at this stage there was no requirement for the 
County Borough to maintain a register of PRoW as the County 
Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National Parks and 
Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 With regard to their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is 

accepted that this is a multi-part process in the development of the 
Definitive Map and Statement, and subsequent investigations have 
revealed via user evidence and documentation that the route exists. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of 

Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of 

occupancy of the houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 
1965 /66 which allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of 
forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of 

the industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 
1900s. Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows for 
usage as of right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 
Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 
assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed 
in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. . 
Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic 

records and from witnesses who have actually used the way is 
consistent one with another and that this is not a case where the 
registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

Page 1086



 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down 

under the relevant legislation. 
 
7.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a 

number of observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken 
into consideration when determining this Application, for example, they 
too have raised concerns about health and safety. 

8.0 SUMMARY 
 
8.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
highways, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the 
existence of this route as a footpath. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 

the right now claimed.        
 

Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the interviews with users, claimants, tenants of the land, 
local people, landowners and other interested parties, and having 
taken into account the information received from interested parties both 
prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that rights of way 
does exist over this routes. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route 
included on the application. It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the route. An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53 (3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
 Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
 relevant evidence. 
 

This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 

Page 1087



obstructions of the highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  
 
9.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
9.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
9.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

10.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.     

11.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
11.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 137 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 137, has been used 
for such period so as to raise presumption that it has 
been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has 
not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
137 as a footpath. 

 

Page 1088



 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 137 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 1089



Page 1090

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

Tra
ck

Quarries

P
a
th

 (u
m

)

(disused)

P
a
th

 (u
m

)

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,632
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 137

Page 1091



Page 1092

This page is intentionally left blank



5th October 2009 Report 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A PUBLIC  
RIGHT OF WAY, TROEDYRHIW 52. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, all PRoWs in this Item are claimed PRoWs. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

An application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of PRoWs 
across land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and described 
respectively on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule referred to 
below (Claim 1). 

 
Troedyrhiw 52 is depicted as “Footpath K” on the NCB Map and described in 
paragraph 11 of the Schedule. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Appendix 26, this route commences at Point A, grid 
reference SO 03720534, on the Cwm Du Drift Incline, Cyfarthfa 39, immediately east 
of the ruins of Pencoedcae Cottages. It proceeds in a general south-easterly 
direction, initially skirting coal tips and then continuing gradually uphill through open 
grassland to join Cyfarthfa 38 and 56 at Point B grid ref SO 03910506. Troedyrhiw 
52 then maintains its south-easterly direction through open woodland and finally 
through tips (known as the “Three Tips”) to its termination at Point C, grid reference 
SO 04000494. 

 
In addition, a claim to record a PRoW from the Parish Road to Blaencanaid ironstone 
Quarries was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 12th February 
2003. This was referred to as A763/4/168, now known as Troedyrhiw 48 (Claim 2). 
The route of Troedyrhiw 48 was two forks in the north (to join Cyfarthfa 38) and a 
southern section to the Parish Road.  Officer’s opinion is that Troedyrhiw 48 consists 
of its eastern fork and southern section, as dealt with at Item 23, and the western 
fork remains within Troedyrhiw 52 (Points B to C) and is Troedyrhiw177.   
 

1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.3 Maps 
 

With the exception of the extreme northern section, this route is depicted on the 
1875 OS map and the entire route is depicted on 1919 and 1957 editions. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph. 
 

1.5 Government Orders and Records  

Page 1093



 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Troedyrhiw 52 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was 
depicted as Footpath K on the NCB Map and the entire route of Footpath K was 
described in detail in paragraph 11 of the NCB’s Footpath Application which states: 

 
“A footpath delineated and Marked ‘Footpath K’ on the Map which runs from a 
footpath described in paragraph 9 above at a point (numbered 19 on the Map) 
about 50 yards South East of the ruins of No. 1 Pen-y-coedcae Cottages and 
extends in a general South Easterly direction for about 530 yards to meet a 
footpath described in paragraph 20 below at a point (numbered 23 on the 
Map) about 500 yards West South West of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row.” 

 
Footpath K joined three other routes which were subject to the Application to 
Suspend, Footpaths I, N and T. 

 
It was one of the twenty nine footpaths described in the Vehicular Routes 
Application. 
 
This route was not marked on the Map which formed part of the 1988 Application to 
Suspend. 
 

1.6 Site Visits 
 

Officers have inspected this route. In relation to the northern section, (Points A to B) 
they walked the discernible section around the tips in the north but the section in the 
open grassland was not clearly visible on the ground.  Officers also walked the 
southern section (Points B to C) from its junction with Cyfarthfa 38 to its junction with 
Troedyrhiw 48 – this section was clearly discernable.  
 

B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Troedyrhiw 52, was issued in June 2008.  
 

1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
The main claimant, Mr. Edward Foley, Head of Engineering, MTCBC, submitted: 

 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured red, 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map) and, 

Page 1094



 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 
 

1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
There is a distinct difference between the user evidence for the northern (between 
Points A and B) and southern (between Points B – C) sections of this route.  

 
 In relation to the northern section, Mr. Malcolm Connolly stated that the route is no 

longer evident on the ground because of lack of use. Mr. Lewis Lewis and Mr. David 
Phelps (evidence as below) have however, stated that at a period in the past they 
have used every path on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
A number of people have given evidence of use of the southern section - . 

 
1.3b(1)Mr. Malcolm Connolly pointed out that fencing of the Merthyr Village site had 

prevented access to almost all footpaths for most of 2007 so that they would now be 
overgrown and not reflect their use in other years.  

 
He also stated that he believes this fencing is illegal and submitted letters from the 
Commission for Local Administration in Wales and from Simon Cadenhead 
(MTCBC) which, he maintained, say that claimed rights of way need Stopping Up 
Orders before closure. 

 
Mr. Connolly has walked this claimed route since the 1950s. He has never been 
challenged while using the route and has never asked permission of anyone to use 
it. 

 
He also submitted a copy of Map No. 2 referred to in the Colliers Row (070846) 
Application dated the 15th day of June 1966, on which he drew his claimed routes 
and others which he uses and a copy of the Opencast Coal Act 1958, The Colliers 
Row Application 070846. 

 
Mr. Connolly pointed out that this whole area is the only recreational facility in the 
Cyfarthfa Ward. Without use of these paths, children and others on horses will be 
unable to use the Cwm Incline and will have nowhere to ride. 

 
Mr. Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1953 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(2)Mrs. Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on 
the whole area all their lives. She has used this route for walks as an adult since the 
1950s. 

 
Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the Cwmdu and the 
Lucy Thomas Pits and in addition, men came from the Castle Pit over past 
Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig using all the 
footpaths. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly have regularly used this route, for example, to walk their dogs, 
– even after being prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.   

Page 1095



 
Mrs. Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
Mrs. Connolly has never been challenged while using the route other than the day 
that she was on the Merthyr Village Site when her husband, Mr. John Walters and 
Mrs Judith Jones were also walking there. When she and her husband stated that 
they intended continuing on the Old Parish Road to Melincanaid for a walk, Mr. 
Walters remonstrated with them but they ignored him and continued on their walk. 
This post-dated the period of the claim. 

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
She also stated that the previous owners of Blaencanaid Farm used the Parish Road 
(Troedyrhiw 69), Troedyrhiw 48 and Troedyrhiw 52 and a section of Cyfarthfa 38 to 
access their farm. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged. 

 
Mrs. Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(3)Mr. Morgan Harris stated that this is one of the routes on the Merthyr Village Site 

which he has used for all of his life. He stated of the Merthyr Village Site, 
 

“I use this area for pleasure now but I’ve always used it. I also used to go to 
visit friends at the farm and I’ve used all these paths for at least 60 years. I 
have always used the paths on a regular basis, in my youth I was always up 
there playing, setting the ferns on fire, and since I’ve retired I’m there 
everyday. I rode there all the time when I was younger, I kept horses in 
Rhydycar and I rode after work most nights, I was living in Cae Draw. Now I 
only walk there, mostly in the evenings. 

 
During the 1920s strike, this area became called the Patches. People went up 
past Colliers Row to the mountain to dig for coal, some sold it too. My 
grandfathers did this, they carried it down on their backs. We had to be careful 
(in the late 1940s/50s) where we ran because of the holes which had been 
dug for coal in the Patches”. 

 
“Charlotte Connelly lived up Colliers Row. They were going to take away 
Malcolm Connelly’s land for building and that’s why he did these claims” 

 
Mr. Harris stated that he uses far more paths than he actually claimed and described 
these. He said that he has never been challenged on any or them or sought or been 
given permission to use any of them. 

 
He said, 

 

Page 1096



“I took my children there and I take my grandchildren there. When I was 
young we always went there as a group of boys, sometimes we’d be riding 
there, the boys from Rhyd y Car would come up the path. I always see other 
people when I’m up there walking now. 

 
He has always assumed he has a right to go there, he has never been challenged 
while using the route and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. He has 
often seen others using it.  

 
Mr. Harris’ evidence covers the period between 1947 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(3)Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 

his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born. For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
With reference to this specific route, Mr. Lewis stated that  

 
He continued: 

 
“I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

Page 1097



 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(4)Mr. Elwyn Rees said that he had extensive knowledge of the whole of the west 

Merthyr area. He was born in Lower Colliers Row and lived there for 32 years and 
then moved to Heolgerrig. He said that he knows every thing about the area and the 
only complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
Mr. Rees stated that there has been a locked gate at the junction with the Parish 
Road for many years but Mr Rees – and others – have always climbed this and lifted 
their dogs over. Mr Rees said that he has used this route for leisure and walked 
there regularly up until about a year ago. 

 
Mrs. Megan Rees has used this route since she married Mr. Elwyn Rees, 1955. She 
confirmed that they used to walk up this route regularly - just for a walk with their 
children and later their grandchildren. She knows the walk as the ‘Three Tips Walk’. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else  - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 

Page 1098



“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 

 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he 

has claimed (including this one) and many others, at least once a month for the 
previous 30 years. He no longer walks these routes because of illness. He 
occasionally used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but 
mainly used them for recreation and enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims.  

 
Mr. Thomas had also previously sent a letter, as an individual, but enclosing copies 
of the Merthyr Naturalists’ Programme of Events, written accounts of walks by 
members and a copy of a letter from Mr. John Walters (project director, Merthyr 
Village) giving (conditional) agreement for the Society to walk on the Merthyr Village 
Site. Mr. Thomas submitted a further copy of this letter giving names of the people 
who had joined the walk.  

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. 

 
The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He occasionally 
goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on other paths and 
on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Thomas stated that he thought the route of this claim continued to the Forest 
Road. He has never seen any signs along the route and has always thought that he 
could use the route. 
 
Mr. Thomas also submitted a number of documents: 

 

Page 1099



1. a schedule describing this and other claimed routes and stating when he last 
walked each of the routes. In this submission he stated that he has walked 
this – and the other claimed routes on a regular basis since 1977, 

2. a map depicting each of his claimed routes, 
3. a copy of a letter from Mr. John Walters, Project Director, Merthyr Village Ltd., 

giving conditional permission to Mr. Thomas and other (listed) Councillors of 
the Merthyr Naturalists Society to go on a walk on the Merthyr Village Site, 
and 

4. a photocopy of an article about Robert and Lucy Thomas (early developers of 
coal mines in this west Merthyr area). 

 
Mr. Thomas’ evidence covers the period 1977– 2007. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr. Elwyn Marshall telephoned the Rights of Way Project Officer and requested a 

meeting to discuss his use of paths in the West Merthyr area. 
 

Mr. Marshall stated that he was born in 1927 and He was brought up close to 
Mayor’s Square, Heolgerrig then 61 years ago moved (across the road) to Gernant 
Lane. He stated that he uses all of the paths and tracks on the Merthyr Village Site 
and made several further statements which apply to all of the routes which he uses: 

 
• “The Waun to me has always been open, it covers the whole of the 

Merthyr Village Site”. 
 
•  “The Waun has always been our back garden. My daughter says this 

too. We have all always gone there for pleasure not for work”.  
 
•  “There have never been any signs or notices there until Merthyr 

Village put up ‘Danger’ signs”. 
 
•  “I have walked here since 1938, for the last 78 years. It is awkward to 

explain because I do not understand the map but I’ve always gone on 
whatever track I fancied – and everybody else does the same”. 

 
• “In the 1930s, the chapels were full and you would see dozens of 

people walking these tracks on a Sunday after chapel”. 
 
• “As far as I am concerned there is no such thing as a right of way, we 

all just went on the site and walked where we wanted. We would take 
any path that took our fancy. Nobody ever stopped us until two years 
ago when they fenced in the site. I haven’t gone anywhere that’s been 
fenced in since then, I wouldn’t go through the gates or fences, I 
wouldn’t  go onto other people’s property”.  

 
• “I can show anybody anything up there. I know all the routes but I can’t 

understand a map and can’t show you on a map. I could use any of 
these tracks”. 

 
Mr. Elwyn Marshall stated that he has used this route all of his life, stating, 

 

Page 1100



“I often use these routes. Colliers Row people call it the “Three Tips walk”, we 
call it “The Patches”. I do not go further west from these routes”. 

 
Mr. Marshall stated that he has never been challenged while using any of these 
routes. 

 
Mr. Marshall’s evidence covers the period between 1931 and 2009. 
 

1.3b(7)Mr. Tony Cousins says he walks the majority of the site still (and for at least 23 
years) walks his dogs daily.  He uses a variety of routes. 

 
Mr. Cousins described a walk he uses regularly which incorporates this route. He 
stated that he walks down Cwmglo Road, then through the left of football field, over 
the stile and then chooses one of three different routes (all claimed PRoWs) to 
access Troedyrhiw 48. 

 
He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful 
and it would be a shame if people were stopped from using it. He continued, 

 
“There are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day but I go 
every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee I use the ones 
described at least weekly. 

 
I will continue to walk there – and I am only 1 of a number of people who still 
walk there. I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, and have never 
seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all the time. 

 
People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, families 
who have been brought up there say there have always been rights of way.” 

  
He believed he had the right to use these routes because he’d been led to believe 
that they are registered rights of way by people who’ve lived in Heolgerrig all their 
lives.  

 
He stated that he felt it was very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are naturally beautiful 
and it would be a shame if people were stopped from using it.  

 
Mr. Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2009. 
 

1.3b(8)Mr David Phelps stated that he has used this route for most of his life and his wife 
for all of her life as she was brought up at Pencoedcae Cottages and her aunts and 
grandmother lived at Gelli Du.  They married in 1953 and lived at Gelli Du before 
moving to Pantycelynen so they both know the whole area very well (Mr Phelps 
referred to the Merthyr Village Site). 

 
He still uses the route regularly but not as much as in previous years. 

 

Page 1101



He described many routes and their links to each other, many are claimed footpaths, 
all of which he has used regularly.  He stated that all of the tracks on the Merthyr 
Village Site link one with another and they are all clearly defined. 

 
“Everything links up to the Parish Road and all link to each other and lots go 
over towards Blaencanaid or to the Wern”. 

 
Mr Phelps also stated that he could have put at least another 10-12 claims on the 
map, ones which he and other people have always used. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he has ridden and walked on the whole area from below 
Blaencanaid to the top of Blaencanaid, the Mayor’s Square and all of the area down 
to the Parish Road.  He found difficulty in identifying routes on a map, but 
nevertheless, attempted to trace all the claimed routes on a map and said he had 
walked every single path.  He went shooting and walking and took his two sons 
walking and shooting on every single path, saying, 

 
“That used to be our weekends, shooting and fishing.  There were four ponds 
– one near the Parish Road near Rhydycar, the Snakey alongside the Road, 
one big one on the left side of the Parish Road and one in Coedcae”. 

 
The only time Mr Phelps has either sought or received permission to go anywhere on 
the Merthyr Village Site was when he had permission from the Davies brothers’ 
father to go shooting – although the permission was to carry a gun, not to walk there. 

 
Mr Phelps described the beauty of the area and said that there was evidence of 
much history there, for example all the industry and non-conformism. 

 
He has never been challenged in relation to his use of the routes although he is 
aware that others have been told off for having dogs loose in the area.  Mr Phelps 
stated that he has seen “stacks of people walking the paths”; describing men from 
Abercanaid and Pentrebach walking their dogs over all of the paths on the site and 
also people from Heolgerrig and Swansea Road.  He also gave evidence of regularly 
seeing horses being ridden there (on routes which are now claimed bridleways).  His 
evidence of vehicular use, however, was from ‘years ago’, for example, vehicles on 
the Parish Road and access to Pencoedcae Bungalow. 

 
Mr Phelps found difficulty tracing the routes on a map; he said,  

 
“I could walk them tomorrow, I know them all – not so easy to describe when 
looking on a map.  Although signs are up, people are still walking there.  The 
land is altering daily because people can’t access it so easily and paths need 
cutting back”. 

 
He nevertheless followed a number of the routes on an NCB map. 

 
Mr Phelps stated that he still walks on the Merthyr Village Site – and so do others.   
 
He no longer goes into bulk of the site,  

 

Page 1102



“but if I have a bit of weather I will do it again, and take my great 
grandchildren there when they’re a bit older”. 

 
Mr Phelps concluded by saying that everything he had said could be backed by 
Celtic Energy who produced a map (an NCB 1966 map, loaned to the Council by Mr 
Phelps) showing all of the footpaths. 

 
Mr Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1950 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Phelps’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 
 

1.4 Landowners and Other Parties – Interviews and Written Observations and 
Objections 

 
Comments specific to this route have only been received from Mrs. Misslebrook, 
tenant, although Councillors are requested to refer to the generic comments, Item 1 
of the Agenda. 

 
 Mrs Misslebrook wrote, 
 

“Troedyrhiw 52 – From Pencoedcae to boundary fence – over barbed wire in 
between two small tips under forestry over more barbed wire to sheep track 
up to three tips 
 
1. Maps not date authenticated. 
2. There are no statements or meeting notes. 
3. The route is not within a SSSI. 
4. This route is not located within open Access Land”. 
 

1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to this Route 
 

This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 
 
 Most of this route runs adjacent to an area of Open Access Land which has been 

subject to a Restriction Order since summer 2006. 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site, March 
2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent 
tracks/paths that exist on the site.  During our visit it was apparent that the site 
is still used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes.  In addition, 
a few horses and sheep were also on the site.  Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”. 

 
Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have formed their own conclusions 
in relation to the existence of this route.   
 

Page 1103



Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding 
Troedyrhiw 52, (Points A – B) and T177 (Points B – C). 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway or Restricted Byway.  
 
2.2 This entire route has been claimed as a footpath under the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981 Section 53(3)(c)(i), and under S53(3)(b) for the section between B and C. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 Evidence has been adduced from maps and documents which indicate that this 

route is a footpath. 
 
2.5 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a footpath under Section 

53(3)(c)(i) [historic]. 
 
3.0 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under S.31 

(6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that 
the route is not to become a PRoW. 

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 

Page 1104



years prior to the date of the application itself.  In this case Officers consider that it 
would be the period between 13th February 1983 and 12th February 2003; extensive 
user evidence exists for this period. 

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
4.0 The Line of the Route 
 

The entire route cannot be discerned on the ground.  
 
5.0 Historical and other evidence 
 

Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption and the way deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence that there has been any 
intention not to dedicate it. 

 
The landowner has not submitted a declaration under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 
1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to become 
a Public Right of Way.  

 
The route has been described and depicted in a number of documentary and 
cartographic sources. 
 

6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 

Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 
indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the 
way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 
and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 
 

The 1966 and 1970 applications by the NCB clearly indicate that at that time the 
route was a footpath. 

 
Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive Map or Statement 
at either of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 

Page 1105



There is considerable difference between the limited user evidence available for the 
north of this route compared with the more extensive evidence available for use of 
the southern section. 

 
The route has been available for public use. 

 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out previously in 
Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application.  Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T. Landnet on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd.  
 
 The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 

clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
 The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 

Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 
 
 This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 

houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965/66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
 The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 

workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
 Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 

the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1. Officers 
disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
 The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 

relevant legislation. 
 

Page 1106



9.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 
observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 

Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of this 
route as a footpath. 

 
Officers therefore present this route for determination as a footpath. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the rights now 

claimed, viz. over the relevant period and at all material times before it. 
 

Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and other 
interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that a 
right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements of S. 

31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application.  It is considered that a presumption o f dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 53 
(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53 (3)(c )(i) Wildlife and 

Page 1107



Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
Your officers therefore recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement as depicted on the Plan, Appendix 3 and described above. 

 
 E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided including 

historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that in the case of the claimed 
Public Rights of Way, Troedyrhiw 52 and Troedyrhiw 177. 

 
 1) In respect of Troedyrhiw 52; Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A – B on 
the Plan, Appendix 26, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
And 
 
 2) In respect of Troedyrhiw 177; Either 
 

1. a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points B - C on 
the Plan, Appendix 26, has been used for such period so as to raise 
presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

Page 1108



 
 b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) If any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities that 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set out in 1 
and 2 above. 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

Page 1109



Page 1110

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1111



Page 1112

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 9th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 142 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Troedyrhiw 142 at grid 
 reference SO04760490 at its junction with Troedyrhiw 145 (a route on 
 the unconfirmed 2011 Order) and it proceeds in a general southerly 
 direction at the edge of an open area and then through deciduous 
 woodland, passing its junction with Troedyrhiw 116 (also before 
 committee today for determination) at Point B (grid reference 
 SO04760480), to Point C where it terminates at its junction with 
 Troedyrhiw 72 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order), grid reference 
 SO04760477.  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route which walkers utilise. 
 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4  Aerial Photographs 
 
 The section of the route that is not obscured by trees is visible on aerial 
 photographs of 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010. 
 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 41

Page 1113



1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

 
 

Page 1114



 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

  

 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 

Page 1115



 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 142. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 142 as a clearly defined and 
well-used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
 

Page 1116



3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Rights of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Four people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

Page 1117



7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 142 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C on the Plan, 
 Troedyrhiw 142 and as described above. 

Page 1118



8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 142 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 142, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
142 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 

Page 1119



to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as 
set out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 142 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1120



A

B

C

E
T

L

Issues

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:989
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 142

Page 1121



Page 1122

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 10th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 143 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Troedyrhiw 143 at grid 
 reference SO04140528 at its junction with Cyfarthfa 39 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2010 Order) and it proceeds through an open area in a 
 general south-easterly direction to Point B, grid reference 
 SO04300514, just to the south of the south-western corner of the 
 Pencae Pond where it changes to a general north-easterly direction 
 and proceeds along the bottom of the bank of the Pencae Pond to 
 Point C, grid reference SO04340514 its junction with Cyfarthfa 114 
 (also before committee today for determination). Here it reverts to a 
 general south-easterly direction and proceeds to Point D, a stile, grid 
 reference SO04350512 (also its junction with Cyfarthfa 137 – a route 
 on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction). After crossing the stile it enters a wooded area and it 
 continues in a general south-easterly direction to Point E, grid 
 reference SO04380509, another stile and also its junction with 
 Troedyrhiw 140 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order). From here it 
 changes to a general north easterly direction and continues to Point F, 
 grid reference SO04390511 where it turns to a general easterly 
 direction and continues to Point G, grid reference SO04400510. It then 
 proceeds in a general north-easterly direction to Point H, grid reference 
 SO04440514 where it terminates at its junction with Troedyrhiw 44 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order). 
  
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F – G – H.  

 
 

 

Agenda Item 42

Page 1123



 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4  Aerial Photographs 
 
 The sections of the route that are not obscured by trees are visible on 
 aerial photographs  of 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010. 
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

Page 1124



 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

  

 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 

Page 1125



 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 143. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 143 as a clearly defined and 
well-used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 

Page 1126



2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 
by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

Page 1127



6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
6.2 Four people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 143 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 

Page 1128



 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F – G 
 – H on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 143 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 143 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D – E – F – G – H on the Plan, 
Troedyrhiw 143, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
143 as a footpath. 

 

Page 1129



 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 143 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1130



A

B
C

D

E

F
G

H

Tip

Sinks

(um)

(disused)

(dis)

Tip

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:2,092
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 143

Page 1131



Page 1132

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 6th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 147 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Troedyrhiw 147 at grid 
 reference SO04570435, its junction with Troedyrhiw 145 (a route on 
 the unconfirmed 2011 Order) and proceeds in a general easterly 
 direction through a deciduous wooded area to point B grid reference 
 SO04650437 where it turns to a general northerly direction and 
 continues through an open area to terminate at Point C, grid reference 
 SO04650439, its junction with Troedyrhiw 144 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order).  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route which walkers utilise. 
 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.4  Maps 
 
 A section of the route is depicted on the 1921 and 1957 OS maps. 
 
1.5  Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is visible on aerial photographs of 2003, 2006, 2008 and 
 2010. 

 

Agenda Item 43

Page 1133



  
1.6 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 it. 
 
1.7 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

 

Page 1134



 Mr Paul Brown confirmed the route on a map and that he uses this 
specific route to access the Waun and further walks.  He stated that he 
usually spends about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a 
number of routes including Troedyrhiw 147.  

 
He used to walk on this and several other routes in the West Merthyr 
area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He 
believes he has a right to walk this path (and the others) and has never 
sought or been given permission to use it.  He stated:  
 

 “I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
 Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
 Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
 have ever been challenged about using this route”. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses 
far more than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm 
Woods.  Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village 
area because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an 
additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he 
can’t actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
 “No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
 right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  The routes have not changed during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 
 

 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 

Page 1135



work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go 
 there. We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and 
 riding  on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was 
 all open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 

Page 1136



 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 147. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 147 as a clearly defined and 
well-used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Rights of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 

Page 1137



 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 
 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 

this Item indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is 
not indicative of public rights on the route.  It is, however, evidence of 
the existence of the track/path and the way in which this claimed route 
links with other routes. 

  
5.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 
photographs are all taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE  
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 

6.2 Five people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 

Page 1138



 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 147 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife a
 nd Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C on the Plan, 
 Troedyrhiw 147 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 

Page 1139



8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 
that the route(s) will need to be signed. 

 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.0 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 147 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 147, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
147 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

  
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 

Page 1140



 
BACKGROUND PAPE RS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 147 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1141



Page 1142

This page is intentionally left blank



A

B

C

200.8m

Track

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:752
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 147

Page 1143



Page 1144

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 18th September 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 148  

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 
 The route commences at Point A on the plan, Troedyrhiw 148 at grid 

reference SO04890449 at its junction with Troedyrhiw 68 (a route on 
the unconfirmed 2010 Order) and it proceeds in a general easterly 
direction along an earth track to a field gate at Point B, grid reference 
SO04950449 where it changes to a general south-easterly direction 
and continues along the earth track to at Point C, grid reference 
SO04950449. It then continues in a general south-westerly direction to 
terminate at Point D, grid reference SO04940445, its junction with 
Troedyrhiw 160 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order but also 
before committee today for correction). 

 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted between Points A – B – C - D. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used 
 and well-trodden route. 
 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4  Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is visible on aerial photographs of 2003, 2006, 2008 and  
           2010. 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 44

Page 1145



1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made site visits to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On these and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 it. 
 
1.6 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including these paths - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses 
them from a number of different directions, making a choice of the 
route on the ground when out walking. He uses them as sections of 
longer walks using the whole network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
Mr Connolly has never asked permission of anyone to use the routes, 
has never had his use of these, or any of the paths, challenged and 
does not recognise any obstructions on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.   

 
She and her husband have regularly used these routes for recreation, 
for example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing 
so when the area was fenced. She accesses them from a number of 
different directions and then chooses which route to walk on the 
ground. She uses them as sections of longer walks using the whole 
network of paths in west Merthyr. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes, has never 
been challenged while using it and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

 
 
 

Page 1146



2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 148. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 148 as a clearly defined and 
well-used footpath. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 
2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 

by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 
 of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
 Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
 Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
 minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
 deny the existence of the Public Right of Way. 
 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 
 declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
 Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
 become a Public Right of Way. 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
 this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
 and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 

Page 1147



 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 
 available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The route is clearly discernible on the ground. 
 
5.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 

above.  
 
5.2 Two people have submitted evidence of pedestrian use. 

6.0 SUMMARY 
 
6.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
  
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 148 for determination as a footpath. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
 aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
 footpath. 
 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route. It is 
 considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 

Page 1148



 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
 material times before it. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C - D on the Plan, 
 Troedyrhiw 148 and as described above. 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
7.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
7.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
7.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.    
 

9.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
9.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 148 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C – D on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 148, has 

Page 1149



been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
148 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 

out above 
 
 
  
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 148 

 
September 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1150



A

B

C

D

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

190912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:450
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 148

Page 1151



Page 1152

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 9th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones  
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 158 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Troedyrhiw 158 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 29th November 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 8th December 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011. 
The 2010 report is appended at the end of this item. 
 
Officers now state that the route included in the 2010 Order was 
incorrect and the walked route actually commences at Point A, grid 
reference SO04820450 and it proceeds along a track in a general 
easterly direction and then a general south-easterly direction through a 
wooded area to a field gate at Point B, grid reference SO04910445. It 
then continues to Point C, grid reference SO04920444 where it 
terminates at its junction with Troedyrhiw 160 (a route on the 
unconfirmed 2011 Order but also before committee today for 
correction).  
 
Councillors are advised that there is very clear evidence on the ground 
that users walk the route as depicted between Points A – B – C. 
 

1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The line of this route is depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph. 
 

 

Agenda Item 45

Page 1153



The small section of the route that is not obscured by trees is clearly 
 depicted on aerial photographs of 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010.   

 
1.5 Site Visits 
 

Officers have made site visits to this route and found it defined and as 
 described above.  
 
1.6  User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including this path - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses it 
from the north, from the Parish Road, via Troedyrhiw 72 or, less often, 
but when he wants a longer walk, he may walk down from Heolgerrig; 
he also occasionally accesses it from the south, from Upper 
Abercanaid. 

 
He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never 
had his use of any of the paths challenged and does not recognise any 
obstructions on the route. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.  She accesses it from the north, from the 
Parish Road via Troedyrhiw 72 or, less often, but when she wants a 
longer walk, she may walk down from Heolgerrig.  She also 
occasionally accesses it from the south, from Upper Abercanaid. 

 
Mrs Connolly gave evidence of early use of this and other routes as 
routes to work.  Her father and many other men walked certain routes 
to go to the Cwmdu, Cwm Pit and the Lucy Thomas Pits, men came 
from the Castle Pit past Melincanaid, men also came over the 
mountain and from Heolgerrig using all the footpaths.  This is one of 
the routes that miners used to and from Upper Abercanaid. 

 
She and her husband have regularly used this route for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 

Page 1154



be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has 
never been challenged while using the route.  She has never asked 
permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2010. 

 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 

Page 1155



 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 158. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 158 as a clearly defined and 
well-used route. 

 
2.3 Status 
 
2.4 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
 BOAT.  
 

Page 1156



2.5 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 
by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
not exist. 

 
2.6 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of 
 the route as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors 
 as a footpath. 
 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED 
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 

of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

  
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the Public Right of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question.  In 
this case Officers consider that it would be the period between 1987 
and 2007, user evidence exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been 

available for public use. 
 
 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE  
  
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS  
 
5.1 Depiction of the route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage – although the available 

Page 1157



photographs are taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
sections of the route. 

 
6.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 
 
6.2 Four people have given evidence of use of this route as a footpath for 

recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 

the right now claimed. 
  

Officers present Troedyrhiw 158 for determination as a footpath. 
 

Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
footpath. 

 
  Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, 

it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 

of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route.  It 
is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 

“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
route is a highway and has no obstructions. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 

the rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all 
material times before it. 

Page 1158



 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 

 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 

and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C on the Plan, 
Troedyrhiw 158 and as described above. 

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.      

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 158 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 158, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
158 as a footpath. 

 

Page 1159



 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 
Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 158 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 

Page 1160



B

A

C

Spreads

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:845
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 158

Page 1161



Page 1162

This page is intentionally left blank



29th November 2010 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 5th November 2010 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Rights of Way Section 
Committee Date 29th November 2010 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
Determination of application to record a public Rig ht of 
Way, Troedyrhiw 158 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The route commences on Troedyrhiw 72 (a route which was included in the 
2010 Order), Point A on the plan Troedyrhiw 158, grid reference SO04820450, 
and proceeds on a well-defined earth track in a general easterly direction to 
terminate on Troedyrhiw 68 (a route which was included in the 2010 Order), 
Point B on the plan, grid reference SO04890451. 

 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this route 

as depicted between Points A – B. 
 
 They are further advised that Officers identify this route as a well-used, well-

trodden track between Troedyrhiw 72 and 68. 
 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 

The line of this route is depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph. 
 

Although obscured by trees, the line of the route but may be depicted on a 
2008 aerial photograph. 

  
1.4 Site Visits 
 

 

Page 1163



 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined and as 
described above. 

 
1.5 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 

married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – including this 
path - from this time.  

  
He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being prevented from 
doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses it from the north, from the 
Parish Road, either via Troedyrhiw 68 or Troedyrhiw 72 or, less often, but 
when he wants a longer walk, he may walk down from Heolgerrig; he also 
occasionally accesses it from the south, from Upper Abercanaid. 

 
He has never asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never had his 
use of any of the paths challenged and does not recognise any obstructions 
on the route. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 
 

 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and 
her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  She 
has used this route for walks as an adult since the 1950s.  She accesses it 
from the north, from the Parish Road, either via Troedyrhiw 68 or Troedyrhiw 
72 or, less often, but when she wants a longer walk, she may walk down from 
Heolgerrig.  She also occasionally accesses it from the south, from Upper 
Abercanaid. 

 
Mrs Connolly gave evidence of early use of this and other routes as routes to 
work.  Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the 
Cwmdu, Cwm Pit and the Lucy Thomas Pits, men came from the Castle Pit 
past Melincanaid, men also came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig 
using all the footpaths.  This is one of the routes that miners used to and from 
Upper Abercanaid. 

 
She and her husband have regularly used this route for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when 
the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were 
prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog-fouling 
of streets and people would become more unhealthy as they would have lost 
this area for exercise. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has never been 
challenged while using the route.  She has never asked permission of anyone 
to use it. 

 

Page 1164



Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2010. 
 
 During site visits, officers have noted one person walking this route. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Troedyrhiw 158. 

 
 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 158 as a clearly defined and well-used 
route. 

 
2.1 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
BOAT. 

 
 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 

the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
 Officers recognise that this route is a footpath, have user evidence of the route 

as a footpath and therefore present this route to Councillors as a footpath. 
 
2.2 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 

Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

  
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of 
the Public Rights of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site 
stating that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period looked 

at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date the route came into question.  In this case Officers 

Page 1165



consider that it would be the period between 1987 and 2007, user evidence 
exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 

public use. 
 
2.3 The Line of the Route 
 
 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
2.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 Depiction of the route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the existence of 

the route and of usage – although the available photographs are taken in the 
summer and foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
2.5 User Evidence 
 

Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
 Two people have given evidence of use of this route as a footpath for 

recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 
 

3.0 SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

right now claimed. 
  

Officers present Troedyrhiw 158 for determination as a footpath. 
 

Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and aerial 
photography in support of the existence of this route as a footpath. 

 
  Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 

evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements 

of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route.  It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has ari sen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evi dence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An Order 
to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could th erefore be made 
under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

Page 1166



 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i ) of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must  be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this route is a highway and has 
no obstructions. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

rights now claimed, viz. over the period 1987-2007 and at all material times 
before it. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements of 
S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rig ht of Way exists. 

 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map and 

Statement as depicted between Points A – B on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 158 and 
as described above. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
 Officer time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  If 

Councillors determine that the Public Right of Way exists, there will be a 
financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with a Public 
Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 

 
 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route 

will need to be signed. 
 
 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it. 

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
5.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 
In respect of Troedyrhiw 158: 

 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B on the plan, Troedyrhiw 158 has been used for such period 

Page 1167



so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 158 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

 
5.2 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as 

set out in 1 above. 
 

Page 1168



Page 1169



Page 1170

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 9th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 160 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 
 

The decision to record the route, Troedyrhiw 160 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 29th November 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 8th December 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011. 
The 2010 report is appended at the end of this item. 
 
Subsequent discussion with users and investigations by officers 
however, has shown that the line of the recorded route is incorrect and 
the route commences at Point A, grid reference SO04590446 at its  
western terminus of Public Right of Way Troedyrhiw 12, grid reference 
SO04590446 and it proceeds along a hardcore track in a general 
south-westerly direction to Point B, grid reference SO04910444. Here it 
changes to a general southerly direction and then a general south-
easterly direction and continues along the hardcore track to Point C, 
grid reference SO04990416, where it terminates at the northern 
terminus of Public Right of Way Troedyrhiw 10. 
 

 Councillors are advised that officers have observed a number of people 
using this route and also evidence of equestrian use on the ground. 

 
 They are also advised that Officers identify this route as a well-

recognised and well-used link between Public Right of Way, bridleway 
Troedyrhiw 12 and Public Right of Way, bridleway Troedyrhiw 10; it is 
also a link between areas such as Heolgerrig and Rhydycar with Upper 
Abercanaid. 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 46

Page 1171



1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

1.4 Maps 
 
The route is depicted on the 2005 Ordnance Survey Rhondda & 
Merthyr Tydfil / Merthyr Tudful Explorer Map. 
 

1.5 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on an aerial photograph of 1967. 
  
 The route is depicted on a 2008 aerial photograph. 
 
1.6 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route; and found the route clearly 

defined and as described above. 
 

1.7  User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – 
including this path - from this time. 

  
He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses it 
from the north, from the Parish Road, either via Troedyrhiw 68 or 
Troedyrhiw 72 or, less often, but when he wants a longer walk, he may 
walk down from Heolgerrig; he also occasionally accesses it from the 
east, from Upper Abercanaid.  He has never asked permission of 
anyone to use this route, has never had his use of any of the paths 
challenged and does not recognise any obstructions on the route. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 

Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole area all their lives.  She has used this route for walks as 
an adult since the 1950s.  She accesses it from the north, from the 
Parish Road, via Troedyrhiw 68 or, less often, but when she wants a 
longer walk, she may walk down from Heolgerrig; she also occasionally 
accesses it from the east, from Upper Abercanaid. 
 
Mrs Connolly gave evidence of early use of this and other routes as 
routes to work.  Her father and many other men walked certain routes 

Page 1172



to go to the Cwmdu, Cwm Pit and the Lucy Thomas Pits, men came 
from the Castle Pit past Melincanaid, men also came over the 
mountain and from Heolgerrig using all the footpaths.  This is one of 
the routes that miners used to and from Upper Abercanaid. 

 
She and her husband have regularly used this route for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has 
never been challenged while using the route.  She has never asked 
permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2010. 

 
 During site visits, officers have noted people walking this route. There 

is also evidence on the ground that horse riders use it. 
 
 Mr. Lewis Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 

demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. 
He commented on this claimed route and many others on the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and, in fact, is on the Merthyr Village Site most days, but prior 
to 20 years ago, he used this and many other routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, 
especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he named). 
He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways on the 
Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, 
the stiles and gates.  

 
 During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
 shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
 mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
 a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
 church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 

Page 1173



 distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
 Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes concerning 
routes of the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths. He 
described the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in 
detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
 I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
 We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
 on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
 open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
 erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 
 

 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 
this route is part of these. 

 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  
 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 
 

Mr Philip Watkins 

Page 1174



Since the route was contructed in the mid 1990s Mr Watkins and his 
wife have used this route in order to access the mountainside. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 160. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 

the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 160 as a clearly defined and 
well-used route and a link between legal public rights of way.  This 
route forms an essential part of the Rights of Way network by linking 
routes in the north with routes in the south and to form a long circular 
route by linking up with the Taff Trail. 

 
2.3 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway 
or BOAT.  

 
 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not 
exist. 

 
 Officers recognise that this route is an important and well-used link 

between two legal bridleways.  They have user evidence of the route 
as a bridleway and therefore present this route to Councillors as a 
bridleway. 

 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
3.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections 

of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 

 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the Public Right of Way. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 

Page 1175



a highway as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 The route has been available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 
 
4.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 MAPS 
 
5.1 The route is depicted on a 2005 Ordnance Survey map. 
 
6.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
 Depiction of the route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the 

existence of the route and of usage. 
 
7.0 USER EVIDENCE 
 
7.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 

 
7.2 Two people have given evidence of use of this route as a footpath for 

recreation and leisure during the relevant period.  Evidence on the 
ground indicates that the route is used as a bridleway. 

8.0 SUMMARY 
 
8.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
a highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 

the right now claimed. 
 
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 160 for determination as a bridleway. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 

aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
bridleway. 

 
 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
 is evident that a right of way does exist over the route. 
 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
 of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route.  It 

Page 1176



 is considered that a presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
 Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement could therefore be 
 made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
 Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim
 “once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
 obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this 
 route is a highway and has no obstructions. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the rights now claimed and that this route forms an essential part of the 
 Rights of Way network by linking routes in the north with routes in the 
 south and to form a long circular route by linking up with the Taff Trail. 
 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
 and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
 and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
 of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 
 
 Officers recommend that a bridleway be recorded on the Definitive Map 
 and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C on the Plan, 
 Troedyrhiw 160 and as described above. 

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
9.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
9.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
9.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

10.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 

required for the purpose of this report.      

Page 1177



11.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
11.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 160 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A - B – C on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 160, has been 
used for such period so as to raise presumption that it 
has been dedicated as a bridleway, and that the evidence 
has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
160 as a bridleway. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
   

 
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 160 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 1178



A
B

C

Upper Abercanaid

Nant Cannaid

Cannaid

Chapel
Lewis Square

Tip

Issues

Weir

Post

160.7m

Ponds Spreads

T
rack

Sinks

P
a
th

 (u
m

)

D
ra

in

Webber House

G
LY

N
D

Y
R

U
S

 C
L
O

S
E

Llys

Pitwood

The Marshalls

Drain

Issues

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:2,871
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 160

Page 1179



Page 1180

This page is intentionally left blank



29th November 2010 Report 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 5th November 2010 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Rights of Way Section 
Committee Date 29th November 2010 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
Determination of application to record a Public Rig ht of 
way, Troedyrhiw 160 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 
1.2 The route commences at the western terminus of legal bridleway, Troedyrhiw 

12, grid reference SO04950446, Point A on the plan, Troedyrhiw 160, and it 
proceeds on a well-defined man-made track in a general west-south-westerly 
direction to Point B, grid reference SO04910444 where it turns to a general 
south-south-westerly direction and continues to Point C, grid reference 
SO04910433.  Here the route changes to a general south-south-easterly 
direction and terminates on Troedyrhiw 72 (a route which was included in the 
2010 Order), at Point D, grid reference SO04930414. 

 
 Councillors are advised that officers have observed a number of people using 

this route and also evidence of equestrian use on the ground. 
 
 They are also advised that Officers identify this route as a well-recognised and 

well-used link between public right of way, bridleway  Troedyrhiw 12 and, 
together with a section of Troedyrhiw 72, public right of way, bridleway 
Troedyrhiw 10; it is also a link between areas such as Heolgerrig and 
Rhydycar with Upper Abercanaid. 

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 
1.4 Maps 

 
The route is depicted on the 2005 Ordnance Survey Rhondda & Merthyr Tydfil 
/ Merthyr Tudful Explorer Map. 

 

Page 1181



 
1.5 Aerial Photographs 
 
 The route is depicted on an aerial photograph of 1967. 
  
 The route is depicted on a 2008 aerial photograph. 
 
1.6 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route; and found the route clearly 

defined and as described above. 
 
1.7 User Evidence 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 

married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr – including this 
path - from this time. 

  
He regularly uses this route to walk his dogs, even after being prevented from 
doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses it from the north, from the 
Parish Road, either via Troedyrhiw 68 or Troedyrhiw 72 or, less often, but 
when he wants a longer walk, he may walk down from Heolgerrig; he also 
occasionally accesses it from the east, from Upper Abercanaid.  He has never 
asked permission of anyone to use this route, has never had his use of any of 
the paths challenged and does not recognise any obstructions on the route. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 

 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 

Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and 
her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  She 
has used this route for walks as an adult since the 1950s.  She accesses it 
from the north, from the Parish Road, either via Troedyrhiw 68 or Troedyrhiw 
72 or, less often, but when she wants a longer walk, she may walk down from 
Heolgerrig; she also occasionally accesses it from the east, from Upper 
Abercanaid. 
 
Mrs Connolly gave evidence of early use of this and other routes as routes to 
work.  Her father and many other men walked certain routes to go to the 
Cwmdu, Cwm Pit and the Lucy Thomas Pits, men came from the Castle Pit 
past Melincanaid, men also came over the mountain and from Heolgerrig 
using all the footpaths.  This is one of the routes that miners used to and from 
Upper Abercanaid. 

 
She and her husband have regularly used this route for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so when 
the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were 
prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog-fouling 

Page 1182



of streets and people would become more unhealthy as they would have lost 
this area for exercise. 

 
She does not recognise any obstructions on the route and she has never been 
challenged while using the route.  She has never asked permission of anyone 
to use it. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2010. 

 
 During site visits, officers have noted people walking this route. There is also 

evidence on the ground that horse riders use it. 
 

2.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Troedyrhiw 160. 

 
 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 160 as a clearly defined and well-used 
route and a link between legal public rights of way. This route forms an 
essential part of the Rights of Way network by linking routes in the north with 
routes in the south and to form a long circular route by linking up with the 
Taff Trail. 

 
 
2.1 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
BOAT.  

 
 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 

the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
 Officers recognise that this route is an important and well-used link between 

two legal bridleways.  They have user evidence of the route as a bridleway 
and therefore present this route to Councillors as a bridleway. 

 
2.2 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 

Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 
 

 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 
Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of 
the Public Rights of Way. 

 

Page 1183



 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under 
S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site 
stating that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway as 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 The route has been available for public use. 
 
2.3 The Line of the Route 
 
 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
2.4 Maps 
 
 The route is depicted on a 2005 Ordnance Survey map. 
 
2.5 Aerial Photographs 
 
 Depiction of the route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the existence of 

the route and of usage. 
 
2.6 User Evidence 
 
 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
 Two people have given evidence of use of this route as a footpath for 

recreation and leisure during the relevant period.  Evidence on the ground 
indicates that the route is used as a bridleway. 

 
3.0 SUMMARY 
 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

right now claimed. 
 
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 160 for determination as a bridleway. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and aerial 

photography in support of the existence of this route as a bridleway. 
 

Page 1184



 Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 
evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 It is concluded that on the balance of probabiliti es all the requirements 

of S.31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the route.  It is 
considered that a presumption of dedication has ari sen and that this 
presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evi dence of lack of 
intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 
Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement co uld therefore be 
made under S.53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
 Officers are also required to look at S.53(3)(c)(i ) of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must  be reviewed. 
 
 Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 

highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view that this route is a highway and has 
no obstructions. 

 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 

rights now claimed and that this route forms an essential part of the Rights of 
Way network by linking routes in the north with routes in the south and to 
form a long circular route by linking up with the Taff Trail. 

 
 Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 

and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3 )(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied t hat the requirements 
of S.53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 

 
 Officers recommend that a bridleway be recorded on the Definitive Map and 

Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C – D on the Plan, 
Troedyrhiw 160 and as described above. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Officer time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  If 

Councillors determine that the Public Right of Way exists, there will be a 
financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with a 
Public Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 

 
 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route 

will need to be signed. 
 
 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it. 

Page 1185



5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
5.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 160: 
 
 Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B – C – D on the plan, Troedyrhiw 160 has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
bridleway, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 160 as a bridleway. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
 Or 
 

2. In rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter. 

 
5.2 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order 

as set out in 1 above. 
 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Page 1186



Page 1187



Page 1188

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 9th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 178 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 

 
The decision to record the route, Troedyrhiw 178 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 29th November 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 8th December 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011. 
Troedyrhiw 178 had previously been recorded on the 2010 Order 
incorrectly following determination (as an alternative route off 
Troedyrhiw 48) at committee in January 2010, having been previously 
referred to committee in October 2009, and ratification by Full Council 
on 3rd February 2010. The November 2010 report is appended at the 
end of this item.  The 2009 and January 2010 are appended at the end 
of Troedyrhiw 137. 
 

 Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order was also 
 incorrect. The route commences at its junction with Troedyrhiw 61 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) at grid reference SO04070473, 
 Point A, on the plan, Troedyrhiw 178 and proceeds in a general 
 easterly direction along a grass track to Point B, grid reference 
 SO04120473 where it turns to a general south-easterly direction and 
 continues downhill passing its junction with Troedyrhiw 181 (a route on 
 the unconfirmed 2010 Order but also before committee today for 
 correction) at Point C, grid reference SO04260461 before continuing to 
 Point D, grid reference SO04290458, its junction with Troedyrhiw 45 (a 
 route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) where it terminates at a field 
 gate.  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 

route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D. 

 

Agenda Item 47

Page 1189



 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 With the exception of the wooded area in the east, the route is depicted 
 on 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. 
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to this route and found it clearly defined 
 and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on it. 
 
1.6 Users 
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr - 
including these paths - from this time. 

  
He uses these routes as a section of different circular walks and 
regularly uses them to walk his dog, even after being prevented from 
doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses them from several 
routes from the north or from the south, the Parish Road.  Mr Connolly 
stated that because they are no longer so well used, the southern 
sections of Troedyrhiw 63 and Troedyrhiw 48 (for which Mr Connolly 
was the main claimant) are not as visible as previously on the open 
ground in the south so he now uses Troedyrhiw 178 or Troedyrhiw 181 
as a section of different circular walks.  He did not claim Troedyrhiw 
178 originally because he claimed several other paths in the area and 
frequently walks between them all. 
 
He has never asked permission of anyone to use these routes, has 
never had his use of any of the paths challenged and does not 
recognise any obstructions on the routes. 
 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole west Merthyr area all their lives.  She has used these 
routes for walks as an adult since the 1950s and uses them as sections 
of different circular walks.  Mrs Connolly accesses the paths from 
several routes from the north or from the south, the Parish Road. For 

Page 1190



example, she now uses them instead of the southern section of 
Troedyrhiw 48; she may access them from the Parish Road or she may 
access them from the Parish Road from the east, for example, via 
Troedyrhiw 180. 
 
She and her husband regularly use these routes for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dog, even after being prevented from doing so 
when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise.  She does not 
recognise any obstructions on the routes and she has never been 
challenged while using them.  She has never asked permission of 
anyone to use them. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2010. 
 
Mr Lewis Lewis stated that he was born and brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row, worked in the area, bought a house there in 1964 and 
only moved because the house was too small when his children were 
born.  For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for 
pleasure and in fact, walks there most days.  Prior to 20 years ago, he 
used the routes for both access to work and for pleasure, and in fact 
always rode on most of them, especially as a young man with a group 
of others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there should be 
far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site. He has not submitted 
any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated his knowledge of the 
routes on the maps shown to him.  He commented on the claimed 
routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site.  Mr Lewis 
stated that these are some of the routes which he has used without 
challenge for many years. 
 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, the 
stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no 
mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s 
a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 

Page 1191



the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths.  He described 
the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he has used this route regularly as an alternative 
to the southern section of Troedyrhiw 48.  He stated that no one has 
ever stopped him going there and until recently the whole area was 
open.  “I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go 
there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the parish road when they built the A470 
when they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area 
was open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and 
there were always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  
We lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding 
on the paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all 
open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2010. 

 
 Mr Tony Cousins stated that he uses a number of circular routes and 

this route is part of these. 
 
 He feels that it is very important that PRoW should be kept open to 
 encourage people to exercise, to give access to areas which are 
 naturally beautiful and it would be a shame if people were stopped from 
 using them.  He continued, 
 
 “These are the main ones which I use regularly – it varies day by day 
 but I go every day and have done so for the past 23 years.  I guarantee 
 I use the ones described at least weekly. 

 
 I will continue to walk there – and I am only one of a number of people 
 who still walk there.  I have never seen anyone there to tell me not to, 
 and have never seen a change anywhere on the land and I walk it all 
 the time. 

 
 People who I’ve spoken to and who have lived here for many years, 
 families who have been brought up there say there have always been 
 rights of way.” 

  

Page 1192



 He believed he had the right to use these routes because he had been 
 led to believe that they are registered rights of way by people who have 
 lived in Heolgerrig all their lives.  
 

Mr Cousins’ evidence covers the period between 1986 and 2012. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 178. 

 
2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 
 the ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 178 as clearly-defined and well-
 used. 
 
2.3 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway 
or BOAT.  

 
 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the routes do not exist. 
 
 Officers recognise that these routes are footpaths; they have evidence 

on the ground that they are used as footpaths and have user evidence 
of the routes as footpaths. They therefore present these routes to 
Councillors as footpaths. 

 
3.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
 The routes are presented to you for consideration under two sub-

sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; 
namely Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the routes. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
become a Public Right of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
highways, as there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
during that period to dedicate it. 

Page 1193



 
In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question In 
this case Officers consider that a reliable date of challenge would be 
between 8th January 1983 to 7th January 2003. User evidence exists for 
this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been 

available for public use. 
 
4.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE 

 
4.1 The route is clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
5.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 
5.1 The route is depicted on an aerial photograph.  This is evidence of the 
 existence of the route and of usage. 

6.0 USER EVIDENCE  
 
6.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 
 
6.2 Four people have given evidence of use of this route as a footpath for 
 recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 

7.0 SUMMARY 
 
7.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as 
 highways, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention 
 during that period to dedicate it. 
 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
the rights now claimed. 

 
Officers present Troedyrhiw 178 for determination as a footpath. 

 
Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
aerial photography in support of the existence of this route as a 
footpath. 

 
Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 has been met for the routes 

Page 1194



included on the application.  It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the route.  An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S. 53(3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions. 

 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right of Way exists. 

 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map 

and Statement as depicted by a bold line between Points A – B - C – D 
on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 178, and as described above.  

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
8.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
8.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

Page 1195



9.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 
required for the purpose of this report.    

 

10.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

In respect of Troedyrhiw 178 
 
  

 a) On the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 
to support that the route marked with a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – D on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 178, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
178 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn.  

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
  
Councillors are requested to approve the making of the relevant Order as set 
out above. 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 178 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 1196



A B

C

D

Blaencanaid

Tip

Issues

Tra
ck

Sinks

Quarries

P
a
th

 (u
m

)

(disused) (dis)

Issues

(disused)

Issues

Tip

Sinks

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:2,907
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 178

Page 1197



Page 1198

This page is intentionally left blank



29th November 2010 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT  
 

Date Written 5th November 2010 
Report Author Judith Jones 
Service Area Rights of Way Section 
Committee Date 29th November 2010 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
Determination of application to record the Correct Alignment of 
Public Right of Way Troedyrhiw 178 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of Route 
 

Troedyrhiw 178 was included in the 2010 Order. Subsequent advice from 
users and investigation by officers however, has shown that the lines of the 
routes in the 2010 Order and in the 2009 Report have been incorrectly drawn.  
 
The relevant section of the January 2010 Committee report with the plan 
depicting the incorrect alignment of Troedyrhiw 178 (between Points B – B1) is 
appended to the previous Item. This route was recorded as an alternative to 
Troedyrhiw 48. Troedyrhiw 48 had previously been referred to Committee in 
October 2009 along a different alignment.  This is also appended at the end of 
the previous Item.  

 
The route, as depicted by a bold line on the plan, Troedyrhiw 178, commences 
at Point A, grid reference SO04070473 and proceeds through open grassland 
in a general easterly direction to Point B, grid reference SO04120473 where it 
changes to a general south-easterly direction and continues to Point C and 
then terminates at the western terminus of Troedyrhiw 181 (a route which was 
included in the 2010 Order), Point D, grid reference SO04270459. Councillors 
should note that Troedyrhiw 178 is the realignment of the dashed line B – B1 
on the October 2009 Report. 

 
 Councillors are advised that there is very clear evidence on the ground that 

users walk the route as depicted between Points A - B – C - D on the plan, 
and that this is now regarded as a well-used and well-defined alternative route 
to the southern section of Troedyrhiw 48. 

 

 

Page 1199



 Councillors are also advised that there is very clear evidence on the ground 
that users walk the route as depicted by a dashed line between Points C - E 
on the plan, Troedyrhiw 178. It commences at Point C, grid reference 
SO04140473 and proceeds in a general east-north-easterly direction to 
terminate at Point E, grid reference SO04210477, a point on Troedyrhiw 174 
(which is also presented for determination today) and that this is now regarded 
as a well-used and well-defined alternative route to the southern section of 
Troedyrhiw 48. This is known as Troedyrhiw 149. Councillors should note that 
Troedyrhiw 149 is the realignment of the dashed line B – B1 on the January 
2010 Report.  

 
Councillors are advised that there is also very clear evidence on the ground 
that users walk the route as depicted between Points C - E on the plan, and 
that this is now regarded as a well-used and well-defined alternative route to 
the southern section of Troedyrhiw 48. 

 Councillors are advised that Officers identify these routes as ones which are 
well trodden, well-used and well-recognised. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 
 The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 

 
1.3 Aerial Photographs 
 

The routes are depicted on 2008 aerial photographs; Troedyrhiw 178 is 
depicted on a 2010 aerial photograph. 

 
1.4 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to these routes and found them clearly defined 

and as described above.  They observed people using them. 
 
1.5 User Evidence  
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when first 

married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr - including 
these paths - from this time. 

  
He uses these routes as a section of different circular walks and regularly uses 
them to walk his dog, even after being prevented from doing so when the area 
was fenced.  He accesses them from several routes from the north or from the 
south, the Parish Road.  Mr Connolly stated that because they are no longer 
so well used, the southern sections of Troedyrhiw 63 and Troedyrhiw 48 (for 
which Mr Connolly was the main claimant) are not as visible as previously on 
the open ground in the south so he now uses Troedyrhiw 178, Troedyrhiw 
149, the southernmost section of Troedyrhiw 63 or Troedyrhiw 181 as a 
section of different circular walks.  He did not claim Troedyrhiw 178 or 
Troedyrhiw 149 originally because he claimed several other paths in the area 
and frequently walks between them all. 
 

Page 1200



He has never asked permission of anyone to use these routes, has never had 
his use of any of the paths challenged and does not recognise any 
obstructions on the routes. 
 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2010. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought up at Lower 
Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at Melincanaid.  She and 
her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when they were first married and she 
and her family have walked the paths on the whole west Merthyr area all their 
lives.  She has used these routes for walks as an adult since the 1950s and 
uses them as sections of different circular walks.  Mrs Connolly accesses the 
paths from several routes from the north or from the south, the Parish Road. 
For example, she now uses them instead of the southern section of 
Troedyrhiw 48; she may access them from the Parish Road and walk up 
Troedyrhiw 63 to Point C or she may access them from the Parish Road from 
the east, for example, via Troedyrhiw 181. 

 
She and her husband regularly use these routes for recreation, for example, to 
walk their dog, even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from 
using the Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog-fouling of streets and 
people would become more unhealthy as they would have lost this area for 
exercise.  She does not recognise any obstructions on the routes and she has 
never been challenged while using them.  She has never asked permission of 
anyone to use them. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 2010. 
 
Mr Lewis Lewis stated that he was born and brought up at Lower Colliers Row, 
worked in the area, bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because 
the house was too small when his children were born.  For the past 20 years 
he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and in fact, walks there most 
days.  Prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to work and 
for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a young 
man with a group of others (whom he named).  He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site. He has not 
submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated his knowledge of 
the routes on the maps shown to him.  He commented on the claimed routes 
and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site.  Mr Lewis stated that these 
are some of the routes which he has used without challenge for many years. 
 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no mining 

Page 1201



subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s a lot of 
history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa 
Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to 
see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the 
Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the 
history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc 
and of individuals using the various paths.  He described the position of stiles 
and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he has used this route regularly as an alternative to the 
southern section of Troedyrhiw 48.  He stated that no one has ever stopped 
him going there and until recently the whole area was open.  “I never even 
thought about whether or not we had a right to go there”. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the parish road when they built the A470 when they 
tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  We 
lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding on the 
paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only 
since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2010. 

 

2.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Troedyrhiw 178 and Troedyrhiw 149. 

 
 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on the 

ground; they recognise Troedyrhiw 178 and Troedyrhiw 149 as clearly-defined 
and well-used routes and in fact, user evidence and usage on the ground 
demonstrates that these are now used more than the southern section of 
Troedyrhiw 48. 

 
2.1 Status 
 

A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or 
BOAT.  

 

Page 1202



 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the evidence; 
the investigation could conclude that the routes do not exist. 

 
 Officers recognise that these routes are footpaths; they have evidence on the 

ground that they are used as footpaths and have user evidence of the routes 
as footpaths. They therefore present these routes to Councillors as footpaths. 

 
2.2 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
 The routes are presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 

Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

 
 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of 
the routes. 

 
 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site 
stating that the routes are not to become Public Rights of Way. 

 
 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated as highways, as 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period looked 
at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date the route came into question In this case Officers 
consider that a reliable date of challenge would be between 8th January 1983 
to 7th January 2003. User evidence exists for this period. 

 
 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been available for 

public use. 
 
2.3 The Line of the Route 
 
 The routes are clearly discernable on the ground. 
 
2.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The routes have been depicted on an aerial photograph.  This is evidence of 
the existence of the route and of usage. 

2.5 User Evidence 
 

Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 

Page 1203



Three people have given evidence of use of these routes as footpaths for 
recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 

 

3.0 SUMMARY 
 

Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have been 
enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as highways, and 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate them. 

 
Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 
rights now claimed. 

 
Officers present Troedyrhiw 178 and Troedyrhiw 149 for determination as 
footpaths. 

 
Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and aerial 
photography in support of the existence of these routes as footpaths. 

 
Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it is 
evident that rights of way do exist over these routes. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilitie s all the requirements 
of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met  for the routes 
included on the application.  It is considered that  a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has  not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedi cate by the landowner 
of any part of the routes.  An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S. 53(3)(b)  Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant 
evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of these routes under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that these highways were 
established long before modern times and therefore continue to be highways 
despite any subsequent obstructions. 

 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 

Page 1204



Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 

 
 Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map and 

Statement as depicted by a bold line between Points A – B - C – D on the 
Plan, Troedyrhiw 178, and as described above. This is Troedyrhiw 178. 

 
Officers recommend that a footpath be recorded on the Definitive Map and 
Statement as depicted by a dashed line between Points C - E on the Plan, 
Troedyrhiw 178, and as described above. This is Troedyrhiw 149. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Officer time is involved in investigating the route and writing the report.  If 

Councillors determine that the Public Rights of Way exist, there will be a 
financial implication in advertising the Order and also for dealing with a Public 
Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an objection to it. 

 
 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that the route 

will need to be signed. 
 
 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be considered by 

the Committee when determining this application as the County Borough 
Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it believes that there is 
sufficient evidence to support it. 

 

5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
5.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 

Councillors are asked to confirm:- 
 

1) In respect of Troedyrhiw 178 
 

Either 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B - C – D on the plan, Troedyrhiw 178 has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 178 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

Page 1205



 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
Or 
 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 
of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter. 

 
2) In respect of Troedyrhiw 149 

 
Either 

 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points 
C - E on the plan, Troedyrhiw 178 has been used for such period 
so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 149 as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
Or 
 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application 
has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision 
of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of 
the decision letter. 

 
5.2 Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order 

as set out in 1 and 2  above. 

Page 1206



 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Page 1207



Page 1208

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1209



Page 1210

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 19th September 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzicz / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 180 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 THE ROUTE 

 
1.2 Description of Claimed Route 

 
The decision to record the route, Troedyrhiw 180 was determined in a 
Rights of Way Committee meeting of 29th November 2010, ratified in a 
meeting of Full Council, 8th December 2010 and included in an 
unconfirmed Definitive Map Modification Order dated 18th May 2011. 
Troedyrhiw 180 was recorded as an alternative route off Troedyrhiw 
47). Troedyrhiw 180 had previously been referred to committee in 
October 2009 and January 2010 as part of Troedyrhiw 47. The 2009 
and both the 2010 reports are appended at the end of this item. 
 
The route before you today also incorporates the route previously 
known as Troedyrhiw 181. Troedyrhiw 181 was determined in a Rights 
of Way Committee meeting of 20th January 2010, ratified in a meeting 
of Full Council, 3rd February 2010 and included in an unconfirmed 
Definitive Map Modification Order dated 9th February 2010. It had 
previously been referred to committee in October 2009. Troedyrhiw 
181 formed part of the committee report of Troedyrhiw 47. These 
reports are appended at the end of this report.    
 

 Officers now state that the route included in the 2011 Order was 
 incorrect. The route actually commences at its junction with Troedyrhiw 
 47 (a  route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) at Point A on the plan, 
 Troedyrhiw 180, grid reference SO04120519 and it proceeds in a 
 general south-easterly direction along an old incline to its northern 
 junction with Troedyrhiw 141 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order 
 also before committee today for correction) at Point B grid  reference 
 SO04310507. It continues in a general south-easterly direction along 
 the old incline to Point C, grid reference SO04350507, its junction with 

 

Agenda Item 48

Page 1211



 Troedyrhiw 140 (a route on the unconfirmed 2011 Order). It  continues 
 in a general south-easterly direction to Point D, grid reference 
 SO04350507 where it changes to a general southerly direction and 
 continues to Point E, grid reference SO04350504. From here it reverts 
 to a general south-easterly direction and continues to Point F, grid 
 reference SO04420500, its junction with Troedyrhiw 129 (also before 
 committee today for determination). From here it continues across the 
 reclaimed land following the remediation of a ventilation shaft in 2008 
 in a general south-south-easterly direction to Point G, grid reference 
 SO04440496, its southern junction with Troedyrhiw 141 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order). It then continues in a general south-south-
 easterly direction to Point H, grid reference SO04450493 where it 
 leaves the reclaimed land and turns to a general south-westerly 
 direction and continues to Point I, grid reference SO04440491, its 
 junction with Troedyrhiw 181 (also before committee today for 
 determination). It continues through a wooded area in a general south-
 westerly direction initially through a wooded area and then through an 
 open area to Point J where it crosses Troedyrhiw 174 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 Order). It continues through this open area in a 
 general south-westerly direction to terminate at Point K, grid reference 
 SO04260461, its junction with Troedyrhiw 178 (a route on the 
 unconfirmed 2011 but also before committee today for correction).   
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 

route as depicted between Points A – B – C – D – E – F – G – H – I – J 
- K. 

 
 Councillors are also requested to note that there is evidence that a 
 further route leads off Troedyrhiw 180. 
 
 They are requested to note that evidence exists for the route depicted 
 with a dashed line between Points I - L on the plan, Troedyrhiw 180. 
 This route commences at Point I, grid reference SO04440491 and 
 proceeds in a general southerly direction along an earth track to a 
 wooden stile at Point L, grid reference SO04450490, also its junction 
 with Troedyrhiw 45 (a route on the unconfirmed 2010 Order) where it 
 terminates. This route is known as Troedyrhiw 181.  
 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted with a dashed line between Points I - L. 
 
 Councillors are also requested to note the route recorded on the 2011 
 Order, Troedyrhiw 141, which forms an off-shoot of this route was also 
 recorded incorrectly. The route (depicted with a dotted line) actually 
 commences at Point B, grid reference SO04310507 and it proceeds in 
 a general southerly direction to Point M, grid reference SO04310500. 
 Here it changes to a general south-easterly direction and continues 
 passing a thorn hedgerow to Point N, grid reference SO04350495. 
 Here it reverts to a general easterly direction and continues to Point G, 
 grid reference SO04440496 where it terminates. 

Page 1212



 
 Councillors are advised that there is clear evidence that users walk this 
 route as depicted with a dotted line between Points B – M – N - G. 
  

 
1.3 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 
 With the exception of the wooded area in the east, the route is depicted 
 on 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 aerial photographs. Councillors are 
 asked to note that the route is not visible in the area of the remediation 
 on the 2008 aerial photograph.  
 
1.5 Site Visits 
 
 Officers have made a site visit to these routes and found them clearly 
 defined and as described above.  
 
 On this and other occasions they have observed people walking on 
 them. 
 
1.6 Users 
 
 User Evidence  
 
 Mr Malcolm Connolly stated that he lived at Lower Colliers Row when 

first married and has walked the whole of the area of west Merthyr - 
including these paths - from this time. 

  
He regularly uses these routes to walk his dog, even after being 
prevented from doing so when the area was fenced.  He accesses all 
three routes from several routes from the north, from Heolgerrig, and 
also from the south, from the Parish Road.  He uses them as sections 
of different circular walks and recognises them as routes which he uses 
in preference to the southern section of Troedyrhiw 47.  He has never 
asked permission of anyone to use these routes, has never had his use 
of any of the paths challenged and does not recognise any obstructions 
on the routes. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1965 and 2012. 

 
Mrs Charlotte Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at 
Lower Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  She was brought 
up at Lower Colliers Row and at that time her grandmother lived at 
Melincanaid.  She and her husband lived at Lower Colliers Row when 
they were first married and she and her family have walked the paths 
on the whole west Merthyr area all their lives.  She has used this route 

Page 1213



for walks as an adult since the 1950s.  She now uses all of these 
routes in preference to the southern section of Troedyrhiw 47. 

 
She and her husband regularly use these routes for recreation, for 
example, to walk their dogs, even after being prevented from doing so 
when the area was fenced.  Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if 
people were prevented from using the Merthyr Village Site there would 
be more dog-fouling of streets and people would become more 
unhealthy as they would have lost this area for exercise.  She does not 
recognise any obstructions on the routes and she has never been 
challenged while using them.  She has never asked permission of 
anyone to use them. 

 
Mrs Connolly’s evidence covers the period between the 1950s and 
2012. 

 
Mr Elwyn Rees (now deceased) stated that he had been brought up 
next door to Mrs Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived 
there when he was first married in 1955.  He used several routes 
around Lower Colliers Row, regularly, both when young and later, for 
family walks when he and his wife and children walked this route and 
all of the claimed routes to the north of it as well as the ones south to 
the Cwm Pits area. They lived there for 32 years before moving to 
Heolgerrig. Mrs Megan Rees also gave evidence of use of these 
routes. 

 
He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in 
this lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as 
the Merthyr Village site as a playground.  He stated that he had not 
walked the area since about 2005 because of illness but prior to that 
had used the majority of the footpaths for family walks on the Merthyr 
Village Site regularly. Both stated that they have walked on the 
Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
Mr Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about 
dangerous shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes 
were those sunk by miners during the 1926 strike and as children they 
all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths.  
He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been covered 
in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr Thomas used to own land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths - including 
Troedyrhiw 180 and Troedyrhiw 181 - regularly, just going out for a 
walk with their children and later their grandchildren. 

 
Mr Rees stated that his father had been killed in the Cwm Du Drift but 
that both his father and, later, his stepfather walked daily from Lower 
Colliers Row to Cwm Du Drift to work using a number of the claimed 
PRoWs including Troedyrhiw 180. 

Page 1214



 
Mr and Mrs Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the 
site, with no thought of danger.  When going for a walk they just 
followed the footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they 
use as they use ones in addition to those on the map; they use so 
many.  They have always thought they had a right to walk on these 
paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr Rees saying, 

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right.  I walked there as a child and 
for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr Rees said that he knows everything about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without 
any consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages.  It 
should be noted that these cottages were so historically important that 
a number of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 
 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talban Davies QC who 
described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 
 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
Merthyr”. 

 
Both stated that they have never asked or thought that they needed 
permission to walk there; they have always walked on the same tracks 
which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any signs on the 
routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
drove on these routes I saw others doing the same.  I sometimes take 
the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
because of health problems.” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of 
the area the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Rees added that she lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was 
first married in 1955 and used these routes regularly for family walks. 

 
Mr Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
 
Mrs Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 

Page 1215



Mr Lewis Lewis confirmed these routes on a map and stated that they 
are ones which he has walked all of his life.  He recognises access to 
them from the Parish Road or Lower Colliers Row. 

 
Mr Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly 
demonstrated his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him.  
He commented on the claimed routes and many other tracks on the 
Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower 
Colliers Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, 
bought a house there in 1964 and only moved because the house was 
too small when his children were born.  For the past 20 years he has 
only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site 
most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both 
access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of 
them, especially as a young man with a group of others (whom he 
named).  He therefore affirms that there should be far more bridleways 
on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, the 
stiles and gates. 
 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water.  There is no 
mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away.  There’s 
a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfarthfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge 
of the history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of 
the trains etc and of individuals using the various paths.  He described 
the position of stiles and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 
when they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area 
was open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and 
there were always pimpers there. 
 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there.  
We lived there, nobody ever stopped us.  As well as walking and riding 
on the paths we went bird nesting.  And when I was a child it was all 

Page 1216



open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
erected”. 

 
Mr Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2012. 

 
Mr Paul Brown, claimant for other routes in the area, used to walk on 
several routes in the West Merthyr area, on average, two or three times 
a month, perhaps less during winter – and started this practice when 
he  moved to Heolgerrig in 1979.  He believes he has a right to walk 
these paths (and others) and has never sought or been given 
permission to use them.  He stated  
 
“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application.  I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
have ever been challenged about using this route.”  

 
Mr Brown stated that these routes lead to a stile on the Parish Road. 

 
He has spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig who have 
walked the same routes and neither he nor they have ever been 
challenged about using these routes. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he goes for walks with his wife and son although 
he is no longer physically capable of walking as much as previously.  
He has never been challenged while using the routes and has never 
asked permission of anyone to use them.  He has just assumed he has 
the right to use them. 

 
Mr Brown stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village area 
because it is fenced.  He stopped using it early 2008; an additional 
reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he didn’t have 
as much time as usual (Mr Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site and 
stated, 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
right to walk these paths”. 
 
Mr Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – 
although some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than 
others.  He usually spent about 2 hours out walking and would criss-
cross a number of routes although always kept to the routes when 
clearly defined.  The routes have not changed during the period of his 
usage. 

 
Mr Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
Mr Morgan Harris stated of the Merthyr Village Site, 

Page 1217



 
“I use this area for pleasure now but I’ve always used it.  I also used to 
go to visit friends at the farm and I’ve used all these paths for at least 
60 years.  I have always used the paths on a regular basis, in my youth 
I was always up there playing, setting the ferns on fire, and since I’ve 
retired I’m there everyday.  I rode there all the time when I was 
younger, I kept horses in Rhydycar and I rode after work most nights, I 
was living in Cae Draw.  Now I only walk there, mostly in the evenings. 

.. During the 1920s strike, this area became called the Patches.  
People went up past Colliers Row to the mountain to dig for coal, some 
sold it too.  My grandfathers did this; they carried it down on their 
backs.  We had to be careful (in the late 1940s/50s) where we ran 
because of the holes which had been dug for coal in the Patches”. 

Mr Harris stated that he uses far more paths than he actually claimed 
and described these.  He said that he has never been challenged on 
any of them or sought or been given permission to use any of them. 

 
He said, 

 
“I took my children there and I take my grandchildren there.  When I 
was young we always went there as a group of boys, sometimes we’d 
be riding there, the boys from Rhydycar would come up the path.  I 
always see other people when I’m up there walking now. 
 
I wouldn’t like to see this path closed.  If they build up there, leave the 
road because people still use it and it’s close to the centre of Merthyr 
so a lot of people can get to it”. 

 
The last paragraph refers to the Parish Road to Melincanaid which Mr 
Harris has used to access these routes. 
 
He has always assumed he has a right to go there and has never been 
challenged while using the routes and has never asked permission of 
anyone to use them.  He has often seen others using them.   

 
Mr Harris’ evidence covers the period between 1947 and 2007. 

 
Mr Tony Chaplin stated that these are paths which he used to use on a 
regular basis but no longer does so because of ill health. 
 
He also stated that he believes the fencing on the Merthyr Village Site 
is illegal and submitted letters from the Commission for Local 
Administration in Wales and from Simon Cadenhead (MTCBC) which, 
he maintained, say that claimed rights of way need Stopping Up Orders 
before closure. 

 
He also submitted a copy of Map No. 2 referred to in the Colliers Row 
(070846) Application dated the 15th day of June 1966, on which he 

Page 1218



drew his claimed routes and others which he uses and a copy of the 
Opencast Coal Act 1958, The Colliers Row Application 070846. 

 
1.8 Information from Landowners 
 

Representatives of the owners, Mr John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie 
Price, discussed the route, Troedyrhiw 47, and notes taken at this 
meeting state: 

 
“This is almost impassable.  It is overgrown and is also surrounded by 
sink holes”. 

 
Councillors are also requested to refer to the generic observations 
made by the owners, their representatives and their tenants as detailed 
in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
Mrs Misslebrook (and representing another tenant) made comments 
specific to Troedyrhiw 47: 

 
“Claimed footpath at Pencaedcae Incline to Melincana id Parish 
Road. 
 
This alleged footpath is impassable due to sink holes.  It is actually an 
animal network for watering” 
 
“Sheep track used by Mansell Short to bring sheep down for dipping, 
need to bend over from waist to access.  Pitted with sink holes and 
dead sheep”. 

 
In response to the Investigation Report she wrote, 

 
“Troedyrhiw 47 – From Pen Cae – Under Three Tips to Parish Road 
near Sheep Holding Pens 
 
1. Maps not date authenticated. 
2. Only three statements supporting others names blacked out 

therefore can’t be used in evidence”. 

2.0 ASSESSMENT  
 
2.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding Troedyrhiw 180, Troedyrhiw 181 and Troedyrhiw 
141. 

 
 

2.2 Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 
 the ground; they recognise both routes as being clearly-defined and 
 well-used, and in fact, usage on the ground demonstrates that these 
 are now used more than the southern section of Troedyrhiw 47. 

Page 1219



 
3.0 STATUS 
 
3.1 A Public Right of Way can be a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway 
 or BOAT.  
 
3.2 Officers must investigate at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not 
exist. 

 
3.3 Officers recognise that these routes are footpaths; they have evidence 

on the ground that they are used as footpaths and have user evidence 
of them as footpaths.  They therefore present all three routes to 
Councillors as footpaths. 

 
4.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 
4.1 The routes are presented to you for consideration under two sub-

sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; 
namely Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

 
4.2 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a 
minimum of twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to 
deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
4.3 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory 

declaration/map under S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the routes are not to 
become Public Rights of Way.  

 
4.4 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
as highways, as there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
intention during that period to dedicate them. 

 
4.5 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way, the normal period 
 looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
 long user is 20 years prior to the date the route came into question In 
 this case Officers consider that a reliable date of challenge would be 
 between 8th January 1983 and 7th January 2003, the date of the claim 
 to record Troedyrhiw 47. User evidence exists for this period.  
 
4.6 During the relevant period for consideration the routes have been 

available for public use. 
 
5.0 THE LINES OF THE ROUTES  
 
5.1 The entire routes are clearly discernible on the ground. 

Page 1220



 
6.0 AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS  
 
6.1 The routes are depicted on aerial photographs.  This is evidence of the 
 existence of the routes and of usage. 

 
7.0 USER EVIDENCE  
 
7.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above. 
 
7.2 Eight people have given evidence of use of these routes as footpaths 

for recreation and leisure during the relevant period. 

8.0 SUMMARY 
 
8.1 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the paths have 
 been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
 period of twenty years and the ways deemed to have been dedicated 
 as highways, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no 
 intention during that period to dedicate them. 
 

Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
the rights now claimed.  

 
Officers present Troedyrhiw 180, Troedyrhiw 181 and Troedyrhiw 141 
for determination as footpaths. 

 
Officers have presented user evidence, evidence on the ground and 
aerial photography in support of the existence of these routes as 
footpaths. 

 
Taking all the above into account, including interviews with claimants, it 
is evident that rights of way do exist over these routes. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilities all the requirements 
of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for the routes 
included on the application.  It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner 
of any part of the routes. An Order to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53(3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other 
relevant evidence. 

 

Page 1221



This now brings into play consideration of these routes under Section 
53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim 
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is Officers’ view here that 
these highways were established long before modern times and 
therefore continue to be highways despite any subsequent 
obstructions. 

 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
and Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
of S.53 (3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Rights of Way exist. 

 
 Officers recommend that footpaths be recorded on the Definitive Map 

and Statement: Troedyrhiw 180 as depicted by a bold line between 
Points A – B – C – C – E – F – G – H – I – J - K, Troedyrhiw 181 as 
depicted by a dashed line between Points I – L, Troedyrhiw 141 as 
depicted by a dotted line between Points B – M – N – G on the plan, 
Troedyrhiw 180 and as described above. 

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the route and writing the 

report.  If Councillors determine that the Public Right of Way exists, 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order is made and there is an 
objection to it. 

 
9.2 If the Order is confirmed, there will be a financial implication in that 

the route will need to be signed. 
 
9.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as 
the County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if 
it believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it. 

 

 10.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 

 10.1 Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 
 Councillors are asked to confirm:- 

 
 In respect of Troedyrhiw 180 

 
  

Page 1222



 a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient 
evidence to support that the route marked with a bold line 
between Points A – B - C – D – E – F – G – H – I – J – K 
on the plan, Troedyrhiw 180, has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been 
dedicated as a footpath, and that the evidence has not 
been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
180 as a Footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 In respect of Troedyrhiw 181 

 
  

 a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient 
evidence to support that the route marked with a dashed 
line between Points I - L on the plan, Troedyrhiw 180, has 
been used for such period so as to raise presumption that 
it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that the 
evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
181 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn. 

 
d)  if any objections or representations are made within the 

 prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
 to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
 for determination. 

 
 
 

Page 1223



 In respect of Troedyrhiw 141 
 
  

 a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient 
evidence to support that the route marked with a dotted 
line between Points B – M – N – G on the plan, 
Troedyrhiw 180, has been used for such period so as to 
raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a 

Definitive Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 
141 as a footpath. 

 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map 

Modification Order made as a result of (b) above provided 
no objections or representations are made within the 
prescribed period or if any objections or representations 
so made are withdrawn. 

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then 
to refer the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

 
 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Orders 
as set out above. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 180 
Troedyrhiw 181 
Troedyrhiw 141 

 
September 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 1224



A

B

C
D

E
F

G

H
I

J

K

L

M

N

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

PP

240912

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:3,117
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 180

Page 1225



Page 1226

This page is intentionally left blank



5th OCTOBER 2009 REPORT 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A  
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, TROEDYRHIW 47.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all Public Rights of Way in this Item are claimed Public 
Rights of Way. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A claim to record a Public Right of Way from the Pencoedcae Incline to 
Melincanaid Parish Road was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council on 7th January 2003. This was referred to as Claim A763/4/162, now 
known as Troedyrhiw 47. 

 
Note, throughout the remainder of this item, the Pencoedcae Incline is 
referred to as the Pencae Incline. 

 
An application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of 
PRoWs across land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and 
described respectively on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the 
Schedule referred to below. Troedyrhiw 47 is depicted as sections of two of 
these claims; Footpaths C and L on the NCB Map and described in 
paragraphs 3 and 12 of the Schedule. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Appendix 22, this route commences at Point A, grid 
reference SO04020525, a point on the Pencae Incline, its common junction 
with Cyfarthfa 38 and Troedyrhiw 63. It proceeds gradually downhill in a 
general south-easterly direction, for a very short distance on to the common 
junction of Troedyrhiw 53 and Cyfarthfa 38 (Point B), grid reference SO 
04090522 where it veers to a south-south-easterly direction. It continues 
through ancient woodland, going uphill for a very short distance before 
returning to a downhill slope. It leaves the woodland and enters an open 
grassland area where, at Point C, grid reference SO04160512 it detours to the 
east, to Point C1 grid ref SO 04400505 to join Troedyrhiw 54. Troedyrhiw 47 
continues and runs through re-vegetated spoil tips and at Point D, grid 
reference SO04400483 it makes another detour, to the west, to Point D1 Grid 
Reference SO 04270468 on Troedyrhiw 63. Troedyrhiw 47 proceeds for a 
short distance before terminating at a stile at Point E on the plan, grid 
reference SO04420483, a point on the Parish Road, Troedyrhiw 69, also the 
terminus of Troedyrhiw 64. 

 
Councillors are requested to note that alternative routes on the ground, 
between Points B and B1 (to join Troedyrhiw 54),  now known as Troedyrhiw 
180, and Points C and C1 (to join Troedyrhiw 63), now known as Troedyrhiw 
181, are now used as integral sections of this route and are presented for 
determination today. 

 

Page 1227



Since March 2008, Troedyrhiw 47 has been dealt with as sections of different 
routes, Cyfarthfa 15, 16 and 42. The northern section of these routes is dealt 
with at Cyfarthfa 38, Cyfarthfa 15 is dealt with as Troedyrhiw 53 and the 
remainder of Cyfarthfa 16 and 42 has been incorporated into Troedyrhiw 47. 

 
1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

The entire route is depicted on 1875, 1919 and 1957 OS maps. It is joined by 
Troedyrhiw 64 on the 1875 edition. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph. 
 

Although there are a number of routes marked at approximately the alignment 
of Troedyrhiw 47, it is not possible to state with any degree of certainty that 
the exact alignment of the claimed route is depicted on a 2008 aerial 
photograph.  

 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Troedyrhiw 47 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied 
the Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 
1970. It was depicted as the southern section of Footpath C on the NCB Map 
and was referred to as a section of Footpath C and a middle section of 
Footpath L which were described in detail in paragraphs 3 and 12 of the 
NCB’s Footpath Application which state: 

 
at Paragraph 3, 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath C” on the Map which runs 
from a point (numbered 7 on the Map) about 50 yards north of Coed 
Cae Bungalow on a vehicular track leading from Brondeg to Upper 
Colliers Row in a general Southerly direction to meet the footpaths 
described in paragraph 2 and paragraph 7 of this schedule at the point 
(numbered 5 on the Map) about 380 yards south of the said bungalow 
and then in a general South Easterly direction for about 1110 yards to a 
point (numbered 11 on the Map) on the Parish road about 210 yards 
South South West of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row”. 

 
and at Paragraph 12, 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath L” on the Map which runs 
from the footpath described in paragraph 9 above at a point (numbered 
20 on the Map) about 120 yards East South east of the ruins of No. 1 

Page 1228



Pen-y-coedcae Cottages and extends in a South easterly direction for a 
distance of about 840 yards to its termination at a point (numbered 27 
on the Map) immediately to the North East of Lower Colliers Row”. 

 
That section of Footpath C which forms Troedyrhiw 47 joined two other routes 
which were subject to the Application to Suspend, Footpaths L and W. That 
section of Footpath L which forms Troedyrhiw 47 joined two other routes 
which were subject to the Application to Suspend, Footpaths C and V. 

 
Troedyrhiw 47 forms the southern section of one of the twenty nine footpaths 
described in the Vehicular Routes Application and the middle section of 
another of the twenty nine footpaths. 

 
This route was within the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal 
Board Opencast Executive Applications, but only the northern section is 
marked on the Map which accompanied this Application. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Troedyrhiw 47 is one of the routes the Inspector 
referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two 
Merthyr Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 
2006.  

 
1.6 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

The route is described in the extant list of PRoW in the Cyfarthfa Ward dated 
circa 1951. 

 
A section of Troedyrhiw 47 is included at number 2: 
 

“From Brondeg, Heolgerrig, to the Coedcae Bungalow to join the route 
as in No. 1 near Cwmglo, thence to Pen Cae Wern to Lowers Colliers 
Row to the Parish Road. (This route also branches near Pen Cae Wern 
House, the other arm leading to the Parish Road via the Waun.)” 

 
1.7 Site Visits 
 

Officers made three site visits to this route. On the first two they were 
accompanied by Mr. John Walters, representative of the owners. Mr. Walters 
pointed out several hazards adjacent to the section of the route walked but the 
section on the open Waun was not readily apparent. On the second occasion, 
Mr. Malcolm Connolly, main claimant was also present and led Officers and 
Mr. Walters on the route. Again, the section on the open Waun was not 
apparent. 

 
On a third occasion (2009) Troedyrhiw 47 was found to be very overgrown in 
the south. Officers noted that the route on the open Waun does not 
demonstrate use although detours in the north and south are evident as 
described above. 

 
Officers walked the detours and found them clearly discernible on the ground 
and showed evidence of use. 

Page 1229



 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
 
1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Troedyrhiw 47, was issued in June 
2008.  

 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
The main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 

 
 a schedule describing the claimed route, 

6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use 
(one, 21 years, one, 26 years, ones 30 years, ones 40 years, one over 40 
years and one 60 years) all claiming this route as a footpath. Three claimants 
later submitted maps showing the claimed route and one claimant 
subsequently confirmed this route at interview, 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured red, 
a copy of the 1921 OS 6” – 1 mile map with the claimed route coloured yellow, 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red, 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map) 
and, 
 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the 
owner/occupier). 
 

1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
1.3b(1)Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which 

he has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 
years. He no longer walks these routes because of illness. He occasionally 
used these routes as a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly 
used them for recreation and enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his 
claimed routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an interesting 
walk, I take notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims.  

 
This is a route which Mr. Brian Thomas has used without challenge for 30 
years. He described this specific route, 

 
“To begin this walk I started where a stile is of a claimed footpath at 
Blaencanaid Ironstone workings which continues down to Brondeg 

Page 1230



Lower.  I last walked this short route 21/04/2006.  By walking in a east 
by south easterly direction I travel down a disused incline and after 
passing a rather large oak tree to the right I leave the incline and 
continue along the path in the same south easterly direction.  Some fifty 
or so metres a small slope has to be climbed and pass a rainwater pool 
to my right and continuing downhill in the same direction I came across 
a grassy path through oak woodland.  Two very large oak trees later is 
another path which branches off to the right and carries on uphill.  
Some 40 or so metres later there are Thorn Hedgerow trees to my left 
is yet another path which drops downhill over regenerated tips to meet 
up at the stile on the Parish Road.” 

 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has 
ever challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s 
brother-in-law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least 
half of these paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given 
permission once – when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr 
Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or 
on bikes. The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. 
He occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also 
walks on other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr 
Village Site. 

 
Mr Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 2006. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr Elwyn and Mrs Megan Rees stated that he had been brought up next door 

to Mrs. Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there when he was 
first married in 1955. He has used this route regularly both when young and 
later, for family walks when he and his wife and children walked this route and 
all of the claimed routes to the north of it as well as the ones south to the Cwm 
Pits area. They lived there for 32 years before moving to Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this 
lovely area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr 
Village site as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over 
the last 3 to 4 years but both he and his wife have used the majority of the 
footpaths for family walks on the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that. 
Both stated that they have walked on the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all 
of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
He stated that because of ill health he has not walked as much during the last 
3 or 4 years as he had previously. 

 
Mr. Rees described the beauty of the area accessed by the Parish Road;  
Melincanaid waterfall and stream where he used to swim as a child and 
stated’ 

 
“If this were tarmaced again this would open up the whole woodland 
area. I’d like to see a country park there. The pits and coaling went on 

Page 1231



for 200 years and I can remember 77 years and nobody has fallen 
down a shaft or anything’’.  

 
Mr. Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous 
shafts on the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by 
miners during the 1926 strike and as children they all got to know the 
dangerous ones; there are none on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the 
deep vents and shafts have been covered in reinforced concrete – his father-
in-law and Eddie Thomas had been involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own 
land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths - including this 
one – regularly, just going out for a walk with their children and later their 
grandchildren.  

 
Mr. Rees stated that his father had been killed in the Cwm Du Drift but that 
both his father and, later, his stepfather walked daily from Lower Colliers Row 
to Cwm Du Drift to work using a number of the claimed PRoWs including this 
one. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, 
with no thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the 
footpaths so would find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones 
in addition to those on the map; they use so many. They have always thought 
they had a right to walk on these paths and no one has ever challenged them, 
Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and 
for the last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only 
complication is the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers 
Row was demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any 
consideration of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be 
noted that these cottages were so historically important that a number 
of them were re-built at the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who 
described the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of 
Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have 
never asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have 
always walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do 
not know of any signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or 
anyone else - from using these routes. 

Page 1232



 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or 
drove on these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take 
the car as far as Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to 
because of health problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area 
the public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Rees added that she lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was first 
married in 1955 used this route regularly for family walks. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 

1.3b(3)Mr. Donald Jones stated that this is one of the routes which he walks 
 regularly. 
 

Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of this route.  He stated that he walks for 
pleasure and uses many footpaths and has done so since he came to live at 
Ynysfach when he was 21 (now 76).   

 
He now assumes he is trespassing on this land – but used not to think so.  He 
has only once asked permission to go onto the Merthyr Village land (as part of 
a group). 
 
He keeps to the line of the route but on occasion wanders off to look at 
different things. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007 

 
1.3b(4)Mr. Lewis Lewis confirmed this route on a map and stated that it is one which 

he has walked all of his life. He recognises access to this route from a stile on 
the Parish Road. 

 
Mr. Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated 
his knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on the 
claimed routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers 
Row, within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house 
there in 1964 and only moved because the house was too small when his 
children were born. For the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes 
for pleasure and, in fact, is on the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he 
used the routes for both access to work and for pleasure, and in fact always 
rode on most of them, especially as a young man with a group of others 
(whom he named). He therefore affirms that there should be far more 
bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 

Page 1233



He stated: 
 

“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take 
anybody up there and show them the way around, all the paths, the 
stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, 
shallow pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no 
mining subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s 
a lot of history there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters 
church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, you can go along the canal bank for a long 
distance, there’s lots to see, the sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, 
Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfathfa crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the 
history of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc 
and of individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles 
and gates on the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 
when they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area 
was open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and 
there were always pimpers there. 

 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. 
We lived there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding 
on the paths we went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all 
open, it’s only since about 1964 that any fences or stiles have been 
erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr. Paul Brown, claimant for other routes in the area, walks on several routes 

in the West Merthyr area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps 
less during winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979. 
He believes he has a right to walk this path (and others) and has never sought 
or been given permission to use it. He stated  
 

“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application. I have spoken to a lot of other people from 
Heolgerrig who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they 
have ever been challenged about using this route.”  

 
Mr Paul Brown also uses this route and stated that it led to a stile on the 
Parish Road.  

 

Page 1234



He has spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig who have walked the 
same routes and neither he nor they have ever been challenged about using 
this route. 

 
Mr. Brown stated that he goes for walks on this route with his wife and son; 
they have often used the eastern half of this route (to Melincanaid) as part of a 
circular walk from Heolgerrig and also as a means of accessing the Cwm Pit 
area for approximately 26 years. He is no longer physically capable of walking 
it as much as previously. He has never been challenged while using the route 
and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. He has just assumed he 
has the right to use it. 

 
Mr. Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this entire 
area and he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more 
than he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods. Mr. Brown 
stated that he can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced. 
He stopped using it early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the 
run-up to the election and he didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr. Brown is 
a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he cannot 
actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a 
right to walk these paths”. 

 
Mr. Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although 
some routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others. He usually 
spent about 2 hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes 
although always kept to the routes when clearly defined. The routes have not 
changed  during the period of his usage. 

 
Mr. Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr. Morgan Harris stated of the Merthyr Village Site, 
 

“I use this area for pleasure now but I’ve always used it. I also used to 
go to visit friends at the farm and I’ve used all these paths for at least 
60 years. I have always used the paths on a regular basis, in my youth I 
was always up there playing, setting the ferns on fire, and since I’ve 
retired I’m there everyday. I rode there all the time when I was younger, 
I kept horses in RhydyCar and I rode after work most nights, I was living 
in Cae Draw. Now I only walk there, mostly in the evenings. 

 
During the 1920s strike, this area became called the Patches. People 
went up past Colliers Row to the mountain to dig for coal, some sold it 
too. My grandfathers did this, they carried it down on their backs. We 
had to be careful (in the late 1940s/50s) where we ran because of the 
holes which had been dug for coal in the Patches”. 

Page 1235



 
“Charlotte Connelly lived up Colliers Row. They were going to take 
away Malcolm Connelly’s land for building and that’s why he did these 
claims.” 

 
Mr. Harris stated that he uses far more paths than he actually claimed and 
described these. He said that he has never been challenged on any or them or 
sought or been given permission to use any of them. 

 
He said, 

 
“I took my children there and I take my grandchildren there. When I was 
young we always went there as a group of boys, sometimes we’d be 
riding there, the boys from Rhyd y Car would come up the path. I 
always see other people when I’m up there walking now. 

 
I wouldn’t like to see this path closed. If they build up there, leave the 
road because people still use it and it’s close to the centre of Merthyr so 
a lot of people can get to it”. 

 
The last paragraph refers to the Parish Road to Melincanaid which Mr. Harris 
described as running between the old Taff Bridge and Hendre Fawr. He has 
used this path regularly, to visit friends, to play and for pleasure for at least 60 
years. He rode this route on horseback most nights after work when younger.  

 
He has always assumed he has a right to go there, he has never been 
challenged while using the route and has never asked permission of anyone to 
use it. He has often seen others using it. He recognizes that there is now a 
gate in the eastern section. 

 
Mr. Harris’ evidence covers the period between 1947 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr Malcolm and Mrs. Charlotte Connolly gave evidence for this route. Mrs 

Connolly  
stated that she and her father had been born at Lower Colliers Row and her 
mother at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on the whole 
area all their lives.  

 
Mr. Connolly pointed out that fencing of the Merthyr Village site had prevented 
access to almost all footpaths for most of 2007 so that they would now be 
overgrown and not reflect their use in other years.  

 
He also stated that he believes this fencing is illegal and submitted letters from 
the Commission for Local Administration in Wales and from Simon 
Cadenhead (MTCBC) which, he maintained, say that claimed rights of way 
need Stopping Up Orders before closure. 

 
He also submitted a copy of Map No. 2 referred to in the Colliers Row 
(070846) Application dated the 15th day of June 1966, on which he drew his 
claimed routes and others which he uses and a copy of the Opencast Coal Act 
1958, The Colliers Row Application 070846. 

Page 1236



 
Mr. Connolly pointed out that this whole area is the only recreational facility in 
the Cyfarthfa Ward. Without use of these paths, children and others on horses 
will be unable to use the Cwm Incline and will have nowhere to ride. 

 
Mrs. Connolly described how her father and many other men walked certain 
routes to go to the Cwmdu and the Lucy Thomas Pits; men came from the 
Castle Pit, past Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain (from 
Aberdare) and from Heolgerrig using all the footpaths on the Merthyr Village 
site. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, for 
example, to walk their dogs – even after being prevented from doing so when 
the area was fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the 
Merthyr Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people 
would become more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
She has used this route for walks as an adult since the 1950s. 

 
She has never been challenged while using the route other than the day that 
she was on the Merthyr Village Site when her husband, Mr. John Walters and 
Mrs Judith Jones were also walking there. When she and her husband stated 
that they intended continuing on the Old Parish Road to Melincanaid for a 
walk, Mr. Walters remonstrated with them but they ignored him and continued 
on their walk. This post-dated the period of the claim. 

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received 
permission to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use 
of the paths challenged and neither has had any interest in the site. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1953 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr. Clive Thomas recognised this route as one which he uses but which has a 

tip across it. He assumes that this may have encroached across the original 
route and changed it (as in the diversion on the ground in the description 
above).  

 
1.4 Information from Landowners 
 

Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie Price, 
discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting state: 

 
“This is almost impassable. It is overgrown and is also surrounded by 
sink holes”. 

 

Page 1237



Councillors are also requested to refer to the generic observations made by 
the owners, their representatives and their tenants as detailed in Item 1. 

 
Mrs. Misslebrook (and representing another tenant) made comments specific 
to this route: 

 
“Claimed footpath at Pencaedcae Incline to Melincana id Parish 
Road. 

 
This alleged footpath is impassable due to sink holes. It is actually an 
animal network for watering” 

 
“Sheep track used by Mansell Short to bring sheep down for dipping, 
need to bend over from waist to access. Pitted with sink holes and dead 
sheep”. 

 
In response to the Investigation Report she wrote, 

 
“Troedyrhiw 47 – From Pen Cae – Under Three Tips to Parish Road 
near Sheep Holding Pens 

 
1. Maps not date authenticated. 
2. Only three statements supporting others names blacked out 

therefore can’t be used in evidence”. 
 
 

1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to this Route 
 

This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site,  
March 2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we 
have made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most 
apparent tracks /paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was 
apparent that the site is still used extensively by walkers and more 
locally by trail bikes. In addition, a few horses and sheep were also on 
the site. Based on our inspections we remain of the opinion that the site 
can be zoned from a hazard point of view”.   

 
 Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have joined their own 

conclusions in relation to the existence of this route. 
   

Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal 
Authority, Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public 
Inquiry. The Coal Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that 
members of the public cut sections of this fence in order to gain access to the 
site and use routes which are the subject of this Report. 

 

Page 1238



The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the 
owners refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore 
requested the removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before 

them today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by 
adding Troedyrhiw 47. It is also to assist Councillors with the two diversions 
described above, Troedyrhiw 180 and 181. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 They have considerable evidence for use of this route as a footpath. 
 
2.5 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration under two sub-

sections of Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely 
Section 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

 
3.0 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the 

Highways Act 1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of 
twenty years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of 
the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under 

S.31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site 
stating that the route is not to become a Public Right of Way.  

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been 

enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as 
there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal 

period looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for 
long user is 20 years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case 
Officers consider that it would be the period between 8th January 1983 and 7th 
January 2003; extensive user evidence exists for this period.  

 

Page 1239



3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for 
public use. 

 
4.0 The Line of The Route 
 
4.1 Only sections of the route are identifiable on the ground; users have created 

two detours which are clearly defined on the ground. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
5.1 The route has been depicted on a number of documentary and cartographic 

sources. 
 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
6.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this 

Item indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not 
indicative of public rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the 
existence of the track/path and the way in which this claimed route links with 
other routes. 

 
6.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of 

the route and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in 
the summer and foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open 

cast mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. 
More specifically, sections of this route were subject to a request for 
suspension under associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive map or 

Statement at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors 
recognised this route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they 
were made the subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.3 The evidence of the list of PRoW in the Cyfarthfa Ward circa 1951 suggests 

that at this time this route was generally recognised as being a Public Right of 
Way.  

 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
8.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
8.2 Eleven people have given evidence of use of this route for recreation and 

leisure as a footpath. 
 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 

Page 1240



9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made 
by Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out in 
Item 1 of the agenda. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the 

claim accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This 
was in line with data protection but officers have now been advised that from 
this stage in the procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and 

safety concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken 
into consideration when determining this Application. Representatives of the 
owners expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot 
be taken into consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T.Landnet , on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user 
evidence clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also 
reminded that at this stage there was no requirement for the County Borough 
to maintain a register of PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the 
requirements of the National Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
With regard their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that 
this is a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and 
Statement, and subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence 
and documentation that the route exists. 

 
The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, 
Ynysfach, Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 

 
This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy 
of the houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which 
allows for usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the 
industrial workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. 
Even allowing for the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of 
right for a period well in excess of fifty years. 

 
Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in 
assessing the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 
1. Officers disregard any comments which do not relate to PRoW. 

 
Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and 
from witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another 
and that this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of 
evidence only. 

 
The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under 
the relevant legislation. 

Page 1241



 
9.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application, for example, they too have 
raised concerns about health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 

Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path and the detours 
have been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a 
highway, and there is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during 
that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the 
rights now claimed, viz. over the period 8th January 1983 and 7th January 2003 
and at all material times before it.        

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of 
this route as a footpath 

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical 
evidence, the interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, 
landowners and other interested parties, and having taken into account the 
information received from interested parties both prior to and post the 
Investigation Report, it is evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilitie s all the requirements 
of S. 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met  for the route 
included on the application. It is considered that a presumption of 
dedication has arisen and that this presumption has  not been rebutted 
by sufficient evidence of lack of intention to dedi cate by the landowner 
of any part of the route. An Order to modify the De finitive Map and 
Statement could therefore be made under S 53(3)(b) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, 
Highways Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant 
evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the 
highway are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was 
established long before modern times and therefore continues to be a highway 
despite any subsequent obstructions.  

 

Page 1242



Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, 
Councillors are asked to confirm:- 

 
1. In respect of Troedyrhiw 47 

 
Either 

 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to  
  support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 

 – B –  C - D on the Plan, Appendix 22 has been used for such 
 period so as to  raise presumption that it has been dedicated 
 as a Footpath, and that  the evidence has not been rebutted 
 by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

 Map  Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

 Order  made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

 prescribed  period and not subsequently withdrawn then to 
 refer the relevant Order  to the Planning Inspectorate for 
 determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
And 

 
2. In respect of Troedyrhiw 180 

 
 Either 

 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

 support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points 

Page 1243



B –  B1 on the plan on Appendix 22 has been used for such period so 
 as to  raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
 Footpath, and that  the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
 evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

 Map  Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

 Order  made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
And 

 
3. In respect of Troedyrhiw 181 

 
Either 

 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
 support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points 
 C –  C1 on the plan on Appendix 22 has been used for such 
 period so as to  raise presumption that it has been dedicated 
 as a Footpath, and that  the evidence has not been rebutted 
 by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive 

 Map  Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

 Order  made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the 

 prescribed  period and not subsequently withdrawn then to 

Page 1244



 refer the relevant Order  to the Planning Inspectorate for 
 determination. 

 
Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to 
record the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their 
application has been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, 
against the decision of the Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 
28 days from the date of the decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Orders 
as set out in 1, 2 and 3 above. 

 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 1245



Page 1246

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1247



Page 1248

This page is intentionally left blank



20th JANUARY 2010 REPORT 
 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION TO RECORD A  
PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, TROEDYRHIW 47.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, all Public Rights of Way in this Item are claimed Public Rights of 
Way. 
 
The legal background is to be found at Appendix 1. 
 
A. THE ROUTE 
 
1.1 Description of Claimed Route 
 

A claim to record a Public Right of Way from the Pencoedcae Incline to Melincanaid 
Parish Road was submitted to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 7th January 
2003. This was referred to as Claim A763/4/162, now known as Troedyrhiw 47. 

 
An application was received on 31st January 2008 to record a number of PRoWs 
across land at West Merthyr.  These Rights of Way are depicted and described 
respectively on the National Coal Board Map No. 2 and in the Schedule referred to 
below. Troedyrhiw 47 is depicted as sections of two of these claims; Footpaths C 
and L on the NCB Map and described in paragraphs 3 and 12 of the Schedule. 

 
As depicted on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 47, this route commences at Point A, grid 
reference SO04020525, its common junction with Cyfarthfa 38 and Troedyrhiw 63. It 
proceeds gradually downhill in a general south-easterly direction, for a very short 
distance to the common junction of Troedyrhiw 179 and Cyfarthfa 42 (Point B), grid 
reference SO04090522 where it veers to a general south-south-easterly direction. It 
continues through ancient woodland, going uphill for a very short distance before 
returning to a downhill slope. It leaves the woodland and enters an open grassland 
area where, at Point C, grid reference SO04180510 there is a detour to the east, to 
Point C1 grid reference SO04400505 to join Troedyrhiw 54. Troedyrhiw 47 continues 
and runs through re-vegetated spoil tips and at Point D, grid reference SO04410483 
there is another detour, to the west, to Point D1 grid reference SO04290465 on 
Troedyrhiw 63. Troedyrhiw 47 proceeds for a short distance before terminating at a 
stile at Point E on the plan, grid reference SO04420483, a point on the Parish Road, 
also the terminus of Troedyrhiw 64. 

 
Councillors are requested to note that alternative routes on the ground, between 
Points C and C1 (to join Troedyrhiw 54),  known as Troedyrhiw 180, and Points D 
and D1 (to join Troedyrhiw 63), now known as Troedyrhiw 181, are now used as 
integral sections of this route and are presented for determination today. 

 
Since March 2008, Troedyrhiw 47 has been dealt with as sections of different routes, 
Cyfarthfa 15, 16 and 42. The northern section of these routes is dealt with at 
Cyfarthfa 38, Cyfarthfa 15 is dealt with as Troedyrhiw 53 and the remainder of 
Cyfarthfa 16 and 42 has been incorporated into Troedyrhiw 47. 

 

Page 1249



1.2 Land Ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 
1.3 Maps 
 

The entire route is depicted on 1875, 1919 and 1957 OS maps. It is joined by 
Troedyrhiw 64 on the 1875 edition. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photographs 
 

The claimed route is clearly depicted on a 1967 aerial photograph. 
 

Although there are a number of routes marked at approximately the alignment of 
Troedyrhiw 47, it is not possible to state with any degree of certainty that the exact 
alignment of the claimed route is depicted on a 2008 aerial photograph.  

 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 
1.5a Planning Applications and Applications to Suspend Public Rights of Way 
 

Troedyrhiw 47 formed part of the Application to Suspend which accompanied the 
Planning Applications by the National Coal Board (NCB) in 1966 and 1970. It was 
depicted as the southern section of Footpath C on the NCB Map and was referred to 
as a section of Footpath C and a middle section of Footpath L which were described 
in detail in paragraphs 3 and 12 of the NCB’s Footpath Application which state: 

 
at Paragraph 3, 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath C” on the Map which runs from 
a point (numbered 7 on the Map) about 50 yards north of Coed Cae Bungalow 
on a vehicular track leading from Brondeg to Upper Colliers Row in a general 
Southerly direction to meet the footpaths described in paragraph 2 and 
paragraph 7 of this schedule at the point (numbered 5 on the Map) about 380 
yards south of the said bungalow and then in a general South Easterly 
direction for about 1110 yards to a point (numbered 11 on the Map) on the 
Parish road about 210 yards South South West of No. 1 Lower Colliers Row”. 

 
and at Paragraph 12, 

 
“A footpath delineated and marked “Footpath L” on the Map which runs from 
the footpath described in paragraph 9 above at a point (numbered 20 on the 
Map) about 120 yards East South east of the ruins of No. 1 Pen-y-coedcae 
Cottages and extends in a South easterly direction for a distance of about 840 
yards to its termination at a point (numbered 27 on the Map) immediately to 
the North East of Lower Colliers Row”. 

 
That section of Footpath C which forms Troedyrhiw 47 joined two other routes which 
were subject to the Application to Suspend, Footpaths L and W. That section of 

Page 1250



Footpath L which forms Troedyrhiw 47 joined two other routes which were subject to 
the Application to Suspend, Footpaths C and V. 

 
Troedyrhiw 47 forms the southern section of one of the twenty nine footpaths 
described in the Vehicular Routes Application and the middle section of another of 
the twenty nine footpaths. 

 
This route was within the area included in the 1986 and 1988 National Coal Board 
Opencast Executive Applications, but only the northern section is marked on the 
Map which accompanied this Application. 

 
Officer’s interpretation is that Troedyrhiw 47 is one of the routes the Inspector 
referred to in his Public Inquiry Report when the planning appeals for the two Merthyr 
Village Ltd Applications of 2002 were determined by Public Inquiry in 2006.  

 
1.6 List of Public Rights of Way in Cyfarthfa Ward 
 

The route is described in the extant list of PRoW in the Cyfarthfa Ward dated circa 
1951. 

 
A section of Troedyrhiw 47 is included at number 2: 
 

“From Brondeg, Heolgerrig, to the Coedcae Bungalow to join the route as in 
No. 1 near Cwmglo, thence to Pen Cae Wern to Lowers Colliers Row to the 
Parish Road. (This route also branches near Pen Cae Wern House, the other 
arm leading to the Parish Road via the Waun.)” 

 
1.7 Site Visits 
 

Officers made three site visits to this route. On the first two they were accompanied 
by Mr. John Walters, representative of the owners. Mr. Walters pointed out several 
hazards adjacent to the section of the route walked but the section on the open 
Waun was not readily apparent. On the second occasion, Mr. Malcolm Connolly, 
main claimant was also present and led Officers and Mr. Walters on the route. Again, 
the section on the open Waun was not apparent. 

 
On a third occasion (2009) Troedyrhiw 47 was found to be very overgrown in the 
south. Officers noted that the route on the open Waun does not demonstrate use 
although detours in the north and south are evident as described above. 

 
Officers walked the detours and found them clearly discernible on the ground and 
showed evidence of use. 

 
B. CONSULTATION 
 
1.1 MTCBC Internal Departments  
 

No response received. 
 
 

Page 1251



1.2 Investigation Reports 
 

An investigation report into this route, Troedyrhiw 47, was issued in June 2008.  
 
1.3 Observations and Information from Applicants and Other Users 
 
1.3a The Claim 

 
The main claimant, Mr. Malcolm Connolly, submitted: 

 
 a schedule describing the claimed route, 

6 correctly completed evidence forms, all showing a minimum of 20 years use (one, 
21 years, one, 26 years, ones 30 years, ones 40 years, one over 40 years and one 
60 years) all claiming this route as a footpath. Three claimants later submitted maps 
showing the claimed route and one claimant subsequently confirmed this route at 
interview, 
a copy of a current Ordnance Survey map with the claimed route coloured red, 
a copy of the 1921 OS 6” – 1 mile map with the claimed route coloured yellow, 
a copy of a map produced in 1966 by the National Coal Board (NCB) with the 
claimed route coloured red, 
correctly completed forms WCA 5 (Application to modify the Definitive Map) and, 
 WCA 7 (confirming that the main claimant has served notice on the owner/occupier). 
 

1.3b Interviews with Claimants and Other Users 
 
1.3b(1)Mr. Brian Thomas stated that until 2006 he had walked all of the routes which he 

has claimed and many others, at least once a month for the previous 30 years. He 
no longer walks these routes because of illness. He occasionally used these routes 
as a short cut if visiting friends in Heolgerrig but mainly used them for recreation and 
enjoyment of the countryside. 

 
Mr Thomas submitted additional notes which he has made on each of his claimed 
routes and a map showing these. His statement “this is an interesting walk, I take 
notes on wildlife, birds etc” applies to all of his claims.  

 
This is a route which Mr. Brian Thomas has used without challenge for 30 years. He 
described this specific route, 

 
“To begin this walk I started where a stile is of a claimed footpath at 
Blaencanaid Ironstone workings which continues down to Brondeg Lower.  I 
last walked this short route 21/04/2006.  By walking in a east by south 
easterly direction I travel down a disused incline and after passing a rather 
large oak tree to the right I leave the incline and continue along the path in the 
same south easterly direction.  Some fifty or so metres a small slope has to 
be climbed and pass a rainwater pool to my right and continuing downhill in 
the same direction I came across a grassy path through oak woodland.  Two 
very large oak trees later is another path which branches off to the right and 
carries on uphill.  Some 40 or so metres later there are Thorn Hedgerow trees 
to my left is yet another path which drops downhill over regenerated tips to 
meet up at the stile on the Parish Road.” 

Page 1252



 
He has always believed that he has a right to use the paths and no one has ever 
challenged him while using them. His grandfather and his grandfather’s brother-in-
law used to work in Cefn Coed and would have had to use at least half of these 
paths when going to work. He has only sought or been given permission once – 
when going on the Merthyr Village site with the Merthyr Naturalists. 

 
He has often seen other people using these routes – some on horseback or on 
bikes. The paths have always been the same, are well-worn, well-trodden. He 
occasionally goes off the main routes, e.g. to go to the ponds and also walks on 
other paths and on rough terrain over the whole of the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr Brian Thomas’ evidence covers the period between 1977 and 2006. 

 
1.3b(2)Mr Elwyn and Mrs Megan Rees stated that he had been brought up next door to 

Mrs. Charlotte Connolly at Lower Colliers Row and lived there when he was first 
married in 1955. He has used this route regularly both when young and later, for 
family walks when he and his wife and children walked this route and all of the 
claimed routes to the north of it as well as the ones south to the Cwm Pits area. They 
lived there for 32 years before moving to Heolgerrig.  

 
He stated that he thought himself fortunate to have been brought up in this lovely 
area and had the whole of what local people now refer to as the Merthyr Village site 
as a playground. He has not walked as much as previously over the last 3 to 4 years 
but both he and his wife have used the majority of the footpaths for family walks on 
the Merthyr Village Site regularly before that. Both stated that they have walked on 
the Melincanaid Parish Road and on all of the footpaths to the north of it. 

 
He stated that because of ill health he has not walked as much during the last 3 or 4 
years as he had previously. 

 
Mr. Rees described the beauty of the area accessed by the Parish Road;  
Melincanaid waterfall and stream where he used to swim as a child and stated’ 

 
“If this were tarmaced again this would open up the whole woodland area. I’d 
like to see a country park there. The pits and coaling went on for 200 years 
and I can remember 77 years and nobody has fallen down a shaft or 
anything’’.  

 
Mr. Rees said that he read comments in the local paper about dangerous shafts on 
the site, but to him, the only dangerous holes were those sunk by miners during the 
1926 strike and as children they all got to know the dangerous ones; there are none 
on the footpaths. He also pointed out that the deep vents and shafts have been 
covered in reinforced concrete – his father-in-law and Eddie Thomas had been 
involved in this (Mr. Thomas used to own land at West Merthyr). 

 
Mrs Rees confirmed that they used to walk on certain paths - including this one – 
regularly, just going out for a walk with their children and later their grandchildren.  

 

Page 1253



Mr. Rees stated that his father had been killed in the Cwm Du Drift but that both his 
father and, later, his stepfather walked daily from Lower Colliers Row to Cwm Du 
Drift to work using a number of the claimed PRoWs including this one. 

 
Mr. and Mrs. Rees agreed that they had just been happy walking on the site, with no 
thought of danger. When going for a walk they just followed the footpaths so would 
find it difficult to pin down which they use as they use ones in addition to those on 
the map; they use so many. They have always thought they had a right to walk on 
these paths and no one has ever challenged them, Mr. Rees saying,  

 
“I didn’t even think about having a right. I walked there as a child and for the 
last 75 years”. 

 
Mr. Rees said that he knows every thing about the area and the only complication is 
the Merthyr Village land which has been fenced off. 

 
“I was involved in an inquiry over 40 years ago when Lower Colliers Row was 
demolished by the NCB Opencast Coal Executive without any consideration 
of preserving these unique mining cottages. It should be noted that these 
cottages were so historically important that a number of them were re-built at 
the National Folk Museum. 

 
At that time we were represented by Alun Talfan Davies QC who described 
the area in question as the ‘only green backcloth of Merthyr’. 

 
During the passage of time (40 years), this natural woodland area has 
become an even more unique and attractive ‘green backcloth of Merthyr”. 

 
In reply to the questions on the evidence form, both stated that they have never 
asked or thought that they needed permission to walk there; they have always 
walked on the same tracks which have been clearly defined; they do not know of any 
signs on the routes and no one has ever stopped them - or anyone else - from using 
these routes. 

 
Mr. Rees added, 

 
“I have seen thousands of people using these routes, when I rode or drove on 
these routes I saw others doing the same. I sometimes take the car as far as 
Ynysfach and walk up but I don’t walk as I used to because of health 
problems” 

 
Mr Rees added that because of the great natural and built beauty of the area the 
public should continue to have access to it all. 

 
Mrs Rees added that she lived at Lower Colliers Row when she was first married in 
1955 used this route regularly for family walks. 

 
Mr. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1935 and 2008. 
Mrs. Rees’ evidence covers the period between 1955 and 2008. 
 

Page 1254



1.3b(3)Mr. Donald Jones stated that this is one of the routes which he walks regularly. 
 

Mr Donald Jones confirmed the line of this route.  He stated that he walks for 
pleasure and uses many footpaths and has done so since he came to live at 
Ynysfach when he was 21 (now 76).   

 
He now assumes he is trespassing on this land – but used not to think so.  He has 
only once asked permission to go onto the Merthyr Village land (as part of a group). 
 
He keeps to the line of the route but on occasion wanders off to look at different 
things. 

 
Mr Jones’ evidence relates to the period between 1950 – 2007 

 
1.3b(4)Mr. Lewis Lewis confirmed this route on a map and stated that it is one which he has 

walked all of his life. He recognises access to this route from a stile on the Parish 
Road. 

 
Mr. Lewis has not submitted any maps in evidence but clearly demonstrated his 
knowledge of the routes on the maps shown to him. He commented on the claimed 
routes and many other tracks on the Merthyr Village Site. 

 
Mr. Lewis stated that he was born and brought up in this area (Lower Colliers Row, 
within the Merthyr Village Site), worked in this area, bought a house there in 1964 
and only moved because the house was too small when his children were born. For 
the past 20 years he has only used the claimed routes for pleasure and, in fact, is on 
the Site most days, but prior to 20 years ago, he used the routes for both access to 
work and for pleasure, and in fact always rode on most of them, especially as a 
young man with a group of others (whom he named). He therefore affirms that there 
should be far more bridleways on the Merthyr Village Site.  

 
He stated: 

 
“No one has ever tried to stop me going up there and I can take anybody up 
there and show them the way around, all the paths, the stiles and gates.  

 
During the 1920s strike the men were up there digging in the Patches, shallow 
pits for coal and these are now filled with water. There is no mining 
subsidence on the area or this water would drain away. There’s a lot of history 
there, you have to know where to go, the dissenters church, Cyfarthfa Feeder, 
you can go along the canal bank for a long distance, there’s lots to see, the 
sidings, screens for the old Cwm Pits, Abernant Tunnel from the Cyfathfa 
crossing, Lucy Colliery”. 

 
Mr. Lewis demonstrated an enormous local knowledge and knowledge of the history 
of the area and related historical anecdotes re routes of the trains etc and of 
individuals using the various paths. He described the position of stiles and gates on 
the Merthyr Village Site in detail. 

 
He continued: 

Page 1255



 
“They spoiled the route of the Parish Road when they built the A470 when 
they tipped waste into the gutters and filled up the railway track. 

 
No one ever stopped us going up there, until recently, the whole area was 
open, courting couples always walked up the Parish Road and there were 
always pimpers there. 

 
I never even thought about whether or not we had a right to go there. We lived 
there, nobody ever stopped us. As well as walking and riding on the paths we 
went bird nesting. And when I was a child it was all open, it’s only since about 
1964 that any fences or stiles have been erected”. 

 
Mr. Lewis Lewis’ evidence covers the period between 1940 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(5)Mr. Paul Brown, claimant for other routes in the area, walks on several routes in the 

West Merthyr area, on average, two or three times a month, perhaps less during 
winter – and has done so since he moved to Heolgerrig in 1979. He believes he has 
a right to walk this path (and others) and has never sought or been given permission 
to use it. He stated  
 

“I believe there is a right of access going back before the time of Celtic 
Energy’s Application. I have spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig 
who have walked the same routes and neither I nor they have ever been 
challenged about using this route.”  

 
Mr Paul Brown also uses this route and stated that it led to a stile on the Parish 
Road.  

 
He has spoken to a lot of other people from Heolgerrig who have walked the same 
routes and neither he nor they have ever been challenged about using this route. 

 
Mr. Brown stated that he goes for walks on this route with his wife and son; they 
have often used the eastern half of this route (to Melincanaid) as part of a circular 
walk from Heolgerrig and also as a means of accessing the Cwm Pit area for 
approximately 26 years. He is no longer physically capable of walking it as much as 
previously. He has never been challenged while using the route and has never 
asked permission of anyone to use it. He has just assumed he has the right to use it. 

 
Mr. Brown stated that he, his wife and son would go for walks in this entire area and 
he also uses these walks to take photographs. 

 
He described a number of routes which he uses, saying that he uses far more than 
he actually claimed, going south as far as the Cwm Woods. Mr. Brown stated that he 
can no longer use the Merthyr Village area because it is fenced. He stopped using it 
early 2008; an additional reason was that there was the run-up to the election and he 
didn’t have as much time as usual (Mr. Brown is a MTCBC Councillor). 

 
Although he stated categorically that he has walked the whole site, he cannot 
actually delineate further specific paths on the map and stated, 

Page 1256



 
“No one has ever challenged me and I have always thought I have a right to 
walk these paths”. 

 
Mr. Brown said that in the main he followed the routes on the map – although some 
routes on the ground are more clearly defined than others. He usually spent about 2 
hours out walking and would criss-cross a number of routes although always kept to 
the routes when clearly defined. The routes have not changed  during the period of 
his usage. 

 
Mr. Brown’s evidence covers the period between 1979 and 2008. 

 
1.3b(6)Mr. Morgan Harris stated of the Merthyr Village Site, 
 

“I use this area for pleasure now but I’ve always used it. I also used to go to 
visit friends at the farm and I’ve used all these paths for at least 60 years. I 
have always used the paths on a regular basis, in my youth I was always up 
there playing, setting the ferns on fire, and since I’ve retired I’m there 
everyday. I rode there all the time when I was younger, I kept horses in 
RhydyCar and I rode after work most nights, I was living in Cae Draw. Now I 
only walk there, mostly in the evenings. 

 
During the 1920s strike, this area became called the Patches. People went up 
past Colliers Row to the mountain to dig for coal, some sold it too. My 
grandfathers did this, they carried it down on their backs. We had to be careful 
(in the late 1940s/50s) where we ran because of the holes which had been 
dug for coal in the Patches”. 

 
“Charlotte Connelly lived up Colliers Row. They were going to take away 
Malcolm Connelly’s land for building and that’s why he did these claims.” 

 
Mr. Harris stated that he uses far more paths than he actually claimed and described 
these. He said that he has never been challenged on any or them or sought or been 
given permission to use any of them. 

 
He said, 

 
“I took my children there and I take my grandchildren there. When I was 
young we always went there as a group of boys, sometimes we’d be riding 
there, the boys from Rhyd y Car would come up the path. I always see other 
people when I’m up there walking now. 

 
I wouldn’t like to see this path closed. If they build up there, leave the road 
because people still use it and it’s close to the centre of Merthyr so a lot of 
people can get to it”. 

 
The last paragraph refers to the Parish Road to Melincanaid which Mr. Harris 
described as running between the old Taff Bridge and Hendre Fawr. He has used 
this path regularly, to visit friends, to play and for pleasure for at least 60 years. He 
rode this route on horseback most nights after work when younger.  

Page 1257



 
He has always assumed he has a right to go there, he has never been challenged 
while using the route and has never asked permission of anyone to use it. He has 
often seen others using it. He recognizes that there is now a gate in the eastern 
section. 

 
Mr. Harris’ evidence covers the period between 1947 and 2007. 

 
1.3b(7)Mr Malcolm and Mrs. Charlotte Connolly gave evidence for this route. Mrs Connolly  

stated that she and her father had been born at Lower Colliers Row and her mother 
at Melincanaid and her family have walked the paths on the whole area all their lives.  

 
Mr. Connolly pointed out that fencing of the Merthyr Village site had prevented 
access to almost all footpaths for most of 2007 so that they would now be overgrown 
and not reflect their use in other years.  

 
He also stated that he believes this fencing is illegal and submitted letters from the 
Commission for Local Administration in Wales and from Simon Cadenhead 
(MTCBC) which, he maintained, say that claimed rights of way need Stopping Up 
Orders before closure. 

 
He also submitted a copy of Map No. 2 referred to in the Colliers Row (070846) 
Application dated the 15th day of June 1966, on which he drew his claimed routes 
and others which he uses and a copy of the Opencast Coal Act 1958, The Colliers 
Row Application 070846. 

 
Mr. Connolly pointed out that this whole area is the only recreational facility in the 
Cyfarthfa Ward. Without use of these paths, children and others on horses will be 
unable to use the Cwm Incline and will have nowhere to ride. 

 
Mrs. Connolly described how her father and many other men walked certain routes 
to go to the Cwmdu and the Lucy Thomas Pits; men came from the Castle Pit, past 
Melincanaid and the men came over the mountain (from Aberdare) and from 
Heolgerrig using all the footpaths on the Merthyr Village site. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly have regularly used many of the claimed routes, for example, 
to walk their dogs – even after being prevented from doing so when the area was 
fenced.   

 
Mrs Connolly also pointed out that if people were prevented from using the Merthyr 
Village Site there would be more dog fouling of streets and people would become 
more unhealthy as they have lost this area for exercise.  

 
She has used this route for walks as an adult since the 1950s. 

 
She has never been challenged while using the route other than the day that she 
was on the Merthyr Village Site when her husband, Mr. John Walters and Mrs Judith 
Jones were also walking there. When she and her husband stated that they intended 
continuing on the Old Parish Road to Melincanaid for a walk, Mr. Walters 

Page 1258



remonstrated with them but they ignored him and continued on their walk. This post-
dated the period of the claim. 

 
She has never asked permission of anyone to use it. 

 
Mr and Mrs Connolly confirmed that they have never sought or received permission 
to go on any of these claimed paths; they have never had their use of the paths 
challenged and neither has had any interest in the site. 

 
Mr Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1953 and 2009. 

 
Mrs. Connolly’s evidence covers the period between 1945 and 2009. 

 
1.3b(8)Mr. Clive Thomas recognised this route as one which he uses but which has a tip 

across it. He assumes that this may have encroached across the original route and 
changed it (as in the diversion on the ground in the description above).  

 
1.4 Information from Landowners 
 

Representatives of the owners, Mr. John Walters and Ms. Anne-Marie Price, 
discussed this claimed route and notes taken at this meeting state: 

 
“This is almost impassable. It is overgrown and is also surrounded by sink 
holes”. 

 
Councillors are also requested to refer to the generic observations made by the owners, 
their representatives and their tenants as detailed in Item 1 of the Rights of Way Committee 
Report, 5th October 2009. 
 

Mrs. Misslebrook (and representing another tenant) made comments specific to this 
route: 

 
“Claimed footpath at Pencaedcae Incline to Melincana id Parish Road. 

 
This alleged footpath is impassable due to sink holes. It is actually an animal 
network for watering” 

 
“Sheep track used by Mansell Short to bring sheep down for dipping, need to 
bend over from waist to access. Pitted with sink holes and dead sheep”. 

 
In response to the Investigation Report she wrote, 

 
“Troedyrhiw 47 – From Pen Cae – Under Three Tips to Parish Road near 
Sheep Holding Pens 

 
1. Maps not date authenticated. 
2. Only three statements supporting others names blacked out therefore 

can’t be used in evidence”. 
 
 

Page 1259



1.5 Other Evidence in Relation to this Route 
 

This route runs through a Site of Special Scientific Interest. 
 

In an interim report to MTCBC on the condition of the Merthyr Village Site,  
March 2009 Halcrow state: 

 
“The site inspections were completed at the end of last week and we have 
made a comprehensive inspection particularly from the most apparent tracks 
/paths that exist on the site. During our visit it was apparent that the site is still 
used extensively by walkers and more locally by trail bikes. In addition, a 
few horses and sheep were also on the site. Based on our inspections we 
remain of the opinion that the site can be zoned from a hazard point of view”.   

 
 Officers carried out a site visit post this date and have joined their own conclusions in 

relation to the existence of this route. 
   

Meetings concerning hazards on the site were held between the Coal Authority, 
Merthyr Village Ltd. and MTCBC Officers following the last Public Inquiry. The Coal 
Authority decided to fence off the land. It is known that members of the public cut 
sections of this fence in order to gain access to the site and use routes which are the 
subject of this Report. 

 
The Coal Authority also fenced across the legal Bridleway, Cyfarthfa 9. An 
Emergency Closure Order was placed on this route for three weeks but the owners 
refused to request an extension of the Order. MTCBC therefore requested the 
removal of the fence blocking the bridleway. 

 
C. ASSESSMENT 
 
1.0 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application before them 

today; an application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding 
Troedyrhiw 47. It is also to assist Councillors with the two diversions described 
above, Troedyrhiw 180 and 181. 

 
2.0 Status 
 
2.1 PRoW can be claimed as a Footpath, Bridleway, Restricted Byway or BOAT.  
 
2.2 This route has been claimed as a footpath. 
 
2.3 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated by the 

evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does not exist. 
 
2.4 They have considerable evidence for use of this route as a footpath. 
 
2.5 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration under two sub-sections of 

Section 53(3) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 53(3)(b) 
(long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (historic). 

 

Page 1260



3.0 Period of Use to be Considered 
 
3.1 A claim under long-user requires the criteria of certain sections of the Highways Act 

1980 to be met, i.e. public use over a period of a minimum of twenty years and no 
statutory action by the landowner to deny the existence of the PRoW. 

 
3.2 The landowner has not submitted a statement/statutory declaration/map under S.31 

(6) of the Highways Act 1980 to the Council or erected a notice on site stating that 
the route is not to become a Public Right of Way.  

 
3.3 Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path has been enjoyed by 

the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years and the 
way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, as there is insufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
3.4 In the absence of any challenge to the right of way in question the normal period 

looked at for the purpose of the establishment of the right of way for long user is 20 
years prior to the date of the application itself. In this case Officers consider that it 
would be the period between 8th January 1983 and 7th January 2003; extensive user 
evidence exists for this period.  

 
3.5 During the relevant period for consideration the route has been available for public 

use. 
 
4.0 The Line of The Route 
 
4.1 Only sections of the route are identifiable on the ground; users have created two 

detours which are clearly defined on the ground. 
 
5.0 Historical and Other Evidence 
 
5.1 The route has been depicted on a number of documentary and cartographic sources. 
 
6.0 Maps and Aerial Photographs 
 
6.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of this Item 

indicates that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is not indicative of public 
rights on the route. It is, however, evidence of the existence of the track/path and the 
way in which this claimed route links with other routes. 

 
6.2 Depiction of the route on aerial photographs is evidence of the existence of the route 

and of usage – although the available photographs are all taken in the summer and 
foliage may obscure sections of the route. 

 
7.0 Planning Applications and Local Authority Evidence 

 
7.1 The land has been the subject of a number of planning applications for open cast 

mining which were either withdrawn or were refused at Public Inquiry. More 
specifically, sections of this route were subject to a request for suspension under 
associated applications in 1966 and 1970. 

Page 1261



 
7.2 Although Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council did not have a Definitive map or Statement 

at any of those times, nevertheless, the NCB and its successors recognised this 
route and thirty two others –to such a degree that this and they were made the 
subject of legal applications to suspend in 1966 and 1970. 

 
7.3 The evidence of the list of PRoW in the Cyfarthfa Ward circa 1951 suggests that at 

this time this route was generally recognised as being a Public Right of Way.  
 
8.0 User Evidence 
 
8.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described above. 
 
8.2 Eleven people have given evidence of use of this route for recreation and leisure as 

a footpath. 
 
9.0 Landowners and Other Interested Parties 
 
9.1 Councillors are also requested to take into account the representations made by 

Merthyr Village Ltd., their representatives and tenants which are set out in Item 1 of 
the Rights of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. 

 
9.2 The landowners and tenants complain that they are unable to evaluate the claim 

accurately as they were not given contact details of the claimants. This was in line 
with data protection but officers have now been advised that from this stage in the 
procedure, all details can be made public if requested. 

 
9.3 Landowners and the Coal Authority, have consistently expressed health and safety 

concerns. Whilst their importance is recognised, these cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. Representatives of the owners 
expressed concern over the erosion on the route; again, this cannot be taken into 
consideration when determining this Application. 

 
9.4 E.T.Landnet , on behalf of Merthyr Village Ltd. 
 

The 1966 NCB Map together with the other maps examined and the user evidence 
clearly demonstrate that this route existed. Councillors are also reminded that at this 
stage there was no requirement for the County Borough to maintain a register of 
PRoW as the County Borough was exempt from the requirements of the National 
Parks and Countryside Act 1949. 

 
With regard their comments concerning the 1951 document, it is accepted that this is 
a multi-part process in the development of the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
subsequent investigations have revealed via user evidence and documentation that 
the route exists. 

 
The site is not remote; it lies adjacent to the built-up areas of Heolgerrig, Ynysfach, 
Rhyd y Car and Abercanaid. 

 

Page 1262



This route was used for recreation and leisure during the period of occupancy of the 
houses and farms. The last house was demolished in 1965 /66 which allows for 
usage as of right for a period in excess of forty years. 

 
The last mine in this area was closed in the 1950s but the majority of the industrial 
workings on this site were closed in the late 1890s, early 1900s. Even allowing for 
the closing of the last mine, this still allows for usage as of right for a period well in 
excess of fifty years. 

 
Councillors may wish to consider the allegation made by ET Landnet in assessing 
the evidence given by Councillors of the public as discussed in Item 1 of the Rights 
of Way Committee Report, 5th October 2009. Officers disregard any comments which 
do not relate to PRoW. 

 
Councillors will bear in mind that the evidence both from historic records and from 
witnesses who have actually used the way is consistent one with another and that 
this is not a case where the registration depends on one strand of evidence only. 

 
The claim has been assessed in line with the requirements laid down under the 
relevant legislation. 

 
9.5 Tenants of the land within Merthyr Village ownership have made a number of 

observations. Many issues they have raised cannot be taken into consideration when 
determining this Application, for example, they too have raised concerns about 
health and safety. 

 
D. SUMMARY 
 

Councillors will note from the Report before them that the path and the detours have 
been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 
twenty years and the way deemed to have been dedicated as a highway, and there 
is insufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 
Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of the right now 
claimed, viz. over the period 8th January 1983 and 7th January 2003 and at all 
material times before it.        

 
Officers have presented historic as well as user evidence for the existence of all of 
these routes as footpaths. 

 
Taking all the above into account and in conjunction with the historical evidence, the 
interviews with claimants, tenants of the land, local people, landowners and other 
interested parties, and having taken into account the information received from 
interested parties both prior to and post the Investigation Report, it is evident that 
rights of way do exist over these routes. 

 
It is concluded that on the balance of probabilitie s all the requirements of S. 
31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been met for t he route included on the 
application. It is considered that a presumption of  dedication has arisen and 
that this presumption has not been rebutted by suff icient evidence of lack of 

Page 1263



intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route. An Order to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement could there fore be made under S 
53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Although the claim is based on presumed dedication under Section 31, Highways 
Act 1980, the Council has a duty to research any other relevant evidence. 

 
This now brings into play consideration of this route under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
All relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim “once a 
highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent obstructions of the highway 
are unlawful. It is Officers’ view here that this highway was established long before 
modern times and therefore continues to be a highway despite any subsequent 
obstructions.  

 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify t he Definitive Map and 
Statement should therefore be made under S.53(3)(c) (i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Officers are satisfied that t he requirements of S.53 
(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the Public Right o f way exists. 

 
E. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided, Councillors 
are asked to confirm:- 

 
1. In respect of Troedyrhiw 47 

 
Either 

 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

 support that the route marked with a bold line between Points A 
– B –  C – D - E on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 47, has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a 
Footpath, and that  the evidence has not been rebutted by other 
evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

 Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

 made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

 period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
 to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

Page 1264



 
Or 

 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
And 

 
2. In respect of Troedyrhiw 180 

 
 Either 

 
1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 

 support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points C – 
 C1 on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 47, has been used for such period so as to 
 raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that 
 the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

 Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

 made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 

 
2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 

insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
 

And 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1265



 
 

3. In respect of Troedyrhiw 181 
 

Either 
 
 

1. a) that on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence to 
 support that the route marked with a dashed line between Points D – 
 D1 on the Plan, Troedyrhiw 47, has been used for such period so as to 
 raise presumption that it has been dedicated as a Footpath, and that 
 the evidence has not been rebutted by other evidence. 

 
 b) on confirming (a) above to approve the making of a Definitive Map 

 Modification Order to show it as a Footpath. 
 
 c) to approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification Order 

 made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn.   

 
 d) if any objections or representations are made within the prescribed 

 period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer the relevant Order 
 to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
Or 
 

2. in rejecting (1) above and deciding that on the balance of probabilities 
insufficient evidence has been provided in support of the application to record 
the claimed Right of Way, to advise the applicant that their application has 
been rejected and that they may appeal, in writing, against the decision of the 
Council to the Planning Inspectorate within 28 days from the date of the 
decision letter.   

 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Orders as set 
out in 1, 2 and 3 above. 

 
 
 
GARETH CHAPMAN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER CORPORATE SERVICES 
  
 
 
 

Page 1266



Page 1267



Page 1268

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 9th August 2012 
Report Author Paul Prygodzizc / Cheryl Jones 
Service Area Economic Development 
Committee Date 1st October 2012 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Troedyrhiw 196 
1.0  INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Description of claimed route 
 

The route, as depicted on the plan, Troedyrhiw 196 commences at a 
gate and adjacent stile, the eastern terminus of Public Right of Way 
Bridleway Troedyrhiw 12, grid reference SO05070451 and proceeds in 
a general north-easterly and then easterly direction to a field gate and 
adjacent stile at Point B, grid reference SO05130452 and then 
proceeds to Point C, grid reference SO05150451, a point on the Taff 
Trail, Public Right of Way, Bridleway Troedyrhiw 79 where it 
terminates. 

 
 The surface is tarmacadam/concrete throughout. 
 
1.2 Land ownership 
 

The land is owned by Merthyr Village Limited.   
 

1.3 Maps 
 
The route is depicted on Ordnance Survey Maps of 1998 and 2005. 

 
1.4 Aerial Photos 
 
 The route is depicted on aerial photos of 2008 and 2010.   
 
1.5 Government Orders and Records 
 

In the Cardiff – Glan Conwy Trunk Road (A470) (Pentrebach – Cefn 
Coed Diversion, Side Roads) Order 1994 Footpath 13 is depicted on 
Site Plan 1 of the said Order.  It is described in Schedule 1 of the said 
Order being “a refuted footpath which ran from a Point 76 metres east 

 

Agenda Item 49

Page 1269



of the disused Glamorganshire Canal at Pitwood House, Upper 
Abercanaid, for a distance of 185 metres generally south-westwards 
direction”. This refuted footpath was stopped up and an alternative 
highway, now known as Troedyrhiw 12 created under the Side Road 
Order.  Troedyrhiw 12 was created as a bridleway.  However only that 
section immediately affected by the A470 was created.   

1.6 Site Visit 
 
MTCBC officers walked the route on several occasions and found it as 
described above. Other walkers were observed on each occasion. 

2.0 CONSULTATION 
 
2.1 User Evidence 
 
 Mrs Charlotte Connolly 

 

Mrs Connolly stated that she and her father had been born at Lower 
Colliers Row and her mother at Melincanaid.  Mrs Connolly stated that 
she occasionally walks this route in order to access routes over the 
remainder of the West Merthyr site.   

 

Mr Malcolm Connolly 

Mr Connolly stated that he occasionally walks this route in order to 
access routes over the remainder of the West Merthyr site. 

 

Mr Philip Watkins 

Since the route was constructed in the mid 1990s Mr Watkins and his 
wife have used this route in order to access the mountainside. 

3.0 ASSESSMENTS 
 

This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 
before them today; an application to modify the definitive map and 
statement by adding Troedyrhiw 196. 

 
Officers have been advised that they should consider current use on 
the ground: they recognise Troedyrhiw 196 as a clearly defined and 
well used route and an important link between legal Public Rights of 
Way.  This route forms an essential part of the Rights of Way network 
by linking routes to the east of the A470 to routes lying to the west of 
the A470.  It also enables a long circular route to be recorded. 
 

3.1 Status 

Page 1270



 A Public Right of Way can be claimed as a footpath bridleway 
 restricted byway or BOAT. 
 
 Officers must investigate the claim at the highest status substantiated 
 by the evidence; the investigation could conclude that the route does 
 not exist. 
 
 This route links Public Right of Way Bridleway Troedyrhiw 12 with 
 Public Right of Way Bridleway Troedyrhiw 79, the Taff Trail. 
 
 The route is therefore presented to you for consideration as a 
 bridleway under Section 53(3)(c)(i). 

 

4.0 PERIOD OF USE TO BE CONSIDERED  
 

4.1 The route is presented to you for consideration under two sub sections 
 of Section 53(3) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; namely Section 
 53(3)(b) (long user) and Section 53(3)(c)(i) (Historic). 

A claim under long user requires the criteria of certain sections to the 
Highways Act 1980 to be met i.e. Public use over a period of the 
minimum of 20 years and no statutory action by the landowner to deny 
the existence of the Public Right of Way. 

The Landowner had not submitted a statement/statutory 
declaration/map under Section 31(6) (Highways Act 1980) to the 
Council or erected a notice on site stating that the route is not to 
become a Public Right of Way. 

 

Councillors will note from the report before them that the path has been 
enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption and the way 
deems to have been dedicated as a highway as there is insufficient 
evidence that today was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

The route has been available for public use. 

 
The approval of this route will complete a long bridleway route between 
Heolgerrig, Gethin Woodlands and Abercanaid. 

 
5.0 THE LINE OF THE ROUTE  
 
5.1 The entire route is clearly discernable on the ground. 

 

6.0 MAPS AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS 
 

6.1 Depiction of this route on the various maps as described in the body of 
 this report indicate that a track/path existed at that particular time; it is 

Page 1271



 not indicative of public rights on the route.  It is however evidence of 
 the existence of the track/path and the way in which this claimed route 
 links with other routes. 

 

6.2 Depiction of the route on an aerial photograph is evidence of the 
 existence of  the route and of usage – although the available 
 photographs are taken in the summer and foliage may obscure 
 sections of the route. 
 

7.0 USER EVIDENCE  
 
7.1 Councillors are requested to take into account user evidence described 
 above.   
 
8.0 SIDE ROAD ORDER 
 
8.1 The Side Roads Order of 1994 clearly demonstrates that the route of 
 refuted footpath 1/13 should continue to the Taff Trail. 
 
9.0 SUMMARY  
9.1 Councillors will note from the report before them that the path has been 
 enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption and the way 
 deemed to have been dedicated as a highway and there is insufficient 
 evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 
 
 Officers consider that the evidence above establishes the existence of 
 the right now claimed. 
 
 Officers have presented user evidence, historic evidence and 
 documentary evidence in support of the existence of this route as a 
 bridleway.     
 
 Officers consider this is an essential link between Public Right of Way 
 Bridleway Troedyrhiw 12 and Public Right of Way Bridleway 
 Troedyrhiw 79, a section of the Taff Trail. 
 
 Taking the above into account including interviews with claimants it is 
 evident that a right of way does exist over this route. 

 
 The approval of this route will complete a long bridleway route between 
 Heolgerrig, Gethin Woodlands and Abercanaid. 
 
 Officers present Troedyrhiw 196 for determination as a bridleway.  It is 
 concluded that on the balance of probability all the requirements of 
 Section 31(1) and (2) Highways Act 1980 have been  met for the route.  
 It is considered that presumption of dedication has arisen and that this 
 presumption has not been rebutted by sufficient evidence of lack of 
 intention to dedicate by the landowner of any part of the route.  An 

Page 1272



 Order to modify the definitive map and statement could therefore be 
 made under Section 53(3)(b) Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 

Officers are also required to look at Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 and all relevant evidence must be reviewed. 

 
Once the way is established as a way open for public use the maxim    
“once a highway, always a highway” pertains and subsequent 
obstructions of the highway are unlawful.  It is officers view here that 
this highway was established long before modern times and therefore 
continues to be a highway despite any subsequent obstructions. 

 
Taking the above into account, an Order to modify the Definitive Map 
Statement should be made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Officers are satisfied that the requirements 
Section 53(3)(c)(i) have been met and that the public right of way 
exists. 

 
Officers recommend that a bridleway be recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement as depicted between Points A – B – C on the plan and 
as described above. 

10.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
  
10.1 Officer time is involved in investigating the claims and writing the 

report. If Councillors determine that the Public Right(s) of Way exist(s), 
there will be a financial implication in advertising the Order(s) and also 
for dealing with a Public Inquiry if an Order / Orders is /are made and 
there is an objection to it / them. 

 
10.2 If the Order(s) is / are confirmed, there will be a financial implication in 

that the route(s) will need to be signed. 
 
10.3 As Councillors are aware, financial implications are not to be 

considered by the Committee when determining this application as the 
County Borough Council has a statutory duty to make an Order if it 
believes that there is sufficient evidence to support it.  

 

11.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

11.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 
required for the purpose of this report.      
 

 

 

Page 1273



12.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 

Taking into consideration all of the evidence which has been provided 
including historical documents, Councillors are asked to confirm that in 
the case of the claimed public right of Way Troedyrhiw 196: - 

 
   
 
a) That on the balance of probabilities there is sufficient evidence 

to support that the route marked with a bold line between Points 
A – B – C on the plan, Troedyrhiw 196 has been used for such 
period so as to raise presumption that it has been dedicated as 
a bridleway and that the evidence has not been rebutted by 
other evidence. 

 
b) On confirming (a) above to approve the making of the Definitive 

Map Modification Order to show Troedyrhiw 196 as a bridleway. 
 

c) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 
Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representation so made are withdrawn. 

 
d) If any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the Order to the Planning Inspectorate for determination. 

 
 
Councillors are recommended to approve the making of the relevant Order as 
set out above. 

 
  
   
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS  
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
Troedyrhiw 196 
 

 
August 2012 

 
Unit 5 

 

Page 1274



A
B

C

160.7m

Tank

Ta
ff T

rail (C
ycle

 P
ath

)

T
rack

G
LY

N
D

Y
R

U
S

 C
L
O

S
E

Pitwood

House

Clare

3

1

¯
Merthyr Tydfil

County Borough Council

TITLE:

DRAWN BY:

CJ

20.08.2012

DATE: SCALE:

DEPT:

ROW

1:1,531
© Crown copyright and database rights 2012

 Ordnance Survey 100025302
“You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence,

distribute or sell any of this data to third
parties in any form.”

TROEDYRHIW 196

Page 1275



Page 1276

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Determination of Modification of the Definitive Map and Statement by recording Public Rights of Way (FOR INFORMATION ONLY)
	Background to claims in West Merthyr

	4 Guidance on the Law relating to the Continuous Review of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way FOR INFORMATION ONLY
	5 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 36
	Cyfarthfa 36 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 36 5th October 2009 Report
	Cyfarthfa 36 5th October 2009 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 36 20th January 2010 Report
	Cyfarthfa 36 20th January 2010 Plan

	6 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 43
	Cyfarthfa 43 Plan A
	Cyfarthfa 43 Plan B
	Cyfarthfa 43 5th October 2009 Report
	43b
	43c
	43d

	7 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 48
	Cyfarthfa 48 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 39 5th October 2009 Report
	Cyfarther 39 5th October 2009 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 39 20th January 2010 Report
	Cyfarthfa 39 20th January 2010 Plan

	8 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 60
	Cyfarthfa 60 Plan

	9 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 66
	Cyfarthfa 66 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 66 21 March 2011 Report
	Cyfathfa 66 21 March 2011 Plan

	10 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 71
	Cyfarthfa 71 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 34 5 October 2009 Report
	Cyfarthfa 34 5 October 2009 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 34 20th January 2010 Report
	Cyfarther 34 20 January 2010 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 34 29 November 2010 Report
	Cyfarthfa 34 29 November 2010 Plan A
	Cyfarthfa 34 29 November 2010 Plan B

	11 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 73
	Cyfarthfa 73 Plan

	12 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 74
	Cyfarthfa 74 Plan

	13 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 77
	Cyfarthfa 77 Plan

	14 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 78
	Cyfarthfa 78 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 46 5 October 2009 Report
	Cyfarthfa 46 5 October 2009 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 46 20 January 2010 Report
	Cyfarthfa 46 20 January 2010 Plan

	15 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 81
	Cyfarthfa 81 Plan

	16 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 83
	Cyfarthfa 83 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 83 29th November 2010 Report
	Cyfarthfa 83 29 November 2010 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 83 21 March 2011 Report
	Cyfarthfa 83 21 March 2011 Plan

	17 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:   Cyfarthfa 88
	Cyfarthfa 88 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 88 21 March 2011 Report
	Cyfarthfa 88 21 March 2011 Plan

	18 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 89
	Cyfarthfa 89 Plan

	19 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:    Cyfarthfa 90
	Cyfarthfa 90 Plan

	20 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 91
	Cyfarthfa 91 Plan

	21 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 92
	Cyfarthfa 92 Plan

	22 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 100
	Cyfarthfa 100 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 100 5 October 2009 Report
	Cyfarthfa 100 5 October 2009 Plan

	23 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 101
	Cyfarthfa 101 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 101 29 November 2009 Report
	Cyfarthfa 101 29 November 2009 Plan

	24 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 102
	Cyfarthfa 102 Plan

	25 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 104
	Cyfarthfa 104 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 38 5 October 2009 Report
	Cyfarthfa 38 5 October 2009 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 38 20 January 2010 Report
	Cyfarthfa 38 20 January 2010 Plan

	26 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 105
	Cyfarthfa 105 Plan

	27 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 106
	Cyfarthfa 106 Plan

	28 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 107
	Cyfarthfa 107 Plan

	29 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 109
	Cyfarthfa 109 Plan

	30 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 115
	Cyfarthfa 115 Plan

	31 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 137
	Cyfarthfa 137 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 137 21 March 2011 Report
	Cyfarthfa 137 21 March 2011 Plan

	32 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Cyfarthfa 139
	Cyfarthfa 139 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 35 5 October 2009 Report
	Cyfarthfa 35 5 October 2009 Plan
	Cyfarthfa 139 21 March 2011 Report
	Cyfarthfa 139 21 March 2011 Plan A
	Cyfarthfa 139 21 March 2011 Plan B

	33 TDeterminations of applications to record Public Rights of Way:  Troedyrhiw 49 and Troedyrhiw 175
	Parish Road Plan A
	Parish Road Plan B
	Parish Road Plan C
	Troedyrhiw 49 5 October 2009 Report
	Troedyrhiw 49 5 October 2009 Plan
	Troedyrhiw 175 5 October 2009 Report
	Troedyrhiw 175 5 October 2009 Plan
	Troedyrhiw 177 20 January 2010 Report
	Troedyrhiw 175 20 January 2010 Plan

	34 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 53
	Troedyrhiw 53 Plan
	Troedyrhiw 53 5 October 2009 Report
	Troedryhiw 53 5 October 2009 Plan

	35 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedryhiw 110
	Troedyrhiw 110 Plan

	36 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troeyrhiw 116
	Troedyrhiw 116 Plan

	37 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 121
	Troedyrhiw 121 Plan

	38 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 122
	Troedyrhiw 122 Plan

	39 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 129
	Troedyrhiw 129 Plan

	40 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 137
	Troedyrhiw 137 Plan
	Troedyrhiw 52 5 October 2009 Report
	Troedyrhiw 52 5 October 2009 Plan

	41 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 142
	Troedyrhiw 142 Plan

	42 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 143
	Troedyrhiw 143 Plan

	43 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 147
	Troedyrhiw 147 Plan

	44 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 148
	Troedyrhiw 148 Plan

	45 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 158
	Troedyrhiw 158 Plan
	Troedyrhiw 158 29 November 2010 Report
	Troedyrhiw 158 29 November 2010 Plan

	46 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 160
	Troedyrhiw 160 Plan
	Troedyrhiw 160 29 November 2010 Report
	Troedyrhiw 160 29 November 2010 Plan

	47 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 178
	Troedyrhiw 178 Plan
	Troedyrhiw 178 29 November 2010 Report
	Troedyrhiw 178 29 November 2010 Plan

	48 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 180
	Troedyrhiw 180 Plan
	Troedyrhiw 47 5 October 2009 Report
	Troedyrhiw 47 5 October 2009 Plan
	Troedyrhiw 47 20 January 2010 Report
	Troedyrhiw 47 20 January 2010 Plan

	49 Determination of application to record a Public Right of Way:  Troedyrhiw 196
	Troedyrhiw 196 Plan


